
 
Page 1 of 3 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

Wednesday, December 8, 2021 
Closed Session - 6:00 PM 
Regular Session - 7:00 PM 

 

The City Council meeting will be conducted virtually pursuant to the provisions of Assembly Bill 361 amending 
the Ralph M. Brown Act and Government Code Section 54953(e) (and without compliance with section 

54953(b)(3)) related to conducting public meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic based on the current State 
of Emergency and the existing State recommendations on social distancing. The Council Chambers will not be 

open to the public for this City Council meeting. 
 

 Members of the public may view the meeting by attending, via telephone or computer, the Zoom Meeting 
listed below: 

 

Join Zoom Meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81289976261  
Passcode: 074407 

 
Meeting ID: 812 8997 6261 
Passcode: 074407  
 
One tap mobile 
+16699006833,,81289976261#,,,,,,0#,,074407# US (San Jose) 
+13462487799,,81289976261#,,,,,,0#,,074407# US (Houston) 

 
Dial by your location 

+1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
+1 929 205 6099 US (New York) 
+1 301 715 8592 US (Germantown) 

Meeting ID: 812 8997 6261 
Passcode: 074407 
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kco5bgxkcc 

 

Members of the public may provide written comments by email to the City Clerk at ccorley@colma.ca.gov 
before or during the meeting. Emailed comments should include the specific agenda item on which you are 

commenting or note that your comment concerns an item that is not on the agenda. The length of the 
emailed comment should be commensurate with the three minutes customarily allowed for verbal 

comments, which is approximately 250-300 words. Verbal comments will also be accepted during the 
meeting.  

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81289976261
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kco5bgxkcc
mailto:ccorley@colma.ca.gov


 
Page 2 of 3 

 

CLOSED SESSION – 6:00 PM 
1. In Closed Session Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 – 

Conference with Labor Negotiators. 
Agency Negotiator:  Mayor 
Unrepresented Employees: City Manager 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL – 7:00 PM 

REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Comments on the Consent Calendar and Non-Agenda Items will be heard at this time. Comments 
on Agenda Items will be heard when the item is called. 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
2. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the November 10, 2021 Special Meeting. 
3. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the November 10, 2021 Regular Meeting. 
4. Motion to Approve Report of Checks Paid for November 2021. 
5. Motion to Reconfirm Findings and Determinations Under Resolution No. 2021-33 and Assembly Bill 

361 for the Continuation of Virtual Meetings. 
6. Motion Approving and Accepting the Development Impact Fee Report for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 

2021. 
7. Motion Accepting the Fiscal Year 2020-21 Annual Investment Report Through June 30, 2021. 
8. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Amending Colma Administrative Code Subchapter 1.15, Relating to an 

Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Waste Organic Product Procurement Policy. 

NEW BUSINESS 
9. MEMORANDUMS OF UNDERSTANDING AND COST OF LIVING INCREASES  

a. Consider: Motion to Adopt a Resolution Approving Memorandum of Understanding Between the 
Town of Colma and the Colma Peace Officers Association for the Period of December 26, 2021 to 
June 30, 2024;  

b. Consider: Motion to Adopt a Resolution Approving Memorandum of Understanding Between the 
Town of Colma and the Colma Police Communication/Records Association for the Period of 
December 26, 2021 to June 30, 2024; 

c. Consider: Motion to Adopt a Resolution Approving Cost of Living Salary Increases for Certain 
Unrepresented Employees and Modifying the Town’s Salary Schedule; and, 

d. Consider: Motion to Adopt a Resolution Amending Colma Administrative Code Subchapter 3.01 
Through 3.05, and Subchapter 4.04, Relating to Various Employment-Related Policies and 
Financial Management. 

 
 



 
Page 3 of 3 

 

10. COUNCIL OF CITIES AND CITY SELECTION COMMITTEE 
 Consider: Motion to Confirm Designation of the Mayor as the Voting Member for the Council of Cities, 

Designating an Alternate Voting Member, and Giving the Voting Member Discretion on any and all 
Matters to be Considered. 

11. CITY COUNCIL COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2022 
 Consider: Motion Approving Committee Assignments for 2022 and Granting to the Appointee Discretion 

in Voting on Matters Brought Before the Committee. 
STUDY SESSION 
12. 2040 GENERAL PLAN UPDATE - DRAFT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT 

This item is for discussion only; no action will be taken at this meeting.  
REPORTS 

Mayor/City Council 
City Manager 

ADJOURNMENT 
The City Council Meeting Agenda Packet and supporting documents are available for review on the Town’s website  
www.colma.ca.gov or at Colma Town Hall, 1198 El Camino Real, Colma, CA. Persons interested in obtaining an agenda via e-mail 
should call Caitlin Corley, City Clerk at 650-997-8300 or email a request to ccorley@colma.ca.gov. 

Reasonable Accommodation 
Upon request, this publication will be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with disabilities, as required by 
the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Any person with a disability, who requires a modification or accommodation to view 
the agenda, should direct such a request to Pak Lin, ADA Coordinator, at 650-997-8300 or pak.lin@colma.ca.gov. Please allow 
two business days for your request to be processed. 

http://www.colma.ca.gov/
mailto:ccorley@colma.ca.gov
mailto:pak.lin@colma.ca.gov


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



1. In Closed Session Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6
– Conference with Labor Negotiators.
Agency Negotiator: Mayor Diana Colvin 
Unrepresented Employees: City Manager 

Item #1



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Minutes – Special Meeting – 11.10.21 Page 1 of 2 

MINUTES 
SPECIAL MEETING 

City Council of the Town of Colma 
Veterans Village 

1680 Mission Road 
Colma, CA 94014 

Wednesday, November 10, 2021 
12:00 P.M. 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Diana Colvin called the meeting to order at 12:11 p.m. 

Council Present – Mayor Diana Colvin, Vice Mayor Helen Fisicaro, Council Member John Irish 
Goodwin were present. Council Members Raquel Gonzalez and Joanne F. del Rosario were 
absent. 

Staff Present – City Manager Brian Dossey, Chief of Police John Munsey, Director of Public 
Works Brad Donohue, City Planner Farhad Mortazavi, City Clerk Caitlin Corley, and 
Recreation Services Manager Angelika Abellana were in attendance.  

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION OF SPECIAL GUESTS 

Mayor Colvin made opening remarks and welcomed special guests Congresswoman Jackie 
Speier and Supervisor David Canepa. 

VETERANS DAY RECOGNTION 

Mayor Colvin made remarks on the importance and value of Veterans Day and recognizing 
and honoring local veterans. She highlighted a local World War II veteran, Colonel John W. 
Mitchell. Colonel Mitchell passed away in 1995 but his memory is being honored by a group 
of local community members who have worked to have a memorial plaque placed at the foot 
of a flagpole he had erected on Collins Avenue.  

Congresswoman Jackie Speier made remarks. 

Supervisor David Canepa made remarks. 

NEW VETERAN HONOREES 

Mayor Colvin announced the names of the veterans who have been added to the Town’s 
Veterans Plaque, which honors Colma residents who have served in the Unites States 
Armed Forces: 

Matthew Hartough 
David V. Ferguson 
Louis Lopez 
Philip Doyle 
Floyd Fleming 
Steven J. Hopkins 

Item #2



Minutes – Special Meeting – 11.10.21 Page 2 of 2 

Vice Mayor Fisicaro, Council Member Goodwin, Supervisor Canepa and Congresswoman 
Speier presented the veterans with certificates in recognition of their service.  

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Colvin adjourned the meeting at 1:18 p.m. and invited everyone to enjoy the barbeque 
lunch. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Caitlin Corley 
City Clerk 



Minutes – Regular Meeting 11.10.21 Page 1 of 6 

MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING 

City Council of the Town of Colma 
Meeting Held Remotely via Zoom.us 

Wednesday, November 10, 2021 
Closed Session - 6:00 PM 
Regular Session - 7:00 PM 

CLOSED SESSION – 6:00 PM 
1. In Closed Session Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2) -

Conference With Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation

Worker’s Compensation Claim Regarding Former Police Officer (documents are available for 
public inspection pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(e)(3) by contacting the 
City Clerk) 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL – 7:00 PM 

Mayor Diana Colvin called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m. 
Council Present – Mayor Diana Colvin, Vice Mayor Helen Fisicaro, Council Members Joanne 
F. del Rosario and John Irish Goodwin were all present. Council Member Raquel Gonzalez 
was absent. 
Staff Present – City Manager Brian Dossey, City Attorney Christopher Diaz, Administrative 
Services Director Pak Lin, Chief of Police John Munsey, Director of Public Works Brad 
Donohue, City Planner Farhad Mortazavi, and City Clerk Caitlin Corley were in attendance. 
The Mayor announced, “Welcome to another of our completely remote Council Meeting. As 
always, we are accepting public comments through email or the zoom chat function—you 
can email our City Clerk at ccorley@colma.ca.gov or use the chat function to let her know 
which item you would like to speak on. Please keep your comments to 3 minutes or less. 
Thank you.” 

REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

Mayor Colvin announced, “Direction was given to staff at the end of tonight’s closed 
session.” 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

Mayor Colvin asked if there were any changes to the agenda; none were requested. She 
asked for a motion to adopt the agenda. 

Action: Vice Mayor Helen Fisicaro moved to adopt the agenda; the motion was seconded 
by Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote: 

Item #3



Minutes – Regular Meeting 11.10.21   Page 2 of 6 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 4 0    

PRESENTATION 
• Employee Appreciation  

The Mayor announced, “I am honored to welcome all of you to the Town of Colma’s 20th 
Annual Employee Recognition Ceremony. This ongoing tradition is important as it gives us 
the opportunity to show the Town’s appreciation to our employees. 
Tonight, we will recognize those employees who have marked their 1st, 5th, 10th, 15th, and 
20th anniversaries. Their continued dedication and commitment are a true gift to the Town’s 
residents and businesses.   
Due to COVID-19, our traditional celebration at Town Hall wasn’t possible this year.  Last 
week, the employees were individually presented with their gifts as they picked them up from 
Human Resources or their department. We were able to take photos of the employees, which 
we will share during the ceremony. We are so proud to have these employees as part of our 
Colma Family.  We know that this year has been exceptionally challenging while navigating 
through a global pandemic, so we would like to thank the employees for their continued 
resilience and hard work this past year.” 
Chief Munsey recognized:  

• Rickie Breaux – 1 Year  
• Officer Ricardo Escobar – 1 Year  
• Officer Marcos Perez – 1 Year  
• Officer Anthony Berkovatz – 5 Years  
• Amanda Velasquez – 5 Years  
• Sergeant Jim Vitale – 15 Years  
• Commander Sherwin Lum – 20 Years 

Recreation Services Manager Angelika Abellana recognized: 
• Lucas Montalvo – 5 Years Recognition 

City Clerk Caitlin Corley recognized: 
• Abigail Dometita – 1 Year  

City Manager Brian Dossey recognized: 
• Caitlin Corley – 10 Years 
• Louis Gotelli – 20 Years 

Mayor Colvin recognized: 
• Council Member John Goodwin - 4 Years (1 Term) 



Minutes – Regular Meeting 11.10.21   Page 3 of 6 

• Council Member Rae Gonzalez – 12 Years (3 Terms) 
Vice Mayor Fisicaro recognized: 

• Mayor Diana Colvin – 12 Years (3 Terms)  
 

• Halloween House Decorating Contest  
Recreation Manager Angelika Abellana and representatives from Republic Services, our 
sponsor of this event, introduced the recipients of our annual Halloween House Decorating 
Awards: 

• Walsh Family – Verano Home Owners Association  
• Mira Family – Sterling Park Neighborhood 
• Manela Family – Villa Hoffman Townhomes 
• Rivera Family – Spookiest House 

• Employee Introductions 
Chief of Police John Munsey introduced Executive Assistant to the Chief of Police Nikole 
Azzopardi. Community Service Officer Anthony Thickstun was also on the agenda to be 
introduced but was unfortunately not able to attend the meeting. He will be introduced 
at a future Council Meeting. 

• Veterans Day Recognition  
The Mayor announced, “Earlier today, we had a wonderful event at Veterans Village, where 
we honored the new residents whose names will be added to our Veterans Plaque and 
provided a barbeque lunch for all the residents.  
We were honored to be joined by Congresswoman Jackie Speier and Supervisor David 
Canepa.  
We were proud and grateful to be able to add 6 new names to our plaque: 

o Matthew Hartough  
o David V. Ferguson  
o Louis Lopez 
o Philip Doyle 
o Floyd Fleming 
o Steven J. Hopkins 

Thank you all for your service and welcome to our community.  

I’d also like to take this moment to read a proclamation in honor of a local WWII veteran, 
Colonel John W. Mitchell.” 
Mayor Colvin read a proclamation in honor of Colonel Mitchell. 
She continued, “Colonel Mitchell passed away in 1995 with few people here in Town 
knowing about his remarkable past. But this year for Veterans Day, a group of community 
members, including Reno Taini, Mark Fontana and Dennis Fisicaro, arranged to have a 
memorial stone placed at the site of his old workshop on Collins Avenue, at the base of a 
flagpole that Col. Mitchell erected so many years ago. This stone marker will be a 
testament to his service to his country and to his community for generations to come. And 



Minutes – Regular Meeting 11.10.21   Page 4 of 6 

let it also be a testament to all our veterans that your service is felt throughout our 
community and will never be forgotten. 
Thank you to our Colma Veterans and Veterans everywhere for your courage, sacrifice and 
service to our country.” 

• Proclamations in honor of Arbor Day and Arboretum Day 
The Mayor presented proclamations in honor of Arbor Day and Arboretum Day. Josh 
Gevertz from Cypress Lawn was on the line to accept the Arboretum Day proclamation 
and speak about the upcoming Arboretum Day event.  

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Mayor Colvin opened the public comment period at 7:38 p.m. and seeing no one request to 
speak, she closed the public comment period.  

CONSENT CALENDAR 

2. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the October 28, 2020 Regular Meeting. 
3. Motion to Approve the Report of Checks Paid for October 2020. 
4. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Amending the Colma Salary Schedule for Chief of Police 

Position. 
5. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Adopting the San Mateo County Multijurisdictional Hazard 

Mitigation Plan. 
Action: Council Member del Rosario moved to approve the consent calendar items #2 
through 5; the motion was seconded by Council Member Goodwin and carried by the 
following vote:  

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 4 0    

NEW BUSINESS 
6. SAN FRANCISCO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT COMMUNITY ROUNTABLE 

City Manager Brian Dossey presented the staff report. Mayor Colvin opened the public 
comment period at 7:43 p.m. and seeing no one request to speak she closed the public 
comment period. Council discussion followed. 
Action: Vice Mayor Fisicaro moved to Adopt a Resolution Approving the Memorandum of 
Understanding Allowing the Town of Colma to Become a Member of the San Francisco 
International Airport Community Roundtable and Appointing John Goodwin as 
Representative and Joanne del Rosario as Alternate Representative to the Roundtable; the 



Minutes – Regular Meeting 11.10.21   Page 5 of 6 

motion was seconded by Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote:  

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 4 0    

7. SOLAR & STORAGE COLLABORATIVE PROCUREMENT PROCESS PARTICIPATION 
Sustainability Programs Manager Kathleen Gallagher presented the staff report. Mayor 
Colvin opened the public comment period at 7:56 p.m. Resident Thom Taylor made a 
comment. The Mayor closed the public comment period at 7:59 p.m. Council discussion 
followed. 
Action: Vice Mayor Fisicaro moved to Adopt a Resolution Approving the Town of Colma’s 
Participation in the Solar and Storage Collaborative Procurement Process Managed by 
Peninsula Clean Energy and Authorizing the City Manager to Execute Any Documents 
Necessary for Participation in the Process; the motion was seconded by Council Member 
Goodwin and carried by the following vote:  

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 4 0    

COUNCIL CALENDARING 

The Regular Meeting on Wednesday, November 24, 2021 will be cancelled.  

There will be a Special City Council Reorganization Meeting on Tuesday, December 7, 2021 
at 6:00pm and it will be held remotely.  

The next Regular Meeting will be on Wednesday, December 8, 2021 at 7:00pm and it will 
be held remotely.  

REPORTS 

City Manager Brian Dossey gave an update on the following topics: 
 Happy Thanksgiving! 



Minutes – Regular Meeting 11.10.21   Page 6 of 6 

ADJOURNMENT  

Mayor Colvin adjourned the meeting at 8:50 p.m. in memory of: 
Thomas Yates Sr., a resident of Veterans Village. He proudly served in the United States 
Army during the Vietnam War as an Infantry man, one of the most dangerous jobs in the 
military. He moved in to Veterans Village in December of 2019, and was truly excited and 
happy to call Colma home. He was generous, kind and his love for life was infectious. He 
will be greatly missed by his Veterans Village family but his kind heart will always be 
remembered.    
Wilma Chang, longtime Alameda County Supervisor and former State Assembly Majority 
Leader. She was the first Asian American to be elected to the Alameda County Board of 
Supervisors, and the first woman and first Asian American to be Majority Leader of the 
California State Assembly. During her 30-year-career in public service, Supervisor Chan had 
been a staunch advocate for children, families and the elderly, affordable housing, and 
health care for the uninsured. 

 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
 
Caitlin Corley 
City Clerk 



Item #4





































Staff Report Motion to Reconfirm Findings Under Resolution No. 2021-33 and AB 361 Page 1 of 3 

STAFF REPORT

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Christopher J. Diaz, City Attorney 

VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: December 8, 2021 

SUBJECT: Motion to Reconfirm Findings and Determinations Under Resolution No. 
2021-33 and Assembly Bill 361 for the Continuation of Virtual Meetings 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council make the following motion: 

MOTION TO RECONFIRM FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS UNDER RESOLUTION NO. 
2021-33 AND ASSEMBLY BILL 361 FOR THE CONTINUATION OF VIRTUAL MEETINGS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On March 17, 2020, in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, Governor Gavin Newsom issued 
Executive Order N-29-20 suspending certain provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act in order to 
allow for local legislative bodies to conduct their meetings completely telephonically or by other 
electronic means.  

The provisions in the Brown Act that were suspended by the Governor’s Executive Order are 
contained at Government Code Section 54953(b)(3) and require that when teleconferencing is 
used, outside of a statewide emergency, that the following occur: 

• An agenda is required to be posted at all locations, including any teleconference locations

• Each teleconference location must be identified on the actual agenda

• Each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public

• A quorum of the legislative body must be in the jurisdiction

With the Governor’s Executive Order, the four above requirements were suspended allowing 
councilmembers to not have to post an agenda at their teleconference location, not have to 
identify their location on the meeting agenda, not have to ensure public accessibility at the 
teleconference location, and the legislative body did not need a quorum in the jurisdiction. As the 

Item #5



Staff Report Motion to Reconfirm Findings Under Resolution No. 2021-33 and AB 361 Page 2 of 3 

City Council is well aware, this allowed City Council meetings to be conducted by Zoom with 
councilmembers, staff, and the public, all joining from remote virtual locations. 

The suspension of certain provisions of the Brown Act was further extended by the Governor on 
June 11, 2021 by the issuance of Executive Order N-08-21 which continued to allow for complete 
virtual meetings until September 30, 2021.   

With the expiration of the Governor’s Executive Order along with the uncertainty that surrounded 
the Governor’s potential recall, the State Legislature also took the remote meeting issue into its 
own hands through the adoption of Assembly Bill 361, which is explained more in depth in the 
Analysis section below. 

On October 13, 2021 the City Council adopted Resolution No.2021-33 making findings under AB 
361 that state or local officials continue to recommend social distancing measures to prevent the 
spread of COVID-19 and including reference in particular to Cal-OSHA regulation 3205, which 
recommends physical distancing in the workplace. By motion and majority vote, the City Council 
may renew the findings of Resolution No. 2021-33 to continue to hold virtual meetings pursuant 
to AB 361. 

ANALYSIS 

On September 16, 2021, the Governor signed AB 361, which allows legislative bodies to meet 
virtually provided there is a state of emergency declared by the Governor, and either: 

(1) state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social 
distancing; or  
 

(2) the legislative body determines by majority vote that meeting in person would present 
imminent risks to the health and safety of attendees.   

The Governor by executive order signed on September 20, 2021, suspended the effective date of 
AB 361 to October 1, 2021.  As a result, if the City desires to have virtual meetings on or after 
October 1, 2021, it must do so consistent with the requirements of AB 361.   

AB 361 preserves many of the provisions of the earlier executive orders, including the suspension 
of the four teleconferencing requirements noted above, while also adding new requirements to 
the management of remote and teleconference public meetings in order to better achieve the 
levels of transparency that the Brown Act demands.  Specifically, AB 361 imposes two new rules 
on remote public meetings: 

1. Local governments and agencies hosting teleconference meetings in lieu of traditional in-
person public meetings must permit direct public comment during the teleconference, and 
must leave open the opportunity for public comment until the comment period for a given 
item is closed during the ordinary course of the meeting. The opportunity to make public 
comment must be of a sufficient duration so as to allow actual public participation. 

2. Any action by the governing body during a public teleconference meeting must occur while 
the agency is actively and successfully broadcasting to members of the public through a 
call-in option or an internet-based service option. If a technical disruption within the 



Staff Report Motion to Reconfirm Findings Under Resolution No. 2021-33 and AB 361 Page 3 of 3 

agency’s control prevents members of the public from either viewing the meeting of the 
public agency, or prevents members of the public from offering public comment, the 
agency must cease all action on the meeting agenda until the disruption ends and the 
broadcast is restored. Action taken during an agency-caused disruption may be challenged 
as a violation of the Brown Act. 

In order to continue to qualify for AB 361’s waiver of in-person meeting requirements, the City 
Council must, within thirty (30) days of its first meeting under AB 361, and every thirty (30) days 
thereafter, make findings that (a) state or local officials continue to recommend measures to 
promote social distancing, or that (b) an in-person meeting would constitute an imminent risk to 
the safety of attendees.  

The above conditions continue to exist at this time, and staff recommends the City Council by 
motion reconfirm the findings and determinations made in Resolution No. 2021-33 so that the 
City Council may continue to meet virtually under AB 361. 

Lastly, it is important to note that AB 361 is optional. If the City Council wishes, it may meet in 
person.  In addition, hybrid meetings are permissible where Council attends in person and the 
public attends remotely via Zoom.   

FISCAL IMPACT 

The City Council’s motion to continue with virtual meetings will maintain the status quo and no 
financial impact is anticipated. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 

The City Council’s approval of a motion to reconfirm findings does not constitute a project under 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guideline 15378(b)(5) as it constitutes an 
organizational or administrative activity of the government that will not result in direct or indirect 
physical changes in the environment.  Further, virtual meetings are likely to reduce certain 
impacts associated with vehicular travel related to in-person public meetings. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

None 

RECOMMENDATION 

Move to reconfirm the findings and determinations made in Resolution No. 2021-33 and under 
Assembly Bill 361 for the continuation of virtual meetings. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Staff Report re FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report (AB1600)  Page 1 of 4 

STAFF REPORT

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Pak Lin, Administrative Services Director 
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: December 8, 2021 
SUBJECT: FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report (AB 1600) 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council make the following motion: 

APPROVING AND ACCEPTING THE DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEE REPORT FOR FISCAL 
YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2021  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

State law requires any local agency that imposes development impact fees to prepare an annual 
report providing specific information about those fees.  Therefore, in accordance with the 
provision of the California Government Code, Section 66006(b), this Development Impact Fee 
Report for the Town of Colma is being filed accordingly for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. 

As of 2020-21, the Town’s only development impact fee is the Housing Impact Fee and therefore 
will comply with AB 1600 requirements, with the acceptance and posting of this report. For 
purposes of completeness and thoroughness, the report also includes information regarding the 
Park In-Lieu Fee and the Housing In-Lieu Fee, which are both exempt from the Mitigation Fee 
Act. The report was made available to the public on November 23, 2021. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

This is for reporting purposes and does not have a fiscal impact. 

BACKGROUND 

Development impact fees are charged by local governmental agencies in connection with 
approved development projects.  The purpose of these fees is to defray all or a portion of the 
cost of public facilities related to the development projects, implementing the projects’ “fair share” 
of the cost of the capital improvements project consistent with the general plan.  The legal 
requirements for enactment of a development impact fee program are set forth in Government 
Code Sections 66000-66025 (the “Mitigation Fee Act”), the bulk of which was adopted in 1987 as 
AB 1600.    

Item #6



Staff Report re FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report (AB1600)  Page 2 of 4 

The Mitigation Fee Act regulates how public agencies collect, maintain and spend impact charges 
and fees imposed on developers for the purpose of defraying costs of public facilities. The Act 
includes requirements for accounting, expending and reporting charges, fees and related interest 
earnings. 

The Town collects the following types of fees in connection with development:  

 Date of Adoption Ordinance No. Fee authorized 
 March 14, 2006 641 Park Land Dedication (Park In-Lieu) 
  September 28, 2016 639 Housing In-Lieu Fee 
   Housing Impact Fee 
The Housing Impact Fee is the only fee that is subject to annual reporting under the Mitigation 
Fee Act.  The Park In-Lieu fee is classified as a "Quimby Act" fee (Government Code §§ 66477) 
and is expressly excluded from the Mitigation Fee Act per Section 66000(b).  The Town’s 
inclusionary (affordable) housing requirement for for-sale residential development provides 
developers’ a voluntary option to pay the Housing In-Lieu Fee (CMC Section 5.12.040).  As such, 
the Housing In-Lieu Fee is not an exaction and is not subject to the Mitigation Fee Act.  (616 
Croft Ave., LLC v. City of West Hollywood, 3 Cal.App.5th 621, 630 (2016).)  The Park In-Lieu Fee 
and Housing In-Lieu Fee are included in this staff report for informational purposes only and are 
not subject to annual reporting requirements under the Mitigation Fee Act. 

This Annual Report must also be reviewed by the City Council at a regularly scheduled public 
meeting. In addition, notice of the time and place of the meeting shall be mailed at least 15 days 
prior to the meeting to any interested party who files a written request with the local agency. No 
such requests were made at the time of this report. The attached annual report consists of 
Attachment A that presents the revenues, expenditures, and fund balances for the Housing 
Impact Fee. 

ANALYSIS 

As required by the Mitigation Fee Act, impact fees must be segregated from the General Fund 
and accounted for in special revenue funds. Government Code Section 66006 requires that the 
City make available to the public information regarding development impact fees for each fund 
within 180 days after the end of each fiscal year: 

• A brief description of the fee and the fund into which the fee was deposited; 
• The amount of the fee; 
• The associated fund's beginning and ending balances for the fiscal year; 
• The total amount of fees collected, and interest earned; 
• Identification of each public improvement on which impact fees were expended and the 

amount of expenditure on each improvement, including the total percentage of the cost 
of the public improvement that was funded with impact fees; 

• Identification of the approximate date by which construction of a public improvement will 
commence if the local agency determined that sufficient funds have been collected to 
complete financing on an incomplete public improvement and the public improvement 
remains incomplete;  

• A description of each interfund transfer or loan made from an account or fund; and 



Staff Report re FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report (AB1600)  Page 3 of 4 

• The amount of refunds made and any allocations pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 
66001.  (Attachment A) 

Further, Government Code Section 66001(d) also requires that findings describing the continuing 
need for impact fees be made the fifth fiscal year following the first deposit into the account or 
fund, and every five years thereafter, specifying the intended use of any unexpended impact fees, 
regardless of whether the fees are committed or uncommitted. Failure to make such findings 
subjects the City to going through a refunding procedure.  The Housing Impact Fee was adopted 
in 2016, and the first deposits were made in 2018, so there is no need to make those additional 
findings at this time.  

In 2020-21, the Town collected $0 of Park In-Lieu Fees, $0 of Housing In-Lieu Fees and $0 of 
Housing Impact Fee.  For reference, below is the fund information for the Park In-Lieu Fee and 
the Housing In-Lieu Fee.  Information regarding the Housing Impact Fee is included in the FY 
2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report (Attachment A).  

PARK LAND DEDICATION (PARK IN-LIEU) 
Balance at 7/1/2020   $ 0 
   
2020-21 Fee Revenues   0 
   

2020-21 Capital Spending/Encumbrance Project Budget 
Actual 

Spending 
None   0 

   
Interfund Transfers   0 
   
Balance at 6/30/2021  $ 0 

 

HOUSING IN-LIEU FEE* 
Balance at 7/1/2020  $ 209,751 
   
2020-21 Fee Revenues   0 
2020-21 Interest Earnings    1,762 
   

2020-21 Spending/Encumbrance Project Budget 
Actual 

Spending 
None  0  0 

   
Interfund Transfers   0 
   
Balance at 6/30/2021  $ 211,513 

 

*  Note: Due to an accounting error, the FY 2019-20 report incorrectly included Housing Impact 
Fees in Housing In-Lieu Fee totals. 

This report meets the requirements to comply with the Mitigation Fee Act. 



Staff Report re FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report (AB1600)  Page 4 of 4 

Reasons for the Recommended Action 

Receipt of this report complies with the Mitigation Act.  

Council Adopted Values 
 
By accepting and publishing this report on the Town’s website, the Town is showing its 
commitment to being transparent and accountable in its use of development impact fees. This is 
in alignment with the fairness and responsibility attributes of the City Council adopted value-
based code of conduct.  

Alternatives 

1. Make alternations to the report for understandability. Please note, the amounts cannot 
be altered. 

2. Direct Staff to post the report in additional public locations. 

CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends the City Council receive and file the report.  

ATTACHMENTS 

A. FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report 

 



DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEE REPORT 
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2021 

FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report Page 1 of 2 
December 8, 2021 City Council Meeting - Scheduled 

This report provides an overview and summarized information on the Town’s Development Impact Fees 
for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021.  

HOUSING IMPACT FEE
FEE DESCRIPTION:  The Housing Impact Fee is required to be paid by a developer of a for-rent residential 
development of five or more units and for non-residential/commercial development over 5,000 square 
feet (CMC Sections 5.12.050 and 5.12.060).  In accordance with CMC Sections 5.12.010 and 5.12.030, 
monies deposited in the Housing Fund along with any interest earnings on such monies shall be used 
solely to increase and improve the supply of housing affordable to households of moderate-, low- and 
very low-income households in the Town and in northern San Mateo County. 

FEE AMOUNT:  The impact fees can be found in Subchapter 1.10 of the Colma Administrative Code, 
Master Fee Schedule, and are listed below for each of the different types of development. 

Residential Use Fee per Square Foot of Net 
New Floor Area 

Single Family Detached Home $10.00 

Townhouses, Duplexes and Triplexes $ 15.00 

Apartments and Condominiums $ 15.00 

Non-Residential Use 
(Only applies to developments over 5,000 sf) 

Fee per Square Foot of Net 
New Floor Area 

Hotel $5.00 

Retail, Restaurants and Services $5.00 

Office, Medical Office and Research and Development Uses $5.00 

FUND BALANCE* 

Balance at 7/1/2020 $ 66,491 

2020-21 Fee Revenues 0 
2020-21 Interest Earnings 559 

2020-21 Spending/Encumbrance Project Budget 
Actual 

Spending 
None 0 0 

Interfund Transfers 0 

Balance at 6/30/2021 $ 67,050 

*Note: Due to an accounting error, the FY 2019-20 report incorrectly included Housing In-Lieu Fees in the Housing
Impact Fees balance. 

Attachment A



 
FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Annual Report (AB 1600) Page 2 of 2 
December 8, 2021 City Council Meeting 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS:  

The fund balance has not been expended on any public improvements this financial year.  

APPROXIMATE DATE THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT WILL COMMENCE: 

The approximate date by which the construction of the public improvements identified in Colma 
Municipal Code Section 5.12.030 will commence is unknown at this time as sufficient funds have not 
been collected to complete financing on the incomplete public improvements. 

INTERFUND TRANSFERS OR LOANS: 

No interfund transfer or loan from the fund has occurred this financial year.  

REFUNDS/ALLOCATIONS: 

No refunds or allocations have been made this financial year. 



Staff Report re FY 2020-21 Annual Investment Report Page 1 of 4 

STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Pak Lin, Admin. Services Director 
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: December 8, 2021 
SUBJECT: FY 2020-21 Annual Investment Report 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council make the following motion: 

MOTION ACCEPTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2020-21 ANNUAL INVESTMENT REPORT 
THROUGH JUNE 30, 2021 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Town’s cash and investment portfolio earned $254,874 in interest in FY 2020-21. This amount 
is $97,283 less than the Final Budget of $329,711 and $249,000 less than the interest earnings 
in FY 2019-20. The weighted yield for FY 2020-21 is 1.668%. This reduction was expected as 
uncertainty in the financial market decreases, there is an increase in the interest for the debt/bond 
market, resulting in an increase in demand, and a drop in the interest earnings from debt/bond 
instructments. Since government agencies are restricted in the types of investments held, LAIF, 
SMIF, and the Town were limited to lower yielding investments, and the impact will be felt for 
the next few years.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact in accepting this investment report. 

BACKGROUND 

The City Council periodically reviews and approves the Town’s investment policy for compliance 
with State statute (California Government Code Section §53600, et seq.) and sets investment 
guidelines for the safekeeping of public funds. For day to day operations, the City Council has 
designated the City Manager, or his designee, to maintain cash balances to meet daily operational 
needs and to keep the Town’s purchasing power through safe and secure investments. A majority 
of the Town investments are placed in the State and the San Mateo County investment pools, 
which invest funds for more than one public agency. Both pools comply with the State statute 
and allocate most of their funds in agency and treasury bonds.  

The City Manager or his designee is required to review the Town’s investment policy annually and 
to provide semi-annual investment updates. The Investment Policy was last reviewed and 
approved by the City Council on July 24, 2019 and no change is proposed at this time.  

Item #7



Staff Report re FY 2020-21 Annual Investment Report  Page 2 of 4 
 

This report summarizes the investment activities for Fiscal Year 2020-21. It includes the beginning 
and ending balances by quarter; net Deposits and Withdrawals by quarter; total interest earned 
by quarter; the effective annual interest rates earned by quarter; and the cumulative weighted 
average.  This report provides the required information, including additional narrative 
explanations.  

ANALYSIS 

As of June 30, 2021, the Town has 
$38.2 million in various cash and investment 
accounts. Of the $38.2 million, $30.56 million 
is in unrestricted cash and investment 
accounts, and $7.64 million in restricted 
accounts. The restricted accounts include 
$5.7 million in PARS OPEB Trust to be used 
to fund future retiree medical and dental 
costs and $1.93 million in PARS Pension trust 
to be used to fund future retiree pension 
costs.  

Of the $30.56 million of unrestricted funds, 
$9.20 million is in the Town’s operating bank 
accounts, $16.26 million in the State and county pools (LAIF and SMCIF, respectively), and 
$5.10 million in Brokered CDs. The LAIF and SMCIF focus on liquidity and safekeeping of the 
assets, with 50 percent or more in agency and treasury bonds and the rest in high-quality low-
risk investments. The Brokered CDs are limited to $250,000 per issuer and are fully insured by 
FDIC or NCUSIF. 

Transaction Activity 

 

Overall, the Town’s Cash & Investments increased by $3.05 million. The increase in Cash in the 
Bank is largely driven the increase in sales tax revenues during the year. In April 2019, out-of-
state e-commerce were required to remit sales/use tax to the California Department of Tax and 
Fee Administration, also known as AB 147 or the Wayfair Decision. The Town’s sales tax revenues 
increased by $3.10 million during the year, when compared to FY 2019-20. 

Balance Balance Increase/
@6/30/2020 6/30/2021 (Decrease)

Town of Colma Cash & Investment

Cash In Bank 6,153,978$             9,202,514$             3,048,537$           
Public Agency Investment Pools 

Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 2,114,384               2,132,294               17,911                  
San Mateo County Investment Fund 
(SMCIF) 15,426,171             14,124,040             (1,302,131)            

Other Investment
Brokered CDs 5,131,181               5,097,792               (33,390)                 
Total Cash & Investment 28,825,714$           30,556,641$           1,730,927$           



Staff Report re FY 2020-21 Annual Investment Report  Page 3 of 4 
 

Changes to the LAIF and Brokered CDs balance were minimal and it’s related to market conditions. 
As for SMCIF, the Town transferred $1.5 million from SMCIF to the general bank to cover the 
cost of construction for the Mission Road project. The transfer was completed in 2020Q3. The 
Finance Department was concerned with cashflow needs in the first three months of the year, 
since large annual fees are paid during this period plus a $2.8 million capital project cost.  

The Finance Department will evaluate cashflow conditions in December of 2021 and will adjust 
the cash and investment balances to help the Town retain its purchasing power.  

FY 2020-21 Investment Summary by Quarter 

 

NOTES on Brokered CD: 
1. Withdrawals represents the amount of interest/dividend transferred back to the Town’s 

general bank account. This is a monthly scheduled transfer and the sole purpose is to keep 
the Brokered CD value at $5.0 million 

2. Net Change in Portfolio represents fair market value adjustment, which is equivalent to 
unrealized gain/loss. 

 

Earnings / Distribution of Portfolio   

The Town’s investment portfolio performed better than expected considering the Covid-19 
pandemic, with a weighted yield for FY 2020-21 at 1.668%, compared to 3.496% in FY 2019-20. 
As expected, the yield dropped between 1%-2%. The main reason for the significant drop in the 
expected yield is a result from the uncertainty in the market. The novel coronavirus (COVID-19) 
halted business transactions beginning in March of 2020, which led to a sharp crash in the stock 

2020Q3 2020Q4 2021Q1 2021Q2 Total
@ 9/30/2020 @ 12/31/2020 @ 3/31/2021  @6/30/2021 Jul 2020 - Jun 2021

Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)

Beginning Balance 2,114,383.69$          2,122,098.67$          2,126,604.90$          2,129,967.33$          2,114,383.69$          
Purchases / Deposits 0.00 0.00 0.00
Withdrawals 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest Posted 7,714.98 4,506.23 3,362.43 2,326.97 17,910.61

Ending Balance 2,122,098.67$          2,126,604.90$          2,129,967.33$          2,132,294.30$          2,132,294.30$          

San Mateo County Investment Fund (SMCIF)

Beginning Balance 15,426,170.66$        13,988,084.50$        14,045,358.13$        14,086,472.85$        15,426,170.66$        
Purchases / Deposits 0.00 0.00 0.00
Withdrawals (1,500,000.00) 0.00 (1,500,000.00)
Interest Posted 61,913.84 57,273.63 41,114.72 37,566.97 197,869.16

Ending Balance 13,988,084.50$        14,045,358.13$        14,086,472.85$        14,124,039.82$        14,124,039.82$        

Brokered CDs

Beginning Balance 5,131,181.47$          5,136,881.22$          5,134,434.89$          5,090,472.03$          5,131,181.47$          
Purchases / Deposits 0.00 0.00 0.00
Withdrawals (29,399.81) (14,098.57) (21,402.41) (13,956.01) (78,856.80)
Dividend/Interest Posted [1] 10,686.46 24,786.27 10,461.59 24,756.31 70,690.63
Net Change in Portfolio [2] 24,413.10 (13,134.03) (33,022.04) (3,480.38) (25,223.35)

Ending Balance 5,136,881.22$          5,134,434.89$          5,090,472.03$          5,097,791.95$          5,097,791.95$          

Total Investment Portfolio

Beginning Balance 22,671,735.82$        21,247,064.39$        21,306,397.92$        21,306,912.21$        22,671,735.82$        
Purchases / Deposits 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Withdrawals (1,529,399.81) (14,098.57) (21,402.41) (13,956.01) (1,578,856.80)
Interest Posted 80,315.28 86,566.13 54,938.74 64,650.25 286,470.40
Net Change in Portfolio 24,413.10 (13,134.03) (33,022.04) (3,480.38) (25,223.35)

Ending Balance 21,222,651.29$        21,319,531.95$        21,339,934.25$        21,357,606.45$        21,379,349.42$        



Staff Report re FY 2020-21 Annual Investment Report Page 4 of 4 

market. Conflicting news on the stimulus package in May through June created a sharp incline 
and decline. When the market behavior is unpredictable, debt/bond investments are more 
attractive. As demand for bonds increases, debt refinancing increases. As a result, interest 
earnings will likely remain at this level for the next two to four years.  

FY 2020-21 Portfolio Earnings by Quarter 

REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED ACTION 

The receipt of this report complies with the adopted Town Investment Policy. 

COUNCIL ADOPTED VALUES 

A periodic review of the Town’s investment performance aligns with the City Council adopted 
responsibility value. It exemplifies financial accountabilities and ensures the safekeeping of public 
funds in responsible investment options. 

CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends the City Council receive and accept the report. 

2020Q3 2020Q4 Interest
@ 9/30/2020 % of Portfolio @ 12/31/2020 % of Portfolio 2020Q3 2020Q4

Balance(s)
BANK BALANCE 4,114,172$      16.2% 5,909,599$      21.7% 19.0% 1,629.15  519.79  
LAIF 2,122,099           8.4% 2,126,605           7.8% 8.1% 7,714.98  4,506.23  
SMCIF 13,988,085         55.2% 14,045,358         51.6% 53.4% 61,913.84  57,273.63  
Brokered CDs 5,136,881           20.3% 5,134,435           18.9% 19.6% 10,686.46  24,786.27  
TOTAL 25,361,236$    27,215,997$    71,257.97$     62,299.65$     

Effective Annual Interest Rates
BANK BALANCE 0.158% 0.035%
LAIF 1.454% 0.848%
SMCIF 1.770% 1.631%
Brokered CDs 0.832% 1.931%

Weighted Average 1.124% 0.916%

2021Q1 2021Q2 Interest
@ 3/31/2021 % of Portfolio  @6/30/2021 % of Portfolio 2021Q1 2021Q2

Balance(s)
BANK BALANCE 7,063,912$      27.9% 9,202,514$      33.8% 24.9% 775.66  951.78  
LAIF 2,129,967           8.4% 2,132,294           7.8% 8.1% 3,362.43  2,326.97  
SMCIF 14,086,473         55.5% 14,124,040         51.9% 53.6% 41,114.72  37,566.97  
Brokered CDs 5,090,472           20.1% 5,097,792           18.7% 19.5% 10,461.59  24,756.31  
TOTAL 28,370,825$    30,556,641$    55,714.40$     65,602.03$     

Effective Annual Interest Rates
BANK BALANCE 0.044% 0.041%
LAIF 0.631% 0.437%
SMCIF 1.167% 1.064%
Brokered CDs 0.822% 1.943%

Weighted Average 0.786% 0.859%

FISCAL YEAR 2021 ANNUAL
WEIGHTED AVERAGE: 

1.668%



Staff Report – CAC 1.15 - Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic Waste Procurement Policy   Page 1 of 5 

STAFF REPORT 

TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM: Kathleen Gallagher, Sustainability Programs Manager, CSG Consultants 

Christopher J. Diaz, City Attorney 
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: December 8, 2021 
SUBJECT: CAC 1.15 - Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic Waste 

Product Procurement Policy  

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the City Council adopt the following: 
RESOLUTION AMENDING COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 1.15, 
RELATING TO AN ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE & RECOVERED WASTE ORGANIC 
PRODUCT PROCUREMENT POLICY 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Senate Bill (SB) 1383 directed the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery 
(“CalRecycle”) to adopt regulations to reduce organic waste statewide by 75% by 2025. The SB 
1383 Regulations require jurisdictions to implement specific actions such as adoption of a SB 
1383 Ordinance, requiring mandatory organic collection, and, annually purchasing a specified 
amount of recovered organic waste products, and requiring recycled content paper products. 
Examples of recovered organic waste products are compost or renewable gas derived from 
organic waste. The Town has had an Environmentally Preferable Purchasing Policy 
(Sustainability Policy) since 2014 contained within Administrative Code Subchapter 1.15. This 
policy would update Administrative Code Subchapter 1.15 and rename it Environmentally 
Preferable & Recovered Waste Organic Product Procurement Policy to include procurement 
requirements for meeting the annual recovered organic waste product procurement target and 
the recycled-content paper procurement requirements as described in the SB 1383 regulations 
(Title 14, Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 12), and recordkeeping requirements.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

The cost of recycled content paper products is generally comparable to the cost of non-recycled 
content products in most cases (see analysis). Therefore, any additional costs for complying 
with the requirement for purchasing recycled content is minimal.  

Item #8



Staff Report – CAC 1.15 - Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic Waste Procurement Policy   Page 2 of 5 

Costs related to the requirement for purchase of recovered organic waste products are 
unknown at this time. Staff will continue to research options and meet with regional partners to 
identify costs and will provide cost information once this information available. 
SB 1383 regulations regarding procurement requires new extensive reporting requirements to 
show compliance; the new report submittal known as the ‘Implementation Record’ will require 
additional staff time to complete SB 1383 compliance reporting, provide procurement resources 
for staff, and ensure staff are purchasing policy compliant products.     

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

As presented at earlier council meetings in May, July and October 2021, SB 1383 Regulations 
require jurisdictions to take specific actions to support the statewide 75% organic waste 
reduction target by 2025. These requirements include adoption of the SB 1383 ordinance, 
require mandatory organics collection programs via franchise agreement/other, annually 
procure recovered organics waste products and procure only recycled content paper products, 
mandatory monitoring, route review/contamination audits, establish an edible food recovery 
program, and new compliance reporting to CalRecycle.  

The updated Policy includes procurement requirements for meeting the annual recovered 
organic waste product procurement target, as well as the recycled-content paper procurement 
requirements as described in SB 1383 regulations (14 Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 12) and 
includes requirements for recordkeeping. CalRecycle has stated that adoption of a procurement 
policy is not a SB 1383 regulation, however specific procurement targets and recordkeeping are 
SB 1383 regulation requirements. Therefore, including these procurement requirements in our 
current procurement policy provides staff with clearly defined procedures, procurement details 
and reporting requirements to meet the requirements. The Town has had an Environmentally 
Preferable Purchasing Policy (Sustainability Policy) since 2014, per Administrative Code 
Subchapter 1.15; therefore, the new SB 1383 procurement requirements have been included in 
this amended Administrative Code Subchapter 1.15 and amended to be the Environmentally 
Preferable & Recovered Waste Organic Product Procurement Policy. 

The Policy has four main components: 

1. The Town must procure a specific amount of recovered organic waste products
annually. Examples of recovered organic waste products are compost, mulch, renewable
gas derived from organic waste or electricity procured from biomass conversion.

2. The Town must only purchase paper products made from recycled content.

3. The Town must keep detailed records via a Recordkeeping Designee of procured organic
waste products and recycled content paper products to report and verify compliance
with SB 1383 regulations for CalRecycle.

4. The Policy includes the Town’s previous (2014) Environmentally Preferable Purchasing
Policy (Sustainability Policy) provisions that include direction to prioritize the purchase
environmentally preferable products and services for increasing energy efficiency, water
conservation, transitioning to a low/no emission fleet, including sustainable practices for
landscape maintenance, etc.



Staff Report – CAC 1.15 - Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic Waste Procurement Policy   Page 3 of 5 

The Policy includes the following provisions: 

1. The Town must procure a specific amount of recovered organic waste 
products annually. The Town must purchase an ‘Annual Recovered Organic Product 
Procurement Target’ (the Town’s current target is 120 tons1). Examples of recovered 
organic waste products are compost, mulch, renewable gas derived from organic waste 
or electricity procured from biomass conversion. Each of these products needs to meet 
specific criteria to be included in the annual Target as defined in the Policy. The Policy 
requires specific information on procurement of compost, renewable gas derived from 
organic waste at an in-vessel digestion facility used for transportation fuel, electricity, or 
heating, electricity from biomass conversion, and, mulch. The purchase of mulch 
requires the Town to have a contract or other enforceable mechanism that requires the 
mulch to meet specific contamination standards.  

A portion of this annual target can be met through the Town’s current franchise 
agreement which includes a requirement that Republic Services provide free compost to 
the Town and community; this amount is approximately 36 tons per year. Staff is 
meeting with regional partners that include the Office of Sustainability and Resource 
Conservation District on additional options to meet the annual requirement.   

2. The Town must purchase only paper products made with recycled content. All 
Town departments/Town vendors may only purchase paper products with 50% or more 
recycled content. The Town has been purchasing paper products with recycled content 
since the Town adopted the original Environmentally Preferable Purchasing Policy 
(Sustainability Policy) in 2014. In 2020, Town Hall was certified through the State’s 
Green Business Certification Program which required that paper products contain 50% 
recycled content, this 50% requirement is higher than the 30% recycled content in SB 
1383 regulations. The cost of recycled content paper products with 30%, 50% an 100% 
recycled content2 is generally comparable to the cost of non-recycled content products 
in most cases. The Policy states that staff shall purchase 50% recycled content paper 
products whenever the cost is the same, lesser cost, or not more than 10% of the non-
recycled content alternative.  

3. The Town must complete new recordkeeping of procurement requirements to 
ensure compliance with SB 1383 regulations and includes a Recordkeeping 
Designee (as designated by the City Manager) to report information on the Town’s 
required Implementation Record. The Town must document specific details in how it 
met the annual recovered organic waste product procurement target and the recycled-
content paper content standards.    

4. The Policy includes information about free compost /mulch distribution from 
a hauler and or direct service provider to meet the procurement Target. These 
giveaway events and the associated compost/mulch tonnage would qualify to meet the 

 
1 CalRecycle provides Target annually by multiplying jurisdiction’s population by 0.08 tons. Colma’s current Target is 120 tons which 
is approximately 13 loads of compost in 20 cubic yard containers   
2 Recent survey of cost comparison of copy paper (box) in various percentages of recycled content results:  
  0% recycled content=$69.99 

30% recycled content=$67.99 
50% recycled content=$72.36 
100% recycled content=$70.99 



Staff Report – CAC 1.15 - Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic Waste Procurement Policy   Page 4 of 5 

Target if they met specific criteria as defined. It should be noted that the SB 1383 
regulations allow the Town to “use or giveaway,” the products but would not include the 
sale of these products because the intent is to encourage the demand and use of 
recovered organic waste products.  CalRecycle has states that procuring compost and 
then selling it via a third party does not meet the intent of these regulations, which is to 
build markets for the use of recovered organic waste products.  

5. The Policy includes the Town’s previous (2014) Environmentally Preferable
Purchasing Policy (Sustainability Policy) provisions that include direction to
prioritize the purchase conservation, transitioning to a low/no emission fleet, including
sustainable practices for landscape maintenance, etc.

6. Ordinance Effective Date is December 20, 2021.

Town of Colma Application for Waiver for Some Exemptions to SB 1383 

Town staff met on November 18th with CalRecycle’s Branch Chief, Cara Morgan to discuss SB 
1383 regulation implementation deadlines and to determine if the Town needed to adopt SB 
619, requesting an extension. CalRecycle staff advised the Town that it did not need to adopt 
SB 619 and discussed the Town’s option to apply for a SB 1383 waiver to exempt the Town 
from some regulation requirements due to our low population and comparatively low disposed 
tonnage data3. CalRecycle allows jurisdictions and other entities to apply for a waiver to exempt 
them from certain SB 1383 regulations requirements in Article 3 which involve collection 
services, route auditing, and contamination monitoring requirements if their population is below 
7,500 and disposed tonnage is less than 5,000 tons in 2014; Colma meets both of these 
requirements, therefore, the City Manager has directed staff to apply for the waiver.  

Jurisdictions that apply for the waiver are still required to implement SB 1383 requirements that 
are not in Article 3. These remaining requirements outside of Article 3 include procurement of 
organic waste products/recycled content paper products, implementation of the edible food 
recovery program, mandatory outreach and education, recordkeeping/reporting to CalRecycle 
and other requirements. The Town will continue to work toward meeting the requirements such 
as franchise agreement modifications but has up to five additional years to meet these 
requirements, and this additional time allows the Town to complete negotiations with Republic 
Services and make modifications in a more thoughtful and deliberative manner.  

Council Adopted Values 

The adoption of the Policy is consistent with the Council value of vision and responsibility 
because it enables the Town to comply with SB 1383 Regulations, reduce organic waste to 
landfills and reduce greenhouse gas emissions (GHG).  
Sustainability Impact 

Adoption of the Policy will improve sustainability by reducing organic waste to landfills and 
reduce methane generation, a potent GHG. The Policy will also assist the Town in meeting the 
Town’s Climate Action Plan 2030 GHG reduction targets.   

3 CalRecycle also allow exemptions for rural jurisdictions and jurisdictions at high altitudes 



Staff Report – CAC 1.15 - Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic Waste Procurement Policy   Page 5 of 5 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Resolution 
Exhbit A - Amended Administrative Code – 1.15 Environmentally Preferable & 

Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Policy 





RESOLUTION 2021-__ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION AMENDING ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 1.15, RELATING TO 
AN ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE & RECOVERED WASTE ORGANIC PRODUCT 

PROCUREMENT POLICY  

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve: 

1. Background

(a) The Town of Colma has actively demonstrated its commitment to a sustainable and 
resilient future through adoption of its Climate Action Plan 2030 and original Climate Action Plan 
in 2013 and has implemented new programs and policies that include energy efficiency, water 
conservation, clean energy programs, and the expansion of local renewable power supply. 

(b) Senate Bill (SB) 1383 directed the California Department of Resources Recycling and 
Recovery (“CalRecycle”) to adopt regulations to reduce organic waste statewide by 75% by 
2025. 

(c)  SB 1383 Regulations require jurisdictions to implement specific actions such as adoption 
of a SB 1383 Ordinance, requiring mandatory organic collection, and, annually purchasing a 
specified amount of recovered organic waste products, and requiring recycled content paper 
products and recordkeeping to demonstrate compliance. 

(d) The Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Waste Organic Product Procurement Policy 
(Policy) includes SB 1383 procurement requirements for meeting the annual recovered organic 
waste product procurement target, as well as the recycled-content paper procurement 
requirements as described in SB 1383 regulations (14 Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 12), and 
recordkeeping requirements. 

(e) The Town has had an Environmentally Preferable Purchasing Policy (Sustainability 
Policy) since 2014, per Administrative Code Subchapter 1.15; and the new SB 1383 
procurement requirements have been included in this amended Administrative Code Subchapter 
1.15 and amended to be the Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Waste Organic Product 
Procurement Policy. 

2. Order.

(a)The City Council hereby amends Colma Administrative Code Subchapter 1.15 in the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A” to this resolution. 

// 

// 

// 

Attachment A



Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-__ was duly adopted at a regular meeting of said 
City Council held on December 8, 2021, by the following vote: 

 
Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 

  Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      

Voting Tally      
 
 
 
Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Diana Colvin, Mayor 
 
 
      Attest:   ____________________________ 
         Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 
 
 



Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic 
Product Procurement Policy, December 2021 

Administrative Code 
Page 1.15-1 

CHAPTER ONE. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 1.15 

ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE & RECOVERED ORGANIC WASTE PRODUCT 

PROCUREMENT POLICY 

1.15.10 PURPOSE AND FINDINGS 

It is the policy of the Town of Colma (Town) to purchase environmentally preferable products to 
conserve natural resources and reduce greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) to meet GHG reduction 
targets of Colma’s Climate Action Plan 2030. The purpose of this Environmentally Preferable and 
Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Policy (Policy) is to require sustainable purchasing 
practices and comply with State requirements per 14 CCR Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 12 (SB 
1383 Procurement Regulations) to procure a specified amount of Recovered Organic Waste 
Products to support Organic Waste disposal reduction targets, support markets for recovered 
Organic Waste products, and purchase Recycled-Content Paper Products. 

1.15.020 SUBCHAPTER AMENDED 

Subchapter 1.15 of the Colma Administrative Code is hereby repealed and restated in its entirety 
to read as provided herein. 

1.15.030 DEFINITIONS 

“Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target” means the amount of 
Organic Waste in the form of a Recovered Organic Waste Product that the Town is required to 
procure annually under 14 CCR Section 18993.1.  This target shall be calculated by multiplying 
the per capita procurement target, which shall be 0.08 tons of Organic Waste per California 
resident per year, times the Town’s residential population using the most recent annual data 
reported by the California Department of Finance. Annually, CalRecycle will provide notice to the 
Town of its Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target by posting such 
information on CalRecycle’s website and providing written notice directly to the Town.  

“Compost” means the product resulting from the controlled biological decomposition of organic 
solid wastes that are source separated from the municipal solid waste stream or which are 
separated at a centralized facility or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 17896.2(a)(4).   
Compost eligible for meeting the Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target 
must be produced at a compostable material handling operation or facility permitted or 
authorized under 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 3.1 or produced at a large volume in-vessel 
digestion facility that composts on-site as defined and permitted under 14 CCR Division 7, 
Chapter 3.2.  Compost shall meet the State’s composting operations regulatory requirements. 

“Consider” means to actively and in good faith seek the stated objectives of purchasing 
recycled content or environmentally preferable products. 

“Direct Service Provider” means a person, company, agency, district, or other entity that 
provides a service or services to the Town pursuant to a contract or other written agreement or 
as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(17).  

Exhibit A



Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic 
Product Procurement Policy, December 2021 
 

Administrative Code 
Page 1.15-2 

 

“Electricity Procured from Biomass Conversion” means electricity generated from biomass 
facilities that convert recovered Organic Waste, such as wood and prunings from the municipal 
stream, into electricity. Electricity procured from a biomass conversion facility may only count 
toward the Jurisdiction’s Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target if the 
facility receives feedstock directly from certain permitted or authorized compostable material 
handling operations or facilities, transfer/processing operations or facilities, or landfills, as 
described in 14 CCR Section 18993.1(i).  
 

“Feasible” means whenever possible and compatible with local, state, and federal law, without 
reducing safety, quality, or effectiveness, and where the practice, product or service is available at 
a reasonable cost in a reasonable period of time. Reasonable cost shall be no more than 10% of 
the less sustainable product. 
 
“Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEEDTM) Rating System” means the 
green building assessment system developed by the U.S. Green Building Council designed for 
rating new and existing commercial, institutional, and high-rise residential buildings. 
 
Mulch” means mulch eligible to meet the Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product 
Procurement Target, pursuant to 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12. Mulch must meet the following 
conditions for the duration of the applicable procurement compliance year, as specified by 14 
CCR Section 18993.1(f)(4): 
1. Be produced at one of the following facilities:  

A. Compostable material handling operation or facility as defined in 14 CCR Section 
17852(a)(12), that is permitted or authorized under 14 CCR, Division 7, other than a 
chipping and grinding operation or facility as defined in 14 CCR Section 17852(a)(10); 
Mulch excludes mulch from chipping and grinding operations. 

B. Transfer/processing facility or transfer/processing operation as defined in 14 CCR Sections 
17402(a)(30) and (31), respectively, that is permitted or authorized under 14 CCR Division 
7; or,  

C. A solid waste landfill as defined in Public Resources Code Section 40195.1 that is permitted 
under 27 CCR, Division 2.  

2. Meet or exceed the physical contamination, maximum metal concentration, and pathogen 
density standards for land application specified in 14 CCR Sections 17852(a) (24.5) (A)(1)- 
(3).  

 
 
“Organic Waste” means solid wastes containing material originated from living organisms and 
their metabolic waste products including, but not limited to, food, yard trimmings, organic 
textiles and carpets, lumber, wood, Paper Products, Printing and Writing Paper, manure, 
biosolids, digestate, and sludges, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(46). 
Biosolids and digestate are as defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(4) and 14 CCR Section 
18982(a) (16.5), respectively. 
 
“Paper Products” include, but are not limited to, paper janitorial supplies, cartons, wrapping, 
packaging, file folders, hanging files, corrugated boxes, tissue, toweling; or as otherwise defined 
in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(51). Printing/writing paper include, but are not limited to, copy 
paper, envelopes, envelopes, writing tablets, newsprint, uncoated writing papers, posters, 
brochures, magazines, and publications; or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(54). 
 
“Procurement of Recovered Organic Waste Products” shall mean purchase or acquisition 
(e.g., free delivery or free distribution from a hauler or other entity via a written agreement or 
contract), and end use by the Town or others. The Town’s Annual Recovered Organic Waste 
Product Procurement Target can be fulfilled directly by the Town or by Direct Service Providers 



Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic 
Product Procurement Policy, December 2021 
 

Administrative Code 
Page 1.15-3 

 

through written contracts or agreements for Procurement of Recovered Organic Waste Products 
at the Town’s request.   
 
“Publicly-Owned Treatment Works” or “POTW” has the same meaning as in Section 
403.3(r) of Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  
 
“Recovered Organic Waste Products” means products made from California, landfill-diverted 
recovered Organic Waste processed at a permitted or otherwise authorized operation or facility, 
or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(60). Products that can be used to meet the 
Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target shall include Compost, Mulch, 
Renewable Gas from an in-vessel digestion facility, and Electricity Procured from Biomass 
Conversion as described herein and provided that such products meet requirements of 14 CCR, 
Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 12.  
 
“Recordkeeping Designee” means the staff person appointed by the City Manager or their 
designee track procurement and maintain records of Recovered Organic Waste Product 
procurement efforts both by the Town and others, if applicable, as required by 14 CCR, Division 
7, Chapter 12, Articles 12 and 13.  
 
"Recyclability" means that the Paper Products and Printing and Writing Paper offered or sold 
to the Town are eligible to be labeled with an unqualified recyclable label as defined in 16 Code 
of Federal Regulations Section 260.12. 
 
“Recycled-Content Paper Products” and “Recycled-Content Printing and Writing 
Paper” means such paper products that consist of at least 30%, by fiber weight, postconsumer 
fiber, consistent with the requirements of Public Contract Code Sections 22150 to 22154,12200 
and 12209, and as amended.  
 
“Renewable Gas” means gas derived from Organic Waste that has been diverted from a 
landfill and processed at an in-vessel digestion facility that is permitted or otherwise authorized 
by 14 CCR to recover Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(62). 
 
“SB 1383” means Senate Bill 1383 (Chapter 395, Statutes of 2016), which added Sections 
39730.5, 39730.6, 39730.7, and 39730.8 to the Health and Safety Code, and added Chapter 13.1 
(commencing with Section 42652) to Part 3 of Division 30 of the Public Resources Code, 
establishing methane emissions reduction targets in a statewide effort to reduce emissions of 
short-lived climate pollutants, as amended, supplemented, superseded, and replaced from time 
to time.  
 
“SB 1383 Regulations” means or refers to, for the purposes of this policy, the Short-Lived 
Climate Pollutants (SLCP): Organic Waste Reductions regulations developed by CalRecycle and 
adopted in 2020 that created 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 and amended portions of 
regulations of 14 CCR and 27 CCR. 
  
“State” means the State of California. 

 
 



Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic 
Product Procurement Policy, December 2021 
 

Administrative Code 
Page 1.15-4 

 

1.15.040 Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Requirements 
A. Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target 
1. The Town will annually procure for use or giveaway a quantity of Recovered Organic Waste 
Products that meets or exceeds its Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target 
through implementation of 1.15.040 – 1.150.60 of this Policy.  
 

2. To be eligible to meet the Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target, 
products that may be procured include the following (provided that each product meets the 
criteria included in their respective definitions in Section 1.15.030 of this Policy): 

a. Compost.   
b. Mulch. 
c. Renewable Gas (in the form of transportation fuel, electricity, or heat). 
d. Electricity Procured from Biomass Conversion. 

 
B. Requirements for Town Departments 
1. Town department staff that are responsible for landscaping maintenance, renovation, 
construction, or related activity are to prioritize the use of Compost and Mulch produced from 
recovered Organic Waste for landscaping maintenance, renovation, or construction. SB 1383 
Eligible Mulch used for land application must meet or exceed the physical contamination, 
maximum metal concentration and pathogen density standards specified in 14 CCR Section 
17852(a) (24.5) (A)(1)-(3).  
2. Town projects that are subject to the Water Efficient Landscaping Ordinance (WELO), 23 CCR, 
Division 2, Chapter 2.7, as amended September 15, 2015, are to keep records of Recovered 
Organic Product procurement. For all mulch that is land applied, procure Mulch that meets or 
exceeds the physical contamination, maximum metal concentration, and pathogen density 
standards for land applications specified in 14 CCR Section 17852(a) (24.5) (A)(1)-(3). Town 
staff are required to keep records, including invoices or proof of Recovered Organic Waste 
Product procurement (either through purchase or acquisition), and submit records to the 
Recordkeeping Designee, upon completion of project. 

 
C. Procedures & Recordkeeping Requirements for Procured Organic Products 
Town Projects 
1. Town staff are required to keep records, including invoices or proof of Recovered Organic 
Product procurement (either through purchase or acquisition), and submit records to the 
Recordkeeping Designee, upon completion of project. Records shall include: 

a. General description of how and where the product was used and applied, if 
applicable. 

b. Source of product, including name, physical location, and contact information for 
each entity, operation, or facility from whom the Recovered Organic Waste 
Products were procured. 

c. Type of product and quantity of each product.   
d. Invoice or other record demonstrating purchase or procurement. 

 
Requirements for Compost and or Mulch Giveaway Events or Other Distribution 



Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic 
Product Procurement Policy, December 2021 
 

Administrative Code 
Page 1.15-5 

 

Events 
1. For Compost and Mulch provided to residents, businesses or other organizations through 
giveaway events or other types of distribution methods, the Town will require that the Direct 
Service Provider (including the Town’s franchised hauler) maintain an accurate record of the 
quantity of Compost and/or Mulch that is distributed.  
These records will include: 

a. General description of how/where product was used and or applied, as applicable 
b. Source of product (physical location), type of product and quantity of product    
c. Invoice or other record demonstrating purchase, distribution event or giveaway  

 
2. The Town’s Recordkeeping Designee will keep records of Compost and Mulch provided for SB 
1383 reporting purposes, and for the procurement of Mulch, report that mulch procured by the 
Town or Direct Service Provider meets the land application standards specified in 14 CCR Section 
18993.1, as it may be amended from time to time.  
3. When Procurement of Recovered Organic Waste Products occurs through a Direct Service 
Provider, the Town will require a written contract or agreement, or execute a purchase order 
with enforceable provisions that states mulch procured by the Direct Service Provider meets land 
application standards specified in 14 CCR Section 18993.1, as it may be amended from time to 
time. 
Requirements for Procurement of Renewable Gas, Electricity Procured from Biomass 
Conversion  
1. When Town procures Recovered Organic Waste Products that include Renewable Gas and/or 
Electricity Procured from Biomass Conversion occurs through a Direct Service Provider, Town 
shall enter into a written contract or agreement or execute a purchase order with enforceable 
provisions that includes: (i) definitions and specifications for Renewable Gas and/or Electricity 
Procured from Biomass Conversion and, (ii) an enforcement mechanism (e.g., termination, 
liquidated damages, etc.) in the event the Direct Service Provider is non- compliant with the 
requirements. 
2. When the Town has a Renewable Gas procurement (used for fuel for transportation, 
electricity, or heating applications), the Town shall ensure compliance with criteria specified in 14 
CCR Section 18993.1., keep records for Renewable Gas procured and used by the Town and 
provide records to the Recordkeeping Designee, on a suitable schedule as determined, but not 
less than annually.     
3. If the Town procures Renewable Gas from a POTW, the Town will annually verify that the 
Renewable Gas from the POTW complies with the requirements specified in 14 CCR Section 
18993.1(h), including, but not limited to the exclusion in 14 CCR Section 17896.6(a)(1). And, the 
Town shall annually receive a record from the POTW documenting the tons of Organic Waste 
received by the POTW from: (i) a compostable material handling operation or facility as defined 
in 14 CCR Section 17852(a)(12), other than a chipping and grinding operation or facility as 
defined in 14 CCR Section 17852(a)(10), that is permitted or authorized under 14 CCR Division 7; 
(ii) transfer/processing facility or transfer/processing operation as defined in 14 CCR Sections 
17402(a)(30) and (31), respectively, that is permitted or authorized under 14 CCR Division 7; or 
(iii) a solid waste landfill as defined in Public Resources Code Section 40195.1 that is permitted 
under 27 CCR Division 2. The Town shall require that the POTW annually provide documentation 
of the percentage of biosolids that the POTW produced and transported to activities that 



Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic 
Product Procurement Policy, December 2021 
 

Administrative Code 
Page 1.15-6 

 

constitute landfill disposal to demonstrate that the POTW transported less than twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the biosolids it produced to activities that constitute landfill disposal. Landfill 
disposal is defined pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18983.1(a) and includes final disposition at a 
landfill; use of material as alternative daily cover or alternative intermediate cover at a landfill, 
and other dispositions not listed in 14 CCR Section 18983.1(b). Alternative daily cover or 
alternative intermediate cover are defined in 27 CCR Sections 20690 and 20700, respectively. 
The Town will also require annual documentation that the POTW receives vehicle-transported 
solid waste that is an anaerobically digestible material for the purpose of anaerobic co-digestion 
with POTW treatment plant wastewater to demonstrate that the POTW meets the requirement of 
14 CCR Section 18993.1(h)(2). The Town will ensure records are submitted to the Recordkeeping 
Designee on an annual basis.   
When the Town procures electricity from Biomass Conversion the Town will maintain records 
detailing the amount of Electricity Procured from Biomass Conversion facilities and receive 
written notification by an authorized representative of the Biomass Conversion facility certifying 
that biomass feedstock was received from a permitted solid waste facility identified in 14 CCR 
Section 18993.1(i). The Town will provide these records to the Recordkeeping Designee on an 
annual basis.  
 
1.15.050 Requirements for Procurement of Recycled Content Paper Products 
1. Town staff shall purchase Recycled-Content Paper Products and Recycled-Content Printing and 
Writing Paper that consists of at least fifty percent (50%) recycle content whenever the total cost 
is the same cost, lesser cost or not more than 10% of the non-recycled content alternative, 
consistent with the requirements of the Public Contract Code, Sections 22150 through 22154 and 
Sections 12200 and 12209, as amended.  All Paper Products and Printing and Writing Paper shall 
be eligible to be labeled with an unqualified recyclable label as defined in Title 16 Code of 
Federal Regulations Section 260.12. 
2. Town staff are to maintain records of all Paper Products and Printing and Writing Paper 
purchases and provide sufficient records to the Recordkeeping Designee at an agreed upon 
schedule, but not less than annually to enable the Recordkeeping Designee to complete the 
required documentation for CalRecycle. Town staff shall provide a copy of the invoice/ 
documentation of purchases, vendor name, purchaser name, date and quantity purchased, 
recycled content information. If non-Recycled-Content Paper Products and/or non-Recycled-
Content Printing and Writing Paper are purchased, Town staff is to detail why Recycled-Content 
Paper Products and/or Recycled-Content Printing and Writing Paper were not purchased.  
 

Town Vendor Procurement Requirements 
1. All vendors that provide Paper Products (including janitorial Paper Products) and 

Printing and Writing Paper to the Town are to Provide Recycled-Content Paper 
Products and Recycled-Content Printing and Writing Paper that consists of at 
least fifty percent (50%) recycle content whenever the total cost is the same 
cost, lesser cost or not more than 10% of the non-recycled content alternative, 
consistent with the requirements of the Public Contract Code, Sections 22150 
through 22154 and Sections 12200 and 12209, as amended. Vendors are to only 
provide Paper Products and Printing and Writing Papers that meet Federal Trade 
Commission Recyclability standard as defined in Title 16 CFR Section 260.12. 

2. Vendors are to certify in writing, under penalty of perjury, the minimum 



Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic 
Product Procurement Policy, December 2021 
 

Administrative Code 
Page 1.15-7 

 

percentage of postconsumer material in the Paper Products and Printing and 
Writing Paper offered or sold to the Town. This certification requirement may be 
waived if the percentage of postconsumer material in the Paper Products, 
Printing and Writing Paper, or both can be verified by a product label, catalog, 
invoice, or a manufacturer or vendor internet website. Vendors are to certify in 
writing, under penalty of perjury, that the Paper Products and Printing and 
Writing Paper offered or sold to the Town are eligible to be labeled with an 
unqualified recyclable label as defined in Title 16 CFR Section 260.12. 

3. Vendors are to provide records of all Paper Products and Printing and Writing 
Paper purchased (both recycled-content and non-recycled content) made by a 
Town department to the Recordkeeping Designee on a schedule to be 
determined by the Recordkeeping Designee.  Records shall include a copy of the 
invoice/ documentation of purchase, written certifications as required, purchaser 
name, quantity/date purchased, and if non-Recycled-Content Paper Products 
and/or non-Recycled-Content Printing and Writing Paper is purchased include a 
description of why Recycled-Content Paper Products and/or Recycled-Content 
Printing and Writing Paper were not purchased.   

4. All vendors providing printing services to the Town via a printing contract or 
written agreement, shall use Printing and Writing Paper that consists of at least 
fifty percent (50%), recycle content whenever the total cost is the same cost, 
lesser cost or not more than 10% of the non-recycled content alternative, 
consistent with the requirements of the Public Contract Code, Section 12209 or 
as amended.   

 
1.15.060 SB 1383 PROCUREMENT RECORDKEEPING RESPONSIBILITIES 
1. The City Manager or their designee will designate who will be the Recordkeeping Designee 
and responsible for consolidating information from all Town departments pertaining to 
Procurement of Recovered Organic Waste Products and Recycled-Content Paper Products and 
Recycled-Content Printing and Writing Paper.  
 
2. The Recordkeeping Designee will track Procurement of Recovered Organic Waste Products, 
Recycled-Content Paper Products, and Recycled-Content Printing and Writing Paper and 
complete the following tasks: 

a) Collect and collate copies of invoices or receipts (paper or electronic) or other proof of 
purchase that describe the procurement of Printing and Writing Paper and Paper 
Products, including the volume and type of all paper purchases; and, copies of 
certifications and other required verifications from all departments procuring Paper 
Products and Printing and Writing Paper (whether or not they contain recycled content) 
and/or from the vendors providing Printing and Writing Paper and Paper Products. These 
records must be kept as part of Town’s documentation of its compliance with 14 CCR 
Section 18993.3.  

b) Collect and collate copies of invoices or receipts or documentation evidencing 
procurement from all Town departments procuring Recovered Organic Waste Products 
and invoices or similar records from vendors/contractors/others procuring Recovered 
Organic Waste Products on behalf of the Town to ensure compliance in meeting its 
Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target. These records must be 



Environmentally Preferable & Recovered Organic 
Product Procurement Policy, December 2021 
 

Administrative Code 
Page 1.15-8 

 

kept as part of the Town’s documentation of its compliance with 14 CCR Section 18993.1. 
c) Collect, collate, and maintain documentation submitted by the Town, Direct Service 

Providers, and/or vendors. Compile an annual report on the Town’s procurement, 
vendor/other procurement on behalf of the Town of Recovered Organic Waste Products, 
Recycled-Content Paper Products, and Recycled-Content Printing and Writing Paper, 
consistent with the recordkeeping requirements contained in 14 CCR Section 18993.2 for 
the Annual Recovered Organic Waste Product Procurement Target and 14 CCR Section 
18993.4 for Recycled-Content Paper Products and Recycled-Content Printing and Writing 
Paper procurement. This report shall be made available to the Town’s responsible entity 
for compiling the annual report to be submitted to CalRecycle (which will include a 
description of compliance on other SB 1383 regulatory requirements) pursuant to 14 CCR 
Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 13.  

 
1.15.070 OTHER ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE PROCUREMENT PRODUCTS, 
SERVICES AND PRACTICES 
1. Town staff shall prioritize the purchase of environmentally preferable products, services, and 
practices, whenever feasible, that include the following: 
Zero Emission and or Fuel-Efficient Vehicle Fleet. When replacing Town fleet vehicles, 
Town staff will prioritize zero emission vehicles and or fuel-efficient vehicles, provided the vehicle 
meets the performance standard needed for its purpose. When replacing vehicles, less-polluting 
alternatives such as compressed natural gas, bio-based fuels, hybrids, electric batteries, or fuel 
cell types are to be considered.  
Town Landscaping/Maintenance Services. When considering landscape maintenance 
services, Town staff will prioritize provisions of Sustainable Guidelines for Landscape 
Professionals (www.bayfriendlycoalition.org) and establish a preferred list of native and drought-
tolerant plants for use.  
Energy Efficient Electronic Equipment and Solar Installation. When considering purchase 
of new electronic equipment, Town staff will prioritize products that include the “Energy Star” 
certification and meet “EPEAT” energy efficiency standards. All employees should maintain 
equipment on the most energy efficient settings. Town staff will consider solar installation and 
battery storage on Town properties when deemed economically beneficial.  
Water Efficient Products. When considering purchase of water fixtures, plumbing fixtures, 
and toilets, etc. Town staff will prioritize the purchase of items that include the “Water Sense” 
certification to maximize water efficiency.    
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED)/Green Building. When building 
or renovating Town facilities, staff will prioritize Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 
(LEED) green building practices. When exterior hardscape modifications are made to existing 
Town facilities, staff will consider replacement of impervious surfaces with permeable substitutes 
such as permeable asphalt, concrete or pavers for walkways, patios, parking lots and driveways. 
 
1.15.080 EFFECTIVE DATE OF POLICY 
This Policy shall take effect December 20, 2021.   
 
 
 

http://www.bayfriendlycoalition.org/


Staff Report re: MOU Approvals  Page 1 of 4 

STAFF REPORT

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: December 8, 2021 
SUBJECT: Memorandums of Understanding and Cost of Living Increases 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following resolutions: 

RESOLUTION APPROVING MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
BETWEEN THE TOWN OF COLMA AND THE COLMA PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION 
FOR THE PERIOD OF DECEMBER 26, 2021 TO JUNE 30, 2024;  

RESOLUTION APPROVING MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
BETWEEN THE TOWN OF COLMA AND THE COLMA POLICE 
COMMUNICATION/RECORDS ASSOCIATION FOR THE PERIOD OF DECEMBER 26, 2021 
TO JUNE 30, 2024; 

RESOLUTION APPROVING COST OF LIVING SALARY INCREASES FOR CERTAIN 
UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEES AND MODIFYING THE TOWN’S SALARY SCHEDULE; and, 

RESOLUTION AMENDING COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 3.01 
THROUGH 3.05, AND SUBCHAPTER 4.04, RELATING TO VARIOUS EMPLOYMENT-
RELATED POLICIES AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The attached resolutions approve: (1) the memorandum of understanding (MOU) between the 
Town and the Colma Peace Officers Association; (2) the MOU between the Town and Colma 
Police Communications/Record Association; (3) cost of living increases for certain 
unrepresented employees and modifying the Town’s salary schedule to implement all salary 
increases contemplated for the represented and unrepresented employees; and (4) amend the 
Colma Administrative Code Subchapters 3.01 through 3.05 and Subchapter 4.04. 
As discussed by the City Council throughout the course of negotiations, the general parameters 
of the MOUs are 2 percent pay increases every six months for all affected employees for the 
duration of the MOUs (December 26, 2021 through June 30, 2024). 

Item #9



Staff Report re: MOU Approvals   Page 2 of 4 

Changes to the Colma Administrative Code (CAC) Subchapters 3.01 through 3.05 and 
Subchapter 4.04 are administrative in nature. The changes include the following: 

1. Expanding authorized personnel in matter of human relations and management; 
2. Inserting the Town’s contribution towards the Retiree Health Savings Account for 

employees hired after January 1, 2017, which was omitted in error in the last update; 
and  

3. Updating the banking and transfer authority to include the Administrative Services 
Director.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

The approval of the attached resolutions will increase Town salaries and benefits by a cost of 
approximately $840,000 over the life of the MOUs. This amount has been calculated into the 
Town’s long term financial forecast and can be accommodated. As for the administrative 
changes to Chapters 3 and 4 of the CAC, there is no fiscal impact.   
 
BACKGROUND 

The Town’s MOUs with the Peace Officers Association and the Dispatch/Records Association are 
scheduled to expire on June 30, 2022. The MOUs included a clause stipulating the salary 
increases on June 27, 2021 and December 26, 2021 are contingent upon revenues exceeding 
operational expenditures for the FY 2021-22 Budget. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the resulting economic uncertainty, the Town exercised this contingency and all Town 
employees did not receive their increases on June 27, 2021.   
 
Upon direction from the City Council, the City Manager and the Town’s labor negotiator were 
directed to begin labor negotiations prior to the expiration on the existing contract in an effort 
for the negotiations to be completed prior to the June 30, 2022 contract expiration.  
Negotiations on the successor agreement with each association began in September and, due 
to both sides working diligently together, updated labor agreement terms have been reached 
between both sides. The results of those negotiations are now being formally presented to 
Council for final approval in the form of the two MOUs and salary schedule modifications.  
 
ANALYSIS 

Living and working in the Bay Area has become increasingly challenging over the past several 
years, and recruiting and retaining employees has been difficult with inflation reaching 5.2%1 in 
San Francisco/Bay Area.  Because of this, the City Council directed staff to begin labor 
negotiations prior to the expiration of the existing contract.  The City Council wanted to address 
concerns over existing employees ability to make a living wage for their family and in an effort 
to retain employees for their commitment to the Town. 
Through the course of negotiations, the City Council came to the following agreements with the 
employee associations:    

Peace Officer Association (POA):  

 
1 October 2021 Bureau of Labor Statistics CPI-U for San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward 



Staff Report re: MOU Approvals   Page 3 of 4 

Each member in the POA will receive 2 percent pay increases every six months for the life of 
the agreement. This amounts to a 10 percent pay increase over three years.  

Dispatch/Records Association (Association):  
1. Each member in the Association will receive 2 percent pay increases every six months 

for the life of the agreement. This amounts to a 10 percent pay increase over three 
years.  

2. Holiday pay (excluding New Year’s Day, Thanksgiving Day, and December 25th) will be 
changed to holiday in-lieu at 5 percent of base hourly rate according to the member’s 
classification. As for New Year’s Day, Thanksgiving Day, and December 25th, Members 
will receive eight hours straight time pay. This aligns the holiday pay for dispatch 
association with the POA. 

3. The Dispatch Association MOU originally changed the medical insurance coverage for 
Tier B members as of June 1, 2010. This was changed in correctly to 2008 at some point 
and should be corrected back to 2010.  

Unrepresented Employees:  
The unrepresented employees are not members of any employee association. The Town has 
had an informal policy for some time that the unrepresented employees should be treated 
similarly to the POA and Dispatch Association. As a result, the City Council authorized the City 
Manager to provide the same increases/changes to the unrepresented employees, which was 
conveyed during a meeting with the unrepresented employees in November, as each employee 
(with the exception of the City Manager) will receive 2 percent pay increase every six months 
through June 2024. This amounts to a 10 percent pay increase over three years.  
If the proposed resolutions for the compensation changes above are approved, the salary 
increase will take affect on December 26, 2021.  

Colma Administrative Code (CAC):  
Chapter 3 of the CAC was last approved and amended by the City Council on January 8, 2020. 
Since then, staff noticed the following administrative changes to reflect current operations.  
All of the proposed changes are included within the proposed resolution. 

• Change HR Manager to HR personnel and add Administrative Services Director as 
authorized personnel; 

• Remove duplicates; and 
• Insert the Town’s contribution towards the Retirement Health Savings Program for 

employees hired on or after January 1, 2017. This omission was done in error.  
Similar changes were made to Chapter 4 of the CAC, subdivision 4.04 Banking Authority. The 
Banking Authority was last updated in November 2016 and does not list the Administrative 
Services Director as an authorized signer. The proposed change in the resolution adds the 
Administrative Services Director as an alternate signer for checks and transfers.  
 
COUNCIL ADOPTED VALUES 

The Staff recommendation is consistent with the Council adopted values of: 



Staff Report re: MOU Approvals   Page 4 of 4 

• Responsibility: Making decisions after prudent consideration of their financial impact, 
taking into account the long-term financial needs of the agency. 

• Fairness: Treat all persons, claims and transactions in a fair and equitable manner. 

ALTERNATIVES 

The City Council could choose to not adopt the resolutions approving the MOUs and 
unrepresented salary increases, or could chose to direct Staff to renegotiate any items within 
the MOUs. Doing so is not recommended, however, as that action could be construed as bad-
faith bargaining and could create the potential for an unfair labor practices charge.  
 
CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt theresolutions. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Resolution Approving Memorandum of Understanding Between the Town of Colma and 
the Colma Police Officers Association for the Period of December 26, 2021 to June 30, 
2024 

B. Memorandum of Understanding Between the Town of Colma and the Colma Police 
Officers Association for the Period of December 26, 2021 to June 30, 2024 

C. Resolution Approving Memorandum of Understanding Between the Town of Colma and 
the Colma Police Communications/Records Association for the period of December 26, 
2021 to June 30, 2024 

D. Memorandum of Understanding Between the Town of Colma and the Colma Police 
Communications/Records Association for the period of December 26, 2021 to June 30, 
2024 

E. Resolution Approving Modifications to Colma Salary Schedule (including Exhibit A) 
F. Resolution Amending Colma Administrative Code Subchapter 3.01 through 3.05, and 

Subchapter 4.04, Relating to Various Employment-Related Polices and Financial 
Management. 



Res 2021-__, Approving POA MOU 2021-2024 Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION 2021-__ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION APPROVING MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
BETWEEN THE TOWN OF COLMA AND THE COLMA PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION 

FOR THE PERIOD OF DECEMBER 26, 2021 TO JUNE 30, 2024 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve as follows: 

1. Background.

(a) The Town’s MOUs with the Peace Officers Association and the Dispatch/Records 
Association are scheduled to expire on June 30, 2022.  
(b) The MOUs included a clause stipulating the salary increases on June 27, 2021 and 
December 26, 2021 are contingent upon revenues exceeding operational expenditures for the 
FY 2021-22 Budget. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting economic 
uncertainty, the Town exercised this contingency and all Town employees did not receive their 
increases on June 27, 2021.   
(c) Upon direction from the City Council, the City Manager and the Town’s labor negotiator 
were directed to begin labor negotiations prior to the expiration on the existing contract in an 
effort for the negotiations to be completed prior to the June 30, 2022 contract expiration. 
Negotiations on the successor agreement with each association began in September and were 
completed in November.  

(d) Staff is now presenting the formal MOU detailing the conclusion of the labor negotiation 
terms for City Council consideration and approval. 

2. Order.

(a) The City Council hereby approves the Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Town of Colma and the Colma Peace Officers Association for the time period of December 26, 
2021 to June 30, 2024, which is attached to the Staff Report for the December 8th City Council 
meeting.  This MOU shall supersede the prior MOU upon its execution. 

(b) The Mayor shall be, and hereby is, authorized to execute the Memorandum of 
Understanding, subject to any changes in form or technical language approved by the City 
Manager and City Attorney. 

// 
// 
// 
// 
// 
// 

Attachment A



Res 2021-__, Approving POA MOU 2021-2024 Page 2 of 2 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-__ was duly adopted at a regular meeting of 
said City Council held on December 8, 2021 by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Voting Tally 

Dated ______________________ __________________________________
Mayor 

Attest:   ____________________________ 
 Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN 

THE TOWN OF COLMA 

AND 

THE COLMA PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION 

April 10, 2019 to June 30, 2022 
December 26, 2021 to June 30, 2024 

Attachment B



  

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE AND INTENT .................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 2 - REPRESENTATION ........................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 3 - RIGHTS RESERVED ......................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT OBLIGATIONS ........................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 5 - SEVERABILITY ................................................................................................ 2 

ARTICLE 6 - WAIVER.......................................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 7 - MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS ........................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 8 - DURATION AND RENEWAL ............................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 9 - WORK PERIOD AND HOURS ............................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE 10 - STAFFING LEVELS ......................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 11 - SHIFT SELECTION ......................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 12 - SHIFT EXCHANGE .......................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 13 - SALARIES ..................................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 14 - OVERTIME AND COMPENSATORY PAY ............................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 15 - HOLIDAY PAY ................................................................................................ 7 

ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES ......................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE 17 - REIMBURSEMENTS ........................................................................................ 9 

ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT, HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS ............................................10 

ARTICLE 19 - PAYROLL ERRORS ........................................................................................16 

ARTICLE 20 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ..............................................................................16 

ARTICLE 21 - SAFETY VESTS .............................................................................................16 

ARTICLE 22 - DEFINITIONS ...............................................................................................16 

ARTICLE 23 - TRANSITION ................................................................................................17 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 1 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

[See Article 22 for definitions] 
ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE AND INTENT 

A. It is the intent and purpose of the parties that this Memorandum of Understanding shall 
set forth rules of pay, hours of work, and other terms and conditions of employment to be 
observed by the parties in connection with the Peace Officers Unit.  The provisions of this 
Memorandum of Understanding shall apply only to the Members of the Peace Officers Unit 
(Member) and shall in no way establish terms and conditions of employment of other 
employees of the Town of Colma who are not Members of that Unit.  The classifications 
included in that Unit are all sworn officers of the Colma Police Department except Reserve 
Police Officers, Police Recruits, the Commander, and the Police Chief.  This agreement has been 
developed in the interest of promoting and improving employee relations between the Town of 
Colma (hereinafter referred to as the Town) and the Colma Peace Officers Association 
(hereinafter referred to as the Association). 

B. This Memorandum is entered into pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (GOVERNMENT 
CODE sections 3500, et seq.) and Subchapter 3.09 of the Administrative Code of the Town. 

ARTICLE 2 - REPRESENTATION 

A. The Town hereby recognizes the Association as the Recognized Employee Organization 
to act as bargaining agent for the Peace Officers Unit. 

B. The Town shall deduct the Association dues from the Members’ pay checks and transmit 
such monies to the duly authorized and designated employee organization representative or by 
direct deposit to the Association’s bank account. 

ARTICLE 3 - RIGHTS RESERVED 

A. The Association recognizes that the Town has and will continue to retain, whether 
exercised or not, the unilateral and exclusive right to operate, administer and manage its 
municipal services and work force performing those services in all respects subject to this 
Memorandum. 

B. The City Manager and Police Chief have and will continue to retain exclusive decision-
making authority on matters not officially and expressly modified by specific provisions of this 
Memorandum and such decision-making shall not be subject in any way, directly or indirectly, 
to the grievance procedure contained herein. 

C. The exclusive rights of the Town shall include, but not be limited to, the right to 
determine the organization of Town government and the purpose and mission of its constituent 
agencies, to set standards of service to be offered to the public, and through its management 
officials to exercise control and discretion over its organization and operations, to establish and 
effect Administrative Regulations and Employment Rules and Regulations consistent with law 
and the specific provisions of this Memorandum to direct its employees, to take disciplinary 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 2 

action for just cause, to relieve its employees from duty because of lack of work or for other 
legitimate reasons, to determine whether goods or services shall be made, purchased or 
contracted for, to determine the methods, means and personnel by which the Town’s services 
are to be provided, including the right to schedule and assign work and overtime, and to 
otherwise act in the interest of efficient service to the community. 

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT OBLIGATIONS 

The Town shall, at its own expense, provide to every Member a copy of this Memorandum and 
all rules, regulations, general and special orders. 

ARTICLE 5 - SEVERABILITY 

If any article or section of this Memorandum of Understanding or if any chapter or section of 
the Town’s Personnel Policies referred to in this Memorandum should be found invalid, unlawful, 
or unenforceable by reason of any existing or subsequent enacted legislation by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, all other articles and sections of this Memorandum shall remain in full 
force and effect for the duration of this Memorandum.  In the event of invalidation of any article 
or section, the Town and Association may negotiate regarding that section or article on the 
anniversary of this Memorandum as provided by Article 8.  However, in the event the legislation 
or decision referred to above affects wages, hours or working conditions, the Town and 
Association agree to meet and confer within sixty days of the effective date of the legislation or 
decision to renegotiate said article or section. 

ARTICLE 6 - WAIVER  

The parties acknowledge that, during the negotiations which resulted in this agreement, each 
had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any 
subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the 
understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and 
opportunity are set forth in this agreement.  Therefore, the Town and the Association, for the 
life of this agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right and each agrees that 
the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter 
referred to or covered in this agreement (except as provided in Article 5), even though such 
subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge and contemplation of either or both 
parties at the time they negotiated or signed this agreement.  However, in the event the Police 
Chief, the City Manager or the City Council imposes a change in policy regarding the Association 
which substantially affects wages, hours or other terms and conditions of employment not 
covered by this Memorandum of Understanding, the Association may request that the Town 
meet and confer regarding that change. 

ARTICLE 7 - MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS 

A. The status of all existing benefits and conditions of employment now enjoyed by 
classifications represented by the Association shall not be deemed affected by this agreement, 
except as specifically modified by provisions of this Memorandum.   



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 3 

B. Except as expressly stated in this Memorandum, where this Memorandum refers to a 
benefit in the Town’s Personnel Policies, that benefit may only be modified by the Town after 
meeting and conferring with the Association. 

ARTICLE 8 - DURATION AND RENEWAL 

Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, this Memorandum of Understanding shall run 
from April 10, 2019 to June 30, 2022 December 25, 2021 to June 30, 2024.  It shall be 
automatically renewed from year to year thereafter, with no scheduled salary increases, unless 
either party shall have notified the other, in writing, at least sixty days prior to the expiration 
date that it desires to modify the Memorandum of Understanding.  In the event that such notice 
is given, negotiations shall begin within thirty days of delivery of the notice of intent to modify 
the Memorandum of Understanding.  

ARTICLE 9 - WORK PERIOD AND HOURS 

A. The work period established for Members is a regularly recurring period of eighty-four 
(84) hours in fourteen consecutive days.  The Police Chief may, in writing, establish the 
beginning and ending day and time of a work period. 

B. Except as provided in paragraph 9.C, all Members will be on the same fourteen day work 
period and will be scheduled to work up to eighty-four (84) hours in fourteen consecutive 
workdays.  Members may be assigned to a team concept, working three days one week and 
four days the following week.   

C. The work schedule shall include paid time for meal breaks, except for Members 
attending training classes and Members attending court sessions, in which case meal breaks 
shall not be compensable time. 

D. Daylight Savings-Standard Time Transition 

(1) In the spring when transitioning to Daylight Savings Time, Members working 
during the one hour transition from Standard Time to Daylight Savings Time will be paid 
for actual hours worked.  Members working on a shift that includes the one hour 
transition may be granted an option by the Chief to work an additional hour at his or her 
base hourly rate or use compensatory time or vacation time to make up for the lost 
work hour. 

(2) In the fall when transitioning to Standard Time, Members working during the one 
hour transition from Daylight Savings Time to Standard Time will be paid for actual 
hours worked and overtime pay, if actual hours worked or counted as worked in that 
work period exceed eighty-four (84) hours in a work period. 

ARTICLE 10 - STAFFING LEVELS 

The Police Chief shall maintain a minimum of two sworn employees on each shift for patrol 
purposes. 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 4 

ARTICLE 11 - SHIFT SELECTION 

Members will sign up for shifts by seniority in 6 month increments, for a one year time frame 
(January through December).  Shifts will rotate in January and July of every year and each 
Member must work six consecutive months on an alternative shift every two years.  The police 
Chief or his designee may assign a Member to an alternate shift at any time for the good of the 
organization.  Members who have not rotated after eighteen months will be assigned to an 
alternative shift by the Chief or his or her designee.  

ARTICLE 12 - SHIFT EXCHANGE 

A. All Members may be permitted to substitute for another of equal rank during scheduled 
work hours, as herein provided.   Trading shall be limited to one shift in any calendar week and 
any Any Member requesting a trade shall submit a written request to the Police Chief or 
designee seven days prior to the first day of the trade.   No trade shall be made unless the 
Police Chief or designee approves the trade in writing.   The traded shift shall be paid back 
within the same fourteen-day work period.   This shift trading is strictly voluntary on the part of 
Members and is for their benefit, not the benefit of the Town.  The Town shall exclude the 
hours worked as a trade in calculating overtime. 

B. Once the exchange has been signed by both Members and approved by the Police Chief 
or his or her designee, it will be the responsibility of the person agreeing to work the shift to 
cover that shift. 

ARTICLE 13 - SALARIES 

  
A. Effective in the first pay period beginning after the Council ratifies this MOU, the Town 
shall pay each Member an amount determined by multiplying the number of hours worked in a 
pay period by the applicable hourly base rate of pay shown for the Member in Appendix A.   
However, the increases scheduled for July 1, 2021 and January 1, 2022 are expressly 
contingent upon, and will not be implemented unless, the Towns projected operational revenue 
exceeds operational expenses for FY 2021-22 as set forth in the FY2021-22 Budget upon 
adoption on June 9, 2021. 
 
B. FICA and PERS Member Contributions 
Each Member shall pay the employee share of FICA (Social Security and Medicare) taxes and 
the employee's contributions to the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS). 

C. Educational Incentive Program 

(1) Except as provided in this section, there are no incentive pays. 

(2) This Program is adopted for the benefit of the Members in recognition of certain 
specified educational achievements.  Eligible Members shall receive the specified 
additional compensation only under one of the formulas: 

(a) A four percent increase of his or her hourly base rate shall be provided to 
Members who possess an Associates of Arts Degree in Administration of Justice, 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 5 

Police Science, or a related field, or an Intermediate POST Certificate.  Members 
with this incentive shall be classified as Police Officer 2 or Police Sergeant 2 and 
compensated according to Appendix A.  Once this salary increase is awarded it 
shall continue regardless of future promotions to higher non-management 
positions.   However, it shall not be added to the incentive paid for more 
advanced degrees provided in subsections (b) and (c) below. 

(b)   A six percent increase of his or her hourly base rate shall be provided to 
Members who possess a Baccalaureate Degree in Administration of Justice, 
Police Science, or a related field, or an Advanced POST Certificate. Members with 
this incentive shall be classified as Police Officer 3 or Police Sergeant 3 and 
compensated according to Appendix A.  Once this salary increase is awarded it 
shall continue regardless of future promotions to higher non-management 
positions.   However, it shall not be added to the incentive paid for a more 
advanced degree provided in subsection (c) below. 

 (3) The following Members are eligible for Education Incentive Pay: 

(a) A Member who is a regular, non-probationary employee of the Town and 
has had at least twelve months of sworn law enforcement experience in a 
municipal law enforcement agency; or 

(b) A lateral hire with five years of law enforcement experience when the 
Police Chief has determined in his or her discretion to grant Education Incentive 
prior to the conclusion of the Member’s probationary period. 

(4) Documentation must be provided in order to receive the incentive.  It is the 
Member’s responsibility to forward to the Police Chief the documents which certify 
eligibility for educational incentives.  The incentive will commence on the first day of the 
pay period following the award date of the degree and/or certificate.  

D. Field Training Officer 

A Member assigned to serve as a Field Training Officer will receive a five percent differential of 
his or her base rate as shown in salary tables above for actual hours worked as Field Training 
Officer, which may be less than an entire shift. 

E. Detective 

A Member assigned to serve as a Detective will receive a five percent differential of his or her 
base rate as shown in salary tables above for all hours compensated during the assignment. 

F. Officer in Charge 

A Police Officer assigned to serve as Officer in Charge will receive a five percent differential of 
his or her base rate as shown in salary tables above for actual hours worked, which may be less 
than an entire shift. The Officer in Charge (OIC) assignment and duration is made at the 
discretion of the Police Chief.  Members who are currently under a performance improvement 
plan, received a sub-standard rating in one or more categories on his or her most recent annual 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 6 

evaluation, or received a written reprimand or more serious discipline within six months from 
assignment may be restricted from applying for the OIC assignment.  A minimum of at least 
two years of sworn Police Officer experience with the Colma Police Department is preferred.   

G. Retention Pay 

Effective in the first pay period beginning after Council ratification of this Agreement, eligible 
Members may begin to receive Retention Pay in the amount of 2.5% for continuous 10 years of 
Town of Colma service, and an additional 2.5% for 20 years of continuous Town of Colma 
service, to a combined maximum of 5% Retention Pay.  The percentage of Retention Pay shall 
be calculated on the Members base pay (not including incentive pay or any other differential 
pay).  After the effective date above, Members are eligible for Retention Pay beginning in the 
first pay period following their anniversary date in which the employee meets its 10 year or 20 
year of continuous Town service.  For purposes of this section, “continuous” service shall 
include Town-approved leaves of absence and other leaves required by law.  

ARTICLE 14 - OVERTIME AND COMPENSATORY PAY 

A. Members will be routinely scheduled to work eighty-four (84) hours in a fourteen-day 
work period.   Members will receive overtime when a Member has worked in excess of eighty-
four (84) hours during the fourteen day work period, subject to the provisions below.   For 
purposes of this section, vacation leave that was scheduled and approved at least twenty-eight 
(28) days prior to the date taken off, sick leave, bereavement leave and training hours will 
count towards hours worked.   Vacation leave not scheduled and approved at least twenty-eight 
(28) days prior to the date taken off, administrative leave and compensatory time used will not 
count as hours worked for purposes of this section. 

(1) Overtime must be approved in advance by the Police Chief or Designee. 

(2) The overtime pay rate will be paid as defined in the FLSA. 

(3) All overtime worked which is less than one hour increments in a work shift shall 
be compensated in fifteen-minute increments. 

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Member may, in his or her sole discretion, take or 
bank Compensatory Time Off at the rate of one and one-half hours for each hour of overtime 
worked.  A Member’s Compensatory Time Leave Bank will be established with a maximum leave 
balance of eighty hours. 

C.  A Member who is subpoenaed to testify on his or her day off at any judicial, civil or 
administrative hearing, including but not limited to Superior Court, Municipal Court, Traffic 
Court, DMV hearing, civil deposition or parole hearing, on a matter arising out of the Member's 
course and scope of employment, shall earn overtime as follows:  

(1)  While at the place of the hearing, the Member shall earn overtime from the time 
first required to be there until the time released, except for meal breaks. The Member 
will be paid for only one block of time in a day, regardless of the number of matters that 
may require the Member's appearance. Except for the circumstances described in 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 7 

paragraphs (2) and (3), the Member will earn a minimum of four hours of overtime for 
the day. 

(2)  If placed on telephone standby by the District Attorney, the Member shall earn 
two hours of overtime for all time on standby. If the Member is called to court, he or she 
will receive overtime from the time first required to be there until the time released, 
except for meal breaks. The Member called to court will receive court overtime in lieu of 
standby overtime.  In all cases, Members must have authorization from a supervisor 
prior to accepting the telephone standby. 

(3)  When a Member is required to be at the place of the hearing within four hours 
prior to his or her shift, the Member shall earn overtime from the time first required to 
be at the hearing until the beginning of his or her scheduled shift, except for meal 
breaks. When a Member is required to be at the place of the hearing within one hour 
after his or her shift, the Member shall earn overtime from the end of his or her shift 
until the time released, except for meal breaks. 

(4)  While testifying by telephone, Members shall earn overtime for the time the 
Member is required to be on the telephone. 

D.  A Member who is called to work within four hours of the start of his or her shift will 
receive at least one hour of regular pay, if actual time worked is less than one hour, and 
overtime pay, if actual hours worked or counted as worked in a work period exceed eighty-four 
(84) hours.  

E. A Member, who is called to work on his or her day off, or after having been relieved of 
duty for the day at least one hour prior, shall earn overtime for the time the Member is called 
back, with a minimum of four hours of overtime.  If the callback shift exceeds four hours, the 
Member will be compensated overtime on an hour for hour basis after the first four hours.    

F.  All training scheduled on a Member’s day off will be compensated on an hour for hour 
basis and overtime pay, if actual hours worked or counted as worked in a work period exceed 
eighty-four (84) hours. Firearms training will normally be conducted while the Member is on 
duty. If the Member must attend the range while off duty, he or she will be limited to two hours 
per quarter and will be compensated on an hour for hour basis and overtime pay as required by 
FLSA. The first quarter begins in January of every year. 

G. K-9 handlers will receive seven hours of overtime pay per pay period to compensate for 
any work after scheduled hours that may be required to feed and care for the canine unit in 
Member’s charge.  

ARTICLE 15 - HOLIDAY PAY 

A. In lieu of holiday pay, Members will be paid additional compensation at the rate of five 
percent of his or her base hourly rate of pay according to his or her classification as shown in 
salary tables above for all hours except overtime.  Said compensation shall be paid at the same 
time and manner as the Member is usually paid his or her salary, without regard for the number 
of holidays occurring or worked during the pay period and will be included in the FLSA overtime 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 8 

calculation.  This policy is in lieu of the holiday schedule and holiday leave policy set forth in the 
Town’s Personnel Policies. 

B. Notwithstanding the above, Members who work on designated significant holiday shifts 
will be compensated at one and a half (1.5) times his/her base rate as defined in the salary 
tables. The designated significant holiday shifts are 6:00pm to 6:00am on Thanksgiving, 
December 24 and December 31 and 6:00am to 6:00pm on Thanksgiving, December 25 and 
January 1. 

ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES 

A. Vacation Leave 

(1) Sign up for vacation periods for the upcoming calendar year shall be completed 
by December 31.  Any Member who has not signed up for all vacation time he or she is 
entitled to by midnight on December 31 shall lose all priority he or she is entitled to 
because of higher seniority.   

(2) A Member may accrue unused vacation time up to two times the number of 
hours the Member may earn in one year.  For example, a Member with two years of 
service may accrue up to one hundred-sixty (160) hours of unused vacation time while a 
Member with more than fifteen years of service may accrue up to four hundred (400) 
hours.  

(3) Once a Member has accrued the maximum number of unused vacation hours set 
forth in Article 16A(2) above, the Member shall not earn any additional vacation hours 
until vacation is utilized to bring the amount of accrued vacation below the applicable 
cap or vacation is cashed out as permitted by this policy. 

4) A Member may cash out a portion of his/her accrued vacation hours in 
accordance with Town’s Personnel Policies.  

B. Personnel Leave 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town’s Personnel Policies regarding Leaves:  

(1) A Member shall accrue personal leave (as defined in the Town's Personnel 
Policies) while on disability leave of absence under Labor Code section 4850. 

(2) Members will accrue sick leave at a rate of eight hours per month. 

(3) Upon separation of employment with the Town, a Member is not entitled to be 
paid for his or her accrued and unused sick leave except as follows:  

 (i)  a Member hired prior to or on July 1, 2019 who is eligible for and who has 
applied for retirement under the California Public Employees Retirement System within 
sixty (60) days of separation from the Town may, at the Member's option, convert 
unused and accrued sick leave to additional PERS service credit or be paid for unused 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 9 

and accrued sick leave, provided that the number of hours to be converted or paid shall 
not exceed 1,092 hours.  

 (ii) a Member hired after July 1, 2019 who is eligible for and who has applied for 
retirement under the California Public Employees Retirement System within sixty (60) 
days of separation from the Town may, at the Member's option, convert unused and 
accrued sick leave to additional PERS service credit provided that the number of hours 
to be converted shall not exceed 1,092 hours.  Accrued but unused sick leave shall have 
no cash value at separation for such Members. 

(4) Nothing herein shall prevent a Member from accruing sick leave beyond 1,092 
hours and, while employed, taking paid sick leave from the total amount of accrued sick 
leave in accordance with the Town’s Sick Leave Policy. 

C. The Town will administer Family Leave in accordance with state and federal law. 

ARTICLE 17 - REIMBURSEMENTS 

A. Uniform and Equipment Allowance 

(1)  The Town agrees to pay to full-time Members a uniform allowance. The amount 
of the annual allowance shall be one thousand and twenty-five dollars 
($1,025). Payment of the uniform allowance shall be paid a pro-rata amount on each 
paycheck (for example $1,025 divided by 26 = $39.43 per pay period). A one-time 
payment shall be issued on the next regular pay period after ratification of this 
MOU which shall equal to amounts earned March 1, 2016 to the date of contract 
ratification.  This uniform allowance is not CalPERS reportable compensation for 
Members hired on or after January 1, 2013, who were never members of a public 
employee retirement system or who had a break in service of more than six months. 

(2)  A Member shall not be required to purchase any item that the Town is required 
by law to provide to peace officers. 

(3) The service weapon for new Members or for current Members who need to 
replace their existing personal weapon, shall be the service weapon provided and 
maintained by the Town at the Town’s own expense, or a weapon provided and 
maintained by the Member which the Police Chief has approved.  Upon termination of 
employment for any reason, a Member using a service weapon provided by the Town 
shall return the weapon to the department. 

(4) The Town shall provide, at the Town’s own expense, new full-time Members an 
initial uniform consisting of the items determined by the Chief and approved by the City 
Manager. 

B. Damage to Personal Property and Uniforms 

(1) The Town shall reimburse a Member for damage to uniforms that are damaged 
during duty hours or while stored in their locker at a Town facility, providing that the 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 10 

Member made a reasonable effort to safeguard the uniform.   This reimbursement shall 
be made on approval of the Police Chief. 

(2) The Town shall reimburse a Member for damage of personal property in the 
performance of his/her duty, subject to the following restrictions: 

(a) The maximum reimbursement for items of personal property necessity 
such as eye glasses and hearing aids shall be two hundred dollars ($200.00). 

(b) The maximum reimbursement for the damage of all other personal 
property shall be fifty dollars ($50.00). 

(c) Requests for reimbursement for the damage of personal property must 
be made within the shift in which the damage occurs. 

(d) Reimbursement of damaged property must be approved by the Police 
Chief. 

C.  Tuition Reimbursement  

Regular, full-time Members shall be entitled to the Tuition Reimbursement benefits as 
described in the Town’s Personnel Policies. 

ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT, HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS 

A.       PERS Retirement  

(1)      Classic – Tier One Hired before August 1, 2012 

Members hired before August 1, 2012, that are enrolled in the California Public 
Employees Retirement System (PERS) shall receive a retirement allowance under the 
“3% at 50 Modified," formula, One-Year Final Compensation retirement plan, to the 
extent provided by law.  

(2)      Classic – Tier Two Hired on or after August 1, 2012 
  
Members hired on or after August 1, 2012, including Members hired on or after January 
1, 2013 who are not classified as “new members” (as defined in Gov’t Code 7522.04(f)) 
under Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), that are enrolled in PERS shall 
receive a retirement allowance under the “3% at 55 Modified” formula, Three-Year Final 
Compensation retirement plan, to the extent provided by law.  

  
(3)      PEPRA - Hired on or after January 1, 2013  
  
Members hired on or after January 1, 2013, who are classified as “new members” (as 
defined in Gov’t Code 7522.04(f)) under PEPRA, that are enrolled in PERS shall receive a 
retirement allowance under the “2.7% @ 57 formula”, Three-Year Final Compensation 
retirement plan, to the extent provided by law.  
  



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 11 

(4)      Each Member shall contribute to PERS the employee’s rate of contribution 
required by law relevant to his/her retirement formula, as may be amended from time to 
time by the State of California.  The Member does not have the right to directly receive 
the Member’s PERS contribution in lieu of payment to PERS.  The Town shall contribute 
all other costs and contributions necessary to implement this plan.  If the Employer’s 
contribution required by PERS increases over the present contribution, the Town shall 
pay the increase; if the Employer’s contribution decreases, the Town shall keep the 
savings. 

B. Deferred Compensation Plan 

As to any Member who participates in the Town’s deferred compensation plan, the Town will 
pay a sum equal to the amount withheld from salary by the Member and contributed to the 
Plan, up to one hundred dollars ($100) per month.  The City Manager may establish reasonable 
rules and procedures for implementing this plan.  If the additional sum contributed by the Town 
causes the Member’s contribution to exceed the maximum amount allowed under federal law as 
deferred compensation, then such sum shall be reported as taxable income of the Member. 

C. Dental, Vision, and Life Insurances 

Dental, vision, and life insurance are as provided in the Town’s Personnel Policies, except that 
Members hired on or after January 1, 2008, will not receive Town-paid dental benefits upon 
retirement.  Members hired prior to January 1, 2008, will continue to receive Town-paid dental 
benefits upon retirement to the same extent as other miscellaneous Town employees. 

D. Medical Insurance  

(1)  PEMHCA Minimum Contribution  

The Town contracts with PERS pursuant to the Public Employees Medical and 
Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) for the purpose of providing eligible Members, dependents 
and annuitants with access to medical insurance.  The Town shall revise its current 
PEMHCA contract with CalPERS through the adoption of a new PEMHCA resolution to 
provide that the Town shall pay to PERS, on behalf of each eligible active Member and 
each retired Member who qualifies for retiree medical benefits, a monthly employer 
contribution equal to the minimum contribution required under Section 22892(b)(2) of 
PEMHCA (PEMHCA Minimum).  This amount is established by CalPERS and may change 
annually. 

Pursuant to PEMHCA and relevant PERS regulations, a retired Member will qualify 
for retiree medical benefits if his or her retirement from the Town is effective within 120 
days of his or her separation from employment with the Town and the retired Member 
receives a retirement allowance from CalPERS resulting from his or her service with the 
Town (Annuitant).  Annuitants are eligible to continue health coverage under PEMHCA.  
An Annuitant will receive the PEMHCA Minimum regardless of hire date.   



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 12 

Supplemental benefits will be provided to Active Members and Annuitants in 
accordance with the terms set forth in Sections (2), (3) and (4) below.   

(2)  Supplemental Benefit for Active Members 

The Town offers an Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Plan (Plan) which 
contains premium conversion, health care reimbursement and dependent care 
reimbursement as available benefits.  The availability of the Plan is contingent on 
compliance with State and Federal rules and regulations.  The Town and Association 
agree to meet and confer if any part of the Plan is found to be noncompliant regarding a 
replacement provision.  In addition to the PEMHCA Minimum, the Town contributes for 
eligible Active Members an additional amount to be used to pay for premiums for Health 
Insurance Coverage through the Plan. The amount of the additional monthly 
contribution for each Active Member’s PERS health insurance premium is based on the 
date of hire.  An Active Member may not use the contribution for other reasons. 

 
(i) Active Members Hired Prior to June 1, 2008 (Tier A) 

 Active Members hired prior to June 1, 2008, will receive a contribution 
under the Plan equal to the full cost of the PERS health plan selected, for which 
he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled, minus the PEMHCA 
minimum contribution. 

 The Town may not require Tier A Active Members to pay or contribute 
premiums for medical or hospital insurance unless the Town has first met with 
and obtained the agreement of the Association. 

(ii)   Active Members Hired on or after June 1, 2008 but on or before June 30, 
2012 (Tier B) 

Active Members hired on or after June 1, 2008 and on or before June 30, 
2012, will receive a contribution under the Plan equal to the cost of the PERS 
health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and 
enrolled but not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by 
CalPERS, minus the PEMHCA Minimum.  Members may select enrollment in a 
plan that exceeds the maximum Employer contribution and the difference in cost 
will be paid by the Member through payroll deductions.    

(iii) Active Members Hired on or after July 1, 2012 but on or before December 
31, 2016 (Tier C) 

Active Members hired on or after July 1, 2012 and on or before December 
31, 2016, will receive a contribution under the Plan in the same amount and 
manner as Active Members described in Tier B (section ii) above. 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 13 

(iv) Active Members Hired on or after January 1, 2017 (Tier D) 

Active Members hired on or after January 1, 2017, will receive a 
contribution under the Plan in the same amount and manner as Active Members 
described in Tier B (section ii) above. 

(3) Supplemental Benefit for Annuitants Originally Hired Before January 1, 2017 

 In addition to the PEMHCA Minimum, each Annuitant hired by the Town on or 
before December 31, 2016 is eligible for an Employer contribution, as set forth below, to 
be used for reimbursement of additional medical costs under a Retiree Health 
Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) established by the Employer.  Receipt of 
Reimbursements may be made through a third-party administrator and subject to 
administrative requirements.   

(i) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired Prior to June 1, 2008 (Tier A) 

Annuitants hired by the Town prior to June 1, 2008, will receive a 
monthly HRA contribution equal to the monthly cost of the PERS health plan 
selected, for which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled, 
minus the PEMHCA Minimum.   

 The Town may not require Tier A Annuitants to pay or contribute 
premiums for medical or hospital insurance unless the Town has first met with 
and obtained the agreement of the Association. 

(ii) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired on or after June 1, 2008, but on or 
before June 30, 2012 (Tier B) 

Annuitants hired by the Town on or after June 1, 2008, but on or before 
June 30, 2012, will receive an HRA contribution equal to the cost of the PERS 
health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and 
enrolled but not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by 
CalPERS, minus the PEMHCA Minimum. 

(iii)  Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired on or after July 1, 2012 but on or 
before December 31, 2016 (Tier C) 

Annuitants hired by the Town on or after July 1, 2012, but on or before 
December 31, 2016, who have five years of service with the Town and at least 
ten years of total PERS service credit, will receive an HRA contribution equal to 
the “applicable percentage” of the cost of the PERS health plan in which he or 
she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled but not to exceed the 
cost of the second most costly plan offered by PERS, as adjusted by the 
“applicable percentage”, minus the PEMHCA Minimum.  



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 14 

The “applicable percentage” shall be determined on the basis of the 
Annuitant’s years of service (with a minimum of five years of service with the 
Town) pursuant to the following vesting schedule: 

CREDITED YEARS OF 
SERVICE 

 APPLICABLE PERCENTAGE 

10  50% 
11  55% 
12  60% 
13  65% 
14  70% 
15  75% 
16  80% 
17  85% 
18  90% 
19  95% 

20 or More  100% 

Notwithstanding the preceding service requirement, the contribution 
payable by the Town shall be equal to 100 percent of the cost of the PERS health 
plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled but 
not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by CalPERS, minus the 
PEMHCA Minimum, on behalf of any annuitant who retired for industrial 
disability. 

This benefit is structured in accordance with the PERS statutory vesting 
schedule in Government Code Section 22893 such that Tier C Annuitants will 
receive retiree medical benefits calculated in accordance with the statutory 
vesting schedule and related provisions of Section 22893, as it may from time to 
time be amended, provided that only the PEMHCA Minimum will be paid directly 
to CalPERS and the remaining amount, as described in the first paragraph of this 
Section (D)(3)(iii), will be provided to Tier C Annuitants in the form of a 
reimbursement under the terms of the HRA.   

(iv)  Retiree Health Benefit Preserved in Event of Reinstatement and 
Subsequent Retirement  

In accordance with AB 410 (2013), as codified in Government Code 
Section 22838, an Annuitant eligible for retiree health benefits pursuant to 
Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) or (iii) who reinstates from retirement may, upon his or her 
subsequent retirement, elect to enroll in a health benefit plan approved or 
maintained by CalPERS as an annuitant of the Town and receive the applicable 
benefit under Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) or (iii), if all of the following apply: 

(a)  The subsequent retirement occurs on or after January 1, 2014; 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 15 

(b) The Annuitant is eligible for retiree health coverage through the 
Town prior to reinstatement from retirement; 

(c) The subsequent retirement occurs within 120 days of separation; 
and  

(d) The retiree health contribution available from the Town is higher 
than the retiree health contribution from the employer through 
which the subsequent retirement occurs.   

 To the extent that the Town’s conversion to the PEMHCA Minimum 
causes the requirement at (d) above to fail and, as a result, the Annuitant enrolls 
in a PERS health benefit plan through the subsequent employer, the Town shall 
cause the difference between the total benefit described in Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) 
or (iii), as applicable, and the retiree health benefit to which he or she is entitled 
under the subsequent employer, to be paid to the Annuitant in the form of a 
reimbursement under the HRA of substantiated expenses for a PERS health 
insurance plan in which he or she has enrolled.   

(4) Retirement Health Savings Program (RHSP) 

As soon as administratively possible, the Town will establish a Retirement Health 
Savings Program (RHSP).  The RHSP will use a third-party administrator selected by the 
Town.  The design of the RHSP is intended to be a tax advantaged savings plan to be 
used exclusively for qualifying medical expenses during retirement.  

(i) Mandatory Participation - Members Hired on or after January 1, 2017 
 

Members hired on or after January 1, 2017 receive a monthly Employer 
contribution to an individual account under the RHSP. The Town shall contribute 
to the Member’s individual RHSP account an amount equivalent to one and one-
half percent (1.5%) of the Member’s monthly base salary as shown in the Town’s 
adopted salary schedule.  The base salary for the initial month of service and 
final month of service shall be prorated based on actual base salary paid in those 
months.  

 
(ii) Optional Participation - Members Hired Prior to January 1, 2017 
 
 Members hired prior to January 1, 2017 may exercise a one-time 
irrevocable election and waiver as defined in the RHSP Plan Document. Any 
Member who elects to receive the RHSP benefit shall receive the same benefit as 
described in Section (D)(4)(i) above and will no longer receive the benefits in 
Section (D)(3) above.   

 
E. Health Club Membership 

Health Club Membership benefits are as provided in the Town’s Personnel Policies. 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 16 

F. Funeral Expenses  

The Town shall pay fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) to the executor, administrator or 
personal representative of the estate of, or to the trustee authorized to pay funeral expenses 
for, any Member killed in the line of duty. 

ARTICLE 19 - PAYROLL ERRORS 

A. To ensure that system or other errors which affect a Members pay are processed in an 
efficient and effective manner, the Town shall notice the affected Member as soon as 
practicable.   

B. Payroll errors detected by a Member shall, as soon as practicable, be communicated to 
the City Manager, or his or her designee.  In the case of under payment, the City Manager or 
his or her designee will process the appropriate adjustments as soon as practicable.   

C. Payroll errors identified by the City Manager or his or her designee will be communicated 
to the Member either directly or through the Police Chief.  

D. Under payments will be processed as soon as practicable. 

E. In the event of an overpayment, the City Manager or his or her designee will determine 
a reasonable repayment schedule and inform the Member of the schedule directly or through 
the Police Chief.  The affected Member shall be given an opportunity to discuss the repayment 
schedule and, if necessary, to request a reasonable adjustment to it.  Factors considered in 
determining a reasonable adjustment to the repayment schedule include but are not limited to, 
the Member’s normal salary, and other financial obligations of the Member.  The Town and the 
Association agree that the Town will use any and all legal remedies to recover any salary 
overpayment made to the Member from the Member’s wages in the event that (1) the Member 
does not respond within five working days of being notified of the overpayment or (2) mutual 
agreement on the repayment schedule is not achieved within ten working days of the Member 
being notified of the overpayment. 

ARTICLE 20 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

Grievance procedures are provided as stated in the Town’s Personnel Policies.   

ARTICLE 21 - SAFETY VESTS 

The parties have met and conferred and agreed to the Town’s Safety Vest Policy. 

ARTICLE 22 - DEFINITIONS 

As used in this Memorandum: 

“Base rate” means the hourly rate of pay, by each job classification shown in the tables in 
Appendix A of this Memorandum. 



 
 

Peace Officers Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 17 

“Personnel Policies” means the provisions, policies and regulations adopted by the City Council 
as Chapter Three of the Colma Administrative Code, or its successor, and the procedures and 
regulations adopted by the City Manager to implement the provisions of Chapter Three of the 
Colma Administrative Code or its successor. 

“Designated Significant Holiday Shifts” are defined in paragraph 15.B. 

ARTICLE 23 - TRANSITION 

A. Upon execution, this Memorandum of Understanding will supersede the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the parties and for the period from July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2022 
December 26, 2021 to June 30, 2024. 

/// 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF: 

Dated __________________  COLMA PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION 
 
                         By _________________________________ 
 

     _________________________________ 
Print Name and Title 

  
 Attest  _______________ ______________ 
 

     _________________________________ 
Print Name and Title 

       
Dated _________________ TOWN OF COLMA 
                                           
 By _________________________________ 
      Diana Colvin, Mayor 
 
 Attest  _______________ ______________ 

Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 
 
 



Appendix A 

BASE RATE SALARY TABLES  

 
December 26, 2021 through June 25, 2022 
 
Increased 2% 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Officer 1 52.68 55.32 58.09 60.99 

Police Officer 2 54.79 57.53 60.41 63.43 

Police Officer 3 55.85 58.65 61.57 64.65 
     

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Sergeant 1 66.78 68.16 69.57 73.41 

Police Sergeant 2 69.44 70.88 72.34 76.35 

Police Sergeant 3 70.77 72.23 73.72 77.83 
 
 
 
June 26, 2022 through December 24, 2022 
 
Increased 2% 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Officer 1 53.73 56.42 59.25 62.21 

Police Officer 2 55.88 58.68 61.62 64.70 

Police Officer 3 56.97 59.82 62.81 65.94 
     

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Sergeant 1 68.11 69.52 70.96 74.88 

Police Sergeant 2 70.83 72.30 73.79 77.88 

Police Sergeant 3 72.19 73.68 75.20 79.38 
 
  



BASE RATE SALARY TABLES  

 
 
 
December 25, 2022 through June 24, 2023 
 
Increased 2% 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Officer 1 54.80 57.55 60.44 63.45 

Police Officer 2 57.00 59.85 62.85 65.99 

Police Officer 3 58.11 61.02 64.07 67.26 
     

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Sergeant 1 69.47 70.91 72.38 76.38 

Police Sergeant 2 72.25 73.75 75.27 79.44 

Police Sergeant 3 73.63 75.15 76.70 80.97 
 
 
 
June 25, 2023 through December 23, 2023 
 
Increased 2% 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Officer 1 55.90 58.70 61.64 64.72 

Police Officer 2 58.14 61.05 64.11 67.31 

Police Officer 3 59.27 62.24 65.35 68.60 
     

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Sergeant 1 70.86 72.33 73.83 77.91 

Police Sergeant 2 73.69 75.22 76.77 81.03 

Police Sergeant 3 75.11 76.66 78.24 82.59 
 
 
 
 
  



BASE RATE SALARY TABLES  

 
 
 
December 24, 2023 through June 30, 2024 
 
Increased 2% 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Officer 1 57.02 59.87 62.88 66.02 

Police Officer 2 59.30 62.27 65.39 68.66 

Police Officer 3 60.46 63.48 66.65 69.98 
     

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

Police Sergeant 1 72.28 73.78 75.30 79.46 

Police Sergeant 2 75.17 76.73 78.31 82.65 

Police Sergeant 3 76.61 78.19 79.80 84.24 
 



Res 2021-__, Approving Dispatch MOU 2021-2024 Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION 2021-__ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION APPROVING MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
BETWEEN THE TOWN OF COLMA AND THE COLMA POLICE 

COMMUNICATION/RECORDS ASSOCIATION FOR THE PERIOD OF DECEMBER 26, 
2021 TO JUNE 30, 2024 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve as follows: 

1. Background.

(a) The Town’s MOUs with the Peace Officers Association and the Dispatch/Records 
Association are scheduled to expire on June 30, 2022.  
(b) The MOUs included a clause stipulating the salary increases on June 27, 2021 and 
December 26, 2021 are contingent upon revenues exceeding operational expenditures for the 
FY 2021-22 Budget. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting economic 
uncertainty, the Town exercised this contingency and all Town employees did not receive their 
increases on June 27, 2021.   
(c) Upon direction from the City Council, the City Manager and the Town’s labor negotiator 
were directed to begin labor negotiations prior to the expiration on the existing contract in an 
effort for the negotiations to be completed prior to the June 30, 2022 contract expiration. 
Negotiations on the successor agreement with each association began in September and were 
completed in November.  

(d) Staff is now presenting the formal MOU detailing the conclusion of the labor negotiation 
terms for City Council consideration and approval. 

2. Order.

(a) The City Council hereby approves the Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Town of Colma and the Colma Police Communication/Records Association (Dispatch) for the 
time period of December 26, 2021 to June 30, 2024, which is attached to the Staff Report for 
the December 8th City Council meeting.  This MOU shall supersede the prior MOU upon its 
execution. 

(b) The Mayor shall be, and hereby is, authorized to execute the Memorandum of 
Understanding, subject to any changes in form or technical language approved by the City 
Manager and City Attorney. 

// 
// 
// 
// 
// 

Attachment C



Res 2021-__, Approving Dispatch MOU 2021-2024 Page 2 of 2 

Certification of Adoption 
 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-__ was duly adopted at a regular meeting of 
said City Council held on December 8, 2021 by the following vote: 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
      
      
      
      
      

Voting Tally  0    
 
 
Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Mayor 
 
 
      Attest:   ____________________________ 
         Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 

 



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN 

THE TOWN OF COLMA 

AND 

THE COLMA POLICE COMMUNICATIONS/RECORDS 
ASSOCIATION 

 December 25, 2021 -– June 30, 2024 
April 10, 2019 – June 30, 2022 

Attachment D



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 1 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE AND INTENT .................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 2 - REPRESENTATION ........................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 3 - RIGHTS RESERVED ......................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT OBLIGATIONS ........................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 5 - SEVERABILITY ................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE 6 - WAIVER.......................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 7 - MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS ........................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 8 - DURATION AND RENEWAL ............................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 9 - WORK PERIOD AND HOURS ............................................................................. 4 

ARTICLE 10 - STAFFING LEVELS ......................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 11 - SHIFT SELECTION ......................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 12 - SHIFT EXCHANGE .......................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 13 - SALARIES ..................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 14 - OVERTIME AND COMPENSATORY PAY ............................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 15 - HOLIDAY PAY ................................................................................................ 8 

ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES ......................................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE 17 - REIMBURSEMENTS .......................................................................................10 

ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT, HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS ............................................11 

ARTICLE 19 - PAYROLL ERRORS ........................................................................................16 

ARTICLE 20 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ..............................................................................17 

ARTICLE 21 - SAFETY VESTS .............................................................................................17 

ARTICLE 22 - DEFINITIONS ...............................................................................................17 

ARTICLE 23 - TRANSITION ................................................................................................17 

  



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 2 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

[See Article 22 for definitions] 

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE AND INTENT 
 
A. It is the intent and purpose of the parties that this Memorandum of Understanding shall 
set forth rules of pay, hours of work, and other terms and conditions of employment to be 
observed by the parties in connection with the Police Clerical/Dispatching Employees Unit.  The 
provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding shall apply only to the Members of the Police 
Clerical/Dispatching Employees Unit (Member) and shall in no way establish terms and 
conditions of employment of other employees of the Town of Colma who are not Members of 
that Unit.  The classifications included in that Unit are Police Dispatcher/Clerk and Police 
Dispatch/Records Supervisor.  This agreement has been developed in the interest of promoting 
and improving employee relations between the Town of Colma (hereinafter referred to as the 
Town) and the Colma Police Communications/Records Association (hereinafter referred to as 
the Association). 
 
B. This Memorandum is entered into pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (GOVERNMENT 
CODE sections 3500, et seq.) and Subchapter 3.09 of the Administrative Code of the Town. 
 
ARTICLE 2 - REPRESENTATION 
 
A. The Town hereby recognizes the Association as the Recognized Employee Organization 
to act as bargaining agent for the Police Clerical/Dispatching Employees Unit. 
 
B. The Town shall deduct the Association dues from the Members’ pay checks and transmit 
such monies to the duly authorized and designated employee organization representative or by 
direct deposit to the Association’s bank account. 
 
ARTICLE 3 - RIGHTS RESERVED 
 
A. The Association recognizes that the Town has and will continue to retain, whether 
exercised or not, the unilateral and exclusive right to operate, administer and manage its 
municipal services and work force performing those services in all respects subject to this 
Memorandum. 
 
B. The City Manager and Police Chief have and will continue to retain exclusive decision-
making authority on matters not officially and expressly modified by specific provisions of this 
Memorandum and such decision-making shall not be subject in any way, directly or indirectly, 
to the grievance procedure contained herein. 
 
C. The exclusive rights of the Town shall include, but not be limited to, the right to 
determine the organization of Town government and the purpose and mission of its constituent 
agencies, to set standards of service to be offered to the public, and through its management 
officials to exercise control and discretion over its organization and operations, to establish and 
effect Administrative Regulations and Employment Rules and Regulations consistent with law 
and the specific provisions of this Memorandum to direct its employees, to take disciplinary 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 3 
 

action for just cause, to relieve its employees from duty because of lack of work or for other 
legitimate reasons, to determine whether goods or services shall be made, purchased or 
contracted for, to determine the methods, means and personnel by which the Town’s services 
are to be provided, including the right to schedule and assign work and overtime, and to 
otherwise act in the interest of efficient service to the community. 
 
ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT OBLIGATIONS 
 
The Town shall, at its own expense, provide to every Member a copy of this Memorandum and 
all rules, regulations, general and special orders. 
 
ARTICLE 5 - SEVERABILITY 
 
If any article or section of this Memorandum of Understanding or if any chapter or section of 
the Town’s Personnel Policies referred to in this Memorandum should be found invalid, unlawful, 
or unenforceable by reason of any existing or subsequent enacted legislation by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, all other articles and sections of this Memorandum shall remain in full 
force and effect for the duration of this Memorandum.  In the event of invalidation of any article 
or section, the Town and Association may negotiate regarding that section or article on the 
anniversary of this Memorandum as provided by Article 8.  However, in the event the legislation 
or decision referred to above affects wages, hours or working conditions, the Town and 
Association agree to meet and confer within sixty days of the effective date of the legislation or 
decision to renegotiate said article or section. 
 
ARTICLE 6 - WAIVER  
 
The parties acknowledge that, during the negotiations which resulted in this agreement, each 
had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any 
subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the 
understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and 
opportunity are set forth in this agreement.  Therefore, the Town and the Association, for the 
life of this agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right and each agrees that 
the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter 
referred to or covered in this agreement (except as provided in Article 5), even though such 
subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge and contemplation of either or both 
parties at the time they negotiated or signed this agreement.  However, in the event the Police 
Chief, the City Manager or the City Council imposes a change in policy regarding the Association 
which substantially affects wages, hours or other terms and conditions of employment not 
covered by this Memorandum of Understanding, the Association may request that the Town 
meet and confer regarding that change. 
 
ARTICLE 7 - MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS 
 
A. The status of all existing benefits and conditions of employment now enjoyed by 
classifications represented by the Association shall not be deemed affected by this agreement, 
except as specifically modified by provisions of this Memorandum.   
 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 4 
 

B. Except as expressly stated in this Memorandum, where this Memorandum refers to a 
benefit in the Town’s Personnel Policies, that benefit may only be modified by the Town after 
meeting and conferring with the Association. 
 
ARTICLE 8 - DURATION AND RENEWAL 
 
Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, this Memorandum of Understanding shall run 
from December 25, 2021, to June 30, 2024.April 10, 2019 to June 30, 2022.  It shall be 
automatically renewed from year to year thereafter, with no scheduled salary increases, unless 
either party shall have notified the other, in writing, at least sixty days prior to the expiration 
date that it desires to modify the Memorandum of Understanding.  In the event that such notice 
is given, negotiations shall begin within thirty days of delivery of the notice of intent to modify 
the Memorandum of Understanding.  
 
ARTICLE 9 - WORK PERIOD AND HOURS 
 
The work period established for Members is a regularly recurring period of forty hours in seven 
consecutive days beginning at 00:01 each Sunday and ending at 24:00 the following Saturday. 
 
ARTICLE 10 - STAFFING LEVELS 
 
A. The Police Chief shall determine the minimum staffing levels on each work shift. 

 
B. Open shifts may or may not be filled, depending on the ongoing safety of department 
personnel.  If the Police Chief or his/her designee decides to fill the open shift, this will be 
implemented without the use of overtime, whenever possible.  This may include altering the 
normal work shift of Members to reduce or eliminate the need for overtime.  When overtime 
must be used to fill an open shift, it will be filled by seniority, with the first choice going to the 
senior Member of the Association. 
 

(1) Open shifts are designated as any/all hours which need coverage by an 
employee due to sick leave, vacation, CTO, LOA, paid family leave, training and any 
other open hours. 

 
(2) Open shifts are defined as the normally scheduled hours for the shift had the 
Member on leave actually worked it.  
 

ARTICLE 11 - SHIFT SELECTION 
 
A. Members will sign up for shifts by seniority for a one year time frame (January through 
December).  The Police Chief or his designee may assign a Member to an alternate shift at any 
time for the good of the organization.   
 
B. In order to avoid miscommunication, the Police Dispatch/Records Supervisor will notify 
the Police Dispatcher/Clerk in person, by phone, or by official schedule change form to be 
initialed by employee, of changes they feel are necessary in the hours of the monthly schedule.  
(Days off will not be changed unless an emergency exists, or unless the employee volunteers to 
make changes.)  Every effort will be made to notify the employee as soon as the need is 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 5 
 

recognized for a shift change.  Messages left on answering devices or notes left in Member’s 
boxes shall not be considered adequate by themselves.   

 
C. In the interests of Supervisor-Member relations all attempts will be made to seek 
volunteers when changes in the schedule are necessary. 
 
D. Changes in a Member’s schedule shall not be used as a disciplinary action, bonus or an 
incentive.  However, if after a sustained personnel investigation it is determined that a change 
in the schedule is necessary, that change can be made at the discretion of the Police Chief. 
 
ARTICLE 12 - SHIFT EXCHANGE 
 
A. All Members may be permitted to substitute for another during scheduled work hours, as 
herein provided.   Trading shall be limited to one shift in any consecutive thirty days and any 
Member requesting a trade shall submit a written request to the Chief or designee seven days 
prior to the first day of the trade.   No trade shall be made unless the Chief or designee 
approves the trade in writing.   The traded shift shall be paid back within the same thirty days.   
This shift trading is strictly voluntary on the part of Members and is for their benefit, not the 
benefit of the Town.  The Town shall exclude the hours worked as a substitute in calculating 
overtime. 
 
B. Once the exchange has been signed by both Members and approved by the Police Chief 
or his or her designee, it will be the responsibility of the person agreeing to work the shift to 
cover that shift. 
 
ARTICLE 13 - SALARIES  
 
A. Effective in the first pay period beginning after the Council ratifies this MOU, the Town 
shall pay each Member an amount determined by multiplying the number of hours worked in a 
pay period by the applicable hourly base rate of pay shown for the Member in Appendix A.  
However, the increases scheduled for July 1, 2021 and January 1, 2022 are expressly 
contingent upon, and will not be implemented unless, the Towns projected operational revenue 
exceeds operational expenses  for FY 2021-22 as set forth in the FY2021-22 Budget upon 
adoption on June 9, 2021. 
 
B. FICA and PERS Member Contributions 
 
Each Member shall pay the employee share of FICA (Social Security and Medicare) taxes and 
the employee's contributions to the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS). 
 
C. Training Differential 
 

(1) The Town shall pay a Member who is assigned to train new clerk/dispatchers, 
Officers or per diem employees an additional five percent differential of his or her base 
rate as shown in Appendix A for actual hours worked as a Trainer in one-half hour 
increments.  
 
(2) Members may be required to provide orientation for new employees provided 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 6 
 

that such orientation responsibilities do not exceed one hour per day. No additional 
compensation shall be paid for performing orientation duties under this paragraph. 
 
(3) The Police Chief or his or her designee shall have discretion to make all training 
assignments. 
 

D. CAD Administration Incentive 
 

(1) The Town shall pay a Member who is assigned duties of CAD system 
administration an additional five percent (5%) of his or her base pay as shown in 
Appendix A and shall pay the Member who is assigned backup CAD system 
administration duties an additional two and one half percent (2.5%) of his or her base 
pay. 
 
(2) The Police Chief or his or her designee shall have discretion to make CAD system 

administration assignments. 
 

E.  Retention Pay 
 
Effective in the first pay period beginning after Council ratification of this Agreement, eligible 
Members may begin to receive Retention Pay in the amount of 2.5% for continuous 10 years of 
Town of Colma service, and an additional 2.5% for 20 years of continuous Town of Colma 
service, to a combined maximum of 5% Retention Pay.  The percentage of Retention Pay shall 
be calculated on the Members base pay (not including incentive pay or any other differential 
pay).  After the effective date above, Members are eligible for Retention Pay beginning in the 
first pay period following their anniversary date in which the employee meets its 10 year or 20 
year of continuous Town service.  For purposes of this section, “continuous” service shall 
include Town-approved leaves of absence and other leaves required by law. 

 
ARTICLE 14 - OVERTIME AND COMPENSATORY PAY 
 
A. Members will be routinely scheduled to work forty hours in a seven-day work period.   
Members will receive overtime when a Member has worked in excess of forty hours during the 
seven-day work period, subject to the provisions below.   For purposes of this section, 
designated holidays not worked, floating holidays, holiday as listed under Article 15(B), vacation 
leave that was scheduled and approved at least twenty-eight (28) days prior to the date taken 
off, sick leave, bereavement leave and training hours will count towards hours worked.   
Vacation leave not scheduled and approved at least twenty-eight (28) days prior to the date 
taken off, administrative leave and compensatory time used will not count as hours worked for 
purposes of this section. 
 

(1) Overtime must be approved in advance by the Police Chief or Designee. 
 
(2) The overtime pay rate will be paid as defined in the FLSA. 
 
(3) All overtime worked which is less than one hour increments in a work shift shall 
be compensated in fifteen-minute increments. 
 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 7 
 

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Member may, in his or her sole discretion, take or 
bank Compensatory Time Off at the rate of one and one-half hours for each hour of overtime 
worked.  A Member’s Compensatory Time Leave Bank will be established with a maximum leave 
balance of eighty hours. 
 
C. A Member who is subpoenaed to testify on his or her day off at any judicial, civil or 
administrative hearing, including but not limited to Superior Court, Municipal Court, Traffic 
Court, DMV hearing, civil deposition or parole hearing, on a matter arising out of the Member's 
course and scope of employment, shall earn overtime as follows:  
 

(1) While at the place of the hearing, the Member shall earn overtime from the time 
first required to be there until the time released, except for meal breaks. The Member 
will be paid for only one block of time in a day, regardless of the number of matters that 
may require the Member's appearance. Except for the circumstances described in 
paragraphs (2) and (3), the Member will earn a minimum of four hours of overtime for 
the day. 
 
(2) If placed on telephone standby by the District Attorney, the Member shall earn 
two hours of overtime for all time on standby. If the Member is called to court, he or she 
will receive overtime from the time first required to be there until the time released, 
except for meal breaks. The Member called to court will receive court overtime in lieu of 
standby overtime.  In all cases, Members must have authorization from a supervisor 
prior to accepting the telephone standby. 
 
(3) When a Member is required to be at the place of the hearing within four hours 
prior to his or her shift, the Member shall earn overtime from the time first required to 
be at the hearing until the beginning of his or her scheduled shift, except for meal 
breaks. When a Member is required to be at the place of the hearing within one hour 
after his or her shift, the Member shall earn overtime from the end of his or her shift 
until the time released, except for meal breaks. 
 
(4) While testifying by telephone, Members shall earn overtime for the time the 
Member is required to be on the telephone. 
 

D. A Member who is called to work within four hours of the start of his or her shift will 
receive at least one hour of regular pay, if actual time worked is less than one hour, and 
overtime pay, if actual hours worked or counted as worked in a work period exceed forty hours.  
 
E. A Member, who is called to work on his or her day off, or after having been relieved of 
duty for the day at least one hour prior, shall earn overtime for the time the Member is called 
back, with a minimum of four hours of overtime.  If the callback shift exceeds four hours, the 
Member will be compensated overtime on an hour for hour basis after the first four hours.    
 
F. All training scheduled on a Member’s day off will be compensated on an hour for hour 
basis and overtime pay, if actual hours worked or counted as worked in a work period exceed 
forty hours.  
 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 8 
 

ARTICLE 15 - HOLIDAY PAY 
 
Holiday leave will be provided as described in the Town Personnel Policies, except as specifically 
provided herein. 
 

(1) Members will be allowed one floating holiday per calendar year to be used as a 
personal day off. 
 
(2) The following are designated as paid holidays: New Year’s Day, Martin Luther 
King Day, Lincoln’s Birthday, Presidents’ Day, Memorial Day, 4th of July, Admission Day, 
Veteran’s Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Day After Thanksgiving, Columbus Day, 
and December 25. 
 
(3) On a holiday, unless authorized by the Police Chief or his or her designee, the 
Dispatch Center will be staffed by one day shift and one swing shift dispatcher.  All other 
Members shall take the holiday off.  If a holiday occurs on a Member’s regular day off, 
the Member may request to take a paid day off in the same work period or be 
compensated eight hours of regular pay.  The Police Chief or his or her designee has the 
discretion to grant compensation or time off.    
 
(4) When a Member works on a designated holiday, the Member may take a paid 
day off in the same work period or be compensated eight hours of regular pay.   
 
(5) Until the Town converts to twenty-four (24) hours dispatching, the Dispatch 
Center will be closed on the following days: 
 

  (a) New Year’s Day 
 
  (b) Thanksgiving Day 
 
  (c) December 25th 
A. In lieu of holiday pay, Members will be paid additional compensation at the rate of five 
percent of his or her base hourly rate of pay according to his or her classification as shown in 
salary tables above for all hours except overtime. Said compensation shall be paid at the same 
time and manner as the Member is usually paid his or her salary, without regard for the number 
of holidays occurring or worked during the pay period and will be included in the FLSA overtime 
calculation. This policy is in lieu of the holiday schedule and holiday leave policy set forth in the 
Town's Personnel Policies 
 
B. Until the Town converts to twenty-four (24) hours dispatching, the Dispatch Center will 
be closed on the following days. Employees will receive eight hours straight time pay for the 
following three days. 
 

(a) New Year's Day 
 

(b) Thanksgiving Day 
 
(c) December 25th 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 9 
 

 
ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES 
 
A. Vacation Leave 
 

(1) Sign up for vacation periods for the upcoming calendar year shall be completed 
by December 31.  Any Member who has not signed up for all vacation time he or she is 
entitled to by midnight on December 31 shall lose all priority he or she is entitled to 
because of higher seniority.   
 
(2) A Member may accrue unused vacation time up to two times the number of 
hours the Member may earn in one year.  For example, a Member with two years of 
service may accrue up to one hundred-sixty (160) hours of unused vacation time while a 
Member with more than fifteen years of service may accrue up to four hundred (400) 
hours.  
 
(3) Once a Member has accrued the maximum number of unused vacation hours set 
forth in Article 16A(2) above, the Member shall not earn any additional vacation hours 
until vacation is utilized to bring the amount of accrued vacation below the applicable 
cap or vacation is cashed out as permitted by this policy. 
 
4) A Member may cash out a portion of his/her accrued vacation hours in 
accordance with Town’s Personnel Policies.  
 

B. Personnel Leave 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town’s Personnel Policies regarding Leaves:  
 

(1) Members will accrue sick leave at a rate of eight hours per month. 
 
(3) Upon separation of employment with the Town, a Member is not entitled to be 

paid for his or her accrued and unused sick leave except as follows:  
 
a. a Member hired prior to or on July 1, 2019 who is eligible for and who has 

applied for retirement under the California Public Employees Retirement 
System within sixty days of separation from the Town may, at the Member's 
option, convert unused and accrued sick leave to additional PERS service 
credit or be paid for unused and accrued sick leave, provided that the 
number of hours to be converted or paid shall not exceed one thousand forty 
(1,040) hours.  
 

b. a Member hired after July 1, 2019 who is eligible for and who has applied for 
retirement under the California Public Employees Retirement System within 
sixty (60) days of separation from the Town may, at the Member's option, 
convert unused and accrued sick leave to additional PERS service credit 
provided that the number of hours to be converted shall not exceed 1,040 
hours.  Accrued but unused sick leave shall have no cash value at separation 
for such Members. 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 10 
 

 
(3) Nothing herein shall prevent a Member from accruing sick leave beyond one 
thousand forty (1,040) hours and, while employed, taking paid sick from the total 
amount of accrued sick leave in accordance with the Town’s Sick Leave Policy. 

 
C. The Town will administer Family Leave in accordance with state and federal law. 
 
ARTICLE 17 - REIMBURSEMENTS 
 
A. Uniform and Equipment Allowance 

(1)  The Town agrees to pay to full-time Members a uniform allowance. The amount 
of the annual allowance shall be seven hundred, seventy-four dollars and seventy-three 
cents ($774.73).   Payment of the uniform allowance shall be paid a pro-rata amount on 
each paycheck (for example $774.73 divided by 26 = $29.80 per pay period). A one-
time payment shall be issued on the next regular pay period after ratification of this 
MOU which shall equal to amounts earned March 1, 2016 to the date of contract 
ratification.  This uniform allowance is not CalPERS reportable compensation for 
Members hired on or after January 1, 2013, who were never members of a public 
employee retirement system or who had a break in service of more than six months. 

(2) The Town shall provide, at the Town’s own expense, new full-time Members an 
initial uniform consisting of the items determined by the Chief and approved by the City 
Manager. 
 

B. Damage to Personal Property and Uniforms 
 

(1) The Town shall reimburse a Member for damage to uniforms that are damaged 
during duty hours or while stored in their locker at a Town facility, providing that the 
Member made a reasonable effort to safeguard the uniform.   This reimbursement shall 
be made on approval of the Police Chief. 
 
(2) The Town shall reimburse a Member for damage of personal property in the 
performance of his/her duty, subject to the following restrictions: 

 
(a) The maximum reimbursement for items of personal property necessity 
such as eye glasses and hearing aids shall be two hundred dollars ($200.00). 

 
(b) The maximum reimbursement for the damage of all other personal 
property shall be fifty dollars ($50.00). 

 
(c) Requests for reimbursement for the damage of personal property must 
be made within the shift in which the damage occurs. 

 
(d) Reimbursement of damaged property must be approved by the Police 
Chief. 

 
C.  Tuition Reimbursement  



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 11 
 

 
Regular, full-time Members shall be entitled to the Tuition Reimbursement benefits as 
described in the Town’s Personnel Policies. 
 

ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT, HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS 
 
A. PERS Retirement  

(1) Classic – Tier One Hired before August 1, 2012 

Members hired before August 1, 2012, that are enrolled in the California Public 
Employees Retirement System (PERS) shall receive a retirement allowance under the 
“2.5% at 55 Modified," formula, One-Year Final Compensation retirement plan, to the 
extent provided by law.  

(2) Classic – Tier Two Hired on or after August 1, 2012 
  
Members hired on or after August 1, 2012, including Members hired on or after January 
1, 2013 who are not classified as “new members” (as defined in Gov’t Code 7522.04(f)) 
under Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), that are enrolled in PERS shall 
receive a retirement allowance under the “2% at 60 Modified” formula, Three-Year Final 
Compensation retirement plan, to the extent provided by law.  

  
(3) PEPRA - Hired on or after January 1, 2013  
 
Members hired on or after January 1, 2013, who are classified as “new members” (as 
defined in Gov’t Code 7522.04(f)) under PEPRA, that are enrolled in PERS shall receive a 
retirement allowance under the “2% @ 62 formula”, Three-Year Final Compensation 
retirement plan, to the extent provided by law.  
  
(4) Each Member shall contribute to PERS the employee’s rate of contribution 
required by law relevant to his/her retirement formula, as may be amended from time to 
time by the State of California.  The Member does not have the right to directly receive 
the Member’s PERS contribution in lieu of payment to PERS.  The Town shall contribute 
all other costs and contributions necessary to implement this plan.  If the Employer’s 
contribution required by PERS increases over the present contribution, the Town shall 
pay the increase; if the Employer’s contribution decreases, the Town shall keep the 
savings. 

B. Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
As to any Member who participates in the Town’s deferred compensation plan, the Town will 
pay a sum equal to the amount withheld from salary by the Member and contributed to the 
Plan, up to one hundred dollars ($100) per month.  The City Manager may establish reasonable 
rules and procedures for implementing this plan.  If the additional sum contributed by the Town 
causes the Member’s contribution to exceed the maximum amount allowed under federal law as 
deferred compensation, then such sum shall be reported as taxable income of the Member. 
 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 12 
 

C. Dental, Vision, and Life Insurances 
 
Dental, vision, and life insurance are as provided in the Town’s Personnel Policies, except that:  
  

(1) Members hired on or after January 1, 2010, will not receive Town-paid dental 
benefits upon retirement.  Members hired prior to January 1, 2010, will continue to 
receive Town-paid dental benefits upon retirement to the same extent as other 
miscellaneous Town employees. 
 

D. Medical Insurance  

(1)  PEMHCA Minimum Contribution  

The Town contracts with PERS pursuant to the Public Employees Medical and 
Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) for the purpose of providing eligible Members, dependents 
and annuitants with access to medical insurance.  The Town shall revise its current 
PEMHCA contract with CalPERS through the adoption of a new PEMHCA resolution to 
provide that the Town shall pay to PERS, on behalf of each eligible active Member and 
each retired Member who qualifies for retiree medical benefits, a monthly employer 
contribution equal to the minimum contribution required under Section 22892(b)(2) of 
PEMHCA (PEMHCA Minimum).  This amount is established by CalPERS and may change 
annually. 

Pursuant to PEMHCA and relevant PERS regulations, a retired Member will qualify 
for retiree medical benefits if his or her retirement from the Town is effective within 120 
days of his or her separation from employment with the Town and the retired Member 
receives a retirement allowance from CalPERS resulting from his or her service with the 
Town (Annuitant).  Annuitants are eligible to continue health coverage under PEMHCA.  
An Annuitant will receive the PEMHCA Minimum regardless of hire date.   

Supplemental benefits will be provided to Active Members and Annuitants in 
accordance with the terms set forth in Sections (2), (3) and (4) below.   

(2)  Supplemental Benefit for Active Members 

The Town offers an Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Plan (Plan) which 
contains premium conversion, health care reimbursement and dependent care 
reimbursement as available benefits.  The availability of the Plan is contingent on 
compliance with State and Federal rules and regulations.  The Town and Association 
agree to meet and confer if any part of the Plan is found to be noncompliant regarding a 
replacement provision.  In addition to the PEMHCA Minimum, the Town contributes for 
eligible Active Members an additional amount to be used to pay for premiums for Health 
Insurance Coverage through the Plan. The amount of the additional monthly 
contribution for each Active Member’s PERS health insurance premium is based on the 
date of hire.  An Active Member may not use the contribution for other reasons. 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 13 
 

 
(i) Active Members Hired Prior to June 1, 2008 2010 (Tier A) 

 Active Members hired prior to June 1, 20082010, will receive a 
contribution under the Plan equal to the full cost of the PERS health plan 
selected, for which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled, 
minus the PEMHCA minimum contribution. 

 The Town may not require Tier A Active Members to pay or contribute 
premiums for medical or hospital insurance unless the Town has first met with 
and obtained the agreement of the Association. 

(ii)   Active Members Hired on or after June 1, 2008 2010 but on or before 
June 30, 2012 (Tier B) 

Active Members hired on or after June 1, 2008 2010 and on or before 
June 30, 2012, will receive a contribution under the Plan equal to the cost of the 
PERS health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and 
enrolled but not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by 
CalPERS, minus the PEMHCA Minimum.  Members may select enrollment in a 
plan that exceeds the maximum Employer contribution and the difference in cost 
will be paid by the Member through payroll deductions.    

(iii) Active Members Hired on or after July 1, 2012 but on or before December 
31, 2016 (Tier C) 

Active Members hired on or after July 1, 2012 and on or before December 
31, 2016, will receive a contribution under the Plan in the same amount and 
manner as Active Members described in Tier B (section ii) above. 

(iv) Active Members Hired on or after January 1, 2017 (Tier D) 

Active Members hired on or after January 1, 2017, will receive a 
contribution under the Plan in the same amount and manner as Active Members 
described in Tier B (section ii) above. 

(3) Supplemental Benefit for Annuitants Originally Hired Before January 1, 2017 

 In addition to the PEMHCA Minimum, each Annuitant hired by the Town on or 
before December 31, 2016 is eligible for an Employer contribution, as set forth below, to 
be used for reimbursement of additional medical costs under a Retiree Health 
Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) established by the Employer.  Receipt of 
Reimbursements may be made through a third-party administrator and subject to 
administrative requirements.   

(i) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired Prior to June 1, 2008 2010 (Tier A) 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 14 
 

Annuitants hired by the Town prior to June 1, 20082010, will receive a 
monthly HRA contribution equal to the monthly cost of the PERS health plan 
selected, for which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled, 
minus the PEMHCA Minimum.   

 The Town may not require Tier A Annuitants to pay or contribute 
premiums for medical or hospital insurance unless the Town has first met with 
and obtained the agreement of the Association. 

(ii) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired on or after June 1, 20082010, but 
on or before June 30, 2012 (Tier B) 

Annuitants hired by the Town on or after June 1, 20082010, but on or 
before June 30, 2012, will receive an HRA contribution equal to the cost of the 
PERS health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and 
enrolled but not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by 
CalPERS, minus the PEMHCA Minimum. 

(iii)  Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired on or after July 1, 2012 but on or 
before December 31, 2016 (Tier C) 

Annuitants hired by the Town on or after July 1, 2012, but on or before 
December 31, 2016, who have five years of service with the Town and at least 
ten years of total PERS service credit, will receive an HRA contribution equal to 
the “applicable percentage” of the cost of the PERS health plan in which he or 
she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled but not to exceed the 
cost of the second most costly plan offered by PERS, as adjusted by the 
“applicable percentage”, minus the PEMHCA Minimum.  

The “applicable percentage” shall be determined on the basis of the 
Annuitant’s years of service (with a minimum of five years of service with the 
Town) pursuant to the following vesting schedule: 

CREDITED YEARS OF 
SERVICE 

 APPLICABLE PERCENTAGE 

10  50% 
11  55% 
12  60% 
13  65% 
14  70% 
15  75% 
16  80% 
17  85% 
18  90% 
19  95% 

20 or More  100% 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 15 
 

Notwithstanding the preceding service requirement, the contribution 
payable by the Town shall be equal to 100 percent of the cost of the PERS health 
plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and enrolled but 
not to exceed the cost of second most costly plan offered by CalPERS, minus the 
PEMHCA Minimum, on behalf of any annuitant who retired for industrial 
disability. 

This benefit is structured in accordance with the PERS statutory vesting 
schedule in Government Code Section 22893 such that Tier C Annuitants will 
receive retiree medical benefits calculated in accordance with the statutory 
vesting schedule and related provisions of Section 22893, as it may from time to 
time be amended, provided that only the PEMHCA Minimum will be paid directly 
to CalPERS and the remaining amount, as described in the first paragraph of this 
Section (D)(3)(iii), will be provided to Tier C Annuitants in the form of a 
reimbursement under the terms of the HRA.   

(iv)  Retiree Health Benefit Preserved in Event of Reinstatement and 
Subsequent Retirement  

In accordance with AB 410 (2013), as codified in Government Code 
Section 22838, an Annuitant eligible for retiree health benefits pursuant to 
Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) or (iii) who reinstates from retirement may, upon his or her 
subsequent retirement, elect to enroll in a health benefit plan approved or 
maintained by CalPERS as an annuitant of the Town and receive the applicable 
benefit under Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) or (iii), if all of the following apply: 

(a)  The subsequent retirement occurs on or after January 1, 2014; 

(b) The Annuitant is eligible for retiree health coverage through the 
Town prior to reinstatement from retirement; 

(c) The subsequent retirement occurs within 120 days of separation; 
and  

(d) The retiree health contribution available from the Town is higher 
than the retiree health contribution from the employer through 
which the subsequent retirement occurs.   

 To the extent that the Town’s conversion to the PEMHCA Minimum 
causes the requirement at (d) above to fail and, as a result, the Annuitant enrolls 
in a PERS health benefit plan through the subsequent employer, the Town shall 
cause the difference between the total benefit described in Section (D)(3)(i), (ii) 
or (iii), as applicable, and the retiree health benefit to which he or she is entitled 
under the subsequent employer, to be paid to the Annuitant in the form of a 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 16 
 

reimbursement under the HRA of substantiated expenses for a PERS health 
insurance plan in which he or she has enrolled.   

(4) Retirement Health Savings Program (RHSP) 

As soon as administratively possible, the Town will establish a Retirement Health 
Savings Program (RHSP).  The RHSP will use a third-party administrator selected by the 
Town.  The design of the RHSP is intended to be a tax advantaged savings plan to be 
used exclusively for qualifying medical expenses during retirement.  

(i) Mandatory Participation - Members Hired on or after January 1, 2017 
 

Members hired on or after January 1, 2017 receive a monthly Employer 
contribution to an individual account under the RHSP. The Town shall contribute 
to the Member’s individual RHSP account an amount equivalent to one and one-
half percent (1.5%) of the Member’s monthly base salary as shown in the Town’s 
adopted salary schedule.  The base salary for the initial month of service and 
final month of service shall be prorated based on actual base salary paid in those 
months.  

 
(ii) Optional Participation - Members Hired Prior to January 1, 2017 
 
 Members hired prior to January 1, 2017 may exercise a one-time 
irrevocable election and waiver as defined in the RHSP Plan Document. Any 
Member who elects to receive the RHSP benefit shall receive the same benefit as 
described in Section (D)(4)(i) above and will no longer receive the benefits in 
Section (D)(3) above.   

 
D. Health Club Membership 
 
Health Club Membership benefits are as provided in the Town’s Personnel Policies. 
 
E. Funeral Expenses 
  
The Town shall pay fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) to the executor, administrator or 
personal representative of the estate of, or to the trustee authorized to pay funeral expenses 
for, any Member killed in the line of duty. 
 
ARTICLE 19 - PAYROLL ERRORS 
 
A. To ensure that system or other errors which affect a Members pay are processed in an 
efficient and effective manner, the Town shall notice the affected Member as soon as 
practicable.   
 
B. Payroll errors detected by a Member shall, as soon as practicable, be communicated to 
the City Manager, or his or her designee.  In the case of under payment, the City Manager or 
his or her designee will process the appropriate adjustments as soon as practicable.   
 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 17 
 

C. Payroll errors identified by the City Manager or his or her designee will be communicated 
to the Member either directly or through the Police Chief.  
 
D. Under payments will be processed as soon as practicable. 
 
E. In the event of an overpayment, the City Manager or his or her designee will determine 
a reasonable repayment schedule and inform the Member of the schedule directly or through 
the Police Chief.  The affected Member shall be given an opportunity to discuss the repayment 
schedule and, if necessary, to request a reasonable adjustment to it.  Factors considered in 
determining a reasonable adjustment to the repayment schedule include but are not limited to, 
the Member’s normal salary, and other financial obligations of the Member.  The Town and the 
Association agree that the Town will use any and all legal remedies to recover any salary 
overpayment made to the Member from the Member’s wages in the event that (1) the Member 
does not respond within five working days of being notified of the overpayment or (2) mutual 
agreement on the repayment schedule is not achieved within ten working days of the Member 
being notified of the overpayment. 
 
ARTICLE 20 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
Grievance procedures are provided as stated in the Town’s Personnel Policies.   
 
ARTICLE 21 - SAFETY VESTS 
 
The parties have met and conferred and agreed to the Town’s Safety Vest Policy. 
 
ARTICLE 22 - DEFINITIONS 
 
As used in this Memorandum: 
 
“Base rate” means the hourly rate of pay, by each job classification shown in the tables in 
Appendix A of this Memorandum. 
 
“Personnel Policies” means the provisions, policies and regulations adopted by the City Council 
as Chapter Three of the Colma Administrative Code, or its successor, and the procedures and 
regulations adopted by the City Manager to implement the provisions of Chapter Three of the 
Colma Administrative Code or its successor. 
 
ARTICLE 23 - TRANSITION 
A. Upon execution, this Memorandum of Understanding will supersede the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the parties and for the period from December 25, 2020 through June 
30, 2024July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2019. 

/// 
 
/// 
 
/// 
 



 

Police Communications/Records Association MOU 2019-2022 2021-2024 Page 18 
 

/// 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF: 

Dated __________________ COLMA POLICE COMMUNICATIONS/RECORDS 
ASSOCIATION 

 
                         By _________________________________ 
 

     _________________________________ 
Print Name and Title 

  
 Attest  _______________ ______________ 
 

     _________________________________ 
Print Name and Title 
 

       
Dated _________________  TOWN OF COLMA 
                                           
 By _________________________________ 
      Diana Colvin, Mayor 
 
 Attest  _______________ ______________ 
      Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 



Appendix A 

BASE RATE SALARY TABLES  

 
December 26, 2021 through June 25, 2022 
 
Increased 2% 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 
Police Dispatch/Records 
Supervisor 

         
56.74  

         
58.30  

         
59.89  

         
61.47  

         
63.05  

Police Dispatcher/Clerk  47.08   48.39   49.70   51.00   52.30  
 
 
 
 
June 26, 2022 through December 24, 2022 
 
Increased 2% 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 
Police Dispatch/Records 
Supervisor 57.87 59.47 61.09 62.70 64.31 

Police Dispatcher/Clerk 48.02 49.35 50.69 52.02 53.34 
 
 
 
 
December 25, 2022 through June 24, 2023 
 
Increased 2% 
 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 
Police Dispatch/Records 
Supervisor 59.03 60.66 62.31 63.95 65.60 

Police Dispatcher/Clerk 48.98 50.34 51.70 53.06 54.41 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



BASE RATE SALARY TABLES  

 
 
June 25, 2023 through December 23, 2023 
 
Increased 2% 
 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 
Police Dispatch/Records 
Supervisor 60.21 61.87 63.56 65.23 66.91 

Police Dispatcher/Clerk 49.96 51.34 52.74 54.12 55.49 
 
 
 
 
December 24, 2023 through June 30, 2024 
 
Increased 2% 
 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 
Police Dispatch/Records 
Supervisor 61.41 63.11 64.83 66.54 68.25 

Police Dispatcher/Clerk 50.96 52.37 53.79 55.20 56.60 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Res. 2021-__, Cost of Living Increase Unrepresented Employees; Modifying Salary Schedule Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-__ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION APPROVING COST OF LIVING SALARY INCREASES FOR CERTAIN 
UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEES AND MODIFYING  

THE TOWN’S SALARY SCHEDULE  

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve as follows: 

1. Background.

(a) The Town has been in active negotiations since September 2021 to address potential 
salary increases for both represented and unrepresented employees. 

(b) The City Council has recently concluded negotiations with both the Colma Peace Officers 
Association and the Colma Police Communications/Record Association. 

(c) The City Manager is now recommending that the City Council approve cost of living 
increases for certain unrepresented employees consistent with Town’s past practice of treating 
the unrepresented employees consistent with the Colma Peace Officers Association and the 
Colma Police Communications/Record Association. 

2. Order; Cost of Living Salary Increases for Certain Unrepresented Employees

(a) The City Council hereby approves a cost of living increase for certain unrepresented 
employees, excluding the City Manager who has a separate employment agreement with the 
Town and excluding the following part-time positions who are subject to the minimum wage 
laws: 

Recreation Leader, Senior Recreation Leader, Facility Attendant, Intern, and 
Student Aide.   

(b) All unrepresented employee positions, excluding the City Manager and the part-time 
positions listed above, shall receive a 2 percent pay increase every six months beginning 
December 26, 2021 through June 30, 2024 for a total increase of 10 percent over the three- 
year period.  

3. Salary Schedule Adopted.

(a) The City Council hereby amends the Town’s salary schedule to implement the salary 
increases for both represented and unrepresented employees consistent with the City Council’s 
approval of the represented employees respective MOUs and the adoption of this Resolution 
implementing increases for certain unrepresented employees. 

(b) The amended salary schedule is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and is hereby 
incorporated by this reference.  

Attachment E



Res. 2021-__, Cost of Living Increase Unrepresented Employees; Modifying Salary Schedule Page 2 of 2 

4. No Contract. Nothing herein shall be construed as a contract with any employee, and 
the City Council shall have the discretion to modify the respective salaries in accordance with 
any applicable state or local provisions. 

5. Effective Date.  This resolution shall become effective upon adoption. 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-__ was duly adopted at a regular meeting of 
said City Council held on December 8, 2021 by the following vote: 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting 
  Aye No Abstain Present, Recused  Absent 

Helen Fisicaro, Mayor      
Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez       
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
Diana Colvin      

Voting Tally      
 
 

Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Helen Fisicaro, Mayor 
 
 
      Attest:   ____________________________ 
         Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 
 



Town of Colma Pay Schedule (Effective December 26, 2021) 
Proposed Resolution December 8, 2021 

Position Title  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6 
 Ord/Reso 
Number 

 Add'l 
Incentive  Payroll Ref 

Elected Officials (Monthly Compensation)
Mayor & City Council 961.00       ORD 784

Regular/Casual/Temporary Employees (hourly rate, compensated on a biweekly basis)
Accounting Technician 41.32        43.39        45.56        47.84        50.24        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8acct

Administrative Services Director 77.66        81.55        85.62        89.91        94.40        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8acm

Administrative Technician I 38.57        40.50        42.53        44.65        46.88        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at1

Administrative Technician II 40.50        42.53        44.65        46.88        49.22        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at2

Administrative Technician III 40.50        42.53        44.65        46.88        49.22        51.69        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

City Clerk 51.68        54.27        56.98        59.82        62.81        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8clrk1

City Manager 107.40       -            -            -            -            -            Reso 2019-57 (9) mgr

Community Service Officer 37.63        39.51        41.48        43.56        45.74        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8cso

Executive Assistant to Chief of Police 40.50        42.53        44.65        46.88        49.22        51.69        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

Facility Attendant 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8fa

Human Resources Manager 56.62        59.45        62.42        65.55        68.82        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8hrm

Intern 18.21        20.36        22.50        24.64        26.79        -            Reso 2020-07 (11) intr

Maintenance Technician I 37.72        39.60        41.58        43.66        45.84        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt1

Maintenance Technician II 39.60        41.58        43.66        45.84        48.14        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt2

Maintenance Technician III 39.60        41.58        43.66        45.84        48.14        50.55        Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt3

Management Analyst I 42.95        45.09        47.35        49.71        52.20        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma1

Management Analyst II 46.45        48.77        51.21        53.77        56.46        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma2

Management Analyst III 50.24        52.74        55.39        58.15        61.06        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma3

Police Chief 84.22        88.43        92.86        96.57        100.23       -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) chief

Police Commander 76.28        80.09        84.10        88.31        92.72        -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) 8pcmd

Police Dispatcher / Clerk 47.08        48.39        49.70        51.00        52.30        -            Reso 2021-x2 (6)(4)(11) clerical

Police Dispatcher/Records Supervisor 56.74        58.30        59.89        61.47        63.05        -            Reso 2021-x2 (2)(4)(11) supervisor

Police Officer - Reserve 52.68        -            -            -            -            -            Ord 773 pdres

Police Officer 1 52.68        55.32        58.09        60.99        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po1

Police Officer 2 54.79        57.53        60.41        63.43        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po2

Police Officer 3 55.85        58.65        61.57        64.65        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po3

Police Sergeant 1 66.78        68.16        69.57        73.41        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt1

Police Sergeant 2 69.44        70.88        72.34        76.35        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt2

Police Sergeant 3 70.77        72.23        73.72        77.83        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt3

Public Works Maintenance Supervisor 48.16        50.56        53.09        55.75        58.53        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mts

Recreation Coordinator 37.61        39.49        41.47        43.54        45.71        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8recc

Recreation Leader 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rl

Recreation Manager 44.95        47.20        49.55        52.04        54.63        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) recmgr

Senior Recreation Leader 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rls

Student Aide 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8sta

Additional Incentive Summary of Effective Ordinance and Resolution
(1) These positions receive a $1,025 per year uniform allowance Ord 773 Reinstatement of Reserve Officer Program - up to 4 Reserve Officers (Adopted 12/13/2017)

(2) This position receives a 5.0%  incentive for CAD Administrator Ord 784 City Council Compensation (Adopted 11/14/2018)

(3) These positions receive an additional 5% Holiday Pay Reso 2004-36 Establishment of Police Recruit Program - 95% of Police Officer Step 1 (5/12/2004)

(4) These positions receive a $774.73 per year uniform allowance Reso 2019-57 City Manager Contract Amendment 3 (Adopted 12/11/2019)

(5) These positions may receive a 5% incentive for Acting Commander, Acting Sergeant, Reso 2020-07 Addition of Intern and Student Aide Classifications and Compensations (Adopted 2/26/2020)

Officer in Charge, Training Officer, and/or Detective Reso 2020-32 Reclassify Chief of Police position from contract to appointed by City Manager (CC Mtg 7/8/2020)

(6) This position may receive a 2.5%  incentive for Back-up CAD Administrator Reso 2021-03 Additional of Management Analyst I/II/III Series (CC Mtg 01/13/2021)

(7) These positions may receive $120 per week stand-by pay Reso 2021-30 Minimum Wage Adjustment for Part-Time Staff (CC Mtg 9/22/2021)

(8) These positions receive an in kind uniform  allowance of $68.67 per pay period Reso 2021-x1 2% COLA for POA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)
(9) This position receives a $300 monthly automobile allowance Reso 2021-x2 2% COLA for CRA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(10) These positions may received 5% out of class pay Reso 2021-x3 2% COLA for Unrepresented from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(11) These positions may receive retention pay (2.5% @ 10 years; 5.0% @ 20 years)

Exhibit A



Town of Colma Pay Schedule (Effective June 26, 2022) 
Proposed Resolution December 8, 2021 
 

 
 

 
  

Position Title  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6 
 Ord/Reso 
Number 

 Add'l 
Incentive  Payroll Ref 

Elected Officials (Monthly Compensation)
Mayor & City Council 961.00       ORD 784

Regular/Casual/Temporary Employees (hourly rate, compensated on a biweekly basis)
Accounting Technician 42.15        44.26        46.48        48.80        51.25        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8acct

Administrative Services Director 79.21        83.18        87.33        91.70        96.29        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8acm

Administrative Technician I 39.34        41.31        43.38        45.54        47.81        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at1

Administrative Technician II 41.31        43.38        45.54        47.81        50.21        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at2

Administrative Technician III 41.31        43.38        45.54        47.81        50.21        52.72        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

City Clerk 52.72        55.35        58.12        61.02        64.07        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8clrk1

City Manager 107.40       -            -            -            -            -            Reso 2019-57 (9) mgr

Community Service Officer 38.38        40.30        42.31        44.43        46.65        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8cso

Executive Assistant to Chief of Police 41.31        43.38        45.54        47.81        50.21        52.72        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

Facility Attendant 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8fa

Human Resources Manager 57.75        60.64        63.67        66.86        70.20        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8hrm

Intern 18.21        20.36        22.50        24.64        26.79        -            Reso 2020-07 (11) intr

Maintenance Technician I 38.47        40.39        42.41        44.53        46.76        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt1

Maintenance Technician II 40.39        42.41        44.53        46.76        49.10        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt2

Maintenance Technician III 40.39        42.41        44.53        46.76        49.10        51.56        Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt3

Management Analyst I 43.81        46.00        48.30        50.71        53.25        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma1

Management Analyst II 47.38        49.74        52.24        54.85        57.59        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma2

Management Analyst III 51.24        53.80        56.49        59.31        62.28        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma3

Police Chief 85.91        90.20        94.72        98.51        102.23       -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) chief

Police Commander 77.81        81.69        85.79        90.07        94.57        -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) 8pcmd

Police Dispatcher / Clerk 48.02        49.35        50.69        52.02        53.34        -            Reso 2021-x2 (6)(4)(11) clerical

Police Dispatcher/Records Supervisor 57.87        59.47        61.09        62.70        64.31        -            Reso 2021-x2 (2)(4)(11) supervisor

Police Officer - Reserve 53.74        -            -            -            -            -            Ord 773 pdres

Police Officer 1 53.73        56.42        59.25        62.21        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po1

Police Officer 2 55.88        58.68        61.62        64.70        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po2

Police Officer 3 56.97        59.82        62.81        65.94        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po3

Police Sergeant 1 68.11        69.52        70.96        74.88        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt1

Police Sergeant 2 70.83        72.30        73.79        77.88        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt2

Police Sergeant 3 72.19        73.68        75.20        79.38        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt3

Public Works Maintenance Supervisor 49.12        51.58        54.15        56.87        59.70        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mts

Recreation Coordinator 38.36        40.28        42.30        44.41        46.62        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8recc

Recreation Leader 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rl

Recreation Manager 45.85        48.14        50.54        53.08        55.72        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) recmgr

Senior Recreation Leader 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rls

Student Aide 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8sta

Additional Incentive Summary of Effective Ordinance and Resolution
(1) These positions receive a $1,025 per year uniform allowance Ord 773 Reinstatement of Reserve Officer Program - up to 4 Reserve Officers (Adopted 12/13/2017)

(2) This position receives a 5.0%  incentive for CAD Administrator Ord 784 City Council Compensation (Adopted 11/14/2018)

(3) These positions receive an additional 5% Holiday Pay Reso 2004-36 Establishment of Police Recruit Program - 95% of Police Officer Step 1 (5/12/2004)

(4) These positions receive a $774.73 per year uniform allowance Reso 2019-57 City Manager Contract Amendment 3 (Adopted 12/11/2019)

(5) These positions may receive a 5% incentive for Acting Commander, Acting Sergeant, Reso 2020-07 Addition of Intern and Student Aide Classifications and Compensations (Adopted 2/26/2020)

Officer in Charge, Training Officer, and/or Detective Reso 2020-32 Reclassify Chief of Police position from contract to appointed by City Manager (CC Mtg 7/8/2020)

(6) This position may receive a 2.5%  incentive for Back-up CAD Administrator Reso 2021-03 Additional of Management Analyst I/II/III Series (CC Mtg 01/13/2021)

(7) These positions may receive $120 per week stand-by pay Reso 2021-30 Minimum Wage Adjustment for Part-Time Staff (CC Mtg 9/22/2021)

(8) These positions receive an in kind uniform  allowance of $68.67 per pay period Reso 2021-x1 2% COLA for POA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)
(9) This position receives a $300 monthly automobile allowance Reso 2021-x2 2% COLA for CRA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(10) These positions may received 5% out of class pay Reso 2021-x3 2% COLA for Unrepresented from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(11) These positions may receive retention pay (2.5% @ 10 years; 5.0% @ 20 years)



Town of Colma Pay Schedule (Effective December 25, 2022) 
Proposed Resolution December 8, 2021 
 

 

 

  

Position Title  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6 
 Ord/Reso 
Number 

 Add'l 
Incentive  Payroll Ref 

Elected Officials (Monthly Compensation)
Mayor & City Council 961.00       ORD 784

Regular/Casual/Temporary Employees (hourly rate, compensated on a biweekly basis)
Accounting Technician 42.99        45.15        47.41        49.78        52.28        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8acct

Administrative Services Director 80.79        84.84        89.08        93.53        98.22        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8acm

Administrative Technician I 40.13        42.14        44.25        46.45        48.77        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at1

Administrative Technician II 42.14        44.25        46.45        48.77        51.21        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at2

Administrative Technician III 42.14        44.25        46.45        48.77        51.21        53.77        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

City Clerk 53.77        56.46        59.28        62.24        65.35        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8clrk1

City Manager 107.40       -            -            -            -            -            Reso 2019-57 (9) mgr

Community Service Officer 39.15        41.11        43.16        45.32        47.58        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8cso

Executive Assistant to Chief of Police 42.14        44.25        46.45        48.77        51.21        53.77        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

Facility Attendant 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8fa

Human Resources Manager 58.91        61.85        64.94        68.20        71.60        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8hrm

Intern 18.21        20.36        22.50        24.64        26.79        -            Reso 2020-07 (11) intr

Maintenance Technician I 39.24        41.20        43.26        45.42        47.70        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt1

Maintenance Technician II 41.20        43.26        45.42        47.70        50.08        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt2

Maintenance Technician III 41.20        43.26        45.42        47.70        50.08        52.59        Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt3

Management Analyst I 44.69        46.92        49.27        51.72        54.32        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma1

Management Analyst II 48.33        50.73        53.28        55.95        58.74        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma2

Management Analyst III 52.26        54.88        57.62        60.50        63.53        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma3

Police Chief 87.63        92.00        96.61        100.48       104.27       -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) chief

Police Commander 79.37        83.32        87.51        91.87        96.46        -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) 8pcmd

Police Dispatcher / Clerk 48.98        50.34        51.70        53.06        54.41        -            Reso 2021-x2 (6)(4)(11) clerical

Police Dispatcher/Records Supervisor 59.03        60.66        62.31        63.95        65.60        -            Reso 2021-x2 (2)(4)(11) supervisor

Police Officer - Reserve 54.81        -            -            -            -            -            Ord 773 pdres

Police Officer 1 54.80        57.55        60.44        63.45        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po1

Police Officer 2 57.00        59.85        62.85        65.99        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po2

Police Officer 3 58.11        61.02        64.07        67.26        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po3

Police Sergeant 1 69.47        70.91        72.38        76.38        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt1

Police Sergeant 2 72.25        73.75        75.27        79.44        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt2

Police Sergeant 3 73.63        75.15        76.70        80.97        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt3

Public Works Maintenance Supervisor 50.10        52.61        55.23        58.01        60.89        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mts

Recreation Coordinator 39.13        41.09        43.15        45.30        47.55        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8recc

Recreation Leader 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rl

Recreation Manager 46.77        49.10        51.55        54.14        56.83        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) recmgr

Senior Recreation Leader 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rls

Student Aide 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8sta

Additional Incentive Summary of Effective Ordinance and Resolution
(1) These positions receive a $1,025 per year uniform allowance Ord 773 Reinstatement of Reserve Officer Program - up to 4 Reserve Officers (Adopted 12/13/2017)

(2) This position receives a 5.0%  incentive for CAD Administrator Ord 784 City Council Compensation (Adopted 11/14/2018)

(3) These positions receive an additional 5% Holiday Pay Reso 2004-36 Establishment of Police Recruit Program - 95% of Police Officer Step 1 (5/12/2004)

(4) These positions receive a $774.73 per year uniform allowance Reso 2019-57 City Manager Contract Amendment 3 (Adopted 12/11/2019)

(5) These positions may receive a 5% incentive for Acting Commander, Acting Sergeant, Reso 2020-07 Addition of Intern and Student Aide Classifications and Compensations (Adopted 2/26/2020)

Officer in Charge, Training Officer, and/or Detective Reso 2020-32 Reclassify Chief of Police position from contract to appointed by City Manager (CC Mtg 7/8/2020)

(6) This position may receive a 2.5%  incentive for Back-up CAD Administrator Reso 2021-03 Additional of Management Analyst I/II/III Series (CC Mtg 01/13/2021)

(7) These positions may receive $120 per week stand-by pay Reso 2021-30 Minimum Wage Adjustment for Part-Time Staff (CC Mtg 9/22/2021)

(8) These positions receive an in kind uniform  allowance of $68.67 per pay period Reso 2021-x1 2% COLA for POA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)
(9) This position receives a $300 monthly automobile allowance Reso 2021-x2 2% COLA for CRA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(10) These positions may received 5% out of class pay Reso 2021-x3 2% COLA for Unrepresented from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(11) These positions may receive retention pay (2.5% @ 10 years; 5.0% @ 20 years)



Town of Colma Pay Schedule (Effective June 25, 2023) 
Proposed Resolution December 8, 2021 
 

 

  

Position Title  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6 
 Ord/Reso 
Number 

 Add'l 
Incentive  Payroll Ref 

Elected Officials (Monthly Compensation)
Mayor & City Council 961.00       ORD 784

Regular/Casual/Temporary Employees (hourly rate, compensated on a biweekly basis)
Accounting Technician 43.85        46.05        48.36        50.77        53.32        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8acct

Administrative Services Director 82.41        86.54        90.86        95.40        100.18       -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8acm

Administrative Technician I 40.93        42.98        45.13        47.38        49.74        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at1

Administrative Technician II 42.98        45.13        47.38        49.74        52.24        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at2

Administrative Technician III 42.98        45.13        47.38        49.74        52.24        54.85        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

City Clerk 54.85        57.59        60.47        63.49        66.66        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8clrk1

City Manager 107.40       -            -            -            -            -            Reso 2019-57 (9) mgr

Community Service Officer 39.93        41.93        44.02        46.22        48.53        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8cso

Executive Assistant to Chief of Police 42.98        45.13        47.38        49.74        52.24        54.85        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

Facility Attendant 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8fa

Human Resources Manager 60.08        63.09        66.24        69.56        73.04        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8hrm

Intern 18.21        20.36        22.50        24.64        26.79        -            Reso 2020-07 (11) intr

Maintenance Technician I 40.02        42.02        44.12        46.33        48.65        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt1

Maintenance Technician II 42.02        44.12        46.33        48.65        51.08        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt2

Maintenance Technician III 42.02        44.12        46.33        48.65        51.08        53.64        Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt3

Management Analyst I 45.58        47.86        50.25        52.76        55.40        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma1

Management Analyst II 49.29        51.75        54.35        57.07        59.92        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma2

Management Analyst III 53.31        55.97        58.77        61.71        64.80        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma3

Police Chief 89.38        93.84        98.55        102.49       106.36       -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) chief

Police Commander 80.95        84.99        89.26        93.71        98.39        -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) 8pcmd

Police Dispatcher / Clerk 49.96        51.34        52.74        54.12        55.49        -            Reso 2021-x2 (6)(4)(11) clerical

Police Dispatcher/Records Supervisor 60.21        61.87        63.56        65.23        66.91        -            Reso 2021-x2 (2)(4)(11) supervisor

Police Officer - Reserve 55.91        -            -            -            -            -            Ord 773 pdres

Police Officer 1 55.90        58.70        61.64        64.72        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po1

Police Officer 2 58.14        61.05        64.11        67.31        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po2

Police Officer 3 59.27        62.24        65.35        68.60        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po3

Police Sergeant 1 70.86        72.33        73.83        77.91        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt1

Police Sergeant 2 73.69        75.22        76.77        81.03        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt2

Police Sergeant 3 75.11        76.66        78.24        82.59        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt3

Public Works Maintenance Supervisor 51.10        53.66        56.34        59.17        62.11        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mts

Recreation Coordinator 39.91        41.91        44.01        46.20        48.50        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8recc

Recreation Leader 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rl

Recreation Manager 47.70        50.08        52.58        55.22        57.97        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) recmgr

Senior Recreation Leader 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rls

Student Aide 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8sta

Additional Incentive Summary of Effective Ordinance and Resolution
(1) These positions receive a $1,025 per year uniform allowance Ord 773 Reinstatement of Reserve Officer Program - up to 4 Reserve Officers (Adopted 12/13/2017)

(2) This position receives a 5.0%  incentive for CAD Administrator Ord 784 City Council Compensation (Adopted 11/14/2018)

(3) These positions receive an additional 5% Holiday Pay Reso 2004-36 Establishment of Police Recruit Program - 95% of Police Officer Step 1 (5/12/2004)

(4) These positions receive a $774.73 per year uniform allowance Reso 2019-57 City Manager Contract Amendment 3 (Adopted 12/11/2019)

(5) These positions may receive a 5% incentive for Acting Commander, Acting Sergeant, Reso 2020-07 Addition of Intern and Student Aide Classifications and Compensations (Adopted 2/26/2020)

Officer in Charge, Training Officer, and/or Detective Reso 2020-32 Reclassify Chief of Police position from contract to appointed by City Manager (CC Mtg 7/8/2020)

(6) This position may receive a 2.5%  incentive for Back-up CAD Administrator Reso 2021-03 Additional of Management Analyst I/II/III Series (CC Mtg 01/13/2021)

(7) These positions may receive $120 per week stand-by pay Reso 2021-30 Minimum Wage Adjustment for Part-Time Staff (CC Mtg 9/22/2021)

(8) These positions receive an in kind uniform  allowance of $68.67 per pay period Reso 2021-x1 2% COLA for POA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)
(9) This position receives a $300 monthly automobile allowance Reso 2021-x2 2% COLA for CRA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(10) These positions may received 5% out of class pay Reso 2021-x3 2% COLA for Unrepresented from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(11) These positions may receive retention pay (2.5% @ 10 years; 5.0% @ 20 years)



Town of Colma Pay Schedule (Effective December 24, 2023) 
Proposed Resolution December 8, 2021 
 

 
 

 

Position Title  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6 
 Ord/Reso 
Number 

 Add'l 
Incentive  Payroll Ref 

Elected Officials (Monthly Compensation)
Mayor & City Council 961.00       ORD 784

Regular/Casual/Temporary Employees (hourly rate, compensated on a biweekly basis)
Accounting Technician 44.73        46.97        49.32        51.79        54.39        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8acct

Administrative Services Director 84.06        88.27        92.68        97.31        102.18       -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8acm

Administrative Technician I 41.75        43.84        46.04        48.33        50.74        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at1

Administrative Technician II 43.84        46.04        48.33        50.74        53.28        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at2

Administrative Technician III 43.84        46.04        48.33        50.74        53.28        55.95        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

City Clerk 55.95        58.74        61.68        64.75        67.99        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8clrk1

City Manager 107.40       -            -            -            -            -            Reso 2019-57 (9) mgr

Community Service Officer 40.73        42.77        44.90        47.15        49.51        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8cso

Executive Assistant to Chief of Police 43.84        46.04        48.33        50.74        53.28        55.95        Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8at3

Facility Attendant 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8fa

Human Resources Manager 61.28        64.35        67.57        70.95        74.50        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8hrm

Intern 18.21        20.36        22.50        24.64        26.79        -            Reso 2020-07 (11) intr

Maintenance Technician I 40.82        42.86        45.01        47.26        49.62        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt1

Maintenance Technician II 42.86        45.01        47.26        49.62        52.11        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt2

Maintenance Technician III 42.86        45.01        47.26        49.62        52.11        54.72        Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mt3

Management Analyst I 46.49        48.82        51.26        53.81        56.51        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma1

Management Analyst II 50.28        52.78        55.44        58.21        61.11        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma2

Management Analyst III 54.38        57.09        59.95        62.94        66.09        -            Reso 2021-x3 (11) 8ma3

Police Chief 91.17        95.72        100.52       104.54       108.49       -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) chief

Police Commander 82.57        86.69        91.04        95.58        100.36       -            Reso 2021-x3 (1)(11) 8pcmd

Police Dispatcher / Clerk 50.96        52.37        53.79        55.20        56.60        -            Reso 2021-x2 (6)(4)(11) clerical

Police Dispatcher/Records Supervisor 61.41        63.11        64.83        66.54        68.25        -            Reso 2021-x2 (2)(4)(11) supervisor

Police Officer - Reserve 57.03        -            -            -            -            -            Ord 773 pdres

Police Officer 1 57.02        59.87        62.88        66.02        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po1

Police Officer 2 59.30        62.27        65.39        68.66        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po2

Police Officer 3 60.46        63.48        66.65        69.98        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8po3

Police Sergeant 1 72.28        73.78        75.30        79.46        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt1

Police Sergeant 2 75.17        76.73        78.31        82.65        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt2

Police Sergeant 3 76.61        78.19        79.80        84.24        -            -            Reso 2021-x1 (1)(3)(5)(11) 8sgt3

Public Works Maintenance Supervisor 52.13        54.74        57.46        60.35        63.35        -            Reso 2021-x3 (7)(8)(10)(11) 8mts

Recreation Coordinator 40.71        42.75        44.89        47.13        49.47        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) 8recc

Recreation Leader 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rl

Recreation Manager 48.66        51.09        53.63        56.33        59.13        -            Reso 2021-x3 (10)(11) recmgr

Senior Recreation Leader 19.00        19.94        20.94        21.99        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8rls

Student Aide 15.00        15.75        16.53        17.38        -            -            Reso 2021-30 (11) 8sta

Additional Incentive Summary of Effective Ordinance and Resolution
(1) These positions receive a $1,025 per year uniform allowance Ord 773 Reinstatement of Reserve Officer Program - up to 4 Reserve Officers (Adopted 12/13/2017)

(2) This position receives a 5.0%  incentive for CAD Administrator Ord 784 City Council Compensation (Adopted 11/14/2018)

(3) These positions receive an additional 5% Holiday Pay Reso 2004-36 Establishment of Police Recruit Program - 95% of Police Officer Step 1 (5/12/2004)

(4) These positions receive a $774.73 per year uniform allowance Reso 2019-57 City Manager Contract Amendment 3 (Adopted 12/11/2019)

(5) These positions may receive a 5% incentive for Acting Commander, Acting Sergeant, Reso 2020-07 Addition of Intern and Student Aide Classifications and Compensations (Adopted 2/26/2020)

Officer in Charge, Training Officer, and/or Detective Reso 2020-32 Reclassify Chief of Police position from contract to appointed by City Manager (CC Mtg 7/8/2020)

(6) This position may receive a 2.5%  incentive for Back-up CAD Administrator Reso 2021-03 Additional of Management Analyst I/II/III Series (CC Mtg 01/13/2021)

(7) These positions may receive $120 per week stand-by pay Reso 2021-30 Minimum Wage Adjustment for Part-Time Staff (CC Mtg 9/22/2021)

(8) These positions receive an in kind uniform  allowance of $68.67 per pay period Reso 2021-x1 2% COLA for POA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)
(9) This position receives a $300 monthly automobile allowance Reso 2021-x2 2% COLA for CRA from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(10) These positions may received 5% out of class pay Reso 2021-x3 2% COLA for Unrepresented from Dec 26, 2021 to Jun 30, 2024 (Proposed 12/08/2021)

(11) These positions may receive retention pay (2.5% @ 10 years; 5.0% @ 20 years)



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



25977.00100\34582278.1 
Res. 2021-__ - CAC Subchapter 3.01-3.05 and 4.04 Page 1 of 8 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-__ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION AMENDING COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 3.01 
THROUGH 3.05, AND SUBCHAPTER 4.04, RELATING TO VARIOUS EMPLOYMENT-

RELATED POLICIES AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

The City Council of the Town of Colma hereby resolves: 

ARTICLE 1. COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 3.01 AMENDED 

Section 3.01.010, of Subchapter 3.01, shall be and hereby is amended to read as follows: 

3.01.010 Personnel Records  

(a) Custodian. The City Manager is responsible for establishing and maintaining the 
personnel files for all employees of the Town. 

(b) Review. 

(1) An employee has the right to review his or her own personnel records during 
normal business hours and with reasonable notice to the City Manager. 

(2) Each employee is responsible for the verification of information contained in the 
personnel file through periodic review. The City Manager must be present when a 
personnel file is reviewed. All reviews or inspection of records by employees shall be 
scheduled through the City Manager. The purpose of the review or inspection is to 
provide for accuracy and completeness of the file. 

(c) Complaints. The Chief of Police is responsible for establishing and maintaining the files 
of all internal investigations of complaints regarding conduct of police officers as follows: 

(1) Chronological File. The Department shall maintain a chronological file of all 
complaints along with the disposition of each complaint. The chronological file should 
not contain the investigative reports or witness statements. Records of citizen 
complaints are considered a personnel record of the respective employee, and therefore 
the chronological file shall be kept confidential. 

(2) Frivolous or Unfounded Claims. Complaints that are determined to be frivolous, 
unfounded or exonerated shall not be maintained in the employee’s general personnel 
file and are not to be considered in making personnel decisions. However, such 
complaints shall be considered personnel records for purposes of the California Public 
Records Act. 

[Reference: PENAL CODE § 832.5] 

(d) Specially Protected Documents. The following records shall be kept in a file folder 
separate from the employee’s general personnel records folder because of heightened privacy 
concerns or to prevent claims that access to certain records exposed the employee to 

Attachment F



25977.00100\34582278.1 
 

Res. 2021-__ - CAC Subchapter 3.01-3.05 and 4.04   Page 2 of 8 
 

retaliation: 

(1) Verification of the right to work in the United States; 

(2) Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) charge of discrimination and 
related documents; 

(3) Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) charge of discrimination 
and related documents; 

(4) Workers’ compensation claims; 

(5) Medical information, including psychiatric evaluations, physicians’ reports, and 
authorizations to return to work; and 

(6) Any information that is not job related. 

[Reference: 42 U.S.C. § 12112(D); CALIF. CIVIL CODE § 56.05, et seq.] 

(e) Confidentiality. The following employee information is not confidential: name, job title, 
department, work phone, work address, work email address, salary scale for the position, and 
dates of employment. All other information in an employee’s personnel file is confidential. 

(f) Access. Access to information contained in the personnel file will be limited to Town 
employees and city officers who require the information to perform their duties, which can, in 
appropriate instances, include the City Manager, Assistant City Manager, Administrative Services 
Director, City Attorney, Human Resources Personnel Manager, administrative staff assisted HR 
duties and who have signed a confidentiality agreement, and the employee’s Department 
Director or supervisor. 

(g) Disclosure of Confidential information. Confidential information may not be disclosed to 
third parties except as follows: 

(1) When written permission is provided by the employee; 

(2) When disclosure is required by law; 

(3) To a person directly involved in investigating, hearing, or reviewing, on behalf of 
the Town, any matter that is, or may become, a basis for disciplinary action or a 
grievance; or 

(4) When confidentiality is waived by the employee or when the employee asserts as 
fact information that is inconsistent with a fact shown in the employee’s personnel file. 

(h) Removal of Items. The City Manager, Assistant City Manager, Administrative Services 
Director or designee, Human Resources Manager and Chief of Police are the only persons 
authorized to remove records from an employee’s personnel file. 

(i) Personnel Action Form. Each appointment, transfer, promotion, demotion, change of 
salary rate and any other temporary or permanent change in the status of employees shall be 



25977.00100\34582278.1 
 

Res. 2021-__ - CAC Subchapter 3.01-3.05 and 4.04   Page 3 of 8 
 

recorded on a Personnel Action Form, copies of which shall be transmitted to the Department 
Director, payroll officer, the employee and the personnel file. 

[Reference: GOV’T CODE §§ 1098, 6254(c); LABOR CODE § 1102.6] [History: Res. 
2020-01, 1/8/20; Res. 2021-__, 12/8/21] 

ARTICLE 2. COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 3.01 AMENDED 

Section 3.01.060, Personnel Records, is hereby deleted in its entirety with all other remaining 
sections in Subchapter 3.01 renumbered consecutively. 

ARTICLE 3. COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 3.02, 3.03, AND 3.04 
AMENDED 

Subchapter. 3.02, 3.03, and 3.04, shall be and hereby are amended to replace each reference 
to “Human Resources Manager” with “Administrative Services Director or designee.”  From and 
after the adoption date of this resolution, all references to “Human Resources Manager” shall be 
replaced with “Administrative Services Director or designee” in these respective Subchapters. 

ARTICLE 4. COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 3.05 AMENDED 

Section 3.05.030 of Subchapter 3.05 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

3.05.030 Medical and Hospital Insurance 

(a) Medical and hospital care benefits are provided to eligible employees under the 
provisions of the California Public Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA). The 
following persons are eligible to participate in the Town’s medical and hospital insurance for 
themselves and all eligible dependents in accordance with the terms of the medical and hospital 
insurance policy or policies provided under PEMHCA and pursuant to the terms set forth in this 
Subchapter 3.05: regular employees, probationary employees, Council Members, and 
Annuitants (as defined in 3.05.010(c)(2)). 

(b) Medical and Hospital Insurance Benefits: 

(1) PEMHCA Minimum Contribution  

The Town contracts with PERS pursuant to the Public Employees Medical and Hospital 
Care Act (PEMHCA) for the purpose of providing eligible employees, dependents and 
Annuitants with access to medical insurance. The Town shall revise its current PEMHCA 
contract with CalPERS through the adoption of a new PEMHCA resolution to provide 
that the Town shall pay to PERS, on behalf of each eligible employee and Annuitant, a 
monthly employer contribution equal to the minimum contribution required under 
Section 22892(b)(2) of PEMHCA (PEMHCA Minimum). This amount is established by 
CalPERS and may change annually. Annuitants will receive the PEMHCA Minimum 
regardless of hire date. 

Supplemental benefits will be provided to eligible employees and Annuitants in accordance with 
the terms set forth in paragraphs (2), (3) and (4) below. 



25977.00100\34582278.1 
 

Res. 2021-__ - CAC Subchapter 3.01-3.05 and 4.04   Page 4 of 8 
 

(2) Supplemental Benefit for Eligible Employees 

The Town offers an Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Plan (Plan) which 
contains premium conversion, health care reimbursement and dependent care 
reimbursement as available benefits. The availability of the Plan is contingent 
on compliance with state and federal rules and regulations. In addition to the 
PEMHCA Minimum which will be paid by the Town directly to CalPERS, eligible 
employees will receive a contribution under the Plan equal to the full cost of 
the PERS health plan selected, for which he or she and his or her dependents 
are eligible and enrolled, minus the PEMHCA Minimum. This contribution is to 
be used to pay for premiums for Health Insurance Coverage through the Plan. 

(3) Supplemental Benefit for Annuitants Originally Hired Before January 1, 2017  

In addition to the PEMHCA Minimum, each Annuitant hired by the Town on or 
before December 31, 2016 is eligible for an Employer contribution, as set forth 
below, to be used for reimbursement of additional medical costs under a Retiree 
Health 
Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) established by the Employer. Receipt of  
Reimbursements may be made through a third party administrator and subject to 
administrative requirements. 
(i) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired Prior to July 1, 2012 (Tier A)  

Annuitants hired by the Town prior to July 1, 2012 will receive a monthly 
HRA contribution equal to the monthly cost of the PERS health plan 
selected, for which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and 
enrolled, minus the PEMHCA Minimum. 

(ii) Annuitants Who Were Originally Hired on or after July 1, 2012 but on 
or before December 31, 2016 (Tier B)  

Annuitants hired by the Town on or after July 1, 2012, but on or before 
December 31, 2016, who have five years of service with the Town and at 
least ten years of total PERS service credit, will receive an HRA 
contribution equal to the “applicable percentage” of the cost of the PERS 
health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are eligible and 
enrolled. 

The “applicable percentage” shall be determined on the basis of the 
Annuitant’s years of service (with a minimum of five years of service with 
the Town) pursuant to the following vesting schedule: 

CREDITED YEARS OF  
SERVICE 

  APPLICABLE PERCENTAGE 

10   50% 
11   55% 
12   60% 
13   65% 



25977.00100\34582278.1 
 

Res. 2021-__ - CAC Subchapter 3.01-3.05 and 4.04   Page 5 of 8 
 

14   70% 
15   75% 
16   80% 
17   85% 
18   90% 
19   95% 

20 or More   100%  

Notwithstanding the preceding service requirement, the contribution 
payable by the Town shall be equal to 100 percent of the cost of the 
PERS health plan in which he or she and his or her dependents are 
eligible and enrolled, on behalf of any Annuitant who retired for disability. 

(iii) Retiree Health Benefit Preserved in Event of Reinstatement and 
Subsequent Retirement  

In accordance with AB 410 (2013), as codified in Government Code 
Section 22838, an Annuitant eligible for retiree health benefits pursuant 
to Section (b)(3)(i) or (ii) who reinstates from retirement may, upon his 
or her subsequent retirement, elect to enroll in a health benefit plan 
approved or maintained by CalPERS as an Annuitant of the Town and 
receive the applicable benefit under Section (b)(3)(i) or (ii), if all of the 
following apply: 

(A) The subsequent retirement occurs on or after January 1, 2014; 

(B) The Annuitant is eligible for retiree health coverage through the 
Town prior to reinstatement from retirement; 

(C) The subsequent retirement occurs within 120 days of separation; 
and 

(D) The retiree health contribution available from the Town is higher 
than the retiree health contribution from the employer through 
which the subsequent retirement occurs. 

To the extent that the Town’s conversion to the PEMHCA Minimum 
causes the requirement at (D) above to fail and, as a result, the 
Annuitant enrolls in a PERS health benefit plan through the subsequent 
employer, the Town shall cause the difference between the total benefit 
described in Section (d)(3)(i) or (ii), as applicable, and the retiree health 
benefit to which he or she is entitled under the subsequent employer, to 
be paid to the Annuitant in the form of a reimbursement under the HRA 
of substantiated expenses for a PERS health insurance plan in which he 
or she has enrolled. 

 (4) Supplemental Benefit for Annuitants Hired On or After January 1, 2017  

(i) Mandatory Participation - Members Hired on or after January 1, 2017 



25977.00100\34582278.1 
 

Res. 2021-__ - CAC Subchapter 3.01-3.05 and 4.04   Page 6 of 8 
 

Eligible employees hired on or after January 1, 2017 receive a monthly 
Employer contribution to an individual account under the RHSP. The 
Town shall contribute to the Member’s individual Retirement Health 
Savings Plan (RHSP) account an amount equivalent to one and one-half 
percent (1.5%) of the Member’s monthly base salary as shown in the 
Town’s adopted salary schedule.  The base salary for the initial month of 
service and final month of service shall be prorated based on actual base 
salary paid in those months.  

(ii) Optional Participation - Members Hired Prior to January 1, 2017 

Eligible employees hired prior to January 1, 2017 may exercise a one-
time irrevocable election and waiver as defined in the RHSP Plan 
Document. Any Member who elects to receive the RHSP benefit shall 
receive the same benefit as described in Section (b)(4)(i) above and will 
no longer receive the benefits in Section (b)(3) above.  

(5) Retirement Health Savings Program (RHSP) 

The Town offers a Retirement Health Savings Program (RHSP), administered by a third party 
administrator selected by the Town. The design of the RHSP is intended to be a tax advantaged 
savings plan to be used exclusively for qualifying medical expenses during retirement. 

(i) An eligible person who has applied for Annuitant status shall continue to 
be eligible to receive paid medical and hospital insurance for 120 days 
after separation from employment from the Town provided that such 
person is diligently pursing his or her retirement application. 

(ii) An eligible employee who provides the Town with proof of other group 
medical and hospital insurance may receive $250 per month in lieu of 
medical and hospital insurance. 

(iii) A Council Member shall be required to enroll in a medical and hospital 
insurance plan provided under PEMHCA. However, this requirement shall 
not apply to a Council Member who the Town determines is covered 
through other group medical and hospital insurance. In such instance, the 
Town shall contribute $250 per month toward a deferred compensation 
plan for the benefit of the Council Member as determined solely within 
the discretion of the Town. 

[Reference: GOV'T CODE §§ 22750-22755, 22800-22826] 

[History: Adopted by Res 2008-03, 2/13/08; Amended by Res 2014-04, 2/13/14; Res 
2016-01, 1/13/16; Res 2017-10, 2/8/17; Res 2020-01, 1/8/20; Res 2021-__, 
12/8/21] 

ARTICLE 5. COLMA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE SUBCHAPTER 4.04 AMENDED 

Sections 4.04.010 and 4.04.020 of Subchapter 4.04 shall be and hereby are amended to replace 



25977.00100\34582278.1 
 

Res. 2021-__ - CAC Subchapter 3.01-3.05 and 4.04   Page 7 of 8 
 

each reference to “Human Resources Manager” with “Administrative Services Director.”  From 
and after the adoption date of this resolution, all references to “Human Resources Manager” 
shall be replaced with “Administrative Services Director” in these respective sections. 

ARTICLE 6. SEVERABILITY. 

Each of the provisions of this resolution is severable from all other provisions. If any article, 
section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this resolution is for any reason 
held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity 
of the remaining portions of this resolution.  The City Council hereby declares that it intended 
do and would have adopted each and every provision of this resolution independent of any 
other provision of this resolution. 

ARTICLE 7. NOT A CEQA PROJECT. 

The City Council finds that adoption of this resolution is not a "project," as defined in the 
California Environmental Quality Act because it does not have a potential for resulting in either 
a direct physical change in the environment or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical 
change in the environment and concerns general policy and procedure making. 

ARTICLE 8. EFFECTIVE DATE. 

This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption by the City Council. 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

 



25977.00100\34582278.1 
 

Res. 2021-__ - CAC Subchapter 3.01-3.05 and 4.04   Page 8 of 8 
 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-__ was duly adopted at a regular meeting of 
the City Council of the Town of Colma held on December 8, 2021 by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
Helen Fisicaro, Mayor      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
Diana Colvin      

Voting Tally      
 
 
Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Helen Fisicaro, Mayor 
 
 
      Attest:   ____________________________ 
         Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 
 



Staff Report re City Selection Committee 2021-2022  Page 1 of 3 

STAFF REPORT

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: December 8, 2021 
SUBJECT: Council of Cities and City Selection Committee 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council make the following motion: 

MOTION TO CONFIRM DESIGNATION OF THE MAYOR AS THE VOTING MEMBER FOR 
THE COUNCIL OF CITIES, DESIGNATING AN ALTERNATE VOTING MEMBER, AND 
GIVING THE VOTING MEMBER DISCRETION ON ANY AND ALL MATTERS TO BE 
CONSIDERED 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The San Mateo Council of Cities will meet on December 17, 2021 to elect its officers, to make 
appointments to certain Regional Boards, and to conduct other business. According to the 
Council’s bylaws, all Council Members from a city are participating members of the Council of 
Cities, but only the Mayor, or the Mayor’s alternate, is a voting member. By practice, the Mayors 
of each city are members of the City Selection Committee, which has been delegated the 
authority to make appointments to certain regional boards. 

This motion will confirm the designation of the Mayor as the voting member of the Council of 
Cities and its City Selection Committee, designate an alternate to the Mayor, and grant the 
voting member discretion in voting on any and all matters.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

This action has no fiscal impact. 

BACKGROUND 

The Town of Colma City Council is a participant in the San Mateo County Council of Cities and 
the City Selection Committee. The Council of Cities meets once per month to discuss items of 
interest to the region and provide networking opportunities for elected officials from the cities 
of San Mateo County. The members of the San Mateo County Council of Cities are all of the 
elected officials from the cities in the County, as well as the Board of Supervisors of San Mateo 
County.  

Item #10



Staff Report re City Selection Committee 2021-2022  Page 2 of 3 

The City Selection Committee meets several times per year, usually immediately before a 
Council of Cities business meeting, and elects representatives from among the group of 
interested elected officials to serve on County-wide committees and boards, such as the San 
Mateo County Transportation Authority (SMCTA), and the Bay Area Air Quality Management 
District Board. Only one designated representative from each city is on the City Selection 
Committee, usually the Mayor. The City Selection Committee meets for the sole purpose of 
voting for the elected officials who will serve on County-wide committees and to elect the 
officers to the Council of Cities for the upcoming year. 

ANALYSIS 
 
The bylaws of the San Mateo Council of Cities provides that each Council Member is a 
participating member of the Council, that each city shall have one vote, and that the Mayor, or 
an alternate designated by the city, is the voting member for that city.  
 
The proposed motion would confirm the designation of the Mayor as the Town’s voting 
representative to the City Selection Committee and would appoint an alternate as voting 
member in case of the Mayor’s absence. 
 
The proposed motion would also confirm that the voting member has the discretion to vote on 
any matter before the Council of Cities. The voting member may seek and hear input and 
opinions of fellow Council Members but is not bound to vote in accordance with any instructions 
from fellow council members.  
 
Attached to this staff report for discussion are a list of the vacant assignments and positions, 
however currently no one is listed as seeking a position. This is because at the time of this 
agenda posting the City Selection Committee Agenda Packet has not yet been posted. Council 
will be given an updated list of those seeking appointment as soon as the information is 
available.  
 
Council Adopted Values 
 
This recommendation is consistent with the Vision category from the Council’s adopted values 
from the Values-Based Code of Conduct. The Mayor will vote to select committee members and 
board representatives that may have a direct impact on regional issues that are of interest to 
the Town of Colma.  
 
Alternative  
 
The alternative to giving the Mayor discretion to vote at the City Selection Committee meeting 
is to require the Mayor to vote in a manner consistent with the directions of the City Council. 
While this alternative is technically feasible, it is not a workable alternative when there are 
several potential candidates or issues to be voted on. The more candidates or issues there are 
to be voted on, the more complicated and unworkable this alternative becomes. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the proposed motion. 
 



Staff Report re City Selection Committee 2021-2022  Page 3 of 3 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. List of Commission/Committee vacancies 
B. Proxy Designation Form 





City Selection Committee Meeting 
December 17, 2021 

Commission/Committee Vacancies 
Seeking 

Appointment/Reappointment 
Bay Area Air Quality Management 
District (BAAQMD) 
COMPENSATED 

1 seat available, 
representing All Cities. 

1. 

San Mateo County Transportation 
Authority (SMCTA) 
COMPENSATED  

1 seat available, 
representing All Cities. 

1. 

San Mateo County Transportation 
Authority (SMCTA) 
COMPENSATED  

1 seat available, 
representing Northern 
Cities.  

1. 

San Mateo County Council of 
Cities Officers Vacancies 

Seeking 
Appointment/Reappointment 

 Chairperson 1 seat 1. 

 Vice Chairperson 1 seat 1.

Attachment A



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Updated on 12/23/2019 

TO: Sukhmani S. Purewal, Secretary 
City Selection Committee 

SUBJECT: Alternate to the City Selection Committee 

I __________________________, Mayor of the City/Town of _____________________________, 

hereby appoint Councilmember __________________________________________, to  serve as my 

alternate to the City Selection Committee meeting(s). 

In the absence of my appointee, I then appoint: (Please choose one) 

Councilmember __________________________________ to represent me 

Vice-Mayor and each Councilmember in order of seniority 

 (You must check only ONE of the following options) 

My alternate is to serve for the: 

  meeting only 
               Date 

            duration of my term of office as Mayor 

I do not choose to appoint an alternate 

________________________________________   ___________________________ 
Signature of Mayor      Date 

Please return to: 
Sukhmani S. Purewal, Secretary  
City Selection Committee 
Hall of Justice, 400 County Center / CMO 105 
Redwood City, CA 94063 

Or Fax to 650 363-1916 or bring to the meeting 

If you should have any questions please do not hesitate to call me (650) 363-1802 

SAN MATEO COUNTY 
    CITY SELECTION COMMITTEE 

Sue Vaterlaus, Chairperson 
Regina Wallace-Jones, Vice Chairperson 

Sukhmani S. Purewal, City Selection Secretary 
400 County Center 
Redwood City, 94063 
650-363-1802 

Attachment B



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Staff Report re Council Committee Assignments  Page 1 of 1 

STAFF REPORT

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: December 8, 2021 
SUBJECT: City Council Committee Assignments for 2022 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council determine the Council Member Committee Assignments 
for 2022, and make the following motion: 

MOTION APPROVING COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2022 AND GRANTING TO THE 
APPOINTEE DISCRETION IN VOTING ON MATTERS BROUGHT BEFORE THE 
COMMITTEE. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In addition to their primary role as Elected Officials of the Town of Colma, the City Council 
Members serve on a variety of committees that involve the direct participation of its members in 
a host of local and regional issues and organizations. It is the Town’s practice for the Council to 
review and modify committee assignments when a new Mayor is selected.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

This action has no fiscal impact. 

BACKGROUND 

After the Reorganization of the City Council, Council Members review the committee 
assignments of the previous term and consider changes. Attached is a worksheet showing the 
current committee assignments, approved by the City Council on December 9, 2020. 

CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends that the City Council determine the Council Member Committee Assignments 
for 2022, adopt a motion approving Committee Assignments for 2022 and grant to the 
appointee discretion on voting matters brought before the committee. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Council Committee Assignments 2022 Worksheet 

Item #11



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Council Committee Assignments 2022 Worksheet 

Committee Name 2021 
Primary 

2021 
Secondary 

2022 
Primary 

2022 
Secondary 

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) 
(GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEETS TWICE PER YEAR 
APRIL & OCTOBER) 

del Rosario Gonzalez 

California Cities Gaming Authority  
(MEETS 3RD WEDNESDAY, 10:00AM) Fisicaro Gonzalez 

City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG)   
(MEETS 2ND THURSDAY OF THE MONTH, 7:00PM) Goodwin Colvin 

C/CAG Legislative Committee 
(MEETS 2ND THURSDAYS AT 5:00PM) Goodwin 

Colma Creek Flood District   
(MEETS QUARTERLY, 2ND TUESDAY @ 3:00PM IN 
MARCH, JUNE, SEPTEMBER AND DECEMBER AT 
CITY HALL, SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO) 

Fisicaro 

Colma-Daly City Chamber of Commerce – Town 
Representative  
(1-2 MEETINGS A YEAR, AS NEEDED) 

Colvin Fisicaro 

Emergency Services Council 
(MEETS QUARTERLY, 3RD THURSDAY at 5:30PM 
IN JANUARY, APRIL, JUNE & SEPTEMBER, AT THE 
HALL OF JUSTICE, JURY ASSEMBLY ROOM IN 
REDWOOD CITY) 

Colvin del Rosario 

Grand Boulevard Task Force  
(MEETS 3RD WEDNESDAY, 10AM-12 NOON, 
MARCH, JUNE, SEPTEMBER, DECEMBER AT 
EITHER SAM TRANS IN SAN CARLOS OR CITY 
HALL IN SANTA CLARA)   

Goodwin Gonzalez 

Peninsula Clean Energy Board of Directors 
(MEETS 4TH THURSDAY, 6:30PM AT THE COUNTY 
OFFICE OF EDUCATION BUILDING IN REDWOOD 
CITY) 

Gonzalez del Rosario 

Peninsula Traffic Congestion Relief Alliance - 
“Commute.org” Board of Directors  
(6 X A YEAR, THURSDAY MORNINGS)  

Gonzalez Colvin 

San Francisco International Airport Community 
Roundtable 
(MEETS 1ST WEDNESDAY, 7:00PM AT MILLBRAE 
CITY HALL) 

Goodwin del Rosario 

San Mateo County Council of Cities 
(MONTHLY DINNER AND MEETING) Colvin Fisicaro 

Attacment A



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



2040 General Plan Update DEIR  Page 1 of 6 

STAFF REPORT

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Farhad Mortazavi, City Planner  
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: December 8, 2021 
SUBJECT: 2040 General Plan Update Draft Environmental Impact Report Study 

Session 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff seeks comments, questions, impressions and opinions from each Council member 
regarding draft program-level Environmental Impact Report (DEIR) for the Town of Colma 2040 
General Plan Update (GPU). 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this study session is to allow the City Council to review the DEIR and provide 
comments and feedback. A summary of the proposed GPU Impacts is below: 

Impact Area Proposed GPU Impact 
Aesthetics Less than Significant 
Air Quality From Less than Significant to Significant and Unavoidable 
Biological Resources From No Impact to Less than Significant 
Cultural and Tribal Resources Potentially Significant 
Energy Less than Significant 
Geology From No Impact to Less than Significant 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions From Less than Significant to Significant and Unavoidable 
Hazardous Materials From No Impact to Less than Significant 
Hydrology From No Impact to Less than Significant 
Land Use and Planning Less than Significant 
Noise From No Impact to Less than Significant 
Public Services and Recreation Less than Significant 
Transportation Less than Significant 
Utilities Less than Significant 
Wildfire From No Impact to Less than Significant 

Item #12



2040 General Plan Update DEIR   Page 2 of 6 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None. 

BACKGROUND  

Staff and subconsultants have completed the draft GPU and the DEIR for the GPU. The draft 
GPU is a comprehensive update to the 1999 General Plan and the associated EIR analyzes the 
potential environmental impacts of adopting the draft GPU.  
 
Given the large amount of information in the GPU, previous study sessions were held to gain 
City Council and public input on different elements of the draft General Plan. Below is a 
summary of what has been presented to Council to date: 
 

• July 24, 2019 – General Plan City Council Study Session to review Land Use element 
• June 3, 2020 – Notice of Preparation (NOP) released 

o Public comment period through July 13, 2020 
• June 24, 2020 – Scoping meeting  
• December 9, 2020 – City Council Study session to review the GPU Introduction, Land 

Use element and Historic Resources element 
• January 27, 2021 – City Council Study Session to review the Mobility Element 
• February 24, 2021 – City Council Study Session to review Community Health, Safety and 

Services element and Open Space and Conservation element 

The elements have been revised per comments received from the City Council and the review 
by the City Attorney. The compiled draft GPU is attached as Attachment A.  
 
The Town, as project lead agency, determined that the General Plan Update is a “project” 
within the definition of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). For the purposes of 
CEQA, the term “project” refers to the whole of an action, which has the potential for resulting 
in a direct physical change or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the 
environment (CEQA Guidelines Section 15378(a)). CEQA requires the preparation of an EIR 
prior to approving any project that may have a significant impact on the environment. Based on 
the initial analysis of environmental settings, baseline conditions, and comments on the NOP, 
the following issues are analyzed: 

• Aesthetics  
• Air Quality  
• Biological Resources  
• Cultural and Tribal Resources 
• Energy 
• Geological Resources 
• Greenhouse Gas Emissions  
• Hazards & Hazardous Materials  

• Hydrology  
• Land Use  
• Noise  
• Population & Housing 
• Public Services and Recreation  
• Traffic  
• Utilities  
• Wildfire 

 
The Town also determined that the proposed General Plan Update would not have potentially 
significant effects in the following issue areas: 



2040 General Plan Update DEIR   Page 3 of 6 

  
• Agricultural Resources • Mineral Resources 

 
The DEIR was prepared in conjunction with the draft 2040 GPU and is attached as Attachment B. 
 
ANALYSIS  

General P lan Update Environmental Impact Report 

The DEIR was prepared to evaluate the potential environmental impacts associated with the 
implementation of the General Plan. The DEIR also discusses alternatives to the General Plan, 
and proposes mitigation measures that will offset, minimize, or otherwise avoid significant 
environmental impacts. The DEIR has been prepared in accordance with CEQA, California 
Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.; the Guidelines for the California Environmental Quality 
Act (California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Chapter 3). 
 
Impacts and Mitigation 
 
Many of the proposed policies within the GPU would reduce or minimize environmental impacts. 
However, even with the proposed policies, the impact analysis identified impacts in the 
following areas: 
  

• Air Quality - Potential impacts range from less than significant to significant and 
unavoidable 

• Cultural and Tribal Resources - Potential impacts are likely significant  
• Greenhouse Gas Emissions - Potential impacts range from less than significant to 

significant  
 
Mitigation measures were required to mitigate the significant environmental impacts found in 
the analysis. Impact statements with potentially significant and significant environmental 
impacts, as well as their associated mitigation measures, are listed below: 
 
Air Quality 
 
Impact 4.2.2 The project would result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any 

criteria pollutants for which the project region is in non-attainment under 
applicable federal or State ambient air quality standard (Significant and 
Unavoidable). 

 
See Mitigation Measure AQ-1 and AQ-2. 

 
Impact 4.2.3 The project could expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant 

concentrations (Significant and Unavoidable). 
 

See Mitigation Measure AQ-3 and AQ-4. 
 
 
 



2040 General Plan Update DEIR   Page 4 of 6 

Cultural and Tribal Cultural 
 
Impact 4.4.1 Future development to implement the proposed project could potentially cause a 

direct adverse change in the significance of a historical resource as defined in 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5 (Potentially Significant). 

 
See Mitigation Measure CUL-1. 

 
Impact 4.4.2  Future development to implement the proposed General Plan Update could result 

in the potential disturbance of cultural resources (i.e., prehistoric archaeological 
sites, historical archaeological sites, and isolated artifacts and features) within 
the Planning Area (Potentially Significant). 

 
See Mitigation Measure CUL-2. 

 
Impact 4.4.3  Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a 

TCR as defined in Public Resources Code Section §21074 or §5020.1(k) 
(Potentially Significant). 

 
See Mitigation Measure CUL-3. 

 
Impact 4.4.4 Adoption of the proposed General Plan Update could result in the potential 

disturbance of human remains, including those interred outside of cemeteries 
within the Planning Area (Potentially Significant). 

 
See Mitigation Measure CUL-4. 

 
Greenhouse Gas 
 
Impact 4.7.1 Implementation of the proposed project would generate GHG emissions, either 

directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the environment 
(Significant and Unavoidable). 

 
See Mitigation Measure GHG-1. 

 
Alternatives 

In accordance with the provisions of State CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6, the following 
alternatives to the proposed project were evaluated: 

• Alternative 1 – No Project Alternative 
• Alternative 2 – Residential Focused Alternative 

The No Project analysis discusses both the existing conditions at the time the NOP is published 
as well as what would be reasonably expected to occur in the foreseeable future if the project 
were not approved. Under Alternative 1, the town would continue to implement the current 
(1999) General Plan, with no Climate Action Plan (CAP) in effect and with no changes made to 
update any of the Land Use, Open Space, Conservation, Noise, Circulation and Historical 
Resources Elements or the Land Use Map. It assumes that the existing General Plan would 



2040 General Plan Update DEIR   Page 5 of 6 

continue to guide development in the Planning Area, without directly resulting in new 
development. In the case of this alternative, the proposed GPU would not be approved, and the 
existing 1999 Town of Colma General Plan would continue as the primary guiding document for 
growth and development within the town. 

In relation to the proposed GPU, the No Project Alternative:  
• Has different land uses— both in mix and location. 
• Has lower allowable land use densities/intensities. 
• Prohibits residential development in various commercially zoned areas. 
• Does not promote mixed-use development to the same extent as in the Proposed Project. 
• Does not have a Medium Density Residential land use designation. Medium Density land 

uses such as multifamily developments are allowed on properties with a Commercial 
designation. 

• Has reduced alternate modes of transportation. 
The Residential Focused Alternative provides an increased number of residential units and 
maintains future commercial land use development that already exist within the town. This 
alternative assumes that the Town Center opportunity site would be developed to include 20% 
more residential units, resulting in 48 additional units. This alternative also assumes that more 
residential development could occur elsewhere on El Camino Real, closer to Colma BART 
station. 

The Residential Focused Alternative and the proposed GPU both emphasize development within 
the El Camino Real Corridor. Both seek to provide new community amenities, improved local 
and regional connectivity, as well as enhanced economic activities. Given the large number of 
jobs in comparison to the town’s population, this alternative could potentially lower the total 
vehicle miles traveled by providing housing to those that work in the area.  

The Residential Focused Alternative and the proposed GPU are based on similar assumptions of 
buildout of opportunity sites and sites designated with a commercial overlay within the Planning 
Area. Opportunity sites consist of sites that are currently vacant or underutilized. What 
distinguishes the Residential Focused Alternative is its revision of land use density to promote 
more residential units in the potential mixed-use environment around the town center. 

Based on a comparison of the alternatives’ overall environmental impacts and their compatibility 
with proposed project, the No Project Alternative would be the environmentally superior 
alternative or have the least environmental impact. This conclusion is based on the amount and 
intensity of overall development which under the No Project Alternative would have less 
environmental impact than the Residential Focused Alternative, with most environmental 
impacts being correlated with development intensity and quantity.  

General P lan Update Next Steps 

Next steps with general time frames are outlined below. These timeframes are subject to 
change depending on review times and approval dates. 
  

• Draft GPU and GPU EIR Study Session – Present  
• EIR Preparation for Public Review – Late November to Mid-December 
• EIR Public Review – Mid December to Late January 



2040 General Plan Update DEIR   Page 6 of 6 

• EIR Revisions and Responses to Comments – Early February 
• Attorney Review – Early February to Mid/Late February 
• Final Revisions – Late February to Early March 
• Prepare Mitigation and Monitoring Reporting Program & Statement of Overriding 

Considerations – Early March 
• Certification of Final EIR – Mid March 
• Notice of Determination and Filing with US Fish & Wildlife Services – Mid/Late March 

 
Council Adopted Values 

 
Considering future land use is consistent with the Council value of responsibility and vision 
because it proactively considers the General Plan and policies that will shape the future of 
community. 

 
Sustainability Impact 

 
The review of the compiled draft GPU and draft EIR will not have a sustainability impact. 
 
Alternatives 

None. 

CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends that the City Council listen to the presentation by Staff, ask questions and 
provide feedback to staff regarding the draft GPU and draft EIR.  

ATTACHMENTS 
 

A. Draft 2040 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
B. Draft Program-level Environmental Impact Report for the 2040 Town of Colma General 

Plan Update 



Attachment A



 

 i 

 

 

 

Acknowledgements 

Town of Colma 

City Council 
 
 

 

 
Diana Colvin 
Helen Fisicaro  
Raquel Gonzalez 
Joanne F. del Rosario 
John Irish Goodwin 
  

City Staff 
 

 Brian Dossey, City Manager 
  

Consultants 
 

 CSG Consultants 
CSDA Design Group 
Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 
PlaceWorks 
  

Copies of this General Plan can be obtained by contacting the 
Town of Colma Planning Department  

1198 El Camino Real 
Colma, Ca 94014 
(650) 997-8300 

(650) 997-8308, Fax 
  



 
 
 

 ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Introduction, Vision and Legacy 

Introduction ................................................................................................................... I-1 
Overall Plan Concept ..................................................................................................... I-11 
General Plan Organization ............................................................................................. I-14 
The General Plan Process .............................................................................................. I-16 
General Plan Legacy ...................................................................................................... I-18 

Land Use Element 
Purpose ....................................................................................................................... LU-1 
Existing Land Use ........................................................................................................ LU-3 
Land Use Density/Intensity ........................................................................................... LU-6 
Land Use Designations ................................................................................................. LU-8 
Equity and Civic Engagement ...................................................................................... LU-17 
Land Use Public Benefits Program ............................................................................... LU-19 
Planning Areas ........................................................................................................... LU-22 
Implementation ......................................................................................................... LU-45 

Mobility Element 
Purpose ......................................................................................................................... M-1 
Streets and Highways..................................................................................................... M-3 
Roadway Performance ................................................................................................. M-10 
Public Transportation ................................................................................................... M-14 
Active Transportation ................................................................................................... M-19 
Scenic Corridors ........................................................................................................... M-25 
Transportation Demand Management ............................................................................ M-28 
Parking........................................................................................................................ M-29 
Implementation ........................................................................................................... M-30 

Housing Element 
Introduction .................................................................................................................. H-1 
Population, Housing and Employment Trends .................................................................. H-7 
Housing San Mateo County’s Workforce .......................................................................... H-9 
Household Trends and Characteristics ........................................................................... H-16 
Housing Characteristics ................................................................................................ H-22 
Below Market Rate Housing Trends and Characteristics .................................................. H-26 
Ability to Meet Housing Needs ...................................................................................... H-37 



 
 
 

 iii 

Governmental Constraints ............................................................................................ H-51 
Community Health, Safety and Services Element 

Purpose ....................................................................................................................... CS-1 
Community Health ....................................................................................................... CS-3 
Geologic and Seismic Hazards ....................................................................................... CS-6 
Flood Hazards ............................................................................................................ CS-10 
Fire Prevention and Protection Services and Emergency Medical Response .................... CS-14 
Fire Hazards .............................................................................................................. CS-16 
Hazardous Materials ................................................................................................... CS-20 
Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Response ......................................................... CS-23 
Law Enforcement ....................................................................................................... CS-28 
Airport Safety ............................................................................................................ CS-30 
Noise ........................................................................................................................ CS-33 
Implementation ......................................................................................................... CS-40 

Open Space and Conservation Element 
Purpose ..................................................................................................................... OSC-1 
Open Space and Parks ............................................................................................... OSC-4 
Conservation ........................................................................................................... OSC-11 
Implementation ....................................................................................................... OSC-25 

Historical Resources Element 
Introduction ................................................................................................................ HR-1 
Past Preservation Efforts .............................................................................................. HR-2 
Context Statement ....................................................................................................... HR-3 
Benefits of Preservation .............................................................................................. HR-11 
Challenges and Obstacles ........................................................................................... HR-13 
Incentives for Preservation ......................................................................................... HR-14 
Goals and Policies ...................................................................................................... HR-17 
Implementation ......................................................................................................... HR-19 
Appendix A – Definitions ............................................................................................ HR-21 
Appendix B – Historic Resource Inventory ................................................................... HR-24 

 

 



Introduction, 
Vision and Legacy 



 

  
 I-1 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 
The Town of Colma 2040 General Plan (“Town”; “GP”; “GP Update”) articulates the shared 
long-term community vision for preservation, enhancement and improvement of the Town. It is 
a long-range plan that directs decision making and establishes rules and standards for town 
improvements and new development within the corporate boundaries of the Town.1 The GP 
Update reflects the community’s vision for the future and is intended to provide direction 

through the year 2040. This document therefore updates the current General Plan document 
and is based on a set of guiding principles that protect the Town’s unique history and character.  

A General Plan serves as the jurisdiction’s “constitution” or “blueprint” for future decisions 

concerning a variety of issues including land use, health and safety, and resource conservation. 
All specific plans, subdivisions, public works projects, and zoning decisions must be consistent 
with the local jurisdiction’s General Plan. California State Law requires that every city adopt a 

General Plan “for the physical development of the town and any land outside its boundaries that 
bears relation to its planning” (California Government Code Section §65300).  

While the General Plan can cover a variety of topics based on a community’s specific needs, 

each one is required by State Law to address: Land Use, Circulation/Transportation (Mobility), 
Housing, Conservation, Open Space, Noise and Safety.  

These elements establish policy direction relating to: 

 
1 The Town of Colma is coterminous with its Sphere of Influence (SOI). 



 

  
 I-2 

▪ The use and development of all remaining land within the Town of Colma 
▪ The types and provision of housing growth in the community 
▪ The protection and continued use of cemetery uses 
▪ The growth of existing businesses as well as the attraction of new commercial ventures 
▪ The provision of public safety services and protection against natural and human caused 

hazards (including noise) 

The Town of Colma has chosen to prepare five elements for the 2040 General Plan update. 
Titles include: Land Use, Open Space and Conservation, Community Services and Safety, and 
Mobility Elements. The existing Housing Element is not being currently updated since the Town 
is awaiting direction on its Regional Housing Numbers Allocation (RHNA) allocation but is 
included in this document. In addition, the Town has chosen to prepare a Historic Resources 
Element to provide an information base of the Town’s historic resources and to provide policy 
direction for their preservation.   

COMMUNITY OVERVIEW 
 
Setting and History 

Known as the “City of Souls”, the Town of Colma is the smallest city in San Mateo County. The 
Town of Colma is a unique greenbelt community with attractive cemeteries and agricultural 
fields surrounding a regionally oriented commercial core. The Town is located approximately 
two miles south of the City of San Francisco on the San Francisco Peninsula, midway between 
the San Francisco Bay and the Pacific Ocean. The Town of Colma is bounded on the north and 
west by the City of Daly City, on the south by the City of South San Francisco, and on the east 
by San Bruno Mountain State and San Mateo County Park (see Figure I-1: Regional Location 
Map). San Bruno Mountain provides the natural visual backdrop to the Town from the 
surrounding areas. Interstate State Highway 280 parallels the Town’s western boundary, and 

State Highway 82 (El Camino Real/Mission Street) runs through the geographic center of the 
Town (see Figure I-2: Project Location Map)  

By the early 1900s, the Town of Colma was established as a community of homes, small 
businesses, churches, and thirteen cemeteries, and its farms and flower crops. An expanse of 
450 acres located between the Town and the City of Daly City was used exclusively for raising 
violets that were sold in flower stands as far away as Missouri and Kansas. All of the land 
between the City of San Francisco border and the City of South San Francisco border, the 
Pacific Ocean and the San Bruno Mountain was known as (unincorporated) Colma until 1911, 
when the north end of San Mateo County became the City of Daly City.2  

In order to avoid relocating again, cemetery owners got together and incorporated the town on 
August 5, 1924. Originally known as Lawndale, the name was changed to the Town of Colma 

 
2 Town of Colma, California. 2020. < https://www.colma.ca.gov/colma-history/> Accessed April 29, 2020. 

https://www.colma.ca.gov/colma-history/


 

  
 

I-3 

on November 24, 19413.  By 1960, close to 500 residents called the Town of Colma their home.4 
In the early 1970’s and early 1980’s the Town boundaries were expanded by annexing 

unincorporated portions of the Sterling Park subdivision located northeast of the intersection of 
F Street and El Camino Real. According to the corrected 2010 Census, the Town’s population 

was estimated at 1,454. Currently, among its 1,504 residents, the Town’s population is 

approximately 51% white, 26% Asian American, and 13% other minorities.  

 
3 Colma, California: The City of the Dead by Richard Stockton 
4 Town of Colma, California. 2020. < https://www.colma.ca.gov/demographics/> Accessed April 29, 2020. 

https://www.colma.ca.gov/demographics/


 

  
 

I-4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 

I-5 

 



 

 
I-6 

Within the Town’s boundary, the ground elevation ranges from about 100 feet to about 500 
feet above Mean Sea Level. The Town includes approximately 1.89 square miles of a wide 
valley associated with Colma Creek. The Town is 
comprised of 17 cemeteries, which is 
approximately 76% of the Town’s land area.5 Most 
of the land east of El Camino Real is committed to 
cemetery use or agricultural fields. These uses lead 
up to the foot of San Bruno Mountain and impart a 
rural atmosphere. Land west of El Camino Real is 
oriented more to commercial uses although the 
Town’s regionally oriented commercial core is bracketed on the north and south by cemeteries. 

Identity and Culture 

The Town of Colma is different from other Bay Area cities because of its large expanses of open 
space created by cemeteries and land held by cemeteries but currently in agricultural use. The 
Town is protected on the east from development by San Bruno Mountain Park. Junipero Serra 
Boulevard and Junipero Serra Freeway (Highway 280) provides a clear boundary to the town. 
The 2040 General Plan policies promote the retention of the greenbelt theme as well as creating 
“key development sites” which provide for visual punctuation and to provide a greater sense of 

place within the town.  In addition, the plan policies promote sustainable development and to 
link potential new development to the town’s Economic Development Plan.   

The Town is also different from other Bay Area cities because of the regional orientation of its 
commercial core area. To the extent that it is practical the 2040 General Plan focuses on 
Serramonte Boulevard as the regional commercial spine with retail activities concentrated 
between Junipero Serra Boulevard and El Camino Real. 

Since the previous General Plan update in 1999, Lucky Chances card room was constructed and 
is currently operational.  Lucky Chances is located on the southwest corner of Serramonte and 
Hillside Boulevards. 

The majority of residential uses are located in the small residential neighborhood of Sterling 
Park, with other residential uses on Mission Road and other sites scattered through the Town. 
Given the small size of the Town, there are no educational facilities, waste facilities, Timberland 
Preserve Zone lands, or Military lands. Table I-1: Land Use Distribution, below indicates the 
share of total land resources currently designated in each major land use category.6  
 

 
5 Colma California, Facts for Kids. 2020. < https://kids.kiddle.co/Colma,_California> Accessed May 4, 2020. 
6  Town of Colma November 2020. Town of Colma General Plan: Land Use Element. Colma, California. 

https://kids.kiddle.co/Colma,_California


 

 
I-7 

The Town of Colma has a large commercial core, and as indicated in Table I-1: Land Use 
Distribution, the retail industry dominates the Town’s job sectors7. Serramonte Boulevard serves 
as the regional commercial spine with retail activities concentrated between Junipero Serra 
Boulevard and El Camino Real. The Town has encouraged regional commercial facilities 
centering on Serramonte Boulevard, Collins Avenue, Junipero Serra Boulevard and Colma 
Boulevard.  There is a significant concentration of automobile and truck dealerships located 
along the Serramonte Auto Sales District in Colma and there are two large shopping centers 
(Serra Center and 280 Metro Mall) offering a total of approximately 450,000 square feet of retail 
space. These facilities provide employment opportunities and sales tax revenue benefiting the 
Town. 
 
Table I-1: Land Use Distribution 

Land Use Percentage of Total Land Area in 
Town of Colma 

Cemetery/Agriculture 76% 

Commercial 14% 

Public 1% 

Residential 2% 

Roads 7% 

Total 100% 
 
Residents and business owners/operators were surveyed in 2014 on the most important 
attributes of Colma that they would want to see preserved, enhanced, and/or sustained into the 
future.  The top responses, listed in rank order were: 
 

• Small-town 
• Quiet 
• Shopping 
• Sense of community 
• Friendly people 
• Location 
• Safety 
• Sterling Park neighborhood 
• Helpful city hall 

• BART 
• Clean & well maintained 
• Benefits to residents 
• Peaceful 
• Recreation programs 
• Police Dept 
• Quaint 
• Subsidized home utilities 

 
 

 
7 Town of Colma. January 20, 2020. Existing Conditions Report: Demographics and Economic Conditions. Colma, 

California. 



 

 I-8 

Values 

The Colma City Council places significant emphasis on the values they share and which they 
believe reflect the Colma community.  The City Council Value-Based Code of Conduct guides the 
policy-making decisions process. This General Plan is supported by these values, some of which 
directly underpin the vision and themes: 

Fairness 

• Meaningful public involvement 
• Decisions based on the merits of the issue 

Honesty and Integrity 

• Decisions in the public’s best interest 
• Open, honest and transparent communications 

Responsibility 

• Strong relationships and collaboration within the community 
• Decisions driven by prudent consideration of long-term financial needs of the Town 

Vision 

• Intelligent and thoughtful innovation drive the Town’s policies and services forward 
• Future needs are anticipated to adapt and flex to solutions for unforeseen circumstances 
• Consideration always given to broad regional and statewide implications of the Town’s 

decisions 
• Change can be stressful but is a necessary part of the innovative process 

Respect 

• Civility prevails, even when there are disagreements 
• Ideas and opinions are valued and shared freely before decisions are made 
• Trust fosters an inclusive, supportive and open environment 

TOWN OF COLMA GENERAL PLAN THEMES AND VISION 
 
The Town of Colma will remain steadfast to its values of fairness, honesty & integrity, 
responsibility, vision, and respect to guide the adoption and implementation of this 2040 
General Plan.  Colma will preserve and protect its quiet, small-town qualities while embracing 
thoughtful change in designated areas to sustain its safe and friendly appeal as a prosperous 
regional shopping and visitor destination.  The Town will continue to leverage its Bay Area 
location to draw new businesses and high-quality development while enhancing itssense of 
community and ensuring beneficial services to its citizens and the visiting public. 



 

 I-9 

The vision for 2040 is grounded in the community’s highest priorities for continued and new 
land uses: 

• Preserve existing neighborhoods 
• Historic preservation 
• Sustainability 
• Additional park space and public multi-use plaza 
• Walkable town center 
• More restaurants and stores 
• Entertainment opportunities 

 
The vision is further articulated in the Land Use Element and its companion planning studies 
and documents which reflect a progressive approach to sustainable new development as 
supported by Colma’s residents and business community. 
 
The following themes are intended to give direction and focus to the official policies and action 
programs contained in the individual General Plan elements. Overall, the themes are aimed at 
sustaining essential economic, environmental and social attributes of the Town while allowing 
new development that will enhance the community.   
 
 

Preservation and Enhancement: Preserve the uniqueness of the Town of Colma as 
a town of cemeteries, historical significance and regional commerce. Preserve and 
enhance existing residential neighborhoods and public services 

Economic Development and Fiscal Sustainability: Encourage businesses and 
activities that will allow the Town to maintain a high standard of public services and 
improvements into the future.  

Resiliency. Promote actions that will increase the Town’s resiliency in the face of 

environmental changes and promote sustainability  

ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT OF THE PLAN 
The General Plan is adopted and amended by City Council Resolution. Amendments to any one 
element is limited to four times each year.  Each amendment may make an unlimited number of 
changes to the Plan.  Amendments must not be made capriciously but only when a change is in 
the best interest of the community at large and when public health, safety and welfare is not 
endangered.  Because the requirement for internal consistency is never relaxed, particular care 
must be taken to ensure that amendments maintain consistency with text and diagrams in all 
Plan elements. 

RELATIONSHIP OF THE TOWN’S GENERAL PLAN TO ZONING  
The General Plan is the principal policy document for Town Council reference and guidance on 
development matters. The location and overall orientation of land uses are designated in the 
General Plan. The Land Use Element is the principal reference for the distribution and intensity 



 

 I-10 

of present and planned future use of all lands within the Town of Colma.  The Zoning Code is 
the principal guide to implementation of the various land use goals and policies. It designates 
specific land use and sets forth appropriate limitations such as building heights, floor area, land 
coverage, off-street parking and setbacks from buildings to property lines. Zoning designations 
must be consistent with the General Plan. 

RELATIONSHIP OF THE TOWN’S GENERAL PLAN TO RELATED PLANS 
AND DOCUMENTS  
The General Plan is consistent with and is informed by the following Plans and Documents: 

• 2012 Economic Study 
• 2014 Urban Design Study 
• Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
• Serramonte Boulevard and Collins Avenue Streetscape Master Plan 
• El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 
• City Council Value-Based Code of Conduct 

 

  



 

 I-11 

OVERALL PLAN CONCEPT 
The Plan concept is to strengthen the Town’s identity. Emphasis is placed on the important 

greenbelt theme of Colma, on enhancing its residential environment and on promoting its 
important status as a regional center for cemeteries and commerce. 

PLANNING AREA IDENTIFICATION AND CHANGE AREAS 
Several distinct Planning Areas are defined primarily by the major circulation routes through the 
Town of Colma. These Planning Areas, shown on the Figure I-3: Town of Colma Planning Areas, 
are defined as: 

Commercial Core (Change Area) 

The Commercial Core Planning Area consists of the 
majority of the Town’s commercial area. It includes the 

280 Metro Center, Serra Center, Vivana Fair, a large 
portion of Auto Row, and auto and light industrial related 
businesses on Collins Avenue. The commercial core 
primarily consists of large floor plate commercial spaces 
and showrooms, in addition to smaller in-line tenant 
spaces in the shopping centers. The Planning Area is 
well connected by major roadways with El Camino Real 
on the East, Junipero Serra Boulevard and Highway 280 
on the west, and Serramonte Boulevard, Collins Avenue, 
and Colma Boulevard each providing east/west 
connections between El Camino Real and Junipero Serra 
Boulevard.  The Commercial Core is considered a 
“Change Area” where thoughtful development is desired. 

El Camino Real Corridor (Change Area) 

The El Camino Real Corridor Planning Area centers on the 
intersection of El Camino Real and Serramonte Boulevard 
and extends from the northern Town boundary to the 
southern Town boundary along El Camino Real. The 
Planning Area includes sites on both sides of El Camino 
Real, including the properties near the BART station and 
the east side of the El Camino Real between the 
intersection of Mission Road and the City of South San 
Francisco boarder. In concert with other plans, the El 
Camino Real is considered a “Change Area” where thoughtful, transit-oriented development is 
desired. 



 

 I-12 

Mission Road 

Extending south from the junction of Mission Road and 
El Camino Real, this Planning Area is oriented primarily 
to service commercial facilities with the potential for 
commercial and residential infill. It includes the 63-unit 
Verano residential community at the southernmost end 
and the 66-unit veteran’s housing development at the 

northernmost end. Mission Road has limited change 
potential due to smaller lots and well-established 
businesses. 
 
Hillside Boulevard  
 

The Hillside Boulevard Planning Area includes Hillside Boulevard and the abutting properties 
from the northern to southern Town boundary. The majority of the abutting properties are 
located on the east side of Hillside Boulevard but key sites, including the Town’s Community 

Center and the Lucky Chances Cardroom are included in this Planning Area. This area may see 
change during the life of the General Plan to allow for new businesses development.  

Sterling Park 

The Sterling Park Planning Area contains the Town of Colma’s primary residential district.  The 
neighborhood has one vacant single-family lot and one vacant multi-family lot.  Sterling Park is 
built out and is not considered a change area.  

 



 
 
 

  
 I-13 



 

  
 I-14 

GENERAL PLAN ORGANIZATION 
The organization of this General Plan is summarized in Table I-2: General Plan Cross Reference 
Guide.  The table illustrates the 2040 General Plan policies relating to its Elements.  

Table I-2: General Plan Cross-Reference Guide  

Required General 
Plan Element 

State-
Mandated? Major Issues Addressed 

Cross-
Reference 

Section 

Land Use Yes 
Distribution of land uses, standards 
for population density, 
intergovernmental relations 

Land Use 

Circulation 
Yes, 
(Required 
Transportation 
Element) 

Street Classifications, transit 
service, pedestrian and bicyclist 
needs, truck routes 

Mobility 

Housing Yes 

Identification of housing needs, 
conservation of housing and low 
and very low income households, 
identification of locations for 
potential housing expansion 

Housing 

Open Space and 
Conservation 

Yes (combines 
two required 
elements) 

Open space identification, air 
quality, water quality, public 
recreation needs, sustainability 

Open Space / 
Conservation 

Noise Yes Identification of noise sources, 
noise attenuation and reduction 

Community 
Services and 
Safety 

Safety Yes Emergency preparedness, safety 
services 

Community 
Services and 
Safety 

Historic Resources No Identification of historic resources, 
preservation 

Historic 
Resources 

 

Within each Element, there are separate sections which include topical discussions of an aspect 
of the Element.  For example, there is a section titled “Land Use Designations” in the Land Use 

Element. Following the discussion, there are Goals and Policies that the Town will use to guide 
future land use decisions and to guide policy and capital decisions for the next 20 years.  The 
goals in the General Plan articulate a desired end state or outcome. They are purposefully 
broad, since there may be many ways and aspects to achieve the goal.  A policy is a clear 
statement that guides a specific course of action to achieve the goal.  The following is an 
example of a goal and policy taken from the Land Use Element: 



 

  
 I-15 

LU-1-1:  General Plan Land Use Diagram. Maintain and implement a Land Use Diagram 
for purposes of describing the types of allowed land uses by geographic location and 
the density and/or intensity of allowed uses within each designation.  

Goals are placed under the element that they support and are organized by an acronym for the 
element, in this case, “LU.” Following the acronym is a sequential number for the goal.  In the 
example above, the policy number 1-1 denotes that this is the first policy supporting goal LU-1.   

Equally important are implementation programs which can be found at the end of each 
element. These programs identify the specific steps to be taken by the Town to implement the 
policies.  They also identify a timeframe and Town departments which are responsible for 
implementing the program.  A program may relate to or implement more than one policy.  
Below is an example of an implementation program as shown in the format found in the 
General Plan: 

Land Use Implementation 
Programs 2021-2030 2031-2040 Annual Ongoing 

LU-IP1: The Town shall 
review the Zoning Ordinance 
to ensure that standards and 
regulations reinforce quality 
design, are clear and are 
easily monitored. 

 
 
X 

  
 
 
X 

Implements Policies: LU-1-2, LU-1-5 
Responsible Dept.: Planning 

 

  



 

  
 I-16 

THE GENERAL PLAN PROCESS 
The Town of Colma’s General Plan is intended to be used by its community residents and 
businesses in all future development projects (residential or commercial). It is internally 
consistent and community issues are addressed through policies and program items. The 
General Plan policies were formulated with some flexibility in their implementation so that they 
are balanced against each other, as applicable.  

 

In preparing this General Plan Update, the Town followed these steps: 
• Conducted a town-wide survey; 
• Held an initial community meeting; 
• Prepared an Existing Conditions Report; 
• Prepared technical analysis; 
• Developed draft goals, policies and action items;  
• Prepared the Draft General Plan; 
• Presented these draft goals and policies to the      

Town’s residents and businesses for their input; 
• Prepared the Implementation Plan; 
• Prepared the Draft Environmental Impact Report     

(EIR) to analyze changes proposed in the General     
Plan Update; 

• Conducted public hearings to adopt the General 
Plan  and certify the EIR 

 
 
As required by State law, the Town’s General Plan is based upon existing conditions and 
development trends in the community. It is therefore responsive to the needs and issues 
identified in an analysis of existing conditions. Background Reports were prepared for each of 
the Elements. In addition, technical studies such as traffic impacts, noise, transportation, air 
quality, green-house gases, and noise. The goals, policies, programs, as well a implementation 
measures were prepared based on the land use maps, consistency with current legislation 
community needs, and community values. The Draft General Plan was first made available for 
public review and comments in May of 2021. All comments were incorporated into the revised 
Draft GPU and was circulated for public review along with the Environmental Impact Report on 
*****. 
 
A Draft EIR was prepared in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
and public as well as agency comments were requested at the Notice of Preparation (NOP) 
meeting on June 24, 2020.  Between **** and ***, the Draft EIR was circulated for a 45-day 
public review and comment. Responses to comments received were prepared and incorporated 
into the Final EIR, which was then certified by *** on ***. 
 
Once adopted, implementation of the Town’s updated General Plan will begin in accordance 
with its Implementation Plan. Implementation of the General Plan will be monitored and 
reported on an annual basis. The Implementation Plan is a set of the principal actions and 



 

  
 I-17 

procedures necessary to achieve the goals and policies set forth in the General Plan. Though 
the Implementation Plan is directly correlated, and cross referenced to the policies in the 
General Plan, this is a “living” document that may be modified and updated as necessary 
without the necessity of a General Plan amendment.  

  



 

  
 I-18 

GENERAL PLAN LEGACY 
Colma’s 1999 General Plan, which replaced the Town’s 1987 General Plan, positioned the Town 

for much of the positive change and improvement that has occurred over the past twenty 
years.   

The 1999 General Plan included policies that led to public and private improvements that will 
benefit the Town for years to come. Some of the many policies that were implemented include: 

 
• Preserving the El Camino Real Corridor to be respectful of cemeteries by limiting uses to 

offices or cemetery related uses with minimal signage. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• The identification of the location of Town Gateway Elements, which have been mostly 
installed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 I-19 

• Allowing only single-family residential infill development to prevent overcrowding and 
increased parking demand.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• The phasing out of commercial use of the property on Hoffman Street, which led to the 
building of attractive townhomes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• The requirement that BART be placed underground so as not to disrupt the Town’s 

greenbelt theme and to preserve peace and privacy in the Town’s cemeteries.  

 

• Requiring that the utilities for all new development be placed underground.  As a result 
of this policy, visual clutter has been reduced.  

 



 

  
 I-20 

• The encouraged acquisition of vacant or underutilized properties for civic purposes.  This 
policy led to the creation of Sterling Park, the Community Center, the Historical Museum, 
and the purchase of the Corporation Yard.  

 

• The policy directive to expand and improve Police Department services which led to the 
acquisition of property and the construction of a new police station.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 I-21 

 

 

• The development of sidewalks and public 
improvements.  This policy led to the 
improvement of Junipero Serra Boulevard, 
with sidewalks, the installation of sidewalk on 
the east side of Hillside Boulevard and the 
installation of sidewalk along sections of El 
Camino Real. 

 

 

 

 

 

• The extension of Hickey Boulevard.  The Town was successful in implementing Lawndale 
Boulevard, which connects Mission Road to Hillside Boulevard.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  
 I-22 

• The addition of bikeways. The Town successfully added bikeways and improvements to 
Junipero Serra Boulevard, Mission Road and Hillside Boulevard. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Amendments to the Town’s noise ordinances. As a result of policies in the Noise Element 

of the General Plan, the City Council has made amendments to the construction noise 
ordinance and added a noise and unruly gathering ordinance. Additional noise provisions 
were adopted for gardening equipment operation hours.  

Colma property owners, businesses, residents, and visitors should be proud of these 
accomplishments.  The Town’s City Council and decision makers successfully implemented and 

put resources behind projects identified in the General Plan to make them a reality. The 2040 
General Plan builds on this legacy with polices that make Colma an even better place to live, 
work, recreate and shop. 

 

 



Land Use Element 



 
 
 

 
 LU-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PURPOSE 
The Land Use Element for the Town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update describes existing 
and planned land uses in the town of Colma (the town) and present the policy decisions that 
will guide future growth and development in the town. The Land Use Element consists of land 
use classifications, policies and a land use map, that together represent the planning values and 
ideals of the community. This Element also designates the general distribution and intensity of 
present and future land uses within the Town’s jurisdiction.  

The town’s urban form, design, character, and “sense of place” are addressed in the Land Use 

Element using various maps, diagrams, and illustrations to articulate a “form based” vision that 

focuses on relationships between Colma’s buildings, open spaces, and thoroughfares. The Land 
Use Element is not designed to discourage or promote development, but rather describes the 
manner in which development should be managed, since it will have a major impact on the 
town’s form and character over the next 20 years. This Element will play a significant role in 
answering the question, “What will Colma look like in 2040?”. 

RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER GENERAL PLAN ELEMENTS 
The Land Use Element is influenced by, and related to, the other General Plan elements and 
thus brings consistency from the proposals of each individual element into a town-wide plan 
that will support the future development. While each land use type has certain basic land area 
requirements and service needs, the distribution of uses is significantly influenced by circulation 



  
 
 

  
 LU-2 

and access (Mobility Element), topographic features, noise factors, commercial growth 
(Community Safety and Services Element), existing cemetery lands (Historic Resources 
Element), the need for additional housing (Housing Element), and the community’s desire for 

open space and attractive surroundings (Open Space and Conservation Element). Since the 
town of Colma also contains many historic resources, the Land Use Element is also closely tied 
to the Historic Resources Element. The Plan is intended to provide guidance from 2020 through 
2040 and should be re-evaluated annually to ensure that the policies, objectives, and programs 
remain relevant. 

LAND USE CONCEPTS 
The following land use concepts and terms are used in the General Plan: 

Compatibility 

There are inherent differences among typical land use types which help determine the most 
compatible location for each type. The locational designations set forth in the Town of Colma’s 

Land Use Element are meant to provide for compatibility between adjacent uses and the 
features of the setting, such as topography, geologic condition, and noise level. 

Use of Buffer 

A buffer to provide separation between land uses is recommended when it is necessary or 
desirable to place diverse land use types near each other, such as residential uses adjacent to 
manufacturing uses, or commercial uses adjacent to a cemetery. This usually consists of fencing 
and planting but may include a shift in building orientation to minimize conflicts that could 
result from such factors as noise, lighting, trespassing, building aesthetics, large signage, 
traffic, and parking. 

Land Use and Flood Hazards 

The land use element is required to identify and annually review areas that are subject to 
flooding identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) or Department of 
Water Resources. The Safety Element contains a discussion on flood hazards and contains a 
Flood Hazard Map. It should be noted that the town of Colma does not contain any FEMA 
designated flood zones. 

  



 
 
 

 LU-3 

EXISTING LAND USE 
According to State law, a jurisdiction’s General Plan must establish standards of population 
density and building intensity for each of its land use classification. Approximately 1.91 square 
miles are contained within the town of Colma’s boundaries. Of this land area, approximately 
72% is presently committed to cemetery and agricultural land uses. This dominant land use 
type gives Colma its greenbelt theme. The Town is primarily viewed by its residents as a 
community of cemeteries, although the town has a significant commercial core that primarily 
serves a regional market. The majority of residential uses are located in the small residential 
neighborhood of Sterling Park, with other residential uses on Mission Road and other sites 
scattered through town. Given the small size of the Town, there are no educational facilities, 
waste facilities, timberland preserve zone lands, or military lands. Furthermore, there are no 
designated flight paths or military air space areas within the town. Table LU-1 below indicates 
the share of total land resources currently designated in each major land use category. The 
Land Use Map (Figure LU-3) illustrates the locations of these uses. 

Table LU-1: Existing Land Use Designations 

Existing Land Use Acreage Percent of 
Total 

Cemetery 922.13 75.27% 
Commercial1 169.47 13.83% 
Executive Administrative 14.64 1.20% 
Public/Quasi-Public/Utility2 8.56 0.70% 
Residential 20.1 1.64% 
Roadway 90.2 7.36% 
Total 1225.1 100.00% 
1 Includes Industrial Uses 
2 Includes Town-owned Parks and Open Space  
Source: Town of Colma Planning Department GIS Analysis 
– August 2020 

 

RESIDENTIAL LAND USE 
Only 2% of the area within the town boundary is currently committed to residential land use.  
This is primarily concentrated in the Sterling Park Planning Area, and at the south end of the 
town of Colma, along Mission Road.  



  
 
 

  
 LU-4 

Single-family residential housing exists in a 
variety of unit sizes and forms in the town. 
Single family homes and a small number of 
duplexes, three, and four-unit structures 
comprise the predominant form of 
residential development. Residential 
structures have a median age of about 70 
years. The prevailing standards for lot size 
and housing unit size are 3,300 square feet 
and 1,000-2,500 square feet, respectively. 
See the Housing Element for more details 
on the town’s existing housing stock.  

COMMERCIAL LAND USE 
Approximately 14% of the land area within the town limits is committed to commercial land 
use, which includes two regional shopping centers, “Auto Row,” Lucky Chances Casino, and a 
small convenience center with primarily food and beverage uses.  

The two regional shopping centers include the Serra Center 
located at the corner of Serramonte Boulevard and Junipero 
Serra Boulevard, and the 280 Metro Center located at the 
corner of Colma Boulevard and Junipero Serra Boulevard. A 
food/beverage convenience center, Vivana Fair, is located at 
the corner of Serramonte Boulevard and Junipero Serra 
Boulevard. Auto Row includes a majority of properties fronting 
Serramonte Boulevard between Hillside Boulevard and 
Junipero Serra Boulevard. 

In addition to retail commercial uses, the town of Colma has 
service commercial uses including auto servicing, light 
manufacturing, warehousing, contractors’ supplies, and other 

non-retail uses, primarily located on Collins Avenue and 
Mission Road. 

Lucky Chances Casino, Colma’s largest employer, is located on Hillside Boulevard at its 
intersection with Serramonte Boulevard.  The casino is a regional commercial entertainment 
draw to the Town of Colma.  

CEMETERY, AGRICULTURAL AND OPEN SPACE LAND USES 
The most extensive existing and established land uses in the town are cemeteries and 
associated uses including monument shops and florists. Cemetery, agriculture and open space 



 
 
 

 LU-5 

uses make up approximately 75% of the land area in town. The aesthetic component of the 
community’s character is largely a by-product of these land uses. 

Large properties throughout the town are 
rich in aesthetic amenities. Well-groomed 
lawns, rolling hills, manicured landscaping 
and natural vegetation, quiet scenic areas 
for meditation, and tranquil paths for 
strolling are common and essential features 
of the town of Colma’s cemetery uses.  

Some future high intensity land uses could 
present conflicts with this established land 
use. Visual effects of future development 
and noise impacts upon the town’s 
cemeteries are two factors which will require consideration for any future proposed 
development applications. Despite this constraint to properties adjacent to, or within cemetery 
land, there are areas in the town which are sufficiently removed or buffered from the 
cemeteries to allow for the development of a variety of higher intensity land uses. 

LAND USE FOR CIRCULATION 
The amount of land used for freeways, local roads, and railroads in most communities is 
significant. The town, however, has a relatively small amount of land committed to circulation 
routes because of the large tracts of land held by the various cemeteries. At the present time 
approximately 7% of the total land area is devoted to public roads. The road system is 
discussed in detail in the Mobility Element. 

  



  
 
 

  
 LU-6 

LAND USE DENSITY/INTENSITY 
State planning law requires general plans to establish “standards of population density and 
building intensity” for the various land use designations in the plan (Government Code Section 

65302(a)). Population density is determined by multiplying the maximum number of units 
allowed within a land use designation by the average number of persons per household. To 
satisfy this requirement, the General Plan includes standards for each land use designation 
appearing on the Land Use Diagram. These standards are stated differently for residential 
(density standards) and nonresidential (intensity standards) development. The following are 
explanations of how these standards are applied to each land use designation. In addition, the 
Town of Colma also applies Lot Coverage standards to certain land uses. 

Residential Density 

In the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan, residential density is expressed in terms of units per 
net acre. A net acre is defined as an acre area of land, which does not include in its 
measurement, public streets or other areas to be dedicated or reserved for public use. The 
number of residential units that can be accommodated on a development parcel can be 
calculated by dividing the acreage of the parcel by the number of units allowed per acre for a 
specific location in the town.  

Figure LU.1: Residential Density 

 

Floor Area Ration (FAR) 

In the Town’s 2040 General Plan, commercial, industrial, and mixed-use developments are 
regulated by a maximum floor area ratio (FAR) standard. FAR refers to the ratio of interior 
building floor space on all floors of a building compared to the square footage of the site. FAR is 
calculated by dividing the floor area of all buildings on the site by the net square footage of the 
site. Spaces such as parking garages, structured parking levels, and exterior open space, such 
as courtyards, roof gardens, and balconies are not included. The floor area can be provided in 
one building or divided between multiple buildings.  



 
 
 

 LU-7 

Figure LU.2: Floor to Area Ratio (FAR) 

 

Lot Coverage 

Some land uses designations in Colma include Lot Coverage limitations to prevent over-building 
of a property. Lot Coverage is the footprint area of the structure(s) on the lot divided by the lot 
area. For example, a building with a footprint of 5,000 square feet on a 10,000 square foot lot 
would have a Lot Coverage of 50%.  

  



  
 
 

  
 LU-8 

LAND USE DESIGNATIONS  
A central component of the Land Use Element is the inclusion of a diversity of land use 
designations to adequately classify and distinguish the various land uses needed within the 
town, as well as descriptions that distinguish between corresponding levels of intensity, density, 
and allowable uses, as required by Government Code Section §65302(a). These are 
documented in Table LU-2 and described in further detail in the text below. 

RESIDENTIAL LAND USE  
Residential Land designated for residential purposes can be used for single family homes, small 
and large family day care facilities, group residential facilities, supportive/transitional housing, 
home offices and cottage food operations as allowed uses. Residential facilities, including 
multiple dwellings, may be allowed in areas designated for commercial use upon approval of a 
Use Permit. 

Areas suitable for residential use include 
Sterling Park, El Camino Real near the 
Colma BART station, Mission Road near 
the South San Francisco BART station, in 
cemeteries as caretaker units and several 
scattered sites. These areas are 
identified in the Housing Element. 

Recent State legislation encourages the 
development of Accessory Dwelling Units 
(ADU’s) within existing single-family 
dwellings or as additions to existing single-family residential property. The Town will comply 
with current and forthcoming legislation regarding ADU’s. Despite the generally small lot size 
(roughly 3,300 square feet) it is anticipated that a few residents may add ADU’s to their 

property in future years.  

COMMERCIAL LAND USE 
This Commercial land use category provides for a wide range of retail commercial uses 
including auto dealerships, retail stores, personal and professional services, furniture stores, 
restaurants, and wholesale-retail trade. Other uses, where permitted in a Planning Area, may 
include stand-alone or mixed-use multifamily residential, mixed-use, and auto-related uses.  

 

 



 
 
 

 LU-9 

EXECUTIVE ADMINISTRATIVE LAND USE 
The Executive Administrative land use category was established to expand the range of possible 
land uses and economic opportunities along El Camino Real while continuing to protect the 
green belt theme of the cemeteries. In this land use category, cemetery or cemeteries and 
floricultural or agricultural uses, are permitted by right. Compatible uses in this designation are 
low intensity uses that generate minimal traffic, do not require large signs and occupy buildings 
heavily screened with landscaping. Fast food facilities and most restaurants, for example, are 
not compatible with this designation. At this time, just over one percent of the town’s land area 

is designated for Executive Administrative land use. Designations occur along both sides of El 
Camino Real from just north of Colma Boulevard to the southern town boundary.  

PUBLIC AND QUASI-PUBLIC LAND USE 
Many basic utilities, public facilities, and services are provided by contract with special districts 
or through agreements with adjacent cities. Town of Colma residents are provided with utilities 
such as water, sewer, and power; public facilities such as local government and schools; and 
services such as police and fire protection. This land use category typically includes the types of 
activities and facilities which are generally recognized to be more efficiently provided by a public 
or quasi-public agency than by individuals. Public facilities and Town-owned facilities other than 
streets or the BART Right-Of-Way, include: 

▪ Town Hall at 1198 El Camino Real at Serramonte Boulevard 
▪ Police Station at 1199 El Camino Real at Serramonte Boulevard 
▪ Colma Senior Apartment Complex (18 units) at 1180 El Camino Real 
▪ Colma Historical Park and Community Center at 1500 and 1520 Hillside Boulevard 
▪ Sterling Park neighborhood park and Community Center site at 427 F Street, between E 

and F Streets 
▪ SFPUC pump station in the 500 block of F Street 
▪ Corporation Yard at 601 F Street; and 
▪ Bark Park on D Street 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT  
The Town of Colma’s Planned Development 

designation allow flexibility of design and land 
uses to deal with special situations as might 
be encountered with mixed uses or uniquely 
shaped properties. Developments with a PD 
designation are expected to be similar in 
intensity to projects that would be allowed by 
adjoining land uses and must be compatible 
with the surrounding neighborhood.  



  
 
 

  
 LU-10 

CEMETERY 
In addition to cemeteries, uses found in this designation include flower growing operations, 
florists, greenhouses, monument shops, the Cypress Hills Driving Range and a closed landfill. 
This land use designation is essential in maintaining Colma’s greenbelt theme and it contributes 

to the economic base by drawing people from around the Bay Area as a regional destination. 

Colma’s greenbelt theme is reinforced 

through the unique impression one gets 
while driving through the town. Open 
space features such as large tree masses 
throughout the cemeteries; median strip 
landscaping and street trees on principal 
routes; and the open, naturalized channel 
along open sections of Colma Creek, are 
all necessary in maintaining the open 
space character of the town. Further 
discussion of open space is found in the 
Open Space/Conservation Element. 

GATEWAY SITES 
Colma’s image is dependent on what is seen from the road as people approach and enter the 

town. Colma’s separate identity and sense of containment is strengthened by nine gateway 

locations: 

▪ El Camino Real - North:  In median near intersection of B Street 
▪ El Camino Real - South:  In landscaped area forming “T” intersection (not yet installed) 
▪ Serramonte Boulevard:  At northeast corner of Junipero Serra Boulevard 
▪ Junipero Serra Boulevard – North:  In median near northern town boundary 
▪ Junipero Serra Boulevard – South:  In median at southern town boundary 
▪ Junipero Serra Boulevard:  At southwest corner of Southgate Avenue 
▪ Hillside Boulevard – North:  In park 

strip near Hoffman Street  
▪ Hillside Boulevard – South:  In park 

strip north of Lawndale Boulevard 
(not yet installed); and 

▪ Mission Road – South:  At northeast 
corner of Lawndale Boulevard   

Each gateway location is or will be 
landscaped and contains a stone sign which 
reads, “Welcome to Colma.” 



 
 
 

 LU-11 

GENERAL PLAN LAND USE TABLE AND MAP 
The General Plan Land Use Map (see Figure LU.3) provides a graphic representation of the 
distribution of allowed land uses within the Planning Area, providing direction for where and 
what kind of development may occur. 

Table LU-2: Land Use Designations 

Land Use Designation Density/Intensity 
Range* 

 Cemetery 
This designation provides for cemetery, planned cemetery, 
agricultural and public recreation uses. 

N/A 

 Low Density Residential 
This designation provides for single family, residential 
development on lots of approximately 3,300 square feet in area. 

Density: up to 13 units 
per acre 

 Medium Density Residential 
This designation provides for compact residential 
developments such as townhomes, condominiums, and 
apartments.   

Density: 13 to 30 units 
per acre 

 Commercial 
This designation provides for a wide range of retail 
commercial uses including auto dealerships, retail stores, 
personal and professional services, furniture stores, 
restaurants, and wholesale-retail trade. Other uses, where 
permitted in a Planning Area, may include stand-alone or 
mixed-use multifamily residential, mixed-use, and auto-
related uses. 

FAR: 1.0 to 2.0 
Lot Coverage: 50% 
Density: 13 to 30 units 
per acre 

 Executive Administrative 
This designation provides for low intensity office and 
cemetery related uses, such as flower and monument 
shops. These sites allow for economic activities along El 
Camino Real, while continuing to protect the green belt 
theme.  

FAR: 1.0 to 2.0 
Lot Coverage: 50% 

 Public and Quasi-Public  
This designation provides for uses that are public serving in 
nature, including government offices/operations, parks, 
utilities, transportation, and community centers. 

N/A 

*Additional FAR and Density may be granted to opportunity sites as noted in the Planning 
Area descriptions. 



 
 
 

 
 LU-12 



 
 
 

 
 LU-13 

LU-1-1:  General Plan Land Use Diagram. Maintain and implement a Land Use Diagram 
for purposes of describing the types of allowed land uses by geographic location and 
the density and/or intensity of allowed uses within each designation.  

LU-1-2 Zoning Consistency. Ensure that zoning designations are consistent with the 
General Land Use Diagram (Figure LU-4). 

LU-1-3 Balance New Development with Existing Setting. Prioritize new and higher 
density development consistent with the town’s Planning Areas to ensure new 
development is context sensitive and contributes to creating a strong sense of place. 
New development shall serve to protect and enhance the positive aesthetic qualities 
of the town and each geographic area.  

LU-1-4: Land Uses that Support Transit. Encourage higher-intensity development on the 
specific opportunity sites designated in the El Camino Real Planning Area. 

LU-1-5: Clear and Predictable Development Standards. Strive to adopt and 
communicate clear and predictable development standards to ensure new 
development meets the expectations of the Town. 

LU-1-6: Public-Private Partnerships. Consider opportunities to use public investment to 
form partnerships with the private sector to achieve quality infill development, 
enhance the public realm, and encourage public transit, walking, and biking. 

LU-1-7: Experience-Oriented Shopping.  Ensure the Town’s land use standards support 

“experience-oriented” uses and activities in commercial districts, such as restaurants, 

breweries, entertainment uses, events, and unique shops. 

LU-2-1:  Water Conservation. Promote water conservation by educating and encouraging 
residents and businesses to incorporate drought tolerant and low water using 
planting, smart irrigation systems, water efficient appliances, and recycled water 
systems. 

LU-2-2:  Water Efficient Landscape. Apply the Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance to 
new development and projects that include a qualifying amount of replacement or 
new landscaping. 



  
 
 

  
 LU-14 

LU-2-3:  Open Space. Require accessible, attractive open space that is well maintained and 
uses sustainable practices and materials in all new multiple dwelling and mixed-use 
development. 

LU-2-4:  Low Impact Development. Regulate new development and construction to 
minimize pollutant and sediment concentrations in receiving waters and ensure that 
surface water meets or exceeds applicable regulatory water quality standards. 
Require new development to incorporate Low Impact Development features that 
treat and reduce surface runoff volumes. 

LU-2-5:  Energy Efficiency. Support energy efficient improvements in aging building stock.  

  

LU-2-6:  Solar Energy. Provide incentives for installation of solar and photovoltaic systems 
on existing buildings and new development. 

LU-2-7:  Electric Vehicles. As Town gasoline-powered vehicles are replaced, purchase 
electric and hybrid vehicles when practicable. Install electric vehicle charging stations 
with new commercial and mixed-use developments. 

LU-2-8:  Climate Action Plan. Maintain a Climate Action Plan and continue to partner with 
San Mateo County’s Regional Climate Action Planning Suite (RICAPS) to prepare 

community-wide greenhouse gas inventories. 

LU-2-9:  Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets. Work to achieve greenhouse gas emissions 
reductions that are consistent with the targets established by AB32 (California Global 
Warming Solutions Act) and subsequent supporting legislation. 

LU-2-10:  Green Building. Support sustainability and green building best practices through 
the orientation, design, and placement of buildings and facilities to optimize their 
energy efficiency in preparation of State zero-net energy requirements for residential 
construction and commercial construction. 

LU-2-11:  Cultural Resource Preservation. Promote preservation of buildings, objects, and 
sites with historic and/or cultural significance. 

 

LU-3-1:  Quality of Colma’s Residential Neighborhoods. Ensure that all new 
construction, renovation, or remodeling projects meet the design standards of the 
Town. 



 
 

 LU-15 LU-15 

LU-3-2:  Private Open Space in Multifamily Residential. In addition to the required 
dedication of parkland or payment of a park in-lieu fee, the Town shall also require 
all multifamily residential projects, including those that are part of a mixed-use 
project, to provide a minimum of 100 square feet of private open space for use by 
residents of the project, such as courtyards, private balconies and rooftop patios.  

LU-3-3:  Adequate and Affordable Housing. Continue to provide opportunities for a 
variety of housing types at varying densities and affordability levels.  

LU-3.4 Maintenance of Colma’s Residential Neighborhoods. Strive to maintain public 
improvements and landscaping in residential neighborhoods to a high level. 

LU-3-5:  Neighbor-to-Neighbor Mediation. For issues that do not involve violations of 
Town laws, continue to encourage residents to employ the Peninsula Conflict 
Resolution Center (PCRC) to resolve neighbor-to-neighbor disputes in a fair and 
equitable way.  

LU-3-6:  Walkable Neighborhoods. Promote walkable neighborhoods by supporting 
alternative modes of transportation, enhancing bike and pedestrian connectivity to 
local commercial districts and transit centers and maintaining sidewalks, public 
plazas, parks and greenways, parkways, street tree canopies, and landscaping 
throughout residential neighborhoods.  

LU-4-1:  Maintaining Adequate Public Infrastructure and Facilities. Adequately 
maintain public infrastructure to ensure the provision of safe and reliable 
infrastructure to meet the town’s current and future needs, including facilitating 

upgrades to the utility infrastructure necessary for improved and emerging 
technologies. 

LU-4-2:  Adequacy to Serve New and Existing Developments. Continue to ensure that 
new and existing developments can be adequately served by municipal services and 
facilities in accordance with Town standards.  

LU-4-3:  New Development Fair Share. Regularly evaluate and update development 
impact fees to ensure that new development pays its fair share of providing new 
public facilities and services and/or the costs necessary to improve or expand 
infrastructure to serve them, including street improvements, parks, wastewater, 
stormwater drainage, and other public services.  



  
 
 

  
 LU-16 

LU-4-4:  Capital Improvement Program (CIP). Continue to fund maintenance, 
improvements, and expansion of town infrastructure, including sewer lines and 
street infrastructure through a multi-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP).  

LU-4-5:  Undergrounding and Screening of Utilities. Require new developments to 
underground utilities, at a minimum from the nearest above-ground pole to the 
building. Transformers shall be located as far away from a public street as possible 
and shall be screened from view by landscaping to the extent feasible.  

LU-4-6:  Install Remaining Gateway Monuments. Look for opportunities to install the 
remaining two gateway monuments at the south end of El Camino Real at Mission 
Road and on Hillside Boulevard at Lawndale Boulevard.  

LU- 5-1:  Regional Cooperation. Participate with other cities in the county and across the 
region in working towards solutions to the issues of regional land use, housing, 
homelessness, and transportation planning through partnership with the Association 
of Bay Area Governments, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission, and the San 
Mateo City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG).  

LU-5-2 San Mateo County Collaboration. Continue to consult with San Mateo County 
and other cities in the region on effective land use, transportation, sustainability, and 
economic development strategies to learn about additional strategies that could be 
used in Colma to achieve the community’s vision and goals.  

  



 
 

 LU-17 LU-17 

EQUITY AND CIVIC ENGAGEMENT 
General Plans adopted after January 1, 2018 are required to incorporate environmental justice 
goals, policies, and objectives to address health risks. The State enacted Senate Bill 1000 (SB 
1000) in 2016 in response to increasing concerns about vulnerable communities in California 
experiencing environmental injustice. SB 1000 focuses on, and addresses environmental 
injustices by reducing unique or compounded health risks in communities by reducing exposure 
to pollutants or other hazards, promoting healthy habits, prioritizing infrastructure 
improvements and programs that address the needs of the entire community, and promoting 
civic engagement in the public decision-making process.  

The town of Colma is not technically designated as a disadvantaged community. However, 
areas just north of Colma’s Sterling Park neighborhood are categorized as disadvantaged. 
Colma’s ethnic diversity and socio-economic diversity are important characteristics of the 
community. The following goals and policies are included in the General Plan to assure that all 
members of the community are supported and included in the town’s decision-making process.  

LU-6-1: New Incompatible Land Uses. Prohibit the introduction of new incompatible 
land uses and environmental hazards into existing residential areas.  

 
LU-6-2: Safe and Sanitary Housing. Through implementation of the Town’s Housing 

Element, provide standards of development that will result in housing within the 
town that is safe and sanitary.  

 
LU-6-3: Environmental Protection. Apply environmental protection measures equally 

among geographic and socioeconomic neighborhoods of the town.  
 
LU-6-4: Equitable Public Services. Provide desirable public services and infrastructure to 

Colma residents, including parks and recreational facilities, equitably, whenever 
possible. 
 



  
 
 

  
 LU-18 

LU-7-1: Community Input. Continue to facilitate opportunities for all residents and 
stakeholders to provide meaningful and effective input on proposed planning activities 
early on and continuously throughout the public review process.  
 

LU-7-2: Communication Channels. Continue to improve communication channels and 
methods for meaningful dialogue between community members and decision-makers. 

 
LU-7-3: Times and Locations of Public Engagement Opportunities. Hold meetings, 

workshops, and other public engagement opportunities at times and locations that 
make it convenient for disadvantaged community members to attend, particularly 
stakeholders who are the most likely to be directly affected by the outcome, whenever 
possible.  

 
LU-7-4: Variety of Public Communication Methods. Continue to share public 

information across a variety of media, technological, and traditional platforms, and 
languages, based upon the demographics of the community.  

  



 
 

 LU-19 LU-19 

LAND USE PUBLIC BENEFITS PROGRAM 

As described in more detail under the Planning Areas section, the term “opportunity sites” in the 

Colma General Plan refers to underdeveloped sites, underutilized sites, and those with non-
conforming uses. Generally, the current uses of these sites are not considered the “highest and 

best” uses, therefore, opportunity sites identified in the Planning Areas for the Town of Colma 
GPU utilize a public benefit approach to allow larger developments that include value that 
directly benefits the town as a whole.  

The Public Benefits Program ensures developers provide benefits to the town in exchange for 
approval to develop additional floor area. Development above the established General Plan FAR 
shall provide public improvements or equivalent resources to improve the quality of life for the 
community.  
 
The benefits listed below are representative of the amenities expected by the Town. Additional 
benefits may be determined in the future, or may be determined during project review, based 
on local needs. In general, public benefits should be provided within or accessible to the project 
site. Project applicants may elect to directly construct or provide the benefits in the list below if 
they can demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the Town, that the value of the benefits provided is 
equivalent to the value identified in the previous section. However, the Town has discretion to 
accept a monetary contribution to construct the benefit/improvement. The list of benefits does 
not limit the Town’s discretion to determine the appropriate level of public benefits required in 
exchange for increased intensity or density. Other than the plan priority for affordable housing 
units on the Town Center site, the list is in no particular order. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  
 
 

  
 LU-20 

 

Table LU-3: Public Benefits List 

Type of Improvement Examples of Public Benefit 

Affordable Housing 
Development of affordable units above the amount 
required by existing regulations (only applies where 
housing is permitted). 

Pedestrian and bicycle amenities 

Off or on-site pedestrian and bicycle improvements 
beyond those required by development standards. 
These may include but are not limited to: 
• Enhanced pedestrian and bicycle-oriented 

streetscapes; 
• Protected bicycle lanes and pedestrian pathways, 

improved; and 
• Bicycle and pedestrian crossings/signals 

Publicly accessible parking 
facilities 

Providing accessible parking to serve area-wide parking 
needs.  

Public Art Providing public art within the development area. 

Creek daylighting 
Daylighting a portion of Colma creek to satisfy 
stormwater requirements and to provide accessible open 
or park space. 

Public parks and open space 
Publicly accessible but privately maintained parks, 
plazas, tot lots, etc. above and beyond existing park 
dedication fees and requirements. 

Other 

• Contributions of land or financial resources to 
acquire land and/or space for community facilities 

• Off-site utility infrastructure improvements above 
and beyond those required to serve the development 

• Additional funding for town programs and/or 
recreation services 

• Subsidizing commercial tenants and other small 
businesses 

• Other public benefits proposed by the developer and 
approved by the City Council 

fits 
The public benefits approach allows larger developments that include value that directly 
benefits the town as a whole. Specifically, projects that create a new open space area or a 
public plaza can be eligible for an increase in height and FAR. “Base” development is allowed in 

each of the areas and does not require the contribution of public benefits. Development 
bonuses allow projects to exceed height and FAR requirements, dependent on the amount of 
public benefit contributed to the Planning Area. Projects that may qualify for bonuses are listed 
under the Height and Intensity section of each Planning Area. 

The Public Benefits Program ensures developers provide benefits to the town in exchange for 
approval to develop additional floor area. Development above the established 1999 General 



 
 

 LU-21 LU-21 

Plan FAR shall provide public improvements or equivalent resources to improve the quality of 
life for the community. In addition, the development should financially contribute to the Town 
budget in a way that fully covers the Town’s service costs necessary to provide public services 

to the development. 

LU-8-1: Development Agreement. Require a development agreement for the 
development of opportunity sites. The agreement will specify the public benefits 
that will be provided in exchange for the requested higher intensity or density (see 
public benefits information in Table LU-3 of this section). The Town will negotiate 
the terms of the Development Agreement including the period during which the 
entitlement will be available to the developer and public benefits that will be 
provided by the developer. 

LU-8-2: Funding District. For residential and office development on opportunity sites, 
consider the creation of a funding district or other funding mechanism to assure 
that the project will pay for Town services required to support and maintain the 
project in perpetuity. 

  



  
 
 

  
 LU-22 

PLANNING AREAS 
This section presents a guide for land use and development decision making in each Planning 
Area. The section includes both design and development guidelines as well as implementation 
goals and policies for each Planning Area. The goals and policies do not replace or augment 
building safety code or other non-planning related codes. All applications for new construction, 
substantial modifications, and changes in land use shall be reviewed for conformance with the 
Planning Area goals and policies.  

The 1999 General Plan identified nine (9) specific Planning Areas. This General Plan Update has 
reconfigured and condensed the Planning Areas into five (5) new Planning Areas to clearly 
express the town’s vision for 2040 and create a roadmap for the future development of these 
areas. The five Planning Areas are: 
 

▪ Commercial Core 
▪ El Camino Real Corridor 
▪ Hillside Boulevard  

▪ Mission Road 
▪ Sterling Park

 

The Planning Area concept is used in the Colma General Plan to consider how vacant and 
opportunity sites could be used to maximize community potential. In exchange for greater 
development density or intensity, community benefits are desired which will provide for the 
long-term livability and fiscal stability of the community.  



 
 
 

 
 LU-23 



 
 
 

 
 LU-24 

VACANT AND OPPORTUNITY SITES 
Colma has a limited number of vacant and redevelopable sites. Not all vacant sites are available 
for urban development. However, some of the larger tracts of vacant land in the Hillside 
Boulevard Planning Area east of Hillside Boulevard may be appropriate for commercial 
development. 

The term “opportunity sites” in the Colma General Plan refers to underdeveloped sites, 

underutilized sites, and those with non-conforming uses. Generally, the current uses of these 
sites are not considered the “highest and best” uses. These sites represent private 

redevelopment opportunities. 

New development projects should be reviewed for their impacts on the transportation 
infrastructure, as well as compatibility with surrounding land uses. The impacts of a specific 
project can vary, depending on its relationship to roadways and public transportation facilities, 
and neighboring land uses. Large-scale projects are subject to City/County Association of 
Governments (C/CAG) Congestion Management Program review. 

In 2014, the Town commissioned the preparation of an Urban Design Study. The study 
evaluated the development potential of existing sites and considered form-based planning 
concepts to consider the most appropriate development massing for the sites that were studied. 
A key component of this study was the development of concept massing ideas for the potential 
future development of a Town Center site on the southwest corner of El Camino Real and 
Serramonte Boulevard. Sites identified in this study will be further discussed within the 
individual Planning Area narratives. 

  



 

 LU-25 LU-25 

COMMERCIAL CORE 
The Commercial Core Planning Area consists of the majority of the town’s commercial area. It 
includes the 280 Metro Center, Serra Center, Vivana Fair, a large portion of Auto Row, and auto 
and light industrial related businesses on Collins Avenue. The commercial core primarily consists 
of large floor plate commercial spaces and showrooms, in addition to smaller in-line tenant 
spaces in the shopping centers. The Planning Area is well connected by major roadways with El 
Camino Real on the east; Junipero Serra Boulevard and Highway 280 on the west; and 
Serramonte Boulevard, Collins Avenue, and Colma Boulevard each providing east/west 
connections between El Camino Real and Junipero Serra Boulevard. 

Figure LU-5: Commercial Core Planning Area 

 

Land Use 

Land uses should be consistent with existing uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area with a 
variety of retail and service commercial uses in the shopping centers, primarily auto dealers on 
Serramonte Boulevard, and service commercial uses on Collins Avenue. Uses on Collins Avenue 



 

  
 LU-26 

should be auto service-related businesses that do not attract a large amount of traffic and 
support the function of Auto Row. Sufficient off-street parking and loading/unloading areas 
should be provided for all new uses. Residential land use is prohibited in the Commercial Core 
since the introduction of residential uses would conflict with the existing large-scale commercial 
uses. 

Allowed Land Use 

▪ Collins Avenue: Commercial (Automobile Service/Auto Related/Light Industrial/Hotel) 
▪ Serramonte Boulevard: Commercial (Retail/Restaurant/Auto 

Related/Hotel/Entertainment/Large Floor Plate Office) 
▪ Colma Boulevard: Commercial (Restaurant/Retail/Entertainment/Hotel) 

Height and Intensity 

Base Height and FAR Bonus Height and FAR 
Max Height: 40 Feet 
FAR: 1.5 
Coverage: 50% 

Max Height: 72 Feet* 
FAR: 2.0 
Coverage: 70% 

* Review design guidelines and height envelope in the Serramonte Collins Master Plan 
Street Design 

The Commercial Core includes three of the town’s major roadways including Serramonte 
Boulevard, Colma Boulevard and Collins Avenue. Each roadway merits consistent street design 
that enhances the respective commercial businesses in the area. All properties in the Planning 
Area should maintain a consistent five (5) to ten (10) foot wide landscaping strip behind the 
sidewalk along roadway frontages. Tall vegetation should be limited or maintained so that 
business identification features are visible.  

On Collins Avenue, cemeteries will be allowed to utilize portions of the five (5) foot tree planting 
strip, with the placement of a decorative block wall, similar to the wall installed along the 
southern border of Cypress Lawn. The five (5) feet in front of the wall and reserved for public 
utilities will be utilized for ground cover and low growing shrubs. The additional five (5) feet will 
be available for tree planting. All developments are encouraged to use a drought tolerant 
selection of ground cover materials for the five (5) foot wide planting area over the public utility 
easement.  

To promote pedestrian activity at the shopping centers, Serramonte Boulevard and Colma 
Boulevard should include high-visibility crosswalks, median refuges, corner bulb-outs, and 
widened sidewalks that incorporate street trees, bus stop amenities and pedestrian-scaled 
lighting. In addition, an established General Plan policy provides for keeping Colma Creek in an 
open visible condition at the south edge of Collins Avenue. Construction of a pedestrian bridge 
without culverting the creek or large-scale crossings is compatible with the established policy. 



 

 LU-27 LU-27 

In 2020, the Town completed a Streetscape Master Plan for Serramonte Boulevard and Collins 
Avenue. The plan proposes a lane reduction for the section of Serramonte Boulevard from the 
Serra Center driveway to El Camino Real to allow for wider sidewalks, landscaping and two 
pedestrian crosswalks. For Collins Avenue, improvements would include parking.  

Commercial Core Opportunity Sites 

In addition to development opportunities on Collins Avenue, the Urban Design Study identified 
the 280 Metro Center as a site that can accommodate additional building square footage to 
allow for public amenity space.  

Enhanced 280 Metro Center 

The 280 Metro Center strengthens Colma’s identity as a regional shopping destination. The 280 
Metro Center shall be preserved and enhanced to the extent possible. Consistent with current 
trends, additional amenities such as office, lifestyle retail, a public gathering space or hotel 
would be considered by the Town. Residential uses would not be supported due to the lack of 
public amenities along the corridor, conflict with commercial uses, and the desire to concentrate 
residential development in a more central location to activate central Colma (the Town Center). 

Figure LU-6: Enhanced 280 Metro Center Concept 

 

The Enhanced 280 Metro Center concept illustrated above is consistent with the development 
standards for the site and shows 110,000 SF of new commercial space added by a new second 



 

  
 LU-28 

story. The maximum height shown is 36 feet (2 stories), and the total FAR (Floor-Area-Ration) 
is > 1.0. This concept includes a 46,000 square foot plaza and three-level parking structure. 

Similar concepts can be considered where massing and height is concentrated along Junipero 
Serra Boulevard so as not to visually impact Woodlawn Cemetery to the north. Any 
redevelopment concept will need to include sufficient parking to support additional commercial, 
office or hotel square footage.  

LU-9-1:  Auto Sales Uses. Encourage the development of auto sales establishments above 
other commercial, retail uses along Serramonte Boulevard.  

LU-9-2:  Commercial Office. Support the development of commercial offices along 
Serramonte Boulevard only if auto or other retail sales uses are no longer viable. 
Commercial office will only be considered if it can be demonstrated through a fiscal 
analysis, development agreement or business registration fees that the use will not 
burden public services and infrastructure.  

LU-9-3:  Hotels. Support the development of hotels within the Commercial Core, including 
boutique hotels and internationally recognized hotel chains.  

LU-9-4:  Residential Prohibited. Discourage residential development in the Commercial 
Core due to inherent conflicts with large format retail and sales uses.  

  



 

 LU-29 LU-29 

EL CAMINO REAL CORRIDOR 
The El Camino Real Corridor Planning Area centers on the intersection of El Camino Real and 
Serramonte Boulevard and extends from the northern town boundary to the southern town 
Boundary along El Camino Real. The Planning Area includes sites on both sides of El Camino 
Real, including the properties near the BART station and the east side of El Camino Real 
between the intersection of Mission Road and the South San Francisco border.  

Figure LU-7: El Camino Real Corridor Planning Area 

 

Land Use 

Low impact offices and other executive/administrative uses are encouraged to provide a buffer 
between existing cemetery uses and El Camino Real between the BART bridge to the north and 
the South San Francisco border. Multi-modal mixed-use development is promoted surrounding 
the Colma BART station, at the Town Center site, and where feasible along Mission Road. For 
the central portion of the Planning Area, land use intensity and use types can vary.  A Town 
Center type development is encouraged. 



 

  
 LU-30 

 

Allowed Land Use 

▪ Commercial Mixed Use, Town Center 
(Restaurant/Hotel/Residential/Retail/Office/Entertainment) 

▪ Cemetery, Cemetery Related: (Cemeteries/Flower Shops/Monument Shops) 
▪ Office: (General or Medical Office) 

Height and Intensity 

Base Height and FAR Bonus Height and FAR 
Max Height: 40 Feet 
FAR: 2.0 
Lot Coverage: 50% 
Residential Density: 30 
units/acre 

As noted by project site below 

 

El Camino Real Opportunity Sites 

The Urban Design Study identified several sites that can accommodate additional building 
square footage and which can create public amenity space. These sites include: 

Walkable Town Center 

There is general community support for a retail, dining, and entertainment district in the form 
of a walkable Town Center that is accessible to local residents, workers, visitors, and travelers. 
The district should include pedestrian-oriented streets and/or paths; incorporate a density that 
sustains pedestrian traffic; and project a recognizable style or identity that is consistent with the 
Town’s existing Design Review Overlay Requirements, which requires Spanish/Mediterranean 
architecture for facades facing El Camino Real. It should be a mixed-use development with 
commercial, and restaurant spaces at ground level, and residential and/or office above. It 
should also incorporate entertainment uses and public gathering spaces. The property at the 
southwest corner of El Camino Real and Serramonte Boulevard and surrounding sites are 
suitable for this type of development. 



 

 LU-31 LU-31 

Figure LU-8: Town Center Concept 1 

 

The Town Center concept illustrated in figure LU-8 is consistent with allowances for the site 
(with the exception of a height bonus) and shows a mixed-use Town Center consisting of 
160,000 SF of Commercial space and up to 240 residential units (22 dwelling units/acre). The 
maximum height shown is 72 feet (5 stories), and the total FAR is 1.8. Colma Creek is shown as 
being restored above ground. In this concept development standard bonuses would be 
considered due to the project providing the following Desired Components: 

▪ High quality design/construction/materials  
▪ Incorporation of outdoor public gathering spaces  
▪ Significant public improvements; and 
▪ A diverse mix of land uses 

Figure LU-9: Town Center Concept 2 

 



 

  
 LU-32 

The Town Center concept illustrated in figure LU-9 for the Town Center site incorporates a 
cardroom with hotel/office component and is consistent with the Allowances for the site (with 
the exception of a Height Bonus). The concept shows a mixed-use Town Center consisting of 
325,000 SF of retail/office/hotel/cardroom with no residential development. The maximum 
height shown is 100 feet (8 stories), and the total FAR (Floor-Area-Ratio) is 1.2. In this concept, 
development standard bonuses would be considered due to the project providing the following 
desired components: 

▪ High quality design/construction/materials  
▪ Incorporation of outdoor public gathering spaces  
▪ A diverse mix of land uses. 

At Town staff’s discretion, a project which provides at least three (3) the following desired 
components:  

▪ A diverse mix of land uses 
▪ A “live/work” environment  
▪ High quality design/construction/materials  
▪ Incorporation of outdoor public gathering spaces; and/or  
▪ Significant public improvements. 

Shall be considered for one (1) of the following bonuses:  

▪ Height: 56 - 110 Feet 
▪ Residential Density: 30 - 60 Units/Acre 
▪ FAR: 2.0 - 3.0 
▪ Max Lot Coverage: 75% 

Mixed-Use Commercial/Residential 

Mixed Use Commercial/Residential projects with densities up to 30 units per net acre are 
encouraged along the west and east sides of El Camino Real north of the BART bridge. New 
buildings should be setback at least 10 feet from the curb and include frontage areas inviting to 
the pedestrian, which include sidewalks, planters, street trees and benches. It is intended that 
mixed commercial/residential uses will consist of pedestrian-oriented retail or commercial 
facilities on the ground floor with two or more levels of residential or office uses above. The 
Bocci site is a suitable site for this use. 



 

 LU-33 LU-33 

Figure LU-10: Conceptual Plan for Bocci Site 

 

Located near the BART station, the Bocci site is a suitable site for a mixed-use development. 
The Bocci Site is an approximately .62 acres (27,005 sq. ft.), triangular lot located on the corner 
of El Camino Real and Albert Teglia Boulevard. The site currently contains three vacant 
buildings: an office building for the monument business, and open workshop and warehouse, 
and small shed-type garage. As the Colma BART station abuts this parcel, any development 
proposed on this site should encourage good pedestrian access to the station. 

Proposed mixed-use developments should include ground floor retail, with two to four stories of 
residential above. Buildings should be located close to the sidewalk to allow a “window 

shopping” experience for pedestrians, with retail entries oriented toward El Camino Real. 
Parking should be provided in an underground parking area, parking structure, parking behind 
the building or parking through use of parking stackers. The site is within a Design Review 
Overlay zone and is required to exhibit Spanish-Mediterranean design influences, such as a tile 
roof, tower element, and appropriate detailing. Required streetscape and frontage 
improvements may include wider sidewalks, decorative streetlight, landscaping, and street 
furniture. Any required frontage improvements performed as part of development of the 
property will require design approval and an encroachment permit from CalTrans. Development 
standard bonuses are granted due to the project providing the following desired components: 

▪ High quality design/construction/materials  
▪ Pedestrian access to major public transit; and  
▪ A diverse mix of land uses. 

At Staff’s discretion, a project which provides all of the following desired components:  

▪ A mix of land uses  
▪ High quality design/construction/materials.  
▪ Significant public improvements. 



 

  
 LU-34 

▪ parking; 1-2 spaces/residential unit; and 
▪ Pedestrian access to BART station. 

Shall be considered for a significant height bonus as follows:  

▪ Height: 40-68 feet 
▪ Lot Coverage: 75% 

Mixed-Use Commercial/Residential or Office 

A Mixed-Use Commercial/Residential or Office project with densities up to 30 units per net acre 
could be feasible on the Italian Cemetery property located on El Camino Real south of the BART 
bridge. New buildings should be setback at least 10 feet from the curb and include frontage 
areas inviting to the pedestrian, which include sidewalks, planters, street trees and benches. It 
is intended that mixed commercial/residential uses will consist of pedestrian-oriented retail or 
commercial facilities on the ground floor with two levels of residential or office uses above.  No 
new access points would be permitted for the development, and access should be taken from 
the existing BART access driveway.  Any parking for the site should not be visible from El 
Camino Real. 

In addition to mixed-use development, the site could be developed with cemetery or cemetery 
related land uses as currently permitted under the General Plan designation for the property. In 
addition, a commercial office could be developed on the property.  If a mixed-use project is not 
feasible for the site, the site could be developed with only multi-family housing.  

Proposed mixed-use developments should include ground floor retail, with two stories of 
residential above. Buildings should be located close to the sidewalk to allow a “window 

shopping” experience for pedestrians, with retail entries oriented toward El Camino Real. 

Parking should be provided in an underground parking area, parking structure, parking behind 
the building or parking through use of parking stackers. The site is within a Design Review 
Overlay zone and is required to exhibit Spanish-Mediterranean design influences, such as a tile 
roof, tower element, and appropriate detailing. Required streetscape and frontage 
improvements may include wider sidewalks, decorative streetlight, landscaping, and street 
furniture. Any required frontage improvements performed as part of development of the 
property will require design approval and an encroachment permit from CalTrans. Development 
standard bonuses can be considered if the project provides the following desired components: 

▪ High quality design/construction/materials  
▪ Pedestrian access to major public transit; and  
▪ A diverse mix of land uses. 

At Staff’s discretion, a project which provides all of the following desired components:  

▪ A mix of land uses  
▪ High quality design/construction/materials.  



 

 LU-35 LU-35 

▪ Significant public improvements. 
▪ parking; 1-2 spaces/residential unit; and 
▪ Pedestrian access to BART station. 

Shall be considered for a height bonus as follows:  

▪ Height: 40-55 feet (3 stories) 
▪ Lot Coverage: 75% 

Street Design 

El Camino Real is a designated State Highway with a high volume of fast-moving traffic that 
runs from the northern boundary to the southern boundary of the town. The roadway is a six-
lane, two-way road with a large median in the center from the northern boundary to the El 
Camino Real Mission Road intersection and slims down to a 4-lane, two-way road to the 
southern boundary. The roadway is owned and maintained by Caltrans.  

The Town is coordinating with Caltrans to realign the intersection at Mission Road and El 
Camino Real to create a “tee” intersection that will allow protected left turns between Mission 
Road and El Camino Real. A landscaped area will be used to form the realigned intersection. 
This area will also include an entry sign to the town, improved sidewalks, pedestrian crossings, 
and decorative streetlights. The timing of this project is unknown.  

The Town is currently preparing a Bicycle and Pedestrian plan for El Camino Real that will 
evaluate future improvements to El Camino Real.  

In order to maintain the unique greenbelt theme of El Camino Real between the intersection 
with Mission Road and the BART bridge, a thirty-foot landscape setback is required. Only 
surface parking is permitted in this setback area, and the use of berms and landscape screening 
is required.  

Signage 

New signage requires sign permits and are subject to the approval of the City Planner. Sign 
types shall be limited to wall signs and monument signs, no pole signs are allowed on El 
Camino Real. Internally illuminated signs are prohibited along El Camino Real, with indirectly 
illuminated or halo type lighting preferred. Sign programs are encouraged for multitenant 
buildings to maintain consistency.  

LU-10-1:  Neighborhood and Small Scale Commercial and Service Uses. Encourage 
neighborhood and small scale and service uses on the east side of El Camino Real 
from the BART bridge north. 



 

  
 LU-36 

LU-10-2:  El Camino Real Housing. Limit housing on El Camino Real to the Town Center site 
and sites by the BART station. 

LU-10-3:  Mixed Use and Nonresidential Development. Limit parking, traffic, and other 
impacts of mixed-use and nonresidential development on adjacent uses and promote 
high-quality architectural design and effective transportation options. 

LU-10-4:  Grand Boulevard Initiative. Continue to participate in collaboration with other 
cities, counties, and regional agencies to further the Grand Boulevard Initiative (GBI) 
and develop strategies to improve the performance, safety and aesthetics of El 
Camino Real. 

LU-10-5:  Hotels. The Town shall support the development of hotels within the El Camino Real 
corridor at the Town Center or Bocci sites, including boutique hotels and 
internationally recognized hotel chains.  

LU-10-6:  Spanish Mediterranean Design. To create a consistent design theme along El 
Camino Real and at entry gateways, require properties included in the Spanish 
Mediterranean Design Overlay to utilize Spanish and Mediterranean design elements. 

LU-10-7:  Landscape Setback. To create a consistent greenbelt theme along El Camino Real 
between Mission Road and the BART bridge, require a 30’ landscape setback be 

observed. Within the setback, only surface parking is permitted. Surface parking 
must maintain a minimum setback of 10’, with the setback area heavily landscaped 

and bermed to visibly screen vehicles. 

LU-11-1:  Town Center. Encourage mixed-use projects consistent with the height and floor 
area parameters established in the General Plan.  

LU-11-2:  Fiscal Sustainability. Conduct a fiscal analysis prior to the development of the 
Town Center site to assure that the proposed project will not impact public services. 
A development agreement and/or establishment of a public facilities services district 
may be required to assure the long-term viability of the project.  

LU-11-3:  Town Center Public Realm. In exchange for additional height and floor area, 
require an outdoor plaza, enhanced streetscape and/or creek daylighting, and linear 
park.  

  



 

 LU-37 LU-37 

HILLSIDE BOULEVARD  
The Hillside Boulevard Planning Area consists of Hillside Boulevard and the surrounding 
properties.  

Figure LU-11: Hillside Boulevard Planning Area 

 

Land Use 

The Planning Area consists primarily of cemetery uses, agricultural uses, and uses incident to 
cemetery and agricultural uses, such as florists and monument shops. Key sites such as the 
town’s Community Center and museum, Lucky Chances Cardroom, Cypress Abbey Golf Course, 
and the underutilized closed landfill on Sandhill Road are also located in this Planning Area.  

Proposed uses should not disrupt the greenbelt aesthetic as viewed from the public lands. All 
buildings, including buildings related to cemetery uses, such as crematories, shall be setback so 
as not create significant visual disruptions from the public right-of-way. There are existing 
properties that are used for auto related services. If these uses are destroyed, abandoned or 
eliminated, they may only be replaced with conforming uses.  



 

  
 LU-38 

Allowed Land Use 

▪ Cemetery: (cemetery, agriculture, and uses incidental to cemetery and agricultural uses) 
▪ Commercial: (retail/hotel/entertainment where existing, or just south of Sand Hill Road, 

along Hillside Blvd. to Lawndale Boulevard) 
▪ Public: (Community center, museum) 

Height and Intensity 

Base Height and FAR 
Max Height: 40 Feet 
FAR:  1.5 
Lot Coverage: 50% 
 

 
Hillside Boulevard Opportunity Sites 

A portion of the land along the east side of Hillside Boulevard, just south of Sand Hill Road, may 
be appropriate for future commercial development with utility and infrastructure improvements.  

Hillside Boulevard South of Sand Hill Road 

This land area currently is in use and designated Cemetery. However, as there is a need for 
more commercial land and development in the town, any future development of this property 
would follow zoning and land use parameters of the Commercial designation, namely a height 
limit of 40 feet, FAR of 1.5, and lot coverage of 50%. 

Landfill and Golf Course Property 

The former Cypress Hills Golf Course will logically continue to transition into cemetery land use. 
Since use of the landfill site located at the top of Sand Hill Road is limited, vehicle storage shall 
be considered where vehicles are not visible from Hillside Boulevard or other vantage points. In 
order to maintain through access by emergency vehicles through the cemeteries, internal 
driveways shall be connected to provide access from the Cypress Lawn entrance at Hillside 
Boulevard and Serramonte Boulevard to the former golf course access road.  

Signage 

Minimal signage should be used in order to preserve Colma’s greenbelt theme. Pole signs and 
cabinet signs are prohibited in the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area. 

Street Design 

Hillside Boulevard is a major thoroughfare for commuters that runs along the east side of Town, 
connecting the town to Daly City and South San Francisco via Sister Cities Boulevard. The road 
is bisected by Serramonte Boulevard, providing access to El Camino Real and Highway 280. 



 

 LU-39 LU-39 

Since the majority of the surrounding properties are cemeteries, a large amount of vegetation 
exists along the roadway to maintain a greenbelt aesthetic. All properties in the Planning Area 
should maintain the greenbelt with new trees and shrubs screening proposed developments. 
Tall vegetation should be maintained so that business identification features are visible. 

Improvements to Hillside Boulevard are planned in the future, from Serramonte Boulevard to 
Lawndale Boulevard. 

Access to In-Holding Lots 

The Hillside Boulevard Planning Area has a number of historic “in-holding” lots.  These are lots 

that were typically purchased many years ago for speculative purposes and remain even though 
the bulk of the land has been acquired by Holy Cross Cemetery and Cypress Abbey Company.  
Roads were never physically constructed to provide access to these lots, although public rights-
of-way, known as “paper streets,” still exist to provide theoretical access.  These paper streets 

remain on the maps presented in the general plan as well as on the county assessor’s maps.   

LU-12-1  Cemetery and Agriculture. Consider cemetery and agricultural uses as the 
primary permitted land uses in the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area.  

LU-12-2  Commercial. Consider commercial businesses only in the commercial portion of the 
Hillside Boulevard Planning Area if it can be demonstrated through a fiscal analysis, 
development agreement or business registration fees that the use will not burden 
public services and infrastructure.  

LU-12-3  Hotels. Support the development of a hotel within the commercially designated 
portion of the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area, including boutique hotels and 
internationally-recognized hotel chains.  

LU-12-4  Residential. Prohibit residential development in the Hillside Boulevard Planning 
Area.  

  



 

  
 LU-40 

MISSION ROAD 
Mission Road is a two-way, two-lane street with sidewalks. The Mission Road Planning Area 
centers on Mission Road and is bounded by El Camino Real to the north and west, Holy Cross 
Cemetery to the east, and Lawndale Boulevard to the south. The Planning Area includes historic 
structures and districts such as Holy Cross, Molloy’s, and the Lagomasino residences. 

Figure LU-12: Mission Road Planning Area 

 

Land Use 

The Mission Road Planning Area consists of a wide variety of uses. On the west side, existing 
uses include commercial uses such as auto servicing, light manufacturing, warehousing, 
contractors’ supplies, and other non-retail uses, as well as single family residential and 
multifamily uses. On the east side, the majority of the Planning Area consists of cemetery use 
with the exception of a 66-unit veteran’s housing project.  

With a growing residential population within the Mission Road Planning Area, there is growing 
demand for restaurant and retail nearby that is accessible to them. Many of the existing 



 

 LU-41 LU-41 

commercial businesses do not have enough space and need to expand. Proposed uses should 
respect existing residential uses, any uses that may impact residential units should be contained 
within a building and adequately screened. All proposed uses should include an adequate 
number of off-street parking spaces so that businesses do not further burden street parking. 

Allowed Land Uses 

▪ Commercial: (Auto Repair, Services, Retail, Restaurant, Mixed-Use 
Residential/Commercial, Boutique Hotel) 

• Residential: (Single and Multi-family residential) 
• Cemeteries: (Cemeteries and cemetery related businesses) 

 
Height and Intensity 

Base Height and FAR Bonus Height and FAR 
Max Height: 40 Feet 
FAR: 1.0 
Lot Coverage: 50% 
Residential Density: 30 
Units/Acre 

Max Height: 42 Feet 
FAR: 1.5 
Lot Coverage: 60% 
 

 
Mission Road Opportunity Sites 

Commercial Office at the “Y” 

There is demand for office space that is accessible by public transit, with inter-connecting 
pedestrian-oriented streets and/or paths, and incorporates commercial uses, including 
restaurants and convenience stores. The development of these uses, when incorporating high 
quality landscaping, well screened parking, and minimal signage will contribute to the town’s 
greenbelt theme. Other office uses which the City Council finds are of a similar nature to the 
specified uses may also be permitted. Regardless of the use, it can be demonstrated that all 
parking for the use can be provided on-site, and the maximum group size for the assembly 
space will not overburden the site and surrounding area. 

The property located at the Y intersection between El Camino Real and Mission Road is a 
suitable site for this use. The Y project site is triangular in shape, approximately one acre in 
size, and is created by the fork-intersection of El Camino Real and Mission Road. Colma Creek 
runs north/south through the middle of the site and adjacent to, and paralleling, the creek is a 
water pipeline easement, varying in width from 20 to 50 feet. Large, mature eucalyptus, pine 
and cypress trees exist on site.  

Unfortunately, it has been determined that the triangular site on the east side of El Camino and 
west side of the creek is heavily encumbered by easements, with a portion of the site owned by 
the SFPUC. A much smaller office building or project, roughly 10,000 square feet, is all that can 
be accommodated on this site.  



 

  
 LU-42 

Figure LU 13: Mission Road Commercial/Office Park Concept 

 

The commercial/office park concept illustrated above is consistent with the allowances for the 
site (with the exception of a height and FAR bonus, explained below). The maximum height 
shown is 42 feet (2-3 stories), and the maximum FAR (Floor-Area-Ratio) is 1.5.  

This concept illustrates a theoretical project that would take advantage of a height bonus and 
FAR bonus by providing the following Desired Components: 

▪ High quality design/construction/materials;  
▪ Incorporation of outdoor public gathering spaces;  
▪ Significant public improvements. 
▪ Small commercial ground-floor uses, including restaurant(s) and convenience store(s);  
▪ Pedestrian-oriented streets and/or paths connecting office space with public 

transportation. 

At Staff’s discretion, a project which provides all of the following desired components:  

▪ Small commercial ground-floor uses, including restaurant(s) and convenience store(s);  
▪ Pedestrian-oriented streets and/or paths connecting office space with public 

transportation;  
▪ High quality design/construction/materials;  
▪ Incorporation of outdoor public gathering spaces; and 
▪ Significant public improvements 

Projects shall be considered for significant Height and FAR Bonuses as follows:  

▪ Height: 40-42 Feet 
▪ FAR: 1.0 – 1.5 



 

 LU-43 LU-43 

Signage 

All proposed signage requires the approval of a sign permit. Due to limited space and narrow 
sidewalks, monument signs are not encouraged, but may be considered where space allows. 
Pole signs are not allowed in the Planning Area. 

Street Design 

Mission Road extends for approximately two thirds of a mile from the “Y” at El Camino Real to 
the southern border of the town with no stop signs or stop lights. The road includes four clearly 
marked pedestrian crossings to slow down traffic and allow pedestrians to safely cross the road. 
With the potential for low density commercial restaurant and retail, roadway improvements 
should promote and enhance walkability and the pedestrian experience.  

In the Mission Road Planning Area, some commercial parcels have frontages on both Mission 
Road and El Camino Real. Access to and from the parcels from El Camino Real is potentially 
hazardous because of poor visibility due to the curvature of the road, relatively high traffic 
speeds, and a steep embankment. Access to parcels with frontage on both El Camino Real and 
Mission Road should be restricted to Mission Road. 

Street improvements to include wider sidewalks, new lighting, high visibility crosswalks and 
other improvements on Mission Road are anticipated to be completed in 2021. 

LU-13-1:  Existing Commercial Uses. Support the creation and improvement of commercial 
uses on Mission Road. 

LU-13-2:  Historic Buildings. Maintain and enhance historic buildings and uses along Mission 
Road according to the Secretary of the Interior’s standards. And encourage adaptive 
reuse of structures.  

LU-13-3:  Existing Residential Uses. Design and maintain new development or new uses 
adjacent to existing residences on Mission Road to not negatively impact existing 
residential uses.  

LU-13-4: Infill Housing. Promote the provision of lower- and moderate-income housing on 
in-fill sites on Mission Road. 

LU-13-5: Mixed Use. Encourage mixed use buildings with ground floor food, retail, or food 
use on Mission Road. 

 

 



 

  
 LU-44 

STERLING PARK 
Sterling Park is the residential area bounded by Hillside Boulevard on the east, El Camino Real 
on the west, and B Street and F Street on the north and south, respectively. It is largely the 
result of annexation of unincorporated County land to the town of Colma. This neighborhood 
contains the majority of the town’s population and housing structures. Approximately 300 
housing units are located in this area and it contains approximately 90% of Colma’s resident 
population. Homes here consist of modest sized homes east of Clark Avenue, and both older 
single family and multi-family units to the west. A number of the buildings west of Clark Avenue 
were relocated to the area during the construction of Highway 280 in the 1960’s and, because 

of this, some units were placed with reduced front, side or rear setbacks, which adds to the 
eclectic charm of the neighborhood. The low end of the density range (13 units per net acre) 
corresponds to the density that is realized by constructing single family detached residential 
units on 33 1/3 x 100 foot lots for all infill development in the residential area.  

Figure LU-14: Sterling Park Planning Area 

 

 



 

 LU-45 LU-45 

Land Use 

Land uses should be consistent with the residential neighborhood. If existing duplex or multiple 
units are destroyed, they may be replaced with an equal number of units. There are properties 
that are used for flower shops. If these uses are destroyed, abandoned or eliminated, they may 
only be replaced with new flower shops or conforming residential uses. 

Allowed Land Use 

• Residential: (Single Family Dwelling Units / Existing Multifamily) 
• Commercial/Cemetery: (only where existing)  
• Public: (Sterling Park Recreation Center and Sterling Park) 

Height and Intensity 

Base Height and FAR 
Max Height: 36 Feet 
FAR: 1.0 
Lot Coverage: 50% 
Residential Density: 13 
Units/Acre 

 
Sterling Park Opportunity Sites 

There are no opportunity sites in the Sterling Park neighborhood 

Signage 

All proposed signage at existing commercial businesses require sign permit approval. Proposed 
signs should not impact residential uses.  

Street Design 

The Sterling Park neighborhood includes streets and sidewalks with brick pavers, underground 
utilities, and attractive light fixtures and landscaping. 

See Goal LU-3 and associated policies LU-3.1, LU-3.3, LU-3.4, and LU-3.5 which apply to 
Sterling Park. 

  



 

  
 LU-46 

IMPLEMENTATION 
Land Use Implementation 

Programs 2021-2030 2031-2040 Annual Ongoing 

LU-IP1: The Town shall 
review the Zoning Ordinance 
to ensure that standards and 
regulations reinforce quality 
design, are clear and are 
easily monitored. 

 
 
X 

  
 
 
X 

Implements Policies: LU-1-2, LU-1-5 
Responsible Dept.: Planning 

LU-IP2: The Town shall 
continue to implement current 
codes, development standards 
and requirements to increase 
building and site efficiency of 
new and existing buildings 
over time. 

  
  

 
 
X 

Implements Policies: LU-2-1, LU-2-2, LU-2-4, LU-2-6, LU-2-8, LU-2-10 
Responsible Dept. Planning; Supporting Depts. Building and Public Works 

LU-IP3: The Town shall 
periodically review the 
development impact fee 
structure to ensure that new 
projects pay their fair share of 
the costs necessary to 
improve or expand public 
infrastructure and services to 
serve them. 

   
 
 
X  

Implements Policy: LU-4-1, LU-4-3 
Responsible Dept.: Planning; Supporting Dept. Engineering 

LU-IP4: The Town shall 
annually review and update 
the Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP) to ensure 
adequate and timely provision 
of public facilities and 
infrastructure to serve 
economic development 
activities. 

  
 
 
X 

  

Implements Policy: LU-4-4, LU-4-6 
Responsible Dept.: Public Works; Supporting Dept. Planning 



 

 LU-47 LU-47 

LU-IP5: Establish a 
community benefits ordinance 
based on market demand and 
feasibility. The ordinance 
would allow development 
projects to exceed the 
maximum density or intensity 
if the project demonstrates 
that it provides significant 
community benefits, such as 
incorporation of affordable 
housing, incorporation of 
public or community facilities, 
traffic reduction measures, 
creek daylighting or superior 
design and integration of a 
mix of uses. 

   
 
X 

    

Implements Policies: LU-8-1, LU-8-2 
Responsible Dept. Public Works; Supporting Depts. Planning and Administration 

 



Mobility Element 



 
 
 

 M-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PURPOSE 
The Mobility Element provides the goals, policies, and actions to develop a safe, efficient, and 
environmentally responsible multimodal transportation system in the town of Colma, ensuring 
that these facilities reflect the land uses contemplated by the Land Use Element, and ensuring 
appropriate facilities that enhance mobility for pedestrians, bicycles, automobiles and which 
encourages the use of public transit. There are no military airports or ports within the town.  

RELATIONSHIP TO STATE LAW 
California State law (Government Code Section 65302(b)) mandates that a city or county adopts 
a general plan with a mobility (circulation) element that consists of the general location and 
extent of existing and proposed major thoroughfares, transportation routes, and terminals, as 
well as other local public utilities and facilities. Discussion of other public utilities and facilities 
are addressed in the Open Space and Conservation and the Safety elements in the General 
Plan, in order to allow transportation to be the focus of the Mobility Element. 

RELATION TO OTHER ELEMENTS  
State law requires that the Mobility and Land Use elements of a General Plan be cooperatively 
developed. Integration of the Mobility and Land Use elements results in a General Plan that 
ensures adequate and appropriate mobility for all transportation modes and users with future 
planned development. The Mobility Element is primarily related to the Land Use, Housing, 



  
 
 

  
 M-2 

the community and decision-makers to ensure transportation facilities are built to provide 
mobility, support and enhance neighborhoods and activity centers built alongside them, and 
encourage travel by non-automobile modes while also improving public health.  

  



 
 
 

 M-3 

STREETS AND HIGHWAYS 
The street system within Colma is structured around State Highway 82 (El Camino Real) and 
Interstate 280, (I-280, Junipero Serra Freeway) which carry traffic into and out of town in a 
generally north-south direction. The internal street system consists of arterial streets, collector 
streets and local streets. Usable road width, sight distance, and travel speed generally decrease 
from major highways to local streets. 

FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATIONS 
Roadways serve two primary functions: mobility and property access. Higher and reliable 
speeds are desirable for mobility, while low speeds are more desirable for property access and 
bicycle and pedestrian safety, particularly in residential areas. A functional classification system 
provides a hierarchy of streets to meet both access and mobility needs. Arterials emphasize 
high mobility for through traffic, local streets emphasize property access, and collectors provide 
a balance between both functions. 

The Town of Colma uses a modified version of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) 
classifications. The street classifications table retains a correlation to the FHWA classification to 
ensure that Colma remains eligible for federal transportation funds. 

Table M-1: Roadway Classifications 

FHWA Roadway 
Classification 

Major 
Highway 

Principal 
Arterial Arterial Commercial 

Collector 
Residential 
Collector Local 

Principal Arterial, 
Interstate       

Principal Arterial, 
Freeways       

Principal Arterial, 
Other       

Minor Arterial       

Commercial 
Collector       

Local       
 
A street’s classification dictates the way a street is designed. Current one-size-fits-most design 
standards make it difficult to safely accommodate modes (meaning different forms of travel) 
and to adjust designs based on the unique needs of a neighborhood or street. Mode priorities 
for each street type are illustrated in Table M-2. This provides a guideline for prioritizing modes 



  
 
 

  
 M-4 

on new and improved roadways within the town. The recommended modal priorities aim to 
strike a balance between functional classification, adjacent land use, and competing travel 
needs and uses. Within limited right-of-way, these priorities allow the Town to make design 
trades-offs to best fit the function and need of various travel modes. In constrained conditions, 
modes identified as priority must be accommodated. 

Table M-2: Roadway Transportation Priorities  

 Transit Bicycles Pedestrian Trucks Automobiles  

Major Highway      
Principal Arterial      

Arterial      
Commercial Collector      
Residential Collector      

Local      
                            High Priority             Medium Priority   Low Priority              Prohibited 



 

 M-5 



  
 
 

  
 M-6 

Major Highways 

Major highways are limited access regional freeways that are a part of the state and regional 
network of highways. They are controlled by Caltrans (California Department of Transportation) 
and subject to State design standards. 

Principal Arterial 

El Camino Real is a principal arterial and a part of the state and regional network of highways, 
carrying a significant volume of regional motor vehicle traffic as well as providing regional 
transit service and transit connections. The corridor has mixed commercial and retail frontages. 
The roadway is controlled by Caltrans and is subject to State design standards. Pedestrian 
improvements are comfortable to walk along and provide safe crossings at designated locations. 
In areas of significant travel mode conflict, bicycle improvements may have lower priority, 
particularly where parallel corridors exist. 

Arterial Streets 

Arterial streets are primarily streets that serve as a majority of trips and that form the key 
connections within and to the town. Arterial streets provide a service for vehicles, transit, 
bicycles, and pedestrians wherever possible. Serving bicyclists is a greater priority along 
identified bicycle corridors. Pedestrian improvements are comfortable to walk along and provide 
safe crossings at designated locations. 

Commercial Collector 

Commercial collectors are streets with commercial frontages that accommodate intra-city trips 
while also distributing local traffic to major arterials. These roadways prioritize truck and vehicle 
modes of travel. Pedestrian improvements are comfortable to walk along and provide safe 
crossings at designated locations 

Residential Collector 

Residential collectors are streets that serve the same level of travel activity, and with the same 
connectivity, as commercial collectors, but have primarily residential frontages. Residential 
collector streets accommodate intra-city trips while also distributing local traffic to major 
arterials. These streets prioritize non-motorized travel, providing high quality conditions for 
walking and bicycling. 

Local Streets 

Local streets are low volume residential streets, serving mostly local traffic. They provide access 
primarily to abutting uses. These streets serve people walking and biking. 

Private Streets 



 
 
 

 M-7 

Private streets may be permitted for planned residential, commercial, or cemetery 
developments in Colma. The improved width of private roads should be designed to 
accommodate the level of traffic the road is expected to carry. Colma has two unique private 
streets worth noting: 

Cypress Hills Access Road (Partially Existing and Proposed) 

Cypress Hills Access Road is a proposed emergency access loop road extending from the 
Cypress Lawn Memorial Park’s Hillside Campus entrance to the golf driving range access road. 
The road is intended to provide emergency access to the cemetery properties and the base of 
San Bruno Mountain. The proposed access road would be a private road, available for police 
and fire emergency use. 
 
Decommissioned Landfill/Park Access Road 

Access to the decommissioned Hillside Landfill is provided by a two-lane road (Sand Hill Road; 
privately owned road). If the decommissioned landfill is redeveloped in the future, this access 
road will become the entrance to the site. The actual configuration and routing of the road may 
change depending on the end uses and conformance to accessibility and emergency access 
standards. 

“Paper” Streets 

The Cypress Hills area and Holy Cross lands east of Hillside Boulevard have a series of public 
easements remaining from when the land was originally platted for development. Although the 
streets were never built, a number of lots within the platted area were sold speculatively. These 
“in-holding” lots have not been developed, but nevertheless the Town is obliged to maintain the 

paper streets as a theoretical means of access. The paper streets remain on the County 
Assessor’s maps. The Town supports landowner applications to abandon paper streets that do 

not provide access to in-holding lots, are not needed for utility purposes, or are redundant with 
other paper streets.  

VISION ZERO 
Transportation safety can always be improved. “Vision Zero” is the simple notion that any loss 

of life on city streets is unacceptable. Humans, by nature, make mistakes. Vision Zero includes 
design practices to keep and make road networks safer for human activity and protect all users 
of the street and adjacent spaces. Colma has established a Vision Zero goal incorporating three 
key efforts: (1) project prioritization through Capital Improvement Plan projects, (2) 
engineering, and (3) enforcement to create safer streets by slowing vehicle traffic and reducing 
the impacts associated with vehicle travel. For example, streets can be made safer by 
minimizing truck routes through town, diverting goods movement to specific thoroughfares to 
protect vulnerable populations and minimizing risk to residents.  



  
 
 

  
 M-8 

Project prioritization through the Town’s Capital Improvement Plan promotes review of projects 

to ensure that the needs of non-motorized travelers are met in all stages of the design and 
implementation process. This effort also aims to upgrade existing infrastructure before incurring 
the costs associated with building new infrastructure. By using data driven findings, engineering 
efforts can more easily focus on critical safety components. Enforcement encourages safety and 
reduces unsafe behavior among pedestrians, bicyclists, and drivers. 

STREET TREES 
Street trees can improve Colma’s appearance and provide a link between cemetery/open space 

and developed areas, especially where new development occurs. Street trees can enhance the 
building scale, soften the visual impact of development in new and existing areas, and act as a 
moderator to Colma’s windy climate. The Town’s Climate Action Plan encourages/mandates the 

planting of street trees when street projects or opportunities exist. The Town received Tree City 
USA certification in 2019.  

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
Green Infrastructure (GI) is a means of restoring water quality through implementing a range of 
natural and built approaches to stormwater management that mimic natural systems. GI can 
reduce the amount of runoff that enters the traditional piped stormwater system below ground, 
prevent overflows that pollute nearby water bodies, clean stormwater, and allow water to 
reabsorb back into the ground. GI uses vegetation, soils, filter media, and/or natural processes 
to create healthier urban environments.  

Implementation of GI improvements, 
such as landscaping, irrigation, 
bioretention areas, stormwater capture 
devices, and pervious paving will 
improve the water quality of 
stormwater in Town rights-of-way and 
facilities. The Town of Colma Adopted 
a Green Infrastructure Plan in July 
2019. The plan describes how the 
Town will, over time, transition its 
existing “gray” (i.e., traditional) 
infrastructure to “green” infrastructure. 

The document also provides guidance 
to meet stormwater pollutant load 
reduction goals and creates a process 
for prioritizing the integration of GI 
into Capital Improvement Program 
projects. 



 
 
 

 M-9 

The Town successfully implemented its first Green Infrastructure project on Hillside Boulevard 
between Hoffman Street and Serramonte Boulevard.  

M-1-1: Vision Zero. Eliminate traffic fatalities and reduce the number of non-fatal collisions 
by 50 percent by 2040.  

M-1-2: Capital Improvement Prioritization. Maintain and upgrade exiting rights-of-way 
and ensure that the needs of non-motorized travelers are considered in planning, 
programing, and design of improvements.  

M-1-3: Fair Share Contributions. Require new development and redevelopment projects 
both within and outside of Colma to construct or pay their fair share towards 
improvements for all travel modes to provide enhanced connectivity to existing 
transportation facilities. 

M-1-4: Street Trees. Require street trees as a condition of private development, where 
feasible. In addition, look for opportunities to increase street tree planting as part of 
existing street renovation projects.  

M-1-5: Green Streets. Incorporate Green Streets best practices, as appropriate to the 
context, for new streets and street retrofits. 

M-1-6: Truck Routes. Consider Principal Arterials, Arterials, and Commercial Collectors as 
truck routes to provide for the safe transportation of goods and services through the 
town while minimizing risk to vulnerable populations.  

 

  



  
 
 

  
 M-10 

ROADWAY PERFORMANCE 
EVALUATING ROADWAY PERFORMANCE  
The determination of environmental impact as it relates to the transportation system has 
changed since the last General Plan update. The traditional performance measure has been 
Level of Service (LOS). LOS is a measure used to rate roadway traffic flow characteristics and 
serves as an indicator of roadway performance, relative to locally established standards for 
service quality. With the passage of SB 743, Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) has replaced LOS as 
the basis for determining transportation impact identification and mitigation under the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). VMT is a measure of the amount of travel for all vehicles in a 
geographic region over a given time period. VMT levels are lower in communities that are more 
walkable and compact and in communities that have strong public transportation systems. 
Increased population density is also associated with lower VMT per capita (ChangeLab 
Solutions, 2007; U.S. EPA, 2013). Some strategies that have shown success include: 

• Expanding public transportation and improving service; 

• Providing active transportation infrastructure (sidewalk, ADA, and bikeway 
improvements and connections); 

• Instituting higher parking fees; 

• Placing higher density and more affordable housing closer to transit, employment, and 
services;  

• Balancing the number and type of jobs in the community with the type and range of 
housing units and costs; and 

• Discouraging low density development in more remote areas without services that 
requires vehicle use. 

This Element provides a policy framework for determining the impact of VMT changes resulting 
from discretionary development within the town. The Town LOS standards and policies will 
remain for use as part of the transportation planning and consideration of land use changes and 
entitlement applications. Current LOS thresholds are shown in Tables M-3 and M-4. 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 M-11 

Table M-3 Roadway Segment Traffic Level of Service (LOS) Definitions 

LOS Roadway Segment Traffic Flow Conditions 

A Free flow. No traffic-related restrictions on vehicle maneuverability or speed. Speed is 
determined by drivers' desires, speed limits, and physical roadway conditions. 

B Stable flow. Operating speeds start to be restricted; little or no restrictions on 
maneuverability from other vehicles. Slight delays.  

C Stable flow. Speeds and maneuverability more closely restricted. Occasional backups 
behind left-turning vehicles at intersections. Acceptable delays.  

D 
Approaching unstable flow. Queues develop. Temporary restrictions on speed may cause 
extensive delays. Little freedom to maneuver. Comfort and convenience low. Delays at 
intersections may exceed one or more signal changes.  

E Unstable flow. Stoppages of momentary duration. Low operating speeds. Maneuverability 
severely limited. Intolerable delays. At-capacity operations. 

F Forced flow. Gridlock/over-capacity conditions. Stoppages for long periods. Low operating 
speeds.  

 

Table M-4 Signalized Intersection LOS Definitions 

LOS Intersection Conditions 

A Progression is extremely favorable and most vehicles arrive during the green phase. Most 
vehicles do not stop at all. Short cycle lengths contribute to low delay. 

B Good progression and/or short cycle lengths. More vehicles stop causing higher levels of 
average delay. 

C 

Fair progression and/or longer cycle lengths. Individual cycle failures, resulting in drivers 
having to wait through more than one red signal indication begin to appear. The number of 
vehicles stopping is significant, although many still pass through the intersection without 
stopping. 

D 
The influence of congestion becomes more noticeable. Unfavorable progression, long cycle 
lengths, or high volumes. Many vehicles stop. The proportion of vehicles not stopping 
declines. Individual cycle failures noticeable. 

E The limit of acceptable delay. Poor progression, long cycle lengths, and high volumes. 
Individual cycle failures are frequent. At-capacity operations. 

F Unacceptable to most drivers. Oversaturation, arrival flow rates exceed the capacity of the 
intersection. Many individual cycle failures. Poor progression and long cycle lengths. 

 

Guidelines from the California Office of Planning and Research require that cities replace LOS 
standards with multimodal VMT standards. This approach has changed the way municipalities 
measure transportation impacts. By using VMT, the project evaluation process may prioritize 
more sustainable transportation modes over high-capacity intersections. This can generate far-
reaching impacts, leading to safer, more efficient, and more sustainable local street design, and 
encouraging development in locations well served by multimodal infrastructure, rather than 
those characterized by low vehicle volumes.  



  
 
 

  
 M-12 

 

The following goal and policies establish a VMT standard and outline specific actions and 
programs the Town will undertake to ensure a multimodal approach to traffic impact analysis. 

M-2-1: Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. Require new development projects to achieve a 
reduction in VMT per capita or VMT per service population compared to both 
baseline VMT performance conditions and General Plan 2040 VMT performance 
conditions. The Town will regularly monitor baseline VMT to provide updated 
benchmarks for project applicants. Encourage use of VMT reduction strategies and 
methods to encourage non-automobile travel.  

M-2-2: Other Traffic Flow Benchmarks. Establish additional traffic flow benchmarks, 
such as vehicle-hours of travel and safety-related metrics, in order to evaluate and 
monitor changes in traffic flow over time.  

M-2-3: VMT Transportation Performance Measures. Update the Town’s transportation 

measures and thresholds to use VMT standards for traffic impact analysis rather than 
LOS. 

M-2-4: Multi-Modal Impact Fee. Consider establishing a transportation impact fee for 
new development tied to performance measures to generate funds for improving all 
modes of transportation. 

M-2-5: LOS Planned Operating Conditions. Strive to achieve LOS D as the planned 
operating condition for all arterial and collector roadway segments (“segments”) and 

intersections, except for (1) those specified segments and intersections for which 
planned LOS conditions are otherwise established; and (2) segments and 
intersections that are operating at LOS E or lower at the time an application for a 
proposed development project is submitted, if no feasible improvements exist to 
improve the LOS. The Town may permit the then-existing LOS to be the minimum 
acceptable operating condition for those segments and intersections in category (2), 
provided that the LOS does not deteriorate further due to the proposed 
development. 



 
 
 

 M-13 

M-2-6: Development Review Requirements. Require proposed development projects 
that could result in increased traffic to include improvements that assure LOS levels 
do not fall below the established minimum standard. Ensure that improvements are 
coordinated with roadway improvements programmed for funding through 
transportation-related impact fees and that the operational benefits of large-scale, 
automobile capacity-focused improvements are balanced against the induced VMT 
resulting from the improvements.   



  
 
 

  
 M-14 

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION 

The public road system allows schedule and routing flexibility for those who use it. In contrast, 
transportation facilities (such as public transit) provide for the movement of goods and people 
generally along fixed routes and on a fixed schedule. Colma is fortunate to have access to three 
different modes of public transportation: air, rail, and bus. In addition, Colma residents and 
workers can take advantage of paratransit opportunities.  

BUS TRANSIT 
San Mateo County Transit District (SAMTRANS) 

San Mateo Transit District (SamTrans) provides bus service throughout San Mateo County with 
connections to the Colma, Daly City, and South San Francisco BART Stations, San Francisco 
International Airport, Peninsula Caltrain Stations, San Francisco Greyhound Depot, and 
Downtown San Francisco’s Transbay Terminal. It also provides access to Santa Clara County 
Transit, with connections in Menlo Park and Palo Alto. 

Colma residents can catch SamTrans Mainline Routes along El Camino Real or SamTrans Local 
Routes along El Camino Real and Junipero Serra Boulevard. Senior citizens and disabled patrons 
may ride anywhere in the County for a reduced fare 

Paratransit Service 

SamTrans provides two on-call, curb-to-curb paratransit services for disabled and elderly 
residents of San Mateo County. Redi-Wheels serves the bay side of San Mateo County while 



 
 
 

 M-15 

Redi-Coast serves the coast side of San Mateo County. Colma is served by Redi-Wheels. Redi-
Wheels passengers must reserve trips one to seven days in advance or set up subscription 
services for regular trips. Paratransit customers may ride any fixed-route services for free. 

Long Distance Bus Service 

There is no scheduled intercity bus service (Greyhound or other carriers) serving Colma. The 
closest long-distance bus stations are in San Francisco, Oakland, and San Jose. 

DEMAND RESPONSIVE TRANSIT 
Demand Responsive Transit can best be described as participant or provider scheduled, 
collective transit using smaller vehicles such as vans and automobiles. Colma is fortunate to 
have many types of Demand Responsive Transit available for the benefit of citizens, employees, 
and customers of local establishments. The following are examples of Demand Responsive 
Transit operating in Colma: 

Airport Shuttle Services 

Numerous airport shuttle services provide pickup and drop off service from a home or business 
in Colma to and from San Francisco International Airport. These trips are arranged via a 
telephone or smartphone and booked in advance. 

Taxis 

Private taxi companies provide door-to-door private rides. These trips are arranged via a street 
hail, taxi stands, telephone orders, and a smartphone app. Colma is served by taxicab 
companies located in Pacifica, Daly City, unincorporated Daly City, and South San Francisco.  

Auto Dealer Shuttles 

Many of the local auto dealers provide a shuttle service to customers who are having auto 
repair work done on their cars. These shuttles assist individuals who live or work in Colma or 
neighboring communities. 

Transportation Network Companies (TNCs)  

Also known as ride-hail or ride share companies, TNCs provide a variety of services ranging 
from door-to-door-private rides to shared trips with other passengers. These trips are arranged 
utilizing a smartphone app. These companies include Uber and Lyft.  

RAIL TRANSIT  
Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) 



  
 
 

  
 M-16 

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit district (BART) provides heavy-rail, regional transit 
service via five rail lines in the following four Bay Area counties: Alameda, Contra Costa, San 
Francisco, and San Mateo. There are 
two BART stations located just outside 
of the town limits. BART runs trains 
north and south through the Colma 
station. North bound trains pass 
through Daly City and San Francisco 
stations on their way to the East Bay 
(East Bay destinations include 
Richmond, Pittsburg/Bay Point, Dublin, 
and Fremont), and south bound trains 
pass through South San Francisco, San 
Bruno, and Millbrae stations on their 
way to San Francisco International 
Airport. Trains run Monday through 
Friday from 4:00 A.M. to midnight and on Saturday and Sunday from 6:00 A.M. to midnight. 
The Colma BART station is located at Mission Street and Albert M. Teglia Boulevard, just north 
of the Colma town Limits.  

Caltrain 

Caltrain, operated by the Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board, provides passenger rail service 
to the Peninsula cities, extending from San Francisco to San Jose and Gilroy. Trains run Monday 
through Friday from 5:00 A.M. to midnight, Saturday from 7:00 A.M. to midnight, and Sunday 
from 8:00 A.M. to 10:00 P.M. Colma’s nearest Caltrain station is located approximately four 
miles away in South San Francisco. 

AIR TRANSIT 
San Francisco International Airport (SFO) 

San Francisco International Airport is located approximately six miles from Colma, east of 
Highway 101 and adjacent to the Cities of San Bruno and Millbrae. The airport is a major 
regional passenger and cargo air terminal and the seventh most active commercial airfield in 
the world. It can be reached by Colma residents via private auto, SamTrans bus, and BART. 



 
 
 

 M-17 

M-3-1: Agency Collaboration and Coordination. Collaborate with Caltrans, the City and 
County Association of Governments (C/CAG), surrounding jurisdictions, and other 
agencies to improve connectivity between the county, cities, and the town.  

M-3-2: El Camino Real. Ensure that El Camino Real retains its distinct character, while 
encouraging improvements which support increased multi-modal use.  

M-3-3: Regional Transportation Planning. Actively participate in and support regional 
transportation planning efforts. 

M-3-4: Transit Funding. Seek joint transportation and transit funding opportunities with 
adjoining jurisdictions or agencies to improve transit access in and around Colma. 

M-3-5: Transportation Gaps. Eliminate gaps in the regional active transportation network 
in Colma. 

M-4-1: Transit Stops. Support the installation of 
transit stop amenities including shelters, 
benches, real-time information panels, lighting, 
bike parking, and bike sharing stations.

M-4-2: Reliable Transportation Services. 
Encourage SamTrans and other public transit 
providers to provide service on regular 
schedules along El Camino Real, arterial streets, 
and, as feasible, major collectors; support these 
transportation services to increase the mobility 
of seniors, the disabled, and others who depend 
on public transportation. 

M-4-3: Encourage Transportation Options. 
Encourage and support various public transit 
agencies and companies, ride-sharing programs, 
and other incentive programs that provide residents and visitors with transportation 
choices other than the private automobile. 



  
 
 

  
 M-18 

M-4-4: Transit Oriented Development. Promote the development of multi-modal mixed-
use development at sites surrounding the Colma BART station, where feasible along 
Mission Road, and at the Town Center site. 

M-4-5: Connections to Homes and Businesses. Seek opportunities to improve first and 
last mile connections between transit, homes, and businesses. 

 
 

  



 
 
 

 M-19 

ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION 
Active Transportation offer numerous benefits, including congestion reduction, economic 
competitiveness, environmental stewardship, public safety, social equity, and community health. 
Much of Colma can be reached with a short walk or bicycle ride. Walking and Biking can support 
commuter and recreational needs and provide connectivity between residents and schools, 
parks, shopping areas, jobs, and transit connections to areas outside the town limits.  

COMPLETE STREETS 
The California Complete Streets Act of 2008 requires that Colma plan a multimodal 
transportation network that allows for effective travel by motor vehicle, foot, bicycle, and transit 
to key destinations within the community and the larger region. The law emphasizes that cities 
prioritize the construction of public improvements that accelerate the development of a 
balanced, multimodal transportation network. The Mobility Element accomplishes this goal in-
part through a Complete Streets Policy. The Town of Colma is committed to improving mobility 
whenever possible as capital improvement projects or private developments are considered. 

PEDESTRIAN FACILITIES 
Walking is a basic and often overlooked part of all trips that also involve transit or automobiles. 
Walking can be ideal for short, local trips for shopping, school, and recreation. Providing 
adequate facilities for pedestrians will help to ensure access to commercial, educational, 
recreational, and residential uses. 

Pedestrian facilities include sidewalks, paths, trails, curb ramps, and crossings. Amenities such 
as street furniture, pedestrian-scale lighting, and landscaping, serve to create an environment 
that is conducive to walking and is conformable and safe for pedestrians. The Town will 
continue to identify areas in need of appropriate pedestrian improvements. Currently there are 
two plans and  one project to improve pedestrian facilities. These are: 

• The El Camino Pedestrian and Bicycle Master Plan 
• The Serramonte Boulevard and Collins Avenue Master Plan 
• The Mission Road Improvement Project 
 
The El Camino Real and Pedestrian and Bicycle Master plan proposes to improve both 
pedestrian and bicycle circulation. An initial alternative includes the removal of a travel lane in 
each direction between F Street to the north and El Camino Real’s intersection with Mission 

Road to the south. Project implementation will require a significant capital improvement 
investment as well as grant funding and is not anticipated until after the year 2025. Cost 
estimates have not been prepared, but the project is anticipated to exceed ten million dollars.  
 



  
 
 

  
 M-20 

The Serramonte Boulevard and Collins Avenue Master Plan was completed in 2019 and 
proposes improvements on Collins Avenue, Serramonte Boulevard West, and Serramonte 
Boulevard East. Proposed improvements include the reduction of lanes on Serramonte 
Boulevard from 4 to 3 between the Serra Center driveway and El Camino Real. With the lane 
reduction, there is an opportunity to widen sidewalks, install high-visibility crosswalks, and 
install landscaping. Implementation is not anticipated until after 2023 or later, with a possible 
initial phase which includes roadway restriping to remove a travel lane on Serramonte West.  
 
The Mission Road Improvement Project was implemented in 2021 and included pedestrian, 
bicycle, and roadway improvements on Mission Road. 



 
 
 

 M-21 



  
 
 

  
 M-22 

BICYCLE FACILITIES  
Biking is ideal for trips which may be too long to walk but are short enough that a vehicle is not 
needed. Biking is presently not a frequent means of travel in the town, which may be attributed 
to gaps in infrastructure and hilly terrain. 

Bicycle facilities include bikeways, crossings and amenities such as bicycle racks, lighting, and 
landscaping, which serve to create an environment that is conducive to biking and is 
conformable and safe for bicyclists.  

The Town will continue to identify areas in need of appropriate bicycle improvements. Currently 
there is one plan and one project to improve bicycle facilities. Descriptions are provided above. 
These include: 

• The El Camino Real Pedestrian and Bicycle Master Plan 
• The Mission Road Improvement Project 
 

The following are the four types of established bikeway classifications:   

• Class I Bikeways (Shared-Use Path) provide a completely separate right-of-way and are 
designated for the exclusive use of bicycles and pedestrians, with vehicle and pedestrian 
crossflow minimized. In general, bike paths serve corridors where on-street facilities are 
not feasible or where sufficient right-of-way exists to allow them to be constructed. 

• Class II Bikeways (Bicycle Lanes) are dedicated lanes for bicyclists generally adjacent to 
the outer vehicle travel lanes. These lanes have special lane markings, pavement 
legends, and signage. Bicycle lanes are typically five feet wide. Adjacent vehicle parking 
and vehicle/pedestrian crossflow are permitted.  

• Class III Bikeways (Bicycle Route) are designated by signs or pavement markings for 
shared use with pedestrians or motor vehicles but have no separated bike right-of-way 
or lane striping. Bike routes serve either to a) provide a connection to other bicycle 
facilities where dedicated facilities are infeasible, or b) designate preferred routes 
through high-demand corridors. 

• Class IV Bikeways (cycle tracks or “separated” bikeways) provide a right-of-way 
designated exclusively for bicycle travel within a roadway and are protected from other 
vehicle traffic by physical barriers, including, but not limited to, grade separation, 
flexible posts, inflexible vertical barriers such as raised curbs, or parked cars. 

In Colma, as shown in Figure M-3, only Class II and Class III bikeways are existing.



 
 
 

  M-23 



  
 
 

  
 M-24 

M-5-1: Complete Streets. Incorporate Complete Streets infrastructure elements into new 
streets, street retrofits and certain maintenance projects to encourage multiple 
modes of travel, based on the modal priorities in Table M-2, as appropriate to the 
context and determined reasonable and practicable by the Town. 

 
M-5-2: Design for All Travel Modes. Plan, design, and construct transportation projects 

to safely accommodate the needs of pedestrians, bicyclists, transit riders, motorists, 
people with mobility challenges, and persons of all ages and abilities. 

M-5-3: Bicycle Connection Coordination. Coordinate with BART, South San Francisco, 
Daly City, Caltrans, and San Mateo County to plan and implement bicycle and 
pedestrian improvements which connect with improvements to BART facilities and 
regional networks. 

 
M-5-4: Accessibility and Universal Design. Prioritize implementation of pedestrian 

facilities that improve accessibility consistent with guidelines established by the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), allowing mobility-impaired users, such as the 
disabled and seniors, to travel safely and effectively within and beyond the town. 

M-5-5: Design of New Development. Require new development to incorporate design 
that prioritizes safe pedestrian and bicycle travel and accommodate senior citizens, 
people with mobility challenges, and children. 

 

 



 
 
 

 M-25 

SCENIC CORRIDORS 
Many of Colma’s rights-of-way, including streets, trails, and sidewalks, offer a special visual 
experience. Distant, panoramic views of Colma and its environs can be appreciated in a number 
of locations. The State of California has identified I-280 as a State Scenic Highway from the 
Santa Clara County line to the San Bruno City limit. The section from the San Bruno City limit 
north through Colma is an Eligible State Scenic Highway, however, it has yet to be officially 
designated. Although there are no State designated scenic highways in Colma, foreground 
views of San Bruno Mountain and panoramic views of the built environments of Colma, South 
San Francisco, and Daly City provide a memorable and highly valued landscape.  

SCENIC CORRIDORS PROTECTION 
The Town of Colma has 
designated I-280, El Camino Real, 
and Hillside Boulevard as scenic 
corridors through Colma in order 
to protect and enhance the overall 
visual experience along each of 
the identified scenic corridors, 
primarily through sensitive site 
planning in these locations taking 
into consideration the possible 
impacts on the views (see Figure 
M.3).



  
 
 

  
 M-26 



 
 
 

 M-27 

M-6-1: Site Planning. Locate and design development projects within a scenic corridor to 
carefully fit within their environment and setting. The scenic character of the site 
should be maintained as much as possible. All development should be sited and 
designed to minimize the impacts of noise, light, glare, and odors on adjacent 
properties with the community at large. 

M-6-2: Access to Scenic Corridors. Minimize the number of access roads to a scenic 
corridor wherever possible. Development of access roads shall be combined with the 
intent of minimizing intersections with scenic roadways. 

M-6-3: Visual Impacts. Minimize visual impacts along scenic corridors. 

M-6-4: Paving Integration. Require new development to design site plans that integrate 
paved areas into the site, relate paved areas to their structure, and landscape paved 
areas to reduce their visual impact from scenic corridors. Encourage use of textured 
paving.  

  



  
 
 

  
 M-28 

TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT 
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) programs are intended to reduce vehicle trips and 
parking demand by promoting the use of a variety of transportation options and shifting travel 
mode and time of day to take advantage of available capacity to reduce crowding and 
congestion. By implementing TDM programs, municipalities and private entities can use 
available transportation resources more efficiently. 

TDM measures cover a broad spectrum, including subsidies for use of alternatives to the solo 
occupant vehicle, parking and road pricing, work scheduling alternatives, car sharing programs, 
and many others. The Town is a member of the Commute.org joint powers authority which is 
San Mateo County’s transportation demand management agency. Funding for Commute.org is 
provided by C/CAG, the San Mateo County Transportation Authority, Bay Area Air Quality 
Management District, and the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC). Commute.org 
offers a wide array of commuter incentives and countywide TDM services to employers and 
employees. 

The Town adopted a Climate Action Plan (CAP) in 2013 which identified strategies to support 
statewide greenhouse gas reduction. The CAP included a recommendation to promote TDM 
strategies for businesses with more than 50 employees. 

M-7-1: TDM Program. Continue to participate in the TDM Program as outlined by the San 
Mateo City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG).  

M-7-2: TDM Program for New Development. Require major development proposals to 
include a detailed, verifiable TDM program for consideration by the Town during the 
review of the development application. 

M-7-3: Vehicle Trip Reduction. Support vehicle trip reduction strategies, including building 
safer and more inviting transportation networks, supporting connections to high 
frequency and regional transit, implementing TDM programs, and integrating land use 
and transportation decisions.  

 

 

 



 
 
 

 M-29 

PARKING 
Encouraging the development of an efficient and adequate parking supply can reduce the 
negative effects of parking on the pedestrian environment and surrounding neighborhoods, and 
support the Town’s goals for complete streets, walkability, bikeability, and effective transit. A 
shared public parking approach and “park-once” strategies allow motorists to complete multiple 

daily tasks before moving their vehicle, thereby reducing both vehicle trips and parking 
demand, particularly in mixed-use areas. With decreased parking demand and establishment of 
public parking management strategies, the on- and off-street parking supply can be used more 
efficiently, ensuring that adequate parking is available for short-term and nearby uses.  

M-8-1: Parking Standards. Reevaluate minimum parking standards to account for 
emerging mobility trends, such as shared mobility, micromobility, autonomous 
vehicles, and future technology changes. Consider reducing parking requirements for 
mixed-use developments. 

M-8-2: Flexible Residential Parking Standards. Establish flexible parking standards, 
review residential parking requirements in the Zoning Ordinance, and consider new 
parking provisions and exceptions with the objective of “right-sizing” parking areas 

and reducing the reliance on automobile use. 

M-8-3: Town-wide Parking Zone Adjustments. Continue to monitor street parking 
needs of Colma businesses and adjust parking time limits, signage and striping when 
needed. 

M-8-4: Residential Parking Permit Program. Monitor and continue to make needed 
adjustments to the residential parking permit program. 

M-8-5: Alternative Energy Vehicle Parking. Support the provision of infrastructure for 
alternative fuel vehicles, such as electric vehicle charging stations, to facilitate low 
and zero-emission vehicle use. 

  



  
 
 

  
 M-30 

IMPLEMENTATION  
Mobility Implementation 

Programs 2021-2030 2031-2040 Annual Ongoing 

M-IP1: Regularly monitor 
collisions to respond to safety 
problems and changing 
conditions. Prioritize locations 
with high collision rates for 
safety improvements. 

       
 
X 

Implements Policy: M-1-1, M-1-2, M-1-3 
Responsible Dept.: Engineering, Supporting Dept. Planning 

M-IP2: Review proposed 
improvement plans to ensure 
that roadway projects, 
retrofits, and maintenance 
projects incorporate Complete 
Streets elements which 
support multiple modes of 
travel. 

   
X 

Implements Policy: M-1-2, M-1-5 
Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. Engineering 

M-IP3: Implement Grand 
Boulevard Initiative 
principles, where appropriate, 
along El Camino Real within 
town limits. 

   
 
X 

Implements Policy: M-3-2, M-3-3 
Responsible Dept.: Planning 

M-IP4: Consider adopting a 
transportation impact fee for 
new development which does 
not satisfy VMT goals to 
generate funds for improving 
all modes of transportation. 

 
X 

    
 

Implements Policy: M-2-1, M-2-2, M-2-3, M-2-4, M-2-6 
Responsible Dept. Planning, Supporting Dept. Engineering  

M-IP5: Assess the 
maintenance of sidewalks, 
pavement and markings, 
pedestrian crossing signals, 
and lighting on an on-going 
basis and prioritize projects 

       
 

X 
 



 
 
 

 M-31 

based on need and available 
funding. 

Implements Policy: M-1-2, M-5-1 
Responsible Dept. Engineering 

M-IP6: Identify alternative 
energy vehicle charging 
locations and opportunities to 
integrate emerging 
technology into public parking 
infrastructure to encourage 
and expand the use of zero-
emissions vehicles. 

 
     

 
X 

Implements Policy: M-8-5 
Responsible Dept.: Engineering, Supporting Dept.: Planning 

M-IP7: Periodically review 
Town Code parking 
requirements and standards 
to ensure that they are 
adequate to meet demand. 

 
X 

     
X 

Implements Policy: M-8-1, M-8-2 and M-8-3 
Responsible Dept.: Planning 

 



Housing Element 



 
 
 

 H-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTION  
PURPOSE OF THE HOUSING ELEMENT 
The purpose of the 2015 Housing Element of the Town of Colma General Plan is to plan for the 
Town’s housing needs and establish the housing-related goals, objectives and programs 
necessary to allow for and encourage the development and maintenance of housing for all 
economic segments of the community over the 2015 – 2023 planning period. The Housing 
Element is designed to comply with State Housing Element Law and guidelines for the 
preparation and adoption of Housing Elements. 

SETTING, CONTEXT AND HOUSING NEED  
Colma’s location just south of San Francisco and Daly City makes it a desirable and slightly 
more affordable location to live than San Francisco, with easy transit into San Francisco from 
the Colma and South San Francisco BART stations.  Colma is also a regional shopping 
destination for automobiles and retail goods.  Colma has limited land available for new 
development given that about 76% of its two square miles is devoted to cemetery land uses.  
Remaining land uses include developed residential properties and commercial uses.  



  
 
 

  
 H-2 

The San Francisco Bay Area continues to be one of the most desirable and expensive real 
estate markets in the country. Despite the economic downturn and a lowering of housing prices 
that began in 2008, rents generally continued to rise throughout region.  Housing sales prices 
have regained losses associated with the recession and most Bay Area homes are too expensive 
for families with average household incomes to afford.  Despite its small size and limited land 
resources, opportunities exist within Colma to provide new and affordable housing with good 
transit access. 

In a collaborative process, the 20 cities of San Mateo County and the County of San Mateo 
formed a countywide “Sub-region,” an ad-hoc joint powers authority formed to specifically 
administer ABAG’s Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) process. From this process, it was 
determined that Colma’s allocation is 59 units, 37 of which are allocated as units affordable to 

moderate, low, very-low and extremely low income households.  The RHNA applies to the years 
2015 to 2023. No units have been developed within Colma since 2009, leaving an estimated 
need of 59 units for the 2015 – 2023 period. Colma has the capacity for these 59 units through 
the development of vacant and underutilized parcels located throughout the Town.  Colma has 

The Town’s historic cemetery uses make Colma a truly unique community, but also place constraints on the development 

of housing. Here townhomes in the Villa Hoffman development look out over Olivet Cemetery. 



 
 
 

 H-3 

also adopted goals, policies and programs to encourage and facilitate the development of these 
units.  

 Development of an additional 59 units before the close of the planning period is feasible (since 
the sites are zoned for housing) but construction before the end of the planning period is 
unpredictable due to the economy.  Colma, however, faces significant non-governmental 
constraints to the development of housing units, the most pressing and unique of which is 
Colma’s cemetery land uses. Cemetery and related land uses comprise approximately 76% of 
the Town’s total land area, and are an historic use in Colma, a Town originally incorporated to 

protect cemetery land uses and accommodate the regional need for these uses. By State law, 
the dedication of property for cemetery uses makes these lands unavailable for housing 
projects. 

Cemeteries tend to suffer from vandalism when residential uses are built nearby. Furthermore, 
some cultural groups and some individuals may avoid living near cemeteries if possible; 
however, Colma’s cemeteries are easily visible from many development sites within the Town. 

Cemetery uses also place fiscal constraints on the Town, which receives no tax revenue from 
cemetery uses or burials. This financial constraint increases the dependence of the Town on its 
regional commercial and retail uses to fund Town services. See the Governmental Constraints 
Section and Non-Governmental Constraints Section for more information regarding constraints 
to residential development in Colma. 

CONTENTS AND ORGANIZATION OF THE HOUSING ELEMENT 
The contents of the 2015 Housing Element include an analysis of population, employment and 
housing trends, an evaluation of housing needs, statements of goals and policies, a schedule of 
programs and actions, and an estimate of the number of housing units the Town expects to be 
developed, improved and maintained in the local housing stock. Programs and policies in the 
2009 Housing Element were evaluated and modified where necessary to reflect changing 
market conditions and policy priorities. The 2015 Housing Element is organized into the 
following sections:  

▪ Introduction to the Housing Element 
▪ Population, Housing and Employment Trends 
▪ Existing and Projected Housing Needs 
▪ Ability to Meet Housing Needs 
▪ Evaluation of Housing Programs 
▪ Housing Program Strategy 
▪ Housing Goals, Policies, and Programs 

BACKGROUND AND HISTORY OF THE HOUSING ELEMENT 
The Town of Colma has previously adopted several Housing Elements, as follows: 



  
 
 

  
 H-4 

▪ 1991 Housing Element (1988-1995 Planning Period); 
▪ 1999 Housing Element (prepared with comprehensive General Plan update, 1995-1999 

Planning Period); 
▪ 2004 Housing Element (1999-2007 Planning Period); and 
▪ 2009 Housing Element (2007-2014 Planning Period; adopted October 2012) 

When referred to in the text of this document, previous Housing Elements will be referenced 
primarily by date and title and not planning period. This Housing Element is an update and 
revision of the 2009 Housing Element, adopted in October 2012. This current Housing Element 
is titled and referenced as the 2015 Housing Element throughout this document. The State of 
California requires housing element updates at regularly designated time periods or when a city 
or town makes any change in its policies, zoning and land use designations. State law mandates 
that all cities in the San Francisco Bay Area submit an adopted housing element by January 31, 
2015 which takes into account the housing needs assessment numbers allocated to the 
jurisdiction by the Association of Bay Area Governments, or ABAG for 2015 through 2023.  

To meet this requirement, policies from the 2009 Housing Element were reviewed, projected 
housing needs of all economic segments of Colma evaluated, and new policies and programs 
aimed at the preservation and improvement of housing have been developed. 

RELATED PLANS AND PROGRAMS 
Relationship to other General Plan Elements 

The Housing Element is closely related to the Land Use, Conservation/Open Space and 
Circulation Elements of the Town of Colma General Plan.  

The Land Use Element sets forth the amount and type of residential development permitted 
under the General Plan, thereby establishing housing opportunity in Colma. In addition, the 
Land Use Element contains policies directed at maintaining the existing housing stock, as well 
as ensuring the quality of new residential development. 

The Circulation Element contains policies to minimize traffic spillover into residential 
neighborhoods and includes complete street considerations for alternate transportation such as 
transit, bicycling and walking. The Conservation/Open Space Element establishes policies to 
minimize the impact of residential development on sensitive resources, such as ecological 
habitat, and scenic viewsheds. 

Finally, the Safety Element sets forth policies to ensure the safety of the Colma’s housing stock 

through such measures as mitigation of environmental hazards as a condition to development. 

The Housing Element has been reviewed for consistency with Colma’s other General Plan 

elements, and the policies and programs in this Element reflect the policy direction contained in 
other parts of the General Plan. As portions of the General Plan are amended in the future, this 



 
 
 

 H-5 

Housing Element will be reviewed to ensure that internal consistency is maintained.  It is 
entirely consistent with the policies and proposals set forth by the Plan. 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 65400, the City will annually review its progress in 
implementing this Housing Element and ensuring consistency between this and the City’s other 

General Plan Elements. 

Climate Action Plan 

The Town of Colma joins a growing number of California cities who have adopted a Climate 
Action Plan to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and meet State emission reduction 
targets.  The Town adopted the Plan in May of 2013. The Plan includes programs such as 
energy efficiency, water conservation, and improved recycling programs for residents and 
businesses.  Colma will also see an increase of bicycle lanes, green business program 
participation and a new green building program.  These programs not only reduce emissions, 
they also help residents and businesses save money and conserve natural resources.  

The 2015 Housing Element is fully consistent with the Climate Action Plan.  Housing Element 
policies that encourage the maintenance and upgrades to existing residences are inherently 
sustainable since new resources are not used to reconstruct units.  New housing units will be 
required to be constructed to the latest energy and water saving standards, which will make 
them efficient and economical to maintain. 

HOPE Plan to End Homelessness  

HOPE (Housing Our People Effectively) is a ten-year action plan initiated by San Mateo County 
that brings together the business, nonprofit, and public sector communities to address the 
challenging issue of homelessness. This plan reflects the Board of Supervisors' goal that 
housing should exist in our community for people at all income levels and all generations of 
families, including those who are extremely low-income or who are homeless. To end 
homelessness, San Mateo County must follow the housing strategy successfully documented in 
other communities around the country. The HOPE Plan is built around the following two key 
strategies:  

▪ Housing - increasing the supply of permanent affordable and supportive housing for 
people who are homeless and developing strategies to help them move into housing as 
rapidly as possible; and  

▪ Prevention - prevent individuals and families from becoming homeless in the first place 
by assisting them to maintain their housing. These goals are consistent with the Town of 
Colma Housing Element. 

Grand Boulevard Initiative  

The Grand Boulevard Initiative is a coordinated effort of 19 cities (including the Town of 
Colma), San Mateo and Santa Clara counties, and local and regional agencies united to improve 



  
 
 

  
 H-6 

the performance, safety, and aesthetics of El Camino Real. Starting at the northern Daly City 
boundary (where it is named Mission Street) and ending near the Diridon Caltrain Station in 
central San Jose (where it is named The Alameda), the initiative brings together for the first 
time all of the agencies having responsibility for the condition, use, and performance of the El 
Camino Real. The Grand Boulevard Initiative looks to transform El Camino Real from a 
suburban, low-density strip commercial highway to vibrant, mixed-use pedestrian-friendly 
boulevard and destination that links regional transportation improvements and local economic 
development efforts. 

Within Colma, much of the El Camino Real is dedicated to cemetery uses and the Town desires 
development that is respectful of this established land use.  However, opportunities exist on the 
northern edge of Colma for the development of housing across the street and adjacent to the 
Colma BART station and to the south on Mission Road.  

Plan Bay Area and Priority Development Areas (PDA) 

Plan Bay Area is an integrated transportation and land-use strategy through the year 2040 that 
marks the Bay Area’s nine-county first long-range plan to meet the requirements of California’s 

landmark 2008 Senate Bill 375.  This bill calls on each of the state’s 18 metropolitan areas to 

develop a Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS) to accommodate future population growth 
and reduce greenhouse gas emissions from cars and light trucks.  Working in collaboration with 
cities and counties, the Plan advances initiatives to expand housing and transportation choices, 
create healthier communities, and build a stronger regional economy. 

The Plan was prepared by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and the 
Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) and approved in July of 2013. It is the long-term 
regional land-use and transportation strategy for the Bay Area, and Transportation funding from 
state and federal sources will be distributed consistent with the plan. In addition, it will be used 
to determine housing needs allocations for Bay Area jurisdictions, including Colma. 

The El Camino Real corridor and is in a “Priority Development Area” (PDA) along which a 

majority of the new residential development in San Mateo County is expected to be created. 
The defined ¼-mile buffer around El Camino Real from Daly City to San Jose is a planned PDA 
to encourage and leverage future growth near transit in existing communities. 

All of Colma’s new housing is anticipated to be within the PDA area, on El Camino Real or on 

Mission Road.  By placing new housing in this corridor, residents will benefit from good transit 
options for local and regional travel.   

 

 

 



 
 
 

 H-7 

POPULATION, HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT TRENDS  
GENERAL DEMOGRAPHICS AND PROJECTIONS SUMMARY 

Colma is a town of 1,458 residents according to Department of Finance estimates from January 
2013. Colma’s small population grew from 2000 to 2010 from 1,187 to 1,454: increasing by 267 

residents or 22 percent. ABAG predicts Colma will continue to grow over the next 20 years, 
albeit not as rapidly, to reach a population of 1,874 in 2030.  

Table H-1: Colma’s Population Growth 

 

Table H-2: San Mateo County and State Population Growth 

  
Number Percent Change 

Colma County State Colma County State 
1990 1,103 649,623 29,760,021 x x x 
2000 1,187 707,163 33,871,648 8% 9% 14% 
2010 1,454 718,451 37,253,956 22% 2% 10% 
2020 (Projected) 1,700 801,300 x ?% 12% x 
2030 (Projected) 1,874 862,800 x 29% 8% x 
Source: Association of Bay Area Governments, Projections 2009; US Census SF1 1990-2010 

Colma is more diverse than San Mateo County as a whole. Only a third of the residents are 
white (compared to well over half in the county) and almost half are Asian. Over the past 
decade, the white population has declined, while the Asian population has grown. 
Approximately a quarter of the residents are non-white or more than one race. Additionally, 40 
percent of the population is Hispanic. Latino or Hispanic is not a separate racial category on the 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

1990 2000 2010 2020
(Projected)

2030
(Projected)



  
 
 

  
 H-8 

American Community Survey, and so all individuals who identify as Latino or Hispanic also 
belong to another racial category as well (i.e.- black, white, other etc.).  

Table H-3: Race and Ethnicity 

 Race and Ethnicity Colma County State 
White 32% 59% 62% 
Black 1% 3% 6% 
Asian 44% 25% 13% 
Other 20% 8% 14% 
More than one Race 3% 5% 4% 
Hispanic 40% 25% 38% 
Not Hispanic 60% 75% 62% 
Total population 1,785* 720,143 37,330,448 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

*Includes additional population in unincorporated San Manteo County and Daly City 

immediately adjacent to Colma. 

The average age in Colma has decreased notably over the past decade. In 2000, the median 
age was 37 but in 2011 it was 31. This appears to be due to a growth in the 20-34 segments of 
the population, which grew from one-fifth of the total population in 2000 to a third in 2011. 
Almost 30 percent of Colma’s population is comprised of children under 19, and only 12 percent 

of the population includes seniors over the age of 60. Colma is the only city in San Mateo 
County whose population has gotten younger.  

Table H-4: Age of Residents 

Age 
2000 2011 

Colma Colma County State 
Under 5 years 5% 9% 6% 7% 
5 to 19 years 21% 18% 18% 21% 
20 to 34 years 21% 33% 19% 22% 
35 to 44 years 18% 12% 15% 14% 
45 to 59 years 15% 17% 22% 20% 
60 to 74 years 10% 8% 13% 11% 
75 years and over 9% 3% 6% 5% 
Median age 37 31 39 35 
Total population 1,191 1,785* 720,143 37,330,448 
Source: 2000 US Census SF1, 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

*Includes additional population in unincorporated San Manteo County and Daly City 

immediately adjacent to Colma. 



 
 
 

 H-9 

HOUSING SAN MATEO COUNTY’S WORKFORCE 
INCOME CATEGORIES 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and the California Department 
of Housing and Community Development (HCD) use household income categories to help 
standardize analysis of housing needs. The income categories are summarized below and are 
based on a household’s percentage of San Mateo County’s Area Median Income (AMI).  

Table H-5: Income Category Definitions  

Income Category Definition 
Extremely Low Below 30% of area median income  
Very Low 30%-50% of area median income 
Low 50%-80% of area median income 
Moderate 80%-120% of area median income 
Above Moderate Above 120% of area median income 
 

HCD uses these categories, sometimes with minor adjustments, to establish the annual income 
limits for San Mateo County, as shown in the table below. 

Table H-6: San Mateo County Income Limits (2013) 

Income 
Category  

Number of Persons Per Household 
(Maximum Income) 

1 2 3 4 5 
Extremely Low $23,750 $27,150 $30,550 $33,950 $36,650 
Very Low $39,600 $42,250 $50,900 $56,550 $61,050 
Lower Income $63,350 $72,400 $81,450 $90,500 $97,700 
Median Income $72,100 $82,400 $92,700 $103,000 $111,250 
Moderate Income $86,500 $98,900 $111,250 $123,600 $133,500 
Source: HCD State Income Limits 2013 and State CDBG and HOME Income Limits also available at 

http://www.hcd.ca.gov/hpd/hrc/rep/state/incNote.html 

 
The table on the following page shows Plan Bay Area projections (approved July 2013) for 
housing units, households and local jobs. The following tables are ABAG Projections 2013, 
which provide more detailed information on household characteristics, types of jobs, etc. ABAG 
Projections 2013 provide an indicator of trends and conditions in San Mateo County and its 
jurisdictions. 

http://www.hcd.ca.gov/hpd/hrc/rep/state/incNote.html


  
 
 

  
 H-10 

ABAG Projections 2013 are based on 2010 demographic data taken directly from the U.S. 
Census. The 2010 employment data are derived from (1) California County-Level Economic 
Forecast, 2011-2040, California Department of Transportation; (2) Bay Area Job Growth to 
2040: Projections and Analysis, Center for Continuing Study of the California Economy; and, (3) 
1989-2009 National Establishment Times-Series (NETS) Database, Walls & Associates using Dun 
and Bradstreet data; and labor force data from U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics and the U.S. 
Census Bureau's 2005-2009 ACS.  

Table H-7: ABAG/MTC Plan Bay Area Projections for Housing, Households and Jobs 
(2010-2040) 

City 
Housing Units 

%
 

C
ha

ng
e Households 

%
 

C
ha

ng
e 

Jobs 

%
 

C
ha

ng
e 

2010 2040 
2010  

2040 2010 2040 
Atherton 2,530 2,750 +9% 2,330 2,580 +11% 2,610 3,160 +21% 
Belmont 11,030 12,150 +10% 10,580 11,790 +11% 8,180 10,450 +28% 
Brisbane 1,930 2,180 +13% 1,820 2,090 +15% 6,780 7,670 +13% 
Burlingame 13,030 16,700 +28% 12,360 16,170 +31% 29,540 37,780 +28% 
Colma 430 680 +58% 410 660 +61% 2,780 3,200 +15% 
Daly City 32,590 36,900 +13% 31,090 35,770 +15% 20,760 26,580 +28% 
East Palo Alto 7,820 8,670 +11% 6,940 8,340 +20% 2,670 3,680 +38% 
Foster City 12,460 13,350 +7% 12,020 12,950 +8% 13,780 17,350 +26% 
Half Moon Bay 4,400 4,660 +6% 4,150 4,410 +6% 5,030 6,020 +20% 
Hillsborough 3,910 4,230 +8% 3,690 4,010 +9% 1,850 2,250 +22% 
Menlo Park 13,090 15,090 +15% 12,350 14,520 +18% 28,890 34,980 +21% 
Millbrae 8,370 11,400 +36% 7,990 11,050 +38% 6,870 9,300 +35% 
Pacifica 14,520 15,130 +4% 13,970 14,650 +5% 5,870 7,100 +21% 
Portola Valley 1,900 2,020 +6% 1,750 1,900 +9% 1,500 1,770 +18% 
Redwood City 29,170 37,890 +30% 27,960 36,860 +32% 58,080 77,480 +33% 
San Bruno 15,360 19,820 +29% 14,700 19,170 +30% 12,710 16,950 +33% 
San Carlos 12,020 13,800 +15% 11,520 13,390 +16% 15,870 19,370 +22% 
San Mateo  40,010 50,200 +25% 38,230 48,620 +27% 52,540 72,950 +39% 
South San 
Francisco 21,810 28,470 +31% 20,940 27,900 +33% 43,550 53,790 +24% 

Woodside 2,160 2,250 +4% 1,980 2,080 +5% 1,760 2,060 +17% 
Unincorporated 22,510 27,470 +22% 21,070 26,170 +24% 23,570 31,180 +32% 

County Total 271,030 326,070 +20% 257,840 315,09
0 +22% 345,20

0 445,080 +29% 

SMC Change 
(2010-2040)  + 55,040   

+ 
57,240   

+ 
99,880  

Source: Draft Plan Bay Area, Final Forecast of Jobs, Population and Housing, July 2013 

http://onebayarea.org/pdf/final_supplemental_reports/FINAL_PBA_Forecast_of_Jobs_Population_and_Housing.pdf 

 

http://onebayarea.org/pdf/final_supplemental_reports/FINAL_PBA_Forecast_of_Jobs_Population_and_Housing.pdf


 
 
 

 H-11 

Table H-8: Projections for Population, Households and Total Jobs (2010-2040) 

Geographic 
Area 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2035 

2010-
2040 

Change 
Bay Area Regional Total 
Population 7,150,739 7,461,400 7,786,800 8,134,000 8,496,800 8,889,000 9,299,100 1,738,261 
Households 2,608,023 2,720,410 2,837,680 2,952,910 3,072,920 3,188,330 3,308,090 580,307 
Persons Per 
Household 2.69 2.69 2.69 2.70 2.71 2.73 2.75 0.06 
Employed 
Residents 3,268,680 3,547,310 3,849,790 3,949,620 4,052,020 4,198,400 4,350,070 929,720 
Jobs 3,385,300 3,669,990 3,987,150 4,089,320 4,196,580 4,346,820 4,505,230 961,520 
Jobs/Employed 
Residents 1.04 1.03 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 0.00 
San Mateo County 
Population 718,451 745,400 775,100 805,600 836,100 869,300 904,400 150,849 
Households 257,837 267,150 277,200 286,790 296,280 305,390 315,100 47,553 
Persons Per 
Household 2.75 2.76 2.76 2.77 2.79 2.81 2.83 0.06 
Employed 
Residents 342,060 368,790 398,220 406,310 413,740 425,830 438,770 83,770 
Jobs 345,190 374,940 407,550 414,240 421,500 432,980 445,070 87,790 
Jobs/Employed 
Residents 1.01 1.02 1.02 1.02 1.02 1.02 1.01 0.00 
% of Bay Area 
Population 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 9.9% 9.8% 9.8% 9.7% -0.3% 
% of Bay Area 
Jobs 10.2% 10.2% 10.2% 10.1% 10.0% 10.0% 9.9% -0.3% 
Colma Planning Area (City Limits) 
Population 1,403 1,500 1,700 1,800 2,000 2,200 2,300 797 

Households 412 450 490 530 580 620 660 208 
Persons Per 
Household 3.33 3.33 3.47 3.40 3.45 3.55 3.48 0.21 
Employed 
Residents 810 920 1,050 1,120 1,190 1,280 1,370 470 

Jobs 2,780 2,910 3,030 3,070 3,090 3,140 3,200 360 
Jobs/Employed 
Residents 3.43 3.16 2.89 2.74 2.60 2.45 2.34 0.00 
% of County 
Population 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.3% 0.1% 

% of County Jobs 0.8% 0.8% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% -0.1% 
Source:  ABAG Projections 2013  

 



  
 
 

  
 H-12 

Table H-9: Projections for Types of Jobs (2010-2040)* 

Geographic 
Area 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

2010-
2040 

Change 
Bay Area Regional Total 
Agriculture and 
Natural Resources 
Jobs 24,640 25,180 25,690 24,800 23,940 23,330 22,750 -1,890 
Mfg, Wholesale 
and Transportation 
Jobs 863,420 711,380 717,180 763,680 819,010 861,170 861,170 -2,250 
Retail Jobs 402,670 367,180 347,400 370,880 399,950 453,870 453,870 51,200 
Health, Educ. and 
Recreation Service 
Jobs 1,056,030 1,053,510 1,120,700 1,216,120 1,322,650 1,403,080 1,403,080 347,050 
Financial and 
Professional 
Services Jobs 851,610 780,260 766,860 824,190 893,550 990,840 990,840 139,230 
Other Jobs 555,260 513,240 499,180 534,850 580,460 645,670 645,670 90,410 
Total Jobs 3,753,460 3,449,640 3,693,920 3,979,200 4,280,700 4,595,170 4,595,170 841,710 
Total Employed 
Residents 3,452,117 3,225,100 3,410,300 3,633,700 3,962,800 4,264,600 4,264,600 812,483 
San Mateo County County 
Agriculture and 
Natural Resources 
Jobs 2,220 2,270 2,330 2,170 2,050 1,920 1,810 -410 
Mfg, Wholesale 
and Transportation 
Jobs 67,480 72,420 77,750 74,520 71,470 69,260 67,140 -340 
Retail Jobs 35,350 36,680 38,060 38,210 38,340 38,760 39,180 3,830 
Financial and 
Professional 
Services Jobs 86,150 93,920 102,400 106,780 111,300 116,930 122,770 36,620 
Health, Educ. and 
Recreation Service 
Jobs 86,980 95,860 105,670 110,160 114,870 120,830 127,060 40,080 
Other Jobs 67,010 73,790 81,340 82,400 83,470 85,280 87,110 20,100 
Total Jobs 345,190 374,940 407,550 414,240 421,500 432,980 445,070 99,880 
Total Employed 
Residents 342,060 368,790 398,220 406,310 413,740 425,830 438,770 96,710 
Ratio of Jobs to 
Employed 
Residents 1.01 1.02 1.02 1.02 1.02 1.02 1.01 0.00 
*Continued on next page 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 H-13 

Geographic 
Area 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

2010-
2040 

Change 
Colma Planning Area (City Limits) 
Agriculture and 
Natural Resources 
Jobs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Mfg, Wholesale 
and Transportation 
Jobs 130 140 150 140 130 120 110 -20 
Retail Jobs 1,430 1,460 1,490 1,490 1,490 1,500 1,520 90 
Financial and 
Professional 
Service Jobs 140 140 140 150 150 150 150 10 
Health, Educ. and 
Recreation Service 
Jobs 910 990 1,070 1,100 1,130 1,180 1,220 310 
Other Jobs 170 180 180 190 190 190 200 30 
Total Jobs 2,780 2,910 3,030 3,070 3,090 3,140 3,200 420 
Employed 
Residents 810 920 1,050 1,120 1,190 1,280 1,370 560 
Ratio of Local Jobs 
to Employed 
Residents  3.43 3.16 2.89 2.74 2.60 2.45 2.34 0.75 
Source:  ABAG Projections 2013  

Though San Mateo County has a robust economy, much of its workforce cannot afford to live 
within the county. Job growth has been strong, although cyclical, over the past 10 years, and is 
projected to continue. Housing development has not kept up the pace with the growth in local 
jobs. According to the Department of Housing (Housing Needs Study, 2007), by 2025, San 
Mateo County’s supply of housing will only meet one third to one half of the demand. 

Additionally, 40 percent of new jobs in the county will pay lower income wages.   

A home meets the standard definition of affordability if it does not cost more than 30 percent of 
a household’s income. A household that spends more than 30 percent of its gross income on 

housing is considered to be overpaying for housing. Housing that costs more than 30% of 
household income is a more acute problem for lower income households, since there is less 
discretionary money for other necessities. 

While individual household income conditions vary, an example can be useful to illustrate 
affordability conditions for a low income family in San Mateo County.  A four-person family with 
one parent working fulltime as a cook and the other parent working in retail, can afford a 
monthly rent of about $1,400 and a home sales price of $222,000. A single parent family with 
the adult working as a police officer would be considered moderate income, and can afford a 
monthly rent of about $2,400 and a home costing $374,000. Neither of these example 
households can afford San Mateo County’s median condominium, costing $579,418, or single-
family home, which costs $1,246,121 (SAMCAR), although the example single-parent family can 
afford the median county rent of $2,234.  



  
 
 

  
 H-14 

Other examples of affordable home sales and rents based on occupation are shown in the table 
below.  

Table H-10: Home Affordability by Occupation (2013) 

Occupation  
 

Annual Salary  Affordable Home  
Affordable  

Rent  
Elementary School Teacher $66,590 $255,805 $1,665 

Police Officer $97,487 $374,495 $2,437 

Cook $29,247 $112,352 $731 

Retail Salesperson $28,427 $109,202 $711 

Registered Nurse $112,137 $430,774 $2,804 
Source: HCD State Income Limits 2013; www.hsh.com/calc-howmuch.html 

Maximum Affordable House Price is based on the following assumptions: 4.5% interest rate; 30-year fixed loan; 50% Yearly 

Salary as Down Payment; 1% property tax; PMI, .5% insurance rate; and no other monthly payments/debt. 

Colma has more than three times as many jobs as residents, with approximately 2,900 jobs in 
the town.  Colma serves as a regional shopping destination for retail goods and used and new 
automobiles and automobile services.  In addition, Colma serves a regional need for cemetery 
land and associated services.  The town also has a card room, Lucky Chances, which employs 
over 600 individuals. About 45 percent of the workers in the town make between $1,251 and 
$3,333/month, and almost 30 percent make more than $3,333 per month. Almost all (99 
percent) of the workers in Colma commute in from other cities to work, according to 2011 US 
census data.  

According to ABAG projections, Colma can expect to see its workforce increase by a quarter by 
2025, with much of that job growth coming from the financial and professional services sector.  

  

http://www.hsh.com/calc-howmuch.html


 
 
 

 H-15 

Table H-11: Workforce Age, Salary and Education 

Category Colma County 
Jobs by Worker Age 

Age 29 or Younger 27% 19% 

Age 30 to 54 51% 61% 

Age 55 or Older 23% 20% 

Salaries Paid by Jurisdiction Employers  

$1,250 per Month or Less 27% 14% 

$1,251 to $3,333 per Month 44% 27% 

More than $3,333 per Month 28% 59% 

Jobs by Worker Educational Attainment 

Less than High School 13% 9% 

High school or Equivalent, No College 17% 13% 

Some College or Associate Degree 22% 23% 

Bachelor's Degree or Advanced Degree 21% 36% 

Educational Attainment Not Available 27% 19% 

Total Workers 3,597 303,529 
Source: 2011 U.S. Census On The Map 

Note: Educational Attainment Not Available is for workers 29 and younger 

 

  



  
 
 

  
 H-16 

HOUSEHOLD TRENDS AND CHARACTERISTICS 
In 2008, the estimated number of households within Colma was 450 per US Census and 
Department of Finance data.  

OCCUPANCY CHARACTERISTICS 
Colma has a relatively large average household size, at three, but this size has decreased since 
2000 when it was 3.5. Households in owner-occupied units tend to be slightly larger at 3.2. 

Table H-12 Household Size 

Year  Household Size  Colma County State 
2000 Average Household Size 3.5 2.7 2.9 

2011 
Average Household Size 3.05 2.7 2.9 
Owners Average Household Size 3.2 2.8 3.0 
Renters Average Household Size 3.0 2.7 2.9 

Source: 2010 US Census SF1, 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

Colma has a high percentage of families with children: more than 40 percent of the households. 
An additional 30 percent of the population consists of families without children, though this 
percentage has declined since 2000. Single people make up 20 percent of the households.  

Table H-13 Household Type 

Household Type  Colma County State 
Single person 20% 25% 24% 
Family no children 29% 37% 35% 
Family with children  41% 31% 33% 
Multi-person, nonfamily 10% 7% 7% 
Total households 585* 256,305 12,433,049 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

*Includes additional units in unincorporated San Manteo County and Daly City 

immediately adjacent to Colma. 

Overcrowded Households 

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, a unit is considered overcrowded if it the unit is occupied 
by more than 1.01 persons per room (excluding bathrooms and kitchens). Homes with more 
than 1.5 persons per room are considered severely overcrowded. Overcrowding increases 
health and safety concerns and stresses the condition of the housing stock and infrastructure. 
Overcrowding correlates strongly with household size, particularly for large households. 



 
 
 

 H-17 

Colma has a small number of overcrowded homes. Almost six percent of owner-occupied 
homes, or 12 homes, are overcrowded. The vast majority of rental homes are not overcrowded, 
however, six homes are considered overcrowded and 25 homes are extremely overcrowded. 
The percent of overcrowded households has decreased since 2000, when close to a quarter of 
the homes were considered overcrowded.  

H-14 Number of Overcrowded Units 

 Occupant  Overcrowded 
Occupied 

Homes  

Percent 
Colma County State 

Owner 
Not overcrowded 192 94% 96% 96% 
Overcrowded 12 5.9% 3% 3% 
Extremely overcrowded 0 0.0% 1% 1% 

Renter 
Not overcrowded 350 92% 86% 86% 
Overcrowded 6 1.6% 8% 8% 
Extremely overcrowded 25 6.6% 5% 6% 

Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

Note: 0-1 people per room is not overcrowded, 1-1.5 people per room is overcrowded, more than 1.5 people per 

room is extremely overcrowded 

Trends in Household Income and Tenure 

Colma’s median household income is $79,000, below the countywide average of $92,000. Just 
over 40 percent of Colma’s households make more than a moderate income, and another 40 

percent of Colma’s households are lower income. 20 percent of all households are considered 
low-income, 13 percent are very low income, and seven percent are extremely low income.  

Table H-15: Households by Income 

 

Extremely 
Low 
7%

Very Low 
13%

Low
20%

Moderate
18%

Above 
Moderate

42%



  
 
 

  
 H-18 

Table H-16: Household Income 

 Income Colma County State 
Under $25,000 10% 12% 21% 
$25,000 to $34,999 2% 6% 9% 
$35,000 to $49,999 6% 10% 13% 
$50,000 to $74,999 27% 16% 17% 
$75,000 to $99,999 22% 12% 12% 
$100,000+ 31% 44% 28% 
Poverty Rate 7.4% 7.4% 16% 
Total 585 256,305 12,433,049 
Median Income 2000 $79,313  $95,606  $64,116  
Median Income 2011 $86,640  $91,958  $63,816  
Source: Association of Bay Area Governments 

Note: Adjusted for inflation to 2013 dollars 

Table H-17: Households by Income and Tenure 

Occupant  
Extremely 

Low  
Very 
Low  Low Moderate 

Above 
Moderate 

Owner 56% 68% 37% 41% 64% 
Renter 44% 32% 63% 59% 36% 
Total 34 59 95 85 195 
% of all households 7% 13% 20% 18% 42% 
Sources: CHAS Data 2006-2010 

 

HOUSING VALUES AND COSTS 
With relatively few homes, housing price data for Colma is hard to come by. According to Trulia 
data from October 2013, the median sale price for a home (including both multi-family and 
single-family) in Colma is $500,000. Colma’s home prices are below countywide averages for 

single-family homes, yet above the prices for multi-family homes. Despite the seemingly more 
reasonable prices, the median home in Colma is unaffordable to most households making less 
than the median income. A four-person family making moderate income, however, can afford 
the median home in Colma.  



 
 
 

 H-19 

Table H-18: Ability to Pay for For-Sale Housing 

  
Annual 
Income 

Maximum 
Affordable 
Home Price 

Median Home 
Sale Price 

Affordability 
Gap  

Single Person  
Extremely Low Income $23,750 $97,114 $500,000 -$402,886 
Very Low Income $39,600 $161,925 $500,000 -$338,075 
Low Income $63,350 $259,039 $500,000 -$240,961 
Median Income $72,100 $294,818 $500,000 -$205,182 
 Moderate Income $86,500 $353,699 $500,000 -$146,301 
Four Person  
Extremely Low Income $33,950 $138,822 $500,000 -$361,178 
Very Low Income $56,550 $231,233 $500,000 -$268,767 
Low Income $90,500 $347,655 $500,000 -$152,345 
Median Income $103,000 $370,055 $500,000 -$129,945 
Moderate Income $123,600 $505,402 $500,000 $5,402 
Source: Baird+ Driskell Community Planning: San Mateo County Association of Realtors; www.hsh.com/calc-howmuch.html 

Note: Maximum Affordable House Price is based on the following assumptions: 4.5% interest rate; 30-year fixed loan; 50% 

Yearly Salary as Down Payment; 1% property tax; PMI, .5% insurance rate; and no other monthly payments/debt. 

Extremely limited rental data is available in Colma due to the very small number of homes. 
According to this limited data, Colma’s rental prices for one and two-bedroom apartments are 
higher than the countywide averages for apartments of a similar size. 

 

The existing Sterling Park neighborhood was improved to include brick streets, sidewalks, landscaping, lighting and 

underground utilities. 

http://www.hsh.com/calc-howmuch.html


  
 
 

  
 H-20 

Table H-19: Summary of 2013 Rents 

Bedrooms Colma County 
Studio x $1,429  
One Bedroom $2,633  $1,990  
Two Bedroom $2,904  $2,660  
Three Bedroom x $3,758  
Four Bedroom x $6,418  
Source: RealFacts Annual Trends Report, based on reporting from large apartment 

complexes, Craigslist Survey conducted in June and July 2013 

Note: County Craigslist information derived from average of municipal sampling. 

Overpayment for Housing 

A household is considered to be overpaying for housing if they spend more than 30 percent of 
their income on rent or mortgage payments. Almost 70 percent of Colma residents making 
under $75,000 annually are overpaying for homeownership, and even 20 percent of those 
making more than $75,000 are overpaying for their homes. All of the lowest income renters, 
those making under $35,000, are overpaying on rent, and almost 40 percent of those making 
under $75,000 are overpaying as well.  

If there is not enough affordable housing in Colma, lower-income people may choose to live 
elsewhere and commute into the city to work. Those who do live in Colma may live in 
overcrowded homes, and have extremely limited money to dedicate towards other necessities 
such as food, transportation, and medical care. Extremely low income households paying more 
than 50 percent of their income towards housing are at greater risk for becoming homeless. 

Table H-20: Households Overpaying for Housing by Income 

 
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Less than $35,000

$35,000-$74,999

$75,000+

Less than $35,000

$35,000-$74,999

$75,000+

O
w

n
er

s
R

en
te

rs

Percent Overpaying



 
 
 

 H-21 

Table H-21: Households Overpaying for Housing 

Occupant Income  
Colma County State 

Number Percent Percent  Percent  

Owner-occupied 
Less than $35,000 0 0% 68% 68% 
$35,000-$74,999 31 69% 53% 54% 
$75,000+ 27 19% 33% 27% 

Renter-occupied 
Less than $35,000 52 100% 95% 90% 
$35,000-$74,999 58 38% 61% 49% 
$75,000+ 41 25% 11% 9% 

Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

Note: Excludes Households with no income or cash rent. 

 

  



  
 
 

  
 H-22 

HOUSING CHARACTERISTICS 
PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS 
Colma’s housing stock has grown even faster than its population. In 2000, Colma had 342 
homes, and by 2010 it had 446 homes - an increase of 31 percent. Most of the homes in Colma 
are single-family detached buildings (percent).  There are two newer townhome/attached single 
family developments with a total of 81 units which account for 18% of the total housing units. 
Close to 40 percent of homes in Colma have three bedrooms. Half the homes have 1-2 
bedrooms.  

In 2000, almost half the population owned, while half 
rented. Due to the erroneous inclusion of 135 rental units 
in the housing count for the Town in the 2010 census, it is 
not possible to accurately determine how many properties 
are owner-occupied and how many are tenant-occupied.  
Due to the addition of 81 for sale units between 2000 and 
2010, and no new rental housing, it is likely that the 
percentage of owner-occupied units has increased since 
2000, and may be consistent with the county average of 59 
percent.   

Colma has extremely low vacancy rates. According to 2011 
data from the American Community Survey, Colma has no 
vacant ownership units, and only a vacancy rate of two percent 
for rental units. A housing market with a vacancy rate under 
five percent is considered to be a tight market. Tight markets 
can lead to high housing prices and subsequent higher rates of 
overcrowding.  

 
A remodeled historic single family home 

(top) and duplex units (bottom) in 

Colma’s Sterling Park neighborhood.  



 
 
 

 H-23 

Table H-22: Building Type Chart 

 

Table H-23: Total Housing Units 

Year 
  

Colma County State 

Number Percent 
Change Number Percent 

Change Number Percent 
Change 

2000 342 x 260,576 x 12,214,549 x 
2011 446 31.0% 271,140 4% 13,688,351 12% 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey, 2000 US Census, adjusted 2010 Census 

Table H-24 Tenure Type 

Year   Occupant Colma County State 

2000 
Percent Owners 52% 61% 57% 
Percent Renters 48% 39% 43% 

2011 
Percent Owners unknown 59% 56% 
Percent Renters unknown 41% 44% 

Source: 2010 US Census SF1, 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

 

Single Family 

Detached

46%

Single Family 

Attached

23%

2 units

20%

3 or 4 

units

6%

5 to 9 units

1%

10 to 19 units

4%



  
 
 

  
 H-24 

Table H-25: Building Type 

 Building Type Colma County State 
Single Family Detached 45% 57% 58% 
Single Family Attached 22% 9% 7% 
2 units 20% 2% 3% 
3 or 4 units 6% 5% 6% 
5 to 9 units 1% 6% 6% 
10 to 19 units 4% 6% 5% 
20 or more units 0% 14% 11% 
Mobile Home or Other 0% 1% 4% 
Total 446 271,140 13,688,351 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey, Town of Colma Building 

Permit records, San Mateo County Assessor’s Records 

Table H-26: Bedrooms 

Bedrooms  Colma County State 
No bedroom 1% 4% 4% 
1 bedroom 22% 16% 14% 
2 bedrooms 28% 26% 28% 
3 bedrooms 39% 34% 33% 
4 bedrooms 7% 16% 16% 
5 or more bedrooms 2% 5% 4% 
Total 446 271,140 13,688,351 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey. 

Table H-27: Vacancy Rate 

Year   Occupant Colma County State 

2000 
Owner 0.0% 0.5% 1.4% 
Renter 0.6% 1.8% 3.7% 

2011 
Owner 0.0% 1.2% 2.2% 
Renter 2.1% 4.0% 5.5% 

Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey, 2000 US Census  

HOUSING CONDITIONS 
In addition to issues with affordability and overcrowding, housing can have physical problems 
such as age or lack of facilities. One of the best ways to assess the condition of the housing 



 
 
 

 H-25 

stock is through a windshield tour. However, barring that, the census gives some useful 
information as to the status of the housing.  

Approximately 19 percent of Colma’s housing stock has been built since 2000. This is an 
extremely high percentage: for comparison only approximately five percent of San Mateo 
County’s housing stock has been built since 2000. An additional 40 percent of Colma’s housing 

stock was built in the 1950s or earlier. Older housing can be more expensive to maintain and 
renovate.  

The census tracks other housing problems, including a lack of plumbing and kitchen facilities 
and found no facilities lacking from homes in Colma.  

Table H-28: Year Structure Built 

  Colma County State 
Built in 2000 or more recently 19% 5.4% 12% 
Built in 1990s 10% 6% 11% 
Built in 1980s 12% 9% 15% 
Build in 1970s 10% 17% 18% 
Built in 1960s 9% 17% 14% 
Built 1950s or Earlier 40% 45% 30% 
Total 446 271,140 13,688,351 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey Town of Colma Building Permit 

Records and windshield survey(February 2014) 

Table H-29: Number of Potential Housing Problems 

 

Colma County 
Number Percent Percent Percent 

Lacking complete plumbing facilities 0 0.0% 0.3% 0.6% 
Lacking complete kitchen facilities 0 0.0% 0.9% 1.3% 
No telephone service available 0 0.0% 1.2% 1.9% 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

 

  



  
 
 

  
 H-26 

BELOW MARKET RATE HOUSING TRENDS AND 
CHARACTERISTICS  
Units offered at rents or sale prices below that which they would command on the open market 
are referred to as “below-market rate” or BMR units. They are also often referred to as 

“affordable housing” units.  Just over 40 percent of Colma’s households make more than a 

moderate income, and another 40 percent of Colma’s households are lower income. 20 percent 

of all households are considered low-income, 13 percent are very low income, and seven 
percent are extremely low income.  

There are 18 units that were developed by the Town of Colma with monies from the Town’s 

general fund in the early 1990’s. The units, located along El Camino Real, are reserved for 

senior tenants.  The below-market rate rents collected from these housing units are paid into 
the general fund. The Town also purchased one housing unit within a multi-unit complex at 
1365 Mission Road, and has dedicated it as a below-market rate unit, renting it to qualifying 
very low-to-moderate income households. 

POTENTIAL LOSS OF SUBSIDIZED UNITS 
Government Code Section 65583 requires local jurisdictions to address the potential conversion 
of multi-family rental housing that receive governmental assistance under federal programs, 
state and local multi-family revenue bond programs, or local density bonus programs to no low-
income housing use. There are no locally subsidized units at risk in Colma, as the Town has not 
issued mortgage revenue bonds, has not approved any density bonus units with financial 
assistance, and has not assisted multi-family housing with redevelopment or CDBG funds. 
Existing and Projected Housing Needs 

DETERMINATION OF HOUSING NEEDS 
The Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) process addresses housing needs across income 
levels for each jurisdiction in California. All of the Bay Area’s 101 cities and nine counties are 

given a share of the Bay Area’s total regional housing need. The Bay Area's regional housing 

need is allocated by the California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD), 
and finalized though negotiations with the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG). San 
Mateo County jurisdictions, through a unique process different from other Bay Area counties, 
collaboratively developed a formula to divide up San Mateo County’s overall housing allocation 

among the 21 jurisdictions in the county.  



 
 
 

 H-27 

Table H-30: Regional Housing Needs Allocation (2014 – 2022) 

 

Extremely  
Low  

Income 
Up to 

$31,650 

Very  
Low  

Income 
$31,651-
$52,750 

Low  
Income 
$52,751-
$84,400 

Moderate 
Income 
$84,401-
$123,600 

 
Above  

Moderate  
Income 

$123,601+ Total 
Atherton 17 18 26 29 3 93 
Belmont 58 58 63 67 222 468 
Brisbane 12 13 13 15 30 83 
Burlingame 138 138 144 155 288 863 
Colma 10 10 8 9 22 59 
Daly City 200 200 188 221 541 1,350 
East Palo Alto 32 32 54 83 266 467 
Foster City 74 74 87 76 119 430 
Half Moon Bay 26 26 31 36 121 240 
Hillsborough 16 16 17 21 21 91 
Menlo Park 116 117 129 143 150 655 
Hillsborough 96 97 101 112 257 663 
Pacifica 60 61 68 70 154 413 
Portola Valley 10 11 15 15 13 64 
Redwood City 353 353 429 502 1,152 2,789 
San Bruno 179 179 161 205 431 1,155 
San Carlos 97 98 107 111 183 596 
San Mateo  429 430 469 530 1,242 3,100 
South San 
Francisco 282 283 281 313 705 1,864 
Woodside 11 12 13 15 11 62 
Unincorporated 76 77 103 102 555 913 
San Mateo 
County Total 2,292 2,303 2,507 2,830 6,486 16,418 
Source: Association of Bay Area Governments, Final 2014-2022 Regional Housing Need Allocation by County. Yearly 

Income is based on a family of four. 

According to the RHNA, Colma will need to ensure there is land available for a total of 59 new 
units between 2015 and 2023. Approximately 37 percent of those units will be for households 
making more than moderate income, 15 percent will be for households making moderate 
income, 13 percent for low-income, and 17 percent for very low income and extremely low 
income households each. 

The housing policies and programs set forth in this document are intended to reach the local 
housing objective of 59 units within the 2015 to 2023 period.  



  
 
 

  
 H-28 

SPECIAL HOUSING NEEDS 
Certain groups have greater difficulty in finding decent, affordable housing due to their special 
circumstances. Special circumstances may be related to employment and income, family 
characteristics, disability, and household characteristics.  

State Housing Element law states that special needs groups include the following: senior 
households, disabled persons, developmentally delayed persons, large households, female-
headed households with children, students, homeless persons, and farmworkers. This section 
provides a discussion of the housing needs facing each group.  

HOUSING NEEDS FOR SENIOR RESIDENTS 
Seniors face many housing challenges as they age, including a fixed budget, higher medical 
costs, and greater likelihood of disabilities.  It is estimated that 11% of Colma’s population is 

over the age of 60 (about 160 individuals) 

The Town of Colma owns 18 Senior Housing Units, located on El Camino Real  



 
 
 

 H-29 

Almost a quarter of the seniors in Colma have incomes higher than $100,000, but almost half 
the seniors have an income below $50,000.  

Seniors in Colma, like seniors in San Mateo County at large, are significantly more likely to be 
homeowners than renters. Thus, housing concerns for seniors in Colma might include retrofits 
to allow seniors to age in place (stay in their current home as they get older). Often, 
homeownership means greater housing security. According to the “Key Housing Trends in San 

Mateo” report, 52 percent of seniors who rent in San Mateo County are economically insecure 
while only 27 percent of seniors who own their own home without a mortgage are economically 
insecure.  

As the large baby boomer population ages, Colma, like the rest of San Mateo County, is 
expected to see a growing senior population. According to the “Key Housing Trends in San 

Mateo County” document, the county can expect to see a 76 percent increase in the number of 

seniors. A key challenge in the coming years will be how to accommodate the needs of aging 
residents. For more information about senior trends and preferences, see the 2013 “Key 

Housing Trends in San Mateo” report in Appendix A.  

Table H-31: Senior Households by Tenure (2011) 

   Occupant Colma County State 

All Ages 
  

Owners 35% 60% 57% 
Renters 65% 40% 43% 
Total 585 256,423 12,433,172 

Age 65-74 
  

Owners 35% 79% 75% 
Renters 65% 21% 25% 
Total 37  27,053   1,265,873  

Age 75-84 
  

Owners 19% 81% 75% 
Renters 81% 19% 25% 
Total 21  18,014   823,750  

Age 85 + 
  

Owners 100% 75% 69% 
Renters 0% 25% 31% 
Total 11 9,136  342,029  

Source and Notes: 2007-2011 American Community Survey, Seniors are age 65 +  

PEOPLE LIVING WITH DISABILITIES 
People with disabilities face many challenges when looking for housing. There is a limited 
supply of handicap accessible, affordable housing generally, and the supply is especially tight 
near transit. Being near transit is important because many people with disabilities cannot drive. 
People with disabilities are also often extremely low income due to the challenge of securing 
long-term employment, and to higher medical bills. Additionally, because some people with 



  
 
 

  
 H-30 

disabilities, particularly developmental disabilities, have lived with their parents they often do 
not have rental or credit history. This makes it harder for them to compete for the limited 
housing that is available.  

PEOPLE WITH DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES 
A recent state law, SB 812, requires Housing Elements to include an analysis of the special 
housing needs of people with developmental disabilities. Additionally, SB 812 requires that 
individuals with disabilities receive public services in the least restrictive, most integrated setting 
appropriate to their needs 

California defines developmentally disabled as a, “severe and chronic disability that is 

attributable to a mental or physical impairment. The disability must begin before the person’s 

18th birthday, be expected to continue indefinitely, and present a substantial disability.” Some 

development disabilities cause mental retardation and some do not. Common developmental 
disabilities include Down’s syndrome, autism, epilepsy and cerebral palsy.  

People with developmental disabilities in San Mateo County have various diagnoses. The 
common ones are summarized below. Because people can have multiple diagnoses, the 
numbers total more than 100 percent.  

Table H-32: Type of Developmental Disability 

Developmental Disability Percent 
Mild/Moderate Mental Retardation 50% 
Autism  18% 
Epilepsy  18% 
Cerebral Palsy 17% 
Severe/Profound Mental Retardation 11% 
Source: Golden Gate Regional Center 

People with developmental disabilities tend to be younger than the general population. There 
are several reasons for this. For some diagnoses there is a shorter life expectancy. More 
importantly, starting in the 1990s there was an “autism wave” with many more young people 
being diagnosed with the disorder, for reasons that are still not well understood. The racial 
demographics of the developmentally disabled population mirror that of the population of the 
Bay Area.  

 

 



 
 
 

 H-31 

Table H-33: Age of People with Development Disabilities 

Age Range 
People with 

Developmental Disability 
0-5 19% 
6-21  30% 
22-51  36% 
52+   15% 
Total  100% 
Source: Golden Gate Regional Center. (County level data) 

Many people with developmental disabilities are unable to secure long-term employment. This 
results in many people relying on Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and many earn 10-20 
percent of the Area Median Income (AMI). 

People with developmental disabilities have various housing needs and housing situations. 
Almost all (88 percent) of Colma residents with disabilities live with a parent or legal guardian.   

Table H-34: Living Arrangements of People with Developmental Disabilities 

Lives with 
Number Percent 

Colma County Colma County 
Parents/Legal Guardian 162  2,289  88% 66% 
Community Care Facility (1-6 Beds) 7  532  4% 15% 
Community Care Facility (7+ Beds) 3  73  2% 2% 
Independent/Supportive Living 12  349  7% 10% 
Intermediate Care Facility 0  191  0% 5% 
All Others 0  60  0% 2% 
Total: 184  3,494  100% 100% 
Source: Golden Gate Regional Center 

Note: Counts based on zip code and may include areas outside of jurisdictional borders. 

Trends that are affecting the people with developmental disabilities include California’s moves 

to reduce institutionalization, ageing family caregivers not being able to continue providing in-
house care and the growing wave of people with autism. 

▪ Deinstitutionalization – In 1977, California, passed the Lanterman Developmentally 
Disabled Services Act, to minimize the institutionalization of developmentally disabled 
people, help them remain in their communities, and to allow them to live their lives as 
similar to non-disabled people as possible. To accomplish this end the state has been 
closing large institutional care facilities, resulting in more people with disabilities being 



  
 
 

  
 H-32 

integrated into the community. However, this has increased the demand for community 
based independent living options to serve the needs of the developmentally disabled.  

▪ Aging Baby Boomers Unable to Care for their Children with Developmental 
Disabilities – As displayed in the table below, almost three quarters of people with 
developmental disabilities live with a parent or caregiver, and many of these caregivers 
are baby boomers. As these caregivers age their ability to continue to care for their 
developmentally disabled children will decrease to the point where it is no longer 
possible. This trend is also going to be a factor in the increased need for community-
based independent living options for the developmentally disabled. Many service delivery 
systems and communities are not prepared to meet the increasing need.  

Table H-35: Housing Type of People with Developmental Disabilities in San Mateo 
County (2014) 

Age 
Home of 
Parent or 
Guardian 

Own 
Home 

Licensed 
Group 
Home 

Licensed 
Health 
Care 

Facility 

Foster
-Type 
Care 

Hom
eles

s 

Subtot
al of 

Autism 
Only 

Total 
Number 
for All 

Diagnoses 
0-3 609 0 0 0 11 0 ** 620 
4-12 930 0 11 0 1 1 329 943 
15-29 908 47 113 17 13 2 212 1,100 
30-44 294 103 135 35 12 0 34 579 
45-59 156 109 245 71 11 1 52 593 
60-74 35 53 122 91 6 0 10 307 
75-89 3 5 20 17 0 0 0 45 
90-104 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 5 
Total 2,935 317 650 232 54 4 637 4,192 
**No diagnosis yet 

Source: Golden Gate Regional Center, February 2014 

▪ Increasing Numbers of People with Autism - There is a large number of people 
with developmentally disabilities that have autism. They have been brought up as 
independent members of the community and want to remain independent and involved 
in the community. There is a coming need to supply community based independent 
living options for these individuals. 

OTHER DISABILITIES AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS 
People in Colma have non-developmental disabilities, such as hearing disabilities or vision 
disabilities, as well. Some residents have both developmental and non-developmental 
disabilities.  



 
 
 

 H-33 

In San Mateo County, almost a third of the senior population has some kind of disability. Eight 
percent of the total population in the county has some kind of disability. The most common 
disabilities in the county are ambulatory disabilities (four percent of the population) and 
independent living disabilities (three percent).  

The census does not have numbers specifically for Colma because it is too small, but the 
percentages are likely similar to the countywide averages.  

Table H-36: Age and Type of Disability 

 Number Percent 
County State County State 

Under 18 with Disability  3,270   280,649  2.1% 3.0% 
Age 18-64 with Disability  23,231   1,843,497  5.0% 7.9% 
Age 65 + with Disability  28,703   1,547,712  31% 37% 
Any Age with Any Disability  55,204   3,671,858  8% 10% 
Any Age With Hearing Disability  15,651   1,022,928  2.2% 2.8% 
With Vision Disability  8,199   685,600  1.1% 1.9% 
With Cognitive Disability  19,549   1,400,745  2.7% 3.8% 
With Ambulatory Disability  29,757   1,960,853  4.2% 5.3% 
With Self Care Disability  12,819   862,575  1.8% 2.3% 
With Independent Living Disability  22,735   1,438,328  3.2% 3.9% 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

Note: Some people may have multiple disabilities 

The three major needs for people with disabilities are low cost (subsidized) rents, handicapped 
accessible homes, and buildings near public transportation. These needs are very similar to the 
desires of other segments of the population. Policies that promote affordable housing generally 
are also good for the disabled community. Specific recommendations from the Golden Gate 
Regional Center (with a note of Colma’s actions or programs) include: 

▪ Jurisdictions assisting with site identification for low income developments (Colma’s 

Program 5.5, regular meetings with non-profit developers, Program 3.2, Density Bonus 
allowance and Program 4.3 Emergency Shelters); 

▪ Policies to promote accessible homes (Colma’ Progam 4.1, Reasonable Accommodation 

and enforcement of building codes related to accessibility); 
▪ Inclusionary zoning (Colma’s Program 3.7, Inclusionary Housing); 
▪ Second units (Colma’s Program 2.1), Second Unit Ordinance); and 
▪ Mixed use zoning (Colma’s Program 3.3, High Density Housing near BART). 

Additionally, some people with development disabilities need supportive housing that is 
affordable and located near public transit. In supportive housing, additional services are 
provided at the home.  



  
 
 

  
 H-34 

FEMALE-HEADED AND LARGE HOUSEHOLDS 
Households headed by a single parent can have special needs due to the economic limitation of 
earning only one income, and the challenges of childcare without a partner. Although gender 
equality has made strides over the past 50 years, women continue to earn lower incomes than 
men. Therefore, female-headed households in particular have specific housing needs that must 
be addressed. Female-headed households can have special needs that include low cost housing, 
suitable for children and located near schools and childcare facilities. Innovative, shared living 
arrangements, including congregate cooking and childcare, could also be appropriate 

Female-headed households comprise 28 percent of the households in Colma. The most 
vulnerable female-headed households can be those where women are living with children 
without a partner. Colma has 90 such households, or 15 percent of the total number of 
households. An additional, approximately 80 households are headed by women living alone or 
with other family members. Female-headed households are more likely to be living under the 
poverty line than other households: 10 percent of female-headed households in Colma are 
under the poverty line. 

Table H-37: Female Headed Households 

 

Colma 
County State Number Percent 

Female living with own children, no husband 90 15% 4% 7% 
Female living with other family members, no 
husband 17 3% 6% 6% 
Female living alone 61 10% 15% 13% 
Total Households 585 100% 256,305 12,433,049 
Female Households  Below Poverty Level NA 10% 8% 17% 
Source: 2007-2011 American Community Survey 

Large households are defined as households with five or more members living in the same 
home. Large households are a special needs group because of the difficulty in finding adequate 
and affordable housing.  Many jurisdictions have few large homes, and often these larger 
homes are significantly more expensive than smaller ones. Large households throughout San 
Mateo County are much more likely than smaller households to have some kind of housing 
problem.  

Colma has approximately 90 large households. In Colma, overcrowding is rare; however large 
renter households are much more likely to have some housing problems.  

 



 
 
 

 H-35 

Table H-38: Households of 5 or more by Tenure and Housing Problems 

    
Colma County 

  
State 

  Number  Percent 

Owner-occupied 
Housing Problems 10 29% 59% 61% 
No Housing Problems 24 71% 41% 39% 

Renter-occupied 
Housing Problems 35 64% 84% 81% 
No Housing Problems 20 36% 16% 19% 

Source: 2006-2010 CHAS Data 

HOUSING NEEDS FOR FARM WORKERS  
Farmworkers are traditionally defined as persons whose primary incomes are earned through 
seasonal agricultural labor. Most jurisdictions in San Mateo County have no farms or 
farmworkers; however there are 334 farms and 1,722 farmworkers in the county, primarily 
located in coastal communities. Of these 1,722 farmworkers, 88 are migrant workers and 329 
work less than 150 days annually (and are therefore considered to be “seasonal labor”).  Farm 

workers who are migrant or seasonal workers have special housing needs because of their 
relatively low income and the unstable nature of their job (i.e. having to move throughout the 
year from one harvest to the next).  These workers generally face higher rates of overcrowding 
and other substandard housing conditions.  Continued efforts to provide affordable housing, 
especially affordable housing suitable for families, will help meet the needs of these Farm 
workers.  

The Town of Colma has several commercial container plant nurseries that operate year-round 
and offer their employees regular pay and benefits.  In addition, Colma has two small flower 
farms that are maintained by individual farmers that lease land and successfully sell their crops 
to local merchants. 

Table H-39: Farm workers in San Mateo County (2012) 

  2007 2012 
Total Farms 329 334 
Land in farms (acres) 57,089 48,160  
Hired Farm Labor - 1,722 
Migrant labor - 88 
Working > 150 days annually - 718 
Working <150 days annually - 329 
Source: USDA Census of Agriculture, 2012. 

 

 



  
 
 

  
 H-36 

HOUSING NEEDS FOR THE HOMELESS 
All 21 jurisdictions within San Mateo County have adopted the ten-year HOPE Plan (Housing 
Our People Effectively: Ending Homelessness in San Mateo County), designed to end 
homelessness within ten years. The HOPE Plan adopts a Housing First policy, which seeks to 
move homeless people into permanent housing instead of shelters by increasing the stock of 
affordable and subsidized housing. Although the HOPE planners recognized that there is a lack 
of needed resources throughout the housing continuum, including emergency and transitional 
housing, the greatest need and the most effective use of new and/or redirected resources is for 
creating and sustaining quality affordable housing and supportive housing.  

According to a 2013 countywide homeless survey there are 2,281 homeless people living in San 
Mateo County. Close to 90 percent of the homeless population was living in San Mateo County 
when they became homeless. 

Table H-40: Demographics of Homeless Population 

  
County 

Unsheltered Homeless Sheltered Homeless 
Single Adult or Living w/Another 
Adult 94% 79% 
Family 6% 21% 
Male 71% 60% 
Female 29% 40% 
White 60% x 
Latino 19% x 
African American 13% x 
Other Races 10% x 
Non-Veteran 89% 76% 
Veteran 11% 24% 
Alcohol / Drug Problems 72% 8% 
Physical Disability 52% x 
Chronic Health Problem 47% x 
Mental Illness 37% 10% 
Source: 2013 San Mateo County Homeless Census and Survey, prepared by the San Mateo Human Services 

Agency, Center on Homelessness. May not total 100% due to rounding 

 

  



 
 
 

 H-37 

ABILITY TO MEET HOUSING NEEDS 
RESIDENTIAL LAND INVENTORY  
A key component of the Housing Element is a projection of a jurisdiction’s housing supply.  

State law requires that the element identify adequate sites for housing, including rental housing 
and manufactured housing, and make adequate provisions of the existing and projected needs 
of all economic segments of the community.  This includes an inventory of land suitable for 
residential development, including vacant sites and sites having potential for redevelopment, 
and an analysis of the relationship of zoning and public services to these sites. 

Existing Residential Development 

Existing housing units are identified on Exhibit H-1, Housing and Exhibit H-2, Sterling 
Park Neighborhood. These maps include all dwelling units constructed prior to 2011. Based 
on American Community Survey (2007-2011) and Census records, there are a total of 463 
dwelling units in the Town of Colma, 274 of which are located in the Sterling Park neighborhood 
and the remaining are located outside of Sterling Park.  

Due to the recession and limited available land, no new residential units have been constructed 
in Colma since 2007. 

This former greenhouse is located in Sterling Park. The parcel is zoned for residential use and has a realistic development 

potential of nine single family detached units. 

 



  
 
 

  
 H-38 

Approved Residential Development 

As of July 31, 2014, there are no residential projects under construction in the Town, nor are 
there any approved residential projects not yet under construction.  

Development Potential 

In total, there are parcels available for the development of approximately 75 new residential 
units, including 12 single family units and 63 multi-family units. Of these units, there is potential 
for at least 10 units available to extremely low income households, 10 units to very low income 
households, 8 units to low income households, 9 units to moderate income households and 22 
units to above moderate income households. The potential for 75 new units exceeds the 
development need for 59 units to be constructed between 2015 and 2023. 

Adequate Sites Inventory 

Planning staff inventoried vacant and underutilized parcels in Colma to determine what land is 
available for development at various levels of density.  These density levels were then equated 
to the affordability levels set during the RHNA process and the number of units which might be 
developed at each affordability level was estimated.  The analysis was also completed using the 
actual average built densities for developments built on land with various zoning designations; 
the State has determined that it is not sufficient to simply calculate it at the zoned densities, 
especially if there are significant differences between zoned and built densities.   

The Town of Colma’s land inventory for future housing includes property zoned for multi-family 
use that is currently vacant, as well as land that is underutilized.  The adequate sites analysis 
demonstrates that there is enough land to meet the ABAG Regional Housing Needs Allocation.  
The analysis for affordable housing units for extremely low, very low, low and moderate income 
households is based on the assumption that any property zoned to accommodate multi-family 
development of twelve or more units will produce 20% affordable units through the provisions 
of the Inclusionary Housing Subchapter 12 of the Colma Municipal Code. 

The ability to provide affordable units in Colma is more dependent on available financial 
resources than zoning density.  If qualified developments are able to obtain federal tax credits 
and other funding or incentives, there is a higher probability that more affordable units will be 
provided than in a development where no government or other subsidies are available or 
obtained. 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 H-39 

Table H-41: County Homeless Population Location 2007-2013 

 Location 2007 2013 Change 
On the Street 29% 15% -41% 
In Car, R.V., or Encampment 24% 41% 90% 
In Emergency Shelter 14% 11% -18% 
In Motel with Motel Voucher 5% 1% -73% 
In Transitional Housing  15% 19% 41% 
In Institution 13% 12% 7% 
Total: 2,064 2,281 217 
Source: 2013 San Mateo County Homeless Census and Survey, 2011 San Mateo County 

Homeless Census and Survey, 2009 San Mateo County Homeless Census and Survey, prepared 

by the San Mateo Human Services Agency, Center on Homelessness 

 

The homeless in San Mateo are both sheltered, meaning they live in emergency shelters, 
transitional housing, treatment centers or other similar institutions; and unsheltered, meaning 
they live on the street, in encampments or in a vehicle. 

The number of homeless people living on the street in San Mateo County has decreased since 
2007. However, the number living in an RV, car or encampment has risen dramatically to just 
over 40 percent of the total homeless population. The remaining 43 percent are considered 
sheltered homeless, and live in shelters, transitional housing, motels or institutions.  

The vast majority homeless people are single adults (who may be living with another adult, but 
no children). Still, one-fifth of the sheltered homeless are families. Most were white (60%) and 
male (60-71 percent). Notably, 72 percent of the unsheltered homeless population has an 
alcohol and drug problem, while only eight percent of the sheltered population has a similar 
problem.  

Table H-42: Location when Homelessness Occurred 

 

 

 

Quantification of Available Homeless Assistance Resources 

Shelters and homeless assistance programs are the main resources available to homeless 
residents of San Mateo County. Colma helps to meet the needs of its homeless residents by 
providing financial support and appropriate referrals to local homeless assistance programs 
available in San Mateo County, including Shelter Network, the Human Investment Project, North 

 Location County 
Living in San Mateo County when became homeless 87% 
Hometown in San Mateo County 69% 
Source: 2013 San Mateo County Homeless Census and Survey, prepared by the San 

Mateo Human Services Agency, Center on Homelessness 



  
 
 

  
 H-40 

Peninsula Food Pantry and Dining Center of Daly City, and the Second Harvest Food Bank. In 
addition, Colma permits development of a homeless shelter as a permitted use in the 
Commercial (C) zone. 

San Mateo County’s Center on Homeless, a program overseen by the County Human Services 

Agency, coordinates the provision of homeless services within the County, including those by 
non-governmental entities. The Center on Homeless provides information to county residents, 
provides referrals, administers self-sufficiency programs and develops homeless resources. 
There are also several specialized shelters for persons with substance abuse problems and 
mental illnesses, as well as victims of domestic violence and youth. 

The nearest large homeless assistance facility is the Community Service Center in Daly City. The 
Center is a clearinghouse providing motel vouchers, bus tickets and referrals to the County’s 

transitional shelters. In addition, this facility provides a Home Sharing service which keeps track 
of those with living quarters to share.  

Determination of Unmet Homeless Needs in Colma 

As of the 2013 San Mateo Homeless Census, 7 unsheltered homeless people were counted in 
Colma. Homelessness is a regional issue and consideration of the homeless is important in 
formulating housing policy.  

HOUSING NEEDS FOR EXTREMELY LOW INCOME HOUSEHOLDS 
Extremely Low Income (ELI) households earn 30 percent of the area median income or less. In 
San Mateo County this amounts to an annual income of $33,950 or below for a family of four. 
Many ELI households live in rental housing and most likely facing overpayment, overcrowding 
or substandard housing conditions. Some ELI households are recipients of public assistance 
such as social security insurance or disability insurance. Housing types available and suitable for 
ELI households include affordable rentals, secondary dwelling units, emergency shelters, 
supportive housing and transitional housing. 

There are 35 ELI households in Colma according to 2010 CHAS data. More than half of Colma’s 

ELI households face some kind of housing problem: 100 percent of all ELI renter households, 
and 20 percent of ELI owner households face overcrowding, overpayment, and/or lack 
complete kitchen or plumbing facilities.  

 

 



 
 
 

 H-41 

Table H-43: Housing Needs for Extremely Low Income (ELI) Households in Colma 

Household Category 

Renter 
Households 

Owner 
Households 

Total 
Household

s 
Total households any income 220 250 470 

Total ELI households 15 20 35 

ELI households with housing problems 100% 20% 54% 

ELI households with cost burden (paying 30% or 
more of income) 100% 20% 54% 

ELI households with cost burden (paying 50% or 
more of income) 100% 0% 43% 

Source: HUD Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (2006-2010) 

 



  
 
 

  
 H-42 

 



 
 
 

 H-43 

 



  
 
 

  
 H-44 

Several sites have development potential, including three parcels located in the Sterling Park 
neighborhood, two sites located along El Camino Real near the Colma BART Station, and one 
site located near the intersection of Old Mission Road and El Camino Real. A detailed site 
inventory describing the development potential of each, as well as site-specific constraints is 
provided in the following section. 

A. STERLING PARK DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL 
Three separate vacant or underutilized parcels are located within the Sterling Park residential 
neighborhood. A site analysis has determined that 12 single family detached (SFD) units can be 
developed on these three parcels, which have a combined total area of 0.91 acre.  

There are no governmental or site specific constraints impeding the development of these 
parcels with single family residences. All parcels are designated for single family residential 
development with a maximum allowable density of 13 units per acre. Sewer and water 
infrastructure capacity exists to accommodate the potential housing units. This amount of 
residential development in Sterling Park is already anticipated in the Colma General Plan.  

Table H-44: Sterling Park Single Family Detached Development Potential 

APN Location Designation 
& Zone Acres Dev. 

Pot. 
Density 
Allowed Constraints 

008-126-100 C Street 
(southside) Residential (R) 0.1 2  

13 units/ acre 

None, infra-
structure 
capacity 
exists 

008-126-040 B Street 
(southside) Residential (R) 0.7 9  

008-125-180 B Street 
(northside) Residential (R) 0.11 1  

Total   0.91 12 units   
 

B. EL CAMINO REAL DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL 
Two separate parcels are located along El Camino Real, near the Colma BART Station which is 
located just outside the Town's municipal boundaries. Together, these parcels total 1.13 acres. 
The presence of the Colma BART Station is expected to stimulate development of multiple unit 
residential buildings and mixed use developments in this area. Sewer and water infrastructure 
capacity exists and can accommodate all potential housing units. Development of existing and 
projected parcels is already anticipated in the Colma General Plan.  

The County adopted the Colma BART Station Area Plan which provides incentives for higher 
density development and density bonuses for affordable housing on unincorporated land near 
the BART Station. Additionally, Colma’s Zoning Code provides density bonus incentives for 

affordable units. 



 
 
 

 H-45 

Sandblaster Property – 7773 El Camino Real 

A 
0.53 acre parcel on the east side of El Camino Real is bounded by “C” Street to the north and 

the “D” Street stairs to the south. This parcel is referred to as the ‘Sandblaster Property’ due to 

its past light industrial use. The parcel currently, contains two billboards. The site is currently 
designated as residential/commercial.  

Site-specific constraints include steep topography along the eastern and northern boundaries of 
the site. In addition, there may be specific environmental and physical constraints on the site.  
Although an in-depth environmental site evaluation has not been completed, it is anticipated 
that there may be some surface and sub-surface ground contamination on the site as a result of 
the long-term sandblasting business.  However, a development proposal for the site was 
received in 2007 by the Town Planning Department. The proposal included 13 residential units 
located above ground floor retail uses with sub-grade parking serving the development, and 
was deemed appropriate and feasible. The application was not pursued by the applicant. 
Rezoning the site to a ‘Planned Development’ land use designation would allow for additional 

flexibility in the setbacks and other design standards applicable to the project. Planned 
Development designation allows for a project’s design to respond to site specific conditions, and 

encourages mixed use and residential development.  The Town’s Inclusionary Housing 
Ordinance (Subchapter 12 of the Colma Municipal Code) includes concessions and incentives for 
eligible development projects, subject to approval by the City Council, to facilitate development 
of affordable units on smaller sites such as the property at 7773 El Camino Real. 



  
 
 

  
 H-46 

It should be noted that the project plans submitted in 2007 included this site and the two single 
family residential lots on C Street, mentioned in the Sterling Park Development Potential 
section, for a total of 15 units. 

Bocci Property – 7778 El Camino Real 

A 0.6 acre parcel on the west side of El Camino Real was recently reoccupied by a monument 
making light industrial operation. The parcel is referred to as the ‘Bocci Property’ due to the 

family name of the historic monument manufacturing company located there. 

The parcel is bounded by the entrance to the Colma BART station to the north, the BART right-
of-way to the west and south, and El Camino Real to the east. This parcel could be redeveloped 
with high-density residential or a mixed use development that includes high density residential. 
The property is currently designated for commercial use, which allows for multi-family 
residential. 

 

The 0.6 acre Bocci site at 7778 El Camino Real has a realistic development potential of 24 high density multi-family units. 

Site specific constraints on the property include a utility easement serving the adjacent Colma BART Station. 



 
 
 

 H-47 

 

Site-specific constraints on the parcel include its triangular shape, the close proximity of the 
BART tracks to the property, and an existing utility easement serving the adjacent Colma BART 
Station that reduces the buildable area of the property. However, a development proposal was 
previously submitted to the Town Planning Department, which took into account the site’s 

constraints. The proposal included 24 high density multifamily dwelling units over ground floor 
retail and was deemed to be a realistic development proposal. As with the other El Camino Real 
parcel, rezoning it to a ‘Planned Development’ land use designation would allow for additional 
flexibility in the setbacks and other design standards applicable to the project. Planned 
Development designation allows for a project’s design to respond to site specific conditions, and 

is anticipated to encourage mixed use and residential development. The development proposal 
has since been withdrawn and a small monument business has leased the property.  While the 
terms of the lease are not known, it is likely that redevelopment of the site with mixed-use 
(including high-density residential) will not occur while the monument business exists on site.  
Given the site’s unusual shape and existing access, it is not recommended that residential 

development occur on the site while the present structures exist. 

Table H-45: El Camino Real Parcels Multi-Family Development Potential 

APN Location Designation 
& Zone Acres Dev. 

Pot. 
Density 
Allowed Constraints 

008-127-020 
(Sandblaster) 

El Camino 
Real 

Mixed Use - 
Residential/ 
Commercial - 
(R/C) 

0.53 13 30 
units/acre 

Topography, possible 
ground surface 
contamination 

008-141-080 
(Bocci) 

El Camino 
Real 

Mixed-Use -  
Commercial - 
(C) 

0.6 24  30 
units/acre 

Utility Easement, 
Triangular Shape 

Total   1.13 ac 37 
units   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



  
 
 

  
 H-48 

C. HOLY CROSS SITE DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL 
An additional 3.32 acre development site is located on the north side of El Camino Real, near its 
intersection with Mission Road and the southern Town boundary. This site is referred to as the 
Holy Cross Site, as it is adjacent to the Holy Cross Cemetery and is owned by the Archdiocese 
of San Francisco. Although the maximum allowable density of 22 units per acre would allow for 
up to 73 multifamily units, site specific constraints reduce the realistic development potential of 
the site to approximately 26 dwelling units.  

Site-specific constraints include its narrow and triangular shape, site topography and existing 
structural encumbrances on the site, including a small reservoir providing irrigation water to 
Holy Cross Cemetery.  While the reservoir may be considered a significant constraint, the 
property owners have entertained the possibility of relocating or eliminating the reservoir should 
the property be sold for development.  The realistic development potential of 26 dwelling units 
was calculated by evaluating required off-street parking and taking into account the unusual 



 
 
 

 H-49 

and difficult to develop triangular-shaped site.  However, it may be possible to get a greater 
number of units on the site using the flexibility allowed by the Planned Development zoning 
designation and creative solutions that may include sub-grade parking. 

Because the site is unique and has a number of site-specific physical constraints, a rezoning to 
a Planned Development land use designation would allow for the most development flexibility in 
setting standards such as height, setbacks, ingress and egress, and landscaping. The Planned 
Development designation would be accompanied by plans for development, including site plans, 
floor plans, elevations, landscaping and other site improvements. Sewer and water 
infrastructure capacity exists and can accommodate all potential housing units. Development of 
existing and projected parcels is already anticipated in the Colma General Plan.  

 

 



  
 
 

  
 H-50 

Table H-46: Holy Cross Site Multi-Family Development Potential 

APN Location Designation 
& Zone Acres Development 

Potential 
Density 
Allowed Constraints 

011-370-220 Mission 
Road 

Commercial 
(C) 3.32 26 MFD 22 units/ 

acre 

Topography, 
narrow and 
triangular site, 
existing 
infrastructure 

Total   3.32 26 MFD   
 

The Town of Colma will continue to entertain proposals on the various opportunity sites and will 
work with developers on meeting the Town’s development standards and overall design-related 
goals.  The Planned Development designation allows flexibility in development standards, while 
not inhibiting the maximum densities allowed by the General Plan.  In addition to the single-
family residential infill opportunities, the realistic development potential on sites targeted for 
Planned Development are achievable.  

In accordance with Government Code Section 65863(b), the City adopted a No Net Loss 
Program which was added to the Colma Municipal Code in 2013. This program requires that if 
any identified sites are developed at lower densities than anticipated, that the incremental loss 
of housing capacity will be accommodated elsewhere by either identifying other sites that have 
housing capacity or by rezoning sites within the Town to accommodate the lost capacity. One 
way to accomplish this is to require a minimum density rather than our standard practice of 
identifying a maximum density for a specific site.  

  



 
 
 

 H-51 

GOVERNMENTAL CONSTRAINTS 
As part of the Housing Element process, the Town analyzed its Zoning Code, permitting 
processes, development standards, and building codes to identify potential constraints for the 
development of housing. Housing Element proposes specific actions and implementation 
schedules to remove such impediments, where possible. 

GENERAL PLAN AND ZONING 
Colma’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance provide for a wide range of allowable residential 
densities in both residential and commercial districts. General Plan densities typically determine 
the maximum number of dwelling units allowed on a specific site. The Zoning Ordinance is 
consistent with the General Plan. Additionally, the Town has a Planned Development 
designation which permits relaxation of zoning standards. In the past, the Planned 
Development designation has been used to develop high density residential projects and is the 
most successful manner of developing the available parcels identified in the previous section, 
because of their unique site constraints and small size. 

As discussed earlier, the Town’s Commercial/Mixed Use and Commercial Land Use Designations 

sites will accommodate a majority of the housing need for lower income units. The Colma 
General Plan specifically identifies the Commercial/Mixed Use designation for ground-floor 
retail/office with residential units above. The mechanism to effectuate a mixed-use 
development is the rezoning of the property to Planned Development, which maintains the full 
multi-family allowance in the commercial zone but allows for greater flexibility in development 
standards to maximize unit yield.  

This analysis is based upon two assumptions: that the identified sites allowing mixed-use will be 
developed with the residential uses and developers will build to the estimated realistic densities 
for each of these sites. The first of these assumptions is prudent in light of recent trends in the 
Town and sites near the identified sites. Developments near the identified sites were almost 
exclusively residential use projects or include a small portion of retail/commercial uses.  

Residential projects have been proposed on two of the sites in close proximity to the Colma 
BART Station, lending credence toward the sites being developed with residential uses. There 
are several other reasons why the identified sites are likely to develop with the estimated 
residential capacity during the planning period: 

1. Areas designated for mixed-use development have no minimum commercial 
component requirement, so developers are able to develop 100 percent residential 
(i.e. there is no vertical mixed use requirement) on mixed use sites. 

2. The Town supports housing in the Town’s mixed-use areas by assisting in site 
assembly. 



  
 
 

  
 H-52 

3. The majority of mixed-use sites are not prime sites favored by commercial 
establishments. 

4. The sites are located in close proximity to where other new residential development 
has been built or approved. 

Thus, it is reasonable to assume that the identified sites will be developed as residential-use 
projects, at, or above, the estimated densities. 

The zoning ordinance sets forth requirements that can affect the type, appearance and cost of 
housing to be built within the Town of Colma. The zoning ordinance includes standards for 
development determining minimum lot size, permitted use(s), minimum setbacks, maximum 
height limits and minimum parking standards. There is no lot coverage limit or floor area ratio 
standard for residential zoning districts in Colma. The building envelope allowed on a 
residentially zoned lot in Colma is determined by setbacks and height limits.  There are two 
residentially zoned districts in Colma, the Residential (R) zone and the Residential – Sterling 
Park (R-S) zone.  The R-zone allows single family dwellings by right (no land use entitlements 
required) and multi-family dwellings up to six units with approval of a Use Permit provided that 
the residential density proposed does not exceed that which is specified in the General Plan. 
The R-S zone allows single family detached dwellings only.  

Development standards in Colma such as setbacks, building height and off-street parking are 
similar to or less restrictive than those in surrounding communities and would not be considered 
unreasonable development constraints. For example, the minimum side yard (10 percent of lot 
width) can be as narrow as 3.33 feet, which is much smaller than the 10 foot setback required 
by many San Mateo County jurisdictions. Colma allows a minimum lot size of 3,333 square feet, 
which is significantly smaller than most jurisdictions. In addition, Colma allows residential 
development on commercially-zoned parcels, which is a far less restrictive land use policy than 
found elsewhere in the County. The development standards for residential zones are 
summarized in the table below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 H-53 

Current R-S and R Zone Development Standards  

 
Standard R-S Zone R Zone 

Front Setback: 
First Floor 15’/19’ to garage 15’/19’ to garage 
Second Floor None None 

Side Setback: 
First Floor 3’3”=10% of lot width or 10’ 

whichever is less 
10% of lot width or 10’, 

whichever is less 
Second Floor None None 

Rear Setback: 
First Floor 15’ 25% of total lot area, not to 

exceed 25’ 
Second Floor 25’ 25’ 

FAR: No restriction. Governed by 
setbacks/height limits 

No restriction- governed by 
setbacks/height limits 

Height: 27’ 36’ 
 

In 2013, the Town adopted manufactured home design standards for the Town’s two single-
family residential zoning districts in compliance with Government Code Section 65852.3(a), and 
are permitted as single-family dwellings. 

The parking standards are set forth in the zoning ordinance by district, and are defined in 
Section 5.01.080 of the zoning ordinance. These standards are summarized in the table below. 

Parking Standards 

Residence Type 
Spaces Required 

Total 
Covered Uncovered 

Single Family Detached: (Over 4 bdrms., add 0.5 
spaces/each addl. bedroom) 2  2 

Multiple Units:    
Studio 1 .5 1.5 
1 Bedroom 1 .5 1.5 
2-4 Bedrooms 1 1 2 
Over 4 Bedrooms add .5 covered or uncovered for each 
additional bedroom    

    
The Zoning Ordinance includes provisions for residential structures existing or approved prior to 
March 1, 1988. These provisions require only one (1) parking space for each single family 
dwelling or for a multi-family dwelling having no more than one bedroom and 1.5 covered 
parking spaces for each multi-family dwelling having two (2) or more bedrooms. If the existing 
units comply with these provisions, property owners are not required to provide additional 
parking spaces because of repairs, restoration, remodeling or additions to such units; however, 
if additional bedrooms are added to an existing single family dwelling, the number off–street 



  
 
 

  
 H-54 

parking spaces must be increased by 0.5 covered or uncovered spaces for each bedroom 
exceeding the total, existing and added, of four (4) bedrooms.  

The density limits set forth in the Colma General Plan allow 13-30 units per acre in residentially 
zoned areas, and up to 30 units per acre in the mixed commercial/residential areas.  Up to 30 
residential units per acre are permitted in certain commercial areas through mixed-use 
developments, which are established through the Planned Development process. Through the 
establishment of a Planned Development, standards may vary including those associated with 
parking, building height, and Floor Area Ratio. Density bonuses are also permitted under 
specific circumstances. 

Although development standards and densities are generally less restrictive than those found in 
other Peninsula communities, Colma’s high proportion of land uses directly related to the large 
inventory of cemetery land discussed in the preceding section must be viewed as a constraint to 
future development of housing in Colma. This constraint is not, however, insurmountable in 
view of the availability of sites identified in this document. Existing residential development 
standards, such as setbacks, height limits and parking requirements have not constrained 
housing development in the Town.  In many cases, they are less restrictive than other 
jurisdictions in San Mateo County, resulting in lower costs to develop housing. The flexibility 
afforded in the Planned Development process allows residential development to achieve 
maximum densities while balancing livability and habitability standards.  

BUILDING CODES 
The California Building Code is used in Colma. The Town’s Building Official verifies that new 

residences, additions, auxiliary structures, etc., meet all construction and safety standards. 
Building permits are required for most construction work. Additionally, building code 
enforcement helps the Town maintain a safe building stock. 

ON- AND OFF-SITE IMPROVEMENTS 
Site improvements are a necessary component of the development process. Improvements can 
include the laying of sewer, water, and streets for use by a community when that infrastructure 
is lacking, and these improvements make the development feasible. Due to the built-out nature 
of the Town, all of the residential and commercial areas in Colma are already served with 
adequate streets, sidewalks and infrastructure.  This includes sidewalks that only usually require 
modification to the location of curb-cuts.  

In areas already served by infrastructure, site improvement requirements vary depending on 
the existing condition of each project site. Usually, only standard connection laterals are 
required for most project utilities. The undergrounding of utilities from the nearest pole to the 
project is required of all projects, and street tree planting may also be required. These costs 



 
 
 

 H-55 

have not shown to be problematic for any developments in the Town when anticipated and 
known by the developer early in the process. 

PERMIT PROCESSING AND PROCEDURES 
Building permits must be secured before commencement of any construction, reconstruction, 
conversion, alteration or addition. Approval of permit applications is based on conformity with 
the Zoning Ordinance, although the City Council has the power to grant variances from the 
terms of the Ordinance within the limitations provided by law.  

Two ways of developing housing in Colma include the construction of individual single-family 
residential units on existing lots or the rezoning of larger properties to a Planned Development 
(PD) zoning designation for provision of multi-family or higher density housing. The Town of 
Colma does not have a specific multi-family zoning designation, so the Planned Development 
designation provides opportunities for multi-family housing. The Planned Development 
entitlement process requires the approval of a Conceptual Development Plan and a Detailed 
Development Plan and is subject to evaluation under the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA).  Construction of single-family residential units does not require discretionary review 
and is exempt from CEQA evaluation.   

The table below identifies various entitlements and the estimated processing time for each.  
Because many applications require multiple approvals, many of these approvals run 
concurrently. Variance and Use Permit requests usually take only two to four months to 
process. Because Colma has no Planning Commission, decision-making is unusually streamlined. 

Amendments and reclassifications to the Zoning Ordinance can be made by the City Council, 
subject to applicable provisions of state law and typically take four to six months to review. 
Procedures for amendments and reclassifications are stated in the Zoning Ordinance. 

Entitlement Processing Time and Approving Authority 

Type of Permit Typical 
Processing Time Approving Authority 

Design Review 2-4 months City Council 
General Plan Amendment 4-6 months City Council 
Zoning Reclassification 4-6 months City Council 
Variance to Zoning Regulations 2-4 months City Council 
Planned Development Plan 6-8 months City Council 
Parcel Map (in conjunction with PD) 6-8 months City Council/Public Works 
Subdivision Map (in conjunction with PD) 6-8 months City Council/Public Works 
Negative Declaration 4-6 months City Council 
Environmental Impact Report 6-8 months  City Council 
   

The Planned Development process can be summarized as follows: 



  
 
 

  
 H-56 

Once an application for a Planned Development (which consists of a Rezoning and a Use Permit 
request, at a minimum) is received by the Planning Department, the application is reviewed for 
completeness and processed as a Conceptual Development Plan.  Environmental review is 
completed during the Conceptual Development Plan phase. All applications are processed 
concurrently, and entitlements are generally approved within four to six months of application 
filing. The final step in the approval process is a Detailed Development Plan.  The development 
standards that provide a guideline for a Planned Development are those most closely associated 
with the General Plan land use designation.  For example, the properties targeted for mixed-use 
along El Camino Real are designated as Commercial/Mixed Use in the Colma General Plan.  
Building heights, floor area ratios and setbacks adopted in the Commercial zoning district would 
be used as a guideline for a Planned Development.   

The following is a summary of application fees for Planned Development submittals:   

Planned Development Entitlement Application Fees 

Entitlement Fee 
Establishment of Planned Development $4,880 deposit 
Major Use Permit $4,225 deposit 
Design Review Permit (Major) $4,190 deposit 
 

While deposits would be due at the time of application submittal, the applicant would receive a 
refund of any unused monies after completion of the entitlement process. 

Single-family residential infill construction does not require land use entitlements, and building 
permit-related fees vary depending on the project’s valuation. Provided that a proposal meet 

zoning code regulations, additions to and new construction of single family dwellings do not 
require review or approval by City Council.  As noted above, single family dwellings are not 
subject to CEQA. Processing for a new single family dwelling would begin with building permit 
submittal and there are no neighborhood noticing requirements.  

Upon submittal of a building permit application for a single family addition or construction of a 
new single family dwelling, the Building Department routes the plans and application to the 
other City Departments for review. At that time there would be a detailed review of the 
proposed construction to determine if the project meets all municipal code regulations. There 
are no residential design guidelines for single family additions or new construction. During 
review of the application by the Planning Department, design of the proposed addition or new 
construction would consider overall mass and bulk of the project in relation to the surrounding 
neighborhood. While there is no specific design criteria, impacts of the addition on adjacent 
properties is considered during the plan check of the building permit application. Plan check 
comments are returned to the Building Department within 10-days of submittal so that 
comments can be provided to the applicant in a timely manner.  



 
 
 

 H-57 

Building permit plan check and processing in Colma is efficient and timely. Building permits 
generally are processed in a few days.  Building permits for projects that require approval of 
entitlements cannot be issued until CEQA review is completed and the City Council approves all 
entitlement applications. In order to expedite the process leading to construction, it is not 
uncommon for applicants to submit plans for building permit review while simultaneously 
proceeding through the CEQA and entitlement processes. Depending on the complexity of a 
project, building permit issuance ranges from a few days to a few weeks. 

Fees 

The cost of development within the Town of Colma includes planning and building plan check 
fees; permit fees; utility service fees, recycling fees, and school fees. In addition, the Town of 
Colma imposes a parkland dedication fee for subdivisions (Quimby fee) and if inclusionary 
housing is not included (where required) then a housing in-lieu fee may also be imposed. Local 
governments typically assess many different types of residential development fees. These 
include planning fees, building permit and related fees, capital facilities fees and development 
impact fees.  

Planning Fees 

Planning-related application fees required for development in the Town of Colma fall into two 
categories: flat fees and deposit against actual costs. Flat fees are charged for processing 
applications through the Planning Department to develop property. Fees are due and payable 
upon making application, and are non-refundable. Based upon an analysis of staff hours and 
comparison with other jurisdictions, the fees set forth do not exceed the estimated reasonable 
cost of providing the service. The following table summarizes the flat fees applicable to 
development: 

Type of Permit Fee 
Administrative Use Permit $280 
Design Review, Minor $325 
Sign Permit $382 
Sign Review $102 
Temporary or Short Term Use Permit $280 
Tree Removal Permit $474 
Use Permit, Home Occupation $50 
Use Permit, Minor $905 
Zoning Clearance for Retail Merchandising Unit $184 
  

Deposit-based fees are required for processing major development applications through the 
Planning Department. The initial deposits shown below are due and payable upon filing an 
application, and are based on the typical amount of staff time necessary to process similar 
applications. If additional staff time is necessary to adequately evaluate an application, 



  
 
 

  
 H-58 

additional deposits will be required. In accordance with the Colma ordinance that established 
the current Master Fee Schedule, the total amount of deposit-based fees shall not exceed three 
times the initial deposit, plus reimbursable costs. Any unused deposits are returned to the 
applicant after a decision on the application has been made by the City Council. Proposed 
amendments require the same fees as an initial application.  The following summarizes the 
deposit-based fees associated with typical entitlement applications for all types of residential 
development:   

Table H-47: Deposit Against Actual Cost – Land Use Development Processing Fees, 
Planning Services  

Type of Permit Initial Deposit 
Design Review, Major $4,190 
General Plan Amendment $5,575 
Lot Line Adjustment $2,540 
Parcel Map $3,950 
Planned Development Plan $4,880 
Subdivision Map $5,465 
Use Permit, Major $4,245 
Vacation or abandonment of Public Easement $5,705 
Variance to Zoning Regulations $4,720 
Zoning Reclassification $5,245 
  

In addition to the above noted planning application fees, staff time associated with 
environmental review in accordance with CEQA (California Environmental Quality Act) review 
requires a separate deposit, which is due and payable at the time an application is submitted. 
As noted above, additional deposits will be required if the amount of staff time to evaluate the 
proposal exceeds the amount of the initial deposit. Any unused deposits are returned to the 
applicant after a decision on the environmental document has been made by the City Council. 
The total processing fee will not exceed the actual, reasonable cost of providing the service. In 
addition to the application and CEQA review fees, applicants are required to submit pass-
through fees to the San Mateo County Clerk and California Department of Fish and Game, 
collected by the City after the environmental determination has been approved by the City 
Council. The following table summarizes the fees associated with environmental review of a 
proposed development (not specifically residential): 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 H-59 

 

CEQA Review Fees for Land Use Development Projects – Deposit Against Actual 
Cost  

Application Initial Deposit Pass-through Fees 
Categorical Exemption $100 $50-Document handling fee 

(Mitigated) Negative Declaration  
$4,780 is prepared by Staff; 
otherwise 10% of the cost charged 
by an outside consultant 

$2,181.25 –CA Dept. Fish & 
Game fee 
$50- Document handling fee 

Environmental Impact Report 
Consultant cost plus a deposit of 
10% of the cost charged by an 
outside consultant 

$3,029.75 –CA Dept. Fish & 
Game fee 
$50- Document handling fee 

Environmental Document 
pursuant to a Certified 
Regulatory Program (CRP) 

- 
$1,030.25 –CA Dept. Fish & 
Game fee 
$50- Document handling fee 

   
The Town of Colma’s Planning Department is partially funded by application fees and deposits, 
but the remaining cost of operating the department is subsidized by the Town’s General Fund. 

An August 2008 study was conducted which evaluated typical planning and building permit fees 
to construct a new single-family residence in each San Mateo County jurisdiction. In this study, 
Colma’s fees fell near the low end of the range, considerably lower than most San Mateo 
County jurisdictions. Residential planning and building fees are broadly required by all 
jurisdictions in San Mateo County. In Colma, such fees are noted here as affecting 
development, but are not viewed as a governmental constraint. 

The following tables provide estimated planning, building and impact fees when compared to 
other jurisdictions within San Mateo County. The fees are based on the following prototypical 
projects: 

▪ One single-family residence:  A new home on an empty lot in an existing neighborhood, 
no significant grading  or other complicating factors, 2400 sf and 500 sf garage, two 
stories, four bedrooms, three bedrooms. 

▪ Ninety-Six Units in 16 Buildings on Eight Acres of Land:  the project has a total of 
145,500 square feet. The construction will be type VN. The building will have no 
sprinklers and will have HVAC air conditioning.  

The 96 unit project will require a zoning change: Planned Development Zoning/ PD Permit, and 
Tentative Map, High Complexity. The project will generate 72 peak hour trips.  

The project will require significant grading work (5,000CY), and type 1 erosion/sediment 
control.  



  
 
 

  
 H-60 

The project will include existing public street frontage, and will need $400,000 of frontage 
improvements (half street reconstruction). The project will also require the construction of new 
private streets, which will cost an additional $600,000.  

The project will require no public landscaping and no traffic signal work.  

Units:  

Model A: 28 units, 1250 sf + 500 sf garage, 2 stories, 2 bdrm, 2 bth 
Model B: 34 units, 1500 sf + 500 sf garage, 2 stories, 3 bdrm, 2 bth 
Model C: 34 units, 1750 sf + 500 sf garage, 2 stories, 3 bdrm, 2.5 bth 

Table H-48: Single Family Development Fee Survey By Jurisdiction 

City Entitlement Fees Construction Fees Impact Fees Total 
Brisbane - $4,211 $11,111 $15,322 
Burlingame $1,806  $32,400  $9,062  $43,268  
Colma - $6,760  $7,680  $14,439  
Daly City - $15,998  $5,074  $21,072  
Foster City $2,000  $18,682  - $20,682  
Half Moon Bay $12,055  $3,312  $25,032  $40,399  
Hillsborough $2,901  $10,699  $4,980  $15,679  
Portola Valley $3,640  $19,772  $7,860  $31,092  
Redwood City $620  $6,384  $21,531  $28,535  
San Mateo $3,500  $26,107  $20,844  $50,451  
South San Francisco $670  $9,996  $6,312  $16,978  
Woodside $4,380  $16,484  $4,350  $25,214  
Source: 21 Elements Fee Survey, 2013/2014 

Colma’s fees are generally much less than those of other jurisdictions in the County for the 

single-family home prototype. The impact fees collected by the Town for the 96-unit Multi-
Family prototype are comparable with surveyed jurisdictions.  

Generally, the fees collected by the Town are relatively low and are not considered an 
impediment to development. 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 H-61 

Table H-49: Multi-Family Development Fee Survey by Jurisdiction 

 
Entitlement 

Fees 
Construction 

Fees 
Impact 
Fees 

CEQA 
Fees Total Per unit 

cost 
Brisbane  $33,543 $191,358 $302,252 $2,218 $529,371 $5,514.28 
Burlingame $58,076  $1,431,000  $531,552  $273,234  $2,020,628  $21,048.21 

Colma $22,275  $230,847- 
$554,837 $1,429,085  $60,000  

$1,742,207 
- 
$2,066,197 

$18,147 - 
21,522 

Daly City $18,041  $530,861  $487,104  $2,995  $1,036,006  $10,791.73 
Foster City $50,000  $560,875  $1,920,000  - $2,530,875  $26,363.28 
San Mateo $75,000  $841,502  $1,463,652  $25,000  $2,405,154  $25,053.69 
Redwood City $12,500  $689,712  $1,537,620  $5,000* - - 
Source: 21 Elements Fee Survey, 2013/2014 

Notes: Construction Fees- Colma’s costs vary depending on the sewer district. Impact fees- Colma and Foster City listed a 

school fee, but these were removed for consistency with other jurisdictions. CEQA- Burlingame assumes a higher CEQA cost 

than the other jurisdictions.  Other cities assumed a Negative Declaration or a Mitigated Negative Declaration. Redwood City 

assumes that a project is downtown; otherwise the CEQA fees are based on cost recovery and can vary dramatically. All EIR 

related expenses have been separated into their own category.  

Building Fees 

Colma, in accordance with the Government Code, enforces the latest edition of the California 
Building Code to ensure the health and safety of residents of newly constructed housing. The 
Town’s Building Department enforces the building code. Inspections and approvals are 

completed promptly and do not add unnecessary delays in the construction of new housing.  
Fees are assessed for these projects to offset plan check and inspection activities.  From time to 
time, the Town adjusts fees to keep up with inflation.  These fees are established in accordance 
with the Government Code. 

Building permit fees for new construction and additions are determined in dollars per square 
foot based on the occupancy of the use, with the final determination for the occupancy made 
by the Building Official.  Permit fees for alternations, reports and interior changes (tenant 
improvements) are charged on a sliding scale that is based upon the valuation of the project. 
Plan check fee are 65% of the permit fees. 

Recycling Fees 

In March 2004, the Colma City Council passed an ordinance to meet the goals of the California 
Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989. The ordinance requires that at least 50 percent of 
the waste tonnage from any demolition project, including concrete and asphalt, (or 15% where 
there is no concrete and/or asphalt) be recycled and/or reused, consistent with the Act. Prior to 
demolition and building permit issuance, applicants must comply with the Town’s Construction 

Debris and Demolition recycling ordinance and complete a “Recycling and Waste Calculation 



  
 
 

  
 H-62 

Form”. At the time of building permit issuance, the applicant posts a deposit, at a rate of $50 

per ton for the percentage of recycled materials calculated. At the completion of the project, it 
is the contractor’s responsibility to demonstrate that they have properly recycled the correct 
amount of waste generated by submitting receipts, weight tags, or other records to the Colma’s 

building department for verification. If it is demonstrated that the construction debris recycling 
goals were met, the full amount of the deposit is refunded. If the amount recycled is less than 
the required amount, the Town of Colma retains the $50.00 for each ton not recycled and/or 
reused. Since waste diversion is broadly required of all jurisdictions under State law, it is noted 
here as affecting development, but is not viewed as a constraint. 

Public Works Fees 

There are also public works fees associated with property development. These fees are charged 
for processing documents necessary to implement a plan to develop a property. Fees are due 
and payable upon making application, and are non-refundable. These fees are in addition to 
any other fees set forth in this schedule.  

Typical public works fees include sewer connection fees, water meter and service connection 
fees and sidewalk and special encroachment permits, and the most prevalent associated with 
residential construction are summarized below.  

Public Works Fees – Town of Colma 

Type of Permit Fee 
Grading Plan Check Fees 
50-2,000 cu. yds $80.00 + $20 per 100 cu. yds. 
Grading Plan Checking > 2,000 cu. yds $400 + $2 per 100 cu. yds.  

(if > 2,000 cu. yds.) 
Grading Permit, 50-2,000 cu. yds $130.00 + $20 per 100 cu. yds. 
Grading Permit, >2,000 cu. yds $530.00 + $7.50 per 100 cu. yds. (if >2,000 cu. yds.) 
Improvement Plan Check Fees 
Contracts of </= $10,000 5% of contract cost, $100.00 min. 
Contracts between $10,000-$100,000 $500.00 plus 3.5% of contract cost 
Contracts >$100,000 $3,650 plus 2% of contract cost 
Street or easement vacation $500.00/first parcel + $200.00/each contiguous parcel 
Lot Line Adjustment by deed $400.00 
Lot Line Adjustment by Parcel Map $200.00 + recording costs 
Parcel or Final Map Subdividing Property $600.00 + $50.00 /each lot + recording costs 
 

School Fees 

In 1987, Assembly Bill 2926 amended the California Government Code to authorize school 
districts to levy school impact fees on new residential, commercial and industrial development. 
There are four school districts that serve Colma: the Bayshore Elementary School District, 



 
 
 

 H-63 

Jefferson Elementary School District, Pacifica Elementary School District and the Brisbane 
Elementary School District. There is one high school district, the Jefferson Union High School 
District. School fees are collected to offset costs of rehabilitation and maintenance of school 
buildings. Fees are collected on all new construction projects in Colma and on residential 
remodels in Colma that add 500 square feet or more. Residential school development fees for 
the Bayshore, Jefferson and Pacifica Elementary School Districts and Jefferson Union High 
School District are $2.97 per square foot. 

Parkland Dedication 

The Colma City Council adopted Ordinance 641 in 2006 to require dedication of land and/or 
payment of a parkland dedication fee. The parkland dedication fee applies to projects in Colma 
that require approval of a tentative map or parcel map for residential uses by one or more 
dwelling units, but exempts subdivisions containing fewer than 5 parcels and not used for 
residential purposes. This fee is determined by multiplying 0.003 acres per person in the 
dwelling unit (which is the same as three acres per 1,000 persons) times the total number of 
dwelling units in the development times the average number of persons per dwelling unit in the 
subdivision for which the approval of a map is being sought. The ordinance assumes that the 
average number of persons in a dwelling unit in the subdivision will be 3.05, which is the 
average occupancy Based on the 2010 Census and the 2007-2011 American Community Survey. 
In subdivisions over 50 lots, or, in the case of a condominium project, stock cooperative or 
community apartment project, if the subdivision contains more than fifty (50) dwelling units, 
the developer shall both dedicate land and pay a fee.  The purpose of collecting these fees is to 
provide park and/or recreational land for use by the residents of Colma.  The Colma Parkland 
Dedication Fee ordinance is based on California State enabling legislation, so it is applicable 
statewide.  Therefore, it is not viewed as a constraint to development, as many communities in 
the area have adopted the same regulations. 

Local governments typically assess many different types of residential development fees. These 
include planning fees, building permit and related fees, capital facilities fees and development 
impact fees. Residential planning and building fees are broadly required by all jurisdictions in 
San Mateo County. In Colma, such fees are noted here as affecting development, but are not 
viewed as a governmental constraint. 



Community Health, Safety  
and Services Element 



 
 
 

 CS-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PURPOSE 
Ensuring a community’s safety through protection from geologic, flood, fire and airport related 

hazards is one of the essential services of local government agencies. Similarly, services for law 
enforcement and fire protection, emergency preparedness and response are essential for 
maintaining the health, safety, and welfare of a community (see Figure CS.1). Government 
Code Section §65302(g) requires each jurisdiction within the State of California to include in its 
General Plan a Safety Element that addresses the protection of the community from any 
unreasonable risks associated with various types of hazards. California State law requires that a 
Safety Element include information on the community’s fire, safety, flooding, and seismic and 
geological hazards. In addition to the State requirements, this Community Health, Safety and 
Services Element also addresses police and fire services, aircraft overflight, and hazardous 
materials and waste, as well as the Town of Colma (Town)’s Hazard Mitigation Plan. 

This Community Health, Safety and Services Element provides information about public services 
related to community safety, including geologic and flooding hazards, law enforcement, 
hazardous materials and emergency preparedness, fire response, airport hazards, and noise. 
Preserving community safety is an essential service of public agencies and a critical priority for 
maintaining community health and welfare. Recent disaster events in the state, such as the 
Kincade fire in 2019, Camp Fire in 2018, and the Loma Prieta earthquake in 1989, only highlight 
the need for a community to be aware of and prepared for disasters. This Element therefore 
provides for sound emergency preparedness planning and supports the community desire to 
develop increasing resilience over time. This Element relates San Mateo County safety planning 



  
 
 

  
 CS-2 

efforts to the Town’s land use decisions and provides detailed information for decision makers 

to use. 

This Community Health, Safety and Services Element establishes goals, policies, and programs 
to protect the health and safety of Colma residents, businesses, employees and visitors. It 
addresses the following safety planning and response topics: 

• Community Health 
• Geologic and Seismic Hazards 
• Flooding and Sea Level Rise 
• Wildland and Urban Fires 
• Hazardous Materials 
• Airport Safety 

• Law Enforcement 
• Fire Protection and Emergency 

Medical Services 
• Emergency Preparedness and 

Disaster Response 
• Noise 

RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER GENERAL PLAN ELEMENTS 
The Community Health, Safety and Services Element is directly related to all other elements of 
the General Plan. The planning and policy decision making process for land uses, housing, 
circulation, and open space must incorporate the policies of this element to reduce the risks of 
hazards to the public. Development plans must properly account for public safety 
considerations, while open spaces provide public health and ecological benefits and often 
incorporate areas of increased hazard risk. This element identifies hazards and hazard 
mitigation guidelines to assist local decisions related to zoning, subdivisions, and entitlement 
permits. 

 

  



 
 
 

 CS-3 

COMMUNITY HEALTH 
Where people live greatly determines their access to resources that enable them to be 
healthy—such as safe streets, nutritious foods, quality housing, and access to healthcare. A 
healthy community promotes a positive physical, social, and economic environment that 
supports the overall well-being of its residents. Planning decisions about land use, mobility, and 
urban design can have a strong impact on an individual’s transportation choices, housing 

options, and social interactions. These decisions can improve physical and mental health by 
providing opportunities for physical activity, providing access to nutritious food, or enabling 
social interaction with neighbors on a regular basis. Neighborhood conditions can have a 
profound impact on one’s health and life expectancy. 

Colma residents, business owners, and community members enjoy a consistenly high quality of 
life. The Town is committed to improving quality of life and increasing opportunities for 
residents to make healthy lifestyle choices. Policies in this section express the Town’s 

overarching commitment to healthy living and enhancing quality of life. Due to the broad and 
interdisciplinary nature of health issues, other elements of the General Plan contain goals and 
polices related to health and quality of life. The Town provides quality recreation opportunities 
for residents of all ages to enjoy. As residents age, the Town seeks to provide services that will 
meet the needs of seniors. Due to Colma’s small size, the Town generously supports services 
and programs offered by outside agencies and non-profits that provide services that can be 
utilized by town residents. Locations of public facilities in the Town, many of which support 
community health, are shown in Figure CS.1.  

 



  
 
 

  
 CS-4 

 



 
 
 

 CS-5 

CS-1-1: Health in All Policies.  Prioritize the overall health of Colma residents in Town 
strategies, programs, daily operations, and practices. 

CS-1-2: Partnering and Supporting Non-Profits. Continue to support and partner with 
other government agencies or non-profits to provide services to residents that cannot 
be provided by the Town. 

CS-1-3: Physical Activity and the Built Environment. Support new developments or 
infrastructure improvements in existing neighborhoods that enable people to drive less 
and walk, bike, or take public transit more. 

CS-1-4: Diverse Recreational Offerings. Periodically assess recreational opportunities and 
modify programming to ensure they are appropriate for the community’s cultural and 
age diversity. 

CS-1-5: Age Friendly Cities. Look for opportunities to partner with San Mateo County and 
other non-profit organizations to support senior well-being in the community. 

CS-1-6: Location of Essential Facilities. Avoid locating essential facilities, such as schools, 
fire, police, utilities, hospitals, and emergency service facilities, in areas subject to 
geologic and seismic hazards, fire risk, flooding, and hazardous waste, where feasible.  

  



  
 
 

  
 CS-6 

 

GEOLOGIC AND SEISMIC HAZARDS 
Colma is located in the seismically active San Francisco Bay Area (Bay Area) with one active 
fault, the San Andreas Fault, located outside the town, and the Serra Fault located within the 
town, as shown in Figure CS.2. The entire Bay Area is located within the San Andreas Fault 
Zone. Colma is located approximately less than 2 miles away from the San Andreas Fault, 
which, in a worst-case scenario, could cause violent or magnitude 9.0 (level 9) earthquakes to 
hit the town, as shown in Figure CS.3.  

Due to its location near the boundary between the North American and Pacific tectonic plates, 
Colma is exposed to geologic and seismic hazards such as strong seismic ground shaking, 
seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction and landslides.  

The likelihood, severity, and location of any of these seismically induced hazards occurring in 
Colma depends upon geology, topography, soil type, weather, and intensity of development. 
Steep slopes, the extent of erosion, and the rock composition of a hillside can aid in predicting 
the probability of slope failure.  

In addition to other seismic hazards, portions of the town are subject to liquefaction. Soil 
liquefaction occurs when wet soil loses its strength and stability and behaves more like a liquid, 
causing damage to buildings and other structures. The potential for liquefaction depends on the 
type of soil and the extent that the soils are saturated with ground water. Areas of Colma could 
be susceptible to liquefaction during a significant earthquake since the town of Colma is 
situated in an alluvial valley with loose soils. Liquefaction susceptibility is shown on Figure CS.3.  

Therefore, the following Goals, Policies, and Program items have been identified to reduce 
geological risks to the town. 



 
 
 

 CS-7 

 

  



 

  
 CS-8 

 



 
 
 

 CS-9 

CS-2-1: Geotechnical Studies.  Require geotechnical, soils, and foundation reports for 
proposed projects and subdivisions on sites that have been identified as having 
moderate or high potential for ground failure, liquefaction, and seismic activity by 
the Town or by the San Mateo County Seismic and Safety Element.  

CS-2.2: Development in Hazardous Areas. Prohibit development, including any land 
alteration, grading for roads, and structural development, in areas of slope 
instability, unless the appropriate mitigation measures are taken. 

CS-2-3:  Unsafe Buildings.    Encourage seismic retrofits of existing buildings based on the 
recommendations of a licensed engineer or architect. Prioritize working with owners 
of buildings whose loss would impact the greatest number of people and/or 
particularly vulnerable groups such as seniors, children, or low-income households. 

CS-2-4: Water Infrastructure Safety. Collaborate with San Mateo County, California 
Water Service Company, and the San Francisco Water District to ensure that all 
water tanks and main water pipelines are capable of withstanding high seismic 
stress.  

CS-2-5: Erosion Prevention.  Require new grading or development to prevent erosion on 
slope and hillside areas by revegetation or use of slope protection material. Require 
project grading and drainage plans to demonstrate how the project will maintain 
natural surface drainage and existing vegetation, to the extent feasible. 

CS-2.6: Seismic Hazards.  Continue to enforce appropriate standards to ensure existing 
and new development is located, designed, and constructed to minimize the risk of 
loss of life and property from seismic hazards. 

  



  
 
 

  
 CS-10 

FLOOD HAZARDS 
Flooding is defined as the condition resulting when an overwhelming amount of water 
submerges normally dry land masses. Some floods develop slowly when rain continues over a 
period of days and inundates water systems. Others, such as flash flood conditions, typically 
occur when a moderate rainfall is followed by a heavy rainstorm. The moderate rainfall 
saturates the soil allowing minimal additional infiltration. Flood hazards are typically assessed in 
terms of 100-year or 500-year flood plains (lands submerged during flood events). As defined 
by the Federal Emergency Management Authority (FEMA), a 100-year flood plain is the land 
area that has a one in 100 percent chance of being flooded within any given year, while a 500-
year flood plain has a 1 in 500 percent chance of being flooded. The Federal Insurance 
Administration (FIA) administers the National Flood Insurance Program and is the primary 
agency for flood related disasters and mitigation. The Town of Colma is bisected by Colma 
Creek, which is part of a watershed drainage basin defined by San Bruno Mountain on the east 
and the ridge traced by Skyline Boulevard on the west. Colma Creek flows through the center of 
the town and continues through the city of South San Francisco to the Bay. Colma Creek is part 
of the San Mateo County Flood and Sea Level Rise Resiliency District. The Colma Creek Flood 
Control Zone covers approximately 16.3 square miles, including the town of Colma, as well as 
portions of the cities of Pacifica, Daly City, San Bruno, and South San Francisco. Increased 
urbanization in the greater San Francisco Bay Area has increased the amount of impervious 
areas and reduced the amount of groundwater infiltration, thereby resulting in increased levels 
of water runoff and flooding potential. 

STREET AND PROPERTY FLOODING 
Flooding has occurred frequently at El Camino Real and F Street, and on El Camino Real at 
Mission Road. Certain segments of Colma Creek used to overflow, but improvements to the 
Colma Creek drainage channel have reduced creek flooding. The town of Colma has been 
designated Flood Zone X, meaning it has been determined by FEMA to be only minimally flood-
prone, and therefore is not included on FEMA’s official Flood Zone Maps. The FEMA flood zones 

in close proximity to the town’s boundaries are depicted on Figure CS.4. To maintain FEMA’s 

rating, several General Plan policies are provided to ensure that runoff levels do not adversely 
impact the capacity of Colma Creek. 

SEA LEVEL RISE 
Although the town of Colma is not directly affected by sea level rise, it is in close proximity to 
San Francisco Bay and the town could be affected by damage from sea level rise at the Bay to 
the east, seven miles away, and the Pacific Ocean to the west, eight miles away. Therefore, 
there could be potential damage to infrastructure in the town of Colma. For example, the South 
San Francisco sewer treatment plant is subject to inundation as a result of sea level rise, if 



 
 
 

 CS-11 

plans are not made to protect it. In addition, the Bayshore Freeway (Highway 101) and the San 
Francisco International Airport are subject to flooding and inundation with approximately two to 
three feet of sea level rise. 

 



  
 
 

  
 CS-12 

 



 
 
 

 CS-13 

The following Goals, Policies, and Program items have been developed to safeguard the town of 
Colma from flood hazard risks. 

CS-3-1: Participate in Regional Adaptation Efforts. Coordinate with regional agencies, 
such as the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC) 
and the Bay Area Regional Collaborative (BARC), in adaptation planning.  

CS-3-2: Maintain Drainage Facilities. Maintain drainage facilities to accommodate the flow 
capacity of Colma Creek through Colma to accommodate the storm water runoff from 
a 100-year storm.  

CS-3-3: Foundation Elevation. Continue to require the habitable portions of new structures 
to have a first-floor elevation that is elevated to or above the projected 100-year water 
surface to protect structures against potential flood damage.  

CS-3-4: Stormwater Detention. Require new developments over one half acre in size to 
construct on-site storm water detention facilities which contribute runoff to Colma 
Creek in order to store the difference in runoff between the 10-year pre-development 
storm (original natural state) and the 100-year post-development storm. Any 
stormwater release should be at the 10-year predevelopment rate.  

  



  
 
 

  
 CS-14 

FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION SERVICES AND 
EMERGENCY MEDICAL RESPONSE 

Fire prevention, protection, and emergency medical response benefit the community in various 
ways and are priorities in the town. High-quality services keep the community safe, minimizing 
loss of life and property when an event occurs. Partnerships are important to the provision of 
quick response and coordinated prevention planning for a small town like Colma.  

The town of Colma is within the Colma Fire Protection District (CFPD), which serves Colma and 
surrounding unincorporated areas, including Broadmoor and unincorporated Colma (the area 
around the Colma BART station). The CFPD station is located just north of the town on Reiner 
Street and is supported by 40 paid, on-call fire fighters and three salaried, part-time personnel 
(Chief, Deputy Fire Marshal, and EMS Captain). The CFPD provides fire suppression and 
prevention, public education, rescue, hazardous materials (first response), and basic/advanced 
emergency medical care (see Figure CS.5).  

Minimizing fire risks occurs through education, routine inspections, and requiring building 
renovations and new construction to comply with current fire access and building codes. The 
Fire Protection services offered by CFPD include both public education programs and building 
inspection programs. Speakers from the District are available to schools and the public for 
information on fire prevention and protection. The Town’s Fire Protection Program includes plan 

check and inspection of new structures and remodels in the town. Plan check by the Fire District 
assures adequate fire flow levels, general access, turnarounds, and other relevant fire 
protection measures, as well as ensuring that building sites can be readily identified by street 
names and address numbers.   

Mutual Aid 

CFPD has mutual aid agreements with Daly City, San Bruno, Pacifica, South San Francisco, and 
Brisbane. The Fire District’s mutual aid agreements provide for more rapid response to 
structural fires in areas within the Fire District, when requested. When additional help is needed 
by the Colma Fire District or Police Department, the San Mateo County Central and South strike 
teams, respectively, may be called in. Mutual aid agreements for both the Fire District and the 
Colma Police Department provide service anywhere in neighboring jurisdictions when that 
assistance is specifically requested. 

The Colma Fire Protection District currently has an average response time of two to four 
minutes to sites in the town of Colma. The time it takes to respond to an emergency is 
important because of the critical care period (seven to eight minutes) needed for physical 
health emergencies, and of the increasing intensity and spread of fire. Mutual aid agreements 
with other cities and departments ensure that additional fire protection support is available for a 
greater alarm fire, which seldom occurs. Colma’s fire protection services are evaluated by the 



 
 
 

 CS-15 

Insurance Service Office (ISO), whose ratings establish the fire insurance rates paid by local 
residents and businesses. ISO rating is partially based on such factors as available water supply, 
staffing, and equipment. Colma Fire District’s ISO rating is V on a scale of I-X (best to worst), 
which is an improvement from its previous rating of VI. 

Policy CS-4-1: Alternate EOC.  Establish an alternative Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
to be used in the event the existing EOC is not operational during a fire event. 

Policy CS-4-2: Mutual Aid Agreements. Continue to participate in San Mateo County mutual 
aid agreements related to fire protection.  

Policy CS-4-3: Fire Prevention Education. Provide regular public education and fire safety 
programs to the town’s residents and businesses. 

  



  
 
 

  
 CS-16 

FIRE HAZARDS 
Fire hazards are classified as urban fire hazards and wildland fire hazards. Urban fire hazards 
are one of the greatest threats to life and property. These may include building fires, 
automobile fires, arson, fires related to accidents, rubbish fires, and fires in overgrown and/or 
unkept vacant lots. Wildland fire hazards occur in non-urban, natural areas and include fires 
involving uncultivated land, timber, range, brush, and grass lands in undeveloped areas. The 
town of Colma has a Fire Protection Program through the Colma Fire Protection District (CFPD) 
to minimize the risks of urban and wildland fires. The town is covered under the San Mateo 
County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP). 

Urban Fire Hazards 

Fires in urban areas pose the greatest threat to life and property due to the proximity of people 
and structures. The types of structures posing the most significant fire hazards in the town have 
been built prior to 1940 and may have wood frame construction and substandard wiring and 
heating systems. Other sites of fire concern are unmaintained public utility easements, sites 
with large amounts of fuel and combustibles storage, and most unmaintained or poorly 
maintained buildings, regardless of age. 

The required peak load water supply is the amount of water necessary to suppress fire in a 
structure during peak water use periods. Fire flow requirements are expressed in gallons per 
minute (gpm) and are determined by type of construction and size (square footage). The Town 
of Colma Fire District and Uniform Fire Code requires that all structures have fire flows of no 
less than 1,500 gpm and possibly more in non-sprinklered buildings. In order to meet this 
requirement, the Town and Fire District often requires mitigation in the building construction.  
Mitigation may include fire rated walls, automatic sprinkler systems, and other measures which 
reduce or eliminate potential fire hazards. 

Wildland Fire Hazards 

The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) determines the degree of 
wildland fire hazard based on the natural setting of the area, the degree of human use of the 
area, and the level and ability of public services to respond to fires that do occur. CAL FIRE has 
rated San Bruno Mountain Park and the adjacent undeveloped areas of the town of Colma as 
areas of moderate fire hazard, see Figure CS.5. However, when considering fire hazard threat 
to people, CAL FIRE has rated San Bruno Mountain and surrounding areas an extreme fire 
hazard. The “threat to people” ratings are prioritized as greater threat classes over areas with 
lesser or no threat class to buildings and wildland. Fires in these greater threat areas usually 
occur during the summer months, primarily where grass and brush grow the fastest.  CAL FIRE 
responds to wildland fires from a number of stations, depending on their proximity and 
availability. The closest station to the town of Colma is at 20 Tower Road in the town of 
Belmont.   



 
 
 

 CS-17 

Undeveloped areas within the town of Colma are not “Wildland Areas” as defined by the 

California Department of Forestry, but CAL FIRE criteria may be used to identify and evaluate 
fire hazards in these areas which are Colma Fire Protection District’s responsibility. The Goals 
and Policies defined below would serve to reduce Wildfire risks to the Town of Colma. 

 



  
 
 

  
 CS-18 

 

 



 
 
 

 CS-19 

CS-5-1: Adequate Water Supplies.  Require new development projects to document 
adequate water supplies for fire suppression. 

CS-5-2:  Removal of Fire Hazards. Ensure the Town’s code enforcement programs promote 

the removal of fire hazards such as (but not limited to) litter, rubbish, overgrown 
vegetation, and dilapidated or abandoned structures. 

CS-5-3:  Building Fire Codes. Require that all buildings and facilities comply with local, State, 
and federal regulatory standards, such as the California Building and Fire Codes as 
well as other applicable fire safety standards.  

CS-5-4:  Urban Fire Risks. Work with the Colma Fire Protection District to maintain an ongoing 
fire inspection program to reduce fire hazards associated with existing buildings and 
facilities. multifamily development, critical facilities, public assembly facilities, 
industrial buildings, and nonresidential buildings.  

CS-5-5:  Interagency Cooperation. Work with the Colma Fire Protection District, San Bruno 
Mountain Watch, San Mateo County, CAL FIRE, and other agencies to reduce fire risk 
to San Bruno Mountain and other open space areas.  

 

  



  
 
 

  
 CS-20 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
Hazardous materials are substances that could be a potential threat of injury, illness, or harm to 
people and animals. The California Code of Regulation defines a hazardous material as a 
substance that may either (1) cause an increase in serious, irreversible, or incapacitating, 
illness; or, (2) pose a substantial potential hazard to human health or environment when 
improperly treated, stored, transported or disposed, or otherwise managed. Hazardous 
materials may be commonly used in residential, commercial, agricultural, and industrial areas.
Protection from the release of hazardous materials is essential to providing a safe environment 
for town residents and visitors. Hazardous materials include toxic metals, chemicals, and 
gasses; flammable and/or explosive liquids and solids; common household cleaners; corrosive 
materials; infectious substances; pesticides and solvents; and radioactive materials that have 
the potential to cause harm to the public or the environment. Protection from hazardous 
materials could include limiting the generation, improper disposal, storage, and transport of 
hazardous materials.  

Some hazardous materials have been known to have severe adverse health effects on people 
and the environment, often causing injury or death to people. Providing safe living and work 
conditions and structures is a major goal for the Town of Colma. The pretreatment and disposal 
of hazardous materials through the sewage system is the predominant form of authorized 
hazardous waste disposal. Federal and State laws regulate stormwater discharge from certain 
industrial activities, through the issuance of National Pollutant Discharge Elimination (NPDES) 
permits. The Town of Colma has adopted disaster response protocols and is committed to the 
Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) in the event of local or large-scale 
emergency situations. 

The Town has also developed and approved a Green Infrastructure Plan that directs the 
incorporation of green infrastructure in the right of way, to serve as decentralized storm water 
treatment areas. These programs will reduce the amount of pollutants entering the storm 
drainage system and curtail illegal disposal of hazardous waste into the system. 

HAZARDOUS WASTE STORAGE AND TRANSPORTATION 
Hazardous materials storage sites in Colma are regulated by the San Mateo County Department 
of Environmental Health. San Mateo County (County) issues permits for underground tanks, 
hazardous waste generators, and hazardous materials users regulated by Health and Safety 
Code - Chapter 6.5, Section 25500 to Division 20. The County regularly inspects the 
underground tanks in the town, which are predominantly gasoline storage tanks for service 
stations and vehicle yards (see Figure CS.6). 

 

 



 
 
 

 CS-21 

The California Department of Health Services monitors the transportation of hazardous waste 
through a manifest system which is used to trace all hazardous waste transported off-site to 
storage, treatment, or disposal facilities. Most hazardous waste generated in Colma is 
transported to recycling companies. Hazardous waste generated outside of the town may be 
transported through the town on Interstate 280 and Highway 82 (El Camino Real). The 
California Highway Patrol and Caltrans are responsible for controlling transportation of 
hazardous materials and scene management in the event of a spill on a State or federal 
highway. The Colma Fire Protection District will typically respond to a local hazardous material 
spill. The Town’s Police Department may also assist with emergency action. The appropriate 
procedures to be followed in the event of a hazardous spill are outlined in the San Mateo 
County Hazardous Waste Management Plan. Upon request by the Colma Fire Protection District, 
the County’s Hazardous Material (HAZMAT) response team may respond to the incident. The 
HAZMAT response team is funded through the San Mateo Operational Area Office of Emergency 
Services.  

Figure CS.6, below, shows sites where hazardous materials use to be present (site remediation 
is complete) or where hazardous materials are still present based on information from the 
California Geotracker website.  The two sites remaining in Colma identified as containing 
hazardous materials include the closed landfill and the Bocci Memorial’s site adjacent to the 
BART site.  

 



  
 
 

  
 CS-22 



 
 
 

 CS-23 

The following Goals and Policies are included so the Town may be involved with the 
management of storing, generating, or handling hazardous materials. 

CS-6-1:  Hazardous Materials. Collect and maintain a list of locations in the town where 
hazardous materials are stored and used.  

CS-6-2: Hazardous Waste Management. Support San Mateo County efforts to manage, 
collect, and inspect sites containing hazardous waste.  

CS-6-3: Public Awareness Programs. Promote public awareness of safe and effective 
hazardous waste use, storage, and disposal. 

CS-6-4: Hazardous Waste Travel Routes. Restrict the transport of hazardous materials 
through the town to Highway 280, Junipero Serra Boulevard, and Serramonte 
Boulevard, to avoid residential areas.  

 

 

  



  
 
 

  
 CS-24 

EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS AND DISASTER RESPONSE 
An emergency is a life-, property-, or environment-threatening incident, particularly one which 
occurs suddenly or unexpectedly. The resulting damage is determined by the nature of the 
incident and the response to it. The reaction to an emergency is often the major determinant of 
the severity of its impact. The Town can minimize threats to public safety by ensuring its 
capability to adequately respond to potential emergencies. 

EMERGENCY PROGRAMS 
The Town of Colma, with the aid of San Mateo County, has prepared a Multi-Hazard Functional 
Plan (MHFP, October 1987), as required by the California Emergency Services Act.  The Plan 
defines the Town’s planned response to emergency situations and assigns emergency tasks to 

Town personnel, provides operational guidelines, and inventories equipment, supplies, and 
personnel available for emergency response.   

The Town’s Emergency Operations Center is located at the Police Department, across the street 
from Town Hall on El Camino Real (see Figure CS.7). The center contains emergency supplies 
and equipment and would serve as a communications and administrative headquarters.  In the 
event this location is not functional, the Emergency Operation Center could be at the Town Hall 
or at the Community Center on Hillside Boulevard. The Colma Fire District has facilities to 
function as an operational headquarters for emergency response personnel and equipment. 
Their facilities include a generator, fuel tank, kitchen, and sleeping quarters. 

Additional emergency resources are available to the Town through the San Mateo Operational 
Area Emergency Services organization. The San Mateo Operational Area Emergency Services 
Organization was formed through a joint powers agreement to coordinate interjurisdictional 
operations and coordinate mutual aid among San Mateo County and the twenty cities in the 
county. 

EVACUATION PLANS AND TRANSPORTATION FAILURES 
In the event of an emergency, the Colma Police Department, assisted by the Town’s Public 

Works Department, would establish evacuation routes and maintain traffic control.  
Responsibilities and tasks for evacuation are assigned in the Town’s Multi-hazard Functional 
Plan. The Circulation Element identifies the major roads which would serve as principal routes 
for evacuation of people out of hazardous areas and to safety. These routes may also serve as 
the principal routes for movement of emergency equipment and supplies to the incident scene. 
Generally, the major roads to serve as evacuation north/south routes include Hillside Boulevard, 
El Camino Real/Mission Road, Highway 280, and Junipero Serra Boulevard. East/west routes are 
generally F Street, Colma Boulevard, Serramonte Boulevard, Collins Avenue, and Lawndale 
Boulevard. Evacuation route use will depend on the type of emergency or hazard. All residential 



 
 
 

 CS-25 

areas of Colma currently have access to more than one possible evacuation route. Evacuation 
routes are generally depicted in Figure CS.7. 

 



  
 
 

  
 CS-26 

 

 



 
 
 

 CS-27 

The following Goals, Policies, and Program items have been developed to assist the Town of 
Colma minimize risks from natural and human-made disasters. 

CS-7-1: Hazard Mitigation Plan. Implement, maintain and update the Local Hazard 
Mitigation Plan which is part of the larger County Hazard Mitigation Plan.1    

CS-7-2:  Emergency Management Plan. Continue to participate with San Mateo County’s 

mutual aid programs and plans for community emergency preparedness. 

CS-7-3: Promote Emergency Preparedness. Utilize multiple information channels to 
educate residents and businesses of the Town’s emergency operations procedure.  

CS-7-4: Collaborative Planning. Improve inter-jurisdictional and interagency cooperation 
with regard to hazard prevention and emergency response through town participation 
in and initiation of coordination meetings and exercises. 

CS-7-5: Evacuation Routes. Utilize emergency evacuation routes established by the Town 
and ensure that all residential areas of Colma maintain access to at least two routes 
for evacuation.  

 

 

 

  

 
1The Colma Local Hazard Mitigation Plan that was adopted by the Town on September 14, 2016 and 
approved by Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) is included within the Safety Element as 
Appendix A.  The full Countywide plan can be found on the County website: 
https://planning.smcgov.org/documents/san-mateo-county-hazard-mitigation-plan-final-draft. 



  
 
 

  
 CS-28 

LAW ENFORCEMENT 
The Colma Police Department includes a total of 33 employees, 19 of which are sworn police 
personnel. The Department provides dispatch and detective services, community service 
outreach, and participates in the Daly City/North San Mateo County Special Weapons and 
Tactics (SWAT) team. Department staff also frequently participate in countywide law 
enforcement efforts by taking part in the San Mateo County Gang Task Force, Avoid the 23 
(DUI) Task Force, Narcotic Task Force Details, Alcohol Beverage Control Operations, Saturation 
Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP), and Police Academy as instructors.  

The Department is organized into four divisions: Administration, Patrol, Communications, and 
Grants, which are each described below. 

The Police Administration Division Provides planning, direction, and oversight of the Police 
Department. Staffing for this division includes the Police Chief, a Detective Sergeant, a 
Detective, and an Administrative Technician III.  

The Police Patrol Division Provides front-line uniform response to calls for police services. Police 
Patrol addresses neighborhood quality-of-life issues and responds to all security-related service 
needs of the community, including threats to life and property, enforcement of traffic laws, and 
investigation of crimes against persons and property. The Division’s personnel include one 

Police Commander, four Police Sergeants, and ten Police Officers. As staffing allows, one officer 
is assigned to a motorcycle on a part-time basis, and officers work a variety of other ancillary 
assignments, including Special Weapons and Tactics (SWAT) and the San Mateo County Gang 
Task Force.  

The Police Communications Division Provides the clerical and record-keeping duties of the 
Department and all citizen-initiated calls for service. The Division is staffed by one Dispatch 
Records Supervisor and three Dispatchers.  

The Police Grants Division was initiated in FY 2001-02 to comply with State requirements to 
separately account for certain annual State-provided funds, including the Supplemental Law 
Enforcement Services Fund for front-line personnel services, officer training costs, and funding 
of a Community Service Officer (CSO).  

The following Goals and Policies are designed to assist the Town in providing responsive police 
protection services to its residents and businesses.  

CS-8-1: Staffing Levels. Maintain sufficient police staffing levels, including sworn officers and 
volunteer support, necessary to meet current and projected community needs. 



 
 
 

 CS-29 

CS-8-2: Facilities Planning. Develop, maintain, and implement a Police Department Facilities 
Master Plan that guides the provision of equipment, facilities, training. 

CS-8-3: Response Times.  Maintain a police response time standard of 10 minutes maximum 
for all call levels. 

CS-8-4: Communication. Encourage and maintain two-way communication with the Colma 
community to facilitate effective policing. 

 

  



  
 
 

  
 CS-30 

AIRPORT SAFETY 
The San Francisco International Airport (SFO) is the sixth busiest airport in the world and is 
located approximately 3.5 miles southeast of the town. Aircrafts taking off from SFO fly over a 
1.2-mile-wide and 5.8-mile-long area that is referred to as the “gap”. The gap stretches over 

San Bruno, South San Francisco, and Daly City and is directly adjacent to the town of Colma.  

In 1970, the State Legislature required the establishment of Airport Land Use Commissions 
(ALUC) within counties to develop plans for land uses around airports. The purpose of the ALUC 
is to provide for the orderly long-term growth of airports and their surrounding areas, as well as 
to protect the people who live near airports and the welfare of the public in general. The San 
Mateo County ALUC has set safety standards specifying how land near San Francisco Airport 
can be used based on safety and noise considerations, height restrictions for new construction, 
and construction standards for buildings. 

The San Francisco International Airport has designated transitional surfaces as alternate routes 
for planes to take-off or land. One of these transitional surfaces extends over the town of 
Colma. Any development in the transitional zone must be in compliance with ALUC maximum 
height standards. The structure/building height restrictions under the transitional surfaces for 
the town are approximately 400 feet above average mean sea level. This height limit will not 
constrict development in the town of Colma which is roughly at 110 feet above sea level and 
where the normal commercial height limit is 50 feet (see Figure CS.8).



 
 
 

 CS-31 

Figure CS.8: Critical Aeronautical Surfaces 

Source: Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan for the Environs of San Francisco International Airport



 

  
 CS-32 

CS-9-1: ALUC Plan. Require development within the Airport Influence Area B, designated in 
the Airport Land Use Compatibility (ALUC) Plan of the San Francisco International 
Airport, to comply with all applicable federal and State laws with respect to land use 
safety and airspace protection criteria.     

CS-9-2: Airport Land Use Commission Review. Require that all future land use actions 
and/or associated development conforms to the relevant height, aircraft noise, and 
safety policies and compatibility criteria contained in the most recently adopted version 
of the ALUC Plan for the environs of San Francisco International Airport.  

  



 
 
 

 CS-33 

NOISE 
Noise is defined as “unwanted sound” and is widely acknowledged as a form of environmental 

degradation. Ambient noise is the composite of near and far noise sources and is considered 
the normal, or existing, level of environmental noise at a given location. Whether or not a 
sound is unwanted depends on when it occurs, the activity of the listener, the characteristics of 
the sound, and how intrusive it is (i.e., how much louder it is than the ambient noise level).  
Over time, people become less aware of and less irritated by sound that is constant. The more 
a noise exceeds the ambient noise level, the more intrusive and less acceptable the noise is to 
the community.   

Noise is measured by its frequency, intensity, and time-varying character. Frequency is defined 
as the number of oscillations or vibrations an air particle undergoes in one second. Sound 
frequency is measured in Hertz (Hz) and sound itself is comprised of a broad range of 
frequencies. 

Intensity is the measurement of the sound energy or pressure. The human ear is sensitive to a 
wide range of intensity.  The sound pressure scale is expressed in decibels. 

The time-varying character of sound is also known as noise level. Noise levels throughout the 
community do not remain constant, but rather fluctuate over both time and duration. 
Community noise consists of distant and nearby noise sources. Distant sources may include 
vehicular traffic, aircraft flyovers, and industrial activities (including construction). Nearby 
sources may include individual vehicles passing by, trains passing by, and landscaping 
equipment. 

Human Reaction to Environmental Noise 

At some point in time, noise pollution affects all people in an urbanized environment. The 
seriousness of the effect of noise depends on the tolerance of the individual in the community, 
the types of activities taking place, and the character of the noise. 

High levels of noise exposure for extended periods of time can cause a variety of physiological 
effects. In addition to hearing loss, continual exposure to excessive noise levels may cause 
symptoms of anxiety and anger and is apt to aggravate psychiatric disorders. The Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration has identified 80 decibels as the highest eight-hour noise 
exposure threshold to prevent hearing loss. Figure CS.2.9 shows the acceptable community 
noise levels from typical land uses in a community. 

 



 

  
 CS-34 

Figure CS.9: Typical Community Noise Exposure Levels

 

  



 
 
 

 CS-35 

Present Noise Environment 

The town of Colma’s historic character as a town of cemeteries has resulted in a peaceful noise 

environment in general. As can be seen on the existing noise contours shown in Figure CS.10, 
the primary source of noise in the Town is generated by all vehicular traffic along its major 
thoroughfares, such as I-280, El Camino Real and Serramonte, Hillside, Colma, and Junipero 
Sierra Boulevards. A minor amount of noise is generated from residential and cemetery areas in 
the Town from the use of equipment, such as lawn equipment motors, air conditioners, 
construction equipment, and power tools. While the town is located in close proximity to San 
Francisco International Airport, the airport land use capability criteria and noise contours 
adopted by the San Mateo County ALUC shows that any impact on the town’s noise 

environment are within normally acceptable levels. 

 



  
 
 

  
 CS-36 



 
 
 

 CS-37 

Future Noise Environment 

As can be seen on the future noise contours diagram shown in Figure CS.11, the primary source 
of noise in the Town will continue to be noise generated by all vehicular traffic along its major 
thoroughfares, such as I-280, El Camino Real and Serramonte, Hillside, Colma, and Junipero 
Sierra Boulevards. Due to additional development in Daly City, South San Francisco and Colma 
anticipated in the next 20 years, traffic volume is anticipated to increase along town corridors, 
thereby increasing noise levels.  However, during the life of the General Plan, an increase in 
electric vehicle use is anticipated, which may serve to reduce ambient noise levels.  

 



  
 
 

  
 CS-38 



 
 
 

 CS-39 

The following Goals and Policies are set forth as a guide to help decision making with regard to 
noise impacts in the town of Colma. 

CS-10-1: Colma Municipal Code. Review and modify noise level standards in the Colma 
Municipal Code, as appropriate, for all land uses.  

CS-10-2:  Noise Impacts. Consider noise impacts as part of the development review process, 
particularly for the location of parking, ingress/egress/loading, and trash collection 
areas relative to surrounding residential development and other noise-sensitive land 
uses.  

CS-10-3:  Noise Controls. Require an acoustical study to identify inappropriate noise levels 
where new development may directly result in existing or future noise-sensitive uses 
being subject to noise levels equal to or greater than 60 CNEL and require mitigation 
for sensitive uses in compliance with the noise standards listed.  

CS-10-4:  BART Noise. Allow outdoor noise exposure criteria of 70 Ldn for future development 
in proximity to BART, recognizing that BART noise is characterized by relatively few 
loud events.  

 

  



  
 
 

  
 CS-40 

IMPLEMENTATION 
Community Safety and Noise 

Implementation Programs 2021-2030 2031-2040 Annual Ongoing 

CS-IP1: Hazards Mitigation. 
Monitor and recommend 
hazards mitigation as part of 
project approval.  

      X 

Implements Policies: CS-2-1, 2-2,2-5, 2-6 
Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. Building and Public Works 

CS-IP2: Flood Control. 
Continue to participate in the 
review of flood improvement 
projects, carried out by San 
Mateo County and other 
agencies, to reduce flood 
hazards throughout the 
county and town.  

      X 

Implements Policies: CS-3-1, 3-2 
Responsible Dept.: Public Works Supporting Dept. Planning 

CS-IP3: Wildfire Hazards. 
Coordinate with Cal Fire, San 
Mateo County, Colma Fire 
Protection District, and other 
agencies to reduce fire risks 
on San Bruno Mountain and 
other open space areas. 

      X 

Implements Policies: CS-5-5  
Responsible Dept.: Public Works, Supporting Dept. Planning 

CS-IP4: Local Hazard 
Mitigation Plan (LHMP). 
Participate with San Mateo 
County in updates to the 
LHMP and continue annual 
reporting. Coordinate with 
San Mateo County on required 
5-year updates to the LHMP.  

X X X X 

Implements Policies: CS-7-1 
Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. Police 

CS-IP5: Emergency Supplies - 
To the extent feasible, the 
Town shall maintain 
emergency supplies for use in 
the event of an emergency 

      X 



 
 
 

 CS-41 

and provide education to 
residents and businesses on 
recommended supplies to 
keep.  

Implements Policies: CS-7-3 
Responsible Dept.: Administration, Supporting Dept. Recreation 

CS-IP6: Town Emergency 
Preparedness. Work with local 
and regional emergency 
response agencies and 
continue to provide 
Community Emergency 
Response Teams (CERT) 
training and response and 
disseminate emergency 
preparedness information.   

      X 

Implements Policies: CS-7-3, 7-4 
Responsible Dept.: Administration, Supporting Dept. Police 

CS-IP7: Emergency Exercises. 
The Town’s Police Department 
and Colma Fire Protection 
District, in conjunction with 
the County EOC, shall hold 
emergency preparedness 
exercises.  7.27.3.7.4 

    X X 

Implements Policies: CS-7-2,7-3,7-4 
Responsible Dept.: Police, Supporting Dept. Administration 

CS-IP8: Airport Land Use 
Conformance. Proposed land 
use policy actions, including 
new specific plans, zoning 
ordinances, general plan 
amendments, and rezoning 
involving land development 
shall be provided to the local 
Airport Land Use Commission.  

      X 

Implements Policies: CS-9-1, 9-2 
Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. None 

CS-IP9: Noise Attenuation. 
Identify and codify, where 
possible, noise attenuation 
measures to assure that noise 
impacts by more intensive 
development to adjacent 
residential uses are reduced. 

X     X 



  
 
 

  
 CS-42 

Implements Policies: CS-10-1, 10-3, 10-4 
Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. Building 

CS-IP11: Noise Compatibility. 
Use the noise contours map to 
determine land use 
compatibility with known 
sources of noise and prohibit 
noise-sensitive land uses in 
areas incompatible with 
existing or anticipated noise 
levels.  

      X 

Implements Policies: CS-10-2, 10-3, 10-4 
Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. Building 

 



Open Space and 
Conservation Element 



 
 
 

 OSC-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PURPOSE 
The Town of Colma’s (Town) open spaces, greenbelts and scenic natural environment are 

among the most defining and beloved of the Town’s characteristics. The Open Space and 
Conservation Element (“OSC Element”) meets State of California requirements for a 
Conservation Element and Open Space Element of the General Plan (California Government 
Code §65302(d) and §65302(e)). Just as open space land is a limited and valuable resource 
that should be conserved whenever possible, conservation considers the impacts of growth and 
development on natural resources. The Town of Colma has combined these two elements to 
comprehensively address protection and management of its natural and open space resources. 
Open-space land is defined by State statute as any parcel or area of land or water that is 
essentially unimproved and devoted to open-space use. Conservation goals and policies provide 
direction regarding the conservation, development and utilization of natural resources in the 
Town and address a variety of issue areas such as soils, minerals, wildlife and water resources, 
energy, and air quality.  

The Town’s existing open space and conservation features are shown on the Open Space and 
Conservation Map (Figure OSC.1).  Unique to Colma, most of the open land is owned by 
cemeteries or other landowners and held in reserve for cemetery expansion.  Therefore, the 
Open Space and Conservation Map includes cemetery lands in active use and land held in 
reserve.  Some of these lands may have an interim land use, primarily commercial farming or 
wholesale plant production. In addition, Colma has a closed landfill at the base of San Bruno 
Mountain.  



  
 
 

  
 OSC-2 

The OSC Element identifies areas required for the preservation of land resources, and plant and 
animal life in the town of Colma. Analysis presented in the Plan sets forth the reasons why 
certain lands are devoted to open space. Goals and policies in the Plan describe how important 
natural resources and open space should be utilized and managed. In general, the term “Open 

Space” is used as a land use designation. “Conservation” is used as a land use principle typically 
applied to certain scarce or non-renewable resources which are protected from urban 
development by policies adopted in the General Plan.  

RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER GENERAL PLAN ELEMENTS 
The efficacy of a General Plan’s Open Space and Conservation Element is dependent on how it 
is integrated with the other General Plan elements. Elements that share issues and policy 
guidance with this Open Space and Conservation Element include Land Use, Mobility, and 
Community Safety and Services elements.  

The Land Use Element seeks to minimize future development in areas with the natural 
resources identified in the OSC Element; along with areas that may be affected by natural 
hazards. The Land Use Element encourages the development of vibrant and healthy 
neighborhoods and community centers, while balancing the availability of water with future 
development, while the OSC Element establishes policies that protect and conserve water 
resources, such as Colma Creek. The Land Use and Mobility Elements also include goals and 
policies that encourage land use patterns that reduce vehicle miles traveled and by planning for 
transportation networks that encourage other modes of travel rather than the single‐occupant 

motor vehicle. The Town’s updated Community and Safety Element establishes goals and 
policies related to future development that minimize the risk of personal injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and environmental damage associated with natural hazards, also identified in 
the OSC Element. 



 

 OSC-3 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-4 

OPEN SPACE AND PARKS  
Open spaces are a critical part for a healthy quality of life for a community, providing relief from 
the urban built environment. The open space designation is used in two ways in the Town of 
Colma General Plan. First, it is used to recognize public parklands that are permanently 
unavailable for urban development. This category also includes selected sections of Colma 
Creek and specific tree masses which should be preserved as important parts of the town’s 

visual setting and recreation opportunities.  

Second, the open space designation acknowledges land currently being used for agricultural 
purposes or other purposes that eventually will be used for active cemetery purposes. Active 
cemetery lands are also designated as open space. The open space designation also includes 
the now closed Hillside Landfill and the Cypress Hills Golf Course and related facilities where an 
urban land use designation would be inappropriate. The Hillside Landfill is currently only 
useable for temporary uses. As portions of the golf course are converted to cemetery use, a 
roadway to connect the Cypress Lawn Cemetery Eastside Campus to Sand Hill Road will be 
constructed to maintain fire access from more than one direction. The Town of Colma’s 1998 
General Plan also included the San Francisco City & County Water Line easement in its Open 
Space Inventory and had contemplated use of the San Francisco Public Utility waterline 
easement area for a park. However, a well building and access road were constructed in the 
area, making a shared use unlikely.  

EXISTING OPEN SPACE INVENTORY 
The town of Colma is a small community recognized for its large expanses of cemetery land. 
The major components of the total open space resources in the town (about 76% of the total 
land area) is land owned by cemeteries and used for memorial parks, agriculture, or general 
open space. Other major resources that are recognized as open space include Colma Creek, and 
the land east of Hillside Boulevard at 
the base of San Bruno Mountain. Due 
to its small size and unique character, 
the town does not have land 
categorized as open space for public 
health and safety, military support or 
tribal resources. An inventory of 
existing open space resources is 
compiled in Table OSC-1 Inventory of 
Existing Open Space. Location of 
open space resources is shown in 
Figure OSC.1. 



 

 OSC-5 

Table OSC-1 Inventory of Existing Open Space 

 
Existing Open 

Space 

Open Space for 
Natural 

Resources 

Open Space 
for Managed 
Production 

of Resources 

Open 
Space for 
Outdoor 

Recreation 

Approximate 
Size 

Colma Creek X X X 2300 Linear 
Feet 

Cemetery Lands  X  922.2 Acres 
Golf Course   X 7.7 Acres 
Agricultural Lands* X X  185.6 Acres 

*Agricultural Lands include areas that are zoned for Cemetery use but are currently utilized for agriculture. 

Colma Creek 

Colma Creek (Creek) is a small creek that flows from the San Bruno 
Mountain State and County Park through the communities of Daly 
City, Colma, South San Francisco, and into San Francisco Bay. The 
delta area that the Creek once supported was a major stopping 
point for wildlife and migratory birds and was lined with native 
riparian plants such as sedge, rush, native grasses, and dogwood. 
However, much of the open creek through the town has now been 
covered by flood control walls or buried underground. While most of 
the Creek is covered or underground, special care and concern are 
given to the preservation and protection of Colma Creek at locations 
where the creek is open. Riparian vegetation at key street crossings 
should be maintained in order to mitigate erosion and flooding. 
Opportunities exist to take advantage of the open sections by 
adding vegetation, pedestrian walkways, and sitting areas along the 
edge of the channel. This, in turn, could serve to prevent erosion 
and to protect stormwater entering the creek from pollution.  

Cemetery Lands 

Founded as a necropolis, the town of Colma is often called the “City of Souls”, due to its 17 

cemeteries, including a pet cemetery. Cemetery lands that have been committed to cemetery 
use will remain as such, even though some of the cemetery owners have leased their open 
lands for income while retaining ownership. 

Cypress Hills Golf Course 

Cypress Hills Golf Course was closed in 2012 and the land will likely be incorporated into the 
adjacent cemeteries. Currently, only the golf driving range, clubhouse, and parking lot remains 
from the original Cypress Hills Golf Course.  

Colma Creek: from the west 
side of El Camino Real along 

Woodlawn Memorial Park 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-6 

Agricultural Lands 

Various agricultural uses exist in the town of Colma, mostly consisting of wholesale nursery 
operations. Open field flower and vegetable plots are commonly under lease from cemetery 
owners who are holding land that will, one day, be needed for gravesites.  

EXISTING PUBLIC PARKS, RECREATION, AND OPEN SPACE 
Colma is located on the San Francisco Peninsula within proximity to many outdoor recreational 
opportunities. The San Francisco Bay and Pacific Ocean are easily accessible by car and offer 
outstanding scenic and natural outdoor recreational opportunities. San Bruno Mountain State 
and County Park borders Colma’s eastern boundary. This park offers excellent hiking 
opportunities and outstanding views of San Francisco and the Central Bay Area. Access to the 
park from the town does not currently exist and is not planned.  

Beginning in the late 1980’s, the Town began an active process of acquiring and improving 
public recreation properties. The Town’s publicly owned recreation and community facilities 

currently include the Sterling Park Recreation Center, the Colma Community Center and 
Historical Park, and Bark Park (Table OSC-2: Town of Colma Community Recreational Facilities). 

Table OSC-2: Town of Colma Community Recreational Facilities 

Facility Name Acres Amenities 
Bark Park 0.11 Dog park 
Colma Community Center and 
Historical Park 

2.00 Restored train station, blacksmith shop, and 
freight station 

Sterling Park Recreation Center 0.33 Picnic area with barbeque pit, half-court basketball 
court, bocce ball court, playground 

Total 2.44  



 
 
 

 OSC-7 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-8 

The town’s residents, particularly the Sterling Park area at the northern portion of the town, 
have historically enjoyed park and recreational facilities provided by San Mateo County or the 
City of Daly City. In exchange for use of sports fields, the Town of Colma agreed to share costs 
associated with the development of sports fields at the former T.R. Pollicita Middle School in the 
City of Daly City. The sports fields accommodate a variety of activities and provide residents of 
both Colma and Daly City additional recreational opportunities.  

Bark Park 

Located at D Street and Clark Avenue, Bark Park provides for a fully fenced dog park with 
features such as a grassy pet area, a water station, garbage cans and waste removal 
equipment (Figure OSC.2).  

Historical Park and Community Center 

The Town acquired approximately two acres at the southwest 
corner of F Street and Hillside Boulevard for a park. The 
historically significant former Olivet Cemetery office on the site 
was converted to house the Colma Historical Association 
museum and offices. The historic Colma Train Station, which 
was acquired by the Town when the station building was 
displaced by the BART extension to Colma, was relocated and 
restored. The park also includes a restored blacksmith shop and 
freight station. A vintage caboose or funeral car may also be 
acquired for the park as part of the historic train station theme.  

The Colma Community Center was 
constructed to provide additional recreational and community-
oriented opportunities to the residents of Colma. The Community 
Center provides dining facilities for up to 150 people and is used for 
community events, private parties, meetings, and the Recreation 
Services Department office. A small lending library is included, as 
well as a full catering kitchen and a small conference room. The 
remainder of the site is used for off-street parking and public 
outdoor areas, picnic areas, open space, gardens, and walkways. 

 



 
 
 

 OSC-9 

Sterling Park Community Center 

In 2002, Sterling Park was expanded and improved to 
incorporate additional open lawn areas, a skateboard park, 
walking paths and a fountain. Utilization of the skateboard 
park did not meet expectations, and the Town converted 
the skateboard park to additional multi use space to the 
turf area. In 2018, the playground was fully renovated, and 
adult fitness stations and more picnic tables were added. 

The following Goals, Policies, and Program items have been developed to preserve the open 
spaces in Colma. 

OSC-1-1: Open Space Design. Incorporate local cultural and natural features that reflect the 
town’s unique character and identity. 

OSC-1-2: Flexible Open Space Land Uses. Allow for the use of open space and future 
cemetery lands for commercial nursery, farming, or other uses which provide a 
community benefit. 

OSC-1-3: Sustainable Landscape Practices. Encourage the enhancement of public areas 
with landscaping practices that minimize water usage. 

 
OSC-1-4: Pedestrian Trails, Bikeways Walkways. Expand and improve pedestrian trails, 

bikeways, and walkways to connect trails and allow access to open space land and 
regional trail facilities. 

OSC-1-5:  Colma Creek Trail. Coordinate with the City of South San Francisco to provide 
continuous pedestrian access from the Colma BART station along El Camino Real to 
the southern border of the town. 

OSC-2-1: Open Space for Recreation Use. Develop and maintain open spaces and 
recreation areas that are conveniently located, properly designed, and well-
maintained to serve the recreation needs and healthy living of the entire community. 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-10 

OSC-2-2: Recreation Requirements for New Developments. Require dedication of 
improved land, or payment of a fee in lieu of, for park and recreation land for all 
residential uses. 

OSC-2-3: Expansion of Recreation Space. Acquire and enhance properties within Colma for 
recreation and public use if opportunities become available. 

 

  



 
 
 

 OSC-11 

CONSERVATION 
A desirable and livable community cultivates and manages its natural resources while providing 
for its population, economic growth, and infrastructure needs. California State law requires that 
general plans pursue goals, policies, and programs that address the preservation of natural 
resources in a community. Conservation therefore strives to minimize the impact of future 
development in areas with natural resources, promote the efficient use of water, and 
encourages land use development and transportation decisions that affect air quality. 

CLIMATE AND AIR QUALITY 
The town of Colma’s climate is affected by marine influence due to the winds and water 
temperatures of the Pacific Ocean. Dominant westerly winds, with frequent fog, prevail 
throughout the summer. The heavy incidence of fog and wind throughout the summer months 
limits the range of plants that can be grown in the open. Winter months are usually wet and 
cold. Ninety percent of the rain occurs between the months of November and April. The 
average rainfall varies between 20-25 inches per year. Temperatures range from lows in the 
30’s (degrees Fahrenheit) to highs approaching the 80’s, primarily in the late summer or fall. 
The town has a micro-climate due to being positioned lower in elevation from surrounding 
urban areas, influenced by Colma Creek drainage, and in the shadow of San Bruno Mountain. 

Greenhouse Gases and Climate Change 

There is a strong synthesis between land use and transportation planning decisions, and air 
quality pollutants as well as greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. GHGs play a critical role in 
determining the Earth’s surface temperature. GHGs trap heat in the Earth’s atmosphere by 

absorbing heat energy emitted by the Earth’s surface and radiating it back to the surface. This 
process, known as the greenhouse effect, is responsible for maintaining surface temperatures 
that are warm enough to sustain life. GHGs occur naturally. However, human activities, 
particularly fossil-fuel combustion, has led to increased concentrations of GHGs in the 
atmosphere, intensifying the warming associated with the greenhouse effect. The increased 
GHGs in the atmosphere are causing the planet to warm at an increasing rate, scientists refer to 
this phenomenon as “global climate change”. Climate change impacts precipitation patterns, sea 

levels, ocean temperatures and currents, polar ice cap retention and other climatic conditions. 
On a local level, global climate change may impact the San Francisco Bay area, including the 
Town of Colma with a hotter and drier climate; increased salinity in the San Francisco Bay; 
decreased air quality; changes in annual precipitation; increased public and private water 
demand; and rising sea level of up to 24 inches by 2050 and 66 inches by 2100 (compared to 
2000 conditions).  

The Town of Colma is committed to the reduction of GHG emissions to counteract the impact of 
Climate Change. In 2013, the Town adopted a Climate Action Plan to achieve compliance with 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-12 

State mandates and focus on feasible actions the Town can take to reduce GHG emissions by 
15% below 2005 levels by 2020. Table OSC-3, the Town of Colma GHG Emissions Inventory, 
shows the progress in GHG emissions reductions since the Climate Action Plan was adopted in 
2013. The data indicates that the Town is on track to meet its goal of 15% reduction in GHG 
emissions. 

Table OSC-3: Town of Colma GHG Emissions Inventory 

Sectors  2005 GHG 
Emissions  
(MTCO2e) 

2010 GHG 
Emissions  
(MTCO2e) 

2015 GHG 
Emissions  
(MTCO2e) 

Difference in 
GHG 
Emissions  
(MTCO2e) 

Residential 1,518 1,625 1,182 -336 
Commercial/Industrial  10,210 8,128 6,903 -3,307 
Transportation – Local roads 12,074 11,539 11,114 -960 
Transportation – State highways 6,068 5,226 5,900 -168 
Transportation – Off-road equipment 2,432 2,468 2,283 -149 
Solid Waste – Landfills** 14,726** 12,013** 20,245** +5,519** 
Solid Waste – Generated Waste 1,318 855 305 -1,011 
Water  N/A 

 
28  19 N/A 

Wastewater N/A  27  34 N/A 
Stationary Sources N/A 55 1,667 N/A 
Totals*: 
Total of 2015 Emissions 29,407 metric tons CO2e 
Total of 2005 Baseline Emissions*** 33,620 metric tons CO2e 
Total Decrease -4,213 metric tons CO2e  
Percent Change -12.5% 

*Numbers may not add up exactly due to rounding. 
**Data associated with two landfills in Colma’s boundaries are for informational purposes only and are excluded from 

the 2010 emissions inventory. These sites are both closed and are not owned by the Town. 
***Total 2005 baseline emissions exclude landfill emissions and exclude previously reported Direct Access natural 
gas. The Direct Access natural gas consumption was erroneously double-counted in the baseline 2005 inventory. 
 
Air Quality 

Ambient air quality standards have been established by State and federal agencies for specific 
air pollutants, or criteria air pollutants. These criteria air pollutants include: 
 
• Ozone (O3) and Ozone precursors 
• Oxides of nitrogen and reactive organic gases (NOx and ROG) 
• Carbon monoxide (CO) 
• Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
• Suspended particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5).  

Another group of substances found in ambient air is known as Hazardous Air Pollutants (HAPs) 
under the Federal Clean Air Act, and Toxic Air Contaminants (TACs) under the California Clean 



 
 
 

 OSC-13 

Air Act. Though these contaminants tend to be found in relatively low concentrations in ambient 
air, they have the potential to result in adverse health problems if exposure occurs over long 
periods. TACs are a broad class of compounds known to cause cancer risk, and may include, 
but are not limited to, the criteria air pollutants listed above. TACs are found in ambient air, 
especially in urban areas, and are caused by industry, agriculture, and commercial operations 
(e.g., dry cleaners). In cooler weather, smoke from residential wood combustion can be a 
source of TACs. Wood smoke also contains a significant amount of PM10 and PM2.5. Wood 
smoke is an irritant and is implicated in worsening asthma and other chronic lung problems. 
"Sensitive receptors" are another issue to be considered under air quality. These are defined as 
facilities where population groups, such as children, the elderly, the acutely and chronically ill, 
are likely to be located. These therefore could include residences, schools, playgrounds, 
childcare centers, retirement homes, convalescent homes, hospitals, and medical clinics.  

Colma is part of the San Francisco Bay Air Basin, as defined by the State Air Resource Board, 
and is therefore subject to administrative regulations of the Bay Area Air Quality Management 
District (BAAQMD). Regional air quality conditions are monitored and analyzed by the BAAQMD 
to determine if State and federal standards are being achieved not only for criteria air pollutants 
but also for toxic air contaminants (TACs). Table OSC 2-4: Measured Air Pollutant 
Concentrations at San Francisco presents air quality measurement data from the nearest 
operating monitoring station located in the City of San Francisco, for the most recent three full 
years of data available (2014-2016). As shown in Table OSC-4, ambient concentrations of 
carbon monoxide, ozone, and nitrogen oxide levels have not exceeded state or federal 
standards.  

Due to wildfires in 2017 and 2018, fine particulate matter (PM2.5) substantially exceeded state 
and federal standards. However, when adjusted for the wildfires, average PM2.5 levels would 
have been below state and federal standards as shown by the adjusted figures in Table OSC 2-
4. Based on historical averages, PM2.5 levels are anticipated to remain below state and federal 
standards into the foreseeable future as automobile emissions decline. Unfortunately, wildfires 
are anticipated to affect air quality periodically negatively into the future.  

  



  
 
 

  
 OSC-14 

 

Table OSC-4: Measured Air Pollutant Concentrations at San Francisco 

Pollutant California 
Standard 

Federal 
Standard 

Measured Concentrations 
by Year 
2016 2017 2018 

Carbon Monoxide 
Maximum 1-hour average (ppm) 20 35 1.7 2.5 1.9 
Maximum 8-hour average (ppm) 9 9 1.1 1.4 1.6 
Nitrogen Dioxide 
Maximum 1-hour average (ppm) 0.18 0.100  0.058 0.073 0.069 
Annual Average (ppm) 0.030 0.053  0.011 0.011 0.011 
Ozone 
Maximum 1-hour average (ppm) 0.090 ---- 0.070 0.087 0.065 
Maximum 8-hour average (ppm) 0.070 0.070  0.057 0.054 0.0491 
Particulate Matter (PM2.5) 
24 Hour (µg/m3) 35  35  19.6 22* 22* 
Annual Average (µg/m3) 12  12  7.5 8.4* 8.4* 

Sources: Bay Area Air Quality Management District, California Air Resources Board, U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency NAAQS.  
 
*Adjustments for 24-hr. PM2.5 readings in 2017 of 49.9 µg/m3 and 177.4 µg/m3 in 2018 based on BAAQMD 
“Preliminary Analysis of PM2.5 Values with and Without Wildfire Smoke Episodes in 2017 and 2018”, October 2020 
 
Air quality is largely affected by climate and topography, as well as the amount and source of 
air pollutants in the area. The largest source of air pollution in the town of Colma is vehicular 
traffic. Traffic along I-280 and local vehicular traffic has a constant effect on the air quality, 
although the prevailing northwesterly winds disperse the air pollutants. The location of the 
town, west of San Bruno Mountain also has an effect on local air quality. The mountain protects 
town of Colma from the influences of pollutants along the U.S. 101 corridor. Upslope and 
downslope air movements on the west slopes of the mountain help disperse air pollutants along 
the I-280 corridor. 

To reduce future levels of particulate matter, the Town adopted an ordinance regulating wood-
burning appliances in 2006. Such appliances must meet the emission requirements of BAAQMD. 

As future development takes place in Colma, it is anticipated it they will be similar in nature to 
what already exists. Industries that produce concentrated amounts of air pollution are not 
planned in the town. As vehicular traffic increases in the Bay Area, the Town of Colma can 
mitigate the potential for pollutant concentrations by making timely circulation improvements to 
facilitate the flow of traffic along major thoroughfares. 

Therefore, in order to preserve and improve air quality, reduce GHG impacts, and improve the 
sustainability of actions taken by the Town, the following Goals, Policies, and Program items 
have been identified. 



 
 
 

 OSC-15 

OSC-3-1: Transit Oriented Development. Encourage, to the extent feasible, higher density 
residential development to be located near transit corridors and public 
transportation.  

OSC-3-2: Reduce Energy Consumption. Support measures and education to reduce energy 
consumption and increase energy efficiency in residential, commercial, and industrial 
buildings. 

OSC-3-3: Energy Efficiency in Municipal Operations. Pursue opportunities to improve 
energy efficiency and install renewable energy systems, where feasible, in new and 
existing Town-owned facilities and operations. 

OSC-3-4: GHG Reduction. Implement the Climate Action Plan to achieve GHG reduction 
targets that are consistent with the State Scoping Plan, AB 32, and SB 32 and the 
Town’s goals. 

OSC-3-5: Pedestrian-Scaled Design. Support the use of public/mass transit by encouraging 
pedestrian-friendly street design and mixed-use development near transit hubs. 

 
WATER 
Public Water Supply 

Although local groundwater is an important water resource for irrigation purposes, the town of 
Colma’s potable water source is supplied by the San Francisco Water Company, through the 
California Water Service Company (Cal Water). The majority of this water is from the Hetch 
Hetchy watershed (“Hetch Hetchy”), an area located in Yosemite National Park, that is the 
major source of water for all of San Francisco’s water needs. Spring snowmelt runs down the 
Tuolumne River and fills Hetch Hetchy, the largest reservoir in the Hetch Hetchy water system. 
This surface water in the Hetch Hetchy Reservoir is treated, but not filtered because it is 
considered high quality due to its softness and low quantity of total dissolved solids (TDS). The 
majority of the inorganic and organic compounds found in the water can be removed by 
standard methods of water treatment. 

Based on the expected increase in population in the region, the demand for water is expected 
to increase moderately in the next ten years. Therefore, water conservation is becoming more 
essential. Although the town of Colma imposes a very small demand on Hetch Hetchy 
resources, the Town is a part of a regional effort to manage groundwater for drought conditions 
and emergencies. 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-16 

Plans for a non-potable reclaimed water system using water from the Daly City treatment plant 
are currently being considered. However, the cost to convey the water to Colma’s cemeteries is 
high and funding is not currently available.  

Groundwater 

The town is within the Colma Creek watershed, which is part of the South Westside Basin, part 
of a major groundwater basin that extends north into San Francisco (North Westside Basin). 
The headwaters of Colma Creek are on the slopes of San Bruno Mountain. The San Mateo Basin 
watershed drains via Colma Creek into the San Francisco Bay in South San Francisco. 

Groundwater is an important water source in Colma, with many of the cemeteries depend on 
groundwater for irrigation. The groundwater aquifer extends through the City of South San 
Francisco and northern San Bruno Mountain. The trough is estimated to be two miles wide by 
nine miles long, lying between San Bruno Mountain and the Santa Cruz Mountains. Most of the 
wells tapping the aquifer are in the order of 200-600 feet deep and produce 100-600 gallons 
per minute. A majority of the water from the aquifer is used to supply potable water to the 
Cities of Daly City and San Bruno. Cal Water, who supplies potable water to the town, also 
draws from the aquifer to supplement water obtained from other sources.   

Water Quality 

Water quality is an area of concern in Colma because of the effects of pollution from urban uses 
on wildlife habitat. Pollutants are picked up by runoff from streets, open areas, and urban lands 
and collect into larger sources of water, such as Colma Creek and ultimately drain into the San 
Francisco Bay. The Town takes part in a joint effort to reduce the concentration of pollutants 
and improve water quality in the Bay by managing stormwater runoff. 

The Town complies with the Municipal Regional Stormwater Permit (MRP), issued by the San 
Francisco Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) for its stormwater pollution control 
measures. Local agencies in San Mateo County are required to reduce surface water drainage 

pollution runoff and establish control measures in 
development projects, which provide specific 
guidelines on design measures for runoff of 
pollutants of concern, source controls, stormwater 
treatment measures, hydromodification 
management, and construction site controls. To 
address flow-related impacts of stormwater runoff, 
the Town also enforces National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) permits that are issued 
for industrial and construction activities. 

The Town of Colma has established preferred best management practices (BMPs) for adoption 
into a Stormwater Management Plan. These practices include street sweeping, storm drain 



 
 
 

 OSC-17 

stenciling, spill cleanup and annual catch basin maintenance. Additionally, the Town adopted a 
Green Infrastructure Plan in August 2019 to reduce pollutants that enter the bay. Specifically, 
the plan targets the reduction of mercury and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). 

Flooding 

Colma Creek flows through Colma in above-ground channels and underground culverts. The 
creek and drainageway is approximately eight miles long, flowing heaviest during the rainy 
season from November through April. Even though the rainfall amount in the town is not 
unusually high, the rainfall that occurs happens over a short period. As urbanization increases in 
the watershed, the potential for groundwater infiltration decreases while water runoff and the 
potential for flooding increases. 

Historically, flooding has occurred in the south and north end of town at El Camino Real and F 
Street, and on El Camino at the Mission Street Wye. The San Mateo County Flood and Sea Level 
Rise Resiliency District has constructed two box culverts that divert the main flow from Colma 
Creek. One box culvert is in the median of El Camino Real and one is located under the 
centerline of Old Mission Road. These major capital improvements have eliminated the flooding 
risk in these areas and are designed for a 50-year event. 

The town is not part of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) flood mapping 
program. An open space policy provides that on-site runoff, infiltration, and retention facilities 
be constructed as a part of each new development project in the town of Colma. Adjoining 
communities are urged to follow this same practice when projects are considered that may 
influence the Colma Creek drainageway.  

The following Goals and Policies are therefore included so that the Town may be more involved 
with the management of its water quality and stormwater pollution prevention, as well as 
maintaining the continued environmental health of Colma Creek.  

OSC-4-1: Comply with Water Quality Regulations. Continue to comply with all State and 
federal regulations for water quality. 

OSC-4-2:  Participation in the San Mateo County Stormwater Pollution Prevention 
Program (SMCWPPP). Continue to be an active member agency of the SMCWPPP 
to reduce pollution from being conveyed through the storm water system to the San 
Francisco Bay. 

OSC-4-3: Reclaimed Water. Pursue opportunities to install water recycling infrastructure for 
Town-owned and cemetery landscape areas. 

 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-18 

OSC-4-4:  Use of Drought Tolerant and Native Plants. Encourage the use of drought 
tolerant and native plants in landscaping plans. 

 

OSC-4-5: Green Infrastructure. Incorporate green infrastructure, which relies on natural 
processes for stormwater treatment/drainage, groundwater recharge and flood 
control, into street and rights-of-way wherever practicable, including curb cuts, flow-
through planters and bioswales that slow stormwater runoff by dispersing it to 
vegetated areas, harvesting and use of runoff, and promote infiltration and use of 
bioretention to clean stormwater runoff. 

OSC-4-6: Stormwater Runoff. Require large-scale projects (over 0.5 acres) to channel 
surface and roof runoff to on-site detention facilities to facilitate groundwater 
recharge, reduce stormwater pollution, and mitigate flooding of Colma Creek. 

OSC-4-7:  Colma Creek Bank Setback. Protect and enhance areas of Colma Creek for 
riparian habitat, linear park opportunities, and aesthetic value.  

OSC-4-8: Colma Creek Enhancements. Enhance Colma Creek where possible by concrete 
channel removal, adding landscaping, public pathways, and sitting areas.  

 
OSC-4.-9: Water Quality and Conservation Public Information. Continue to support and 

coordinate with the Countywide Stormwater Program, Cal Water, and the San 
Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) on their public outreach and education 
campaigns to conserve and maintain water quality.  

SOIL AND MINERAL RESOURCES 
The town of Colma occupies a wide drainage basin centered on Colma Creek. The geologic 
formation of the area is known as the Colma formation. The formation is weakly to moderately 
consolidated and consists of friable, well sorted, fine to medium grained sand and local gravel, 
sandy silt and clay. An alluvial strip, consisting of unconsolidated permeable sand and gravel, 
exists along Colma Creek. 

The State Division of Mines and Geology has not classified or designated any areas in the town 
as containing regionally significant mineral resources. However, Colma sand is a well-known 
construction resource. The Hillside Landfill filled a historic sand pit from which material was 
mined for utility trench backfill.  

 

 



 
 
 

 OSC-19 

VEGETATION 
The town of Colma’s natural vegetative habitat is scrub, with riparian habitat located primarily 
along Colma Creek. Due to the town’s existing horticultural practices, memorial parks and 
developed areas, this habitat has been significantly altered or removed. The vegetative cover of 
the town now consists primarily of introduced ornamental and native plant materials.  

Riparian Vegetation 

Riparian vegetation, largely willow and alder, is limited to the banks along open sections of 
Colma Creek. Riparian vegetation supports a variety of wildlife and enhances the natural setting 
of the town. These areas are located behind the commercial district west of Mission Road, from 
the Cypress Lawn Cemetery offices to Collins Avenue, west of City Hall from Serramonte 
Boulevard north about 800 feet, and in front of Woodlawn and Greenlawn cemeteries adjacent 
to El Camino Real. The remaining above-ground portions of the creek in the Town of Colma run 
through a concrete lined channel. 

Non-Native Plants 

Non-native plant species are prevalent in certain areas of the town and are often so prolific that 
they are invasive and spread into surrounding ecosystems, displacing native plants. Non-native 
plants tend to be more aggressive in their growth habits, and are more resistant to diseases, to 
competitors and to predators. This dominance of non-native plants can have profound effects 
on the native ecosystem; as native plants are killed off, the animals that depend on those 
plants also disappear. Often the invading plant is not a food source and may support no life, or 
worse, contain potent alkaloids that are toxic to native animals. 

Invading non-native plants in the town of Colma include German Ivy (Senecio mikanioides), 
Cape Ivy (Senecio angulatus), Pampas Grass (Cortaderia jubata), Fennel (Foeniculum), Scotch 
Broom (Cytisus scoparius), and Gorse (Ulex europaea). Property owners should eliminate any of 
these plants where they occur. Eradication can be quite difficult, however, since many of these 
plants break when pulled, and segments that fall to the ground will take root and grow again. 
Typically, the root systems of non-native plants must be removed and carefully disposed of, 
starting at the outer edge of the infestation. In some cases, chemical control can be effective.  

Tree Masses 

The vegetation that is most clearly recognized in the town is the significant tree masses that 
exist throughout the town. The majority of these trees were planted by the cemetery owners to 
act as buffers, windbreaks, and for aesthetic purposes. The cemeteries chose pine, cypress, 
acacia, palm, and eucalyptus because of their availability and compatibility with the town of 
Colma’s microclimate. Many of these plantings have naturalized to the town’s environment. Tree 
masses are particularly prominent in or at the edges of the memorial parks in the town. 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-20 

Aesthetically, trees play a major role in determining the charming, picturesque quality of the 
town. They also provide a support system for wildlife nesting and feeding purposes. 
Unfortunately, many of these trees are nearing the end of their natural lives or are vulnerable 
to disease or infestation. 

It is important to the Town of Colma to protect existing tree masses when possible. 
Consequently, the Town has adopted a tree cutting and removal ordinance. This ordinance has 
set up guidelines and regulations to protect both trees and views. When trees are removed, 
they are usually required to be replaced with new trees that will grow to a similar size and form. 
As a general rule, a one-to-one replacement is required. Where appropriate, the Town seeks to 
have new trees planted that will achieve substantial height, and in groupings which will 
perpetuate the large masses associated with the town’s setting. 

Street Trees 

Street trees are an important element of landscape plans and are required as a condition of 
private development. Street trees help define the boundaries of streets and can also act as a 
moderator to windy conditions. In the town of Colma, they have improved the town’s image, 
providing a link between cemetery/open space and developed areas, and have improved the 
pedestrian experience.  

Project Landscaping 

Project landscaping plays an important role in linking existing open space areas in Colma. 
Landscaping softens the visual impacts of structures, acts as a buffer between incompatible 
uses and brings harmony and consistency to the urban design of the town. This is particularly 
important where the serenity of cemetery properties must be buffered from roads and urban 
land uses. 

Introduced landscaping is one of the principal devices that can be used to create scenic 
roadways and entry gateways. Scenic roadways accentuate the green expanses of the memorial 
parks. Entry gateways call attention to the town boundaries and welcome visitors. 

Colma’s varied topography creates a variety of unique microclimate conditions that can vary 

throughout the town. Special care should be taken to ensure that plant species used in project 
landscaping are suitable to each site’s specific microclimate. Sun, soil, and particularly wind 
conditions should be considered in the landscape design and plant selection. 

BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 
Colma has a diversified wildlife population consisting of small animals. The San Francisco Bay 
Area is located along the Pacific Flyway, so migratory birds are attracted to the open spaces of 
San Bruno Mountain and to the memorial parks and cemetery irrigation ponds in the town. It is 
not uncommon to view wild ducks and geese along with domestic fowl in the various cemetery 



 
 
 

 OSC-21 

lakes along El Camino Real within the town limits. Other bird species seen in the area include 
vultures, hawks, owls, and a variety of songbirds. Small animals common to the Colma area are 
snakes, lizards, gophers, squirrels, frogs, mice, and rabbits. 

Endangered, Threatened and Sensitive Species 

Due to agricultural practices and normal cemetery landscape maintenance, open space land in 
the town of Colma is characterized as disturbed. There are no areas of undisturbed native 
habitat within town boundaries. However, there are areas adjacent to the town (particularly San 
Bruno Mountain) where threatened and endangered species are found and there are areas 
within the town limits where human-made environments may favor the presence of sensitive 
species. 

Colma abuts San Bruno Mountain State and County Park, known for its colonies of federally 
listed endangered butterflies. Both the Mission Blue and San Bruno Elfin butterflies are found on 
the mountain east and south of the town limits. The mountain is also home to the Callipe 
Silverspot, a federally proposed endangered butterfly and the Bay Checkerspot, a federally 
listed threatened butterfly. With regard to plant species, two subspecies of Manzanita found on 
the mountain, San Bruno Mountain Manzanita and Pacific Manzanita, are listed by the State of 
California as threatened. The California Native Plant Society has identified rare plant species on 
the mountain, including Coast Rock Cress, Franciscan Wallflower, San Francisco Campion and 
the sunflower-like Helianthela Castanea. 

The town’s tall trees and tree masses are potential nesting sites for sensitive raptors protected 
by the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. For any new construction projects, a biological investigation 
should be done whenever tree removal would occur during nesting season (generally February 
through July) so that active nests can be protected. Ornamental ponds within some of Colma’s 

cemeteries may be potential habitat for the federally listed threatened Red-legged frog. 
Conditions favoring this species include ponds at least two feet deep with moving water and 
borders of dense, shrubby or emergent riparian vegetation. Although the State and federally 
listed endangered San Francisco garter snake seeks the Red-legged frog as a food source, there 
are currently no known populations of the snake in the town. A biological investigation for 
presence of the frog should be done whenever development would alter a pond as described 
above. The garter snake may have once been found along Colma Creek when it was a natural 
creek, but the current culverted condition of the creek is not suitable habitat. 

Therefore, in order to reduce risks to any biological resources within the town, the following 
Goals, Policies and Program items have been identified. 

OSC-5-1: Tree Masses. Recognize significant tree masses and other vegetative cover as 
natural resources to manage and preserve.  



  
 
 

  
 OSC-22 

 
OSC-5-2: Tree Removal. Removal of significant trees shall be carefully evaluated by factors 

such as the age, structure, and health of the tree as part of the tree removal permit 
process.  

OSC-5-3: Sensitive Biological Habitats. Require new development on or near sensitive 
habitats, such as open creeks, ponds, and other water features, to be subject to an 
investigation of the presence of the threatened Red-legged frog and endangered San 
Francisco Garter Snake. 

OSC-5-4: Habitat Enhancement. Require new development to minimize the disturbance of 
natural habitats and vegetation, and revegetation of disturbed habitat with native or 
non-invasive, naturalized species. 

OSC-5-5: Nesting Bird Protection. Require project applicants to retain the services of a 
qualified biologist(s) to conduct a pre-construction nesting bird survey during the 
nesting season (February 1 through August 31) prior to all new development that 
may remove or be in close proximity to any trees or vegetation that may provide 
suitable nesting habitat for migratory birds or other special-status bird species. If 
nests are found the qualified biologist(s) shall identify appropriate avoidance 
measures, and these measures shall be incorporated into the project and 
implemented accordingly. 

OSC-5-6: Regional Open Space Preservation Efforts. Support regional and sub-regional 
efforts to acquire, develop and maintain open space conservation lands. 

OSC-5-7: Soil and Mineral Resources. Encourage the conservation of the town’s existing 

soil and mineral resources, balanced by consideration of important social values, to 
protect their longevity and preserve the natural landscape.  

CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES 
The town of Colma is intricately linked to the missionization of California and the development 
of neighboring San Francisco. Throughout its history, Colma has served a number of different 
purposes. Its geographical location has made it ideal as a transportation corridor, as ranching 
and agricultural land, and now as a thriving regional necropolis.  

At the time of contact by the Spanish, the Ohlone, or Costanoan group of Native Americans 
inhabited Colma Although the term Costanoan derives from the Spanish word Cokstaños, or 
“coast people,” its application as a means of identifying this population is based in linguistics. 
Modern descendants of the Costanoan prefer to be known as Ohlone. The name Ohlone derives 
from the Oljón tribal group that occupied the San Gregorio watershed in San Mateo County. 

Subsistence was tied to seasonal availability and included seeds, acorns, nuts, fruits, and bulbs, 
as well as deer, tule elk, sea mammals, and waterfowl. Shell middens around the San Francisco 



 
 
 

 OSC-23 

Bay also show the reliance on shellfish and marine resources in the region. People used stone 
tools for hunting and processing, including knives, arrows, spears, net sinkers, anchors, 
handstones, and millingstones. The Ohlone constructed utilitarian baskets using the twining 
method with tule and other plant materials. They also constructed out of tule, and houses as 
structures made of poles covered with brush and/or tule matting.  

Today, descendants of the Ohlone live throughout the Bay Area. Several of these Ohlone 
groups (e.g., Muwekma and Amah) have banded together as modern tribelets to seek federal 
recognition. Many Ohlone (both individuals and groups) are active in reviving and preserving 
elements of their traditional culture such as dance, basketry, and song. 

Information regarding the location of tribelet habitation areas varies between ethnographic 
sources. Colma is located between three Costanoan/Ohlone habitation areas: Aramai, Urebure, 
and Yelamu. The Aramai were located near present-day Pacifica, approximately 3.5 mi. south-
southwest from Colma. The Urebure were located near present-day San Bruno, approximately 3 
mi. southeast of Colma. The Yelamu resided in the north San Francisco Peninsula within the 
current city limits of San Francisco. Four village clusters moved between their summer and 
winter villages. The nearest Yelamu village was located near Fort Funston, approximately 3 mi. 
northwest of Colma.  

While no resources have ever been found in Colma, due to Colma’s location and proximity to a 

fresh water source, Colma Creek, there is a possibility that resources could exist in Colma.  

Several State laws protect archaeological resources including the American Indian Religious 
Freedom Act and the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). CEQA requires assessment of 
the impacts to unique archaeological resources or Native American culturally significant sites, 
including sites, features, places, cultural landscapes, sacred places, and objects with cultural 
value to a California Native American tribe. If a development project is found to potentially 
cause damage to a resource, reasonable efforts may be required to preserve the resources, 
leave it in an undisturbed state, or undertake additional mitigation measures if avoidance is not 
possible. To protect historic resources, the State has formed the State Historical Resources 
Commission that conducts the State Historic Resource Inventory. 

OSC-6-1: Development Review Process. Require, as part of the development review 
process, standard conditions of approval or mitigation measures that identify proper 
measures and protocols to be followed in the event that tribal or cultural resources 
are discovered on a project site.  

OSC-6-2: Tribal Consultation Compliance. Comply with SB 18,AB 52, and other applicable 
State and federal laws by consulting with local California Native American tribes prior 
to development decisions or General Plan or Specific Plan amendments. Respect 



  
 
 

  
 OSC-24 

tribal policies regarding confidentiality of information about tribal resources or sacred 
sites.   

OSC-6-3: On-Site Monitoring and Mitigation. If archaeological resources of Native 
American origin are identified during project construction, a qualified archaeologist 
shall consult with the Town to begin Native American consultation procedures. The 
project proponent shall fund the cost of the qualified archaeologist and Native 
American monitor (as needed) for analysis and implementation of any necessary 
mitigation.  

  



 
 
 

 OSC-25 

IMPLEMENTATION  
Open Space and Conservation 

Implementation Programs 2021-2030 2031-2040 Annual Ongoing 

OSC-IP1: As part of project 
approval and collected prior to 
project occupancy, new 
development shall provide fair 
share contributions for parks, 
trails, and other passive 
recreational facilities if not 
included in the project. 

 
  

 
X 

Implements Policies: OSC-2-2, OSC-2-3, Responsible Dept. Planning 

OSC-IP2: Promote energy 
conservation and retrofitting 
of existing public and private 
buildings and facilities to 
improve energy efficiency and 
pursue excellence in energy 
efficiency in the design and 
construction of new buildings 
and facilities.  

   
 
 
 
X 

Implements Policies: OSC-3-2, OSC-3-3, Responsible Depts. Planning and Building 

OSC-IP3: Integrate energy 
efficiency, conservation, and 
other green building practices 
into the planning and building 
permit processes as 
technologies improve and 
evolve. 

 
X 

     
          X 

Implements Policy: OSC-3-2, Responsible Depts. Planning and Building 

OSC-IP4: Participate in 
regional, State, and federal 
efforts to reduce GHG 
emissions and mitigate the 
impacts resulting from climate 
change. 

   
 
 
X 

Implements Policy: OSC-3-4, Responsible Dept. Planning  



  
 
 

  
 OSC-26 

OSC-IP5: Periodically update 
the Town’s Climate Action Plan 
to maintain compliance with 
GHG reduction targets set 
forth by the California Air 
Resources Board and assess 
and modify existing CAP 
implementation programs. 

 
X 

 
X 

 
  

Implements Policy: OSC-3-4, Responsible Dept. Planning 

OSC-IP6: Provide the 
community with information 
that supports conservation and 
resource management. 

   
 
 
X 

Implements Policies: OSC--3-2, OSC-4-9 Responsible Dept. Planning and Public Works 

OSC-IP7: The Town of Colma 
shall follow all Best 
Management Practices (BMPs) 
in order to maintain water 
quality and to prevent or 
reduce non-point source water 
pollution. 

    
 
X 

Implements Policies: OSC 4-1, OSC 4-2, OSC 4-5,OSC-4-6, OSC-4-8, Responsible Dept. 
Engineering, Supporting Dept. Planning 

OSC-IP8: Promote the 
conservation and efficient use 
of water in new and existing 
residences and commercial 
buildings and sites. 

    
X 

Implements Policies: OSC-4-3, OSC-4-9, Responsible Dept. Planning and Building, Supporting 
Dept. Engineering 

OSC-IP9: Review landscape 
and hardscape installations as 
part of new development to 
ensure compliance with water 
conservation requirements in 
the Water Efficient Landscape 
Ordinance. 

    
X 
 

Implements Policies: OSC 4-3,OSC-4-4, Responsible Dept. Planning 



 
 
 

 OSC-27 

OSC-IP10: Review and update 
the Town’s Green 
Infrastructure Plan every five 
years to assess the 
applicability of the Countywide 
Green Infrastructure (GI) 
Guidelines and Standards for 
town development projects 
and ensure ongoing 
compliance with the NPDES 
permit. 

 
 
X 

 
 
X 

  
 

Implements Policy: OSC-4-2, OSC-4-5, Responsible Dept. Planning, Supporting Dept. 
Engineering 

OSC-IP11: Restore Colma 
Creek to a more natural state 
by removing culverting, where 
feasible. 

    
X 

Implements Policy: OSC-4-7, OSC 4-8, Responsible Depts. Planning and Public works 

OSC-IP12: Promote the 
establishment of native 
vegetation and the removal of 
non-native, invasive plants in 
Colma Creek and vicinity. 

    
X 

Implements Policy: OSC-4-4, OSC-4-8, Responsible Dept. Planning, Supporting Dept. 
Engineering 

OSC-IP13: Utilize drought-
tolerant landscaping on public 
property and streetscapes and 
promote the use of drought-
tolerant plantings (especially 
native species acclimated to 
the town), as well as site and 
landscape designs that 
minimize water use and runoff. 

    
 
 
X 

Implements Policy: OSC-4-4, Responsible Depts. Planning and Public Works 

OSC-IP14: Increase and 
manage Colma’s tree canopy 
on public and private 
properties.  

    
X 

Implements Policies: OSC-5-1, OSC-5-2, OSC-5-3, Responsible Dept. Planning 

 



Historical Resources Element 



 

 HR-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 
California Government Code (Code) allows for the development of optional General Plan 
Elements (Section §65303(J), including a Historical Resources Element for the identification, 
protection and management of a community’s sites and structures exhibiting architectural, 
historical, archaeological and cultural significance. A Historical Resources Element is particularly 
appropriate for the Town of Colma due to its rich history and large number of historic and 
cultural resources.  

Even though a Historic Resources Element is not a State mandated element, it follows the 
procedures developed for the Town’s mandatory elements. This Historic Resource Element 
therefore sets forth a systematic program for the preservation of the Town of Colma’s historic 

and cultural heritage as reflected in its characteristics that form a distinct and exceptional 
cultural setting. The inclusion and adoption of a Historic Preservation Element illustrates the 
integral role that preservation plays in the larger planning process and aids in the assurance 
that historic and cultural resources will be considered in concert with other key General Plan 
elements. The inclusive and holistic approach to planning provides a long-range vision that 
encourages a culturally, socially, environmentally and economically rich town that is able to 
evolve while retaining tangible links to the past, providing for a better quality of life and a 
prosperous future.  

 



 

 HR-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 
California Government Code (Code) allows for the development of optional General Plan 
Elements (Section §65303(J), including a Historical Resources Element for the identification, 
protection and management of a community’s sites and structures exhibiting architectural, 
historical, archaeological and cultural significance. A Historical Resources Element is particularly 
appropriate for the Town of Colma due to its rich history and large number of historic and 
cultural resources.  

Even though a Historic Resources Element is not a State mandated element, it follows the 
procedures developed for the Town’s mandatory elements. This Historic Resource Element 
therefore sets forth a systematic program for the preservation of the Town of Colma’s historic 

and cultural heritage as reflected in its characteristics that form a distinct and exceptional 
cultural setting. The inclusion and adoption of a Historic Preservation Element illustrates the 
integral role that preservation plays in the larger planning process and aids in the assurance 
that historic and cultural resources will be considered in concert with other key General Plan 
elements. The inclusive and holistic approach to planning provides a long-range vision that 
encourages a culturally, socially, environmentally and economically rich town that is able to 
evolve while retaining tangible links to the past, providing for a better quality of life and a 
prosperous future.  

 



  
 
 

  
 HR-2 

PAST PRESERVATION EFFORTS 
In December of 1992 the Town of Colma commissioned its first Historic Resource Inventory in 
order to identify historic resources of local, state and national significance. The Inventory 
identified buildings, structure, sites, objects and districts related to the Town’s rich agricultural 

history, residential and commercial development and especially that of its unique cemetery 
landscape. The inventory has encouraged consideration and recognition of historic and cultural 
resources in the Town of Colma’s subsequent planning decisions.  

The private sector has also played an integral role in the preservation of the Town’s heritage. In 

July of 1993, a group of concerned community members founded the Colma Historical 
Association with the mission of preserving, protecting and promoting the unique heritage of the 
Town. The association acts as the impromptu advising body to the Town’s planning office while 

advocating for and providing guidance on historic preservation related issues. The organization 
also played an instrumental role in the preservation of the historic “Old Colma (School House) 

Railroad Station” when it was threatened to be demolished as a result of the construction of 
Bay Area Transit Administration facilities. The Historical Association now houses their offices in 
the former Mount Olivet Cemetery building on Hillside Boulevard, and the Old Colma (School 
House) Railroad Station has been relocated and restored adjacent to the museum.  In addition 
to the museum building and station, there is a blacksmith shop and a freight building. 

Passive preservation of the Town’s intangible heritage has also occurred through the continuity 
of uses and industry that played a large role historically and continues to do so today.  The 
Town of Colma continues to support florists, stonemasons and commercial businesses 
established in its early days. These types of businesses have continued the legacy of those who 
came before, and perhaps without even knowing it, have contributed greatly to the 
preservation of the Town’s intangible heritage.  

The Town’s known historic and cultural resources are presented in Figure H.1 – Historic 
Resources Map, and Appendix B – Historic Resources Evaluation. 

  



 
 
 

 HR-3 

CONTEXT STATEMENT 
The Colma valley has been inhabited for centuries. The Ohlone/Costanonoan tribes took 
advantage of the natural resources connected to Colma Creek and San Bruno Mountain for 
sustenance. The El Camino Real was established through the Colma valley in the late 1700’s as 

a primary traveling route for the Spanish, eventually connecting the Spanish missions. 
Development in the Town largely began in the 1850’s and has since accumulated rich and 
distinct layers of significance. These layers are still visible in the varied land use, spatial 
organization, biotic resources, architectural forms, and practices which are reflective of the 
Town’s varied and unique heritage. As the only known necropolis in the United States, the 
Town of Colma exhibits a rich and diverse array of historic agricultural, commercial, industrial 
and funerary resources and it is the composite of these resources that imbues the landscape 
with meaning. 

SETTING 
The Town of Colma is in the far northern portion of the San Francisco Peninsula, in San Mateo 
County, along the eastern foothills of the Santa Cruz Mountain Range. In 1850 the Town Colma 
referred to a section of land extending from the Southern border of San Francisco south to the 
boarder of the Buri-Buri Rancho (currently Chestnut Avenue/Westborough area) and from the 
western portion of San Bruno Mountain east to the Pacific Ocean (parts of present-day Daly City 
and Pacifica). The Town of Colma was incorporated in 1924, primarily to protect cemetery 
interests. A series of annexations in the twentieth century altered Town’s boundaries so that, 

today, the Town of Colma is comprised of approximately 1.9 square miles bounded by Daly City 
on the north, San Bruno Mountain to the east, South San Francisco in the south and Junipero 
Serra Boulevard on the West. Being both isolated and connected at once, the Town’s position in 
the San Francisco Peninsula and proximity to the City of San Francisco greatly influenced its 
development through the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. A rolling landscape made up of 
rich sandy loam soil and a mild climate with coastal fog and a variety of rich resources made 
the area that would one day be the Town of Colma both a challenging and appealing one from 
the very beginning. 

EARLY SETTLEMENT 
At the time of European contact in the eighteenth century, the Native American population 
known as the Ohlone—an umbrella term referring to upwards of forty distinct and autonomous 
small tribes located in the San Francisco Bay Area— had inhabited the Northern California 
Peninsula, from South San Francisco to Belmont for more than 4000 years. Prior to the arrival 
of the Spanish, Northern California supported one of the densest populations of Native 
Americans north of Mexico.  The Ohlone tribes were hunter-gatherers, and at the time of 
European exploration, there were thought to be more than forty permanent Ohlone villages and 



  
 
 

  
 HR-4 

almost as many temporary villages located along the San Francisco Bay. Yet, the arrival of the 
Spanish in the eighteenth century led to the loss and displacement of the Ohlone peoples. 
Today, the presence of the Ohlone population around the Town of Colma is evidenced by the 
presence of middens and shell mounds found throughout San Mateo County.   

In 1821, more than 15,000 acres of land bounded by South San Francisco, the Pacific Ocean 
and the San Bruno Mountains became part of the Buri-Buri Land Grant, granted to Jose De la 
Cruz Sanchez by Jose Castro. For more than two decades the Buri-Buri Rancho served as 
grazing land and would eventually support a thriving cattle industry. Yet, the discovery of Gold 
at Sutter’s Mill in 1848 and the rapid migration of new settlers to California spelled the 

beginning of the end for the Mexican ranchos, most of which were completely dismantled within 
two decades. The rapid breakup of the Mexican Ranchos was largely a result of the Preemption 
Act passed by Congress in 1841, which allowed for those squatting on federal lands to purchase 
up to 160 acres on which to establish a farm. Those newly migrated to California began 
applying those rights established by the Preemption Act to not only federally owned lands, but 
also to the California Ranchos. Land disputes ensued as the new immigrants continued to 
encroach upon the lands of the Rancheros.  

The subsequent passage of the Gwin Act in 1851 placed the legal burden of proving the validity 
of land grants on the Rancheros. If the validity of the land grant was not proven within two 
years, the land would then pass to public domain.  The cost of litigation led to the Rancheros 
losing the vast majorities of their land. By 1865 the Buri-Buri Rancho was owned by 65 
individuals with only 5% remaining in the hands of Jose De La Cruz Sanchez.  

AGRICULTURAL CONTEXT 
The European Settlement that began in the 1850s established the Town of Colma as an 
important agricultural epicenter. From its earliest days the Town existed as a crossroads, 
connecting the cities of the San Francisco Peninsula. Located only eight miles south of San 
Francisco, the Town of Colma held a strategic location with a rapidly burgeoning market just 
beyond its borders. As a gateway town, the Town of Colma acted as provider for the growing 
Bay Area population in many ways and this role was especially visible in the context of 
agriculture.  

The earliest settlers established farms and ranches, many of which were self-sustaining. Among 
the first to settle the area of the Town were Irish immigrants who cultivated potatoes 
throughout the 1850s up until 1877, with many of the larger operations employing Chinese 
Coolies.  The relatively short-lived potato industry came to an abrupt end when blight attacked 
the potato crop and killed all the potatoes before they were harvested. A handful of Irish potato 
farmers continued to farm the blight-resistant potato varietal known as the Garnet Chili, yet the 
potato industry never did return to its former proportions.  Many of the Irish left the Town of 
Colma after the failure of the potato industry and sold off their lands to other eager immigrants. 
The next wave of immigrant farmers came between 1908-1942, many of whom were of Italian 



 
 
 

 HR-5 

descent.  These immigrants produced cabbage, Brussels sprouts, artichokes, beets, turnips and 
carrots. It was largely in part to the newly immigrated Italians that the agriculture, floriculture 
and livestock industries flourished.   

Floriculture proved to be one of the most successful endeavors; however, it was not without its 
challenges. The unique microclimate of the Town of Colma, characterized by a dense fog, posed 
a challenge for even the hardiest of flowers. However, those that were able to withstand the 
cold and fog thrived. Among the survivors was the Ulrich Brunner Rose which produced large, 
bright red blossoms. Gardeners soon discovered that, like the Ulrich Brunner Rose, California 
Violets thrived in the unique climate and distinct soils liked by potatoes and strawberries.  

The cultivation of violets remained the mainstay of the Town’s floriculture industry from 1908 to 
1942. By 1916, upwards of 450 acres of land were exclusively used for the cultivation of violets 
with the Lagomarsino family being one of the most prolific producers of violets in the Town of 
Colma.   It was estimated that in 1916, one hundred bunches of violets were taken to and sold 
in San Francisco every day.  Some accounts recall that the popularity of the Town’s violets 

extended all the way to Kansas and Missouri where they could be found at flower stands.  

In addition to the ubiquitous violets, other common flower varieties grown in Town were: 
dahlias (Dahlia Variabilis), marigolds (Tagetes) African marigolds (Tagetes Lucida), 
chrysanthemums (Chrysanthemum Indicum), marguerites (Argyranthemum Frutescens), and 
strawflowers (Helichrysum Mill).  By 1920 roughly 20% of the land in Northern San Mateo 
County was used for floriculture.  The cultivation of ferns also gained popularity in the twentieth 
century. Florists and Gardeners increasingly began using greenhouses which not only allowed 
for a more consistent and greater output of flowers, but also allowed for the cultivation of ferns. 
In 1936 it was reported that “Colma and San Francisco supplied the entire Pacific Coast with cut 

ferns, 80% of them coming from Colma.”  Floriculture existed largely as a family affair and 
spanned generations. Notable families involved with floriculture in the Town of Colma and 
nearby Daly City included; the Podesta, Conci, Raggio, Lagomarsino, Ottoboni, Tealdi, Garibaldi, 
Pappas and McLennan families.  

In 1926 many of the large ranches and dairies, once the predominant presence in the Town of 
Colma, began to be subdivided to accommodate the increasingly popular “small farms” 

consisting of 1-2 acres plots. These “small farms” were intended to support vegetable and truck 

farming, and many raised poultry or grew profitable, high yield crops like berries, tomatoes, 
artichokes, and other similar crops.  Other small farm owners also established hog ranches, as 
the cool, foggy climate proved conducive to hog raising. The small hog raising operations 
continued until just after WWII. They were replaced with the subsequent wave of residential 
and commercial development. 

Beginning in the mid-twentieth century the earlier layers of the landscape began to fade. 
Between 1924 and the early 1960s the Ottoboni flower beds gave way to residential 
development where the E St. houses now sit.  The Town’s agriculture industry retained a 



  
 
 

  
 HR-6 

presence in the Town of Colma up until 1971, when the last remaining farm, the Cerruti farm, 
moved elsewhere.  Today, little physical evidence remains of Town’s agricultural heritage.  The 

Lagomarsino farm buildings c.1908/1918, (the most intact example of a family farmstead dating 
to the agricultural period) and the Ottoboni residence, c.1904, (the only extant resource from 
the Ottoboni nursery operation) exist as the sole relicts giving a nod to an earlier iteration of 
the Town.    

COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT 
In the mid/late 1850s, when the Town of Colma was served by the Overland Stagecoach route 
that connected San Francisco to San Jose, commercial activity developed at the intersections of 
Mission Road (now El Camino Real) and San Pedro Road.  At the confluence of the two main 
roads the Colma Pioneer School House was constructed in 1856 followed by the construction of 
a nearby railroad depot, known as the “School House Station” in 1863.  The School House 

Station served the San Francisco and San Jose Railroad, or, what later became the Southern 
Pacific Railroad.  As the second stop south of San Francisco, the School House Station 
commonly featured farmers and teamsters embarking the train on their way to San Francisco. 

Not far from the station, an early settler, Joseph Hill, developed a general store that would soon 
become an impromptu community center providing basic necessities while also housing an 
extensive bar and a post office.  The commercial development spread out from there and a 
butcher shop, blacksmiths, saloon, and grange hall followed suit; two unsuccessful attempts 
were made at establishing a shoe factory and a fuse factory. 

As a result of Town’s role as a crossroads and waypoint, saloons and roadhouses had a strong 

presence early on as some of the first commercial businesses. In 1890, six of Town’s twenty 

businesses were saloons and by 1915, fifteen of the forty-nine businesses were saloons.  Many 
of the saloons and eateries were located along Mission Road, a main thoroughfare. One notable 
early building was the Brooks and Carey Saloon, established in 1883.  Sold in 1929, the saloon 
became known as Molloy’s and still serves the Town of Colma community today. 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
Early Town of Colma was largely characterized by agricultural uses, and then by cemeteries. As 
a result, residential development lagged behind that of other Bay Area cities. In the aftermath 
of the 1906 Earthquake many refugees made their way from San Francisco to the Town of 
Colma where they constructed basic shacks and re-located buildings that they later augmented 
with new construction; the Pets Rest Cemetery Office at 1905 Hillside Blvd is one of the few 
examples of residential development constructed during this time.  The Lagomarsino farm 
houses also remain as some of the few remaining residential structures dating to the period 
from 1908-1918. In 1911, the City of Daly City incorporated, annexing land formerly under the 
Town’s jurisdiction, including the Town’s Business District, the western sand dunes and a 

portion of the Town’s hills.  



 
 
 

 HR-7 

Little development took place in the first half of the twentieth century and the development that 
occurred post-WWII included residences relocated from San Francisco.  A number of residences 
that now line E Street and F Street were moved from the Alemany Boulevard area of San 
Francisco during the construction of Interstate 280.  Today, the Town’s built heritage exhibits a 

wide variety of architectural styles including examples of Gothic Revival, Richardsonian, 
Romanesque, Spanish Eclectic, Neo-Byzantine and Art-Moderne. 

Residential development exploded in San Francisco and northern San Mateo County beginning 
in the mid 1940’s due to the demand created by returning WWII Veterans.  The Sterling Park 

residential neighborhood (on the site of the former Rosia Ranch), located in the northern part of 
the Town of Colma was largely developed during this time.  The Servicemen's Readjustment Act 
of 1944, known informally as the G.I. Bill, was a law that provided a range of benefits for 
returning World War II veterans (commonly referred to as G.I.s).  Benefits included low-cost 
mortgages, low-interest loans to start a business, cash payments of tuition and living expenses 
to attend university, high school or vocational education, as well as one year of unemployment 
compensation.  The G.I. Bill allowed servicemen and their families to purchase these recently 
built homes.  

CEMETERY DEVELOPMENT 
Between January of 1848 and December 1849, San Francisco’s population increased from 1,000 
inhabitants to roughly 20,000 inhabitants and by 1856 that number had more than doubled. 
The rapid population growth in San Francisco brought on by the Gold Rush created an 
impending need for the creation of more cemeteries; by the 1880s San Francisco housed 26 
cemeteries (29 total including three established after 1880), many of which had already 
reached or were about to reach capacity.  By this time the burials were largely confined to the 
area in or very near to Lone Mountain near what was then the edge of San Francisco.  
However, as San Francisco’s population grew and expanded west and south into the “Outside 

Lands” there developed a very politically and emotionally fueled debate over how to reconcile 

the two opposing land use needs.  Ultimately, it was decided that an alternative location would 
be the preferred solution. 

In the late 19th and early 20th centuries it was generally agreed by the cemetery owners, 
including Masonic and fraternal organizations, religious groups and non-denominational groups, 
that the Town of Colma’s proximity and ease of access made it a favorable location to relocate 

existing burials and also house future burials.  The reasons for eviction and relocation of San 
Francisco’s cemeteries had roots in larger cultural and political movements that defined the 
period.  The primary impetus could be found in the ideals of the Rural Cemetery Movement and 
the recent formalization of urban planning, the latter of which simply fueled the relocation 
because it allowed for more proactive development and improved infrastructure to those areas 
which formerly had little value beyond that of burial grounds. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/World_War_II
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Veterans
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/G.I._(military)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Business
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/High_school
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Vocational_education
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Unemployment_benefits
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Unemployment_benefits


  
 
 

  
 HR-8 

The simultaneous popularity of the Rural Cemetery movement further encouraged the 
relocation of cemeteries out of urban centers to what people deemed a more acceptable 
distance away.  The Rural Cemetery Movement was firmly established in the United States by 
the 1830’s with the earliest American example being Mount Auburn Cemetery outside of 

Boston; by 1863 the Rural Cemetery movement had arrived on the west Coast with the 
establishment of Oakland’s Mountain View Cemetery.  It was the Rural Cemetery movement 

that eventually set the stage for America’s public parks.  For hundreds of years burials were 

often intramural, located within city limits, in a church yard or a commons.  However, the rapid 
urbanization that took place during the 19th and 20th centuries, made the practice of 
intramural burials unsustainable or at the very least, unappealing.  Overcrowding, unsanitary 
conditions, and an overall morbidity associated 
with early cemeteries provided an impetus for a 
new kind of cemetery.  The Rural Cemetery 
movement encouraged the placement of 
cemeteries outside of city limits with wide 
spacing between burials and an expansive, 
park-like landscape.  The relocation and 
subsequent role that the Town of Colma came 
to play as a necropolis can be largely attributed 
to the ideas and sentiments that characterized 
this movement. 

Cemeteries located within cities, including San Francisco, began to be seen as thwarters of 
progress.  The City fathers wanted to utilize the land for its most profitable and highest use. 
San Francisco’s residents, land speculators and politicians wanted progress and did not believe 

that cemeteries had much to offer in that respect.  Over several years’ burials were moved 

further and further to the outskirts of San Francisco, some being exhumed and re-buried up to 
three times.  Many would find their final resting place eight miles outside the City of San 
Francisco in the Town. 

The earliest cemetery developed in the Town of Colma was Holy Cross, constructed on a former 
potato patch in 1887.  Within a little over ten years, six more nineteenth century cemeteries 
were developed.  The Cemeteries were clustered on either side of Mission Road (now El Camino 
Real and Mission Road to the south) with the eastern portions reaching Hillside Boulevard and 
those on the west abutting Junipero Serra Boulevard. A listing of cemetery establishment dates 
can be found in Appendix A – Historic Resources Evaluation.  

The early cemeteries reflected mainstream cultural trends, but also represented the diverse and 
colorful ethnic and religious makeup of the San Francisco Peninsula.  Among the Town’s early 

cemeteries was the Italian Cemetery, established by Societa Italiana di Mutua Beneficenza in 
1899.  The Italian Cemetery, like other ethnic cemeteries that would succeed it, reflected 
endemic traditions, visible in the spatial organization, vegetation, and burials.  Rather than 
mirroring any American trend, the Italian cemetery adapted the geometric layout and above 



 
 
 

 HR-9 

ground entombment along with the traditional pruning methods used in the cemeteries of 
Florence and Genoa.  It also employed architectural styles common to Italy, especially that of 
the Romanesque style. 

Besides illustrating cultural heritage and religious 
traditions, cemeteries also have a way of 
displaying class distinctions and are often telling of 
socio-economic history. In addition to the rather 
grand, ornate and well-kept cemeteries there was 
also a Potters field (named Sunset View), 
established c.1907, reserved for those of lesser 
means and for orphans, strangers and others.  The 
term “Potter’s Field” is thought to stem from the 

fact that pot makers would dig for clay in areas not 
conducive to agriculture and it was, of course, these same lands that were used for the burial of 
the unfortunate and unknown.  Located on the outskirts of towns or in a segregated area these 
burial sites were often unmarked or denoted by simple wooden grave markers.  

The pace of cemetery development in the Town of Colma only accelerated when the San 
Francisco City Fathers passed Ordinance 25 on March 26, 1900, prohibiting any future burials in 
the City and County of San Francisco. The San Francisco Mayor, James D Phelan, was as much 
an advocate for development as he was for the City Beautiful Movement and it was under his 
tenure that cemeteries in San Francisco were outlawed.  At the turn of the century six more 
cemeteries were established in rather rapid succession.   

In 1912 the San Francisco Board of Supervisors 
declared intent to evict all cemeteries in their 
jurisdiction, and by January of 1914, with the 
passage of ordinance 2597, they had sent 
removal notices to all cemeteries stating that the 
cemeteries were “a public nuisance and a 

menace and detriment to health and welfare of 
City dwellers.”  Subsequent legal battles delayed 

the removals.  Between 1937 and 1941, all 
remaining graves were relocated to the Town. 
Since the Town of Colma was considered a safe place to purchase land for cemetery use, five 
additional cemeteries were established since San Francisco outlawed cemeteries and the Town’s 

incorporation in 1924. 

The worry of further annexation by Daly City or San Francisco combined with the fear that the 
burial evictions and relocation would continue as a recurrent theme, the Town’s cemetery 

owners, led by “the Father of Colma,” Mattrup Jensen, chartered “The Associated Cemeteries” 

and sought incorporation.  The Town, then referred to as Lawndale, was incorporated on Aug 5, 



  
 
 

  
 HR-10 

1924.  On November 17, 1941 Lawndale was renamed to the Town of Colma since there was 
already a city named Lawndale in Southern California. 

The seventeen Cemeteries in the Town of Colma 
chronicle the American Cemetery Movement and 
also embody distinct historical and cultural trends 
through the unique spatial organization, grave 
markers and architecture.  Cypress Lawn 
Cemetery, for example, tangibly chronicles the 
American Cemetery Movement of the late 
nineteenth century to the present, with the 
eastern portion exhibiting winding pathways with 
intentional views and vistas, a park like landscape 
and monumental entry; whereas the western portion is illustrative of the subsequent Memorial 
Park movement, defined by less ornate and simplified headstones equally spaced over a large 
lawn-like landscape.  Many of the Town’s cemeteries such as Woodlawn, Olivet, Greek 

Orthodox, Japanese, Greenlawn, Serbian and Pet’s Rest are singular in their significance.  Home 

of Peace cemetery, established in 1888, remains the oldest and largest Jewish cemetery in the 
west.  

The relocation of San Francisco’s cemeteries to the Town not only brought a rich variety of 
significant funerary architecture including monuments, mausoleums, and the remains of many 
very significant figures, but also associated practices and uses.  The presence of cemeteries 
brought florists, gardeners, stonecutters, and laborers to the Town of Colma.  The traditional 
use of the Town’s unique landscape has encouraged a strong sense of continuity, both tangible 

and intangible. Many of the early established funerary-related businesses are still run by 
descendants of their first proprietors; three generations of Delucchis have and continue to 
operate a flower shop in the Town of Colma.  Bocci and Sons Stone Carvers, although having 
changed ownership, is still in operation over 150 years later.  Donohoe and Carroll monuments, 
established in 1885, also continues under family ownership.  V. Fontana Company has been in 
continuous operation since 1921. 

  



 
 
 

 HR-11 

BENEFITS OF PRESERVATION 
The loss of historic fabric dilutes the unique character, sense of place and feeling that sets one 
place apart from another.  Preservation of historic buildings, structures, sites and the larger 
cultural landscape makes sense for a variety of reasons. Cultural resources link the present 
form of a place to the community’s roots and evolution.  Resources may include objects, 
buildings, structures, districts, trees and landscapes which relate to and evoke the Town’s past. 

From an economic perspective, restoration provides skilled jobs for local builders and income 
for local suppliers and businesses. Heritage tourism provides jobs in the service sector, supports 
commercial businesses and would encourage visitors to patronize the expanded retail, 
entertainment and dining sector proposed as part of the Town’s Economic Development Plan.  

From an environmental perspective, restoration and reuse of materials reduce the materials 
going to landfills and also lessen depletion of raw materials such as timber. From a social 
perspective, preservation of historic neighborhoods contributes to diversity in our community 
and provides a variety of housing to satisfy a wide range of income levels at different stages of 
life.  Below is a listing of some of the benefits of historic preservation: 

CULTURAL AND ECONOMIC BENEFITS 
Having many and varied historic resources make the community culturally richer for having the 
tangible presence of past eras and architectural styles. The Town’s special character can be a 

powerful tool for the economy as well as community identity that helps attract investment. 
When historic buildings and cultural sites are protected and made the focal point of 
revitalization, property values and tax revenues increase; highly skilled jobs are created; a 
strong concentration of local businesses is encouraged; and opportunities for heritage tourism 
are created. In addition, as opposed to new construction, rehabilitation uses a smaller amount 
of building materials and less energy. Preservation is often the “sustainable option” 

SOCIAL BENEFITS 
Historic preservation encourages community pride and mutual concern for the local historic 
building stock and cultural landscapes. It also creates a sense of permanence and well-being. In 
addition, historic buildings can provide an enhanced understanding of who the community is, 
where it has been, and where it might be going. 

EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS 
Historic and cultural resources are also worth preserving based on their utility as an educational 
force. The Town supports the development of community education programs to promote 
historic preservation.  Such programs create awareness and appreciation of the Town's history. 



  
 
 

  
 HR-12 

Recognition of historic resources will foster a greater enjoyment of the town and greater 
support for historic preservation efforts.  

The Town of Colma Historical Association seeks to educate citizens about current historic 
resources and benefits of preservation. Information is disseminated through publications, 
presentations, walking tours, special events and other media. Technical information relating to 
the preservation and rehabilitation of historic resources as well as locations or 

organizations where additional historic data could be obtained can 

be provided by the Town’s Planning staff and the Colma Historical 

Association. 

The combination of education and recognition can foster individual and community pride for 
local preservation efforts.  

PLANNING BENEFITS 
The protection of historic resources has benefits to the Town in its long-term plan. Historic 
Resources are vital to the community and provide a unique sense of place.  Historic resources 
also provide the context and backdrop for new development. 

ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS 
Historic preservation through the use of rehabilitation and restoration, and the reuse of existing 
buildings and sites is an intrinsically “green” practice as opposed to demolition. 

  



 
 
 

 HR-13 

CHALLENGES AND OBSTACLES 
The Town’s continuing landscape, defined by a rich array of funerary resources dating from the 

late nineteenth century until the present, has the exceptional ability to illustrate evolution of 
cultural trends and practices over time. The unique sense of continuity seen through the Town’s 

resources is one that is becoming increasingly scarce. A number of challenges exist that 
threaten the integrity of the Town of Colma’s unique resources and that of its larger cultural 

landscape: 

• Limited guidance available to inform future development efforts and ensure compatibility 
with existing historic and cultural resources.  

• Absence of funding set aside to encourage and enable historic preservation efforts. 
• Paucity of preservation-related education for private property owners who, in the 

absence of robust preservation policy, act as the primary stewards of the resources. 
• Failure to understand the Town of Colma’s historic resources as assets.  

  



  
 
 

  
 HR-14 

INCENTIVES FOR PRESERVATION 
There are numerous local, state, and federal preservation programs in place to encourage 
commercial and residential property owners to repair, restore, or rehabilitate historic properties. 
Incentives are important to the success of the Town’s historic preservation program. Incentives 

and funding can be a successful catalyst for revitalization. If financial incentives are in place, 
the Town can offer an offset to denial of a project when economic hardship threatens the 
preservation of a historic resource.  
In the case of the Town’s cemetery sites, non-profit organizations or mutual benefit 
associations can be formed to help with the preservation and rehabilitation of cemetery 
structures and grounds and provide much needed funding. These nonpartisan and 
nondenominational groups can serve as a neutral party in planning for the cemetery’s 

preservation and maintenance and can partner on projects with local historic societies and civic 
groups. Importantly, as a secular organization, a mutual benefit association or nonprofit would 
be eligible for state and federal funding from which a religious group might be exempt. Such an 
organization would have the ability to establish a community financial institution or cemetery 
maintenance district. It should be noted, however, that although a mutual benefit corporation 
can be non-profit or not-for-profit, it cannot obtain IRS 501(c)(3) non-profit status (exemption 
from federal income tax) as a charitable organization and is distinct in U.S. law from public-
benefit nonprofit corporations and religious corporations. Funds obtained by these organizations 
can be used for the rehabilitation, acquisition or on-going maintenance of cemetery property. 

Listed below is a summary of several preservation incentives and funding opportunities, please 
also see the Appendix for a more detailed description of the programs listed below and an 
additional list of non-profit and corporate funding organizations and websites: 

FEDERAL INCENTIVES 
Federal Tax Credits 

A 20% income tax credit program is administered jointly by the U.S. Department of the Interior 
and Department of the Treasury.  The program is available for the rehabilitation of historic, 
income-producing buildings that are determined by the Secretary of the Interior, through the 
National Park Service, to be certified historic structures.  The State Historic Preservation Offices 
and the National Park Service review the rehabilitation work to ensure that it complies with the 
Secretary’s Standards for Rehabilitation. The Internal Revenue Service defines qualified 
rehabilitation expenses on which the credit may be taken. Owner-occupied residential 
properties do not qualify for the federal rehabilitation tax credit (but may be eligible for a 10% 
tax credit). The following information pertains to the 20% federal tax credit for the 
rehabilitation of historic properties:  



 
 
 

 HR-15 

• The amount of credit available under this program equals 20% of the qualifying 
expenses of the rehabilitation. 

• The tax credit is only available to properties that will be used for a business or other 
income–producing purpose. 

• The building needs to be certified as a historic structure by the National Park Service. 
• Rehabilitation work has to meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for 

Rehabilitation, as determined by the National Park Service. 

Preservation Easements 

Property owners with buildings listed on the National Register can gain significant tax savings 
by adding a preservation easement to their historic building. This easement ensures the 
preservation of a property's significant architectural features while allowing the owner to still 
occupy and use the building. The property owner authorizes a non-profit organization sustaining 
the easement the authority to review exterior alterations to the building. The non-profit entity 
thereby assumes responsibility for protecting the historic and architectural integrity of the 
property. Easements are recorded on the property deed in perpetuity. Preservation easements 
limit future owners of a building from demolishing the building or altering it in a way that 
negatively impacts its architectural features. In this way, Preservation Easements provide for 
the permanent protection of historic buildings.   

Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) 

CDBG money can be used to provide loans or grants for qualifying rehabilitation projects, which 
may involve historic buildings.  

Preserve America 

Preserve America is a federal initiative that encourages and supports community efforts to 
preserve cultural and natural heritage.  The program includes community and volunteer 
recognition, grants, and awards, as well as policy direction to federal agencies.  Grants focus on 
economic and educational opportunities related to heritage tourism. Grant amounts range from 
$20,000 to $250,000 and must be matched one to one.  The Preserve America Grants program 
complements other federal funding, by helping local communities develop resource 
management strategies and sound business practices for the continued preservation and use of 
heritage assets. Funding is available in five activity categories: research and documentation; 
planning; interpretation and education; promotion; and training. 

STATE INCENTIVES  
The Mills Act 

The Mills Act provides for up to 50% reduction in property taxes in exchange for the 
rehabilitation, preservation, and long-term maintenance of historic buildings. Buildings qualified 



  
 
 

  
 HR-16 

to apply for the Mills Act include landmarks and all buildings listed individually or as contributors 
to a district in the National Register of Historic Places.  The Mills Act allows the Town of Colma 
to enter into contracts with private property owners of qualified historic properties to provide a 
property tax reduction in exchange for the owners agreeing to preserve, rehabilitate and 
maintain their historic properties.  Property taxes under a Mills Act agreement are individually 
calculated by the County Tax Assessor and can be reduced as much as 50%, an amount that 
the owner can use to maintain, restore, or rehabilitate a historic building or property. A Mills Act 
contract is for an initial period of ten years and is automatically renewed each year on its 
anniversary date. The benefit may be passed on to subsequent owners.  The program is 
available for both residential and income-producing properties.  Mills Act historic property 
contracts usually have provisions for rehabilitating a property with specification for complying 
with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation.  This property tax reduction is 
usually most beneficial to owners who have made recent purchases. 

California Historical Building Code (CHBC) 

A State-adopted building code, the CHBC provides an alternative for the preservation or 
rehabilitation of buildings designated as "historic." These regulations are intended to facilitate 
repair or accommodate a change of occupancy so as to preserve a historic resource's original or 
restored architectural features, and allows the Town of Colma to approve reasonable 
alternatives to the standard requirements for historic buildings. Issues addressed by the CHBC 
include: use and occupancy; means of egress; archaic materials and methods of construction; 
fire protection; alternative accessibility provisions; mechanical, plumbing, and electrical 
requirements; and alternative structural regulations.  The code allows some non-conforming 
conditions to remain without modification.  The Town of Colma may use the CHBC for qualifying 
historic resources at the request of the property owner, to meet code requirements for both 
interior and exterior rehabilitation. Town staff offers assistance to the property owner in 
applying the CHBC to their individual project. 

LOCAL INCENTIVES 
Zero or low interest revolving loans 

The Town can identify low interest loans for improvement and restoration of designated historic 
resources through cooperation from private consortiums, banks or revolving funds. 

Zoning Incentives 

Zoning incentives promote historic preservation by allowing flexibility from some zoning 
requirements if such flexibility will allow a superior project involving a historic resource.  
Examples include flexibility from rigid setback requirements, building height, or lot coverage. 

 



 
 
 

 HR-17 

 

GOALS AND POLICIES  

HR-1-1:  General Plan Consistency. Ensure that future plans, ordinances, and City programs 
are complimentary to the historic preservation goals and policies contained within the 
Town’s Historic Resources Element. 

HR-1-2: Preservation of Town Resources. Encourage sensitive preservation of all Town 
owned resources. 

 

HR-1-3: Planning and Development.  Include historic preservation principles as an equal 
component in the planning and development process. 

HR-2-1: Preservation Collaboration. Work with the Colma Historical Association as a 
partner to improve awareness of local preservation.  

 

HR-2-2: Consultation on Projects. Consult with the Colma Historical Association on 
discretionary review projects involving cultural sites and historic resources in the Town 
of Colma. 

HR-2-3: Public Outreach. Encourage the Colma Historical Association to continue providing 
resources for residents, businesses and new applicants wishing to learn more 
about particular sites or the Town’s history as a whole.  

HR-3-1: Public Awareness. Foster awareness, appreciation and celebration of the Town’s 

unique historic and cultural heritage and educate and encourage preservation of these 
resources. 

HR-3-2: Architectural Merit. Promote awards programs and other forms of public 
recognition for projects of architectural merit that contribute positively to the 
community. 



  
 
 

  
 HR-18 

HR-3-3: Staff Training. Train Town staff to provide technical assistance to property owners 
concerning the sensitive maintenance, rehabilitation and restoration of historic 
resources.  

HR-4-1: Historic Preservation Awareness. Participate in National Historic Preservation 
Week and California Archaeology Month. 

HR-4-2: Grants. Seek private foundation grants to fund historic preservation projects in the 
Town.  

HR-4-3: CDBG Funding. Explore Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds as a 
potential funding source for rehabilitation of historic resources.  

HR-4-4: Property Owner Incentives. Encourage owners of historic properties to utilize 
federal and State of California incentives such as Federal Rehabilitation Tax Credits, 
Mills Act, California State Historical Building Codes, California Cultural and Historical 
endowments, among others.  

HR-4-5: Local History and Public Art. Use local history in public arts projects. 

  



 
 
 

 HR-19 

 

IMPLEMENTATION 
Historic Implementation Programs 2021-2030 2030-2040 Annual Ongoing 
HR-IP1 : Apply the U.S. Secretary 
of the Interior’s Standards for the 
Treatment of Historic Properties to 
the rehabilitation and on-going 
maintenance of historic structures. 

      X 

Implements Policies: HR-1-2, Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. Building 

HR-IP2: Adopt a demolition 
ordinance that shall require 
discretionary review for all 
demolitions involving structures 
that are 50 years old or older. 

X       

Implements Policies: HR-1-2, Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. Building 
HR-IP3: Incorporate community 
participation in landmark hearings 
by educating the Town’s resident's 
and businesses through flyers, 
mailouts and other information 
sources. 

      X 

Implements Policies: HR-1-2, 1-3 Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. None 

HR-IP4 Modify the Zoning Code to 
establish a separate design review 
process for historic or potentially 
historic structures.  

X       

Implements Policies: HR-1-2, Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. None 
HR-IP5: Utilize the Historic 
Building Code  in the restoration, 
rehabilitation, and adaptive reuse 
of the Town of Colma’s historically 
significant structures. 

      X 

Implements Policies: HR-1-2, Responsible Dept.: Building, Supporting Dept. Planning 
HR-IP6: Provide support to 
property owners who wish to apply 
for designation of their properties 
as a California Historical 
Landmark, a California Point of 
Historical Interest, and/or 

      X 



  
 
 

  
 HR-20 

inclusion in the National Register 
of Historical Places.   

Implements Policies: HR-1-2, HR-4-2, Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. None 
HR-IP7: Create and maintain a 
historic preservation webpage on 
the Town’s website that includes 
information on the Town’s historic 
and cultural resources, resource 
listings, white papers or other 
helpful and informative resources. 

X       

Implements Policies: HR-3-1, Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. None 
HR-IP-8: Create a self -guided tour 
map and unique “historic Colma 
route” signs along the route of the 
self-guided tour to further identify 
it. 

X       

Implements Policies: HR-3-1, Responsible Dept.: Planning, Supporting Dept. None 
 

  



 
 
 

 HR-21 

APPENDIX A – DEFINITIONS 
Adaptive re-use: a use for a structure or landscape other than its historic use, normally 
entailing some modification of the structure or landscape. 

Building: an enclosed structure with walls and a roof, created to serve some residential, 
industrial, commercial, agricultural, or other human use. 

Character-defining feature: a prominent or distinctive aspect, quality, or characteristic of a 
historic property that contributes significantly to its physical character. Structures, objects, 
vegetation, spatial relationships, views, furnishings, decorative details, and materials may be 
such features. 

Cultural landscape: a geographic area, including both cultural and natural resources and the 
wildlife or domestic animals therein, associated with a historic event, activity, or person or 
exhibiting other cultural or aesthetic values. There are four general kinds of cultural landscape, 
not mutually exclusive. The four types are: 

1. Designed Landscape – Consciously designed or laid out by a landscape architect, master 
gardener, architect or horticulturist.  

2. Vernacular Landscape – A landscape that evolved through use by the people whose 
activities or occupancy shaped the landscape. 

3. Historic Site – A landscape significant for its association with a historic event, activity or 
person.  

4. Ethnographic Landscape – A landscape containing a variety of natural and cultural 
resources that the associated people define as a heritage resource. 

Cultural resource: an aspect of a cultural system that is valued by or significantly 
representative of a culture or that contains significant information about a culture. A cultural 
resource may be a tangible entity or a cultural practice. 

Culture: a system of behaviors (including economic, religious, and social), beliefs (values, 
ideologies), and social arrangements. 

Design: the combination of elements that create the form, plan, space, structure, and style of 
a historic property. 

Documentation: drawings, photographs, writings, and other media that depict cultural and 
natural resources. 

Evaluation: process by which the significance of a property is judged and eligibility for National 
Register of Historic Places (or other designation) is determined. 



  
 
 

  
 HR-22 

Feature (historic): (1) a prominent or distinctive aspect, quality, or characteristic of a historic 
property; (2) a historic property. 

Historic character: the sum of all visual aspects, features, materials, and spaces associated 
with a property's history. 

Historic district: a local or national geographically definable area, urban or rural, possessing a 
significant concentration, linkage, or continuity of sites, landscapes, structures, or objects, 
united by past events or aesthetically by plan or physical developments. A district may also be 
composed of individual elements separated geographically but linked by association or history. 
(See National Register Bulletin 15.) 

Historic property: a district, site, structure, or landscape significant in American history, 
architecture, engineering, archeology, or culture; an umbrella term for all entries in the National 
Register of Historic Places. 

Historic site: the site of a significant event, prehistoric or historic occupation or activity, or 
structure or landscape whether extant or vanished, where the site itself possesses historical, 
cultural, or archeological value apart from the value of any existing structure or landscape; see 
cultural landscape. 

Historic significance: the meaning or value ascribed to a structure, landscape, object, or site 
based on the National Register criteria for evaluation. It normally stems from a combination of 
association and integrity. 

In-kind: in the same manner or with something equal in substance having a similar or identical 
effect. 

Integrity: the authenticity of a property's historic identity, evidenced by the survival of physical 
characteristics that existed during its historic or prehistoric period; the extent to which a 
property retains its historic appearance. 

Inventory: a list of cultural resources, usually of a given type and/or in a given area. 

Material: the physical elements that were combined or deposited to form a property. Historic 
material or historic fabric is that from a historically significant period, as opposed to material 
used to maintain or restore a property following its historic period(s). 

Protection: action to safeguard a historic property by defending or guarding it from further 
deterioration, loss, or attack or shielding it from danger or injury. 

Preservation: the act or process of applying measures to sustain the existing form, integrity, 
and material of a historic structure, landscape or object. Work generally focuses upon the 
ongoing preservation maintenance and repair of historic materials and features, rather than 
extensive replacement and new work. 



 
 
 

 HR-23 

Reconstruction: the act or process of depicting, by means of new work, the form, features, 
and detailing of a non-surviving historic structure or landscape, or any part thereof, for the 
purpose of replicating its appearance at a specific time and in its historic location. 

Rehabilitation: the act or process of making a compatible use for a historic structure through 
repair, alterations, and additions while preserving those portions or features, which convey its 
historical, cultural and architectural values. 

Repair: action to correct deteriorated, damaged, or faulty materials or features of a structure 
or landscape. 

Restoration: the act or process of accurately depicting the form, features, and character of a 
historic structure, landscape, or object as it appeared at a particular period of time by means of 
the removal of features from other periods in its history and reconstruction of missing features 
from the restoration period. 

Secretary of the Interior Standards: See http://www.nps.gov/history/local-
law/arch_stnds_8_2.htm 

Setting: the physical environment of a historic property; the character of the place in which 
the property played its historical role. 

State historic preservation officer (SHPO): an official within each state appointed by the 
governor to administer the state historic preservation program and carry out certain 
responsibilities relating to federal undertakings within the state. 

Structure: a constructed work, usually immovable by nature or design, consciously created to 
serve some human activity. Examples are buildings of various kinds, monuments, dams, roads, 
railroad tracks, canals, millraces, bridges, tunnels, locomotives, nautical vessels, stockades, 
forts and associated earthworks, Indian mounds, ruins, fences, and outdoor sculpture. 

 

http://www.nps.gov/history/local-law/arch_stnds_8_2.htm
http://www.nps.gov/history/local-law/arch_stnds_8_2.htm


  
 
 

  
 HR-24 

APPENDIX B – HISTORIC RESOURCE INVENTORY 
The 1992 Historic Resource Inventory (HRI) developed as a joint project with the cooperation 
of the City of Colma, the San Mateo County Historical Association and the San Mateo County 
Historic Resources Advisory Board. The intent of the HRI was to develop a comprehensive 
citywide survey of all cultural resources to inform subsequent planning decisions. At that time 
58 resources were identified and evaluated based on significance and potential eligibility for the 
National or State Registers of Historic Places.  

However, because the HRI was performed more than twenty years ago, this list can no longer 
be considered a comprehensive list. The 1992 HRI (below) is useful as a reference, but because 
it may not include all potentially eligible resources and may not reflect the most current 
significance evaluation it should not be considered a comprehensive inventory of all significant 
historic and cultural resources in Colma.  One new resource has been added recently to the 
inventory (Champion Auto Parts on Mission Road) and one resource (Molloy’s) was reclassified 

based on a more recent evaluation. Figure H.1. shows the location of resources. 

A key for the National register status and Significance Criteria is listed below: 



 

 HR-25 



 

National Register Status: 
3S: Eligible for the National Register 
4S8:May become eligible for separate listing in the National Register when other properties, which provide more significant examples 
of the historical or architectural associations connected to this property are demolished or otherwise lost their architectural integrity. 
5S2: Not eligible for the national Register, but of local interest because it is likely to become eligible for separate listing or designation 
under a local ordinance that has not yet been written. 
7: Not Evaluated 
National Register Significance Criteria: 
A = Representative of Events of Broad Pattern of History 
B = Associated with Important Persons 
C = Architectural Significance 

(a) Significant Type, Period, or Method of Construction 
(b) Work of a Master 
(c) High artistic values 

HR-26 

Historic Resource Inventory 

Resource Name Street 
Address 

Architectural 
Style 

Construction 
Date 

Nat’l Reg 

Status/ 
Significance 

Criteria 
Local 

Designation 
1. Salem Memorial Park 
Office/Chapel 

1171 El 
Camino Real 

Art Moderne and 
Exotic Revival 1936-1940/1986 

5S2  
None 

 

An interesting example of divergent architectural forms drawing from 
Neo-Babylonian and Roman styles which work together to communicate a 
contemporary Moderne style representative of the 1930s. 

2. City Hall/Civic Building 1198 El 
Camino Real Spanish Eclectic 1937 

3S; A, C(c) 
None 

 

Designed by Resing & McGinness of San Francisco in 1936, the City Hall’s 

Spanish Eclectic style was actually influenced by the “City Father,” 

Mattrup Jensen who had been inspired by the Ross, California Town Hall 
c. 1928.  

3. Lagomarsino Farm 
Houses/ Residential  

1431 -1457 
Mission Rd. 

Neoclassical 
Rowhouses 1908-1918 

3S B, C(a) 
None 

 

These 6 residences constitute the largest and only remaining 
concentration of residential housing constructed in Colma between 1906 
and 1914.They also exist as the most intact example of the family 
farmstead from Colma’s agricultural heyday. The farm houses retain 
integrity as constructed by the New Era building Co. to a remarkable 
degree. 



 

National Register Status: 
3S: Eligible for the National Register 
4S8:May become eligible for separate listing in the National Register when other properties, which provide more significant examples 
of the historical or architectural associations connected to this property are demolished or otherwise lost their architectural integrity. 
5S2: Not eligible for the national Register, but of local interest because it is likely to become eligible for separate listing or designation 
under a local ordinance that has not yet been written. 
7: Not Evaluated 
National Register Significance Criteria: 
A = Representative of Events of Broad Pattern of History 
B = Associated with Important Persons 
C = Architectural Significance 

(a) Significant Type, Period, or Method of Construction 
(b) Work of a Master 
(c) High artistic values 

HR-27 

Resource Name Street 
Address 

Architectural 
Style 

Construction 
Date 

Nat’l Reg 

Status/ 
Significance 

Criteria 
Local 

Designation 

4. Holy Cross Cemetery  1595 Mission 
Rd. Rural Cemetery 1886 

3S 
None 

 

Holy Cross was established by the Catholic Church in 1887.The gateway 
entrance and lodge for Holy Cross Cemetery, designed in the 
Richardsonian Romanesque style, is the oldest remaining building 
ensemble of the first cemetery to be established in Colma. Additional 
monuments and structures contribute to the National Register eligible 
Holy Cross Cemetery Historic District. 

5. Molloy’s Tavern/ 

Commercial  
1655 Mission 

Rd. Vernacular 1883 
5S2 

None 

 

Originally opened as the Brooksville Hotel in 1883, what is now Molloy’s 

Tavern is the oldest commercial establishment in continuous operation in 
Colma. The building has been a hostelry, speakeasy, and pub. Due to 
significant modifications to the building over the years, it is not eligible 
for National Register designation.  

6. Woodlawn Entry/Office  1000 El 
Camino Real Romanesque 1904/1948 

3S;C(a,c) 
None  

 

Designed by SF Architect Thomas Patterson Ross, the Woodlawn Entry 
and Office combines elements of the late Gothic Revival with those of HH 
Richardson. The employment of structural concrete as a framework was 
one of the earlier uses of the new building technology. The Woodlawn 
office is considered to possess the highest artistic value of any like 
architectural features in Colma or perhaps the State.  



 

National Register Status: 
3S: Eligible for the National Register 
4S8:May become eligible for separate listing in the National Register when other properties, which provide more significant examples 
of the historical or architectural associations connected to this property are demolished or otherwise lost their architectural integrity. 
5S2: Not eligible for the national Register, but of local interest because it is likely to become eligible for separate listing or designation 
under a local ordinance that has not yet been written. 
7: Not Evaluated 
National Register Significance Criteria: 
A = Representative of Events of Broad Pattern of History 
B = Associated with Important Persons 
C = Architectural Significance 

(a) Significant Type, Period, or Method of Construction 
(b) Work of a Master 
(c) High artistic values 

HR-28 

Resource Name Street 
Address 

Architectural 
Style 

Construction 
Date 

Nat’l Reg 

Status/ 
Significance 

Criteria 
Local 

Designation 
7. Home of Peace 
Cemetery  

1299 El 
Camino Real Jewish Cemetery 1889 

5S2 

None 

 

The oldest and largest Jewish Cemetery in the West, Founded by the 
Emanu-El Congregation in 1850. The original cemetery was located at 
Vallejo and Gough Streets in San Francisco. The Funerary architecture of 
this cemetery draws its inspiration from near eastern design. 
 
  

8. Hills of Eternity 
Mausoleum  

1301 EL 
Camino Real 

Moderne; Neo 
Byzantine 1934 

5S2  

None 

 

As one of the two examples of Neo-Byzantine in Colma, the reinforced 
concrete mausoleum exhibits a marked reference to the Moderne style in 
the horizontal and vertical grooves and use of chevron moldings. The 
mausoleum was designed by the architecture firm of Samuel Hyman and 
Abraham Appleton. 

9. Cypress Lawn Cemetery  1370 El 
Camino Real 

Garden 
Cemetery/ 

Memorial Park 
1892 

3S 

None 

 

Among the last great rural cemeteries built in the 19th Century, Cypress 
lawn includes 87 family mausoleums and many impressive monuments. 
B.J.S Cahill’s Roman Renaissance Community Mausoleum represents the 

largest collection of art glass in America. This cemetery particularly, 
provides a visual chronicle of the American Cemetery Movement to the 
present. Additional monuments and structures contribute to the National 
Register eligible Cypress Lawn Cemetery Historic District. 



 

National Register Status: 
3S: Eligible for the National Register 
4S8:May become eligible for separate listing in the National Register when other properties, which provide more significant examples 
of the historical or architectural associations connected to this property are demolished or otherwise lost their architectural integrity. 
5S2: Not eligible for the national Register, but of local interest because it is likely to become eligible for separate listing or designation 
under a local ordinance that has not yet been written. 
7: Not Evaluated 
National Register Significance Criteria: 
A = Representative of Events of Broad Pattern of History 
B = Associated with Important Persons 
C = Architectural Significance 

(a) Significant Type, Period, or Method of Construction 
(b) Work of a Master 
(c) High artistic values 

HR-29 

Resource Name Street 
Address 

Architectural 
Style 

Construction 
Date 

Nat’l Reg 

Status/ 
Significance 

Criteria 
Local 

Designation 

10. Italian Cemetery  540 F St. Traditional Italian 
Cemetery 1899 

3S 

None 

 

Established by the Italian Mutual Benefit Society in 1899, the Italian 
Cemetery reflects many architectural and funerary features endemic to 
Italy. Many of the architectural features are a product of ethnic Italian 
architects from San Francisco. 

11. Olivet Cemetery Office  1500 Hillside 
Blvd. Mission Revival 1896-1904 

3S; A, C(c) 
None 

 

The office best represents the contributions of the Abbey Land and 
Improvement Company to the City of Colma.  The Mission Revival office 
was designed by the Corporation’s Vice President, SF Architect William H 

Crim.  The building has received a number of alterations and additions 
over time, however it retains its original character.  

12. Olivet Memorial 
Park/Cemetery  

1601 Hillside 
Blvd. 

Picturesque 
Cemetery 1896 

4S8 
None 

 

Olivet Memorial Park is significant as a model modern cemetery thanks to 
efforts made by its long-time superintendent, Mattrup Jensen.  In years 
under his leadership Olivet received new concrete crypts and liners; 
modern crematories; and new standard columbarium and incendiary with 
“Jensen” front doors.  A notable feature of the cemetery is the 
segregation of cemetery sections based on vocation or interests.  



 

National Register Status: 
3S: Eligible for the National Register 
4S8:May become eligible for separate listing in the National Register when other properties, which provide more significant examples 
of the historical or architectural associations connected to this property are demolished or otherwise lost their architectural integrity. 
5S2: Not eligible for the national Register, but of local interest because it is likely to become eligible for separate listing or designation 
under a local ordinance that has not yet been written. 
7: Not Evaluated 
National Register Significance Criteria: 
A = Representative of Events of Broad Pattern of History 
B = Associated with Important Persons 
C = Architectural Significance 

(a) Significant Type, Period, or Method of Construction 
(b) Work of a Master 
(c) High artistic values 

HR-30 

Resource Name Street 
Address 

Architectural 
Style 

Construction 
Date 

Nat’l Reg 

Status/ 
Significance 

Criteria 
Local 

Designation 

13. Pet's Rest Office  1905 Hillside 
Blvd. Vernacular  1908 

5S2 

None 

 

One of the few remaining examples of post-1906 earthquake residential 
buildings remaining in Colma.  In 1907 the Colma area became a center 
for resettlement for San Franciscans affected by the earthquake.  This 
building is representative of that era of buildings in its narrow pent roof, 
recessed entry with double angled bays.  In 1947 the house was 
purchased to establish the Pet’s Rest Cemetery.  

14. Old Colma Railroad 
Station  

1506 Hillside 
Blvd. 

Vernacular RR 
Depot 1860’s 

3S, A,C(c)  
None 

 

Estimated to be built in the early 1860’s by the San Francisco and San 
Jose Railroad, the Old Colma Railroad Station is considered a relic of 
Colma’s gardening era.  For a time, this railroad stop served as the most 
important stopping place between the city of San Mateo and the City of 
San Francisco.  

15. Filipini Residence 7701 Mission 
Street Spanish Eclectic 1934 

5S2 
None 

 

The single-family residence exists as the best remaining example of the 
Spanish Eclectic style in Colma, so popular before WII.  The residence 
was constructed in 1934 by Joseph Ragni, a Daly City Contractor who 
was also responsible for the remodeling of the Bocci and Sons business 
office at the same time. 



 

National Register Status: 
3S: Eligible for the National Register 
4S8:May become eligible for separate listing in the National Register when other properties, which provide more significant examples 
of the historical or architectural associations connected to this property are demolished or otherwise lost their architectural integrity. 
5S2: Not eligible for the national Register, but of local interest because it is likely to become eligible for separate listing or designation 
under a local ordinance that has not yet been written. 
7: Not Evaluated 
National Register Significance Criteria: 
A = Representative of Events of Broad Pattern of History 
B = Associated with Important Persons 
C = Architectural Significance 

(a) Significant Type, Period, or Method of Construction 
(b) Work of a Master 
(c) High artistic values 

HR-31 

Resource Name Street 
Address 

Architectural 
Style 

Construction 
Date 

Nat’l Reg 

Status/ 
Significance 

Criteria 
Local 

Designation 

16. E Street Residences  464 -471 E 
Street Row house c.1924 –  

c.19351 
5S2 

None 

 

Spanish Eclectic and Arte Moderne in style, these row houses were 
moved from Alemany Boulevard in San Francisco prior to, or during the 
construction of Hwy 280. Typically 1 and 2 story residences dating from 
the 1920s to 1950s. Based on the gradual relocation of San Francisco 
Row houses to Colma they present an erroneous sense that they were 
part of the original growth of the City.  They do play in important role in 
explaining the evolution of Colma. (Also see listing below for F Street 
Residences). 

17. Ottoboni Residence  417 F Street Craftsman 1904 
3S; A, B 

None 

 

In 1902 the Ottoboni Family, recently emigrated from Italy, established 
the first nursery in the area near El Camino Real and F Street, and by 
doing so initiated what would become a booming flower industry in the 
area. The Ottoboni home served as the original office for the Pioneer 
nursery. 

18. Pelton "Cheap" 
Building  437 F Street Vernacular 18832 

5S2 
None 

 

A relatively intact example of the “Cheap Dwellings” designed by San 

Francisco architect, John Pelton in the early 1880s. This house like many 
of those on E street was moved from Alemany Boulevard in SF.  It is one 
of the few remaining examples of this style to survive.  

 
1 *467,469 and 471 E St. were moved From Alemany Boulevard in San Francisco in the 1960s 
2 437 F St was moved from Alemany Boulevard in 1964 



 

National Register Status: 
3S: Eligible for the National Register 
4S8:May become eligible for separate listing in the National Register when other properties, which provide more significant examples 
of the historical or architectural associations connected to this property are demolished or otherwise lost their architectural integrity. 
5S2: Not eligible for the national Register, but of local interest because it is likely to become eligible for separate listing or designation 
under a local ordinance that has not yet been written. 
7: Not Evaluated 
National Register Significance Criteria: 
A = Representative of Events of Broad Pattern of History 
B = Associated with Important Persons 
C = Architectural Significance 

(a) Significant Type, Period, or Method of Construction 
(b) Work of a Master 
(c) High artistic values 

HR-32 

Resource Name Street 
Address 

Architectural 
Style 

Construction 
Date 

Nat’l Reg 

Status/ 
Significance 

Criteria 
Local 

Designation 

19. F Street Residences  
609, 611, 613, 
621, and 615 

F Street 
Row House c.1924 – c.1935 

Unknown 

None 

 

Spanish Eclectic and Arte Moderne in style, these row houses were 
moved from Alemany Boulevard in San Francisco prior to/ during the 
construction of Hwy 280.Typically 1 and 2 story residences dating from 
the 1920s to 1950s. Based on the gradual relocation of San Francisco 
Row houses to Colma they present an erroneous sense that they were 
part of the original growth of the City.  They do play in important role in 
explaining the evolution of Colma. Note: None of the Houses on F Street 
are included in the historic inventory, so register status is not known.  
Likely 5S2, similar to the E Street houses. 

20. Japanese Cemetery  1300 Hillside 
Blvd. Cemetery 1902 

7 
None 

 

A small cemetery, unique for its absence of trees and lawn crowded with 
monuments. It is the final resting place for hundreds of Japanese who 
were relocated from San Francisco’s Laurel Hill Cemetery in 1940. A 

number of notable Japanese are buried here including the tomb of 
Makoto Hagiwara and family who built the Japanese Tea Garden in 
Golden Gate Park.  

 



 

National Register Status: 
3S: Eligible for the National Register 
4S8:May become eligible for separate listing in the National Register when other properties, which provide more significant examples 
of the historical or architectural associations connected to this property are demolished or otherwise lost their architectural integrity. 
5S2: Not eligible for the national Register, but of local interest because it is likely to become eligible for separate listing or designation 
under a local ordinance that has not yet been written. 
7: Not Evaluated 
National Register Significance Criteria: 
A = Representative of Events of Broad Pattern of History 
B = Associated with Important Persons 
C = Architectural Significance 

(a) Significant Type, Period, or Method of Construction 
(b) Work of a Master 
(c) High artistic values 

HR-33 

Resource Name Street 
Address 

Architectural 
Style 

Construction 
Date 

Nat’l Reg 

Status/ 
Significance 

Criteria 
Local 

Designation 
21. Mattrup Jensen 
Residence  629 F Street Vernacular w/ 

Neoclassical  1903/1941 
3S; A, B 

None 

 

The home of Mattrup Jensen from 1903-1945. The home was designed 
and built by Mattrup Jensen who was considered the “Father of Modern 

Colma”. Later he remodeled the house based on ante bellum residences 

he had seen while traveling in the American South. The residence is 
representative of Mattrup’s many contributions to the Town of Colma. 

22. Bocci Monuments/ 
Commercial  

7778 Mission 
St. Vernacular 1904/1934 

3S; A, B 
None 

 

Bocci & Sons served as one of the first monument shops established in 
Colma. First constructed in 1904, the building was remodeled in 1934 
when local contractor Joseph Ragni built the new office façade. Leopoldo 
Bocce’s descendants continue to operate the business and it is now 
among the oldest cemetery related business in continuous operation in 
Colma. 

23. Champion Auto 
Parts/Commercial  

1685-1687 
Mission Rd. Concrete 1958, 1967 

3S 
None 

 

The former Champion Auto Parts is comprised of two commercial 
buildings constructed in the late 1950s and early 1960s.  The earlier 
building is a concrete warehouse-style building with a built-up bow-truss 
roof, parapet walls, glazed aluminum-frame windows, and simple metal 
doors, and a single metal roll-up warehouse door.  The later building is a 
small concrete structure with a metal canopy. The site is important 
because of its association with the development of the drag racing 
culture in Colma in the 1950s and 60s, and with local drag racing pioneer 
Jim McLennon, a local racing track owner and promoter. 

 



SCH# 2020069005 

DRAFT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT 

TOWN OF COLMA 

2040 General Plan Update 

DECEMBER 2021 

 

City of Souls 

SCH No. 2020069005 

Draft Environmental Impact Report  

Attachment B



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

{THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALY BLANK] 

  



 

 

Notice of Availability of a Draft Environmental Impact Report 

 for the  

Colma 2040 General Plan Update 

SCH No. 2020-069005 

SUMMARY: 

Notice is hereby given by the Town of Colma, as the Lead Agency pursuant to the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA), that the above-named draft Program Environmental Impact Report (DPEIR) is 

available for public review and comment.  

Comments on the DPEIR will be received for a 50-day period, commencing on December 6, 2021 and 

ending at 5:00pm on January 25, 2021, after which a Final PEIR will be prepared containing comments and 

responses to comments that, together with the DPEIR, will form the Final PEIR. The Final PEIR will be used 

by the Town of Colma City Council in its consideration of approval of the proposed 2040 General Plan 

Update, described below. 

PROJECT LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION: 

The proposed 2040 General Plan Update applies to the entire Town of Colma. The Town is bounded by San 

Bruno Mountain, Lawndale Blvd, Interstate-280, and F Street.  

Under State of California law (Government Code §65300 et seq.), every city and county in the State is 

required to adopt a general plan that functions as the comprehensive and all-encompassing policy 

document for future growth and development. The purpose of a jurisdiction’s general plan is to function 

as a “constitution” for land use planning and to provide a basis for sound decisions regarding long-term 

physical development, for development in the incorporated area, as well in any land outside city 

boundaries. It also provides the connection between community values, objectives, and decisions on the 

Town of Colma’s future housing, growth, and development. 

California Government Code §65302 requires that a general plan include the following seven elements: 

Land Use, Circulation, Housing, Conservation, Open Space, Noise, and Safety. Additional elements may 

be included as well, at the discretion of a jurisdiction. All elements have equal weight, and no one 

element supersedes another. Cities and towns may amend the general plan four times a year (each 

amendment may include any number of changes), and cities are encouraged to keep the plan 

current through regular updates. The current Town of Colma General Plan has not been comprehensively 

updated since it was first adopted on June 16, 1999, by Resolution 99-22. The 2040 Town of Colma General 

Plan Update updates the Town’s 1999 General Plan Elements: Land Use; Mobility (Circulation); 

Community Health, Safety and Services (Noise and Safety); and Open Space and Conservation. The 

Housing Element is not currently being updated. Colma is not required to include an environmental justice 

element because it does not contain any Communities of Concern, as defined by the State of California. 

  



 

 

ANTICIPATED SIGNIFICANT ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS: 

The DEIR’s analysis of project impacts identified potentially significant impacts on the following: 

- Air Quality (Potential impacts range from less than significant to significant) 

- Cultural and Tribal Resources (Potential impacts are potentially significant) 

- Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Potential impacts range from less than significant to significant) 

PUBLIC REVIEW PROCESS: 

One purpose of the California Environmental Quality Act is to inform the public of the potential 

environmental impacts of a project such as the 2040 General Plan Update. The purpose of this notice is to 

consult with and request comment on the DEIR from interested parties and responsible agencies.  

The DEIR is available for review between 9:00am and 4:00pm Monday through Friday at Colma Town Hall, 

1198 El Camino Real, California 94014 

The DEIR is also available for review or download at the Town of Colma website, www.colma.ca.gov. 

Comments on the DEIR may be submitted to: 

Town of Colma  

Planning Department 

ATTN: 2040 General Plan Update DEIR 

1198 El Camino Real 

Colma, CA 94014 

 

Please include a return address and contact name with your written comments. Comments can also be sent 

via email with subject line “2040 General Plan Update DEIR” to planning@colma.ca.gov. 

 

  

http://www.colma.ca.gov/
mailto:planning@colma.ca.gov


 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

{THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALY BLANK] 

 

  



 

 
 

Town of Colma  

GE N E R A L  PLAN  

DRAFT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT 

SCH# 202006905 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 

 

Town of Colma 

1198 EL CAMINO REAL, 

COLMA, CA 94014 

 

Prepared by: 

 

 

550 PILGRIM DRIVE 

FOSTER CITY, CA 94404 

 

DECEMBER 2021 

 

  



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc  Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Draft Environmental Impact Report 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 Purpose and Scope of the Environmental Impact Report  ........................................................................ 1.0-1 

1.2 Project Characteristics .................................................................................................................................... 1.0-1 

1.3 Project Alternatives Summary ...................................................................................................................... 1.0-5 

1.4 Summary of Environmental Impacts ........................................................................................................... 1.0-6 

 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 

2.1 Purpose of the EIR  ......................................................................................................................................... 2.0-1 

2.2 Type of Document .......................................................................................................................................... 2.0-2 

2.3 Intended Uses of the EIR ............................................................................................................................... 2.0-3 

2.4 Environmental Review Process .................................................................................................................... 2.0-3 

2.5 Comments Received on the Notice of Preparation .................................................................................... 2.0-5 

2.6 Organization of the EIR ................................................................................................................................. 2.0-6 

2.7 Scope of the EIR .............................................................................................................................................. 2.0-7 

2.8 Known Responsible and Trustee Agencies ................................................................................................. 2.0-8 

2.9 Impact Terminology ....................................................................................................................................... 2.0-9 

 

3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

3.1 Regional Project Location and Setting ......................................................................................................... 3.0-2 

3.2 Project Background, Purpose and Objectives ............................................................................................  3.0-6 

3.3 General Pan Framework ................................................................................................................................ 3.0-8 

3.4 Intended Uses of the EIR and Approval Process ...................................................................................... 3.0-13 

 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS 

4.1 Aesthetics ......................................................................................................................................................... 4.1-1 

4.2 Air Quality ....................................................................................................................................................... 4.2-1 

4.3 Biological Resources ....................................................................................................................................... 4.3-1 

4.4 Tribal and Tribal Resources ...........................................................................................................................4.4-1  

4.5 Energy .............................................................................................................................................................. 4.5-1 

4.6 Geology and Soils ........................................................................................................................................... 4.6-1 

4.7 Greenhouse Gas Emissions ........................................................................................................................... 4.7-1 

4.8 Hazards and Hazardous Materials .............................................................................................................. 4.8-1 

4.9 Hydrology ........................................................................................................................................................ 4.9-1 

4.10 Land Use and Planning .............................................................................................................................. 4.10-1 

4.11 Noise ............................................................................................................................................................. 4.11-1 

4.12 Population and Housing ............................................................................................................................ 4.12-1 

4.13 Public Services and Recreation ................................................................................................................. 4.13-1 

4.14 Transportation ............................................................................................................................................. 4.14-1 

4.15 Utilities ......................................................................................................................................................... 4.15-1 

4.16 Wildfires ....................................................................................................................................................... 4.16-1 

 

5.0 CUMULATIVE IMPACTS SUMMARY 

5.1 Growth Inducing Impacts ............................................................................................................................. 5.0-1 

5.2 Agricultural Resources ................................................................................................................................... 5.0-3 

5.3 Mineral Resources .......................................................................................................................................... 5.0-4 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc  Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Draft Environmental Impact Report 

5.4 Cumulative Impacts Analysis ....................................................................................................................... 5.0-5 

 

6.0 PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 

6.1 CEQA Requirements ...................................................................................................................................... 6.0-1 

6.2 Alternatives Under Consideration ............................................................................................................... 6.0-1 

6.3 Comparative Analysis .................................................................................................................................... 6.0-5 

6.4 Environmentally Superior Alternative ...................................................................................................... 6.0-12 

 

7.0 REPORT PREPARERS 

7.1 Town of Colma ................................................................................................................................................ 7.0-1 

7.2 Environmental Consulting Team ................................................................................................................. 7.0-1 

  

APPENDICES 
Appendix A – Notice of Preparation and Response Letters 

Appendix B – Notices to Tribes 

 

FIGURES 
Figure 3.0-1 Regional Location ........................................................................................................................... 3.0-3 

Figure 3.0-2 Project Location ............................................................................................................................... 3.0-5 

Figure 4.1-1: Regional Location Map  ................................................................................................................ 4.1-2 

Figure 4.3-1: Creeks .............................................................................................................................................. 4.3-7 

Figure 4.4-1: Soils of the Project Area and Vicinity .......................................................................................... 4.4-4 

Figure 4.4-2: Portion of USGS 1892 Topographic quadrangle showing drainages and perennial streams ...... 

 ................................................................................................................................................................................. 4.4-5 

Figure 4.4-3: Geologic units of the Project Area and vicinity from Jennings et al. (2010) ........................... 4.4-6 

Figure 4.4-4: Portion of Greene et al. (2014) geomorphology map showing Holocene units (Qa, Qya) 

within the Project Area. ....................................................................................................................................... 4.4-7 

Figure 4.4-5: Previously conducted studies within 0.25 mi. of the Project Area ........................................ 4.4-10 

Figure 4.4-6: Previously recorded cultural resource density within the Project Area ............................... 4.4-14 

Figure 4.6-1: Geology ........................................................................................................................................... 4.6-2 

Figure 4.6-2: Fault Lines and Seismic Hazards ................................................................................................. 4.6-4 

Figure 4.6-3: Liquefaction Susceptibility ........................................................................................................... 4.6-6 

Figure 4.6-4: Landslide Potential ........................................................................................................................ 4.6-8 

Figure 4.8-1: Hazardous Sites .............................................................................................................................. 4.8-3 

Figure 4.8-2: Airport Influence Area B ............................................................................................................... 4.8-6 

Figure 4.8-3: Critical Aeronautical Surfaces ...................................................................................................... 4.8-7 

Figure 4.9-1: Flood Hazards ................................................................................................................................ 4.9-3 

Figure 4.9-2: Precipitation and Mean Temperature ......................................................................................... 4.9-4 

Figure 4.10-1: Existing Land Use  ..................................................................................................................... 4.10-3 

Figure 4.10-2: Proposed Land Use .................................................................................................................... 4.10-5 

Figure 4.10-3: Land Use Strategy .................................................................................................................... 4.10-10 

Figure 4.11-1: Noise-Land Use Compatibility Table ...................................................................................... 4.11-4 

Figure 4.11-2: Noise Measurement Locations (Ldn) ........................................................................................ 4.11-7 

Figure 4.11-3: Present Day Noise Contours .................................................................................................... 4.11-8 

Figure 4.11-4: Future Day Noise Projections Plus Project ............................................................................. 4.11-9 

Figure 4.13-1: Local Fire and Police Facilities ................................................................................................. 4.13-2 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc  Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Draft Environmental Impact Report 

Figure 4.13-2: Parks and Recreation Facilities ...................................................................................... 4.13-13 

Figure 4.14-1: Roadway Classifications ........................................................................................................... 4.14-2 

Figure 4.14-2: Sidewalk Network ..................................................................................................................... 4.14-9 

Figure 4.14-3: Multimodal Circulation ........................................................................................................... 4.14-11 

Figure 4.15-1: Sewer System .............................................................................................................................. 4.15-3 

Figure 6.0-1: Proposed Land Use ............................................................................................................. 6.0-3 

Figure 6.0-2: No Project Alternative ................................................................................................................... 6.0-4 

 

TABLES 
Table 1.0.1: Summary of Environmental Impacts ............................................................................................ 1.0-5 

Table 3.0.1: Existing Land Use Distribution  ..................................................................................................... 3.0-4 

Table 3.0.2: Land Use Classifications and Density Standards ...................................................................... 3.0-11 

Table 3.0.3: 2040 General Plan Buildout .......................................................................................................... 3.0-12 

Table 3.0.4 Comparison of Alternatives at Buildout ...................................................................................... 3.0-13 

Table 4.0.1: Proposed and Approved Large-Scale Development Projects in Town of Colma ................... 4.0-1 

Table 4.2-1: Attainment Status of Criteria Pollutants in the San Francisco Bay Area Air Basin  ............... 4.2-4 

Table 4.2.2: Ambient Air Quality Monitoring Summary ......................................................................... 4.2-5 

Table 4.2.3: CARB Recommendations for Siting New Sensitive Land Uses ............................................ 4.2-6 

Table 4.2.4: Existing Town of Colma Regional Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory ...................... 4.2-7 

Table 4.2.5: Criteria Air Pollutant Health Effects Summary ......................................................................... 4.2-11 

Table 4.2.6: Ambient Air Quality Standards for Criteria Pollutants ............................................................ 4.2-12 

Table 4.2.7: BAAQMD Regional (Mass Emissions) Criteria Air Pollutant Significance Thresholds ...... 4.2-21 

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan ............................................... 4.2-27 

Table 4.2.9: Comparison of the Change in Population and VMT in the Town of Colma ......................... 4.2-34 

Table 4.2.10: Town of Colma Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions Forecast .................................................... 4.2-38 

Table 4.2.11: BAAQMD Odor Screening Distances ........................................................................................ 4.2-45 

Table 4.3.1: Plant and Wildlife Species Potentially in the Planning Area ..................................................... 4.3-2 

Table 4.4.1: Previous Cultural Resource Inventory Projects Conducted within 0.25 Mi. of the Planning 

Area ...................................................................................................................................................................... 4.4-11 

Table 4.6.1: Modified Mercalli Intensities and Effects ..................................................................................... 4.6-3 

Table 4.7.1: GHG Emissions and Their Relative Global Warming Potential Compared to CO2 ............... 4.7-3 

Table 4.7.2: Summary of GHG Emissions Risk to California .......................................................................... 4.7-6 

Table 4.7.3: Existing Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory ........................................................................... 4.7-7 

Table 4.7.4: List of State GHG Regulations...................................................................................................... 4.7-10 

Table 4.7.5, Horizon Year 2040 GHG Emissions Forecast ............................................................................. 4.7-17 

Table 4.7.6: Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis ............................................ 4.7-24 

Table 4.8.1: Hazardous Sites ................................................................................................................................ 4.8-4 

Table 4.10.1: Existing Land Use ........................................................................................................................ 4.10-2 

Table 4.10.2: Proposed Land Use ...................................................................................................................... 4.10-4 

Table 4.11-1: Commonly Used Noise Descriptors .......................................................................................... 4.11-2 

Table 4.11-2: Noise Measurement Descriptions ..................................................................................... 4.11-6 

Table 4.11-3: Typical Construction Noise Levels at Construction Sites .................................................... 4.11-16 

Table 4.11-4: General Assessment Guidelines for Construction Noise Impacts ...................................... 4.11-17 

Table 4.11-5 Noise Level Increases over Study Area Roadways ................................................................ 4.11-18 

Table 4.11-6: Construction Vibration – Building Damage Criteria ............................................................ 4.11-19 

Table 4.11-7: Construction Vibration – Human Perception (Annoyance Criteria) .................................. 4.11-20 

Table 4.12-1: San Mateo County Population Estimates  ................................................................................ 4.12-2 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc  Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Draft Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.12-2: Town of Colma Population and Household Growth Projections ......................................... 4.12-3 

Table 4.12-3: Town of Colma Estimated Household Income ................................................................. 4.12-3 

Table 4.12-4: San Mateo County Projected Employment by Sector ....................................................... 4.12-5 

Table 4.13.1: Parks and Recreation Facilities ........................................................................................ 4.13-12 

Table 4.14.1 – CMP Analysis Results for SR 82 (El Camino Real) .............................................................. 4.14-18 

Table 4.14.2: Existing and Future VMT per Resident and Employee ........................................................ 4.14-23 

Table 6.0-1: Comparison of Alternatives at Buildout ............................................................................... 6.0-2 

Table 6.0-2: Comparison of Proposed Project Impacts to Alternative Impacts ...................................... 6.0-12 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

 
 



 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

This section provides an overview of the environmental analysis for the town of Colma 2040 General Plan 

Update (proposed project). For additional detail regarding specific issues, please consult the appropriate 

chapter of Sections 4.1 through 4.16.  The proposed project was developed in response to policy direction 

provided by the town Council (City Council). The town of Colma is the lead agency for this Program 

Environmental Impact Report (PEIR; EIR), under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and 

as such, is required to evaluate the potential impacts of the proposed project. 

 

1.1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT 
 

This PEIR is a program level document that examines the potential impacts resulting from implementing 

the proposed land use changes and goals and policies under the 2040 GPU. The impact assessment 

therefore identifies the broader impacts of implementing the 2040 GPU. As a programmatic document, 

this EIR does not assess any site-specific impacts; therefore any future development that could result from 

implementing the proposed Project, will be subject to individual, site-specific environmental review, as 

required by State law. 

The 2040 GPU EIR will provide, to the greatest extent possible, an analysis of the potential environmental 

effects associated with the implementation of the project, pursuant to CEQA. The analysis in this PEIR  

therefore  focuses upon potential environmental impacts that could arise from implementation of the 

project through development of the land uses within the General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area) as 

regulated and guided by General Plan policies and action items, through updates to the Zoning 

Ordinance. As appropriate to an environmental issue area, mitigation measures have been identified in 

order to minimize significant impacts. Project alternatives, including the No Project alternative, have also 

been identified. The EIR adopts this approach in order to provide a credible worst-case scenario of the 

impacts resulting from project implementation. 

 

1.2 PROJECT CHARACTERISTICS 

General Plan Update 
 

The Town of Colma General Plan was adopted in 1999, with the exception of the Housing Element which 

had been last updated in 2015. Since 1999, the town of Colma has experienced physical, demographic, 

and economic changes, resulting in new opportunities and challenges for the town. The existing General 

Plan is being updated in order to reflect current community sentiment and changes in land use, growth 

patterns, and demographic and economic conditions. State law does not specify rigid requirements or 

timing for updating a general plan (other than for the housing element). The currently proposed General 

Plan update project includes updates to the existing General Plan and an update to the town’s Zoning 

Code. 

 

The proposed General Plan Update includes five elements: Land use, Mobility (includes Circulation), 

Community Health, Safety and Services (includes Safety and Noise), Open Space and Conservation, and 

Historical Resources. The existing Housing element will remain in force through 2023, so it will not be 

updated as a part of this General Plan Update. The town of Colma does not contain any disadvantaged 

communities, as designated by the State of California, so an Environmental Justice Element is not 

required. In addition to the required elements, the General Plan Update includes a Historical Resources 

Element. The GPU Planning Area boundary includes the area within the town limits; the town’s Sphere 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

of Influence (SOI) has the same boundaries as the town itself. The GPU Planning Area encompasses a 

total of 1.89 square miles. It is anticipated that the proposed General Plan Update will build out to full 

development capacity by 2040. The proposed GPU has capacity for 845 residential units and a total 

population of 2,852 within the Planning Area by 2040. 

 

The proposed General Plan Update consists of the following Elements. 

 

Land Use 
 

The Land Use Element provides the central framework for the General Plan Update and serves as a 

compass to guide planners, the general public, and decision makers on the desired pattern of 

development in the town.  The land use element describes both existing and future land use activity, 

the latter of which is designed to achieve the town’s long-range goals for physical development. The land 

use element provides land use designations for all of the land within the GPU Planning Area based on 

the existing and expected type of development. The land use designations also specify maximum density 

and intensity of development that can occur. The Land Use Element also describes several planning areas 

within the town of Colma that overlay on the standard land use zones. 

 

Land Use Map 
 

The proposed General Plan includes the updated Land Use Map which is a detailed land use plan for the 

town of Colma, and assigns land use designations to all lands within the Planning Area. Land use 

designations proposed under the updated General Plan Land Use Map include: 

• Cemetery 

• Low Density Residential 

• Medium Density Residential 

• Commercial 

• Executive Administrative 

• Public and Quasi-Public 

• Commercial Overlay 

 

The General Plan also designates the following Planning Areas in the town of Colma: 

• Commercial Core 

• El Camino Real Corridor 

• Hillside Boulevard 

• Mission Road 

• Sterling Park 

 

Mobility 
 

This Element provides goals, policies, and actions to develop a safe, efficient, and environmentally 

responsible multimodal transportation in the Town of Colma. This section includes a map of the existing 

street network, and a series of policies and goals. It contains an evaluation of roadway performance, a 

description of public transportation access, A description of active transportation infrastructure, and a 

description of the town’s scenic corridors. Finally, the Mobility Element includes an implementation 

timeline for each goal. 

 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Housing  
 

The Housing Element section has not changed from the adopted 2015 Housing Element. It includes an 

analysis of demographic and housing trends in the Town of Colma, the town’s housing need, and the 

town’s plan for allowing for sufficient housing construction to meet that need through 2023. 

 

Community Health, Safety and Services 

 
The Community Health, Safety, and Services Element includes information on the town’s fire, safety, 

flooding, and seismic hazards. It also includes information about police and fire services, aircraft 

overflight, and hazardous materials and waste. It combines information and strategies from the town’s 

Hazard Mitigation Plan with additional goals and policies specific to the Safety Element. The 

Community Health, Safety and Services Element connects information about hazards to available public 

services and strategies to mitigate those hazards. It addresses the following safety planning and 

response topics: 

 

• Community Health 

• Geologic and Seismic Hazards 

• Flooding and Sea Level Rise 

• Wildland and Urban Fires 

• Law Enforcement 

• Fire Protection and Emergency Medical Services 

• Emergency Preparedness and Disaster Response 

• Noise 

 

Open Space and Conservation  
 

The Open Space and Conservation Element meets State of California requirements for a Conservation 

Element and for an Open Space Element. This element catalogues open space in the Town of Colma, 

including land actively used by cemeteries and slated for cemetery expansion. It identifies areas in the 

Town that are important to the preservation of land, plants, and animals. This section identifies six goals 

and associated policies. 

 

Historical Resources  
 

The Historical Resources Element outlines a plan for the identification, protection, and management of 

the town’s sites and structures exhibiting architectural, historical, archaeological, and cultural 

significance. The Historical Resources Element summarizes the history of development in Colma, 

enumerates the benefits of historical preservation, and describes state and federal incentives available to 

support historic preservation. This element identifies four goals and associated policies.



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

1.3 PROJECT ALTERNATIVES SUMMARY 

State CEQA Guidelines Section 15126.6 requires that an EIR describe a range of reasonable alternatives to the 

project, which could feasibly attain the basic objectives of the project and avoid and/or lessen the 

environmental effects of the project. The CEQA Guidelines Section   15126.6(e) also requires that a “no 

project” alternative be evaluated in an EIR. The alternatives analysis provides a comparative analysis 

between the project and the selected alternatives. In conjunction with the proposed project, the EIR 

qualitatively evaluates the following other land use alternatives, which include: 

 

• Alternative 1 – No Project Alternative 
 

CEQA, through case law, requires that the “no project” alternatives be evaluated so as to allow the Lead 

Agency to compare the potential impacts of approving the project versus not approving it. Under State CEQA 

Guidelines §15126.6(e)(2), “the No Project Alternative shall discuss the existing conditions at the time the 

notice of preparation is published…as well as what would be reasonably expected to occur in the foreseeable 

future if the project were not approved, based on current plans and consistent with available infrastructure 

and community services.” 

 

The No Project analysis discusses both the existing conditions at the time the NOP is published as well as what 

would be reasonably expected to occur in the foreseeable future if the project were not approved. Therefore 

under Alternative 1, the town would continue to implement the current (1999) General Plan, with no Climate 

Action Plan (CAP) in effect and with no changes made to update any of the  Land Use, Open Space, 

Conservation, Noise, Circulation and Historical Resources Elements or the Land Use Map. It assumes that the 

existing General Plan would continue to guide development in the Planning Area, without directly resulting 

in new development. In the case of this alternative, the proposed 2040 General Plan Update would not be 

approved and the existing 1999 Town of Colma General Plan, would continue as the primary guiding 

document for growth and development within the town.  

Buildout of the existing 1999 General Plan or No Project Alternative would result in approximately 680 

housing units, a population of 2,310, and a total of 4,315 jobs within the Planning Area, expected to occur by 

year 2040  

• Alternative 2 – Residential Focused Alternative 

This alternative provides an increased number of residential units and maintains/decreases future 

commercial land use development that already exist within the town. This alternative assumes that the 

Town Center opportunity site would be developed to include 20% more residential units than the proposed 

General Plan, resulting in 48 additional units. It also assumes that by constructing more residential uses at 

the site, the available space for commercial uses would be further limited at the site. This alternative also 

assumes that more residential development could occur elsewhere on El Camino Real, closer to the Colma 

BART station, and that less residential development may occur at the Town Center site. The Residential 

Focused Alternative seeks to provide new community amenities, improved local and regional connectivity, 

as well as enhanced economic activity. Given the large number of jobs in comparison to the town’s 

population, this alternative could potentially lower the total vehicle miles traveled by providing housing to 

those that work in the area. This Alternative is based on assumptions of buildout of opportunity sites and 

sites designated with a commercial overlay within the Planning Area, and assumes a land use density to 

promote more residential units in the potential mixed-use environment around the town center. 

 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

1.4 SUMMARY OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

While Sections 4.1 – 4.16 summarize the GPU’s impacts to each environmental area listed below, Section 5.0 

of the EIR, called CEQA required topics, summarizes cumulative impacts in the following areas:  

• Aesthetics 

• Air Quality 

• Biological Resources 

• Cultural and Tribal Resources 

• Energy 

• Geology 

• Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

• Hazards 

• Hydrology 

• Land Use 

• Noise 

• Population and Housing 

• Public Services and Recreation 

• Transportation 

• Utilities 

• Wildfires

 

The GPU’s environmental impacts are also included in Table 6.0-2: Comparison of Proposed Project Impacts 

Relative to Alternative Impacts. In most categories, the General Plan Update impacts are categorized as Less 

than Significant. The three impact areas where the environmental impacts are potentially significant are air 

quality, greenhouse gas emissions, and cultural and tribal resources. These are presented below in Table 

1.0.1: Summary of Environmental Impacts 

Table 1.0.1: Summary of Environmental Impacts 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

Impact 4.1.1: Implementation of the proposed 

2040 General Plan Update would not have a 

substantial adverse effect on scenic resources 

within a state scenic highway. (Less than 

Significant) 

 Policy OSC-3-1 Transit Oriented 

Development; Policy M-6-1 Site 

Planning; Policy M-6-2 Access to 

Scenic Corridors; Policy M-6-3 Visual 

Impacts; Policy M-6-4 Paving 

Integration; Policy LU-10-7 Landscape 

Setback 

Impact 4.1.2: Development allowed under the 

proposed General Plan Update could degrade 

the existing visual character or the quality of 

public views in the Planning Area. The proposed 

General Plan Update would not conflict with 

applicable zoning or other regulations governing 

(Less than Significant) 

 Policy LU-1-1 General Plan Land Use 

Diagram; Policy LU-1-2 Zoning 

Consistency; Policy LU-1-3 Balance 

New Development with Existing 

Setting; Policy LU-1-5 Clear and 

Predictable Development Standards; 

Policy LU-10-6 Spanish Mediterranean 

Design; Policy LU-12-1 Cemetery and 

Agriculture 

Impact 4.1.3: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update could increase the amount 

of daytime glare and nighttime lighting in 

developed portions of the Planning Area and 

create new sources in undeveloped areas. (Less 

than Significant) 

 Policy M-6-1 Site Planning; Policy M-

6-2 Lighting; Policy M-6-3 Lighting; 

Policy M-6-4 Glare 

Impact 4.2.1: Implementation of the proposed 

project would not conflict with or obstruct 

 See Table 4.2.8: Control Measures 

from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

implementation of the applicable air quality 

plan. (Less than significant) 

Plan (and associated policies) on page 

4.2-27 to 4.2-33. 

 

Impact 4.2.2: The project would result in a 

cumulatively considerable net increase of 

criteria pollutants for which the project region is 

in non-attainment under applicable federal or 

State ambient air quality standard. (Significant 

and Unavoidable) 

AQ-1 (page 4.2-

36); AQ-2 (page 

4.2-36 to 4.2-38); 

Policy LU-2-10 Green Building; Policy 

LU-3-6 Walkable Neighborhoods; 

Policy M-2-1 Reduce Vehicle Miles 

Traveled; Policy M-2-2 Other Traffic 

Flow Benchmarks; Policy M-2-3 VMT 

Transportation Performance Measures; 

Policy M-4-4 Transit Oriented 

Development; Policy M-4-5 

Connections to Homes and Businesses; 

Policy M-5-2 Design for All Travel 

Modes; Policy M-7-1 TDM Program; 

Policy M-7-2 TDM Program for New 

Development; Policy M-7-3 Vehicle 

Trip Reduction; Policy OSC-3-1 

Transit Oriented Development 

Impact 4.2.3: The project could expose sensitive 

receptors to substantial pollutant 

concentrations. (Significant and Unavoidable) 

AQ-3 (page. 4.2-

40 to 4.2-42);  

AQ-4 (page 4.2-42 

to 4.2-43) 

Policy LU-6-3 Environmental 

Protection; Policy CS-1-1 Health in all 

Policies; Policy LU-5-1 Regional 

Cooperation; Policy LU-5-2 San Mateo 

County Collaboration; Policy M-3-1 

Agency Collaboration and 

Coordination; Policy M-3-3 Regional 

Transportation Planning; Policy M-7-1 

TDM Program; Policy M-7-2 TDM 

Program for New Development; Policy 

M-7-3 Vehicle Trip Reduction 

Impact 4.2.4: The project would not result in 

other emissions (such as those leading to odors) 

adversely affecting a substantial number of 

people. (Less than Significant) 

 Policy M-6-1 Site Planning 

Impact 4.3.1: The proposed GPU would not 

have a substantial adverse effect through 

habitat modification on any species identified as 

a candidate, sensitive, or special status species, 

or impact riparian habitat or other sensitive 

natural communities as identified in local or 

regional plans, policies, regulations, or by the 

California Department of Fish and Game or US 

Fish and Wildlife Service. (Less than 

Significant) 

 Policy OSC-4-7 Colma Creek Bank 

Setback; Policy OSC-5-3 Sensitive 

Biological habitats; Policy OSC-5-4 

Habitat Enhancement 

Impact 4.3.2: Development under the proposed 

General Plan Update would not have a 

  



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

substantial adverse effect on state or federally 

protected wetlands (including, but not limited 

to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through 

direct removal, filling, hydrological 

interruption, or other means. (No Impact) 

Impact 4.3.3: The proposed GPU would not 

interfere substantially with the movement of 

any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife 

species or with established native resident or 

migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use 

of native wildlife nursery sites. (Less than 

Significant) 

 Policy OSC-5-5 Nesting Bird 

Protection 

Impact 4.3.4: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not conflict with 

local policies or ordinances protecting biological 

resources, such as a tree preservation policy or 

ordinance. (No Impact) 

  

Impact 4.3.5: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not conflict with 

the provisions of an adopted Habitat 

Conservation Plan, Natural Community 

Conservation Plan, or other approved local, 

regional, or state habitat conservation plan. (No 

Impact) 

  

Impact 4.4.1: Future development to implement 

the proposed project could potentially cause a 

direct substantial adverse change in the 

significance of an historical resource as defined 

in CEQA Guidelines Section §15064.5 

(Significant and Unavoidable) 

CUL-1 (page 4.4-

24 to 4.2-25) 

Policy LU-13-2 Historic Buildings; 

Policy HR-2-1 Preservation 

Collaboration; Policy HR-2-2 

Consultation on Projects; Policy HR-3-

1 Public Awareness 

Impact 4.4.2: Future development to implement 

the proposed General Plan Update could result 

in the potential disturbance of cultural resources 

(i.e. prehistoric archaeological sites, historical 

archaeological sites, and isolated artifacts and 

features) within the Planning Area. (Significant 

and Unavoidable) 

CUL-2 (page 4.4-

27) 

Policy OSC-6-1 Development Review 

Process 

Impact 4.4.3: Would the project cause a 

substantial adverse change in the significance of 

a TCR as defined in Public Resources Code 

Section §21074 or §5020.1(k)  (Significant and 

Unavoidable) 

CUL-3 (page 4.4-

28) 

Policy OSC-6-2 Tribal Consultation 

Compliance 

Impact 4.4.4: Adoption of the proposed General 

Plan Update could result in the potential 

disturbance of human remains, including those 

CUL-4 (page 4.4-

29 to 4.2-30) 

 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

interred outside of cemeteries within the 

Planning Area. (Significant and Unavoidable) 

Impact 4.5.1: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not result in the 

wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 

consumption of energy resources during project 

construction or operation, nor would it conflict 

or obstruct a state or local energy efficiency plan 

(Less than Significant). 

 Policy OSC-3-1 Transit Oriented 

Development; Policy OSC-3-2 Reduce 

Energy Consumption; Policy OSC-3-3 

Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations; Policy OSC-3-4 GHG 

Reduction; Policy OSC-3-5 Pedestrian-

Scaled Design 

Impact 4.6.1: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would expose new 

development to seismic hazards, including but 

not limited to strong ground shaking or 

seismically related to ground failure, including 

liquefaction. (Less than Significant) 

 Policy CS-2-1 Geotechnical Studies; 

Policy CS-2-2 Development in 

Hazardous Areas; Policy CS-2-3 

Unsafe Buildings; Policy CS-2-4 Water 

Infrastructure Safety; Policy CS-2-5 

Erosion Prevention; Policy CS-2-6 

Seismic Hazards 

 

Impact 4.6.2: Land uses and new development 

or redevelopment under the proposed General 

Plan Update may develop structures on 

unstable soil or expose, structures, and 

development to the effects of ground settlement 

resulting in the risk of loss, injury, or death. 

(Less than Significant) 

 Policy CS-2-1 Geotechnical Studies; 

Policy CS-2-2 Development in 

Hazardous Areas; Policy CS-2-4 Water 

Infrastructure Safety; Policy CS-2-6 

Seismic Hazards 

Impact 4.6.3: Implementation of the proposed 

project would not result in development within 

areas subject to landslide. (Less than 

Significant) 

 Policy CS-2-1 Geotechnical Studies; 

Policy CS-2-2 Development in 

Hazardous Areas; Policy CS-2-5 

Erosion Prevention;  

Impact 4.6.4: Implementation of the proposed 

project would not result in development of 

areas of unstable or expansive soils. (No 

Impact) 

  

Impact 4.6.5: Implementation of the proposed 

project would not impact areas where soils may 

be incapable of adequately supporting the use 

of septic tanks or alternative wastewater 

disposal systems. (No Impact) 

  

Impact 4.6.6: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not promote new 

development that could impact areas of unique 

paleontological resources or unique geological 

resources. (Less than Significant) 

  

Impact 4.7.1: Implementation of the proposed 

project would generate GHG emissions, either 

directly or indirectly, that may have a 

GHG-1 (page 4.7-

22) 

See Page 4.7-18 to 4.7-22 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

significant impact on the environment. 

(Significant and Unavoidable) 

Impact 4.7.2: Implementation of the proposed 

project would not conflict with an applicable 

plan, policy, or regulation of an agency adopted 

for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions. 

(Less than Significant) 

 See Table 4.7.6: Colma Climate 

Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency 

Analysis. 

Impact 4.8.1: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update may have the potential to 

expose persons to known and unknown 

hazardous materials through the routine 

transport, use, or disposal of hazardous, 

materials, as well as accidents involving the 

release of hazardous materials. (Less than 

Significant) 

 Policy CS-7-1 Hazard Mitigation Plan; 

Policy CS-7-2 Emergency Management 

Plan; Policy CS-7-3 Promote 

Emergency Preparedness; Policy CS-7-

4 Collaborative Planning; Policy CS-7-

5 Evacuation Routes 

Impact 4.8.2: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update has the potential to emit 

hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or 

acutely hazardous materials, substances, or 

waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or 

proposed school. (Less than Significant) 

  

Impact 4.8.3: Though the proposed General Plan 

Update has the potential to develop a site which 

is included on a list of hazardous materials sites 

compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 

§65962.5 these would be required to comply 

with State and federal regulations. As a result, 

would it create a significant hazard to the public 

or the environment (Less than Significant). 

 Policy CS-2-1 Geotechnical Studies 

Impact 4.8.4: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not locate people 

residing or working within two miles of a 

public airport, public use airport, or private 

airstrip. (Less than Significant) 

 Policy CS-9-1 ALUC Plan; Policy CS-

9-2 Airport Land Use Commission 

Review 

Impact 4.8.5: Future development resulting 

from the proposed General Plan Update would 

not physically interfere with an adopted 

emergency response plan or emergency 

evacuation plan. (Less than Significant) 

 Policy CS-7-1 Hazard Mitigation Plan; 

Policy CS-7-2 Emergency Management 

Plan; Policy CS-7-3 Promote 

Emergency Preparedness; Policy CS-7-

4 Collaborative Planning; Policy CS-7-

5 Evacuation Routes 

Impact 4.8.6: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not expose people 

or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a 

significant risk of loss, injury, or death 

involving wildland fires. (No Impact) 

  



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

Impact 4.9.1: Implementation of the proposed 

2040 General Plan Update would not violate 

any water quality standards during 

construction and operation of future 

development or otherwise substantially 

degrading surface water quality. (Less than 

Significant) 

 Policy OSC-4-1 Comply with Water 

Quality Regulations; Policy OSC-4-2 

Participation in the San Mateo County 

Stormwater Pollution Prevention 

Program (SMCWPPP); Policy OSC-4.-9 

Water Quality and Conservation Public 

Information; Policy LU-2-4 Low 

Impact Development 

Impact 4.9.2: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not decrease 

groundwater supplies or interfere substantially 

with groundwater recharge such that the project 

may impede sustainable groundwater 

management. (Less than Significant) 

 Policy OSC-4-1 Comply with Water 

Quality Regulations; Policy OSC-4-3 

Reclaimed Water; Policy OSC-4-5 

Green Infrastructure; Policy LU-2-6 

Green Infrastructure; Policy LU-2-7 

Public Green Infrastructure 

Impact 4.9.3 Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would increase 

impervious surfaces and alter drainage 

conditions in town, which could result in 

increased erosion, on-or-off site siltation, 

surface, and polluted runoff, or affect existing or 

planned stormwater drainage systems. (Less 

than Significant) 

 Policy OSC-4-6 Stormwater Runoff; 

Policy OSC-4-8 Colma Creek 

Enhancements; Policy CS-3-2 Maintain 

Drainage Facilities; Policy CS-3-4 

Stormwater Detention; Policy LU-2-5 

Green Infrastructure Plan   

Impact 4.9.4: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not increase the 

risk of  tsunami or seiche zones. (No Impact) 

  

Impact 4.9.5: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not conflict with or 

obstruct implementation of a water quality 

control plan or sustainable groundwater 

management plan. (Less than Significant) 

  

Impact 4.10.1: The proposed General Plan 

Update would not physically divide an 

established community. (Less than Significant) 

 Policy LU-1-1 General Plan Land Use 

Diagram; Policy LU-1-2 Zoning 

Consistency; Policy LU-6-1 New 

Incompatible Land Uses; Policy LU-10-

1 Neighborhood and small scale 

commercial and service uses; Policy 

LU-10-2 El Camino Real Housing; 

Policy LU-10-3 Mixed Use and 

Nonresidential Development 

Impact 4.10.2: The proposed General Plan 

Update would not conflict with an applicable 

land use plan, policy, or regulation adopted to 

avoid or mitigate an environmental effect. (Less 

than Significant) 

 Policy LU-1-1 General Plan Land Use 

Diagram; Policy LU-1-2 Zoning 

Consistency; Policy LU-2-5 Green 

Infrastructure Plan; Policy LU-2-11 

Climate Action Plan; Policy LU-5-1  

Regional Cooperation; Policy OSC-3-4 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

GHG Reduction; Policy OSC-6-2 Tribal 

Consultation Compliance; Policy CS-3-

1 Participate in Regional Adaptation 

Efforts; Policy CS-7-1 Hazard 

Mitigation Plan; Policy CS-9-1 ALUC 

Plan; Policy CS-9-2 Airport Land Use 

Commission Review; Policy M-3-3 

Regional Transportation Planning; 

Policy HR-1-1 General Plan 

Consistency 

Impact 4.11.1: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not generate 

temporary or permanent increases in noise 

levels in excess of standards established in the 

local general plan or noise ordinance, or 

applicable standards of other agencies (Less 

than Significant) 

  

Impact 4.11.2: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not result in the 

generation of excessive groundborne vibration 

or groundborne noise levels. (Less than 

Significant) 

  

Impact 4.11.3: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not expose people 

residing or working in the Planning Area to 

excessive noise levels associated with airports 

(No Impact) 

  

Impact 4.12.1: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update will induce substantial 

unplanned population growth in an area, either 

directly (for example, by proposing new homes 

and businesses) or indirectly (for example, 

through extension of roads or other 

infrastructure). (Less than Significant) 

 Policy LU-1-1 General Plan Land Use 

Diagram; Policy LU-1-2 Zoning 

Consistency; Policy LU-1-3 Balance 

New Development with Existing 

Setting; Policy LU-1-5 Clear and 

Predictable Development Standards 

Impact 4.12.2: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not result in the 

displacement of substantial numbers of existing 

people or housing, necessitating the 

construction of replacement housing elsewhere. 

(Less than Significant) 

 Policy LU-1-1 General Plan Land Use 

Diagram; Policy LU-1-3 Balance New 

Development with Existing Setting; 

Policy LU-3-3 Adequate and 

Affordable Housing; Policy LU-4-2 

Adequacy to Serve New and Existing 

Developments 

 

Impact 4.13.1: Project implementation would 

not result in adverse physical impacts 

associated with the provision of new or 

 Policy CS-4-1 Alternate EOC; Policy 

CS-4-2 Mutual Aid Agreements; Policy 

CS-4-3 Fire Prevention Education; 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

physically altered fire protection services and 

facilities for the town of Colma. (Less than 

Significant) 

Policy CS-5-1 Adequate Water 

Supplies; Policy CS-5-2 Removal of 

Fire Hazards; Policy CS-5-3 Building 

Fire Codes; Policy CS-5-4 Urban Fire 

Risks 

 

Impact 4.13.2: Project implementation would 

not result in additional law enforcement 

protection services and facilities for the town of 

Colma that would have had the potential to 

result in physical environmental impacts. (Less 

than Significant) 

 Policy CS-8.1 Staffing Levels; Policy 

CS-8.2 Facilities Planning; Policy CS-

8.3 Response Times; Policy CS-8.4 

Communication 

Impact 4.13.4: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update has the potential to 

increase the use of existing neighborhood and 

regional facilities or could require the 

construction of new recreational facilities. Any 

such changes would not result in substantial or 

increased physical deterioration of existing 

facilities or the construction of new facilities 

which might have an adverse physical effect on 

the environment. (Less than Significant) 

 Policy OSC-1-2 Flexible Open Space 

Land Uses; Policy OSC-1-4 Pedestrian 

Trails, Bikeways Walkways; Policy 

OSC-1-5 Colma Creek Trail; Policy 

OSC-2-1 Open Space for Recreation 

Use; Policy OSC-2-2 Recreation 

Requirements for New Developments; 

Policy OSC-2-3 Expansion of 

Recreation Space; Policy OSC-4-7 

Colma Creek Bank Setback; Policy 

OSC-4-8 Colma Creek Enhancements 

Impact 4.14.1: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not result in 

conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or 

policy addressing the circulation system, 

including transit, roadway, bicycle and 

pedestrian facilities. (Less than Significant) 

 Policy M-1.2 Capital Improvement 

Prioritization; Policy M-2-4 Multi-

Modal Impact Fee; Policy M-3-2 El 

Camino Real; Policy M-3-4 Transit 

Funding; Policy M-3-5 Transportation 

Gaps; Policy M-4-1 Transit Stops; 

Policy M-4-2 Reliable Transportation 

Services; Policy M-4.3 Consult with 

SamTrans; Policy M-4.3  Encourage 

Transportation Options; Policy M-4.4 

Transit Oriented Development; Policy 

M-5-1 Complete Streets; Policy M-5-2 

Design for All Travel Modes; Policy 

M-5-3 Bicycle Connection 

Coordination; Policy M-5-4 

Accessibility and Universal Design; 

Policy M-5.5 Design of New 

Development; Policy M-8-1 Parking 

Standards 

Impact 4.14.2: General Plan implementation 

would not substantially increase hazards due to 

a design feature (e.g., sharp curves or 

dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses 

 Policy M-1-1 Vision Zero; Policy M-1-2 

Capital Improvement Prioritization; 

Policy M-5-1 Complete Streets; Policy 

M-5-2 Design for All Travel Modes; 



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

(e.g., farm equipment). (Less than Significant) Policy M-5-3 Bicycle Connection 

Coordination; Policy M-5-4 

Accessibility and Universal Design; 

Policy M-5-5 Design of New 

Development 

Impact 4.14.3: The proposed General Plan 

Update would not result in inadequate 

emergency access (Less than Significant). 

 Policy M-4-6 Design of New 

Development; Policy M-4-7 

Emergency Services 

Impact 4.14.4: General Plan implementation 

would increase VMT per person above No 

Project conditions (Less than Significant). 

 Policy M-2-1 Reduce Vehicle Miles 

Traveled; Policy M-2-2 Other Traffic 

Flow Benchmarks; Policy M-2-3 VMT 

Transportation Performance Measures; 

Policy M-2-6 Development Review 

Requirements; Policy M-7-1 TDM 

Program; Policy M-7-2 TDM Program 

for New Development; Policy M-7-3 

Vehicle Trip Reduction 

Impact 4.15.1: The proposed General Plan 

Update would not require, or result in, the 

construction or expansion of new water, new 

storm water drainage, wastewater treatment 

facilities or expansion of existing facilities and 

entitlements, the construction of which could 

cause significant environmental effects (Less 

than Significant). 

 Policy OSC-4-1 Comply with Water 

Quality Regulations; Policy OSC-4-2 

Participation in the San Mateo County 

Stormwater Pollution Prevention 

Program (SMCWPPP); Policy OSC-4-3 

Reclaimed Water; Policy OSC-4-6 

Stormwater Runoff; Policy OSC-4-9 

Water Quality and Conservation Public 

Information; Policy CS-3-4 Stormwater 

Detention; Policy LU-2-4 Low Impact 

Development; Policy LU-2-6 Green 

Infrastructure; Policy LU-4-2 

Adequacy to Serve New and Existing 

Developments; Policy LU-4-3 New 

Development Fair Share; Policy LU-4-4 

Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 

Impact 4.15.2: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update for the town would not 

exceed wastewater treatment requirements of 

the San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality 

Control Board and may result in a 

determination by the wastewater treatment 

provider which serves or may serve the project 

that it has adequate capacity to serve the 

project’s projected demand in addition to the 

provider’s existing commitments (Less than 

Significant). 

 Policy LU-4-1 Adequate Public 

Infrastructure and Facilities; Policy 

LU-4-2 Adequacy to Serve New and 

Existing Developments; Policy LU-4-3 

New Development Fair Share; Policy 

LU-4-4 Capital Improvement Program 

(CIP) 

Impact 4.15.3: Any future new or infill   



1.0   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 1.0-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact (Level of Impact) 
Mitigation 

Measure 
Relevant General Plan Policies 

development projects under the proposed 

General Plan Update would be served by a 

landfill with sufficient permitted capacity and 

would comply with federal, state, and local 

management and reduction statutes and 

regulations related to solid waste, so as to 

accommodate the 2040 GPU’s solid waste 

disposal needs (Less than Significant). 

Impact 4.16.1: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not result in 

substantially impairing an adopted emergency 

response plan or emergency evacuation plan, 

nor would it result in project occupants being 

exposed to pollutants concentrations from a 

wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire 

due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors 

that exacerbate wildfire risks (Less than 

Significant). 

 Policy CS-2-2 Development in 

Hazardous Areas; Policy CS-2-3 

Unsafe Buildings; Policy CS-4-1 

Alternate EOC; Policy CS-7-1 Hazard 

Mitigation Plan; Policy CS-7-2 

Emergency Management Plan; Policy 

CS-7-3 Promote Emergency 

Preparedness; Policy CS-7-4 

Collaborative Planning; Policy CS-7-5 

Evacuation Routes.  

Impact 4.16.2: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not require the 

installation or maintenance of associated 

infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, 

emergency water sources, power lines or other 

utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that 

may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to 

the environment (No Impact) 

  

Impact 4.16.3: Implementation of the proposed 

General Plan Update would not expose people 

or structures to significant risks, including 

downslope or downstream flooding or 

landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope 

instability, or drainage changes (No Impact) 

  

 



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR or DPEIR) was prepared in accordance with 

the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Cal. Pub. Resources Code, Section §21000, et seq.) and 

the State CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal. Code Regs., Section §15000, et seq.). State CEQA requirements mandate 

that local government agencies consider the environmental consequences of their programs and projects. 

This Draft PEIR therefore analyzes the potential significant environmental impacts of the adoption and 

implementation of the proposed Town of Colma 2040 General Plan Update. Associated mitigation 

measures and an identification of the possible alternatives to the proposed project, are also presented, 

pursuant to State CEQA Guideline Section §15123, et seq. 

As defined by CEQA (Public Resources Code, Section §21067, as amended), the Town of Colma (Town; 

town) is the Lead Agency for the environmental review of the proposed Town of Colma 2040 General Plan 

Update (proposed project; project; 2040 GPU; General Plan Update; GPU) evaluated herein. The Town has 

the principal discretionary responsibility for approving the project with respect to adoption, amendment, 

and implementation of the proposed GPU. This environmental document therefore assesses the expected 

environmental impacts from adoption of the GPU and subsequent development under the proposed 

project. For the purposes of CEQA, the term "project" refers to the whole of an action, which has the 

potential for resulting in a direct physical change or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in 

the environment (CEQA Guidelines Section §15378[a]). With respect to the proposed 2040 General Plan 

Update, the City Council has determined that the proposed plan is a "project" within the definition of 

CEQA.  

The Town’s General Plan Update process commenced in June 2020. A comprehensive public process was 

initiated in May of 2021 in order to obtain the input of community residents, businesses, as well as elected 

and appointed town officials. This DPEIR utilizes technical information and analyses from studies 

supported by State CEQA Guidelines (Section §15148 (Citation) and §15159 {Incorporation by Reference}). 

By utilizing these provisions of the State CEQA Guidelines, the Town, in preparing their Draft PEIR, has 

been able to make maximum feasible and appropriate use of the available technical information, as 

appropriate. 

2.1 PURPOSE OF THE EIR 

The Town of Colma, acting as the lead agency, has prepared this Draft PEIR to provide the public as well 

as all responsible and trustee agencies with information about the potential environmental effects of the 

proposed General Plan Update. The proposed 2040 General Plan consists of goals, policies and 

implementation programs that will guide the town’s future development. 

The last comprehensive update of the town’s General Plan was certified in 1999, with subsequent 

amendments occurring since, including an update to the Circulation Element in 2014. Additionally, the 

City Council adopted an updated Housing Element on January 14,2015, which was subsequently certified 

by the California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) on January 30, 2015. Since 

the Housing Element adoption follows HCD timeframes, the Housing Element is not part of the GPU .  

Recent growth and development within the town and anticipated growth for the future has necessitated 

an update to the General Plan. The town of Colma commenced its General Plan Update in 2020.  

As described in CEQA Guidelines Section §15121(a), an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) is a public 

informational document that assesses potential environmental effects of the proposed project, and 

identifies mitigation measures and alternatives to the proposed project that could reduce or avoid its 

adverse environmental impacts. Public agencies are charged with the duty to consider and, where feasible, 

minimize environmental impacts of proposed development, and an obligation to balance a variety of public 

objectives, including economic, environmental, and social factors.  



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Therefore, this Draft PEIR embodies the Town of Colma’s best efforts to evaluate the potential 

environmental impacts of its 2040 GPU, as well as to identify feasible mitigation measures. It fulfills the 

requirements of CEQA and has been prepared in order to inform decision makers, the appropriate 

responsible and trustee agencies, and the general public of the proposed project and its related impacts on 

the built and natural environments.  As described below, this DPEIR is meant to be utilized as a first-tier 

(or “program” level) environmental document for environmental reviews of subsequent projects 

undertaken in the Town of Colma. Therefore, several issue areas discussed under this DPEIR incorporate 

by reference appropriate issue area policies that function like mitigation measures for this DPEIR.  

2.2 TYPE OF DOCUMENT 

The State CEQA Guidelines identify several types of EIRs, each applicable to different project 

circumstances. This document has been prepared as a first-tier, or at a programmatic level, pursuant to 

State CEQA Guidelines Section §15168, given the Plan’s long-term planning efforts and the supposition 

that natural and built environment conditions are subject to change. The Town of Colma made the decision 

that this programmatic level environmental analysis is the appropriate analytical framework to assess the 

cumulative environmental effects of the full plan in a first-tier level of analysis, to identify broad concerns 

and sets of impacts, and to define/develop regulatory standards and programmatic procedures that reduce 

impacts and help achieve environmental goals and objectives.   

According to CEQA Guidelines Section §15168:  

“A program EIR is an EIR which may be prepared on a series of actions that can be characterized as one large project 

and are related either:  

1)  Geographically; 

2)  As logical parts in the chain of contemplated actions;  

3) In connection with issuance of rules, regulations, plans or other general criteria to govern the conduct of a      

continuing program; or,  

4) As individual activities carried out under the same authorizing statutory or regulatory authority and having   

generally similar environmental effects which can be mitigated in similar ways.”  

The advantages of a Program EIR include consideration of effects and alternatives that cannot practically 

be reviewed at the project-level, consideration of cumulative impacts that may not be apparent on a project-

by-project basis, the ability to enact town-wide mitigation measures, and subsequent reduction in 

paperwork. The assumptions underlying the environmental analysis are the best available at the time of 

preparation and reflect existing conditions in the built and natural environments. Appropriate mitigation 

measures needed to reduce potentially significant impacts are included, so that the town of Colma may 

review the proposed 2040 General Plan Update prior to taking action on the GPU. Subsequent activities 

proposed pursuant to the goals and policies of the Town’s General Plan will be reviewed in light of this 

EIR and may focus on those site-specific and localized environmental issues that could not be examined in 

sufficient detail as part of this DPEIR.  

  



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER EIRs 

As a program EIR, the preparation of this document does not relieve the sponsors of specific projects from 

the responsibility of complying with the requirements of CEQA (and also those of NEPA, for projects 

requiring federal funding). The lead agency responsible for reviewing these projects shall determine the 

level of environmental review that would be required, and the scope of that analysis will depend on the 

specifics of the particular project, and any localized environmental issues that could not be examined in 

sufficient detail as part of this DPEIR. 

As with all projects proposed in the town, projects contained in specific focus areas where land use changes 

are proposed will be subject to CEQA compliance at such time the town receives a permit application for 

the project. At that time, the CEQA analysis would specifically address site-specific impacts of the project. 

Subsequent activities proposed pursuant to the goals and policies of the town’s General Plan will be 

reviewed in light of this EIR. When individual projects or activities are proposed, the town would be 

required to determine whether the specific project effects were adequately analyzed in this program EIR 

(CEQA Guidelines Section §15168). If the projects or activities have no effects beyond those analyzed in 

this DPEIR, no further CEQA compliance would be required. In addition, this program-level GPU 

environmental analysis addresses the cumulative impacts of development accommodated by the proposed 

project as required by State CEQA Guidelines Section §15130a-e and analyzes a reasonable range of 

alternatives to the proposed project as required by State CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6a-f. 

2.3 INTENDED USES OF THE EIR  

This Draft PEIR is intended to evaluate the environmental impacts of the proposed project to the greatest 

extent possible. This Draft PEIR should be used as the primary environmental document to evaluate all 

subsequent planning and permitting actions associated with projects undertaken subsequent to adoption 

of the General Plan Update. Subsequent actions that may be associated with the proposed General Plan 

Update are identified in Section 3.0: Project Description of this document; information in this document 

can be referenced as applicable. 

Where feasible, the town’s General Plan PEIR is intended to be a “self-mitigating” document, in that the 

General Plan polices are designed to mitigate or avoid impacts on the environment resulting from 

implementation of the proposed project. To that end, the relevant GPU policies providing mitigation have 

been identified for each significant impact in each section. If the applicable General Plan polices were 

determined not to fully mitigate or avoid impacts, then additional mitigation measures have been 

provided. These additional mitigation measures have been written as policy statements that can be 

incorporated into the final General Plan. Each impact discussion includes a determination as to whether 

the impacts would be mitigated to a less than significant level or would remain significant and unavoidable 

after implementation of the updated General Plan policies. 

2.4 ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PROCESS  

The Draft PEIR process includes several steps: publication of Notice of Preparation of an EIR (NOP); EIR 

public scoping meeting; publication of a Draft PEIR for public review and comment; preparation of 

responses to general public and other agency comments on the Draft PEIR; and certification of the Final 

PEIR. Thus, the review and certification process for the EIR has involved, or will involve, the following 

general procedural steps: 

  



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

NOTICE OF PREPARATION  

In accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section §15082, the Town prepared a Notice of Preparation (NOP) 

for the proposed project, and conducted a Scoping Meeting on June 24, 2020. This notice was circulated to 

the State Clearinghouse and to the public, local, state, and federal agencies, and other interested parties to 

solicit comments on the proposed project. A 30-day public comment period commenced on June 10, 2020 

and extended through July 13, 2020. The Town of Colma was identified as the Lead Agency for the 

proposed project. Concerns raised in response to the NOP were considered during preparation of the DEIR. 

The NOP, including the responses by interested parties, are presented in Appendix A. 

DRAFT PEIR 

This document constitutes the Draft Programmatic EIR for the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan Update. 

The Draft PEIR contains a description of the project; discussion of the environmental setting; identification 

of project impacts; and mitigation measures for impacts found to be significant. The Draft PEIR also 

includes an analysis of project alternatives, identification of significant irreversible environmental changes, 

growth-inducing impacts, and cumulative impacts. Upon completion of the DPEIR, the Town will file the 

Notice of Completion (NOC) with the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (OPR) to begin the 

public review period (Cal. Pub. Resources Code Section §21161). 

PUBLIC NOTICE/PUBLIC REVIEW 

Concurrent with the NOC, the Town of Colma will provide public notice of the availability of the Draft 

PEIR for public review, and invite comment from the general public, agencies, organizations, and other 

interested parties. Consistent with State CEQA Guidelines, the review period for this DPEIR is at least 

forty-five (45) days. Public comment on the Draft EIR will be accepted both in written form and orally at 

public hearings. Although no public hearings to accept comments on the EIR are required under CEQA 

Guidelines, the town expects to hold a public comment meeting during the forty-five (45) day review 

period. Notice of the date, time and location of the hearing will be published prior to the hearing 

RESPONSE TO COMMENTS ON THE DRAFT PEIR  

Comments from all agencies and individuals are invited regarding the information contained in the Draft 

Program EIR. Such comments should explain any perceived deficiencies in the assessment of impacts, 

provide the information that is purportedly lacking in the Draft Program EIR or indicate where the 

information may be found. All comments on the Draft Program EIR are to be submitted to:  

Farhad Mortazavi 
Town of Colma Planning Department  

1198 El Camino Real 

Colma, CA 94014 

Email:  farhadm@csgengr.com Website: colma.ca.gov 

RESPONSE TO COMMENTS/FINAL PEIR 

Following the public review period, a Final Program EIR (FPEIR) will be prepared for the Town of Colma 

2040 General Plan. The FPEIR will respond to written comments received during the public review period 

and to oral comments made at any public hearing or public meeting, if either a hearing or meeting is 

conducted during such review period.  

  

mailto:kgardiner@burlingame.org


2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

CERTIFICATION OF THE PEIR/PROJECT CONSIDERATION 

The town will review and consider the FPEIR. If the Town of Colma finds that the Final PEIR is "adequate 

and complete", the City Council will certify the Final PEIR. Upon review and consideration of the FPEIR, 

the Town of Colma Council may take action to approve, revise, or reject the project. A decision to approve 

the proposed 2040 General Plan Update, for which this PEIR identifies significant environmental effects, 

could only be made if accompanied by written findings in accordance with State CEQA Guidelines Section 

§15091 and Section §15093. A Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP), as described below, 

would also be adopted for mitigation measures that have been incorporated into or imposed upon the 

project to reduce or avoid significant effects on the environment.  

MITIGATION MONITORING 

Public Resources Code Section §21081.6(a) requires lead agencies to adopt a mitigation monitoring and 

reporting program (MMRP) to describe measures that have been adopted, or made a condition of project 

approval, in order to mitigate or avoid significant effects on the environment. The specific "reporting or 

monitoring" program required by CEQA is not required to be included in the PEIR. 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION  

Pursuant to Section §15085 of the State CEQA Guidelines, a Notice of Completion (NOC) will be filed with 

the State Office of Planning and Research (OPR) and the DPEIR will be circulated for public and agency 

review for a period of at least 45 days. A copy of the Draft PEIR will be posted on the Town’s website 

(colma.ca.gov). Notice of availability of the DPEIR will be sent to responsible agencies, local agencies, and 

concerned agencies and individuals, as requested. Public hearings will be held in conjunction with the 

review of the project.  

AVAILABILITY OF PEIR MATERIALS  

All materials related to the preparation of this Draft Program EIR are available for public review. To 

request an appointment to review these materials, please contact:  

Abigail Domentita  

Town of Colma Planning Department  

1198 El Camino Real 

Colma, CA 94014 

Email: adomentita@colma.ca.gov/ Phone: (650)757-8888 

2.5 COMMENTS RECEIVED ON THE NOTICE OF PREPARATION 

The town received comment letters in response to the NOP for the Town of Colma General Plan Draft PEIR. 

A copy of each letter is provided in Appendix A: Notice of Preparation, of this DPEIR. The Town  received 

letters from the following federal, state, and local agencies and interested parties: 

• Native American Heritage Commission (June 5th, 2020) 

• SF PUC Engineering Division (June 12th, 2020) 

• City of South San Francisco Engineering Division (June 25th, 2020) 

• California Water Service (June 25th, 2020) 

• California Department of Fish and Wildlife -Bay Delta Region (June 26th, 2020) 

• Bay Area Air Quality Management District (July 2nd, 2020) 

mailto:adomentita@colma.ca.gov/


2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• California Department of Conservation – California Geological Survey (July 2nd, 2020) 

• City/County Association of Governments, San Mateo County (July 13th, 2020) 

• San Francisco Water Power Sewer (July 13th, 2020) 

• San Mateo Local Agency Formation Commission (July 13th, 2020) 

• State of California Department of Transportation, District 4 (July 13th, 2020)  

• County of San Mateo Department of Public Works (July16th, 2020) 

2.6 ORGANIZATION OF THE EIR 

State CEQA Guideline (Sections §15122 through §15132 et. al) identify the content requirements for Draft 

and Final EIRs. An EIR must thus include a description of the environmental setting, an environmental 

impact analysis, mitigation measures, alternatives, significant irreversible environmental changes, growth-

inducing impacts, and cumulative impacts. Discussion of the environmental issues addressed in the DPEIR 

was established through review of environmental and planning documentation developed for the project, 

environmental and planning documentation prepared for recent projects located within the General Plan 

Update Planning Area (Planning Area), environmental documentation developed by the County of San 

Mateo (County) and cities and counties adjacent to the Planning Area, and public agency comments 

received on the Notice of Preparation (NOP).  

This Draft PEIR is organized in the following manner:  

SECTION 1.0 – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: This EIR begins with an executive summary of the environmental 

analysis, which includes a review of the potentially significant adverse regional environmental impacts of 

the proposed project. The executive summary also describes the alternatives and their merits as compared 

to the proposed project and identifies the environmentally superior alternative among them. The executive 

summary also indicates whether or not those measures mitigate the significant impacts to a less than 

significant level. 

SECTION 2.0 – INTRODUCTION: The Introduction section of this DPEIR provides an overview describing 

the purpose, type, and intended use of the Draft PEIR, responsible agencies, organization, and scope of the 

DPEIR, the review and certification process, and a summary of comments received on the NOP. It describes 

the basic legal requirements of a program level EIR, as well as the level of analysis and the alternatives 

considered, how this EIR is related to other environmental documents. 

SECTION 3.0 – PROJECT DESCRIPTION: This section provides a detailed description of the proposed 

project, including the location, intended purpose and objectives, background information, the physical 

setting, an outline of the projected population and employment growth, and technical characteristics of the 

project, including the decisions subject to CEQA and a list of related environmental review and 

consultation requirements.  

  



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SECTION 4.0 – ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS ASSUMPTIONS, SETTING, IMPACTS AND 

MITIGATION MEASURES: Section 4.0 contains an analysis of environmental topic areas that describes the 

general assumptions used to evaluate project-specific and cumulative environmental impacts. Each issue 

area is analyzed by major topic, contains a description of the existing setting of the project area, identifies 

specific impacts analyses, and recommends appropriate General Plan policies and mitigation measures. 

Every subsection is organized as follows: 

 

• Environmental Setting 

    − Physical Setting 

    − Regulatory Setting 

 

• Impact Analysis 

− Significance Criteria 

− Methodology and Assumptions 

− Impacts and Mitigation Measures

SECTION 5.0 - CUMULATIVE IMPACTS SUMMARY: This section summarizes all identified cumulative 

impacts associated with the proposed project. Cumulative impacts include two or more individual impacts 

that when considered together are considerable or which compound or increase other adverse 

environmental effects. The individual impacts may be changes resulting from a single project or a program 

of projects. The cumulative effect from several projects is the change in the environment that results from 

the incremental effect of the proposed project when added to other closely related past, present, and 

reasonably foreseeable future projects. Cumulative impacts can result from individually minor, but 

collectively significant, projects taking place over a period of time. As required by State CEQA Guidelines 

Sections 15130 and 15065(a)(3), an EIR shall discuss cumulative impacts of a project when the project's 

incremental effect is cumulatively considerable.  

SECTION 6.0 – ALTERNATIVES TO THE PROJECT: State CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6 requires that 

an EIR describe a range of reasonable alternatives to the proposed project that could feasibly attain the 

basic objectives of the project, and avoid and/or lessen any significant environmental effects of the project. 

This alternatives analysis therefore provides a description of the alternatives that were considered, an 

assessment of their potential to achieve the objectives of the proposed project, as well as a comparative 

analysis between the merits of each alternative. As required under CEQA, the selected environmental 

superior alternative is identified.  

SECTION 7.0 – LONG TERM IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROJECT: This section contains discussions as 

well as analysis of various other topical issues mandated by State CEQA Guidelines Sections §15126 and 

§15126.2a-d. These include significant environmental effects that cannot be avoided if the project is 

implemented, significant irreversible environmental changes, growth-inducing impacts, and effects found 

not to be significant.  

SECTION 8.0 - REPORT PREPARERS: All authors and agencies that assisted in the preparation of the 

Draft PEIR are listed here by name, title, and company or agency affiliation.  

APPENDICES: This section includes notices and other procedural documents pertinent to the EIR, as 

well as technical materials prepared to support the analysis. The following appendices are included as 

part of the Draft PEIR. 

• Appendix A - includes the Notice of Preparation (NOP), the NOP distribution list, Scoping Meeting 

notes, and the comments received during the NOP review period. 

• Appendix B – includes the Tribal consult letters and responses. 



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

DEFINITIONS: A list of definitions have been provided to assist the reader with a comprehensive 

understanding of the agencies and processed involved in the preparation of this PEIR.  

BIBLIOGRAPHY : This section is a bibliography with the resources used in this Daft PEIR. These resource 

areas are separated by documents and reports utilized, websites accessed, and individuals contacted for 

specific sources of information. 

2.7 SCOPE OF THE EIR 

Based on the NOP, the Town of Colma determined that the preparation of a Program level EIR was 

appropriate, due to potentially significant environmental impacts that could result from implementing the 

proposed update to the Town’s 2040 General Plan. This Draft PEIR evaluates the existing environmental 

resources in the vicinity of the town, analyzes potential impacts on those resources due to the proposed 

project, and identifies mitigation measures that could avoid or reduce the magnitude of those impacts. This 

EIR provides a general review of the environmental effects of development of the Town, based on proposed 

land use designations and estimated public service demands resulting from the proposed growth under 

the GPU.  

POTENTIALLY SIGNIFICANT ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS 

Information gathered about the environmental setting is used to define relevant planning issues, determine 

thresholds of significance, and evaluate potential impacts. Based on the initial analysis of environmental 

settings, baseline conditions, and comments on the NOP, the following issues are analyzed in this PEIR:  

• Aesthetics (Section 4.1) 

• Air Quality (Section 4.2) 

• Biological Resources (Section 4.3) 

• Cultural and Tribal Resources (Section 4.4) 

• Energy (Section 4.5) 

• Geological Resources (Section 4.6) 

• Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Section 4.7) 

• Hazards & Hazardous Materials (Section 4.8) 

• Hydrology (Section 4.9) 

• Land Use (Section 4.10) 

• Noise (Section 4.11) 

• Population & Housing (Section 4.12) 

• Public Services and Recreation (Section 4.13) 

• Traffic (Section 4.14) 

• Utilities (Section 4.15) 

• Wildfire (Section 4.16) 

EFFECTS NOT FOUND TO BE POTENTIALLY SIGNIFICANT  

Typically, an EIR evaluates project or program effects on environmental issues listed in the Environmental 

Checklist Form, which is in Appendix G of the CEQA Guidelines. The NOP for the Draft PEIR identified 

potential environmental issues that were generally consistent with those found in the Environmental 

Checklist. Based on evaluation associated with the GPU, the Town determined that the proposed General 

Plan Update would not have potentially significant effects in the following issue areas: 

• Agricultural Resources • Mineral Resources

Issues that were scoped out from analysis in the EIR are also included under the “Effects Not Found to be 

Potentially Significant” topic area of the Draft PEIR. 

 

 



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

2.8  KNOWN RESPONSIBLE AND TRUSTEE AGENCIES 

For the purpose of CEQA, a “Trustee” agency is an agency that has jurisdiction by law over natural 

resources that are held in trust for the people of the State of California (CEQA Guidelines Section §15386). 

For example, the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW, formerly CDFG) is a trustee agency 

with regard to the fish and wildlife of the state and designated rare or endangered native plants.  

The term “Responsible Agency” includes all public agencies other than the Lead Agency that have 

discretionary approval power over the project or an aspect of the project (CEQA Guidelines Section §15381). 

Potential Responsible Agencies may include, but are not limited to: 

• U.S Army Corps of Engineers (USACE)  

• U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA)  

• Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) 

• California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD)  

• California Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC)  

• California Department of Transportation (Caltrans)  

• California Office of Emergency Services (OES)  

• California Public Utilities Commission (CA PUC)  

• County of San Mateo (County)  

• Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) 

• San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board (SFBRWQCB)   

2.9 IMPACT TERMINOLOGY 

Identified below are common terms used throughout this document. A complete list of acronyms is also 

provided. 

CEQA TERMINOLOGY 

Cumulatively Considerable Impact: A cumulative significant impact would result when the project would 

contribute considerably to a significant physical impact on the environment expected under cumulative 

conditions.  

Less Than Cumulatively Considerable Impact: A less than cumulatively considerable impact would result 

when the project would not contribute considerably to a significant physical impact on the environment 

expected under cumulative conditions.  

Less Than Significant Impact: A less than significant impact would cause no substantial change in the 

environment (no mitigation required).  

No Impact: No adverse change to the environment would occur. 

Less Than Significant Impact with Mitigation Incorporated: A less than significant impact with mitigation 

incorporated would cause (or would potentially cause) a substantial adverse change in the physical 

conditions of the environment, absent mitigation. Significant impacts are identified by the evaluation of 

project effects using specified standards of significance. Mitigation measures are identified to reduce 

project effects on the environment to a level of less than significant. 



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Significant and Unavoidable Impact: A significant and unavoidable impact would result in a substantial 

change in the environment that cannot be avoided or mitigated to a less than significant level if the project 

is implemented.  

Standards of Significance: A set of criteria used by the lead agency to determine at what level or 

“threshold” an impact would be considered significant. Significance criteria used in this EIR include the 

State CEQA Guidelines; factual or scientific information; regulatory performance standards of local, state, 

and federal agencies; and town goals and policies.  

 

 

 

 

 

  



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

ACRONYMS 

This list of acronyms explains the common technical terms used in the Draft PEIR and come from different 

sources, including but not limited to: the California Office of Planning and Research, and the American 

Planning Association Glossary of Zoning, Development, and General Planning Terms, as well as from the 

various technical documents utilized in the environmental analysis for the GPU.  

AB Assembly Bill   

AAGR Average Annual Growth Rate 

ABAG Association of Bay Area Governments   

AAQ Area Air Quality 

ACBMs Asbestos Containing Building Materials   

ACE Affordable Clean Energy 

ACHP Advisory Council on Historic Preservation 

ADA Americans with Disability Act   

AIA American Institute of Architects 

ALUC Airport Land Use Commission   

ALUCP Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan   

AMR American Medical Response (Transportation) 

AQMD Air Quality Management District   

AR4 IPCC's Fourth Assessment Report 

ASCE American Society of Civil Engineers 

BAAQMD Bay Area Air Quality Management District   

BARC Bay Area Regional Collaborative 

BART Bay Area Rapid Transit 

BMP Best Management Practice 

CA PUC California Public Utilities Commission 

CAFE Corporate Average Fuel Economy 

CalARP California Accidental Response Plan 

CalEPA California Environmental Protection Agency 

CalFIRE California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection   

CalGreen California Green Building Standards Code 

CalRecycle California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery 

CalTrans California Department of Transportation   

Cal Water California Water Service Company 

CAP Climate Action Plan 

CARB California Air Resources Board   

CBPP Comprehensive Bike and Pedestrian Plan 

CBC California Building Code   

CBSAP Colma BART Station Area Plan 

CCAG City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County 

CCR California Code of Regulations   

CDAA California Disaster Assistance Act 

CDFW California Department of Fish and Wildlife   



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

CDPH California Department of Public Health   

CEC California Energy Commission 

CEQ Council on Environmental Quality 

CEQA California Environmental Quality Act   

CERCLA Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act   

CESA California Endangered Species Act   

CFAA California Fire Assistance Agreement 

CFPD Colma Fire Protection District 

CGS California Geologic Survey 

CH4 Methane 

CHP California Highway Patrol 

CHRIS California Historic Resources Information System   

CIP Capital Improvement Program   

CLUP Comprehensive Land Use Plan 

CMC Colma Municipal Code 

CMP Congestion Management Program   

CNDDB California Natural Diversity Database   

CNEL Community Noise Equivalent Level   

CNPS California Native Plant Society   

CO Carbon Monoxide   

CO2 Carbon Dioxide   

CO2e Carbon Dioxide equivalent 

CRHR California Register of Historic Resources 

CSDA California Special Districts Association 

CSI California Solar Initiative 

CUPA Certified Unified Program Agency 

CWA Clean Water Act   

dB Decibel   

dBA Decibel “A-Weighted”   

DMA Disaster Mitigation Act 

DOC State of California, Department of Conservation   

DOF California Department of Finance   

DPEIR Draft Program Environmental Impact Report 

DR Design Review 

DTSC Department of Toxic Substances Control   

DWR California, Department of Water Resources   

ECR El Camino Real 

EHRA Earthquake Hazards Reduction Act 

EIA Energy Information Administration 

EIR Environmental Impact Report   

EISA Energy Independence and Security Act 

EMA Emergency Management Authority 



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

EMFAC2017 Emissions Factor Model 

EMS Emergency Medical Services   

EOC Emergency Operations Center 

EPCA Energy Policy and Conservation Act 

FAR Floor Area Ratio   

FESA Federal Endangered Species Act 

FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency   

FHSZ Fire Hazard Severity Zone 

FHWA Federal Highway Administration   

FIRM Flood Insurance Rate Maps   

FPEIR Final Program Environmental Impact Report 

FRAP Fire and Resources Assessment Program 

FTA Federal Transit Authority   

GGNRA Golden Gate National Recreation Area 

GHG Greenhouse Gas   

GIS Geographic Information Systems   

GPU General Plan Update 

GWh Gigawatt Hours 

GWP Global Warming Potential   

HCD California Department of Housing and Community Development   

HCFC Hydrochlorofluorocarbon   

HDM Caltrans Highway Design Manual 

HFC Hydrofluorocarbon   

HMP Hazard Mitigation Plan 

HMTA Hazardous Materials Transportation Act 

HPD Historic Property Directory   

HUD United States Department of Housing and Urban Development 

IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change   

ISO Insurance Service Office 

IWMP Integrated Waste Management Plan 

JPA Joint Powers Authority 

JSB Junipero Serra Boulevard 

LAFCo Local Agency Formation Commission   

LCFS Low Carbon Fuel Standard   

LID Low Impact Development 

LOS Level of Service   

LRA Local Responsibility Area   

LUST  Leaking Underground Storage Tank   

MASH Multi-Family Affordable Solar Housing 

MBTA Migratory Bird Treaty Act 

MJ-LHMP Multi-Jurisdictional Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

MMI Modified Mercalli Intensity 



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

MMRP Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

MMT Million Metric Tons   

MPO Metropolitan Planning Organization   

MRP San Francisco Bay Municipal Regional Stormwater Permit 

MRZ Mineral Resource Zone   

MS4 municipal separate storm sewer system 

MSA Metropolitan Statistical Area 

MSDS Material Safety Data Sheets 

MTC Metropolitan Transportation Commission   

MWELO Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance   

N2O Nitrous Oxide   

NAHC Native American Heritage Commission   

NCP National Contingency Plan 

NEA National Energy Act of 1978 

NEHRP National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program 

NEPA National Environmental Policy Act 

NFPA National Fire Protection Association 

NHPA National Historic Preservation Act of 1966   

NHTSA National Highway Traffic and Safety Administration 

NIST National Institute of Standards and Technology 

NMFS National Marine Fisheries Service   

NO Nitric Oxide   

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide   

NOAA National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 

NOC Notice of Completion 

NOP Notice of Preparation   

NPDES National Pollution Discharge Elimination System   

NPL National Priorities List 

NPPA Native Plant Protection Act 

NRCS Natural Resources Conservation Service   

NRHP National Register of Historic Places 

NWIC Northwest Information Center   

O3 Ozone 

OES California Office of Emergency Services   

OFFROAD2017 Off-Road Emissions Factor Model 

OHP Office of Historic Preservation 

OPR California Governor's Office of Planning and Research 

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration   

PCE Peninsula Clean Energy 

PDAs Priority Development Areas   

PDM Pre-Disaster Mitigation 

PEIR Program Environmental Impact Report 



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

PG&E Pacific Gas and Electric Company   

PM2.5 Fine Particulate Matter (less than 2.5 micrometers in diameter) 

PM10 Particulate Matter(less than 10 micrometers in diameter) 

PPC Public Protection Classification 

ppm Parts Per Million   

PRC Public Resources Code 

PUD Planned Unit Development   

PV Photovoltaic 

RCRA Resource Conservation and Recovery Act   

RF Residential Focused 

RHNA Regional Housing Needs Assessment 

RICAPS San Matero County Regional Climate Action Planning Suite 

RMRA Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account 

RTP Regional Transportation Plan   

RUP Restricted Use Pesticide 

RWQCB Regional Water Quality Control Board   

SAFE Safer Affordable Fuel Efficient 

SamTrans San Mateo County Transit District 

SASH Single-Family Affordable Solar Housing 

SB Senate Bill   

SCS Sustainable Communities Strategy   

SDC Seismic Design Category 

SDMP Storm Drainage Master Plan   

SDWA Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974   

SEMS Standard Emergency Management System 

SF6 Sulfur Hexafluoride  

SFBAAB San Francisco Bay Area Air Basin 

SFBRWQCB San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board 

SFO San Francisco International Airport 

SFO ALUCP San Francisco Airport Comprehensive Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 

SFPUC San Francisco Public Utilities Commission 

SHMA Seismic Hazards Mapping Act 

SHPO State Office of Historic Preservation 

SHRC State Historical Resources Commission   

SMARA California Surface Mining and Reclamation Act of 1975   

SMCEW San Mateo County Energy Watch 

SMCTA San Mateo County Transportation Authority 

SMCWPPP San Mateo County Stormwater Pollution Prevention Program 

SOI Sphere of Influence   

SOIPQS Secretary of the Interior's Professional Qualifications Standards 

SRA State Responsibility Area   

SSAR Seismic Safety and Analysis Report 



2.0    INTRODUCTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 2.0-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SSMP Sewer System Management Plan   

SWAT Special Weapons and Tactics   

SWMP Stormwater Management Plan   

SWPPP Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan   

SWRCB State Water Resources Control Board 

TCR Tribal Cultural Resource 

TDM Transportation Demand Management 

TMDL Total Maximum Daily Load   

TNC Transportation Network Company 

TPA Transit priority area 

UBC Uniform Building Code 

UFC Uniform Fire Code 

UPAAG Unified Program Administration and Advisory Group 

USACE United States Army Corps of Engineers 

USDA United States Department of Agriculture 

USEPA United States Environmental Protection Agency 

USFS United States Forest Service 

USFWS US Fish and Wildlife Service   

USGS United States Geological Survey   

UST Underground Storage Tank 

VHFHSZ Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zone   

VMT Vehicle Miles Traveled   

WDR Waste Discharge Requirements 

WFAS Wildland Fire Assessment System 

WSA Water Supply Assessment 

ZEV Zero-emission Vehicle 

 

 

 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This Draft Program EIR (DPEIR; Draft PEIR) has been prepared in accordance with the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Public Resources Code, §21000 et seq.) and the State of California 

(State) CEQA Guidelines (California Code of Regulations, §15000 et seq.). It is a “programmatic” EIR 

prepared in accordance with State CEQA Guidelines Section §15168, which allows for the preparation of a 

Program level EIR to address a series of actions that can be characterized as a single project. This is the 

standard approach when evaluating environmental impacts associated with the adoption of a general plan.  

Under State of California law (Government Code §65300 et seq.), every city and county in the State is 

required to adopt a general plan that functions as the comprehensive and all-encompassing policy 

document for future growth and development. The purpose of a jurisdiction’s General Plan is to function 

as a “constitution” for land use planning and to provide a basis for sound decisions regarding long-term 

physical development, for development in the incorporated area, as well in any land outside city 

boundaries. It also provides the connection between community values, objectives, and decisions on the 

Town of Colma’s future housing, growth and development.  

California Government Code §65302 requires that a general plan include the following seven elements: 

Land Use, Circulation, Housing, Conservation, Open Space, Noise, and Safety. Additional elements may 

be included as well, at the discretion of a jurisdiction. All elements have equal weight, and no one element 

supersedes another. Cities and towns may amend the general plan four times a year (each amendment may 

include any number of changes), and cities are encouraged to keep the plan current through regular 

updates. The current Town of Colma General Plan has not been comprehensively updated since it was first 

adopted on June 16, 1999, by Resolution 99-22.  

The Project Description section of this DPEIR describes the location of the Town of Colma 2040 General 

Plan update (proposed project; project; General Plan; GP; Plan; General Plan Update; 2040 GPU; or GPU) 

both regionally and locally, discusses the existing conditions of the General Plan Planning Area (Planning 

Area)1, and describes the surrounding uses. It provides the basis for the environmental analysis in Section 

4.1 through Section 4.16, of this Draft PEIR. Land outside a city (or town’s) boundaries typically includes 

land within a city’s Sphere of Influence (SOI). For the town of Colma (Town; town), its SOI is coterminous 

with the Town boundaries. A general description of the project’s technical and environmental 

characteristics is provided. This section also describes the objectives for the project and the approvals and 

entitlements necessary to implement the project. The proposed project is the adoption and implementation 

of an updated General Plan for the town of Colma. For more information of the proposed changes to the 

various elements of the GPU, please refer to the Land Use Element of the 2040 General Plan Update. 

Since the town of Colma will be required to make a number of decisions on this project, all decisions subject 

to the California Environmental Quality Act are listed, and the implementation process is described in the 

order that it will occur, including both actions the town will take now and actions that may be taken in the 

future in association with the proposed project. For a description of the background, purpose, intended 

use, and type of environmental impact report (EIR), as well as a list of agencies that are expected to use this 

EIR in their decision-making or permitting process, please refer to Section 2.0, Introduction, of this 

document.  

 
1 The Planning Area is the geographic area for which the General Plan establishes policies about future 

urban growth for the town of Colma. The boundary was determined in response to State law requiring 

each city to include in its General Plan all territory within the boundaries of the incorporated area as well 

as “any land outside its boundaries which in the planning agency’s judgment bears relation to its planning” 

(California Government Code Section 65300). 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

3.1  REGIONAL PROJECT LOCATION AND SETTING 

REGIONAL SETTING 

The town of Colma is located in San Mateo County (County’ county), on the San Mateo Peninsula. It is part 

of the San Francisco-Oakland-Berkeley CA Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) and is approximately 7 to 

11 miles south of the City of San Francisco. It is surrounded by the city of Daly City to the north and west, 

the San Bruno Mountain State and County Park to the east, and the city of South San Francisco to the south. 

The San Francisco International Airport is located to the south and east of the town. Interstate 280 and a 

portion of State Route 1 (also known as Highway 1 or the Coast Highway) pass along the western boundary 

of the town while State Route 82 or El Camino Real passes north-south through the town. A Bay Area Rapid 

Transit (BART) station is located in the town, on D Street, at the north end of the town. The town’s regional 

location is shown in Figure 3.0-1 Regional Location. 

PROJECT LOCATION   

The proposed project area or the General Plan Planning Area for the town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan 

Update covers approximately 1.98 square miles of land. Of this, approximately 75% of the town’s land area 

is dedicated for cemetery uses and the remainder includes residential, agricultural, and commercial uses, 

mainly oriented north-south on both sides of El Camino Real, and along the east of Junipero Sierra 

Boulevard. Within the town boundaries, the ground elevation ranges from about 100 feet to about 500 feet 

above Mean Sea Level. The town of Colma also includes approximately 1.89 square miles of a wide valley 

associated with Colma Creek.  

The BART system has a dedicated station at the town of Colma and runs two rapid rail services through 

the town, the Antioch-San Francisco International Airport-Millbrae line and the Richmond-Daly City-

Millbrae line. The Colma station also serves the SamTrans bus services routes ECR, 112, 118, 120, 121, 122 

and 130. 

 

  



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

PROJECT SETTING 

The topography of the Planning Area can best be described as an alluvial valley below San Bruno Mountain, 

with a relatively flat valley centered on the El Camino Real in the center of town, with elevations which 

rise on the west and east side of the town and no major topographical features within town limits.2 As 

mentioned previously the town of Colma has 17 cemeteries and one (1) pet cemetery, which make up 

approximately 75% of the town’s land mass or 888 acres. There are approximately 162 acres of commercial 

land, 27 acres of residential land and 2.8 acres of vacant land. 

The town is primarily viewed by its residents as a community of cemeteries, although the town has a 

significant commercial core that primarily serves a regional market. The majority of residential uses, which 

currently make only 2 % of the town’s land area, are located in the small residential neighborhood of 

Sterling Park, with other residential uses on Mission Road and other sites scattered through town. Given 

the small size of the Town, there are no educational facilities, waste facilities, timberland preserve zone 

lands, or military lands. Furthermore, there are no designated flight paths or military air space areas within 

the town. 

The Planning Area is accessed by Interstate 280 (I-280), State Route (SR) 1, and SR 82. The closest airport is 

the San Francisco International Airport, located south of the town. As of the 2010 census, the town’s total 

population was estimated to be at 1,504 as of the 2018.3 The town had a median household income of 

$94,279, with 9.2% of the town’s population at poverty level, and had approximately 496 housing units, 

and 393 businesses.4 Existing land uses (including cemetery, commercial, office, residential, public/quasi-

public, and vacant) in the Planning Area are provided in Table 3.0.1: Existing Land Use Distribution and 

are illustrated in Figure 3.0-2 Project Location. 

Table 3.0.1: Existing Land Use Distribution 

Existing Land Use Acreage Percent of Total 

Cemetery 887.91 75.47% 

Commercial1 162.28 13.25% 

Office 10.47 0.70% 

Vacant 2.80 0.23% 

Residential 19.14 1.56% 

Multifamily 7.95 0.65% 

Public/Quasi-Public/Utility2 8.57 0.70% 

Roadways 125.99 10.28% 

Total 1225.10 100% 

 
2 Colma Topo Map – elevation map.net/colma 3/5/20 
3 US Census Vintage 2018 Population Estimates – www.census.gov  
4 US Bureau of Census – 2014-2018 American Community Survey 5-year estimates – www.census.gov 

http://www.census.gov/


3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

3.2 PROJECT BACKGROUND, PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES 

REQUIREMENT TO ADOPT A GENERAL PLAN 

California Government Code Section §65300, et seq. establishes the obligation of cities and counties to adopt 

and implement general plans. State CEQA Guidelines Section 15124(b) requires a description of the GPU’s 

project purpose and objectives. 

GENERAL PLAN PURPOSE 

The general plan is a comprehensive, long-range general document, as well as a strategy for a community’s 

growth and development for the near-term. The Plan describes the overall approach for the physical 

development of a town or city or county and any land outside its boundaries (but in its Sphere of Influence 

or SOI) that, in the jurisdictional agency’s judgment, bears relation to its planning. Any general plan should 

reflect its community’s ideas and desires for growth, describe what is most important to its residents and 

how the community will focus its efforts in addressing change during the coming decades. As such, it 

should be broad enough to allow for flexibility in its approach taken to achieve the plan’s goals. 

The general plan should address a broad range of topics, including at a minimum, the following mandatory 

elements: land use, circulation, housing, conservation, open space, noise, and safety.  Further, the 

jurisdiction may adopt additional optional elements. In addressing these topics, the general plan identifies 

the goals, objectives, policies, principles, standards, and plan proposals that support the jurisdiction’s 

vision for growth and development. Goals typically are broad, overarching targets of a community’s future; 

they set direction for policies. Policies are a deliberate system of standards that guide decisions towards 

attaining a goal.  

Since the proposed Plan is designed for a range of users, it covers a wide range of issues. Where needed, 

the Town of Colma will rely on its Zoning Ordinance and other regulations and standards to implement 

the GPU policies. As a long-range document addressing growth and change in the town of Colma over a 

20-year period, this GPU serves as a blueprint for future development and identifies the overall vision for 

the planning area.  

GENERAL PLAN OBJECTIVES 

The objectives of the town of Colma’s proposed GPU are: 

• To enable the community to agree on long- and short-term policies related to each of the elements 

encompassed within the General Plan; 

• To establish a vision for the physical nature of Colma in the future and set the tone for the 

corresponding land use and related policies required to advance this vision; and  

• To provide a basis for determining whether private development proposals and public projects are 

in harmony with the policies of the Plan. 

Specifically, this General Plan aims to achieve the following purposes: 

• Outline a long-range vision that reflects the aspirations of the community; 

• Establish goals and policies to guide development and conservation decisions by the City Council, 

and Town staff; 

• Provide a basis for determining whether specific development proposals and public projects are in 

harmony with the Town’s long-range vision; 

• Allow City departments, other public agencies, and private developers to design projects that 

enhance the character of the community, promote public health, preserve environmental resources, 

and minimize hazards; 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• Provide the basis for establishing and setting priorities for detailed plans and implementing 

programs, such as the Zoning Ordinance, subdivision regulations, and the Capital Improvement 

Program. 

GENERAL PLAN CONTENT  

The GPU comprises the following chapters, meeting the requirements for required Plan elements, under 

California Government Code §65302. Following is a description of each proposed General Plan element. 

For a detailed description of the goals and policies for each element, the reader is referred to the town’s 

updated General Plan (Town of Colma General Plan Update, 2040).  

• Housing Element: Per the requirements of the California Department of Housing and Community 

Development, the town’s Housing Element was last updated and adopted on January 14, 2015 (covering 

the period from 2015-2023) and underwent environmental review at that time. However, other elements 

in the GPU are consistent with the current Housing Element. 

• Community Health, Safety and Services Element: This section of the town’s GPU ensures the town’s 

safety from geologic, flood, fire, hazardous substances, wildfire, and airport related hazards. The 

Community Health, Safety and Services Element also lays out the needs and available services for police 

and fire protection, emergency preparedness and response, as well as noise issues. This Element ensures 

that the town can prepare for, and support the community’s desire to increase its resilience to hazards, 

over time. In addition, the element includes policies promoting community health. 

• Historic Resources Element: The Historic Resource Element sets forth goals and policies for the 

preservation of the town of Colma’s historic and cultural heritage. This Element also illustrates the 

integral role that preservation plays in conjunction with other key General Plan elements. The inclusion 

of this Element provides a long-range vision for the town that encourages a culturally rich community 

to evolve while retaining its tangible links to the town’s history. 

• Land Use Element: The Land Use Element directs the location and form of future development for the 

town of Colma, while shaping where people will live, work, play, and shop. This Element identifies the 

future development for the town under the GPU horizon year of 2040 and consists of land use 

classifications and policies and a land use map. Together, these represent the planning values and ideals 

of the community and designate the general distribution and intensity of present and future land uses 

within the town’s jurisdiction.   

• Open Space and Conservation Element: Open spaces, greenbelts and scenic vistas are among the most 

defining and beloved of the town of Colma’s characteristics. The Open Space and Conservation Element 

guides the comprehensive and long-range preservation and conservation of open-space land for the 

town. This Element provides direction regarding the conservation, development and utilization of 

natural resources.  

• Mobility Element: The town of Colma’s Mobility Element provides the goals, policies, and actions the 

town would implement in order to develop a safe and efficient multimodal transportation system. The 

element ensures that  new improvements reflect the land uses contemplated by the Land Use Element, 

and ensure appropriate facilities that enhance mobility for automobiles, pedestrians, bicycles, and 

public transit. This Element responds to the California Complete Street Act of 2008 by providing context 

on the town’s existing transportation system and identifying its current transportation vision and 

strategies.  

 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

3.3 GENERAL PLAN FRAMEWORK 

The town of Colma’s 2040 GPU considers all seven State required general plan topics under its six elements, 

discussed in Section 3.2, above. The town conducted a community-based process in its General Plan update. 

Public meetings, a survey and a series of study sessions were conducted in order to gather community 

input of the town’s key assets, issues, opportunities and potential/perceived roadblocks to growth. 

The GPU’s land use framework embodies the community’s vision for land use in 2040 and is designed to 

reflect the town’s future planning decisions. The Land Use Map is designed to support the goals and 

priorities of the GPU and consists of the Land Use Map. The land use classifications that are depicted on 

the diagram and which indicate the use and form of development; and the land use policies will serve to 

guide town actions and private development.  

LAND USE MAP 

The Land Use Map is a graphic representation of planned land use classifications under the GPU. It should 

be used in conjunction with policies established in the Plan to review and approve, modify or deny 

proposed development projects. The Land Use Map includes a legend that shows land use categories 

whose densities and allowable uses are specified in the Land Use Classifications below. Figure 4.10.2 

present the Land Use Map under the 2040 General Plan Update, while Figure 4.10.1 presents the Land Use 

Map under the existing (1999) General Plan. 

LAND USE CATEGORIES 

Generally, the town’s land use designations remain the same. The proposed GPU includes a new Medium 

Density Residential Land Use Designation, and the proposed Land Use Map is updated to reflect where 

these uses are. In addition, minor changes are made throughout the town, to correct inconsistencies in the 

land use map. For example, residential properties in Sterling Park with a commercial land use designation 

were revised to show low density residential (please see Table 4.10.2: Proposed Land Use and Figure 4.10-

2: Proposed Land Use).  

A commercial overlay has also been added over specific areas with a cemetery land use designation along 

Hillside Boulevard and El Camino Real. These areas are reserved for cemetery use but are currently not 

utilized as cemetery. The commercial overlay allows for the temporary development of commercial uses to 

efficiently utilize the limited land area within the town. 

The proposed town of Colma General Plan Update includes the Land Use Map that combines specific land 

use designations in some areas of the town and more general descriptions of land uses in special areas 

planned for future growth referred to as “Planning Areas” (see Table LU-2 in the GPU). Land use categories 

establish allowed uses, maximum density and intensity, and the type and character of development that is 

desired. Details on development standards are established in the zoning ordinance, and more than one 

zoning district may be consistent with a General Plan land use classification. The various land uses being 

proposed under the 2040 GPU include: 

Residential Land Use  
Residential Land designated for residential purposes can be used for single family homes, small day care 

facilities, group residential facilities, supportive/transitional housing, home offices and cottage food 

operations as allowed uses. Large childcare facilities may be allowed in residential districts with approval 

of a Use Permit. Residential facilities, including multiple dwellings, may be allowed in areas designated 

for commercial use upon approval of a Use Permit. 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Areas suitable for residential use include Sterling Park, El Camino Real near the Colma BART station, 

Mission Road near the South San Francisco BART station, in cemeteries as caretaker units and several 

scattered sites. These areas are identified in the Housing Element. 

Commercial Land Use 

This Commercial land use category provides for a wide range of retail commercial uses including auto 

dealerships, retail stores, personal and professional services, furniture stores, restaurants, and wholesale-

retail trade. Other uses, where permitted in a Planning Area, may include stand-alone or mixed-use 

multifamily residential, mixed-use, and auto-related uses.  

 

Executive Administrative Land Use 

The Executive Administrative land use category was established to expand the range of possible 

land uses and economic opportunities along El Camino Real while continuing to protect the green belt 

theme of the cemeteries. In this land use category, cemetery or cemeteries and floricultural or agricultural 

uses, are permitted by right. Compatible uses in this designation are low intensity uses that generate 

minimal traffic, do not require large signs and occupy buildings heavily screened with landscaping. Fast 

food facilities and most restaurants, for example, are not compatible with this designation. At this time, just 

over one percent of the town’s land area is designated for Executive Administrative land use. Designations 

occur along both sides of El Camino Real from just north of Colma Boulevard to the southern town 

boundary.  

 

Public and Quasi-Public Land Use 

Many basic utilities, public facilities, and services are provided by contract with special districts or through 

agreements with adjacent cities. Town of Colma residents are provided with utilities such as water, sewer, 

and power; public facilities such as local government and schools; and services such as police and fire 

protection. This land use category typically includes the types of activities and facilities which are generally 

recognized to be more efficiently provided by a public or quasi-public agency than by individuals. Public 

facilities and Town-owned facilities other than streets or the BART Right-Of-Way, include: 

▪ Town Hall at 1198 El Camino Real at Serramonte Boulevard 

▪ Police Station at 1199 El Camino Real at Serramonte Boulevard 

▪ Colma Senior Apartment Complex (18 units) at 1180 El Camino Real 

▪ Colma Historical Park and Community Center at 1500 and 1520 Hillside Boulevard 

▪ Sterling Park neighborhood park and Community Center site at 427 F Street, between E and F 

Streets 

▪ SFPUC pump station in the 500 block of F Street 

▪ Corporation Yard at 601 F Street; and 

▪ Bark Park on D Street 

Planned Development  

The Town of Colma’s Planned Development designation allow flexibility of design and land uses to deal 

with special situations as might be encountered with mixed uses or uniquely shaped properties. 

Developments with a PD designation are expected to be similar in intensity to projects that would be 

allowed by adjoining land uses and must be compatible with the surrounding neighborhood.  

 

 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Cemetery 
In addition to cemeteries, uses found in this designation include flower growing operations, florists, 

greenhouses, monument shops, the Cypress Hills Driving Range and a closed landfill. This land use 

designation is essential in maintaining the town of Colma’s greenbelt theme and it contributes to the 

economic base by drawing people from around the Bay Area as a regional destination. 

The town of Colma’s greenbelt theme is reinforced through the unique impression one gets while driving 

through the town. Open space features such as large tree masses throughout the cemeteries; median strip 

landscaping and street trees on principal routes; and the open, naturalized channel along open sections of 

Colma Creek, are all necessary in maintaining the open space character of the town. Further discussion of 

open space is found in the Open Space/Conservation Element. 

Gateway Sites 

Colma’s image is dependent on what is seen from the road as people approach and enter the town. Colma’s 

separate identity and sense of containment is strengthened by nine gateway locations: 

 

▪ El Camino Real - North:  In median near intersection of B Street 

▪ El Camino Real - South:  In landscaped area forming “T” intersection (not yet installed) 

▪ Serramonte Boulevard:  At northeast corner of Junipero Serra Boulevard 

▪ Junipero Serra Boulevard – North:  In median near northern town boundary 

▪ Junipero Serra Boulevard – South:  In median at southern town boundary 

▪ Junipero Serra Boulevard:  At southwest corner of Southgate Avenue 

▪ Hillside Boulevard – North:  In park strip near Hoffman Street  

▪ Hillside Boulevard – South:  In park strip north of Lawndale Boulevard (not yet installed); and 

▪ Mission Road – South:  At northeast corner of Lawndale Boulevard   

Each gateway location is or will be landscaped and contains a stone sign which reads, “Welcome to Colma.” 

According to State law, the General Plan must establish standards of population density and building 

intensity for each land use classification. The proposed Plan stipulates residential densities in housing units 

per gross acre; population density can be obtained by applying average persons per housing unit to the 

housing unit densities. For nonresidential uses, the proposed Plan specifies a maximum permitted ratio of 

gross floor area to site area (Floor Area Ratio or FAR). Recommended density and intensity standards do 

not imply that development projects must be approved at the intensity specified for each use. Zoning 

regulations consistent with General Plan policies and/or site conditions may reduce development potential 

within the stated ranges. Table 3.0.2: Land Use Classifications and Density Standards shows the GPU’s 

Land Use Classifications, along with their respective density standards. 

It is assumed that by the GP Buildout year of 2040, land within the existing town limits would be totally 

developed for a proposed population of approximately 2,700. with approximately 838 residential units, 

approximately 163 acres of commercial uses.  The total number of housing unit calculations take into 

account existing densities and units and assumes new multi-family development occurs at the highest 

potential level of density allowable within the applicable General Plan land use designation. Table 3.0.2 

provides a summary of the proposed General Plan designations for the Planning Area. Each proposed 

designation is described in more detail below. 

 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 3.0.2: Land Use Classifications and Density Standards 

 

Land Use Designation Density/Intensity Range* 

Cemetery 

This designation provides for cemetery, planned cemetery, 

agricultural and public recreation uses. 

N/A 

Low Density Residential 

This designation provides for single family, residential 

development. 

Density: up to 13 units per acre 

Medium Density Residential 

This designation provides for compact residential 

developments such as townhomes, condominiums, and 

apartments.   

Density: 13 to 30 units per acre 

Commercial 

This designation provides for a wide range of retail commercial 

uses including auto dealerships, retail stores, personal and 

professional services, furniture stores, restaurants, and 

wholesale-retail trade. Other uses, where permitted in a 

planning area, may include stand-alone or mixed-use 

multifamily residential, mixed-use, and auto-related uses. 

FAR: 1.0 to 2.0 

Lot Coverage: 50% 

Density: 13 to 30 units per acre 

Executive Administrative 

This designation provides for low intensity office and cemetery 

related uses, such as flower and monument shops. These sites 

allow for economic activities along El Camino Real, while 

continuing to protect the green belt theme.  

FAR: 1.0 to 2.0 

Lot Coverage: 50% 

Public and Quasi-Public  

This designation provides for uses that are public serving in 

nature, including government offices/operations, parks, 

utilities, transportation, and community centers. 

N/A 

*Additional FAR and Density may be granted to opportunity sites as noted in the Planning Area descriptions. 

 

Buildout under the Proposed General Plan 

Current population of the town of Colma is 1,512 residents, with 450 housing units (see Table 3.0.3: 2040 

General Plan Buildout, below). One purpose of the General Plan is to ensure that the town can 

accommodate projected population and job growth over the planning period, through 2040. Since the town 

of Colma is primarily built out, any new development and any new development would come from infill 

or redevelopment with limited areas for commercial and residential uses. A summary of the development 

as a result of the GPU is summarized in the Table 3.0.3 below. 

 

 

 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 3.0.3: 2040 General Plan Buildout 

Site Residential 

Units 

Commercial 

Area (SF) 

Office Area (SF) Combined Non-

Residential (SF) 

Mission Road 

Infill Residential 20    

Commercial  15,000   

Office   5,000  

Sterling Park 

Infill Single Family 

Residential  

1    

ADU’s 10    

Commercial Core 

Collins Avenue  100,000   

Serramonte Blvd.  100,000   

280 Metro   110,000 10,000  

El Camino Real Corridor 

Cemetery Buildings  10,000   

Bocci Site 42 8,500   

Town Center 240 325,000   

General Office   20,000  

1988 El Camino Real  10,000   

Sandlaster’s site 15    

Hillside Boulevard 

Cemetery Buildings  5,000   

Holy Cross Lands  300,000   

Agricultural Buildings  10,000   

Totals: 328 993,500* 35.000 1,028,500 

*Note: Depending on the economy and desired building type, commercial square footage may include hotel and office.  

The 2040 GPU will update the town’s existing planning areas into five new planning areas that are 

consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision of the City Council. The planning areas 

include development standards such as height, FAR, and density as well as development standard 

bonuses for specific uses in opportunity sites.  

  



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 3.0.4 Comparison of Alternatives at Buildout 

 Existing (2019) Proposed General 

Plan 

Alternative 1: 

No Project 

Alternative 2: 

Residential Focused  

Housing Units 450 845 680 893 

Households 434 815 660 862 

Population 1,512 2,852 2,310 3,017 

 

In addition, the proposed GPU introduces new land uses such a medium density residential land use that 

is consistent with current developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized 

cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 332 additional 

residential units and approximately 465,000 square feet of commercial and office uses in the Sterling Park, 

Mission Road, Hillside Boulevard, Commercial Core Planning Areas, and at the Bocci Center, Town 

Center and Sandlaster’s sites. Buildout under the GPU would therefore increase the town’s population to 

2,854 and the total number of housing units to 845 (Table 3.0.5: Comparison at Alternatives at Buildout).  

Please refer to the Land Use Element of the GPU for additional details on the specific changes to each 

Planning Area; 

In comparison, should the 1999 General Plan remain in effect, based on the existing land use distributions 

(Table 3.0.1), the town could only accommodate approximately 680 housing units, a population of 2,310, 

and a total of 4,315 jobs within the town. The existing or 1999 General Plan:  

• Has different land uses— both in mix and location; 

• Has lower allowable land use densities/intensities; 

• Prohibits residential development in various commercially zoned areas; 

• Does not promote mixed-use development to the same extent as in the Proposed Project; 

• Does not have a Medium Density Residential land use designation. Medium Density land uses such 

as multifamily developments are allowed on properties with a Commercial designation.  

• Has reduced alternate modes of transportation. 

3.4 INTENDED USE OF THIS EIR AND APPROVAL PROCESS 

As previously mentioned, this PEIR provides a programmatic environmental review of implementation of 

the Town of Colma’s General Plan update. Subsequent activities falling under the GPU will utilize this 

PEIR to focus the environmental review of these consequent activities, and to determine their effects. If a 

new project is proposed that is not anticipated by the General Plan, or that may result in project-level 

environmental effects not addressed in this program-level EIR, the proposed project will be evaluated as 

required under CEQA. This EIR is not intended to prohibit consideration of future proposed projects or 

CEQA analysis of future proposed projects. 

  



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE GENERAL PLAN 

Following adoption of the General Plan and certification of the EIR by the Town Council, all subsequent 

activities and development within the town will be guided by the goals and policies in this updated General 

Plan. It therefore provides specific policy guidance for implementation of plan concepts. The town of Colma 

will also need to work with San Mateo county and other public agencies to implement policies that affect 

their respective jurisdictions or would affect the region. Implementing these policies in accordance with 

new development (residential, commercial or industrial) will be subject to the town of Colma’s review and 

approval processes, with final review and approval by the town’s appropriate departmental staff as well 

as the appointed and elected officials.

The principal responsibilities that town of Colma officials and staff have for Plan implementation are briefly 

summarized below; details on their powers and duties are in the town of Colma Municipal Code: 

• Updating the Town of Colma Zoning Ordinance to achieve consistency with the adopted General 

Plan Update. 

• Rezoning properties, as dictated by future development proposals. 

• Approval of tentative maps, variances, conditional use permits, and other land use permits and 

entitlements. 

• Approval of development agreements and issuance of related permits and approvals consistent with 

the GPU. 

• Analyzing and planning for public infrastructure such as roadway improvements, other capital 

improvements, and natural/capital resource preservation and/or restoration. 

• Conduct or consider further focused planning studies, as appropriate to future development in the 

Town.  

• Updating the Town’s Housing Element to be consistent with State requirements and the Town’s 

housing requirements. 

CERTIFICATION OF THE EIR 

The updated Town of Colma 2040 General Plan will be presented to the Colma City Council, which, as the 

town’s legislative body, is the approving authority for the General Plan Update. In order to approve the 

updated General Plan, the City Council would have to take the following actions: 

• Certification of the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan PEIR. 

• Adoption of required findings for the above actions, including required findings under the State  

CEQA Guidelines, Sections §15090, §15091, and §15093. 

• Adoption of the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan Update. 

OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY APPROVALS 

Following certification of the PEIR and adoption of the GPU by the Lead Agency (Town of Colma), other 

agencies may use this document in the approval of subsequent implementation activities. Additional 

subsequent approvals and permits that may be required from local, regional, state, and federal agencies in 

the processing of subsequent development permits include, but are not limited to, the following: 

Local Agencies 
• San Francisco Airport Land Use Commission (ALUC) 

• County of San Mateo 

• San Mateo LAFCo 

• City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG) 



3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 3.0-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Regional Agencies 
• Bay Area Metro 

• Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAQMD) 

• California Department of Fish and Wildlife (DFW) 

• California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) 

• California Department of Transportation District 4 (Caltrans) 

• San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board 

• San Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) 

• State Office of Historic Preservation (SHPO) 

• State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) 

ADOPTION OF THE GENERAL PLAN 

The City Council will consider adoption of the updated General Plan following certification of the PEIR. 

This adoption may include the addition of identified mitigation measures as policies and/or actions into 

the new General Plan. Before adoption, the Town is required to make specific Findings of Fact pursuant to 

State CEQA Guidelines, Sections §15090, §15091, and §15093 regarding the significant environmental 

impacts of the project, the feasibility of measures to mitigate those impacts, and, if appropriate, a statement 

of overriding considerations.  

 



4.0   ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.0-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Cal. Pub. Resources Code Sections 

§21000, et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal. Code Regs., Section §15000, et seq.), this Draft 

Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) evaluates the General Plan-Update’s related 

impacts, general assumptions, and mitigation needs that can be identified in the analysis. The reader is 

referred to the individual technical sections of the Draft PEIR Sections 4.1 to 4.16, regarding the specific 

assumptions and methodologies used in the analysis for that particular technical subject. 

4.0.1 Impact Assessment Assumptions 

The purpose of this program-level EIR then, is to evaluate the potential environmental consequences of 

development in the planning area pursuant to the 2040 General Plan Update, to identify appropriate 

mitigation measures, and to present alternatives that could minimize or avoid potentially significant 

environmental impacts. The planning area development capacity assumptions for this Draft PEIR are based 

on the GPU’s projections regarding residential and non-residential development densities.  Regionally 

based employment projection factors were derived from the Association of Bay Area Governments 

(ABAG). The impact analyses in this DPEIR are based on the assumption that the 2040 General Plan Update 

would be successful in meeting its objectives and growth patterns by the year 2040. 

BASELINE ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS ASSUMED IN THE DRAFT PEIR 

The environmental setting conditions of the Town of Colma (Town; town) and the surrounding area are 

described in the individual technical sections of the Draft PEIR (see Sections 4.1 through 4.13). In general, 

these sections describe the setting conditions of the town and the surrounding area as they existed when 

the Notice of Preparation (NOP) for the project was released on June 3, 2020. The Draft PEIR also includes 

setting information that has been updated since release of the NOP, such as the status of large-scale 

development projects in the General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area). 

This is in compliance with Section 15125(a) of the State CEQA Guidelines, which requires that an 

environmental impact report (EIR) include a description of the physical environmental conditions in the 

vicinity of a project, as they exist at the time the NOP is published. The CEQA Guidelines also specify that 

this description of the physical environmental conditions should serve as the baseline physical conditions 

by which a lead agency determines whether the impacts of a project are considered significant. 

Table 4.0.1 presents the status of large-scale development projects in the proposed Town of Colma General 

Plan Planning Area and in Northern San Mateo County. 

Table 4.0.1: Proposed and Approved Large-Scale Development Projects in Town of Colma 

Project Location 

Residential 

(Number of 

Units) 

Non-

Residential 

(Square Feet) 

Colma 

Cadillac Dealership 775 Serramonte Blvd N/A 34,000 

Medical Office Building 1055 El Camino Real N/A 12,501 

Daly City 

Serramonte Del Rey Campus 699 Serramonte Blvd 1,235 14,000 Retail 

Midway Village  45 Midway Drive 555 N/A 

Junipero Serra Transit Village 

(SamTrans park-and-Ride Lot) 3501 Junipero Serra Blvd 500 20,000 Retail 



4.0   ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.0-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Daly City Serramonte Shopping 

Center Expansion Serramonte Shopping Center N/A 

568,000 

Retail, 

medical, 

hotel 

Serramonte Views Condominiums 

and Hotel Project 525-595 Serramonte Blvd 
323 (+ 176 

hotel rooms) N/A 

Westlake Shopping Center 10 Park Plaza Drive 179 3,644 Retail 

88 Hillside – Phase II Residential 

Apartments 6401 Mission Street 167 N/A 

Point Martin 
Steve Courter Way and Martin 

Street 133 N/A 

Robertson Intermediate School 

Redevelopment 1 Martin Street 71 N/A 

Bryan Street Mixed Use 1590 Bryant Street 27 3,675 Retail 

Woods Condominiums 89 Second Avenue 20 N/A 

7330 Mission Street Mixed Use 7322/7330 Mission Street 3 N/A 

Pacific Place Retail Conversion 2665 Geneva Avenue 7 N/A 

Mission Street/Goethe Street 

Mixed Use Building 6098 Mission Street 36 1,568 Retail 

Serra Station Mixed Use 3301 Junipero Serra Boulevard 75 

2,300 

Commercial 

Sullivan Avenue Apartments 1784 Sullivan Avenue 12 N/A 

Geneva Avenue Mixed-Use 2960 Geneva Avenue 4   

Vista Grande Duplex 201 Vista Grande Ave 1 N/A 

Mission Street Mixed Use 7310 Mission Street 18 N/A 

Jefferson Union High School 

District Faculty and Staff Housing 699 Serramonte Boulevard 116 N/A 

Habitat Geneva 3001 Geneva Avenue 6 N/A 

Templeton homes 717 Templeton Avenue 4 N/A 

Vista Grande Parcel Map 489 Vista Grande Avenue 2 N/A 

Eastmoor Residential 

Development 493 Eastmoor Avenue 72 N/A 

San Petro/Hill Retail Building 205 San Petro Road N/A N/A 

Hilldale School Expansion 25 Florence Avenue N/A 2,100 

North East Medical Services 

Building Expansion 211 Eastmoor Avenue N/A 5,464 

Serramonte Shopping Center 

Northwest Quadrant 3 Serramonte Center N/A 

70,000 

Cinema, 

75,000 

Hotel, 

28,000 Retail 

Duggan’s Serra Mortuary 

Expansion and Carvana Vending 

Machine Fulfillment Center 500 Westlake Avenue N/A 15,743 



4.0   ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.0-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Popeye’s Chicken Drive-Through 

Restaurant 362 Market Street N/A 3,275 

Olympic Way Retreat Center 2152 Skyline Boulevard N/A 29,200 

Serramonte Shopping Center 

Northeast Quadrant 3 Serremonte Center N/A 7,262 

South San Francisco 

Southline  315 Maple Street N/A 

2,700,000 

Office and 

retail 

Oyster Point Redevelopment Oyster Point N/A 

1,700,000 

Office  

Gateway Business Park Master 

Plan Gateway Business Park N/A 

1,300,000 

Office 

Genesis  1828 Tower Place N/A 

665,000 

Office, 

commercial, 

performing 

arts 

Public Utilities Commission Site  1051 Mission Road  800 N/A 

494 Forbes Blvd 494 Forbes Blvd N/A 

326,030 

Office 

124 Airport Blvd 
142 Airport Blvd and 100 Produce 

Ave 480 N/A 

7 S. Linden Avenue 7 S. Linden Avenue 445 N/A 

410 Noor Avenue 410 Noor Avenue 338 N/A 

475 Eccles Avenue 475 Eccles N/A 

262,287 

Office 

580 Dubuque Avenue 580 Dubuque Avenue N/A 

213,000 

Office 

751 Gateway Blvd  751 Gateway Blvd N/A 

208,000 

Office 

1477 Huntington Avenue  1477 Huntington Avenue 262 N/A 

998 El Camino Real  998 El Camino Real 172 12,000 Retail 

150 Airport Blvd  150 Airport Blvd 157 N/A 

328 Roebling 328 Roebling Road N/A 50,499 

Auto-Chlor System Building 465 Cabot Road N/A 31,765 Office 

499 Forbes Blvd 499 Forbes Blvd N/A 

128,737 

Office 

751 Gateway Blvd 751 Gateway Blvd N/A 

208,000 

Office 

580 Dubuque Avenue 580 Dubuque Avenue N/A 

213,000 

Office 

101 Gull Drive 101 Gull Drive N/A 

166,613 

Office 



4.0   ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.0-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

121 East Grand Avenue 121 East Grand Avenue N/A 

940,717 

Office 

Marriott Fairfield Inn & Suites 127 W. Harris Avenue 
128 hotel 

rooms N/A 

Days Inn 1113 Airport Blvd 
12 hotel 

rooms N/A 

Safeway Shopping Center 180 El Camino Real N/A 63,000 

Best Western Plus 840 El Camino Real 
92 hotel 

rooms N/A 

Wyndham Garden 915 Airport Boulevard 
115 hotel 

rooms N/A 

Sing Tao Newspapers 215 Littlefield Avenue N/A 11,585 

701 Airport Blvd 701 Airport Boulevard 
131 hotel 

rooms N/A 

Vehicle Washing Facility  246 S. Spruce Avenue N/A 0 net 

Mercedes Benz 2211-2245 Gellert Boulevard N/A 110,000 

418 Linden Ave 418 Linden Avenue 38 N/A 

201-209 Grand Avenue 201-209 Grand Avenue 46 6,000 

Cadence Phase 2 405 Cypress Avenue 195 N/A 

616 Maple 616 Maple 5 N/A 

988 El Camino Real 988 El Camino Real 172 N/A 

410 Noor Avenue 410 Noor Avenue 338 N/A 

818-824 Linden Avenue 818-824 Linden Ave 7 1,650 

645 Baden Avenue 645 Baden Avenue 8 10,500 

40 Airport Blvd 40 Airport Blvd 292 N/A 

423 Commercial Avenue 423 Commercial Avenue 4 N/A 

200 Airport Blvd 200 Airport Blvd 94 3,650 

124 Airport Blvd and 100 Produce 

Avenue 
124 Airport Blvd and 100 Produce 

Avenue 480 N/A 

428-432 Baden Avenue 428-432 Baden Avenue 36 N/A 

455-463 Grand Avenue 455-463 Grand Avenue 27 2,865 

360 and 364 Alta Vista Drive 360 and 364 Alta Vista Drive 13 N/A 

1477 Huntington Drive 1477 Huntington Drive 262 N/A 

Bertolucci’s Redevelopment 421 Cypress Avenue 99 1,500 

Eden Housing 
199 Airport Boulevard/201 Baden 

Ave 82 N/A 

Notes: Table shows proposed and on-going development projects in the town of Colma and neighboring 

jurisdictions. Information was compiled from the South San Francisco Development and Construction map, the 

Daly City ongoing projects list, developer websites, and planning documents--including staff reports and public 

meeting agendas--from the town of Colma, and cities of Daly City, and South San Francisco. 

 

 



4.0   ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.0-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

BUILDOUT ASSUMPTIONS UNDER THE GENERAL PLAN UPDATE 

Future growth in the General Plan Planning Area is guided by the land uses identified in the General Plan 

Land Use Map (see Figure LU.3). The Draft PEIR impact analysis (both temporary [i.e., construction-

related] and operational effects) is based on these proposed land use patterns, including proposed 

transportation improvements identified under the GPU. The Draft PEIR also evaluates the indirect 

environmental effects of construction and operation of the land uses and transportation improvements that 

may take place under the proposed General Plan update and its associated project components. Table 3.0-

1 identifies the land use acreages that currently exist within the Planning Area. 

4.0.2 STRUCTURE OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 

Sections 4.1 through 4.16 of this Draft PEIR contain a detailed description of current setting conditions 

(including applicable regulatory setting), an evaluation of the direct and indirect environmental effects 

resulting from the implementation of the proposed GPU, identification of proposed General Plan policies 

and action items that address the environmental effect, feasible mitigation measures where needed, and 

identification of whether significant environmental effects of the General Plan would remain after 

application of proposed policies and action items, and feasible mitigation measures. The individual 

technical sections of the Draft EIR follow the following format. 

EXISTING SETTING 

This subsection includes a description of the physical setting conditions associated with the technical area 

of discussion, consistent with State CEQA Guidelines Section 15125. As previously identified above, the 

existing setting is based on conditions as they existed when the Notice of Preparation (NOP) for the project 

was released on June 3, 2020 

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

This subsection consists of the identification of applicable federal, state, regional, and local plans, policies, 

laws, and regulations that apply to the technical area of discussion. 

IMPACTS  

The Impacts subsection identifies direct and indirect environmental effects associated with implementation 

of the proposed GPU and identifies those proposed updated General Plan policies that address the 

environmental effects, as well as any other regulations and ordinances that do the same. Standards of 

significance are identified and utilized to determine whether identified environmental effects are 

considered significant and require the application of mitigation measures. Each environmental impact 

analysis is identified numerically (e.g., Impact 4.1.1 – Physical Division of Established Communities) and 

is supported by substantial evidence included in the discussion. 

For those environmental issue are that resulted in potentially significant impacts, potential mitigation 

measures were developed through a thorough review of the environmental effects of the GPU by technical 

consultants as well as by environmental professionals. After identification of proposed GPU policies and 

action items that mitigate the environmental impact being discussed, any additional feasible mitigation 

measures that could further minimize significant adverse impacts are discussed, after which the impact 

discussion identifies whether the impact has been mitigated to a less than significant level or remains 

significant and unavoidable. Most mitigation measures identified during the project analysis were 

incorporated into the General Plan as policies. 



4.0   ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSUMPTIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.0-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

CUMULATIVE SETTING 

State CEQA Guidelines Section §15130 requires that EIRs include an analysis of the cumulative impacts of 

a project when the project’s incremental effect is considered cumulatively considerable (i.e., a significant 

effect). Effects of a project are considered to be cumulatively considerable when the incremental effects of 

an individual project are significant, under cumulative conditions, when viewed in connection with the 

effects of past projects, the effects of other current projects, and the effects of probable future projects 

(CEQA Guidelines, Section §15065(a)(3)). The determination of whether the project’s impact on cumulative 

conditions is considerable is based on a number of factors including consideration of applicable public 

agency standards, consultation with public agencies, and expert opinion. Section 5.0, CEQA Required 

Topics, provides a summary of the cumulative impacts associated with the General Plan. 

4.0.3 DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN THIS EIR 

This Draft PEIR utilizes technical information and analyses from plans that are relevant to the consideration 

of environmental effects of the proposed General Plan Update, which is supported by the State CEQA 

Guidelines (see Sections §15148 [Citation] and §15150 [Incorporation by Reference]). In addition to 

materials cited, the following CEQA and other technical documents have been utilized in the Draft PEIR: 

• Town of Colma Housing Element Update 2015-2023 

• Town of Colma Urban Design Study  

• Town of Colma Serramonte Boulevard and Collins Avenue Streetscape Master Plan 

• Town of Colma El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan  

• Town of Colma Municipal Code, including Zoning Ordinance 

By utilizing these provisions of the State CEQA Guidelines, the Town of Colma, in preparing this PEIR, has 

been able to make maximum feasible and appropriate use of the technical information in the above-

mentioned documents. This DPEIR and other referenced materials are available for review upon request 

at: 

Town of Colma Planning Department 

1198 El Camino Real 

Colma, CA, 94014 



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

aesthetic character within the Town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update’s Planning Area (Planning Area) 

and surrounding vicinity and discusses the potential impacts to those resources resulting from 

implementation of the proposed General Plan Update. In accordance with the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) (Cal. Pub. Resources Code Sections §21000, et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines (14 

Cal. Code Regs., Section §15000, et seq.), this Draft Program EIR evaluates the General Plan-Update’s 

related impacts, general assumptions, and mitigation needs that can be identified in the analysis. The 

reader is referred to the individual technical sections of the Draft PEIR Sections 4.1 to 4.16, regarding the 

specific assumptions and methodologies used in the analysis for that particular technical subject. 

4.1.1 EXISTING SETTING 

REGIONAL  

San Mateo County  

The town of Colma is located on the San Francisco Peninsula, in San Mateo County. It is immediately 

surrounded by Daly City to the north and west, San Bruno Mountain to the east, and South San Francisco 

to the south. Colma Creek is located roughly in the center of town, flowing from San Bruno Mountain to 

San Francisco Bay. The town has a total land area of 1225.1 acres (1.98 square miles) and an estimated land 

elevation change of approximately 121 feet, sloping down toward the center of town from San Bruno 

Mountain to the east and Daly City to the west. The Sterling Park residential neighborhood is located on 

the northern edge of town. Housing styles vary within the single-family residential structures, while the 

town’s commercial uses include two shopping centers with national and local retailers, restaurants and 

stores, and auto dealerships. The town also has a cardroom. 

Known for its history as a cemetery town, the area consists of 922.2 acres of open space which includes 16 

active and 2 inactive cemeteries, 27.09 acres of residential uses, 8.57 acres of public uses, and 172.75 acres 

of commercial uses. Due to its historic development as a cemetery town, the majority of the town of Colma 

is open space (922.2 acres). The major components of the total open space resource in the town of Colma 

(about 76% of the total land area) is land owned by cemeteries that is used for memorial parks, agriculture, 

or general open space. Much of this land is held for future use for burials by the cemeteries. The closed 

Colma landfill at the base of San Bruno Mountain is an additional open space area.  

Historic State Route 1 (SR-1) and Interstate 280 (I-280) pass along the western edge of the town, while El 

Camino Real or SR 82 bisects the town on a roughly north-south trajectory between the cities of South San 

Francisco and San Francisco. The San Francisco International Airport is located to the south and east of the 

town. Interstate 280 and a Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) station is located on Albert M Teglia Boulevard, 

directly outside the town’s northern boundary. Figure 4.1-1: Regional Location Map. 



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Hillside Boulevard is a designated scenic corridor in Colma.  It is located at a higher elevation than the rest 

of the town.  Therefore, the drive along Hillside provides unique foreground views of San Bruno Mountain 

and panoramic views of the cities of South San Francisco, and Daly City. The view to the east along the 

Hillside Boulevard corridor is mostly of San Bruno Mountain and open space, including flower growing 

plots, cemeteries, and a few houses.  The view to the west overlooks Colma and its surrounding 

communities (refer to the Scenic Route Map).  Part of this view is blocked by roadside fencing and 

vegetation, which emphasizes the view to the east. Consequently, this adds variety and interest to Hillside 

Boulevard. As one travels along Hillside Boulevard there is a rural character to the corridor. There is a 

sense of separation from the urban development that surrounds the town of Colma. Smaller local roadways 

wind through the town and through the cemetery use, providing internal vehicular and pedestrian 

connections between the land uses. 

  

Alstroemeria field along Hillside Boulevard Northbound on Hillside Boulevard 

Light and Glare 

The Planning Area includes existing sources of daytime glare and nighttime lighting from residential and 

commercial uses located within the town of Colma. Sources of daytime glare include sunlight and 

reflections from windows, architectural coatings, glass, and other shiny reflective surfaces. Nighttime 

lighting and associated glare can be divided into stationary and mobile sources. Stationary lighting sources 

include structure illumination, decorative landscape lighting, lighted signs, streetlights, and other reflective 

sources. The major source of mobile nighttime light is the headlights of motor vehicles. However, due to 

the relatively compact size of the town and the types of land uses (mainly cemetery uses), nighttime lighting 

is not as pronounced as other urban areas in the San Francisco Bay Area. The cemeteries create dark voids 

that serve to reduce the total amount of artificial lighting in the town. 

 

  



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  

Single Family Residential Homes on B Street Sterling Park Neighborhood 

  

Typical car dealership on Serramonte 

Boulevard 

Veteran’s Village on Mission Road 

  

Westbound on Serramonte Boulevard Serra Shopping Center 

 

  



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.1.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

STATE 

Caltrans Adopt-A-Highway Program 

To improve and maintain the visual quality of California highways, Caltrans administers the Adopt-a-

Highway program, which was established in 1989. The program provides an avenue for individuals, 

organizations, or businesses to help maintain sections of roadside within California's State Highway 

System. Groups have the option to participate as volunteers or to hire a maintenance service provider to 

perform the work on their behalf. Adoptions usually span a two-mile stretch of roadside, and permits are 

issued for five-year periods. Since 1989, more than 120,000 California residents have kept 15,000 shoulder 

miles of state roadways clean by engaging in litter removal, tree and flower planting, graffiti removal, and 

vegetation removal. 

REGIONAL   

San Mateo County General Plan 

The San Mateo County General Plan was adopted in 1986 to “provide overall policy guidance to assure 

orderly, balanced utilization and conservation of all County resources” (San Mateo County General Plan, 

1986). The San Mateo County General Plan includes a chapter on Visual Quality (Chapter 4) with relevant 

policies regulating appearance of new development, scenic corridors, and ridgelines. 

Plan Bay Area – Sustainable Communities Strategy 

Plan Bay Area is a long-range, integrated transportation and land-use/housing strategy through 2040 for 

the San Francisco Bay Area. The plan was adopted on July 18, 2013, by the Metropolitan Transportation 

Commission and the Association of Bay Area Governments, both of which govern the nine-county Bay 

Area, including San Mateo County. The plan identifies "Priority Development Areas" as areas for 

investment, new homes and job growth. 

LOCAL 

Town of Colma Municipal Code  

The town of Colma Municipal Code recognizes the contribution of both trees and views to the character of 

the town. Removal of trees without reasonable care would destroy the natural beauty of certain areas, 

contribute to erosion and increase the cost of drainage systems, reduce protection against wind, and impair 

residential privacy and quiet. Ordinance No. 689 (2010) provides guidelines to protect both trees and views, 

as well as guidelines to ensure that access to public property and public rights-of way, including sidewalks, 

by persons with disabilities is not constrained or inhibited. For such reasons, the City Council enacted 

regulations to promote the public health, safety, and welfare. 

Chapter 5 of the Town of Colma Municipal Code (CMC) addresses aesthetic considerations of future 

development. The Zoning Ordinance sets development standards for parking, building heights, setbacks, 

density, lot coverage, open space requirements, and signs. The CMC includes numerous references and 

requirements to avoid effects of light and glare on neighboring properties and uses, including Sections 

§5.03.070,§ §5.03.080, §5.03.234, and §5.03.670. 

 

 

 



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

“DR” Combining Zone”  

The “DR” Design Review zone is combined with all base zones to achieve a consistent site, landscape and 

building design theme in the applied areas. Design Review zones are in addition to and lay over the land 

use zones set forth in subparagraph (a) of Section §5.03.040 of Chapter 5 of the CMC. All real property from 

the junction of Mission Road and El Camino Real on the south to the junction of F Street and El Camino 

Real on the north, and from Junipero Serra Boulevard on the west to the town limits on the east, plus all 

property fronting on Mission Road, are included in the DR zone. 

4.1.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Aesthetics impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the 

project considered would result in any of the following: 

• Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista. 

• Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and 

historic buildings within a state scenic highway.  

• In non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of public views 

of the site and its surroundings? (Public views are those that are experienced from publicly accessible 

vantage point). If the project is in an urbanized area, would the project conflict with applicable zoning 

and other regulations governing scenic quality. 

• Create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day or nighttime views 

in the area. 

METHODOLOGY 

The Town of Colm’s visual character was reviewed and analyzed with respect to existing development and 

vacant parcels. Impacts affecting visual character reviewed any changes to the architecture and ambience 

of the town and the addition or elimination (such as existing open space) of any feature that have the 

potential to change the visual character of the town of Colma.  

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.1.1 Implementation of the proposed 2040 General Plan Update would not have a substantial 

adverse effect on scenic vistas or damage scenic resources within a state scenic highway 

(Less than Significant). 

Although the town of Colma contains wide areas of open spaces that provide scenic value to the town, 

there are no officially designated scenic vistas or highways within the Planning Area. Accordingly, the 2040 

General Plan Update would have not damage scenic resources within a state scenic highway. 

The surrounding areas of San Bruno Mountain State and County Park located east of the town include 

views of the hills and open lands, all of which are components of the region’s visual character. The town of 

Colma is visually characterized by its numerous open cemetery lands, small and low-rise residential 

structures and a mix of regional retail and local commercial spaces. The common aesthetic component of 

the town’s character is mainly a result of its cemetery land uses. Large properties, rolling hills, and quiet 

tranquil paths are a feature of the town’s cemeteries and future development of high intensity land uses 

could conflict with this major existing land use, which accounts for approximately 75% of the land uses in 



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

the town. The town had identified nine gateways that distinguish the town’s image from what is seen from 

the roadways as people approach and enter the town.  The 2040 GPU proposes updates to the town’s 

existing planning areas, simplifying these into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present 

condition of the town and the vision of the City Council. In addition, the proposed GPU introduces new 

land uses such as a medium density residential land use that is consistent with current developments, and 

a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The town 

does have limited open areas that could be redeveloped as “opportunity” or infill sites at higher intensity 

or heights for any new development under the 2040 GPU, but such development would not be proximate 

to, or would not result in a substantial adverse on any scenic vista. The 2040 GPU would allow for an 

additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square 

feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 

square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of 

commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 

square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, 

and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively.  

Moreover, the 2040 GPU’s Land Use and Open Space Elements include policies and action items that would 

further protect visual and scenic views from future redevelopment efforts within the town of Colma, and 

future development would be required to be consistent with the 2040 GPU such that the existing visual 

character of the town is preserved and any potential adverse effects are minimized. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address impacts to scenic vistas and highways in the 

Planning Area: 

Policy OSC-3-1: Transit Oriented Development. Encourage, to the extent feasible, higher density 

residential development to be located near transit corridors and public transportation. 

Policy M-6-1: Site Planning. Locate and design development projects within a scenic corridor to 

carefully fit within their environment and setting. The scenic character of the site 

should be maintained as much as possible. All development should be sited and 

designed to minimize the impacts of noise, light, glare, and odors on adjacent 

properties with the community at large. 

Policy M-6-2: Access to Scenic Corridors. Minimize the number of access roads to a scenic corridor 

wherever possible. Development of access roads shall be combined with the intent of 

minimizing intersections with scenic roadways. 

Policy M-6-3: Visual Impacts. Minimize visual impacts along scenic corridors. 

Policy M-6-4: Paving Integration. Require new development to design site plans that integrate 

paved areas into the site, relate paved areas to their structure, and landscape paved 

areas to reduce their visual impact from scenic corridors. Encourage use of textured 

paving. 

Policy LU-10-7:  Landscape Setback.  To create a consistent greenbelt theme along El Camino Real 

between Mission Road and the BART bridge, a 30’ landscape setback shall be observed. 

Within the setback, only surface parking is permitted. Surface parking must maintain 

a minimum setback of 10’, with the setback area heavily landscaped and bermed to 

visibly screen vehicles. 



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

The GPU would thus have a less than significant impact relating to scenic vistas and no mitigation 

measures are required.   

Impact 4.1.2 Development allowed under the proposed General Plan Update could degrade the 

existing visual character or the quality of public views in the Planning Area. The proposed 

General Plan Update would not conflict with applicable zoning or other regulations 

governing scenic vistas (Less than Significant). 

As mentioned under Impact 4.1.1, the 2040 GPU proposes updates to the town’s existing planning areas 

and introduces new land use designations such a medium density residential land use that is consistent 

with current developments, and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east 

of Hillside Boulevard. The town does have limited open areas that could be redeveloped as “opportunity” 

or infill sites at higher intensity or heights for any new development under the 2040 GPU. However, due 

to the limited number of vacant and potentially redevelopment sites in the town, the town of Colma’s 2040 

General Plan Update has limited potential to change the visual character of the town.  

Although the town has evaluated the potential of developing any existing vacant/developed sites it has 

also determined that most future development would occur around the concept of a Town Center, at the 

corner of El Camino Real and Serramonte Boulevard; along a Commercial Core that would include the 280 

Metro Center, Serra Center, Vivana Fair and Auto Row; within the cemetery and agricultural uses along 

Hillside Boulevard; with potential residential, commercial and light manufacturing uses along Mission 

Road; and, in the Sterling Park residential area. Such new development and future redevelopment or 

addition of new residential and commercial uses, construction of parking areas, additional recreational 

uses all have the potential to alter views in the Planning Area, which is primarily made up of urban areas 

and cemetery development. In addition, any future potential ancillary uses such as the construction of 

communications towers or commercial signage could have the potential to affect the town’s existing visual 

quality and views. 

Although the GPU anticipates 328 additional housing, 35,000 square feet of office space and 992,500 square 

feet of commercial uses over the 20 year General Plan horizon, all future development is anticipated to be 

developed on the few vacant or underutilized sites within the town. No existing developed areas would be 

altered in terms of uses and architecture. Since the town is limited to infill and redevelopment growth for 

future residential, commercial or office uses, compact development near the town center is encouraged and 

would protect the existing visual character of developed areas of the town and would protect the town’s 

visual character and existing cemetery and open space uses. Moreover, all future development projects 

would have to be consistent with applicable  zoning in the town. Infill development would be encouraged 

to be aesthetically pleasing and be compatible to surrounding land uses, particularly in the downtown area 

of the town of Colma. This would assist in creating minimal aesthetic contrasts with the existing uses in 

terms of scale, color, form, or overall visual character of the area.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address impacts to the visual character of the town of Colma: 

Policy LU-1-1  General Plan Land Use Diagram. Maintain and implement a Land Use Diagram for 

purposes of describing the types of allowed land uses by geographic location and the 

density and/or intensity of allowed uses within each designation.  

Policy LU-1-2 Zoning Consistency. Ensure that zoning designations are consistent with the General 

Land Use Diagram (Figure LU-4). 



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Policy LU-1-3 Balance New Development with Existing Setting. Prioritize new and higher density 

development consistent with the Town’s planning areas to ensure new development 

is context sensitive and contributes to creating a strong sense of place. New 

development shall serve to protect and enhance the positive aesthetic qualities of the 

Town and each geographic area. 

Policy LU-1-5 Clear and Predictable Development Standards. Strive to adopt and communicate 

clear and predictable development standards to ensure new development meets the 

expectations of the town. 

Policy LU-10-6  Spanish Mediterranean Design.  To create a consistent design theme along El Camino 

Real and at entry gateways, properties included in the Spanish Mediterranean Design 

Overlay shall utilize Spanish and Mediterranean design elements. 

Policy LU-12-1  Cemetery and Agriculture. Consider cemetery and agricultural uses as the primary 

permitted land uses in the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area (Less than Significant). 

Implementation of the above General Plan policies would assist in reducing impacts associated with land 

use changes that have the potential to change the overall visual character of the town of Colma. Since all 

new development would have to comply with the General Plan policies and applicable Zoning Code 

regulations, impacts would be reduced to less than significant and no further mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.1.3 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update could increase the amount of 

daytime glare and nighttime lighting in developed portions of the Planning Area and 

create new sources in undeveloped areas (Less than Significant). 

As mentioned under discussions for Impact 4.1.1, though the town has limited areas for redevelopment, 

other than the Sterling Park residential neighborhood, most of the future development would be in existing 

commercial areas of the town. The proposed GPU updates the town’s existing planning areas and 

introduces new land uses such a medium density residential and a commercial overlay over vacant and 

underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 

residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of 

commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square 

feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial 

uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of 

office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 

residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. The town has the 

capability to add 765 people under the potential development of its GPU planning period.  

Any future development under the proposed GPU has the potential to add new uses that could add to 

existing levels of light and nighttime glare within the town of Colma. New uses also have the potential to 

add buildings of greater height than existing structures, or that acerbate the sunlight reflecting of structures 

with reflective surfaces (such as windows or large glass doors), glare (light reflected off surfaces), night-

time illumination (artificial lighting from urban uses), or spillover lighting (artificial lighting from adjacent 

uses) that are already in existence within the town of Colma.  

The construction of any additional land uses in the Planning Area has the potential for new or substantial 

sources of light pollution within the town. Proposed land uses, however limited in size and structure, could 

include additional residential, commercial, office and public uses that may add to the existing sources or 

glare and night-time lighting. However, since the town is primarily built out future development would 

be limited to the redevelopment or infill development of underutilized parcels. Therefore, though these 

new development areas could result in new light sources, they would likely be compatible with nearby 



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

light sources (e.g., light from exiting commercial doors and windows, or upper story residential windows), 

especially in the Town Center, along Serramonte Blvd and Collins Avenue, and on specific sites on El 

Camino Real. Though implementation of the proposed General Plan Update then has the potential to result 

in nighttime lighting levels associated further residential and commercial development, it is considered a 

less than significant impact.   

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address impacts daytime glare and night-time lighting: 

Policy M-6-1: Site Planning. Locate and design development projects within a scenic corridor to 

carefully fit within their environment and setting. The scenic character of the site 

should be maintained as much as possible. All development should be sited and 

designed to minimize the impacts of noise, light, glare, and odors on adjacent 

properties with the community at large. 

Policy M-6-2: Lighting. The Town shall minimize obtrusive light by limiting outdoor lighting that is 

misdirected, excessive, or unnecessary from surrounding residential areas.  

Policy M-6-3: Lighting. Encourage street and parking lot lighting that creates a sense of security, 

complements building and landscape design, is energy-efficient, considers night sky 

visibility impacts (e.g., “dark skies”), and avoids conflicts with nearby residential uses. 

Policy M-6-4: Glare. The Town shall require that new development avoid the creation of 

incompatible glare through development design features, nighttime lighting timing 

restrictions, height restrictions, and types of lights, particularly adjacent to residential 

areas.  

Implementation of the policies described above would assist in further reducing impacts associated with 

daytime glare and night-time lighting and the GPU would thus have a less than significant impact related 

to daytime glare and nighttime lighting and no further mitigation is required. 

  



4.1 AESTHETICS  
 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.1-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

San Mateo County, California. November 1986. San Mateo County General Plan.  

Town of Colma. 2020. Town of Colma Existing Conditions Report 

Town of Colma. 2019. Town of Colma Municipal Code.  

Websites 

Plan Bay Area Regional Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities Strategy 

http://files.mtc.ca.gov/pdf/Plan_Bay_Area_FINAL/0-Introduction.pdf  

 

Colma Tree Cutting and Removal Ordinance https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-5-06-tree-cutting-

removal/   

 

Colma Public Tree Ordinance https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/colma-municipal-code-chapter-5-20-

public-trees/  

 

Colma Zoning Ordinance https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-5-03-zoning/  

http://files.mtc.ca.gov/pdf/Plan_Bay_Area_FINAL/0-Introduction.pdf
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-5-06-tree-cutting-removal/
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-5-06-tree-cutting-removal/
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/colma-municipal-code-chapter-5-20-public-trees/
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/colma-municipal-code-chapter-5-20-public-trees/
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-5-03-zoning/


4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

air quality within the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan’s Planning Area (Planning Area). This section also 

identifies the potential impacts of implementing the proposed project on such resources as well as the 

appropriate proposed General Plan policies that reduce the identified impacts.  

The analysis in this section is based on year 2040 buildout of the proposed project, as modeled using the 

California Air Resources Board’s (CARB) 2017 Emissions Factor Model (EMFAC2017), the Off-Road 

Emissions Factor Model (OFFROAD2017), natural gas use provided by Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E), as 

well as trip generation and vehicle miles traveled (VMT) provided by Kittelson and Associates (see 

Appendix E to this Draft PEIR). The criteria air pollutant emissions modeling are included in Appendix B 

of this Draft PEIR. 

4.2.1 EXISTING SETTING 

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA AIR BASIN 

The San Francisco Bay Area Air Basin (SFBAAB) comprises all of Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Napa, 

San Francisco, San Mateo, and Santa Clara counties; the southern portion of Sonoma County; and the 

southwestern portion of Solano County. Air quality in the SFBAAB area is determined by such natural 

factors as topography, meteorology, and climate, in addition to the presence of existing air pollution 

sources and ambient conditions (BAAQMD 2017a). The following are the natural factors in the SFBAAB 

that affect air pollution: 

▪ Meteorology: The SFBAAB is characterized by complex terrain, consisting of coastal mountain ranges, 

inland valleys, and bays, which distort normal wind flow patterns. The Coast Range1 splits in the San 

Francisco Bay Area (Bay Area), creating a western coast gap, the Golden Gate, and an eastern coast gap, 

the Carquinez Strait, all of which allow air to flow in and out of the Bay Area and the Central Valley. 

The Bay Area climate is dominated by the strength and location of a semi-permanent, subtropical high-

pressure cell. During the summer, the Pacific Ocean high-pressure cell is centered over the northeastern 

Pacific Ocean, resulting in stable meteorological conditions and a steady northwesterly wind flow. 

Upwelling of cold ocean water from below the surface because of the northwesterly flow produces a 

band of cold water off the California coast. The cool and moisture-laden air approaching the coast from 

the Pacific Ocean is further cooled by the presence of the cold water band, resulting in condensation 

and the presence of fog and stratus clouds along the northern California coast. In the winter, the Pacific 

high-pressure cell weakens and shifts southward, resulting in wind flow offshore, the absence of 

upwelling, and the occurrence of storms. Weak inversions coupled with moderate winds result in a 

low air pollution potential (BAAQMD 2017a).  

▪ Wind Patterns: During the summer, winds flowing from the northwest are drawn inland through the 

Golden Gate area and over the lower portions of the San Francisco Peninsula. Immediately south of 

Mount Tamalpais in Marin County, the northwesterly winds accelerate considerably and come more 

directly from the west as they stream through the Golden Gate bridge area. This channeling of wind 

through the Golden Gate bridge produces a jet that sweeps eastward and splits off to the northwest 

toward Richmond and to the southwest toward the city of San José when it meets the East Bay hills. 

Wind speeds may be strong locally in areas where air is channeled through a narrow opening, such as 

the Carquinez Strait, the Golden Gate, or the San Bruno gap (BAAQMD 2017a).  

The air flowing in from the coast to the Central Valley, called the sea breeze, begins developing at or 

near ground level along the coast in late morning or early afternoon and the sea breeze deepens and 

 
1  The Coast Ranges traverses California’s west coast from Humboldt County to Santa Barbara County. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

increases in velocity while spreading inland. Under normal atmospheric conditions, the air in the lower 

atmosphere is warmer than the air above it. In the winter, the SFBAAB frequently experiences stormy 

conditions with moderate to strong winds, as well as periods of stagnation with very light winds. 

Winter stagnation episodes (i.e., conditions where there is little mixing, which occurs when there is a 

lack of or little wind) are characterized by nighttime drainage flows in coastal valleys. Drainage is a 

reversal of the usual daytime air-flow patterns; air moves from the Central Valley toward the coast and 

back down toward the Bay from the smaller valleys within the SFBAAB (BAAQMD 2017a).  

▪ Wind Circulation: Low wind speed contributes to the buildup of air pollution because it allows more 

pollutants to be emitted into the air mass per unit of time. Light winds occur most frequently during 

periods of low sun (fall and winter, and early morning) and at night. These are also periods when air 

pollutant emissions from some sources are at their peak, namely, commuter traffic (early morning) and 

wood-burning appliances (nighttime). The problem can be compounded in valleys when weak air 

flows carry the pollutants up-valley during the day and cold air drainage flows move the air mass 

down-valley at night. Such restricted movement of trapped air provides little opportunity for 

ventilation, and leads to buildup of pollutants to potentially unhealthful levels (BAAQMD 2017a). 

▪ Inversions: An inversion is a layer of warmer air over a layer of cooler air. Inversions affect air quality 

conditions significantly because they influence the mixing depth (i.e., the vertical depth in the 

atmosphere available for diluting air contaminants near the ground). There are two types of inversions 

that occur regularly in the SFBAAB. Elevation inversions2 are more common in the summer and fall, 

and radiation inversions3 are more common during the winter. The highest air pollutant concentrations 

in the SFBAAB generally occur during inversions (BAAQMD 2017a). 

▪ Temperature: Summertime temperatures in the SFBAAB are determined in large part by the effect of 

differential heating between land and water surfaces. On summer afternoons, the temperatures at the 

Pacific coast can be 35 degrees Fahrenheit cooler than temperatures 15 to 20 miles inland; at night, this 

contrast usually decreases to less than 10 degrees Fahrenheit. In the winter, the relationship of 

minimum and maximum temperatures is reversed. During the daytime, the temperature contrast 

between the coast and inland areas is small, whereas at night the variation in temperature is large for 

this region (BAAQMD 2017a). 

▪ Precipitation: The SFBAAB is characterized by moderately wet winters and dry summers. Winter rains 

(November through March) account for about 75 percent of the average annual rainfall. The amount of 

annual precipitation can vary greatly from one part of the SFBAAB to another, even within short 

distances. In general, total annual rainfall can reach 40 inches in the mountains, but it is often less than 

16 inches in the area’s sheltered valleys. During rainy periods, ventilation (rapid horizontal movement 

of air and injection of cleaner air) and vertical mixing (an upward and downward movement of air) 

are usually high, and thus pollution levels tend to be low (i.e., air pollutants are dispersed more readily 

into the atmosphere rather than accumulate under stagnant conditions). However, during the winter, 

frequent dry periods do occur, where mixing and ventilation are low and pollutant levels build up 

(BAAQMD 2017a). 

Attainment Status of the SFBAAB 

The Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) and CARB operate a regional monitoring 

network that measures the ambient concentrations of six criteria air pollutants: ozone, carbon monoxide 

 
2  When the air blows over elevated areas, it is heated as it is compressed into the side of the hill/mountain. When that warm air comes over 

the top, it is warmer than the cooler air of the valley. 
3  During the night, the ground cools off, radiating the heat to the sky. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

(CO), nitrogen dioxide (NO2), sulfur dioxide (SO2), particulate matter (PM), and lead. Areas that meet the 

Ambient Air Quality Standards (AAQS) are classified attainment areas, and areas that do not meet these 

standards are classified nonattainment areas. Severity classifications for O3 range from marginal, moderate, 

and serious to severe and extreme.  

▪ Unclassified. A pollutant is designated unclassified if the data are incomplete and do not support a 

designation of attainment or nonattainment. 

▪ Attainment. A pollutant is in attainment if the AAQS for that pollutant was not violated at any site in 

the area during a three-year period. 

▪ Nonattainment. A pollutant is in nonattainment if there was at least one violation of an AAQS for that 

pollutant in the area. 

▪ Nonattainment/Transitional. A subcategory of the nonattainment designation. An area is designated 

nonattainment/transitional to signify that the area is close to attaining the AAQS for that pollutant. 

The attainment status for the SFBAAB is shown in Table 4.2-1: Attainment Status of Criteria Pollutants in 

the San Francisco Bay Area Air Basin. The SFBAAB is currently designated a nonattainment area for 

California and federal O3, California and federal PM2.5, and California PM10 AAQS.  

  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.1: Attainment Status of Criteria Pollutants in the San Francisco Bay Area Air Basin 

Pollutant State Federal 

 

Existing Ambient Air Quality 

Existing levels of ambient air quality and historical trends and projections in the vicinity of the town of 

Colma have been documented and measured by the BAAQMD, which has 24 permanent monitoring 

stations located around the Bay Area. Table 4.2.2: Ambient Air Quality Monitoring Summary below 

presents measurement data from the nearest operating air quality monitoring station nearby located in the 

city of San Francisco, for the most recent five full years of data available (2014-2018). According to the table, 

the data show occasional violations of the State and federal O3 standards, State PM10, and federal PM2.5 

standard. 

  

Ozone – 1-hour 
Nonattainment Classification revoked (2005) 

Ozone – 8-hour 
Nonattainment (serious) Nonattainment (marginal)a 

PM10 – 24-hour 
Nonattainment Unclassified/ Attainmentb 

PM2.5 – 24-hour 
Nonattainment Nonattainment 

CO – 8-hour and 1-hour 
Attainment Attainment 

NO2 – 1-hour 
Attainment Unclassified 

SO2 – 24-hour and 1-hour 
Attainment Attainment 

Lead 
Attainment Attainment 

Sulfates  
Attainment Unclassified/Attainment 

All others 
Unclassified/Attainment Unclassified/Attainment 

Notes: 

a. Severity classification current as of February 13, 2017.  

b. In December 2014, USEPA issued final area designations for the 2012 primary annual PM2.5 National AAQS. Areas 

designated “unclassifiable/attainment” must continue to take steps to prevent their air quality from deteriorating to unhealthy 

levels. The effective date of this standard is April 15, 2015.  

Source: CARB. Area Designations Maps: State and National. http://www.arb.ca.gov/desig/adm/adm.htm. 2019; and 

BAAQMD Air Quality Standards and Attainment Status. http://www.baaqmd.gov/research-and-data/air-quality-

standards-and-attainment-status#thirteen. 2017. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.2: Ambient Air Quality Monitoring Summary 

Pollutant/Standard 

Number of Days Threshold Were Exceeded and  

Maximum Levels During Such Violations 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Sensitive Receptors 

Some land uses are considered more sensitive to air pollution than others due to the types of population 

groups or activities involved with such uses. Sensitive population groups include children, the elderly, the 

acutely ill, and the chronically ill, especially those with cardiorespiratory diseases. Residential areas are 

considered sensitive receptors to air pollution because residents (including children and the elderly) tend 

to be at home for extended periods of time, resulting in sustained exposure to any pollutants present. Other 

sensitive receptors include retirement facilities, hospitals, and schools. Recreational land uses are 

considered moderately sensitive to air pollution. Although exposure periods are generally short, physical 

exercise places a high demand on respiratory functions, which can be impaired by air pollution. In addition, 

noticeable air pollution can detract from the enjoyment of recreation. Industrial, commercial, retail, and 

office areas are considered the least sensitive to air pollution. Exposure periods are relatively short and 

intermittent since the majority of the workers tend to stay indoors most of the time. In addition, the working 

population is generally the healthiest segment of the public.  

  

Ozone (O3) 

State 1-Hour  0.09 ppm 

State 8-hour  0.070 ppm 

Federal 8-Hour > 0.075 ppmc 

Maximum 1-Hour Conc. (ppm) 

Maximum 8-Hour Conc. (ppm) 

0 

0 

0 

0.079 

0.069 

0 

1 

0 

0.085 

0.067 

0 

0 

0 

0.070 

0.057 

0 

2 

2 

0.087 

0.054 

0 

0 

0 

0.065 

0.048 

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 

State 1-Hour  0.18 (ppm) 

Maximum 1-Hour Conc. (ppb) 

0 

83.7 

0 

70.6 

0 

58.1 

0 

73.0 

0 

68.8 

Fine Particulates (PM10) 

State 24-Hour > 50 µg/m3 

Federal 24-Hour > 150 µg/m3 

Maximum 24-Hour Conc. (µg/ m3) 

0 

0 

35.9 

0 

0 

47.0 

0 

0 

35.7 

2 

0 

77.0 

0 

0 

43.0 

Fine Particulates (PM2.5) 

Federal 24-Hour > 35 µg/m3 

Maximum 24-Hour Conc. (µg/m3) 

0 

33.2 

0 

35.4 

0 

19.6 

7 

49.9 

14 

177.4 

Notes: ppm: parts per million; ppb: parts per billion; µg/m3: or micrograms per cubic meter 

Source: CARB.  Air Pollution Data Monitoring Cards (2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018). Accessed at: 

https://www.arb.ca.gov/adam/topfour/topfour1.php. Accessed August 15, 2020. Data from the San Francisco 

Monitoring Station. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Placement of New Sensitive Receptors 

Since placement of sensitive land uses falls outside CARB’s jurisdiction, the agency has developed and 

approved the Air Quality and Land Use Handbook: A Community Health Perspective to address the siting 

of sensitive land uses in the vicinity of freeways, distribution centers, rail yards, ports, refineries, chrome-

plating facilities, dry cleaners, and gasoline-dispensing facilities. This guidance document was developed 

to assess compatibility and associated health risks when placing sensitive receptors near existing pollution 

sources. CARB’s recommendations on the siting of new sensitive land uses identified in Table 4.2.3: CARB 

Recommendations For Siting New Sensitive Land Uses, were based on a compilation of recent studies 

that evaluated data on the adverse health effects ensuing from proximity to air pollution sources. The key 

observation in these studies is that proximity to air pollution sources substantially increases both exposure 

and the potential for adverse health effects. There are three carcinogenic toxic air contaminants that 

constitute the majority of the known health risks from motor vehicle traffic: Diesel particulate matter (DPM) 

from trucks, benzene and 1,3-butadiene from passenger vehicles. 

Table 4.2.3: CARB Recommendations for Siting New Sensitive Land Uses 

Source/Category Advisory Recommendations 

 

 

Freeways and  

High-Traffic Roads 

Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 500 feet of a freeway, urban roads with 100,000 

vehicles per day, or rural roads with 50,000 vehicles per day. 

Distribution Centers 

Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 1,000 feet of a distribution center (that 

accommodates more than 100 trucks per day, more than 40 trucks with operating transport 

refrigeration units [TRUs] per day, or where TRU unit operations exceed 300 hours per 

week). 

Take into account the configuration of existing distribution centers and avoid locating 

residences and other sensitive land uses near entry and exit points. 

Rail Yards 

Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 1,000 feet of a major service and maintenance rail 

yard. Within one mile of a rail yard, consider possible siting limitations and mitigation 

approaches. 

Ports 

Avoid siting of new sensitive land uses immediately downwind of ports in the most heavily 

impacted zones. Consult local air districts or CARB on the status of pending analyses of 

health risks. 

Refineries 

Avoid siting new sensitive land uses immediately downwind of petroleum refineries. 

Consult with local air districts and other local agencies to determine an appropriate 

separation. 

Chrome Platers Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 1,000 feet of a chrome plater. 

Dry Cleaners Using 

Perchloroethylene 

Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 300 feet of any dry cleaning operation. For 

operations with two or more machines, provide 500 feet. For operations with three or more 

machines, consult with the local air district. Do not site new sensitive land uses in the same 

building with perchloroethylene dry cleaning operations. 

Gasoline Dispensing 

Facilities 

Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 300 feet of a large gas station (defined as a 

facility with a throughput of 3.6 million gallons per year or greater). A 50-foot separation is 

recommended for typical gas dispensing facilities. 

Source: CARB. Air Quality and Land Use Handbook: A Community Health Perspective. 2005, May. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Existing Emissions 

Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory 

Table 4.2.4: Existing Town of Colma Regional Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions Inventory 

Pollutant/Standard 2020 Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions (pounds per day) 

 VOC NOX PM10 PM2.5 

Pollutant/Standard 2020 Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions (tons per year) 

 

  

Transportation 6 30 8 4 

Energyb 0 4 0 0 

Offroad Equipmentc 5 9 1 1 

Consumer Products 20 ― ― ― 

Total 32 43 10 5 

 VOC NOX PM10 PM2.5 

Transportation 1 5 1 1 

Energyb <1 1 <1 <1 

Offroad Equipment 1 2 <1 <1 

Consumer Products 4 ― ― ― 

Total 6 8 2 1 

a On-road transportation VMT is provided by Kittelson and Associates and modeled with EMFAC2017 Project 

Level (PL) Web database.  

b Building natural gas are based on data provided by PG&E.  
c On-road vehicles and equipment are based on the OFFROAD2017 emissions inventory and include 

construction equipment and commercial equipment.  

d Residential consumer product use based on the emissions factors in the CalEEMod Users Guide Version 

2016.3.2.  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Stationary Sources 

Stationary sources of air pollution—including complex sources such as the crematoriums as well as smaller 

facilities such as diesel generators, gasoline dispensing facilities (GDFs or gas stations), and boilers—are 

regulated and subject to permit conditions established by the BAAQMD.4  

4.2.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

Criteria Air Pollutants 

Pollutants emitted into the ambient air by stationary and mobile sources are regulated by federal and State 

law under the federal Clean Air Act (“National”) and California Clean Air Act, respectively. The pollutants 

emitted into the ambient air by stationary and mobile sources are categorized as primary and/or secondary 

pollutants. Primary air pollutants are emitted directly; secondary air pollutants occur through chemical 

reactions. Carbon monoxide (CO), reactive organic gases (ROG), nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur dioxide 

(SO2), coarse inhalable particulate matter (PM10), fine inhalable particulate matter (PM2.5), and lead (Pb) are 

primary air pollutants. Of these, CO, SO2, NO2, PM10, and PM2.5 are “criteria air pollutants,” which means 

that ambient air quality standards (AAQS) have been established for them. ROG and NOx are criteria 

pollutant precursors that form secondary criteria air pollutants through chemical and photochemical 

reactions in the atmosphere. Ozone (O3) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2) are the principal secondary pollutants. 

Each of the primary and secondary criteria air pollutants and its known health effects are: 

▪ Carbon Monoxide (CO) is a colorless, odorless gas produced by incomplete combustion of carbon 

substances, such as gasoline or diesel fuel. CO is a primary criteria air pollutant. CO concentrations 

tend to be the highest during winter mornings with little to no wind, when surface-based inversions 

trap the pollutant at ground levels. The highest ambient CO concentrations are generally found near 

traffic-congested corridors and intersections. When inhaled at high concentrations, CO combines with 

hemoglobin in the blood and reduces its oxygen-carrying capacity. This results in reduced oxygen 

reaching the brain, heart, and other body tissues. This condition is especially critical for people with 

cardiovascular diseases, chronic lung disease, or anemia, as well as for fetuses. Even healthy people 

exposed to high CO concentrations can experience headaches, dizziness, fatigue, unconsciousness, and 

even death (BAAQMD 2017a). 

▪ Reactive Organic Gases (ROGs)/Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) are compounds composed 

primarily of hydrogen and carbon atoms. Internal combustion associated with motor vehicle usage is 

the major source of ROGs. Other sources of ROGs include evaporative emissions from paints and 

solvents, the application of asphalt paving, and the use of household consumer products such as 

aerosols. Adverse effects on human health are not caused directly by ROGs, but rather by reactions of 

ROGs to form secondary pollutants such as O3. There are no AAQS established for ROGs. However, 

because they contribute to the formation of O3, the BAAQMD has established a significance threshold 

for this pollutant (BAAQMD 2017a).  

▪ Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) are a by-product of fuel combustion and contribute to the formation of O3, 

PM10, and PM2.5. The two major components of NOx are nitric oxide (NO) and NO2. The principal 

component of NOx produced by combustion is NO, but NO reacts with oxygen to form NO2, creating 

the mixture of NO and NO2 commonly called NOX. NO2 absorbs blue light; the result is a brownish-

red cast to the atmosphere and reduced visibility. NO is a colorless, odorless gas formed from 

atmospheric nitrogen and oxygen when combustion takes place under high temperature and/or high 

 
4  Permitted facilities are mapped by BAAQMD and can be found at: 

https://baaqmd.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=2387ae674013413f987b1071715daa65 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

pressure.5 NO2 acts as an acute irritant and in equal concentrations is more injurious than NO. At 

atmospheric concentrations, however, NO2 is only potentially irritating. There is some indication of a 

relationship between NO2 and chronic pulmonary fibrosis. Some increase in bronchitis in children (2 

and 3 years old) has also been observed at concentrations below 0.3 parts per million (ppm) (BAAQMD 

2017a).  

▪ Sulfur Dioxide (SO2) is a colorless, pungent, irritating gas formed by the combustion of sulfurous fossil 

fuels. It enters the atmosphere as a result of burning high-sulfur-content fuel oils and coal and from 

chemical processes at chemical plants and refineries. Gasoline and natural gas have very low sulfur 

content and do not release significant quantities of SO2. When SO2 forms sulfates (SO4) in the 

atmosphere, together these pollutants are referred to as sulfur oxides (SOx). Thus, SO2 is both a primary 

and secondary criteria air pollutant. At sufficiently high concentrations, SO2 may irritate the upper 

respiratory tract. At lower concentrations and when combined with particulates, SO2 may do greater 

harm by injuring lung tissue (BAAQMD 2017a).  

▪ Suspended Particulate Matter (PM10 and PM2.5) consists of finely divided solids or liquids such as soot, 

dust, aerosols, fumes, and mists. In the SFBAAB, most particulate matter is caused by combustion, 

factories, construction, grading, demolition, agricultural activities, and motor vehicles. Two forms of 

fine particulates are now recognized and regulated. Inhalable coarse particles, or PM10, include the 

particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10 microns (i.e., 10 millionths of a meter or 0.0004 

inch) or less. Inhalable fine particles, or PM2.5, have an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5 microns or less (i.e., 

2.5 millionths of a meter or 0.0001 inch). DPM is also classified a carcinogen by the CARB. Extended 

exposure to particulate matter can increase the risk of chronic respiratory disease. PM10 bypasses the 

body’s natural filtration system more easily than larger particles and can lodge deep in the lungs. The 

USEPA scientific review concluded that PM2.5 penetrates even more deeply into the lungs, and this is 

more likely to contribute to health effects—at concentrations well below current PM10 standards. These 

health effects include premature death in people with heart or lung disease, nonfatal heart attacks, 

irregular heartbeat, aggravated asthma, decreased lung function, and increased respiratory symptoms 

(e.g., irritation of the airways, coughing, or difficulty breathing). Motor vehicles are currently 

responsible for about half of particulates in the SFBAAB. Wood burning in fireplaces and stoves is 

another large source of fine particulates (BAAQMD 2017a). 

▪ Ozone (O3) is commonly referred to as “smog” and is a gas that is formed when ROGs and NOx, both 

by-products of internal combustion engine exhaust, undergo photochemical reactions in the presence 

of sunlight. O3 is a secondary criteria air pollutant. O3 concentrations are generally highest during the 

summer months when direct sunlight, light winds, and warm temperatures create favorable conditions 

to the formation of this pollutant. O3 poses a health threat to those who already suffer from respiratory 

diseases as well as to healthy people. O3 levels usually build up during the day and peak in the 

afternoon hours. Short-term exposure can irritate the eyes and cause constriction of the airways. 

Besides causing shortness of breath, it can aggravate existing respiratory diseases such as asthma, 

bronchitis, and emphysema. Chronic exposure to high ozone levels can permanently damage lung 

tissue. O3 can also damage plants and trees and materials such as rubber and fabrics (BAAQMD 2017a).  

▪ Lead (Pb) is a metal found naturally in the environment as well as in manufactured products. The 

major sources of lead emissions have historically been mobile and industrial sources. As a result of the 

phasing out of leaded gasoline, metal processing is currently the primary source of lead emissions. The 

highest levels of lead in air are generally found near lead smelters. Other stationary sources are waste 

incinerators, utilities, and lead-acid battery manufacturers. Because emissions of lead are found only 

in projects that are permitted by the BAAQMD, lead is not an air quality of concern for the proposed 

project (BAAQMD 2017a). 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.5: Criteria Air Pollutant Health Effects Summary, summarizes the potential health effects 

associated with the criteria air pollutants. 

Toxic Air Contaminants 

The California Health and Safety Code defines a TAC as “an air pollutant which may cause or contribute 

to an increase in mortality or in serious illness, or which may pose a present or potential hazard to human 

health.” A substance that is listed as a hazardous air pollutant pursuant to Section 112(b) of the federal 

Clean Air Act (42 US Code § 7412[b]) is a TAC. People exposed to toxic air pollutants at sufficient 

concentrations and durations may have an increased chance of getting cancer or experiencing other serious 

health effects. These health effects can include damage to the immune system, as well as neurological, 

reproductive (e.g., reduced fertility), developmental, respiratory and other health problems (USEPA 2019). 

At the time of the last update to the TAC list in December 1999, the CARB had designated 244 compounds 

as TACs (CARB 1999). Additionally, CARB has implemented control measures for a number of compounds 

that pose high risks and show potential for effective control measures. The majority of the estimated health 

risks from TACs can be attributed to relatively few compounds. The most important compounds are 

particulate matter from diesel-fueled engines.  

  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.5: Criteria Air Pollutant Health Effects Summary 

Pollutant Health Effects Examples of Sources 

Diesel Particulate Matter 

In 1998, CARB identified DPM as a TAC. Previously, the individual chemical compounds in diesel exhaust 

were considered TACs. Almost all diesel exhaust particles are 10 microns or less in diameter. Because of 

their extremely small size, these particles can be inhaled and eventually trapped in the bronchial and 

alveolar regions of the lungs. According to the BAAQMD, PM emitted from diesel engines contributes to 

more than 85 percent of the cancer risk within the SFBAAB. Cancer risk from TACs is highest near major 

DPM sources (BAAQMD 2014). 

FEDERAL AND STATE 

Ambient air quality standards have been adopted at federal and state levels for criteria air pollutants. In 

addition, both the federal and State governments regulate the release of TACs. The town of Colma is in the 

SFBAAB and is subject to the rules and regulations imposed by the BAAQMD, the National AAQS adopted 

by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), and the California AAQS adopted by 

CARB.  

Carbon Monoxide 

(CO) 

Chest pain in heart patients 

Headaches, nausea 

Reduced mental alertness 

Death at very high levels 

Any source that burns fuel such as cars, trucks, 

construction and farming equipment, and 

residential heaters and stoves 

Ozone (O3) Cough, chest tightness 

Difficulty taking a deep breath 

Worsened asthma symptoms 

Lung inflammation 

Atmospheric reaction of organic gases with 

nitrogen oxides in sunlight 

Nitrogen Dioxide 

(NO2) 

Increased response to allergens 

Aggravation of respiratory illness 

Same as carbon monoxide sources 

Particulate Matter 

(PM10 & PM2.5) 

Hospitalizations for worsened heart 

diseases 

Emergency room visits for asthma 

Premature death 

Cars and trucks (particularly diesels) 

Fireplaces and woodstoves 

Windblown dust from overlays, agriculture, and 

construction 

Sulfur Dioxide (SO2) Aggravation of respiratory disease 

(e.g., asthma and emphysema) 

Reduced lung function 

Combustion of sulfur-containing fossil fuels, 

smelting of sulfur-bearing metal ores, and 

industrial processes 

Lead (Pb) Behavioral and learning disabilities in 

children 

Nervous system impairment 

Contaminated soil 

Sources: CARB Fact Sheet: Air Pollution and Health. https://www.arb.ca.gov/research/health/fs/fs1/fs1.htm. 2009; 

and South Coast AQMD. Guidance Document for Addressing Air Quality Issues in General Plans and Local 

Planning. http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/planning/air-quality-guidance/complete-guidance-

document.pdf. 2005. 

https://www.arb.ca.gov/research/health/fs/fs1/fs1.htm


4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). The United States Environmental Protection Agency 

(USEPA) was established in 1970 and is the federal agency that is responsible for enforcing laws and 

regulations as they pertain to environmental protection. Of these laws and regulations, the USEPA is 

responsible for enforcing the Federal Clean Air Act and the National Ambient Air Quality Standards 

(National AAQS). Furthermore, the USEPA is responsible for setting emission standards and regulating 

emissions of air pollutants from mobile and stationary sources.  

▪ California Air Resources Board (CARB). Founded in 1967, CARB is the agency that oversees air quality 

planning and control throughout California. CARB is charged with protecting the public from the 

harmful effects of air pollution and developing programs and actions to fight climate change. In 

addition, CARB is responsible for enforcing the California Clean Air Act and the California AAQS. 

Furthermore, it is responsible for regulating mobile air pollutant sources and defining vehicle emission 

standards for vehicles sold in California and other sources, including consumer products and off-road 

equipment. CARB also oversees the functions of local air pollution control districts and air quality 

management districts, which manage air pollutants on a regional basis. 

Federal, State, regional, and local laws, regulations, plans, or guidelines that are potentially applicable to 

the proposed project are summarized below. 

California and National Ambient Air Quality Standards 

The Clean Air Act was passed in 1963 by the US Congress and has been amended several times. The 1970 

Clean Air Act amendments strengthened previous legislation and laid the foundation for the regulatory 

scheme of the 1970s and 1980s. In 1977, Congress again added several provisions, including nonattainment 

requirements for areas not meeting National AAQS and the Prevention of Significant Deterioration 

program. The 1990 amendments represent the latest in a series of federal efforts to regulate the protection 

of air quality in the United States. The Clean Air Act allows states to adopt more stringent standards or to 

include other pollution species. The California Clean Air Act, signed into law in 1988, requires all areas of 

the state to achieve and maintain the California AAQS by the earliest practical date. The California AAQS 

tend to be more restrictive than the National AAQS, based on even greater health and welfare concerns. 

Both California and the federal government have established health-based AAQS for seven air pollutants, 

which are shown in Table 4.2.6: Ambient Air Quality Standards for Criteria Pollutants. These National 

AAQS and California AAQS are the levels of air quality considered to provide a margin of safety in the 

protection of the public health and welfare. They are designed to protect “sensitive receptors” most 

susceptible to further respiratory distress, such as asthmatics, the elderly, very young children, people 

already weakened by other disease or illness, and persons engaged in strenuous work or exercise. Healthy 

adults can tolerate occasional exposure to air pollutant concentrations considerably above these minimum 

standards before adverse effects are observed. 

Table 4.2.6: Ambient Air Quality Standards for Criteria Pollutants 

Pollutant 

Averaging  

Time 

California 

Standarda 

Federal Primary 

Standardb Major Pollutant Sources 

Ozone (O3)c 

1 hour 0.09 ppm * 
Motor vehicles, paints, coatings, and 

solvents. 
8 hours 0.070 ppm 0.070 ppm 

1 hour 20 ppm 35 ppm 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.6: Ambient Air Quality Standards for Criteria Pollutants 

Pollutant 

Averaging  

Time 

California 

Standarda 

Federal Primary 

Standardb Major Pollutant Sources 

Carbon Monoxide 

(CO) 
8 hours 9.0 ppm 9 ppm 

Internal combustion engines, 

primarily gasoline-powered motor 

vehicles. 

Nitrogen Dioxide 

(NO2) 

Annual 

Arithmetic 

Mean 

0.030 ppm 0.053 ppm Motor vehicles, petroleum-refining 

operations, industrial sources, 

aircraft, ships, and railroads. 
1 hour 0.18 ppm 0.100 ppm 

Sulfur Dioxide (SO2) 

Annual 

Arithmetic 

Mean 

* 0.030 ppm 

Fuel combustion, chemical plants, 

sulfur recovery plants, and metal 

processing. 1 hour 0.25 ppm 0.075 ppm 

24 hours 0.04 ppm 0.14 ppm 

Respirable Coarse 

Particulate Matter 

(PM10) 

Annual 

Arithmetic 

Mean 

20 µg/m3 * 

Dust and fume-producing 

construction, industrial, and 

agricultural operations, combustion, 

atmospheric photochemical 

reactions, and natural activities (e.g., 

wind-raised dust and ocean sprays). 
24 hours 50 µg/m3 150 µg/m3 

Respirable Fine 

Particulate Matter 

(PM2.5)d 

Annual 

Arithmetic 

Mean 

12 µg/m3 12 µg/m3 

Dust and fume-producing 

construction, industrial, and 

agricultural operations, combustion, 

atmospheric photochemical 

reactions, and natural activities (e.g., 

wind-raised dust and ocean sprays). 
24 hours * 35 µg/m3 

Lead (Pb) 

30-Day Average 1.5 µg/m3 * 

Present source: lead smelters, battery 

manufacturing & recycling facilities. 

Past source: combustion of leaded 

gasoline. 

Calendar 

Quarter 
* 1.5 µg/m3 

Rolling 3-

Month Average 
* 0.15 µg/m3 

Sulfates (SO4)e 24 hours 25 µg/m3 * Industrial processes. 

Visibility Reducing 

Particles 
8 hours 

ExCo =0.23/km 

visibility of 10≥ 

miles 

No Federal 

Standard 

Visibility-reducing particles consist 

of suspended particulate matter, 

which is a complex mixture of tiny 

particles that consists of dry solid 

fragments, solid cores with liquid 

coatings, and small droplets of 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.6: Ambient Air Quality Standards for Criteria Pollutants 

Pollutant 

Averaging  

Time 

California 

Standarda 

Federal Primary 

Standardb Major Pollutant Sources 

liquid. These particles vary greatly in 

shape, size and chemical 

composition, and can be made up of 

many different materials such as 

metals, soot, soil, dust, and salt. 

Hydrogen Sulfide 1 hour 0.03 ppm 
No Federal 

Standard 

Hydrogen sulfide (H2S) is a colorless 

gas with the odor of rotten eggs. It is 

formed during bacterial 

decomposition of sulfur-containing 

organic substances. Also, it can be 

present in sewer gas and some 

natural gas, and can be emitted as 

the result of geothermal energy 

exploitation. 

Vinyl Chloride 24 hours 0.01 ppm 
No Federal 

Standard 

Vinyl chloride (chloroethene), a 

chlorinated hydrocarbon, is a 

colorless gas with a mild, sweet odor. 

Most vinyl chloride is used to make 

polyvinyl chloride (PVC) plastic and 

vinyl products. Vinyl chloride has 

been detected near landfills, sewage 

plants, and hazardous waste sites, 

due to microbial breakdown of 

chlorinated solvents. 

  

Notes: ppm: parts per million; μg/m3: micrograms per cubic meter; *Standard has not been established for this pollutant/duration by this entity.  

a. California standards for O3, CO (except 8-hour Lake Tahoe), SO2 (1 and 24 hour), NO2, and particulate matter (PM10, PM2.5, and visibility 

reducing particles), are values that are not to be exceeded. All others are not to be equaled or exceeded. California ambient air quality standards 

are listed in the Table of Standards in Section 70200 of Title 17 of the California Code of Regulations. 

b. National standards (other than O3, PM, and those based on annual arithmetic mean) are not to be exceeded more than once a year. The O3 

standard is attained when the fourth highest 8-hour concentration measured at each site in a year, averaged over three years, is equal to or less 

than the standard. For PM10, the 24-hour standard is attained when the expected number of days per calendar year with a 24-hour average 

concentration above 150 µg/m3 is equal to or less than one. For PM2.5, the 24-hour standard is attained when 98 percent of the daily 

concentrations, averaged over 3 years, are equal to or less than the standard.  

c. On October 1, 2015, the national 8-hour ozone primary and secondary standards were lowered from 0.075 to 0.070 ppm. 

d. On December 14, 2012, the national annual PM2.5 primary standard was lowered from 15 μg/m3 to 12.0 µg/m3. The existing national 24-

hour PM2.5 standards (primary and secondary) were retained at 35 µg/m3, as was the annual secondary standard of 15 µg/m3. The existing 24-

hour PM10 standards (primary and secondary) of 150 µg/m3 also were retained. The form of the annual primary and secondary standards is the 

annual mean, averaged over 3 years. 

e. On June 2, 2010, a new 1-hour SO2 standard was established and the existing 24-hour and annual primary standards were revoked. The 1-

hour national standard is in units of parts per billion (ppb). California standards are in units of parts per million (ppm). To directly compare 

the 1-hour national standard to the California standard the units can be converted to ppm. In this case, the national standard of 75 ppb is 

identical to 0.075 ppm. 

Source: CARB. Ambient Air Quality Standards. https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/aaqs2.pdf. 2016. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

California Air Resources Board (CARB) 

Tanner Air Toxics Act and Air Toxics “Hot Spot” Information and Assessment Act 

Public exposure to TACs is a significant environmental health issue in California. In 1983, the California 

Legislature enacted a program to identify the health effects of TACs and reduce exposure to these 

contaminants to protect public health. A substance that is listed as a hazardous air pollutant pursuant to 

Section 112(b) of the federal Clean Air Act (42 US Code § 7412[b]) is a toxic air contaminant. Under State 

law, the California Environmental Protection Agency, acting through CARB, is authorized to identify a 

substance as a TAC if it is an air pollutant that may cause or contribute to an increase in mortality or serious 

illness, or may pose a present or potential hazard to human health. 

California regulates TACs primarily through AB 1807 (Tanner Air Toxics Act) and AB 2588 (Air Toxics 

“Hot Spot” Information and Assessment Act of 1987). The Tanner Air Toxics Act sets up a formal procedure 

for CARB to designate substances as TACs. Once a TAC is identified, CARB adopts an “airborne toxics 

control measure” for sources that emit designated TACs. If there is a safe threshold for a substance (i.e., a 

point below which there is no toxic effect), the control measure must reduce exposure to below that 

threshold. If there is no safe threshold, the measure must incorporate toxics best available control 

technology to minimize emissions. To date, CARB has established formal control measures for 11 TACs 

that are identified as having no safe threshold. 

Under AB 2588, TAC emissions from individual facilities are quantified and prioritized by the air quality 

management district or air pollution control district. High priority facilities5 are required to perform a 

health risk assessment, and if specific thresholds are exceeded, are required to communicate the results to 

the public through notices and public meetings. 

CARB has promulgated the following specific rules to limit TAC emissions:  

▪ 13 CCR Chapter 10, Section 2485, Airborne Toxic Control Measure to Limit Diesel-Fueled Commercial 

Motor Vehicle Idling 

▪ 13 CCR Chapter 10, Section 2480, Airborne Toxic Control Measure to Limit School Bus Idling and Idling 

at Schools 

▪ 13 CCR Section 2477 and Article 8, Airborne Toxic Control Measure for In-Use Diesel-Fueled Transport 

Refrigeration Units (TRU) and TRU Generator Sets and Facilities Where TRUs Operate 

Other State Regulations 

California has also adopted a host of other regulations that reduce criteria pollutant emissions, including: 

▪ Assembly Bill (AB) 1493: Pavley Fuel Efficiency Standards 

▪ Title 20 California Code of Regulations (CCR): Appliance Energy Efficiency Standards  

▪ Title 24, Part 6, CCR: Building Energy Efficiency Standards  

▪ Title 24, Part 11, CCR: Green Building Standards Code

 
5  Each district is responsible for establishing the prioritization score threshold at which facilities are required to prepare a health risk 

assessment. In the Bay Area, facilities that generate a cancer risk of greater or equal to 10 in a million and a non-cancer chronic or acute 

risk greater or equal to 10 in a million are high priority facilities. Types of facilities that have the potential to generate risks of this level 

include refineries, other heavy industrial manufacturing/industrial processes, and fueling stations.  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REGIONAL 

Assembly Bill 617 Community Action Plans 

In July of 2017, Governor Brown signed AB 617 to develop a new community focused program to more 

effectively reduce exposure to air pollution and preserve public health in environmental justice 

communities. The bill directs CARB and all local air districts to take measures to protect communities 

disproportionally impacted by air pollution through monitoring and implementing air pollution control 

strategies.  

On September 27, 2018, CARB approved BAAQMD’s recommended communities for monitoring and 

emission reduction planning. The state approved communities for year 1 of the program, as well as 

communities that would move forward over the next five years. Bay Area recommendations included all 

the Community Air Risk Evaluation areas as well as areas with large sources of air pollution (refineries, 

seaports, airports, etc.), areas identified via statewide screening tools as having pollution and/or health 

burden vulnerability, and areas with low life expectancy (BAAQMD 2019b). 

▪ Year 1 Communities: 

▪ West Oakland. The West Oakland community was selected for BAAQMD’s first Community 

Action Plan. In 2017, cancer risk in from sources in West Oakland (local sources) was 204 in a 

million. The primary sources of air pollution in West Oakland include heavy truck and cars, port 

and rail sources, large industries, and, to a lesser extent, other sources such as residential sources 

(i.e., woodburning). The majority (over 90 percent) of cancer risk is from DPM (BAAQMD 2019c). 

▪ Richmond: Richmond was selected for a community monitoring plan in year 1 of the AB 617 

program. The Richmond area is in western Contra Costa County and includes most of the City of 

Richmond and portions of El Cerrito. It also includes communities just north and east of 

Richmond, such as San Pablo and several unincorporated communities, including North 

Richmond. The primary goals of the Richmond monitoring effort are to leverage historic and 

current monitoring studies, to better characterize the area’s mix of sources, and to more fully 

understand the associated air quality and pollution impact (BAAQMD 2019b).  

▪ Year 2-5 Communities: East Oakland/San Leandro, Eastern San Francisco, the Pittsburg-Bay Point area, 

San Jose, Tri-Valley, and Vallejo are slated for action in years 2-5 of the AB 617 program (BAAQMD 

2019b). 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) 

BAAQMD is the agency responsible for assuring that the National and California AAQS are attained and 

maintained in the SFBAAB. Air quality conditions in the SFBAAB have improved significantly since the 

BAAQMD was created in 1955. BAAQMD prepares air quality management plans (AQMP), which provide 

a framework for air quality basins to achieve attainment of the State and federal AAQS through the State 

Implementation Plan. BAAQMD prepares ozone attainment plans for the National O3 standard and clean 

air plans for the California O3 standard. These AQMPs prepared in coordination with Association of Bay 

Area Governments (ABAG) and the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC).  

2017 Clean Air Plan 

BAAQMD adopted the 2017 Clean Air Plan, Spare the Air, Cool the Climate (2017 Clean Air Plan) on April 

19, 2017, making it the most recent adopted comprehensive plan. The 2017 Clean Air Plan incorporates 

significant new scientific data, primarily in the form of updated emissions inventories, ambient 

measurements, new meteorological episodes, and new air quality modeling tools. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

The 2017 Clean Air Plan serves as an update to the adopted Bay Area 2010 Clean Air Plan and continues in 

providing the framework for SFBAAB to achieve attainment of the California and National AAQS. The 

2017 Clean Air Plan updates the Bay Area’s ozone plan, which is based on the “all feasible measures” 

approach to meet the requirements of the California Clean Air Act. Additionally, it sets a goal of reducing 

health risk impacts to local communities by 20 percent by 2020. Furthermore, the 2017 Clean Air Plan also 

lays the groundwork for reducing GHG emissions in the Bay Area to meet the state’s 2030 GHG reduction 

target and 2050 GHG reduction goal. It also includes a vision for the Bay Area in a post-carbon year 2050 

that encompasses the following:  

▪ Construct buildings that are energy efficient and powered by renewable energy. 

▪ Walk, bicycle, and use public transit for the majority of trips and use electric-powered autonomous 

public transit fleets. 

▪ Incubate and produce clean energy technologies. 

▪ Live a low-carbon lifestyle by purchasing low-carbon foods and goods in addition to recycling and 

putting organic waste to productive use. 

A comprehensive multipollutant control strategy has been developed to be implemented in the next three 

to five years to address public health and climate change and to set a pathway to achieve the 2050 vision. 

The control strategy includes 85 control measures to reduce emissions of ozone, particulate matter, TACs, 

and GHG from a full range of emission sources. These control measures cover the following sectors: 1) 

stationary (industrial) sources; 2) transportation; 3) energy; 4) agriculture; 5) natural and working lands; 6) 

waste management; 7) water; and 8) super-GHG pollutants. Overall, the proposed control strategy is based 

on the following key priorities: 

▪ Reduce emissions of criteria air pollutants and toxic air contaminants from all key sources. 

▪ Reduce emissions of “super-GHGs” such as methane, black carbon, and fluorinated gases. 

▪ Decrease demand for fossil fuels (gasoline, diesel, and natural gas). 

▪ Increase efficiency of the energy and transportation systems. 

▪ Reduce demand for vehicle travel, and high-carbon goods and services. 

▪ Decarbonize the energy system. 

▪ Make the electricity supply carbon-free. 

▪ Electrify the transportation and building sectors.  

BAAQMD’s Community Air Risk Evaluation (CARE) Program 

The BAAQMD’s CARE program was initiated in 2004 to evaluate and reduce health risks associated with 

exposure to outdoor TACs in the Bay Area. Based on findings of the latest report, DPM was found to 

account for approximately 85 percent of the cancer risk from airborne toxics. Carcinogenic compounds 

from gasoline-powered cars and light duty trucks were also identified as significant contributors: 1,3-

butadiene contributed 4 percent of the cancer risk-weighted emissions, and benzene contributed 3 percent. 

Collectively, five compounds—diesel PM, 1,3-butadiene, benzene, formaldehyde, and acetaldehyde—were 

found to be responsible for more than 90 percent of the cancer risk attributed to emissions. All of these 

compounds are associated with emissions from internal combustion engines. The most important sources 

of cancer risk-weighted emissions were combustion-related sources of DPM, including on-road mobile 

sources (31 percent), construction equipment (29 percent), and ships and harbor craft (13 percent). A 75 

percent reduction in DPM was predicted between 2005 and 2015 when the inventory accounted for the 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-18 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

CARB’s diesel regulations. Overall, cancer risk from TAC dropped by more than 50 percent between 2005 

and 2015, when emissions inputs accounted for state diesel regulations and other reductions (BAAQMD 

2014). 

Modeled cancer risks from TAC in 2005 were highest near sources of DPM: near core urban areas, along 

major roadways and freeways, and near maritime shipping terminals. The highest modeled risks were 

found east of San Francisco, near West Oakland, and the Maritime Port of Oakland. BAAQMD has 

identified seven impacted communities in the Bay Area:  

▪ Western Contra Costa County and the cities of Richmond and San Pablo 

▪ Western Alameda County along the Interstate 880 (I-880) corridor and the cities of Berkeley, Alameda, 

Oakland, and Hayward 

▪ San Jose 

▪ Eastern side of San Francisco 

▪ Concord 

▪ Vallejo 

▪ Pittsburgh and Antioch 

The major contributor to acute and chronic noncancer health effects in the SFBAAB is acrolein (C3H4O). 

Major sources of acrolein are on-road mobile sources and aircraft near freeways and commercial and 

military airports (BAAQMD 2006). Currently CARB does not have certified emission factors or an analytical 

test method for acrolein. Since the appropriate tools needed to implement and enforce acrolein emission 

limits are not available, BAAQMD does not conduct health risk screening analysis for acrolein emissions 

(BAAQMD 2010a).  

BAAQMD Rules and Regulations 

Regulation 7, Odorous Substances 

Sources of objectionable odors may occur within the town of Colma. BAAQMD’s Regulation 7, Odorous 

Substances, places general limitations on odorous substances and specific emission limitations on certain 

odorous compounds. Odors are also regulated under BAAQMD Regulation 1, Rule 1-301, Public Nuisance, 

which states that “no person shall discharge from any source whatsoever such quantities of air 

contaminants or other material which cause injury, detriment, nuisance or annoyance to any considerable 

number of persons or the public; or which endangers the comfort, repose, health or safety of any such 

persons or the public, or which causes, or has a natural tendency to cause, injury or damage to business or 

property.” Under the BAAQMD Rule 1-301, a facility that receives three or more violation notices within a 

30-day period can be declared a public nuisance. 

Other BAAQMD Regulations 

In addition to the plans and programs described above, BAAQMD administers a number of specific 

regulations on various sources of pollutant emissions that would apply to individual development projects 

allowed under the proposed Project, including: 

▪ Regulation 2, Rule 2, New Source Review 

▪ Regulation 2, Rule 5, New Source Review of Toxic Air Contaminants 

▪ Regulation 6, Rule 1, General Requirements 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-19 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ Regulation 6, Rule 2, Commercial Cooking Equipment 

▪ Regulation 8, Rule 3, Architectural Coatings 

▪ Regulation 8, Rule 4, General Solvent and Surface Coatings Operations 

▪ Regulation 8, Rule 7, Gasoline Dispensing Facilities 

▪ Regulation 11, Rule 2, Asbestos, Demolition, Renovation and Manufacturing) 

San Mateo County Congestion Management Program (C/CAG) 

The City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County (C/CAG) acts as the Congestion 

Management Agency (CMA) for San Mateo county. C/CAG is required to prepare and adopt a Congestion 

Management Program (CMP) on a biennial basis. The purpose of the San Mateo County CMP is to identify 

strategies to respond to future transportation needs, develop procedures to alleviate and control 

congestion, and promote countywide solutions. The most recent version of the San Mateo County CMP is 

the 2019 CMP, which is developed to be consistent with the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

(MTC’s) Plan Bay Area, provides updated program information and performance monitoring results for 

the CMP roadway system (C/CAG 2019).  

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) / Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

(MTC) 

Plan Bay Area 

Plan Bay Area 2050 is the Bay Area’s Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) / Sustainable Communities 

Strategy (SCS) and was adopted jointly by ABAG and MTC on October 21, 2021. It lays out a development 

scenario for the region, which, when integrated with the transportation network and other transportation 

measures and policies, would reduce GHG emissions from transportation (excluding goods movement) 

beyond the per capita reduction targets identified by CARB.   

As part of the implementing framework for Plan Bay Area, local governments have identified Priority 

Development Areas (PDAs) to focus growth. PDAs are transit-oriented, infill development opportunity 

areas in existing communities. Under the Draft Plan Bay Area 2050’s strategies, just under half of all Bay 

Area households would live within one half-mile of frequent transit by 2050, with this share increasing to 

over 70 percent for households with low incomes. Transportation and environmental strategies that 

support active and shared modes, combined with a transit-supportive land use pattern, are forecasted to 

lower the share of Bay Area residents that drive to work alone from over 50 percent in 2015 to 36 percent 

in 2050. Greenhouse gas emissions from transportation would decrease significantly as a result of these 

transportation and land use changes, and the Bay Area would meet the state mandate of a 19 percent 

reduction in per-capita emissions by 2035 — but only if all strategies are implemented (ABAG and MTC 

2021). The El Camino Real PDA traverses the Town boundaries (ABAG 2015 and MTC 2020).  

4.2.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

Following PRC Sections §21083.2 and §21084.1, and Section §15064.5 and Appendix G of the State CEQA 

Guidelines, air quality impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the project considered 

would result in any of the following: 

• Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-20 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the project 

region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality standard. 

• Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentration. 

• Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a substantial number 

of people.  

Bay Area Air Quality Management District Thresholds 

The BAAQMD CEQA Air Quality Guidelines were prepared to assist in the evaluation of air quality 

impacts of projects and plans proposed within the Bay Area. The guidelines provide recommended 

procedures for evaluating potential air impacts during the environmental review process, consistent with 

CEQA requirements, and include recommended thresholds of significance, mitigation measures, and 

background air quality information. They also include recommended assessment methodologies for air 

toxics, odors, and greenhouse gas emissions. In June 2010, the BAAQMD's Board of Directors adopted 

CEQA thresholds of significance and an update of the CEQA Guidelines. These thresholds are designed to 

establish the level at which the District believed air pollution emissions would cause significant 

environmental impacts under CEQA. 

In May 2011, the updated BAAQMD CEQA Air Quality Guidelines were amended to include a risk and 

hazards threshold for new receptors and modified procedures for assessing impacts related to risk and 

hazard impacts; however, this later amendment regarding risk and hazards was the subject of the 

December 17, 2015, California Supreme Court decision (California Building Industry Association v 

BAAQMD), which clarified that CEQA does not require an evaluation of impacts of the environment on a 

project.6 The Supreme Court also found that CEQA requires the analysis of exposing people to 

environmental hazards in specific circumstances, including the location of development near airports, 

schools near sources of toxic contamination, and certain exemptions for infill and workforce housing. The 

Supreme Court also held that public agencies remain free to conduct this analysis regardless of whether it 

is required by CEQA. To account for these updates, BAAQMD published a new version of the Guidelines 

dated May 2017, which includes revisions made to address the Supreme Court’s opinion.  

BAAQMD has established the thresholds based on “scientific and factual data that is contained in the 

federal and state Clean Air Acts” and recommend “that these thresholds be used by lead agencies in 

making a determination of significance.” The numerical emission indicators are based on the recognition 

that the air basin is a distinct geographic area with a critical air pollution problem for which ambient air 

quality standards have been promulgated to protect public health. The thresholds represent the maximum 

emissions from a plan or project that are expected not to cause or contribute to an exceedance of the most 

stringent applicable national or state ambient air quality standard. By analyzing the plan’s emissions 

against the thresholds, an EIR assesses whether these emissions directly contribute to any regional or local 

 
6  On March 5, 2012, the Alameda County Superior Court issued a judgment finding that the BAAQMD had failed to comply with CEQA 

when it adopted the thresholds of significance in the BAAQMD CEQA Air Quality Guidelines. The court did not rule on the merits of the 

thresholds of significance, but found that the adoption of the thresholds was a project under CEQA. The court issued a writ of mandate 

ordering the BAAQMD to set aside the thresholds and cease dissemination of them until the BAAQMD complied with CEQA. Following 

the court’s order, the BAAQMD released revised CEQA Air Quality Guidelines in May of 2012 that include guidance on calculating air 

pollution emissions, obtaining information regarding the health impacts of air pollutants, and identifying potential mitigation measures, 

and which set aside the significance thresholds. The Alameda County Superior Court, in ordering BAAQMD to set aside the thresholds, 

did not address the merits of the science or evidence supporting the thresholds, and in light of the subsequent case history discussed 

below, the science and reasoning contained in the BAAQMD 2017 CEQA Air Quality Guidelines provide the latest state-of-the-art 

guidance available. On August 13, 2013, the First District Court of Appeal ordered the trial court to reverse the judgment and upheld the 

BAAQMD’s CEQA Guidelines. (California Building Industry Association versus BAAQMD, Case Nos. A135335 and A136212 (Court of Appeal, 

First District, August 13, 2013)). 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-21 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

exceedances of the applicable ambient air quality standards and exposure levels. The latest version of the 

BAAQMD CEQA Guidelines was used to prepare the analysis in this EIR.  

Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions and Precursors 

Regional Significance Criteria 

The BAAQMD’s criteria for regional significance for projects that exceed the screening thresholds are 

shown in Table 4.2.7: BAAQMD Regional (Mass Emissions) Criteria Air Pollutant Significance 

Thresholds.  

Table 4.2.7: BAAQMD Regional (Mass Emissions) Criteria Air Pollutant Significance Thresholds 

Pollutant 

Construction Phase Operational Phase 

Average Daily  

Emissions  

(lbs/day) 

Average Daily  

Emissions  

(lbs/day) 

Maximum  

Annual Emissions 

(Tons/year) 

If projects exceed the emissions in this table, emissions would cumulatively contribute to the nonattainment 

status and would contribute in elevating health effects associated to these criteria air pollutants. Known 

health effects related to ozone include worsening of bronchitis, asthma, and emphysema and a decrease in 

lung function. Health effects associated with particulate matter include premature death of people with 

heart or lung disease, nonfatal heart attacks, irregular heartbeat, decreased lung function, and increased 

respiratory symptoms. Reducing emissions would further contribute to reducing possible health effects 

related to criteria air pollutants.  

At the present time, BAAQMD has not provided methodology to assess the specific correlation between 

mass emissions generated and the effect on health in order to address the issue raised in Sierra Club v. 

County of Fresno (Friant Ranch, L.P.) (2018) 6 Cal.5th 502, Case No. S21978 (Friant Ranch). At a programmatic 

level analysis, it is not feasible to quantify the increase in TACs from stationary sources associated with a 

general plan or meaningfully correlate how criteria air pollutant emissions above the BAAQMD 

significance thresholds correlate with basin-wide health impacts. To determine cancer and noncancer 

health risk, the location, velocity of emissions, meteorology and topography of the area, and locations of 

receptors are equally important model parameters as the quantity of TAC emissions. However, for projects 

that exceed the emissions in Table 4.2.7, it is speculative to determine how exceeding the regional 

thresholds would affect the number of days the region is in nonattainment since mass emissions are not 

correlated with concentrations of emissions or how many additional individuals in the air basin would be 

affected by the health effects cited above. 

ROG 54 54 10 

NOx 54 54 10 

PM10 82 (Exhaust) 82 15 

PM2.5  54 (Exhaust) 54 10 

PM10 and PM2.5 Fugitive Dust 
Best Management 

Practices 
None None 

Source: BAAQMD.  California Environmental Quality Act Air Quality Guidelines. 

http://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/files/planning-and-research/ceqa/ceqa_guidelines_may2017-pdf. 2017. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-22 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

In addition, BAAQMD does not currently does not have methodologies that would provide the Town with 

a consistent, reliable, and meaningful analysis to correlate specific health impacts that may result from a 

proposed project’s mass emissions. For criteria air pollutants, exceedance of the regional significance 

thresholds cannot be used to correlate a project to quantifiable health impacts unless emissions are 

sufficiently high to use a regional model. BAAQMD has not provided methodology to assess the specific 

correlation between mass emissions generated and their effect on health.  

Ozone concentrations are dependent upon a variety of complex factors, including the presence of sunlight 

and precursor pollutants, natural topography, nearby structures that cause building downwash, 

atmospheric stability, and wind patterns. Secondary formation of PM and ozone can occur far from sources 

as a result of regional transport due to wind and topography (e.g., low-level jet stream). Photochemical 

modeling depends on all emission sources in the entire domain (i.e., modeling grid). Low resolution and 

spatial averaging produce “noise” and modeling errors that usually exceed individual source 

contributions. Because of the complexities of predicting ground-level ozone concentrations in relation to 

the National AAQS and California AAQS, it is not possible to link health risks to the magnitude of 

emissions exceeding the significance thresholds. To achieve the health-based standards established by the 

USEPA, the air districts prepare air quality management plans that details regional programs to attain the 

AAQS. However, if a project within the BAAQMD exceeds the regional significance thresholds, the project 

could contribute to an increase in health effects in the basin until such time the attainment standard is met 

in the SFBAAB. 

Current models used in CEQA air quality analyses are designed to estimate potential project construction 

and operation emissions for defined projects. The estimated emissions are compared to significance 

thresholds, which are keyed to reducing emissions to levels that will not interfere with the region’s ability 

to attain the health-based standards. While this serves to protect public health in the overall region, there 

is currently no CEQA methodology to determine the impact of emissions (e.g., pounds per day) on future 

concentration levels (e.g., parts per million or micrograms per cubic meter) in specific geographic areas. 

CEQA thresholds, therefore, are not specifically tied to potential health outcomes in the region. 

Additionally, this type of analysis is not feasible at a general plan level because the location of emissions 

sources and quantity of emissions are not known. 

CO Hotspots 

Congested intersections have the potential to create elevated concentrations of CO, referred to as CO 

hotspots. The significance criteria for CO hotspots are based on the California AAQS for CO, which are 9.0 

ppm (8-hour average) and 20.0 ppm (1-hour average). With the turnover of older vehicles, introduction of 

cleaner fuels, and implementation of control technology, the SFBAAB is in attainment of the California and 

National AAQS, and CO concentrations in the SFBAAB have steadily declined. Because CO concentrations 

have improved, the BAAQMD does not require a CO hotspot analysis if the following criteria are met 

(BAAQMD 2017a): 

▪ The project is consistent with an applicable congestion management program established by the 

County Congestion Management Agency for designated roads or highways, the regional 

transportation plan, and local congestion management agency plans. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-23 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ The project would not increase traffic volumes at affected intersections to more than 44,000 vehicles 

per hour. 

▪ The project traffic would not increase traffic volumes at affected intersection to more than 24,000 

vehicles per hour where vertical and/or horizontal mixing is substantially limited (e.g., tunnel, parking 

garage, bridge underpass, natural or urban street canyon, below-grade roadway).  

Community Risk and Hazards 

The BAAQMD’s significance thresholds for local community risk and hazard impacts apply to both the 

siting of a new source and to the siting of a new receptor. Local community risk and hazard impacts are 

associated with TACs and PM2.5 because emissions of these pollutants can have significant health impacts 

at the local level. The proposed project would generate TACs and PM2.5 during construction activities that 

could elevate concentrations of air pollutants at the nearby sensitive receptors. The thresholds for 

construction-related local community risk and hazard impacts are the same as for project operations. The 

BAAQMD has adopted screening tables for air toxics evaluation during construction (BAAQMD 2010b). 

Construction-related TAC and PM2.5 impacts should be addressed on a case-by-case basis, taking into 

consideration the specific construction-related characteristics of each project and proximity to off-site and 

on-site receptors, as applicable (BAAQMD 2010b and BAAQMD 2017a).  

Community Risk and Hazards: Project 

Project-level emissions of TACs or PM2.5 from individual sources that exceed any of the thresholds listed 

below are considered a potentially significant community health risk: 

▪ An excess cancer risk level of more than 10 in one million, or a noncancer (i.e., chronic or acute) hazard 

index greater than 1.0 would be a significant project contribution. 

▪ An incremental increase of greater than 0.3 micrograms per cubic meter (µg/m3) annual average PM2.5 

from a single source would be a significant project contribution (BAAQMD 2017a). 

Community Risk and Hazards: Cumulative 

Cumulative sources represent the combined total risk values of each of the individual sources within the 

1,000-foot evaluation zone. A project would have a cumulatively considerable impact if the aggregate 

total of all past, present, and foreseeable future sources within a 1,000-foot radius from the fence line of a 

source or location of a receptor, plus the contribution from the project, exceeds any of the following: 

▪ An excess cancer risk level of more than 100 in one million or a chronic noncancer hazard index (from 

all local sources) greater than 10.0. 

▪ 0.8 µg/m3 annual average PM2.5 (BAAQMD 2017a). 

In February 2015, Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) adopted new health risk 

assessment guidance that includes several efforts to be more protective of children’s health. These 

updated procedures include the use of age sensitivity factors to account for the higher sensitivity of 

infants and young children to cancer causing chemicals, and age-specific breathing rate (OEHHA 2015). 

Odors 

BAAQMD’s thresholds for odors are qualitative based on BAAQMD’s Regulation 7, Odorous Substances. 

This rule places general limitations on odorous substances and specific emission limitations on certain 

odorous compounds. Odors are also regulated under BAAQMD Regulation 1, Rule 1-301, Public Nuisance, 

which states that no person shall discharge from any source whatsoever such quantities of air contaminants 

or other material which cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to any considerable number of 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-24 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

persons or the public; or which endangers the comfort, repose, health, or safety of any such persons or the 

public, or which cause, or has a natural tendency to cause, injury, or damage to business or property. Under 

BAAQMD’s Rule 1-301. BAAQMD has established odor screening thresholds for land uses that have the 

potential to generate substantial odor complaints, including wastewater treatment plants, landfills or 

transfer stations, composting facilities, confined animal facilities, food manufacturing, and chemical plants 

(BAAQMD 2017a). For a plan-level analysis, BAAQMD requires: 

▪ Identification of potential existing and planned location of odors sources. 

▪ Policies to reduce odors. 

METHODOLOGY 

The Town of Colma 2040 General Plan General Plan Update policies are designed to reduce or avoid 

impacts on the environment resulting from implementation of the proposed project. To that end, the 

relevant GPU policies providing mitigation have been identified for each significant impact in this section. 

If the applicable General Plan polices were determined not to fully reduce or avoid impacts, then additional 

mitigation measures have been provided. These additional mitigation measures have been written as policy 

statements that can be incorporated into the final General Plan. Each impact discussion includes a 

determination as to whether the impacts would be mitigated to a less than significant level or would remain 

significant and unavoidable after implementation of the updated General Plan policies. 

Town of Colma General Plan 

The air quality analysis was prepared in accordance with the requirements of CEQA to determine if 

significant GHG impacts are likely to occur in conjunction with future development that would be 

accommodated by the proposed project. The town’s GHG emissions inventory includes the following 

sectors: 

▪ Transportation: Transportation emissions forecasts were modeled using emission rates from CARB’s 

EMFAC2017, version 1.0.3, web database. Modeling includes the SAFE Part 1 and Part 2 EMFAC2017 

model adjustment factors released by CARB. Model runs were based on daily VMT data provided by 

Kittelson & Associates (see Appendix E) and calendar year 2020 (existing) and 2040 emission rates. The 

VMT methodology is based on the CARB Regional Targets Advisory Committee (RTAC) which 

accounts for a 50 percent reduction in trip lengths for trips that start or end the town but travel outside 

the town (intra-jurisdictional trips). Consistent with CARB’s methodology within the Climate Change 

Scoping Plan Measure Documentation Supplement, daily VMT was multiplied by 347 days per year to 

account for reduced traffic on weekends and holidays to determine annual emissions. 

▪ Energy: Energy use for residential and nonresidential land uses in the town were modeled using 

natural gas data provided by PG&E. Residential energy and nonresidential energy forecasts are 

adjusted for increases in housing units and employment, respectively. The emissions rates for 

residential and nonresidential natural gas are based on the CalEEMod Users Guide.  

▪ Off-Road Equipment: Emission rates from CARB’s OFFROAD2017, version 1.0.1, web database were 

used to estimate criteria air pollutant emissions from light commercial and construction equipment in 

the town. OFFROAD2017 is a database of equipment use and associated emissions for each county 

compiled by CARB. Emissions were compiled using OFFROAD2017 for the county of San Mateo for 

year 2020. In order to determine the percentage of emissions attributable to the town, light commercial 

equipment is estimated based on employment for the town of Colma as a percentage of San Mateo 

county. Construction equipment use is estimated based on building permit data for the town of Colma 

and county of San Mateo from data compiled by the US Census. The light commercial equipment 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-25 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

emissions forecast is adjusted for changes in employment in the town. It is assumed that construction 

emissions for the forecast year would be similar to historical levels. Annual emissions are derived by 

multiplying daily emissions by 365 days. 

▪ Area Sources: Area sources are based on the emission factors from the CalEEMod Users Guide for 

emissions generated from use of consumer products and cleaning supplies.  

Impacts of the Environment on a Project 

BAAQMD’s CEQA Guidelines include methodology for jurisdictions wanting to evaluate the potential 

impacts from placing sensitive receptors proximate to major air pollutant sources. For assessing community 

risk and hazards for siting a new receptor, sources within a 1,000-foot radius of a project site are typically 

considered. Sources are defined as freeways, high volume roadways (with volume of 10,000 vehicles or 

more per day or 1,000 trucks per day) and permitted sources (BAAQMD 2017a). 

Buildout of the proposed land use plan under the 2040 General Plan Update could result in siting sensitive 

uses (e.g., residential) near sources of emissions (e.g., freeways, industrial uses, etc.). Developing new 

sensitive land uses near sources of emissions could expose persons that inhabit these sensitive land uses to 

potential air quality-related impacts. However, the purpose of this environmental evaluation is to identify 

the significant effects of the proposed project on the environment, not the significant effects of the 

environment on the proposed project. California Building Industry Association v. Bay Area Air Quality 

Management District (2015) 62 Cal.4th 369 (Case No. S213478). Thus, CEQA does not require analysis of the 

potential environmental effects from siting sensitive receptors near existing sources, and this type of 

analysis is not provided below in the Impact Analysis section.  

While it is generally not within the purview of CEQA to analyze impacts of the environment on a project, 

the General Plan Update includes policies which would ensure priority of the health of Colma residents 

through enforcement of town codes and incorporation of design features to minimize air quality impacts 

and to achieve appropriate health standards.  

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.2.1 Implementation of the proposed project would not conflict with or obstruct 

implementation of the applicable air quality plan (Less than Significant). 

The following describes potential air quality impacts of consistency with the AQMP from the 

implementation of the proposed General Plan Update. The General Plan plays an important role in local 

agency project review by linking local planning and individual projects to the 2017 Clean Air Plan. It fulfills 

the CEQA goal of informing decision makers of the environmental efforts of the project under consideration 

at an early enough stage to ensure that air quality concerns are fully addressed. It also provides the local 

agency with ongoing information as to whether they are contributing to clean air goals in the Bay Area. 

BAAQMD requires a consistency evaluation of a plan with its current AQMP measures. BAAQMD 

considers project consistency with the AQMP in accordance with the following: 

▪ Does the project support the primary goals of the AQMP? 

▪ Does the project include applicable control measures from the AQMP? 

▪ Does the project disrupt or hinder implementation of any AQMP control measures? 

▪ Is the project VMT or vehicle trip increase less than or equal to the projected population increase. 

 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-26 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District 2017 Clean Air Plan Goals 

The primary goals of the 2017 Clean Air Plan are to attain the State and federal AAQS, reduce population 

exposure and protect public health in the Bay Area, reduce GHG emissions, and protect the climate. 

Furthermore, the 2017 Clean Air Plan lays the groundwork for reducing GHG emissions in the Bay Area 

to meet the state’s 2030 GHG reduction target and 2050 GHG reduction goal. 

Attain Air Quality Standards 

BAAQMD’s 2017 Clean Air Plan strategy is based on regional population and employment projections in 

the Bay Area compiled by ABAG, which are based in part on cities’ general plan land use designations. 

These demographic projections are incorporated into Plan Bay Area. Demographic trends incorporated 

into Plan Bay Area determine VMT in the Bay Area, which BAAQMD uses to forecast future air quality 

trends. The SFBAAB is currently designated a nonattainment area for O3, PM2.5, and PM10 (State AAQS 

only).  

Future growth associated with the proposed General Plan would occur incrementally throughout the 2040 

buildout horizon. The anticipated growth from the proposed General Plan is within the population and 

employment projections identified by ABAG for the town of Colma (see Chapter 4.12.1, Population and 

Housing). Because population and employment projections of the proposed General Plan are consistent 

with regional projections, BAAQMD emissions forecasts consider the additional growth and associated 

emissions from the proposed General Plan. Thus, emissions resulting from potential future development 

associated with the proposed General Plan are included in BAAQMD projections, and future development 

accommodated under the proposed General Plan would not hinder BAAQMDs ability to attain the 

California or National AAQS. Accordingly, impacts would be less than significant. 

Reduce Population Exposure and Protect Public Health 

Buildout of the proposed General Plan could result in new sources of TACs and PM2.5. Stationary sources, 

including smaller stationary sources (e.g., dry cleaners, restaurants with charbroilers, emergency 

generators and boilers) are subject to review by BAAQMD as part of the permitting process. Adherence to 

BAAQMD permitting regulations would ensure that new stationary sources of TACs do not expose 

populations to significant health risk. Mobile sources of air toxics (e.g., truck idling) are not regulated 

directly by BAAQMD. As a result, development allowed by the proposed General Plan could result in new 

sources of criteria air pollutant emissions and/or TACs near existing or planned sensitive receptors. 

Mitigation Measure AQ-3.2 would ensure mobile sources of TACs not covered under BAAQMD permits 

are considered during subsequent project-level environmental review by the town of Colma. Individual 

development projects would be required to achieve the incremental risk thresholds established by 

BAAQMD. Thus, implementation of the proposed General Plan would not result in introducing new 

sources of TACs that on a cumulative basis, could expose sensitive populations to significant health risk. 

Therefore, impacts would be less than significant. 

Reduce GHG Emissions and Protect the Climate 

Consistency of the proposed General Plan with State, regional, and local plans adopted for the purpose of 

reducing GHG emissions are discussed in Chapter 4.7.1, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, of this Draft EIR. 

Future development allowed by the proposed General Plan would be required to adhere to statewide 

measures that have been adopted to achieve the GHG reduction targets of AB 32 and SB 32. The proposed 

General Plan is consistent with regional strategies for infill development identified in Plan Bay Area. 

Furthermore, the proposed General Plan would also be consistent with the Town of Colma Climate Action 

Plan 2030. GHG-2 identifies that the proposed General Plan is consistent with state, regional and local plans 

to reduce GHG emissions. Therefore, the proposed General Plan is consistent with the goal of the 2017 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-27 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Clean Air Plan to reduce GHG emissions and protect the climate, and the impact would be less than 

significant. 

2017 Clean Air Plan Control Measures 

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan, identifies the control measures 

included in the 2017 Clean Air Plan that are required by BAAQMD to reduce emissions for a wide range 

of both stationary and mobile sources. As shown in the table, the proposed General Plan would not conflict 

with the 2017 Clean Air Plan and would not hinder BAAQMD from implementing the control measures in 

the 2017 Clean Air Plan. Accordingly, impacts would be less than significant.  

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan 

Type Measure Number / Title Consistency 

▪ Stationar

y Source 

Control 

Measures 

▪ SS 1 – Fluid Catalytic Cracking in 

Refineries 

▪ SS 2 – Equipment Leaks 

▪ SS 3 – Cooling Towers 

▪ SS 4 – Refinery Flares 

▪ SS 5 – Sulfur Recovery Units 

▪ SS 6 – Refinery Fuel Gas 

▪ SS 7 – Sulfuric Acid Plants 

▪ SS 8 – Sulfur Dioxide from Coke 

Calcining 

▪ SS 9 – Enhanced NSR Enforcement 

for Changes in Crude Slate 

▪ SS 10 – Petroleum Refining 

Emissions Tracking 

▪ SS 11 – Petroleum Refining 

Facility-Wide Emission Limits 

▪ SS 12 – Petroleum Refining 

Climate Impacts Limit 

▪ SS 13 – Oil and Gas Production, 

Processing and Storage 

▪ SS 14 – Methane from Capped 

Wells 

▪ SS 15 – Natural Gas Processing 

and Distribution 

▪ SS 16 – Basin-Wide Methane 

Strategy 

▪ SS 17 – GHG BACT Threshold 

▪ SS 18 – Basin-Wide Combustion 

Strategy 

▪ SS 19 – Portland Cement  

▪ SS 20 – Air Toxics Risk Cap and 

Reduction from Existing Facilities  

▪ SS 21 – New Source Review for 

Toxics  

Stationary and area sources are regulated directly by 

BAAQMD; therefore, as the implementing agency, 

new stationary and area sources within the Town 

would be required to comply with BAAQMD’s 

regulations. BAAQMD routinely adopts/revises rules 

or regulations to implement the stationary source (SS) 

control measures to reduce stationary source 

emissions. Based on the type of the proposed land 

uses (primarily residential and commercial) under the 

proposed project, implementation of the proposed 

project would not hinder the ability of BAAQMD to 

implement these SS control measures.  

 

Major stationary source are more commonly 

associated with industrial manufacturing or 

warehousing and, in the case of the Town, cemetery 

operations. However, BAAQMD and the Town have 

existing regulations in place to ensure that potential 

future development under the proposed project 

would not conflict with the applicable SS control 

measures. Nonresidential land uses may generate 

small quantities of stationary source emissions during 

project operation (e.g., emergency generators, dry 

cleaners, and gasoline dispensing facilities); however, 

these small-quantity generators would require review 

by BAAQMD for permitted sources of air toxics, 

which would ensure consistency with the 2017 Clean 

Air Plan.  

 

The Land Use and Mobility Elements also include 

policies and programs for coordination with 

BAAMQD on air pollutant reductions and 

considering air quality conditions when siting new 

receptors: 

 

▪ Policy LU-1-6. Public-Private Partnerships.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-28 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan 

Type Measure Number / Title Consistency 

▪ SS 22 – Stationary Gas Turbines 

▪ SS 23 – Biogas Flares 

▪ SS 24 – Sulfur Content Limits of 

Liquid Fuels 

▪ SS 25 – Coatings, Solvents, 

Lubricants, Sealants and 

Adhesives 

▪ SS 26 – Surface Prep and Cleaning 

Solvent 

▪ SS 27 – Digital Printing 

▪ SS 28 – LPG, Propane, Butane 

▪ SS 29 – Asphaltic Concrete 

▪ SS 30 – Residential Fan Type 

Furnaces 

▪ SS 31 – General Particulate Matter 

Emission Limitation 

▪ SS 32 – Emergency Backup 

Generators 

▪ SS 33 – Commercial Cooking 

Equipment 

▪ SS 34 – Wood Smoke 

▪ SS 35 – PM from Bulk Material 

Storage, Handling and Transport, 

Including Coke and Coal 

▪ SS 36 – PM from Trackout 

▪ SS 37 – PM from Asphalt 

Operations 

▪ SS 38 – Fugitive Dust 

▪ SS 39 – Enhanced Air Quality 

Monitoring 

▪ SS 40 – Odors 

▪ Policy LU- 5-1. Regional Cooperation 

▪ Policy LU-5-2. San Mateo County Collaboration.  

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection.  

▪ Policy M-3-1. Agency Collaboration and 

Coordination 

▪ Transport

ation 

Control 

Measures 

▪ TR 1 – Clean Air Teleworking 

Initiative 

▪ TR 2 – Trip Reduction Programs 

▪ TR 3 – Local and Regional Bus 

Service 

▪ TR 4 – Local and Regional Rail 

Service 

▪ TR 5 – Transit Efficiency and Use 

▪ TR 6 – Freeway and Arterial 

Operations 

▪ TR 7 – Safe Routes to Schools and 

Safe Routes to Transit 

The largest source of air pollution in the Town of 

Colma is vehicular traffic. Transportation (TR) control 

measures are strategies to reduce vehicle trips, vehicle 

use, VMT, vehicle idling, and traffic congestion for 

the purpose of reducing motor vehicle emissions. 

Although most of the TR control measures are 

implemented at the regional level—that is, by MTC or 

Caltrans—the 2017 Clean Air Plan relies on local 

communities to assist with implementation of some 

measures. The proposed project includes the 

following policies for expanding the active transit 

network:  

 

▪ Policy LU-3-6. Walkable Neighborhoods. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-29 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan 

Type Measure Number / Title Consistency 

▪ TR 8 – Ridesharing, Last-Mile 

Connection 

▪ TR 9 – Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Access and Facilities 

▪ TR 10 – Land Use Strategies 

▪ TR 11 – Value Pricing 

▪ TR 12 – Smart Driving 

▪ TR 13 – Parking Policies 

▪ TR 14 – Cars and Light Trucks 

▪ TR 15 – Public Outreach and 

Education 

▪ TR 16 – Indirect Source Review 

▪ TR 17 – Planes 

▪ TR 18 – Goods Movement 

▪ TR 19 – Medium and Heavy Duty 

Trucks 

▪ TR 20 – Ocean Going Vessels 

▪ TR 21 – Commercial Harbor Craft 

▪ TR 22 – Construction, Freight and 

Farming Equipment 

▪ TR 23 – Lawn and Garden 

Equipment 

▪ Policy M-1-5. Green Streets. 

▪ Policy M-5-1. Complete Streets. 

▪ Policy M-5-2. Design for All Travel Modes. 

▪ Policy M-5-3. Bicycle Connection Coordination. 

▪ Policy M-5-4. Accessibility and Universal 

Design. 

▪ Policy M-5-5. Design of New Development 

▪ Policy OSC-1-4. Pedestrian Trails and 

Walkways. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-5. Colma Creek Trail. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-5. Pedestrian-Scaled Design. 

 

The following policies and programs also reduce 

vehicle travel in the Town.  

 

▪ Policy LU-1-4. Land Uses that Support Transit.  

▪ Policy LU-10-3. Mixed Use and Nonresidential 

Development. 

▪ Policy LU-11-1. Town Center.  

▪ Policy LU-13-4. In-Fill Housing.  

▪ Policy LU-13-5. Mixed Use  

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. 

▪ Policy M-2-2. Other Traffic Flow Benchmarks.  

▪ Policy M-2-3. VMT Transportation 

Performance Measures.  

▪ Policy M-2-4. Multi-Modal Impact Fee.  

▪ Policy M-3-1. Agency Collaboration and 

Coordination. 

▪ Policy M-3-3. Regional Transportation 

Planning.  

▪ Policy M-3-5. Transportation Gaps.  

▪ Policy M-4-2. Reliable Transportation Services. 

▪ Policy M-4.4. Transit Oriented Development. 

▪ Policy M-7-1. TDM Program. 

▪ Policy M-7-2. TDM Program for New 

Development. 

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-1. Transit Oriented 

Development. 

 

The following policy also supports implementation of 

zero-carbon transportation solutions: 

▪ Policy LU-2-7. Electric Vehicles. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-30 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan 

Type Measure Number / Title Consistency 

▪ Energy 

and 

Climate 

Control 

Measures 

▪ EN 1 – Decarbonize Electricity 

Production 

▪ EN 2 – Renewable Energy 

Decrease Electricity Demand 

The energy and climate (EN) control measures are 

intended to reduce energy use as a means to reducing 

adverse air quality emissions. The General Plan 

Update includes policies and programs to align the 

Town’s goals with the State’s carbon neutrality 

initiatives:  

 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency.  

▪ Policy LU-2-6. Solar Energy. 

▪ Policy LU-2-7. Electric Vehicles  

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Green Building. 

▪ Policy LU-5-2. San Mateo County 

Collaboration. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations. 

 

Furthermore, new developments accommodated 

under the proposed project would be built to comply 

with the latest Building Energy Efficiency Standards 

and CALGreen standards. Therefore, implementation 

of the proposed project would not conflict with these 

EN control measures. 

▪ Buildings 

Control 

Measures 

▪ BL 1 – Green Buildings 

▪ BL 2 – Decarbonize Buildings 

▪ BL 3 – Market-Based Solutions 

▪ BL 4 – Urban Heat Island 

Mitigation 

The buildings (BL) control measures focus on 

working with local governments to facilitate adoption 

of best GHG emissions control practices and policies. 

The Land Use Element and the Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies and programs 

for energy efficiency and sustainability: 

 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency.  

▪ Policy LU-2-6. Solar Energy. 

▪ Policy LU-2-8. Climate Action Plan.  

▪ Policy LU-2-9. Greenhouse Gas Reduction 

Targets. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Green Building.  

▪ Policy LU- 5-1. Regional Cooperation. 

▪ Policy LU-5-2. San Mateo County 

Collaboration. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption 

▪ Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations.  

 

In addition, as stated, new developments 

accommodated under the proposed project would be 

built to comply with the latest Building Energy 

Efficiency Standards and CALGreen standards. Thus, 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-31 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan 

Type Measure Number / Title Consistency 

the proposed project would not conflict with these BL 

control measures. 

▪ Agricultu

re 

Control 

Measures 

▪ AG 1 – Agricultural Guidance and 

Leadership 

▪ AG 2 – Dairy Digesters 

▪ AG 3 – Enteric Fermentation 

▪ AG 4 – Livestock Waste 

Agricultural practices in the Bay Area accounts for a 

small portion, roughly 1.5 percent, of the Bay Area 

GHG emissions inventory. The GHGs from 

agriculture include methane and nitrous oxide, in 

addition to carbon dioxide. The proposed General 

Plan Update does not specifically include goals and 

policies pertaining to agricultural control measures. 

However, it does contain policies that would help to 

reduce pollutants that may stem from agriculture, 

such as Policies LU-2-1 for water conservation, LU-2-

10 for green infrastructure, LU-2-5 for energy 

efficiency improvements, and LU-2-6 for solar energy 

incentives. Therefore, implementation of the 

proposed project would not conflict with these AG 

control measures. 

▪ Natural 

and 

Working 

Lands 

Control 

Measures 

▪ NW 1 -- Carbon Sequestration in 

Rangelands 

▪ NW 2 – Urban Tree Planting 

▪ NW 3 – Carbon Sequestration in 

Wetlands  

The control measures for the natural and working 

lands sector focus on increasing carbon sequestration 

on rangelands and wetlands. The General Plan 

includes the following policies and programs on 

carbon sequestration: 

 

▪ Policy LU-2-4. Low Impact Development. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Green Building. 

▪ Policy LU-3-6. Walkable Neighborhoods 

▪ Policy M-1-4. Street Trees. 

▪ Policy M-1-5. Green Streets. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-3. Sustainable Landscape 

Practices. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-4. Pedestrian Trails, Bikeways 

Walkways 

▪ Policy OSC-1-5. Colma Creek Trail 

▪ Policy OSC-2-2. Recreation Requirements for 

New Developments.  

▪ Policy OSC-4-4. Use of Drought Tolerant and 

Native Plants. 

▪ Policy OSC-5-6. Regional Open Space 

Preservation Efforts 

▪ Waste 

Manage

ment 

Control 

Measures 

▪ WA 1 – Landfills 

▪ WA 2 – Composting and 

Anaerobic Digesters 

▪ WA 3 – Green Waste Diversion 

▪ WA 4 – Recycling and Waste 

Reduction 

The waste management (WA) control measures 

include strategies to increase waste diversion rates 

through efforts to reduce, reuse and recycle. The 

proposed General Plan Update does not specifically 

include goals and policies pertaining to waste 

management control measures. However, it does 

contain policies that would help to reduce pollutants 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-32 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan 

Type Measure Number / Title Consistency 

that may stem from waste management, such as 

Policies LU-2-8 for maintaining a Climate Action Plan, 

LU-2-9 for GHG reduction, LU-2-4 for low impact 

development, and M-3-1 for improved connectivity 

between cities and towns within the county. 

Implementation of the ongoing Town regulations and 

proposed policies to reduce waste would ensure that 

implementation of the proposed project would not 

conflict with these WA control measures.  

▪ Water 

Control 

Measures 

▪ WR 1 – Limit GHGs from publicly 

owned treatment works (POTWs) 

▪ WR 2 – Support Water 

Conservation 

The 2017 Clean Air Plan includes measures to reduce 

water use. The Conservation and Climate Change 

Element includes the following policies and programs 

to increase plumbing water efficiency and reduce 

landscape water use: 

 

▪ Policy LU-2-1. Water Conservation. 

▪ Policy LU-2-2. Water Efficient Landscape. 

▪ Policy LU-2-4. Low Impact Development. 

▪ Policy M-1-5. Green Streets.  

▪ Policy OSC-1-3. Sustainable Landscape 

Practices. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-2. Participation in the San Mateo 

County Stormwater Pollution Prevention 

Program (SMCWPPP). 

▪ Policy OSC-4-3. Reclaimed Water. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-4. Use of Drought Tolerant and 

Native Plants.  

▪ Policy OSC-4-6. Stormwater Runoff.  

▪ Super-

GHG 

Control 

Measures 

▪ SL 1 – Short-Lived Climate 

Pollutants 

▪ SL 2 – Guidance for Local Planners 

▪ SL 3 – GHG Monitoring and 

Emissions Measurements Network 

Super-GHGs include methane, black carbon, and 

fluorinated gases. The compounds are sometimes 

referred to as short-lived climate pollutants because 

their lifetime in the atmosphere is generally fairly 

short. Measures to reduce super GHGs are addressed 

on a sector-by-sector basis in the 2017 Clean Air Plan. 

Through ongoing implementation of the Town’s CAP, 

the Town will continue to reduce local GHG 

emissions and meet State, regional, and local 

reduction targets, which would ensure 

implementation of the proposed project would not 

conflict with these SL control measures.  

 

The General Plan Update includes policies and 

programs for encouraging use of renewable energy 

and GHG reduction.  

 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-33 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.8: Control Measures from the BAAQMD 2017 Clean Air Plan 

Type Measure Number / Title Consistency 

▪ Policy LU-2-6. Solar Energy. 

▪ Policy LU-2-8. Climate Action Plan. 

▪ Policy LU-2-9. Greenhouse Gas Reduction 

Targets. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Green Building. 

▪ Policy LU- 5-1. Regional Cooperation. 

▪ Policy LU-5-2. San Mateo County 

Collaboration. 

▪ Policy M-1-5. Green Streets. 

▪ Policy M-3-3. Regional Transportation 

Planning. 

▪ Policy M-5-1. Complete Streets. 

▪ Policy OSC-2-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations. 

 

▪ Further 

Study 

Control 

Measures 

▪ FSM SS 1 – Internal Combustion 

Engines 

▪ FSM SS 2 – Boilers, Steam 

Generator and Process Heaters 

▪ FSM SS 3 – GHG Reductions from 

Non Cap-and Trade Sources 

▪ FSM SS 4 – Methane Exemptions 

from Wastewater Regulation 

▪ FSM SS 5 – Controlling start-up, 

shutdown, maintenance, and 

malfunction (SSMM) Emissions 

▪ FSM SS 6 – Carbon Pollution Fee 

▪ FSM SS 7 – Vanishing Oils and 

Rust Inhibitors 

▪ FSM SS 8 – Dryers, Ovens and 

Kilns 

▪ FSM SS 9 – Omnibus Rulemaking 

to Achieve Continuous 

Improvement 

▪ FSM BL 1 – Space Heating 

▪ FSM AG 1 – Wineries 

The majority of the further study control measures 

apply to sources regulated directly by BAAQMD. 

Because BAAQMD is the implementing agency, new 

and existing sources of stationary and area sources in 

the project area would be required to comply with 

these additional further study control measures in the 

2017 Clean Air Plan.  

 

Regional Growth Projections for VMT and Population  

Future potential development allowed by the proposed General Plan would result in additional sources of 

criteria air pollutants. Growth accommodated by the proposed General Plan could occur throughout the 

buildout horizon. BAAQMDs approach to evaluating impacts from criteria air pollutants generated by a 

plan’s long-term growth is done by comparing population estimates to the VMT estimates. This is because 

BAAQMDs AQMP plans for growth in the SFBAAB are based on regional population projections identified 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-34 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

by ABAG and growth in VMT identified by C/CAG. Changes in regional, community-wide emissions in 

the EIR Study Area could affect the ability of BAAQMD to achieve the air quality goals in the AQMP. 

Therefore, air quality impacts for a plan-level analysis are based on consistency with the regional growth 

projections. Table 4.2.9: Comparison of the Change in Population and VMT in the Town of Colma, 

compares the projected increase in population with the projected increases in total VMT. 

Table 4.2.9: Comparison of the Change in Population and VMT in the Town of Colma 

Category Existing 

2040 Without 

Project 

2040 With 

Project 

Change from 

Existing 

Change from 2040 

No Project 

Change Percent Change Percent 

As stated, BAAQMD’s AQMP requires that the VMT increase by less than or equal to the projected 

population increase from the proposed General Plan (e.g., generate the same or less VMT per population). 

However, because the proposed General Plan accommodates both residential and nonresidential growth, 

a better indicator of how efficiently the town is growing can be made by comparing the increase in VMT to 

the increase in service population (e.g., generate the same or less VMT per service population). This 

approach is similar to the efficiency metrics for GHG emissions, which consider the total service population 

when calculating project efficiency. In addition, because the 2017 Clean Air Plan utilized growth projections 

based, in part, on cities’ general plan land use designations, the growth rate in VMT compared to service 

population is evaluated between buildout under the proposed General Plan and buildout under the 

currently allowed under General Plan 2020. 

VMT estimates based on data provided by Kittelson & Associates, were calculated for the town of Colma. 

As shown in the table, implementation of the proposed General Plan would increase daily VMT by 20,886 

vehicle miles per day in the town, or about 30 percent, when compared to existing conditions. However, 

implementation of the proposed General Plan would result in lower VMT per capita than under existing 

conditions (32 percent lower in the town) and lower VMT per service population (8 percent lower in the 

Town), than under existing conditions. Compared to the demographic and VMT growth projections of the 

2040 Without Project conditions (i.e., growth that would occur as currently allowed and projected under 

the current General Plan), the 2040 With Project conditions would also decrease the VMT/SP by 

approximately 1 percent in the town. This indicates that buildout conditions under the proposed General 

Plan would be more efficient in reducing VMT on a per service population basis. Thus, the proposed 

General Plan would be consistent with the goals of the 2017 Clean Air Plan. In summary, implementation 

Population 1,519 2,269 2,914 1,395 92% 645 28% 

Employment 4,070 4,315 4,959 889 22% 644 15% 

SP 5,589 6,584 7,873 2,284 41% 1,289 20% 

VMT per 

Day 
70,494 76,908 91,380 20,886 30% 14,472 19% 

VMT/person 46.4 33.9 31.4 -15 -32% -3 -7% 

VMT/SP 12.61 11.68 11.61 -1 -8% -0.1 -1% 

Notes: SP: Service Population 

Source: Based on VMT data provided by Kittelson and Associates. The 2040 without project scenario is the 

current General Plan.  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-35 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

of the proposed General Plan would not conflict with the 2017 Clean Air Plan, and impacts would be less 

than significant and no mitigation is required. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The General Plan policies listed in Table 4.2.9 would ensure consistency with the AQMP.  

Impact 4.2.2 The project would result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of criteria pollutants 

for which the project region is in non-attainment under applicable federal or State ambient 

air quality standard (Significant and Unavoidable).  

This section analyzes potential impacts related to air quality that could occur from the buildout associated 

with the proposed General Plan in combination with the regional growth in the SFBAAB. The SFBAAB is 

currently designated a nonattainment area for California and National O3, California and National PM2.5, 

and California PM10 AAQS. At a plan level, air quality impacts are measured by the potential for a project 

to exceed BAAQMDs significance criteria and contribute to the State and federal nonattainment 

designations in the SFBAAB. Any project that produces a significant regional air quality impact in an area 

that is in nonattainment adds to the cumulative impact. As described in Impact 4.2.1, the proposed General 

Plan would be consistent with the 2017 Clean Air Plan. However, the proposed General Plan could generate 

a substantial increase in criteria air pollutant emissions from construction and operational activities that 

could exceed the BAAQMD regional significance thresholds.  

Construction 

Construction activities would temporarily increase criteria air pollutant emissions within the SFBAAB. The 

primary source of NOx emissions is the operation of construction equipment. The primary sources of 

particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) emissions are activities that disturb the soil, such as grading and 

excavation, road construction, and building demolition and construction. The primary sources of VOC 

emissions are the application of architectural coating and off-gas emissions associated with asphalt paving. 

A discussion of health impacts associated with air pollutant emissions generated by construction activities 

is included under “Air Pollutants of Concern” in Section 4.2.2: Regulatory Framework of this PEIR section.  

Construction activities associated with the proposed General Plan would occur over the buildout horizon, 

causing short-term emissions of criteria air pollutants. Information regarding specific development 

projects, soil types, and the locations of receptors would be needed in order to quantify the level of impact 

associated with construction activity. Due to the scale of development activity associated with buildout of 

proposed General Plan, emissions would likely exceed the BAAQMD regional significance thresholds. In 

accordance with the BAAQMD methodology, emissions that exceed the regional significance thresholds 

would cumulatively contribute to the nonattainment designations of the SFBAAB. Emissions of VOC and 

NOX are precursors to the formation of O3. In addition, NOX is a precursor to the formation of particulate 

matter (PM10 and PM2.5). Therefore, the proposed General Plan would cumulatively contribute to the 

nonattainment designations of the SFBAAB for O3 and particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5).  

Future development under the proposed General Plan would be subject to separate environmental review 

pursuant to CEQA in order to identify and mitigate potential air quality impacts. Subsequent 

environmental review of development projects would be required to assess potential impacts under 

BAAQMDs project-level thresholds based on site-specific construction phasing and buildout 

characteristics. For the proposed General Plan, which is a broad-based policy plan, it is not possible to 

determine whether the scale and phasing of individual projects would exceed the BAAQMD's short-term 

regional or localized construction emissions thresholds. As a result, construction activities associated with 

implementation of the proposed General Plan could potentially violate an air quality standard or contribute 

substantially to an existing or projected air quality violation. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-36 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Existing federal, State, and local regulations, and the policies and programs of the proposed project 

described throughout this section protect local and regional air quality. Continued compliance with these 

regulations would reduce construction-related impacts. In addition, there are certain General Plan policies 

that would reduce construction emissions. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The General Plan policies listed in Table 4.2.9 would ensure consistency with the AQMP. While the existing 

regulations and policies have the potential to reduce emissions, potential future development projects 

accommodated under the proposed General Plan (individually or cumulatively) could still exceed the 

BAAQMD significance thresholds for construction. Therefore, implementation of the proposed General 

Plan could result in significant construction-related regional air impacts and the following mitigation 

measures are required. 

Mitigation Measure 

Mitigation Measure AQ-1: As part of the town’s development approval process, the town of Colma 

shall require applicants for future development projects to comply with the current BAAQMD basic 

control measures for fugitive dust control, including: 

▪ Water all active construction areas at least twice daily, or as often as needed to control dust 

emissions. Watering should be sufficient to prevent airborne dust from leaving the site. Increased 

watering frequency may be necessary whenever wind speeds exceed 15 miles per hour. Reclaimed 

water should be used whenever possible.  

▪ Pave, apply water twice daily or as often as necessary to control dust, or apply (non-toxic) soil 

stabilizers on all unpaved access roads, parking areas, and staging areas at construction sites. 

▪ Cover all trucks hauling soil, sand, and other loose materials or require all trucks to maintain at 

least 2 feet of freeboard (i.e., the minimum required space between the top of the load and the top 

of the trailer). 

▪ Sweep daily (with water sweepers using reclaimed water if possible) or as often as needed all paved 

access roads, parking areas and staging areas at the construction site to control dust. 

▪ Sweep public streets daily (with water sweepers using reclaimed water if possible) in the vicinity 

of the project site, or as often as needed, to keep streets free of visible soil material. 

▪ Hydroseed or apply nontoxic soil stabilizers to inactive construction areas. 

▪ Enclose, cover, water twice daily, or apply nontoxic soil binders to exposed stockpiles (dirt, sand, 

etc.). 

▪ Limit vehicle traffic speeds on unpaved roads to 15 miles per hour. 

▪ Replant vegetation in disturbed areas as quickly as possible. 

Mitigation Measure AQ-2: Prior to issuance of building permits, development project applicants that are 

subject to CEQA and exceed the screening sizes in the BAAQMD CEQA Guidelines shall prepare and 

submit to the town of Colma a technical assessment evaluating potential project construction-related air 

quality impacts. The evaluation shall be prepared in conformance with the BAAQMD methodology in 

assessing air quality impacts. If construction-related criteria air pollutants are determined to have the 

potential to exceed the BAAQMD thresholds of significance, as identified in the BAAQMD CEQA 

Guidelines, the town shall require that applicants for new development projects incorporate mitigation 

measures to reduce air pollutant emissions during construction activities to below these thresholds to the 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-37 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

extent feasible. These identified measures shall be incorporated into all appropriate construction 

documents (e.g., construction management plans) submitted to the town of Colma and shall be verified by 

the Town’s Building Division and/or Planning Division. 

Mitigation Measure AQ-1 would require adherence to the current BAAQMD basic control measures for 

reducing fugitive dust and reduce fugitive emissions to less-than-significant levels, and Mitigation 

Measure AQ-2 would reduce NOX emissions. However, future development in the town could still generate 

construction exhaust emissions in excess of the BAAQMD significance thresholds. An analysis of emissions 

generated from the construction of specific future projects under the proposed project would be required 

to evaluate emissions compared to BAAQMDs project-level significance thresholds during individual 

environmental review. The identification of this program-level impact does not preclude the finding of 

less-than-significant impacts for subsequent projects that comply with BAAQMD screening criteria or meet 

applicable thresholds of significance. However, due to the programmatic nature of the proposed project, 

no additional mitigation measures are available, and the impact is considered significant and unavoidable.  

Operation 

BAAQMD has identified thresholds of significance for criteria pollutant emissions and criteria air pollutant 

precursors, including VOC, NO, PM10, and PM2.5. Development projects below the significance thresholds 

are not expected to generate sufficient criteria pollutant emissions to violate any air quality standard or 

contribute substantially to an existing or projected air quality violation. According to BAAQMD’s CEQA 

Guidelines, long-range plans, such as the proposed General Plan, present unique challenges for assessing 

impacts. Due to the SFBAAB’s nonattainment status for ozone and PM and the cumulative impacts of 

growth on air quality, many of these plans have significant, unavoidable adverse air quality impacts.  

Implementation and adoption of the proposed General Plan would result in an increase in development 

intensity in the town. Buildout of the proposed General Plan would result in direct and indirect criteria air 

pollutant emissions from transportation, energy (e.g., natural gas use), and area sources (e.g., aerosols and 

landscaping equipment). Although BAAQMD’s CEQA Air Quality Guidelines only require an emissions 

inventory of criteria air pollutants for project-level analyses, enough information regarding the buildout of 

the proposed 2040 General Plan is available; thus, an inventory of criteria air pollutants was generated to 

identify the magnitude of emissions from buildout of the proposed General Plan. Table 4.2.10: Town of 

Colma Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions Forecast, identifies the emissions associated with buildout of the 

proposed General Plan. Subsequent environmental review of development projects would be required to 

assess potential impacts under BAAQMD’s project-level thresholds.  

The proposed General Plan includes several policies to reduce air quality impacts of potential future 

development, particularly in the Land Use (LU), Mobility (M), and Open Space and Conservation (C) 

Elements.  Overall, these components of the proposed project would contribute to reducing emissions.  

As shown in Table 4.2.10, buildout of the proposed General Plan would not generate a substantial increase 

in criteria air pollutant emissions because emissions would not exceed the BAAQMD regional significance 

thresholds for VOC, NOx, PM10, and PM2.5. 

 

  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-38 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.10: Town of Colma Criteria Air Pollutant Emissions Forecast 

Category 

Criteria Air Pollutants  

(Average Pounds/Day) 

VOC NOx PM10 PM2.5 

Existing Land Uses at 2040 

Transportationa 4 14 8 3 

Energyb 1 7 1 1 

OffRoad Equipmentc 5 9 1 1 

Consumer Productsd 49 — — — 

Total Average Daily (pounds/day) 30 30 10 5 

Proposed Project Land Uses 2040 

Transportationa 5 18 11 4 

Energyb 1 7 1 1 

Offroad Equipmentc 6 10 1 1 

Consumer Productsd 49 — — — 

Total Average Daily (pounds/day) 61 35 13 6 

Change from Existing Land Uses 31 5 3 1 

BAAQMD Average Daily Project-Level Threshold 54 54 82 54 

Exceeds Average Daily Threshold No No No No 

Scenario 

Tons per Year 

VOC NOx PM10 PM2.5 

Existing Land Uses at 2040 5 5 2 1 

Proposed Project Land Uses at 2040 11 6 2 1 

Change from Existing Land Uses 6 1 <1 <1 

BAAQMD Annual Project-Level Threshold 10 10 15 10 

Exceeds Annual Threshold No No No No 

 

Notes: Emissions may not total to 100 percent due to rounding.  
a On-road transportation VMT is provided by Kittelson and Associates and modeled with EMFAC2017 using 2040 emission 

rates.  

b Building natural gas are based on data provided by PG&E. The electricity rates were adjusted to reflect the increase in 

dwelling units and employment within the Town. 
c On-road vehicles and equipment are based on the OFFROAD2017 emissions inventory and include construction equipment 

and commercial equipment.  
d Emissions from consumer products is based on the CalEEMod User’s Guide Version 2016.3.2 for residential consumer 

product use.  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-39 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Proposed  General Plan Update Policies  

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Green Building. Support sustainability and green building best practices through the 

orientation, design, and placement of buildings and facilities to optimize their energy efficiency in 

preparation of State zero-net energy requirements for residential construction and commercial 

construction. 

▪ Policy LU-3-6. Walkable Neighborhoods. The Town shall promote walkable neighborhoods by 

supporting alternative modes of transportation; enhancing bike and pedestrian connectivity to local 

commercial districts and transit centers; and maintaining sidewalks, public plazas, parks and 

greenways, parkways, street tree canopies, and landscaping throughout residential neighborhoods.  

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. Require new development projects to achieve a 

reduction in VMT per capita or VMT per service population compared to both baseline VMT 

performance conditions and General Plan 2040 VMT performance conditions. The Town will regularly 

monitor baseline VMT to provide updated benchmarks for project applicants. Encourage use of VMT 

reduction strategies and methods to encourage non-automobile travel.  

▪ Policy M-2-2. Other Traffic Flow Benchmarks. Establish additional traffic flow benchmarks, such as 

VMT, vehicle-hours of travel, and safety-related metrics, in order to evaluate and monitor changes in 

traffic flow over time.  

▪ Policy M-2-3. VMT Transportation Performance Measures. Update the Town’s transportation 

measures and thresholds to use VMT standards for traffic impact analysis rather than LOS. 

▪ Policy M-4-4. Transit Oriented Development. Promote the development of multi-modal mixed-use 

development at sites surrounding the Colma BART station, where feasible along Mission Road, and at 

the Town Center site. 

▪ Policy M-4-5. Connections to Homes and Businesses. Seek opportunities to improve first and last mile 

connections between transit, homes, and businesses. 

▪ Policy M-5-2. Design for All Travel Modes. Plan, design, and construct transportation projects to 

safely accommodate the needs of pedestrians, bicyclists, transit riders, motorists, people with mobility 

challenges, and persons of all ages and abilities. 

▪ Policy M-7-1. TDM Program. Continue to participate in the TDM Program as outlined by the San 

Mateo City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG). 

▪ Policy M-7-2. TDM Program for New Development. Require major development proposals to include 

a detailed, verifiable TDM program for consideration by the Town during the review of the 

development application. 

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction. Support vehicle trip reduction strategies, including building 

safer and more inviting transportation networks, supporting connections to high frequency and 

regional transit, implementing TDM programs, and integrating land use and transportation decisions. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-1. Transit Oriented Development. Encourage, to the extent feasible, higher density 

residential development to be located near transit corridors and public transportation.  

Compliance with applicable policies and programs would contribute to minimizing long-term emissions. 

Implementation of the proposed General Plan would result in a less than significant operational impact. 

However, while Mitigation Measures AQ-1 and AQ-2 would reduce emissions from construction, due to 

the programmatic nature of the proposed project and potential for construction emissions to exceed the 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-40 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

BAAQMD significance thresholds identified in their CEQA Guidelines, impacts would be significant and 

unavoidable. 

Impact 4.2.3 The project could expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations 

(Significant and Unavoidable).  

Implementation of the proposed General Plan would cause or contribute significantly to elevated pollutant 

concentration levels such that it would expose sensitive receptors to elevated pollutant concentrations. 

Unlike regional emissions, localized emissions are typically evaluated in terms of air concentration rather 

than mass so they can be more readily correlated to potential health effects.  

Construction Community Risk and Hazards 

Future construction under the proposed GPU would temporarily elevate concentrations of TACs and DPM 

in the vicinity of sensitive land uses during construction activities. Since the details regarding future 

construction activities are not known at this time, due to this analysis being conducted at a GPU Program 

level—including phasing of future individual projects, construction duration and phasing, and preliminary 

construction equipment—construction emissions are evaluated qualitatively in accordance with 

BAAQMD’s plan-level guidance. Subsequent environmental review of future development projects would 

be required to assess potential impacts under BAAQMD’s project-level thresholds. However, construction 

emissions associated with the proposed General Plan could exceed BAAQMD’s project level and 

cumulative significance thresholds for community risk and hazards. Therefore, construction-related health 

risk impacts associated with the proposed General Plan are considered significant. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies 

The proposed project includes the following policies that would reduce construction-related air quality 

impacts: 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection. The Town shall apply environmental protection measures 

equally among geographic and socioeconomic neighborhoods of the town. 

▪ Policy CS-1-1. Health in All Policies. Prioritize the overall health of Colma residents in its strategies, 

programs, daily operations, and practices. 

Mitigation Measure 

Mitigation Measure AQ-3: Applicants for construction within 1,000 feet of residential and other 

sensitive land use projects (e.g., hospitals, nursing homes, day care centers) in the town of Colma, as 

measured from the property line of the project to the property line of the source/edge of the nearest 

travel lane, shall submit a health risk assessment (HRA) to the town prior to future discretionary project 

approval. The HRA shall be prepared in accordance with policies and procedures of the Office of 

Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) and the BAAQMD. The latest OEHHA 

guidelines shall be used for the analysis, including age-sensitivity factors, breathing rates, and body 

weights appropriate for children ages 0 to 16 years. If the HRA shows that the incremental cancer risk 

exceeds ten in one million (10E-06), PM2.5 concentrations exceed 0.3 µg/m3, or the appropriate 

noncancer hazard index exceeds 1.0, the applicant will be required to identify and demonstrate that 

mitigation measures are capable of reducing potential cancer and noncancer risks to an acceptable level 

(i.e., below ten in one million or a hazard index of 1.0), including appropriate enforcement mechanisms. 

Measures to reduce risk may include, but are not limited to: 

▪ During construction, use construction equipment rated as US EPA Tier 4 Interim for equipment of 

50 horsepower or more.  



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-41 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ During construction, use of construction equipment fitted with Level 3 Diesel Particulate Filters 

for all equipment of 50 horsepower or more.  

Measures identified in the HRA shall be included in the environmental document and/or incorporated 

into the site development plan as a component of the proposed project. Prior to issuance of any 

construction permit, the construction contractor shall ensure that all construction plans submitted to 

the Town of Colma Planning Division and/or Building Division clearly show incorporation of all 

applicable mitigation measures. 

Implementation of Mitigation Measures AQ-2 and AQ-3 would reduce construction-related health risk 

impacts to the extent feasible. However, despite implementation of mitigation, construction-related health 

risk impacts may still exceed the applicable thresholds due to future project-specific circumstances. 

Therefore, this impact remains significant and unavoidable. 

Operational Phase Community Risk and Hazards 

Types of land uses that typically generate substantial quantities of TACs and PM2.5 include industrial and 

manufacturing (stationary sources) and warehousing (truck idling) land uses.  

Stationary (Permitted) Sources 

Various industrial and commercial processes (e.g., manufacturing, dry cleaning) allowed under the 

proposed General Plan would be expected to release TACs. Since TAC emissions are generated by 

stationary and point sources of emissions within the SFBAAB, they are regulated and controlled by 

BAAQMD. However, emissions of TACs from mobile sources when operating at a property (e.g., truck 

idling) are regulated by statewide rules and regulations, not by BAAQMD, and have the potential to 

generate substantial concentrations of air pollutants. 

Land uses that would require a permit from BAAQMD for emissions of TACs include chemical processing 

facilities, chrome-plating facilities, dry cleaners, and gasoline-dispensing facilities. Though such services 

are limited in the town, any emissions of TACs from stationary sources are controlled by BAAQMD. 

Therefore, any future permitting would be subject to further study and health risk assessment prior to the 

issuance of any necessary project level air quality permits under Regulation 2, New Source Review, as well 

as Regulation 11, Rule 18, Reduction of Risk from Air Toxic Emissions at Existing Facilities.  

Review under New Source Review ensures that stationary source emissions (permitted sources) would be 

reduced or mitigated below BAAQMD significance thresholds. Though these sources would incrementally 

contribute to the proposed General Plan’s inventory individually, they would be mitigated to the standards 

identified above. Impacts related to permitted stationary sources of TACs are considered less than 

significant. 

Nonpermitted Sources 

Mobile sources of TACs are not regulated by BAAQMD. The primary mobile source of TACs within the 

town is truck idling and use of off-road equipment. New warehousing operations could generate 

substantial DPM emissions from off-road equipment use and truck idling. In addition, some warehousing 

and industrial facilities may include use of TRUs for cold storage. New land uses in the town that would 

be permitted under the proposed GPU that would use trucks, including trucks with TRUs, could generate 

an increase in DPM that would contribute to cancer and noncancer health risk in the SFBAAB. Additionally, 

these types of facilities could also generate particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) that may cause an 

exceedance or contribute to the continuing exceedance of the federal and State AAQS. These new land uses 

could be near existing sensitive receptors. In addition, trucks would travel on regional transportation routes 

throughout the Bay Area, contributing to near-roadway DPM concentrations. The GPU does not anticipate 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-42 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

significant new growth from industrial warehousing.  However, health risk impacts from nonpermitted 

sources associated with potential development of industrial and commercial land uses are considered 

significant. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies   

▪ Policy LU- 5-1. Regional Cooperation. Participate with other cities in the county and across the region 

in working towards solutions to the issues of regional land use, housing, homelessness, and 

transportation planning through partnership with the Association of Bay Area Governments, the 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission, and the San Mateo City/County Association of Govern-

ments (C/CAG).  

▪ Policy LU-5-2. San Mateo County Collaboration. Continue to consult with San Mateo County and 

other cities in the region on effective land use, transportation, sustainability, and economic 

development strategies to learn about additional strategies that could be used in Colma to achieve the 

community’s vision and goals.  

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection. The Town shall apply environmental protection measures 

equally among geographic and socioeconomic neighborhoods of the town.  

▪ Policy M-3-1. Agency Collaboration and Coordination. Collaborate with Caltrans, the City and 

County Association of Governments (C/CAG), surrounding jurisdictions, and other agencies to 

improve connectivity between the county, cities, and the town.  

▪ Policy M-3-3. Regional Transportation Planning. Actively participate in and support regional 

transportation planning efforts. 

▪ Policy CS-1-1. Health in All Policies. Prioritize the overall health of Colma residents in Town 

strategies, programs, daily operations, and practices. 

The policies and programs listed above would contribute toward minimizing potential health risk impacts 

to sensitive receptors. However, implementation of the proposed General Plan Update could expose 

sensitive receptors to substantial toxic air contaminant concentrations from nonpermitted sources. 

Mitigation Measure 

Mitigation Measure AQ-4: Prior to discretionary project approval, applicants for industrial or 

warehousing land uses in addition to commercial land uses that would generate substantial diesel 

truck travel—i.e., 100 diesel trucks per day or 40 or more trucks with diesel-powered transport 

refrigeration units per day based on the CARB recommendations for siting new sensitive land uses—

shall contact the BAAQMD or the town of Colma in conjunction with the BAAQMD to determine the 

appropriate level of HRA required. If preparation of an HRA is required, all HRAs shall be submitted 

to the town and the BAAQMD for evaluation. 

The HRA shall be prepared in accordance with policies and procedures of the OEHHA and the 

BAAQMD. If the HRA shows that the incremental cancer risk exceeds ten in one million (10E-06) or 

the risk thresholds in effect at the time a project is considered, or the appropriate noncancer hazard 

index exceeds 1.0, or 0.3 µ/m3 of PM2.5 or the thresholds as determined by the BAAQMD at the time a 

project is considered, the applicant will be required to identify and demonstrate that measures are 

capable of reducing potential cancer and noncancer risks to an acceptable level, including appropriate 

enforcement mechanisms. 

Measures to reduce risk impacts may include but are not limited to: 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-43 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ Restricting idling on-site beyond Air Toxic Control Measures idling restrictions, as feasible. 

▪ Electrifying warehousing docks. 

▪ Requiring use of newer equipment and/or vehicles. 

▪ Restricting off-site truck travel through the creation of truck routes. 

Measures identified in the HRA shall be identified as mitigation measures in the environmental 

document and/or incorporated into the site development plan as a component of the proposed General 

Plan. 

Development allowed by the proposed General Plan could result in new sources of criteria air pollutant 

emissions and/or TACs near existing or planned sensitive receptors. Review of development projects by 

BAAQMD for permitted sources of air toxics (e.g., industrial facilities, dry cleaners, and gasoline 

dispensing facilities) in addition to proposed General Plan goals, policies, and programs would ensure that 

health risks are minimized. Additionally, Mitigation Measure AQ-5 would ensure mobile sources of TACs 

not covered under BAAQMD permits are considered during subsequent project-level environmental 

review by the town of Colma. Individual development projects would be required to achieve the 

incremental risk thresholds established by BAAQMD, and TAC and PM2.5 impacts would be less than 

significant with Mitigation Measure AQ-4. 

CO Hotspots 

Areas of vehicle congestion have the potential to create pockets of CO, called hotspots. These pockets have 

the potential to exceed the State 1-hour standard of 20 ppm or the 8-hour standard of 9.0 ppm. Since CO is 

produced in the greatest quantities from vehicle combustion and does not readily disperse into the 

atmosphere, adherence to AAQS is typically demonstrated through an analysis of localized CO 

concentrations. Hotspots are typically produced at intersections, where traffic congestion is highest because 

vehicles queue for longer periods and are subject to reduced speeds.  

C/CAG’s CMP must be consistent with the ABAG/MTC’s Plan Bay Area, which is updated periodically. 

An overarching goal of the Plan Bay Area is to concentrate development in areas where there are existing 

services and infrastructure rather than allocate new growth in outlying areas where substantial 

transportation investments would be necessary to achieve the per capita passenger vehicle VMT and 

associated GHG emissions reductions.  

The GPU would be consistent with the overall goals of the Plan Bay Area. Additionally, the proposed 

General Plan would not hinder the capital improvements outlined in the CMP. Thus, the proposed General 

Plan would not conflict with C/CAG’s CMP. Furthermore, under existing and future vehicle emission rates, 

a project would have to increase traffic volumes at a single intersection by more than 44,000 vehicles per 

hour—or 24,000 vehicles per hour where vertical and/or horizontal mixing is substantially limited—in 

order to generate a significant CO impact (BAAQMD 2017a). The proposed General Plan would not 

increase traffic volumes at affected intersections by more than BAAQMD screening criteria of 44,000 

vehicles per hour or 24,000 vehicles per hour where vertical and/or horizontal mixing is substantially 

limited. Therefore, overall, the proposed project would not have the potential to substantially increase CO 

hotspots at intersections in the town and vicinity.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

▪ Policy M-7-1. TDM Program. Continue to participate in the TDM Program as outlined by the San 

Mateo City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG). 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-44 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ Policy M-7-2. TDM Program for New Development. Require major development proposals to include 

a detailed, verifiable TDM program for consideration by the Town during the review of the 

development application. 

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction. Support vehicle trip reduction strategies, including building 

safer and more inviting transportation networks, supporting connections to high frequency and 

regional transit, implementing TDM programs, and integrating land use and transportation decisions.  

Overall, these aforementioned components of the proposed project would contribute to reducing 

congestion and associated emissions. Localized air quality impacts related to mobile-source emissions 

would therefore be less than significant and no further mitigation is required for mobile source emission 

impacts. 

Impact 4.2.4 The project would not result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely 

affecting a substantial number of people (Less than Significant).  

The following discusses potential operation- and construction-related odor impacts associated with 

implementation of the proposed 2040 General Plan Update. 

Construction-Related Odors 

During construction activities of future developments in the Town, construction equipment exhaust and 

application of asphalt and architectural coatings would temporarily generate odors. Any construction-

related odor emissions would be temporary and intermittent. Additionally, noxious odors would be 

confined to the immediate vicinity of the construction equipment. By the time such emissions reach any 

sensitive receptor sites, they would be diluted to well below any level of air quality concern, and impacts 

would be less than significant.  

Operation-Related Odors 

Potential impacts could occur if new sources of nuisance odors are placed near sensitive receptors. Table 

4.2.11: BAAQMD Odor Screening Distances, identifies screening distances from potential sources of 

objectionable odors within the SFBAAB. Odors from these types of land uses are regulated under 

BAAQMD Regulation 7, Odorous Substances.



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-45 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.2.11: BAAQMD Odor Screening Distances 

Land Use/Type of Operation Screening Distance 

▪ Wastewater Treatment Plant ▪ 2 miles 

▪ Wastewater Pumping Facilities ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Sanitary Landfill ▪ 2 miles 

▪ Transfer Station ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Composting Facility ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Petroleum Refinery ▪ 2 miles 

▪ Asphalt Batch Plan ▪ 2 miles 

▪ Chemical Manufacturing ▪ 2 miles 

▪ Fiberglass Manufacturing ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Painting/Coating Operations ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Rendering Plant ▪ 2 miles 

▪ Coffee Roaster ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Food Processing Facility ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Confined Animal Facility/Feed Lot/ Dairy ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Green Waste and Recycling Operations ▪ 1 mile 

▪ Metal Smelting Plants ▪ 2 miles 

While not all sources in the table are found in the town of Colma (e.g., rendering plants, confined animal 

facilities), commercial and industrial areas in the town have the potential to include land uses that generate 

nuisance odors. Buildout permitted under the proposed GPU could include new sources of odors, such as 

composting, greenwaste, and recycling operations; food processing; and painting/coating operations, 

because these are types of uses in the commercial and/or industrial areas in the Town. Future 

environmental review could be required for industrial projects listed in the table above to ensure that 

sensitive land uses are not exposed to objectionable odors. BAAQMD Regulation 7, Odorous Substances, 

requires abatement of any nuisance-generating an odor complaint.7 Facilities listed in the table would need 

to consider measures to reduce odors as part of their project level environmental review. The proposed 

General Plan would also accommodate future residential, retail, and commercial development. These uses 

would not generate substantial odors that would affect a substantial number of people. During operation, 

 
7  Typical abatement includes passing air through a drying agent followed by two successive beds of activated carbon to render air odor 

free. 

Source: Bay Area Air Quality Management District. California Environmental Quality Act Air Quality 

Guidelines, Table 3-3, Odor Screening Distances, and associated Appendix D of these Guidelines. 

https://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/files/planning-and-research/ceqa/ceqa_guidelines_may2017-pdf.pdf?la=en. 

2017 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-46 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

residences and restaurants could generate odors from cooking. However, odors from cooking are not 

substantial enough to be considered nuisance odors that would affect a substantial number of people. 

Furthermore, nuisance odors are regulated under BAAQMD Regulation 7, Odorous Substances, which 

requires abatement of any nuisance generating an odor complaint. BAAQMD’s Regulation 7, Odorous 

Substances, places general limitations on odorous substances and specific emission limitations on certain 

odorous compounds.8 In addition, odors are also regulated under BAAQMD Regulation 1, Rule 1-301, 

Public Nuisance. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

▪ Policy M-6-1. Site Planning. Locate and design development projects within a scenic corridor to 

carefully fit within their environment and setting. The scenic character of the site should be maintained 

as much as possible. All development should be sited and designed to minimize the impacts of noise, 

light, glare, and odors on adjacent properties with the community at large. 

Review of projects using BAAQMD’s odor screening distances during future CEQA review, 

implementation of the policies and programs above, and compliance with BAAQMD Regulation 7 would 

ensure that odor impacts are minimized to less than significant. 

  

 
8  It should be noted that while restaurants can generate odors, these sources are not identified by BAAQMD as nuisance odors since they 

typically do not generate significant odors that affect a substantial number of people. Larger restaurants that employ five or more people 

are subject to BAAQMD Regulation 7, Odorous Substances. 



4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-47 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Websites 

Associated Bay Area Governments (ABAG). Priority Development Area Showcase. July 2015. 

http://gis.abag.ca.gov/website/PDAShowcase/. 

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) and the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC). 

2021,May. Draft Plan Bay Area 2050. https://www.planbayarea.org/draftplan2050 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD). Community Air Risk Evaluation Program, Phase I 

Findings and Policy Recommendations Related to Toxic Air Contaminants in the San Francisco Bay Area. 

2006. http://www.baaqmd.gov/Divisions/Planning-and-Research/Planning-Programs-and-

Initiatives/CARE-Program/~/media/54D434A0EB8348B78A71C4DE32831544.ashx.  

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD).  Air Toxics NSR Program, Health Risk Screening 

Analysis Guidelines. 2010a. 

http://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/Files/Engineering/Air%20Toxics%20Programs/hrsa_guidelines.

ashx. (accessed August 25, 2020).  

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD).  Screening Tables for Air Toxics Evaluations during 

Construction. 2010b, May. 

https://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/Files/Planning%20and%20Research/CEQA/CEQA_Constructi

on_Screening_Approach.ashx. 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD). Improving Air Quality & Health in Bay Area 

Communities, Community Air Risk Program (CARE) Retrospective and Path Forward (2004–2013). 

2014, April. https://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/files/planning-and-research/care-

program/documents/care_retrospective_april2014.pdf. 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD).  California Environmental Quality Act Air Quality 

Guidelines. 2017a (revised). http://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/files/planning-and-

research/ceqa/ceqa_guidelines_may2017-pdf 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD). Air Quality Standards and Attainment Status. 

2017b, January. http://www.baaqmd.gov/research-and-data/air-quality-standards-and-

attainment-status#thirteen  

California Air Resources Board (CARB). Final Staff Report: Update to the Toxic Air Contaminant List. 1999. 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). Air Quality and Land Use Handbook: A Community Health 

Perspective. 2005, May. 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). ARB Fact Sheet: Air Pollution and Health. 2009, December 2.: 

https://www.arb.ca.gov/research/health/fs/fs1/fs1.htm (accessed February 21, 2019). 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Strategy. 2017, March.: 

https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/final_SLCP_strategy.pdf. (accessed August 25, 

2020). 

https://www.planbayarea.org/draftplan2050
http://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/files/planning-and-research/ceqa/ceqa_guidelines_may2017-pdf
http://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/files/planning-and-research/ceqa/ceqa_guidelines_may2017-pdf


4.2 AIR QUALITY  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 4.2-48 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

California Air Resources Board (CARB).  Area Designations Maps: State and National. 2019a, August. 

http://www.arb.ca.gov/desig/adm/adm.htm (accessed August 25, 2020). 

California Air Resources Board (CARB).  San Francisco Bay Area Community Health Protection Program. 

2019b, April 16. https://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/files/ab617-community-

health/2019_0325_ab617onepager-pdf.pdf?la=en. 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). West Oakland Community Action Plan. 2019c, October 2. 

https://www.baaqmd.gov/community-health/community-health-protection-program/west-

oakland-community-action-plan. 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). Air Pollution Data Monitoring Cards (2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, and 

2018). 2020. https://www.arb.ca.gov/adam/topfour/topfour1.php. Data (accessed August 15, 

2020). 

City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG), San Mateo. San Mateo County Congestion Management 

Program (CMP) 2019. 2020, April 9. https://ccag.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/2019-CMP-

Final-040920.pdf. 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG). 

Priority Development Areas Current. 2020. 

https://www.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer.html?panel=gallery&suggestField=true&url=http

s%3A%2F%2Fservices3.arcgis.com%2Fi2dkYWmb4wHvYPda%2Farcgis%2Frest%2Fservices%2F

priority_development_areas_current%2FFeatureServer%2F0 (Accessed September 1, 2020). 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG). 

Plan Bay Area 2050. 2021, https://www.planbayarea.org/plan-bay-area-2050-1. 

Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment. Air Toxics Hot Spots Program Guidance Manual for the 

Preparation of Health Risk Assessments. 2015, February 

South Coast Air Quality Management District. Guidance Document for Addressing Air Quality Issues in 

General Plans and Local Planning. 2005, May. http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-

source/planning/air-quality-guidance/complete-guidance-document.pdf. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency. Health and Environmental Effects of Hazardous Air 

Pollutants. 2019. https://www.epa.gov/haps/health-and-environmental-effects-hazardous-air-

pollutants. 

 



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Cal. Pub. Resources Code Sections 

§21000, et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal. Code Regs., Section §15000, et seq.), this section of 

the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing biological 

resources including the special-status species and sensitive habitats known to occur or that potentially 

occur in the proposed Town of Colma General Plan Update Planning Area (Planning Area). It also discusses 

the regulations and programs which provide for their protection, and an assessment of the potential 

impacts of implementing the Town of Colma’s 2045 General Plan Update. This section includes a discussion 

of mitigation measures necessary to reduce impacts to a less than significant level, where feasible. 

4.3.1 EXISTING SETTING 

REGIONAL  

The Planning Area is located in San Mateo county, approximately 1.5 miles west of the San Francisco Bay. 

The San Francisco Bay and Delta make up the Pacific Coast’s largest estuary, encompassing roughly 1,600 

square miles of waterways and draining over 40 percent of California’s fresh water. The Sacramento and 

San Joaquin rivers flow from Northern California’s inland valleys into the Delta’s winding system of 

islands, sloughs, canals, and channels, before emptying into San Francisco Bay and the Pacific Ocean.  

The town is part of the Bay Area/Delta Bioregion, as identified by the US Geological Survey. This is one of 

the most populous of the State’s 10 bioregion areas, covering both the San Francisco Bay area as well as the 

Sacramento-San Joaquin River Delta. This bioregion supplies about two-thirds of the State of California’s 

drinking water, irrigates farmlands and sustains fish and wildlife. Encompassing about 12 of the State’s 

counties from Sonoma to San Joaquin and stretching from the Pacific Ocean to the Sacramento and San 

Joaquin valleys, the Bay Area/Delta Bioregion is the second most populated bioregion in the State. The 

bioregion is mostly hilly with low coastal mountains. It includes two major watersheds – the San Francisco 

Bay and the Sacramento-San Joaquin River Delta, and numerous rivers, lakes, reservoirs and canals, such 

as the Russian, Napa and Putah creeks, and Lake Berryessa. Coastal prairie shrub, coastal salt marshes, 

freshwater marshes, mixed hardwoods and valley oaks along with eucalyptus, manzanita and northern 

coastal scrub make up most of the bioregion. 

California buttercups, goldfields, and Tiberon mariposa lily are also found in the greater bioregion. Typical 

plants include Marin western flax, Baker's manzanita, Point Reyes checkerbloom, Sonoma sunshine, 

pickleweed, great bulrush, saltbush, and cattail. The common marine life in this bioregion include Chinook 

salmon, harbor seal, sea lion, leopard shark, and bat ray. Other wildlife includes grey fox, mule deer, 

bobcat, raccoon, Pacific tree frog, and the swallowtail and painted lady butterfly. Endangered species 

include the California least tern, California black rail and clapper rail, Smith's blue butterfly, salt marsh 

harvest mouse, California freshwater shrimp, northwestern pond turtle, and tidewater goby. 

The San Francisco Bay is also part of the Pacific Flyway, the route taken by migrating waterfowl twice each 

year. The marshes and mudflats of the San Francisco Bay provide important feeding and roosting habitat 

for these migrating birds. Typical bird species include canvasback, western grebe, black-crowned night 

heron, great egret, snowy egret, California brown pelican, white pelican, gull, acorn woodpecker, golden 

eagle, western bluebird, Caspian tern, American avocet, and cedar waxwing.  

  



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

LOCAL  

The town of Colma encompasses approximately 1,219 acres or 1.9 square miles of land. Its main natural 

feature is Colma Creek which flows primarily underground through the town from the Crocker Hills 

within the San Bruno Mountain range to San Francisco Bay to the south (Figure 4.3-1: Creeks).  

Since most of the creek is either surrounded by flood control walls or buried underground, the common 

natural vegetative habitat along Colma Creek is scrub, with very little riparian habitat. The vegetative cover 

now consists primarily of introduced ornamental and native plant materials. 

The majority of the town, or almost 887 acres, is dedicated to cemetery uses. Even though park and open 

space areas are otherwise limited within its boundaries, the town of Colma has the ability to, or supports a 

variety of vegetative, plant and animal species as evidenced in Table 4.3.1: Plant and Wildlife Species 

Potentially in the Planning Area below. 

Table 4.3.1: Plant and Wildlife Species Potentially in the Planning Area 

SPECIES 
STATUS 

(Fed; State; CNPS) 
HABITAT 

PLANTS 

Allium peninsulare var. 

franciscanum (Franciscan onion) --; --; 1B.2 

Cismontane woodland, Valley and 

foothill grassland 

Amsinckia lunaris (bent-flowered 

fiddleneck) --; --; 1B.2 

Coastal bluff scrub, Cismontane 

woodland, Valley and foothill grassland 

Arctostaphylos franciscana 

(Franciscan manzanita) FE; --; 1B.1 Coastal scrub (serpentinite) 

Arctostaphylos imbricata (San Bruno 

Mountain manzanita) --; CE; 1B.1 Chaparral, Coastal scrub 

Arctostaphylos montana ssp. 

Ravenii  (Presidio manzanita) FE; CE; 1B.1 

Chaparral, Coastal prairie, Coastal 

scrub 

Arctostaphylos montaraensis 

(Montara manzanita) --; --; 1B.2 Chaparral (maritime), Coastal scrub 

Arctostaphylos pacifica (Pacific 

manzanita) --; CE; 1B.1 Chaparral, Coastal scrub 

Astragalus tener var. tener (alkali 

milk-vetch) --; --; 1B.2 

Playas, Valley and foothill grassland 

(adobe clay), Vernal pools 

Carex comosa (bristly sedge) --; --; 2B.1 

Coastal prairie, Marshes and swamps 

(lake margins), Valley and foothill 

grassland 

Centromadia parryi ssp. parryi 

(pappose tarplant) --; --; 1B.2 

Chaparral, Coastal prairie, Meadows 

and seeps, Marshes and swamps 

(coastal salt), Valley and foothill 

grassland (vernally mesic) 

Chorizanthe cuspidata var. 

cuspidata (San Francisco Bay 

spineflower) --; --; 1B.2 

Coastal bluff scrub, Coastal dunes, 

Coastal prairie, Coastal scrub 

Chorizanthe robusta var. robusta 

(robust spineflower) FE; --; 1B.1 

Chaparral (maritime), Cismontane 

woodland (openings), Coastal dunes, 

Coastal scrub 



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SPECIES 
STATUS 

(Fed; State; CNPS) 
HABITAT 

Cirsium andrewsii (Franciscan 

thistle) --; --; 1B.2 

Broadleafed upland forest, Coastal bluff 

scrub, Coastal prairie, Coastal scrub 

Cirsium occidentale var. compactum 

(compact cobwebby thistle) --; --; 1B.2 

Chaparral, Coastal dunes, Coastal 

prairie, Coastal scrub 

Collinsia corymbosa (round-headed 

Chinese-houses) --; --; 1B.2 Coastal dunes 

Collinsia multicolor (San Francisco 

collinsia) --; --; 1B.2 

Closed-cone coniferous forest, Coastal 

scrub 

Fritillaria liliacea (fragrant fritillary) --; --; 1B.2 

Cismontane woodland, Coastal prairie, 

Coastal scrub, Valley and foothill 

grassland 

Gilia capitata ssp. chamissonis (blue 

coast gilia) --; --; 1B.1 Coastal dunes, Coastal scrub 

Gilia millefoliata (dark-eyed gilia) --; --; 1B.2 Coastal dunes 

Grindelia hirsutula var. maritima 

(San Francisco gumplant) --; --; 3.2 

Coastal bluff scrub, Coastal scrub, 

Valley and foothill grassland 

Helianthella castanea (Diablo 

helianthella) --; --; 1B.2 

Broadleafed upland forest, Chaparral, 

Cismontane woodland, Coastal scrub, 

Riparian woodland, Valley and foothill 

grassland 

Hemizonia congesta ssp. congesta 

(congested-headed hayfield tarplant) --; --; 1B.2 Valley and foothill grassland 

Hesperevax sparsiflora var. 

brevifolia (short-leaved evax) --; --; 1B.2 

Coastal bluff scrub (sandy), Coastal 

dunes, Coastal prairie 

Heteranthera dubia (water star-

grass) --; --; 1B.2 

Marshes and swamps (alkaline, still or 

slow-moving water) 

Horkelia cuneata var. sericea 

(Kellogg's horkelia) --; --; 1B.1 

Closed-cone coniferous forest, 

Chaparral (maritime), Coastal dunes, 

Coastal scrub 

Horkelia marinensis (Point Reyes 

horkelia) --; --; 1B.2 

Coastal dunes, Coastal prairie, Coastal 

scrub 

Layia carnosa (beach layia) FE; CE; 1B.1 Coastal dunes, Coastal scrub (sandy) 

Leptosiphon rosaceus (rose 

leptosiphon) --; --; 1B.1 Coastal bluff scrub 

Lessingia germanorum (San 

Francisco lessingia) FE; CE; 1B.1 Coastal scrub (remnant dunes) 

Malacothamnus arcuatus (arcuate 

bush-mallow) --; --; 1B.2 Chaparral, Cismontane woodland 

Monardella sinuata ssp. nigrescens 

(northern curly-leaved monardella) --; --; 1B.2 

Chaparral (SCR Co.), Coastal dunes, 

Coastal scrub, Lower montane 

coniferous forest (SCR Co., ponderosa 

pine sandhills) 



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SPECIES 
STATUS 

(Fed; State; CNPS) 
HABITAT 

Pentachaeta bellidiflora (white-rayed 

pentachaeta) FE; CE; 1B.1 

Cismontane woodland, Valley and 

foothill grassland (often serpentinite) 

Plagiobothrys chorisianus var. 

chorisianus (Choris' popcornflower) --; --; 1B.2 

Chaparral, Coastal prairie, Coastal 

scrub 

Sanicula maritima (adobe sanicle) --; CR; 1B.1 

Chaparral, Coastal prairie, Meadows 

and seeps, Valley and foothill grassland 

Senecio aphanactis (chaparral 

ragwort) --; --; 2B.2 

Chaparral, Cismontane woodland, 

Coastal scrub 

Silene scouleri ssp. scouleri 

(Scouler's catchfly) --; --; 2B.2 

Coastal bluff scrub, Coastal prairie, 

Valley and foothill grassland 

Silene verecunda ssp. verecunda 

(San Francisco campion) --; --; 1B.2 

Coastal bluff scrub, Chaparral, Coastal 

prairie, Coastal scrub, Valley and 

foothill grassland 

Suaeda californica (California 

seablite) FE; --; 1B.1 Marshes and swamps (coastal salt) 

Trifolium amoenum (two-fork 

clover) FE; --; 1B.1 

Coastal bluff scrub, Valley and foothill 

grassland (sometimes serpentinite) 

Triphysaria floribunda (San 

Francisco owl's-clover) --; --; 1B.2 

Coastal prairie, Coastal scrub, Valley 

and foothill grassland 

Triquetrella californica (coastal 

triquetrella) --; --; 1B.2 Coastal bluff scrub, Coastal scrub 

WILDLIFE 

Rana draytonii (California red-

legged frog) FT; --; SSC 

quiet pools of streams, marshes, and 

occasionally ponds 

Thamnophis sirtalis tetrataenia (San 

Francisco gartersnake) FE; CE; CP   

Emys marmorata (western pond 

turtle) --; --; SSC 

 Permanent or nearly permanent 

aquatic habitat 

Falco peregrinus anatum (American 

peregrine falcon) FD; CD; CP   

Pelecanus occidentalis californicus 

(California brown pelican) FD; CD; CP   

Rallus obsoletus obsoletus 

(California Ridgway's rail) FE; CE; CP   

Riparia riparia (bank swallow) --; CT; -- 

Riparian and other lowland habitats in 

California west of the deserts during 

the spring-fall period 

Laterallus jamaicensis coturniculus 

(California black rail) --; CT; CP 

 Tidal salt marshes dominated by 

pickleweed, and brackish and 

freshwater marshes. 

Accipiter cooperii (Cooper's hawk) --; '--; WL 

 Breeds in southern Sierra Nevada 

foothills, New York Mts., Owens 

Valley, and other local areas in 

southern California 



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SPECIES 
STATUS 

(Fed; State; CNPS) 
HABITAT 

Eremophila alpestris actia 

(California horned lark) --; '--; WL 

 Short grasslands (stubble fields), 

disturbed areas, agriculture fields, and 

beach areas 

Falco mexicanus (prairie falcon) --; '--; WL 

 Distributed from annual grasslands to 

alpine meadows, but associated 

primarily with perennial grasslands, 

savannahs, rangeland, some 

agricultural fields, and desert scrub 

areas. 

Lanius ludovicianus (loggerhead 

shrike) --; '--; SSC 

 open habitats with scattered shrubs, 

trees, posts, fences, utility lines, or other 

perches. 

Geothlypis trichas sinuosa 

(saltmarsh common yellowthroat) --; '--; SSC 

 Riparian thickets and riparian 

woodlands with a dense understory. 

Melospiza melodia pusillula 

(Alameda song sparrow) --; '--; SSC 

 Emergent wetlands with low, dense 

vegetation such as willows. 

Phalacrocorax auritus (double-

crested cormorant) --; '--; WL 

 Inland lakes, fresh, salt and estuarine 

waters. Overnight roosts on humanly 

inaccessible areas without vegetation. 

Mylopharodon conocephalus 

(hardhead) --; --; SSC   

Eucyclogobius newberryi (tidewater 

goby) FE; --; SSC 

 Shallow lagoons and lower coastal 

stream reaches with salinities from 

brackish to fresh 

Spirinchus thaleichthys (longfin 

smelt) FC; CT; -- 

 Salt or brackish estuaries with a sandy-

gravel substrate. 

Bombus occidentalis (western 

bumble bee) --; CCE; --   

Callophrys mossii bayensis (San 

Bruno elfin butterfly) FE; --; -- 

 Hilltops and ridges of coastal scrub 

supporting the host plant species, 

stonecrop 

Plebejus icarioides missionensis 

(Mission blue butterfly) FE; --; --   

Euphydryas editha bayensis (Bay 

checkerspot butterfly) FT; --; -- 

 Foothills of serpentine soils supporting 

host species, native plantain and owl’s 

clover  

Speyeria callippe callippe (callippe 

silverspot butterfly) FE; --; --   

Corynorhinus townsendii 

(Townsend's big-eared bat) --; --; SSC 

Utilizes a variety of communities, 

including conifer and oak woodlands 

and forests, arid grasslands and deserts, 

and high elevation forests and 

meadows. 

Source: California Natural Diversity Database Search Results. 2020. https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB. Accessed 24 

July 2020. 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB


4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Riparian Vegetation - Riparian vegetation, largely willow and alder, is limited to the banks along the few 

open sections of Colma Creek. These areas are located behind the commercial district west of Mission Road, 

from the Cypress Lawn Cemetery offices to Collins Avenue, west of City Hall from Serramonte Boulevard 

north about 800 feet, and in front of Woodlawn and Greenlawn cemeteries adjacent to El Camino Real.   

Non-Native Plants - Non-native plant species are prevalent in certain areas of the town of Colma and are 

often so prolific that they are invasive and spread into surrounding ecosystems, displacing native plants.  

Non-native plants tend to be more aggressive in their growth habits, often produce more seed that lasts 

longer in the soil and are more resistant to diseases, to competitors and to predators. Invading non-native 

plants in the town include German Ivy (Senecio mikanioides), Cape Ivy (Senecio angulatus), Pampas Grass 

(Cortaderia jubata), Fennel (Foeniculum), Scotch Broom (Cytisus scoparius), and Gorse (Ulex europaea).   

Tree Masses - The vegetation that is most clearly recognized in the town of Colma is the significant tree 

masses that exist throughout the town. The majority of these trees were planted by the cemetery owners to 

act as buffers, windbreaks and for aesthetic purposes. The cemeteries chose pine, cypress, palm, acacia, and 

eucalyptus because of their availability and compatibility with the town’s microclimate.   

Wildlife – The town of Colma has a diversified wildlife population.  The San Francisco Bay Area is located 

along the Pacific Flyway, so migratory birds are attracted to the open spaces of San Bruno Mountains and 

to the memorial parks and cemetery irrigation ponds in the town. Bird species seen in the area include 

vultures, hawks, owls and a variety of songbirds. Small animals common to the Colma area are snakes, 

lizards, gophers, squirrels, frogs, mice and rabbits. Mammals such as racoons, possum, skunk and coyotes 

are also common in the town of Colma and on San Bruno Mountain. 

Endangered, Threatened, and Sensitive Species – Open space land in the town of Colma is characterized 

as disturbed due to agricultural practices and normal cemetery landscape maintenance which has occurred 

for over 100 years. However, there are areas adjacent to the town where threatened and endangered species 

are found, such as San Bruno Mountain, and there are areas within the town of Colma where man-made 

environments may favor the presence of sensitive species. The California red-legged frog, California 

Ridgway’s rail, longfin smelt, western bumble bee, and the San Francisco garter snake (Table 4.3.1) are a 

few of the State and federally endangered species that may exist within the town.  

  



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.3.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL   

Federal Endangered Species Act (1973) 

When Congress passed the Federal Endangered Species Act (FESA) in 1973, it expressed concern that many 

of our nation’s native plants and animals were in danger of becoming extinct. The purpose of the FESA 

therefore is to protect and recover imperiled species and their related ecosystems. The Department of U.S. 

Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and the Commerce Department’s National Marine Fisheries Service 

(NMFS) administer the FESA. USFWS has primary responsibility for terrestrial and freshwater organisms, 

while the responsibilities of NMFS are mainly marine wildlife such as whales and anadromous fish such 

as salmon. Under the FESA, species may be listed as either endangered or threatened. “Endangered” means 

a species is in danger of extinction throughout all or a significant portion of its range. “Threatened” means 

a species is likely to become endangered within the foreseeable future. All species of plants and animals, 

except pest insects, are eligible for listing as endangered or threatened.   

Migratory Bird Treaty Act  

The Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) implements international treaties between the U.S. and other 

nations devised to protect migratory birds, any of their parts, eggs, and nests from a variety of activities 

such as hunting, pursuing, capturing, killing, selling, and shipping, unless expressly authorized in the 

regulations or by permit.  

Clean Water Act 

The federal Clean Water Act (CWA) was enacted as an amendment to the federal Water Pollution Control 

Act of 1972, which established the basic structure for regulating discharges of pollutants into the waters of 

the United States and established quality standards for surface waters. The basis of the CWA was enacted 

in 1948 and was called the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, but the Act was significantly reorganized 

and expanded in 1972. “Clean Water Act” became the Act’s common name with amendments in 1972. 

The purpose of the Clean Water Act (CWA) is to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological 

integrity of the nation’s waters, which include rivers, streams, estuaries, the territorial seas, ponds, lakes 

and wetlands. Wetlands are defined as those areas “that are inundated or saturated by surface or ground 

water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, 

a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions” (33 CFR 328.3 7b). 

The CWA empowers the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to set national water quality standards 

and effluent limitations and includes programs addressing both point-source and nonpoint-source 

pollution. Point-source pollution is pollution that originates or enters surface waters at a single, discrete 

location, such as an outfall structure or an excavation or construction site. Nonpoint-source pollution 

originates over a broader area and includes urban contaminants in stormwater runoff and sediment 

loading from upstream areas. 

CWA Permits for Fill Placement in Waters and Wetlands - Section 404 

Section 404 of the CWA prohibits the discharge of dredged or fill material into “waters of the United States” 

without a permit from the United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). The U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) also has authority over wetlands and may override a USACE permit. 

Substantial impacts on wetlands may require an individual permit. Projects that only minimally affect 

wetlands may meet the conditions of one of the existing Nationwide Permits. A Water Quality Certification 



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

or waiver pursuant to Section 401 of the CWA is required for Section 404 permit actions; this certification 

or waiver is issued by the Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB). 

STATE AND REGIONAL   

California Endangered Species Act 

The California Endangered Species Act (CESA) is a California state environmental law that conserves and 

protects plant and animal species at risk of extinction. Plant and animal species may be designated 

threatened or endangered under CESA after a formal listing process by the California Fish and Game 

Commission. Approximately 250 species are currently listed under CESA. Any CESA-listed species, or any 

part or product of the plant or animal, may not be imported into the state, exported out of the state, “taken” 

(i.e., killed), possessed, purchased, or sold without proper authorization.  

The California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) works with agencies, organizations, and other 

interested persons to study, protect, and preserve CESA-listed species and their habitats. CDFW also 

conducts scientific reviews of species petitioned for listing under CESA, administers regulatory permitting 

programs to authorize take of listed species, maintains an extensive database of listed species occurrences, 

and conducts periodic reviews of listed species to determine if the conditions that led to original listing are 

still present. 

The State of California first began to designate species as “Fully Protected” prior to the creation of the CESA 

and the FESA. Lists of fully protected species were initially developed to provide protection to those 

animals that were rare or faced possible extinction, and included fish, mammals, amphibians, reptiles, 

birds, and mammals. The regulations that implement the Fully Protected Species Statute (California Fish 

and Game Code Section 4700) provide that fully protected species may not be taken or possessed at any 

time. Furthermore, the CDFW prohibits any state agency from issuing incidental take permits for fully 

protected species, except for necessary scientific research. 

California Department of Fish and Game Code – Predatory Birds 

The federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act (16 USC, Sec. 703, Supp. I, 1989) prohibits killing, possessing, or 

trading in migratory birds in accordance with regulations under the US Secretary of the Interior. This act 

encompasses whole birds, parts of birds, and bird nests and eggs. In California, birds of prey are protected 

under the State Fish and Game Code, Section 3503.5 (1992). Section 3503.5 states that it is “unlawful to take, 

possess, or destroy any birds in the order Falconiformes or Strigiformes (birds of prey) or to take, possess, 

or destroy the nest or eggs of any such bird except as otherwise provided by this code or any regulation 

adopted pursuant thereto.” Construction disturbance during the breeding season could result in the 

incidental loss of fertile eggs or nestlings, or otherwise lead to nest abandonment. Disturbance that causes 

nest abandonment and/or loss of reproductive effort is considered “taking” by the CDFW. Any loss of 

fertile eggs, nesting raptors, or any activities resulting in nest abandonment would constitute a significant 

impact.  

California Department of Fish and Game Code - Bats 

All bat species are protected under the California Fish and Game Code Section §4150, which states that all 

non-game mammals or parts thereof may not be taken or possessed except as otherwise provided in the 

code or in accordance with regulations adopted by the commission. 

California Department of Fish and Game Code - Native Plant Protection Act   

The Native Plant Protection Act (NPPA) of 1977 was created with the intent to “preserve, protect and 

enhance rare and endangered plants in this state.” The NPPA is administered by the California Department 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=FGC&division=3.&title=&part=&chapter=1.5.&article=
https://fgc.ca.gov/
https://fgc.ca.gov/
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/CESA/Listing
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/CESA/Permitting
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/CESA/Five-Year-Reviews


4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW). The Fish and Game Commission has the authority to designate native plants 

as “endangered” or “rare” and to protect endangered and rare plants from take. The California Endangered 

Species Act (CESA) provides further protection for rare and endangered plant species, but the NPPA 

remains part of the Fish and Game Code. 

The California Native Plant Society (CNPS) maintains a list of special status plant species based on collected 

scientific information. Designation of these species by CNPS has no legal status or protection under federal 

or state endangered species legislation. CNPS designations are defined as List 1A (plants presumed 

extinct); List 1B (plants rare, threatened, or endangered in California and elsewhere); List 2 (plants rare, 

threatened, or endangered in California, but more numerous elsewhere); List 3 (plants about which more 

information is needed – a review list); and List 4 (plants of limited distribution - a watch list).  

Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act 

The Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act imposes stringent controls on any discharges into the 

"waters of the state" (California Water Code §13000, et seq.). This law assigns overall responsibility for 

water rights and water quality protection to the State Water Resource Control Board (SWRCB) and directs 

the nine statewide Regional Water Quality Control Boards (RWQCBs) to develop and enforce water quality 

standards within their boundaries. 

Waters of the state are defined as any surface water or groundwater, including saline waters, within the 

boundaries of the state. Pursuant to the Porter-Cologne Act, the State Water Resources Control Board 

(SWRCB) has the ultimate authority over state water rights and water quality policy. The Act also 

establishes nine Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCBs) to oversee water quality at the 

local/regional level, where the State retains authority to regulate discharges of waste into any waters of the 

state, regardless of whether the United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) has concurrent 

jurisdiction under Section 404 of the Communications Workers of America (CWA). This applies specifically 

to isolated wetlands considered non-jurisdictional by the Corps.   

State Definition of Covered Waters 

Under California State law, “waters of the state" means “any surface water or groundwater, including 

saline waters, within the boundaries of the state” (California Water Code §13050(e)). Therefore, water 

quality laws apply to both surface and groundwater. After the US Supreme Court decision in Solid Waste 

Agency of Northern Cook County v. Army COE of Engineers (SWANCC v. USCOE), the Office of Chief Counsel 

of the SWRCB released a legal memorandum confirming the State’s jurisdiction over isolated wetlands. 

The memorandum stated that under the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act, discharges 

to wetlands and other waters of the state are subject to State regulation, and this includes isolated wetlands. 

In general, the RWQCBs regulate discharges to isolated waters in much the same way as they do for federal-

jurisdictional waters, using Porter-Cologne rather than CWA authority. 

LOCAL 

Town of Colma Municipal Code  

The town of Colma recognizes the contribution of both trees and views to the character and beauty of the 

town. Removal of trees without reasonable care would destroy the natural beauty of certain areas, 

contribute to erosion and increase cost of drainage systems, reduce protection against wind, and impair 

residential privacy and quiet. Guidelines are provided in the town’s Tree Ordinance and Public Tree 

Ordinance to protect both trees and views and to ensure that access to public property and public rights-

of-way, including sidewalks, by persons with disabilities is not constrained or inhibited.  



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.3.2 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance 

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Biological resources impacts are considered to be significant if implementation 

of the project considered would result in any of the following: 

• Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any species 

identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or regional plans, policies, or 

regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 

• Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural community 

identified in local or regional plans, policies, regulations or by the California Department of Fish and 

Game or US Fish and Wildlife Service. 

• Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands (including, but not limited 

to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or 

other means. 

• Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species 

or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native 

wildlife nursery sites. 

• Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a tree 

preservation policy or ordinance. 

• Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 

Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan. 

METHODOLOGY 

This section describes potential impacts on biological resources that could result from the GPU and 

discusses General Plan goals, policies, and implementation programs that would avoid or reduce those 

potential impacts. This impact assessment is based on the project description (Section 3.0, Project 

Description), information available from various existing planning documents and database searches. 

Analysis of the effects of implementing the Proposed General Plan Update was based on the review of 

available data sources. No new field studies or other research were conducted for the preparation of this 

DPEIR, as existing information on biological resources in the Planning Area was deemed an appropriate 

level of detail for a program-level environmental assessment. Based on a review of aerial photographs, data 

from the CNDDB’s electronic database, and available information from other environmental documents 

provided by the Town, this Draft PEIR presents a list of special-status species that have the potential to 

occur in the Planning Area, due to the presence of the basic habitat types that they inhabit. 

  



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.3.1 The proposed GPU would not have a substantial adverse effect through habitat 

modification on any species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species, 

or impact riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities as identified in local or 

regional plans, policies, regulations or by the California Department of Fish and Game or 

US Fish and Wildlife Service (Less than Significant). 

A search of the California Natural Diversity Data Base has revealed the potential occurrence of one 

amphibian, one bird species, one fish species, four insect species, one reptile (California garter snake), and 

eight plant species with the town of Colma that are either State or Federal Threatened or Endangered 

species. 

The 2040 GPU proposes few changes that could potentially alter the future development proposed in the 

town. The proposed GPU updates the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing 

planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and 

the vision of the City Council. The planning areas include development standards such as height, FAR, and 

density as well as development standard bonuses for specific uses in opportunity sites. In addition, the 

proposed GPU introduces new land uses such a medium density residential land use that is consistent with 

current developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of 
Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park 

Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside 

Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in 

the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial 

uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center 

and Sandblaster’s site, respectively. 

Though the proposed GPU in itself would not directly approve or entitle any development, it would 

facilitate future development by allowing for infill development as well as redevelopment of the few vacant 

and underutilized parcels that exist within the town of Colma, thereby incentivizing new development in 

already developed areas with limited potential for wildlife habitat. Although the CNDDB recognizes 

several potentially protected and endangered species, some, like the California garter snake, have not been 

found in the town of Colma, while others may exist in the numerous cemetery areas in the town. Although 

some development of the few currently vacant parcels in the town may affect some candidate, special 

status, or candidate species, the areas that may develop are already designated for urban uses. Construction 

and site maintenance activities associated with future development have the potential to result in the direct 

or indirect loss or disturbance of these plant or animal species. However, future site-specific projects would 

be required to conduct biological resources review under State CEQA Guidelines to ensure that there are 

no impacts to potential habitat modifications, for any one particular area. In addition, the General Plan 

includes policies that would minimize or avoid impacts to sensitive habitat by requiring the protection and 

preservation of such resources. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies would minimize or avoid impacts to riparian corridors and 

natural communities: 

Policy OSC-4-7:   Colma Creek Bank Setback. Protect and enhance areas of Colma Creek for riparian 

habitat, linear park opportunities, and aesthetic value.   



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Policy OSC-5-3: Sensitive Biological Habitats. Require new development on or near sensitive habitats 

such as open creeks, ponds and other water features to be subject to an investigation 

of the presence of the threatened Red-legged frog and endangered San Francisco garter 

snake. 

Policy OSC-5-4: Habitat Enhancement. Require new development to minimize the disturbance of 

natural habitats and vegetation, and revegetation of disturbed habitat with native or 

non-invasive, naturalized species. 

The GPU would have a less than significant impact on species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or 

special statute species in local or regional plans, policies, regulations or by the California Department of 

Fish and Wildlife or the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  Moreover, these less than significant impacts would 

be further reduced with the implementation of the policies described above and no further mitigation is 

required. 

Impact 4.3.2 Development under the proposed General Plan Update would not have a substantial 

adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands (including, but not limited to, 

marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, 

or other means (No Impact). 

While streams, rivers, vernal pools and marshes are of typical concern since they provide unique habitats, 

there are no such habitats within the Planning Area. Colma Creek flows from the San Bruno Mountains 

through Colma to the San Francisco Bay. While portions of the creek provide habitat and could support 

protected species, the portions of the creek that flow through Colma flows mostly underground. While 

portions of the creek daylight in town, it is concrete-lined and does not provide habitat.  

There are no State or federally protected wetlands within the General Plan Update Planning Area. 

Moreover, the majority of the 1225.18-acre Planning Area is either dedicated for cemetery uses or is already 

developed with residential and commercial uses. Although implementation of the proposed GPU would 

allow approximately 328 residential units, 990,000 square feet of commercial uses and 35,000 square feet of 

office uses at buildout, most of this would occur as infill development of redevelopment of underutilized 

parcels of land. Therefore, there would be no impact and no mitigation measures are required. 

Impact 4.3.3 The proposed GPU would not interfere substantially with the movement of any native 

resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or 

migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites (Less than 

Significant). 

Wildlife habitat corridors often provide wildlife with connectivity for daily movement or migration. 

Wildlife species often utilize movement corridors as either thru-ways between outlying habitats during 

seasonal migrations or movement within a home range, or as dwelling areas for a longer period of time. 

Habitat loss, fragmentation, or degradation resulting from changes to land use can change the viability of 

wildlife movement corridors. 

While the Planning Area is mainly developed with urban uses, there are small areas of diversified wildlife 

population within the town. Table 4.3.1 lists the various native and migratory wildlife, bird and 

amphibious species that may be found in the town of Colma, particularly along its areas that abut San 

Bruno Mountain. Since the town of Colma is located along the Pacific Flyway, migratory birds are often 

found in the town’s open spaces related to cemetery uses. The town’s tall tree masses are also potential 

testing sites for sensitive raptors protected by the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. Major parts of Colma Creek 

that flow through the town of Colma, are either underground water resources or contained by narrow 

culverts.  Existing habitats that could support wildlife are surrounded by urban areas and therefore do not 



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

support the migration of land animals. Ornamental ponds within some of the town’s cemeteries may be 

potential habitat for the federally listed threatened Red-legged frog. Site conditions favoring this species 

include ponds at least two feet deep with moving water and borders of dense, shrubby or emergent riparian 

vegetation.  Although the state and federally-listed endangered San Francisco garter snake seeks the Red-

legged frog as a food source, there are currently no known populations of the snake in the town of Colma.   

Ornamental ponds within some of the town’s cemeteries may be potential habitat for the federally listed 

threatened Red-legged frog.  Conditions favoring this species include ponds at least two feet deep with 

moving water and borders of dense, shrubby or emergent riparian vegetation.  Although the state and 

federally-listed endangered San Francisco garter snake seeks the Red-legged frog as a food source, there 

are currently no known populations of the snake in the town of Colma.   

Wildlife species typically use movement corridors in various ways. However, movement corridors through 

the town are somewhat limited due to the geography of the town and its numerous cemetery uses. Since 

the only large continuous areas of open space within the Planning Area are related to the town’s cemetery 

uses, given their contiguous nature these are the few areas that have the potential to function as wildlife 

corridors. Future new development will either consist of redevelopment of underutilized or infill sites and 

no new development would be allowed in the town’s cemetery sites. Therefore, although there may be 

indirect impacts to the movement of wildlife, development/redevelopment under the GPU is not expected 

to result in direct impacts to habitat or fragmentation of open space.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

In addition to Policy OSC-3.7, Program OSC-3.8a, Policy OSC-4.3, and Policy OSC-4.4, the following 

proposed General Plan policies minimize or avoid impacts to important wildlife corridors and linkages: 

Policy OSC-5-5: Nesting Bird Protection. Require project applicants to retain the services of a qualified 

biologist(s) to conduct a pre-construction nesting bird survey during the nesting 

season (February 1 through August 31) prior to all new development that may remove 

or be in close proximity to any trees or vegetation that may provide suitable nesting 

habitat for migratory birds or other special-status bird species. If nests are found the 

qualified biologist(s) shall identify appropriate avoidance measures, and these 

measures shall be incorporated into the project and implemented accordingly. 

Implementation of the policies described above would further ensure that environmental impacts 

associated with wildlife species movement is less than significant and no mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.3.4 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not conflict with local 

policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a tree preservation policy or 

ordinance (No Impact). 

The Town of Colma has a Tree Ordinance that promotes the healthy growth of trees, controls the removal 

of trees, and encourages the replacement of trees within the Town. Any buildout activity under the 

proposed GPU would be required to follow these regulations. Therefore, any buildout activities under the 

proposed General Plan Update would have no impact and mitigation is not required. 

  



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Impact 4.3.5 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not conflict with the 

provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community Conservation 

Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan (No Impact).  

There are no adopted Habitat Conservation Plans for the Town, nor are there any Natural Community 

Conservation Plans at the county level that include land within the Planning Area. Therefore, future 

development under the GPU would not conflict with provisions of these conservation plans. There would 

be no impact and no mitigation is required. 

 

  



4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

City of San Mateo. 2010. City of San Mateo Draft General Plan. San Mateo, California. 

County of San Mateo. 2019. San Mateo County, California Colma Creek Hydrology and Hydraulic Modeling 

Analysis.  

State of California. 2011. Onsite Wastewater Treatment System Policy – Preliminary Substitute Environmental 

Document. Sacramento, CA 

Town of Colma. Town of Colma General Plan. 1999. 

Town of Colma. Town of Colma Existing Conditions Report, Natural Resources. 2020. 

Town of Colma. Town of Colma Municipal Code. Colma, California. 2019. 

United States Code (USC). Subsection 1251. 1972. Clean Water Act of 1972. United States. 

Websites 

California Department of Fish and Wildlife. 2020. <https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Plants/Laws> Accessed 

September 2020.  

California Legislative Information. 2020. California Water Code.  

<https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=WAT&sectionNum=13000#:~:text=T

he%20Legislature%20finds%20and%20declares,the%20people%20of%20the%20state.> Accessed September 

2020.  

California Legislative Information. 2020. California Fish and Game Code. 

<http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=FGC&sectionNum=4150#:~:text=4150

.,regulations%20adopted%20by%20the%20commission.> Accessed September 2020.  

California Legislative Information. 2020. California Endangered Species Act. 

<http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=FGC&division=3.&title=&par

t=&chapter=1.5.&article=> Accessed September 2020.  

California Natural Diversity Database. 2020. https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB. Accessed 24 July 2020. 

California Native Plant Society, Rare Plant Program. 2021. Inventory of Rare and Endangered Plants of 

California (online edition, v8-03 0.39). http://www.rareplants.cnps.org. Accessed 20 January 2021. 

Fish and Wildlife Service. 1918. <https://www.fws.gov/laws/lawsdigest/migtrea.html> Accessed September 

2020.  

Fish and Wildlife Service. 1973. Endangered Species Act of 1973.  

<https://www.fws.gov/laws/lawsdigest/ESACT.HTML#:~:text=Endangered%20Species%20Act%20of%201973%2

0(16,1531%2D1544%2C%2087%20Stat.&text=Through%20federal%20action%20and%20by,%2C%20wildlife%

2C%20and%20plants%20depend.> Accessed September 2020 

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Plants/Laws%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Plants/Laws%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=WAT&sectionNum=13000#:~:text=The%20Legislature%20finds%20and%20declares,the%20people%20of%20the%20state
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=WAT&sectionNum=13000#:~:text=The%20Legislature%20finds%20and%20declares,the%20people%20of%20the%20state
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=FGC&sectionNum=4150#:~:text=4150.,regulations%20adopted%20by%20the%20commission
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=FGC&sectionNum=4150#:~:text=4150.,regulations%20adopted%20by%20the%20commission
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=FGC&division=3.&title=&part=&chapter=1.5.&article=
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=FGC&division=3.&title=&part=&chapter=1.5.&article=
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Data/CNDDB
http://www.rareplants.cnps.org/
https://www.fws.gov/laws/lawsdigest/migtrea.html%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://www.fws.gov/laws/lawsdigest/migtrea.html%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://www.fws.gov/laws/lawsdigest/ESACT.HTML#:~:text=Endangered%20Species%20Act%20of%201973%20(16,1531%2D1544%2C%2087%20Stat.&text=Through%20federal%20action%20and%20by,%2C%20wildlife%2C%20and%20plants%20depend
https://www.fws.gov/laws/lawsdigest/ESACT.HTML#:~:text=Endangered%20Species%20Act%20of%201973%20(16,1531%2D1544%2C%2087%20Stat.&text=Through%20federal%20action%20and%20by,%2C%20wildlife%2C%20and%20plants%20depend
https://www.fws.gov/laws/lawsdigest/ESACT.HTML#:~:text=Endangered%20Species%20Act%20of%201973%20(16,1531%2D1544%2C%2087%20Stat.&text=Through%20federal%20action%20and%20by,%2C%20wildlife%2C%20and%20plants%20depend


4.3   BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.3-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Town of Colma. Municipal Code Section 5.06. https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-5-06-tree-cutting-

removal/. Accessed 21 January 2021.  

United States Army Corps of Engineers. 2020. Section 404 of the Clean Water Act. 

<https://www.spl.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory/Jurisdictional-Determination/Section-404-of-the-

Clean-Water-Act> Accessed September 2020.  

United States Codes. 1918. Title 16 Subsection 703.  <https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/16/703> Accessed 

September 2020.  

United States Geological Survey. 2020. <https://www.usgs.gov/centers/werc/science/bioregions-pacific-us?qt-

science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects.> Accessed September 2020. 

 

https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-5-06-tree-cutting-removal/
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-5-06-tree-cutting-removal/
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/16/703%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/16/703%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://www.usgs.gov/centers/werc/science/bioregions-pacific-us?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects
https://www.usgs.gov/centers/werc/science/bioregions-pacific-us?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects


4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

cultural and tribal resources within the Town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area). 

This section therefore identifies the potential impacts of implementing the proposed project on such 

resources as well as the appropriate proposed General Plan policies that reduce any identified impacts. 

This section of the DPEIR also includes the Native American consultation and the analysis prepared by 

ASM Associates Inc.   

Cultural resources are defined as prehistoric and historic sites, structures, and districts, or any other 

physical evidence associated with human activity considered important to a culture, a subculture, or a 

community for scientific, traditional, religious, or any other reason. Paleontological resources include fossil 

remains, as well as fossil localities and formations which have produced fossil material. For analysis 

purposes, cultural resources may be categorized into: archaeological resources (prehistoric and historical); 

historic properties, buildings and districts; and paleontological. Cultural resource impacts include those 

affecting existing historic resources (i.e., historic districts, landmarks, etc.). Tribal resources generally 

address areas of importance to Native Americans, such as, but not limited to, sites, features, places, cultural 

landscapes, sacred places, and objects with cultural value to a California Native American tribe that are 

either included or determined to be eligible for inclusion in the California Register of Historical Resources 

(California Register) or included in a local register of historical resources.  

ASM Associates Inc. (ASM) conducted a tribal cultural study for the Town of Colma, in March of 2021, and 

their analyses is presented in the discussion and analysis of this section, undertaking documentary research 

in September 2020. Deanna M. Keegan, MA, RPA, served as Principal Investigator and is the primary 

author of this report. Ms. Keegan meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards 

for Archaeology and Principal Investigator. ASM Director Ted Bibby, PhD, and ASM Associate 

Archaeologist Jennifer Mak, BA, assisted Ms. Keegan with sections of this report. Professional 

Qualifications are available in Appendix D of the Town-wide Archaeological Resource Study. 

CONCEPTS AND TERMINOLOGY  

The following definitions are common terms used to discuss the regulatory requirements and treatment of 

cultural resources: 

• Cultural resource is a term used to describe several different types of properties: prehistoric and 

historical archaeological sites; architectural properties such as buildings, bridges, and infrastructure; 

and resources of importance to Native Americans. 

• Historic properties is a term defined by the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) as any prehistoric 

or historic district, site, building, structure, or object included in, or eligible for inclusion on, the 

National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), including artifacts, records, and material remains related 

to such a property. 

• Historical resource is a CEQA term that includes buildings, sites, structures, objects, or districts, each of 

which may have historical, prehistoric, architectural, archaeological, cultural, or scientific importance, 

and is eligible for listing or is listed in the California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR). The 

CRHR includes resources listed in or formally determined eligible for listing in the NRHP, as well as 

some California State Landmarks and Points of Historical Interest. 

• Paleontological resource is defined as including fossilized remains of vertebrate and invertebrate 

organisms, fossil tracks and trackways, and plant fossils. An unique paleontological site would include 

a known area of fossil bearing rock strata. 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

• Tribal Cultural resource is a CEQA term that includes site features, places, cultural landscapes, sacred 

places or objects, which are of cultural value to a tribe and is either: (a) on or eligible for the CA Historic 

Register or a local historic register; or (b) is treated as a Tribal Cultural Resource by the lead agency. 

4.4.1 EXISTING SETTING 

REGIONAL 

Bay Area Prehistoric Resources 

Cultural Background - Prehistoric  

In an effort to provide a categorization of prehistoric time periods for cultural stages that describe 

archaeological resources and cultural patterns, archaeologists have created and used regional chronologies 

throughout California for each time frame. The town of Colma lies in the San Francisco Bay (Bay) region. 

Milliken et al. (2007) divide the prehistoric cultural chronology of the San Francisco Bay Area (Bay Area) 

into five periods: the Early Holocene (8000–3500 B.C.E.), Early (3500–500 B.C.E.), Lower Middle (500 B.C.E.–

C.E. 430), the Upper Middle (C.E. 430–1050), and the Late Period (C.E. 1050–Contact). 

Many researchers include the terminal Pleistocene (11,700–8000 B.C.E.) in the San Francisco Bay Area 

chronology; however, there is no supporting archaeological evidence that the area was lived in prior to the 

Early Holocene. Although it is likely that Early Paleoindian groups lived in the region, factors (e.g., sea 

level rise, development, erosion) could be obscuring archaeological evidence. As such, the terminal 

Pleistocene in this chronology has not been discussed in this document. 

The earliest archaeological evidence of use of the San Francisco Peninsula is represented by the remains of 

a female aged 24 to 36 years during the construction of the Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) Civic Center 

Station in the city of San Francisco. The remains were discovered approximately 7.5 mi. northeast of the 

Planning Area. Discovered in 1969, the female skeleton was identified 75 feet below ground surface. 

Associated organic material found near the female skeleton provided radiocarbon dates to approximately 

5,000 years ago (CA-SFR-28). 

The earliest archaeological study of the San Francisco Peninsula was conducted between 1906 and 1909. 

Nelson (1909) studied the perimeter of San Francisco Bay and focused on shell mounds in or adjacent to 

the Bay. The survey also included the city of San Francisco. Nelson noted the absence of prehistoric sites in 

the city of San Francisco and the surrounding area, which were significantly developed by then. 

The following periods in prehistory are described below: 

Early Holocene (11,600-7700 B.C.E.) 

Early Holocene populations in the San Francisco Bay were semi-mobile hunter-gathers. Holocene alluvial 

deposits buried Early Holocene sites in the San Francisco Bay, thus limiting the availability of information 

for this period. The earliest evidence of the Early Holocene comes from radiocarbon dates obtained from 

excavations at Los Vaqueros (CA-CCO-696). In addition to radiocarbon dates, a large obsidian spear/dart 

point was found (CA-CCO-696). An excavation in the Santa Clara Valley at CA-SCL-178 revealed 

additional radiocarbon evidence of the Early Holocene in the San Francisco Bay. Both CA-CCO-696 and 

CA-SCL-178 had artifact assemblages containing flaked stone tools, including leaf-shaped projectile points 

and ground stone implements, such as milling slabs and ground stones, which were used in the Early 

Holocene. 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Middle Holocene (7700-3800 B.C.E.) 

The Middle Holocene saw increased sedentism and trade in the San Francisco Bay. The mortar and pestle 

replaced ground stone technologies of the Early Holocene. The first evidence of mortar and pestle use 

comes from CA-CCO-637, near the Los Vaqueros Reservoir, approximately 40 mi. east from the town of 

Colma, across the San Francisco Bay. Rectangular cut bead traditions appeared throughout the San 

Francisco Bay (Milliken et al. 2007). The use of shell beads in distribution and burials throughout the San 

Francisco Bay may indicate evidence of social stratification. 

Late Holocene (3800 B.C.E.-1780 C.E.) 

The archaeological record in the San Francisco Bay Area is greatest in the Late Holocene. Large 

shellmounds were established then, as evidenced by the Emeryville shell mound (CA-ALA-309), Ellis 

Landing (CA-CCO-295), and the West Berkeley Site (CA-ALA-307). Olivella saucer beads largely replaced 

the rectangular beads from the Middle Holocene. Other artifact assemblages include bone awls, net sinkers, 

mortars, bow and arrow, sea otter bones, harpoon, and hopper mortar. 

LOCAL  

The town of Colma is located in the far northern portion of the San Francisco Peninsula, in San Mateo 

county, along the eastern foothills of the Santa Cruz Mountain Range. The Planning Area is located in the 

middle to northern portion of the San Francisco Peninsula. The town’s elevation ranges from 30 to 170 

meters (m) above sea level, and it lies upon an alluvium consisting of predominantly Orthent soils 

throughout cemetery areas (Figure 4.4-1: Soils of the Project Area and Vicinity). Adjacent urban and 

developed areas are classified as urban land cut slopes and fills with mixtures of other Orthent soils. The 

foot slopes of the adjacent San Bruno Mountain reveal minor constituents of the Barnabe-Candlestick 

complex and consist of very gravelly sandy loam in the upper 12 inches of the profile, with weathered 

bedrock below. 

The town lies between steep Pacific shore bluffs to the west and the rising western flank of San Bruno 

Mountain (with a maximum elevation of 400 m) to the east. The town’s eastern and western borders are 

centered across a shallow sloping depression between these two features, which has an overall flat to 

concave profile across the Planning Area, with slopes averaging a 9 percent grade (5 degrees). Highway 82 

(El Camino Real) extends through the center of the town (north/south) and follows historic drainages and 

perennial streams that naturally occur in the center of this topographic profile (Figure 4.4-2: Portion of 

USGS 1892 Topographic quadrangle showing drainages and perennial streams). Present day Colma Creek 

bisects the Planning Area and drains southeast toward historic marshlands at Point San Bruno. 

Geologic units throughout the Planning Area are almost exclusively Pleistocene marine and marine terrace 

deposits. Bedrock outcrops on the eastern border of the Planning Area that form San Bruno Mountain are 

Franciscan formation sandstones from the late Jurassic to mid-Cretaceous (Figure 4.4-3: Geologic units of 

the Project Area and vicinity from Jennings et al. (2010)). Geomorphic maps classify the major component 

alluvium throughout the Planning Area as the Colma Formation, which is Pleistocene in age. Minor 

geomorphic alluvial and fluvial deposits occur in the perennial stream/Colma Creek areas and are reported 

as Holocene to late Holocene (<1,000 years) in age (Figure 4.4-4: Portion of Greene et al. (2014) 

geomorphology map showing Holocene units (Qa, Qya) within the Project Area). 

  

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Figure 4.4-1: Soils of the Project Area and Vicinity 

 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Figure 4.4-2: Portion of USGS 1892 Topographic quadrangle showing drainages and perennial streams 

 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Figure 4.4-3: Geologic units of the Project Area and vicinity from Jennings et al. (2010) 

 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Figure 4.4-4: Portion of Greene et al. (2014) geomorphology map showing Holocene units (Qa, Qya) 

within the Project Area. 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

History of the Town 

The town of Colma, or the Planning Area, is geographically defined by various road alignments and 

property boundaries and is very roughly established as aligned to Junipero Serra Blvd. to the west, 

Lawndale Blvd. to the southeast, generally following San Bruno Mountain’s western foothill contours, and 

has a farthest northern extent at the intersection of San Pedro Rd. and Mission St., adjacent to the city of 

Daly City. The Planning Area encompasses all 16 active and two inactive cemeteries within the town limits. 

In 1849 the gold rush brought hundreds of thousands to the city of San Francisco and with them they also 

brought disease leading to a high death rate. Twenty-six cemeteries had been established and most were 

almost filled by the 1880s.  

In the late 1880s, cemetery owners started looking for new property to bury their dead as the city of San 

Francisco’s cemeteries were full. The southern end of the town of Colma was chosen because of 

transportation. There was easy access by horse and carriage by way of Mission Street, street cars ran from 

the city of San Francisco to the town of Colma, trains were going alongside the cemeteries and most all 

having stops at each cemetery.  

In 1900, the City and County of San Francisco passed an ordinance that there were to be no more burials 

allowed, as the land was too valuable to be wasted on the cemeteries, it was to be used for the living. In 

1914, eviction notices were sent out to all cemeteries to remove their bodies and monuments. The town of 

Colma then inherited hundreds of thousands of bodies. Many went into mass graves as there were no 

relatives to pay the $10.00 for removal. 

The town was incorporated in 1924, primarily to protect cemetery interests. A series of annexations in the 

twentieth century altered the town of Colma’s boundaries so that, today, the town of Colma is comprised 

of approximately 1.9 square miles bounded by the city of Daly City on the north, San Bruno Mountain to 

the east, city of South San Francisco in the south and Junipero Serra Boulevard to the west.  

The town of Colma has a unique history among California cities. Although it has been an important center, 

at various times, for agriculture and floriculture, it is truly unique because of its cemeteries that 

incorporated as a town in 1924 and now comprise nearly three-quarters of the land area within the town 

limits. Buildings, monuments and residences associated with the cemeteries are among the most prominent 

historical resources in town. 

Recognizing its uniqueness, the town of Colma commissioned an historic resources inventory in December 

1992. The Colma Historic Resources Inventory identifies and describes a number of buildings and sites 

having significance of local, State and National importance. A small sample of the town’s notable historic 

resources includes Cypress Lawn Memorial Park one of the last grand rural cemeteries built in the west. 

The Cypress Law Community Mausoleum covers four and one-half acres and represents one of the finest 

collections of stained glass in the United States with work by Tiffany, Connick and Lamb. Cypress Lawn 

has established a program to restore all of the stained-glass window and ceiling panels. A restoration studio 

and technical staff are located at 1791 Old Mission Road.  

Other historic features in the town include the Holy Cross Gateway/Lodge which is one of the only few 

examples of the Richardson Romanesque architectural style of San Mateo County and is the oldest 

remaining building ensemble of the town of Colma’s first cemetery; Woodlawn’s Gatehouse is considered 

to possess the highest artistic value of any like architectural feature in the town or possibly in the State of 

California. Other historic commercial or residential buildings include: Molloy’s, the town’s oldest 

commercial establishment in continuous operation since 1883; L. Bocci Monuments Shop which was 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

established in 1904 and is still in operation; and, the Ottoboni residence at 417 F Street where the town’s 

floriculture industry began.  

The town’s Chartered Historic Association and its Colma Historical Association play important parts in 

the town’s historic preservation efforts, with collections of relics and information from the past. For 

example, the town acquired the Old Colma Railroad Station (Station), built in 1881, which was threatened 

to be demolished; by the construction of the Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) facilities. The Station, formerly 

known as the School House Station, played a key role in the development of northern San Mateo county as 

it was where farmers and teamsters stopped on their way to San Francisco; where the area's first school 

was built and around which businesses were established. The Station’s architectural style is rare in the Bay 

Area and is one of the last surviving examples of early station houses. The Station will be restored for the 

Colma Historical Association to house its offices and museum. 

Background Research – CHRIS Records Search 

On August 14, 2020, ASM Director Ted Bibby, PhD, requested a California Historical Resources 

Information System (CHRIS) records search from the Northwest Information Center (NWIC) for the Project 

Area and within a 0.25-mi. radius of the town of Colma. NWIC provided records search results on 

September 14, 2020 (File No. 20-0300). Summarized records search results provided below are sourced from 

the NWIC, and correspondence is provided in Appendix B of the town-wide Archaeological Resource 

Study. 

ASM conducted additional archival research, including the review of historic maps and photographs, land 

records, and queries to the OHP Historic Property Directory (HPD) and NRHP for archaeological 

resources. ASM reviewed historic topographic maps including those of the city of San Francisco, California, 

from 1869, 1947, 1948, 1955, 1956, 1957, 1960, 1961, and 1964; San Francisco South, California, in 1947, 1950, 

and 1956; and San Mateo, California, from 1892, 1896, 1899, 1915, 1939, and 1943. There are specifically no 

archaeological sites within the town of Colma listed in the NRHP, OHP, or the HPD, although there are 

numerous historical structures. 

Previous Cultural Resource Studies 

The NWIC report shows a total of 18 previously completed projects within the town of Colma Planning 

Area. Table 4.4.1: Previous Cultural Resource Inventory Projects Conducted within 0.25 Mi. of the 

Planning Area, summarizes previous cultural resources studies that have been conducted within the 

Project Area and/or within a 0.25-mi. search radius. Of the Planning Area’s 1.9 square mi. area (1,223 acres), 

0.94 square mi. (601 acres) have been previously studied, encompassing approximately 49 percent of the 

Planning Area (Figure 4.4-5: Previously conducted studies within 0.25 mi. of the Project Area).  

 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Figure 4.4-5: Previously conducted studies within 0.25 mi. of the Project Area 

 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Table 4.4.1: Previous Cultural Resource Inventory Projects  

Conducted within 0.25 Mi. of the Planning Area 

NWIC 

Study No. Title Author (Date) Location 

S-003032 

Report of the Archaeological Reconnaissance of 

the Proposed San Bruno Mountain  

County Park,  

San Mateo County, California 

Archaeological 

Consulting and 

Research Services (1974) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-003043 

Cultural Resources Evaluation of the Colma 

Wastewater Collection System, Town of Colma,  

San Mateo County, California 

Chavez (1977) 
Within Project 

Area 

S-003074 
Archaeological Reconnaissance of the Proposed  

San Andreas Pipeline No. 3, San Mateo County 
Baker (1979) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-003134 
Archaeological Survey Report for Widening 

Project on 4-SM-82-20.8/22.1 
Young (1976) 

Within 0.25-mi. 

buffer 

S-003155 

Archaeological Resources Evaluation for the 

BART Daly City Station Turnback 

Improvement Project, San Mateo County, 

California 

Chavez (1980) 
Within Project 

Area 

S-007202 

Cultural Resource Evaluation of the Samtrans 

Park and Ride Facility in Unincorporated 

Colma, County of San Mateo 

Cartier (1985) 
Within Project 

Area 

S-012436 

Archaeological Reconnaissance of the Proposed 

Serramonte Boulevard Reconstruction Project, 

in the Town of Colma, San Mateo County, 

California 

Clark (1991) 
Within Project 

Area 

S-016687 

BART-San Francisco Airport Extension Project, 

Draft Environmental Impact 

Report/Supplemental Draft Environmental 

Impact Statement,  

Archaeological Survey Report 

Rice (1994) 
Within Project 

Area 

S-017191 

BART-San Francisco Airport Extension Project, 

Draft Environmental Impact 

Report/Supplemental Environmental Impact 

Statement: A Historic Resources Evaluation 

Report of Seven Colma Cemeteries, Colma, 

California 

Shoup, Brack, Fee, and 

Giberti (1994) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-017192 BART-San Francisco Airport Extension Project, 

Draft Environmental Impact Report/ 

Shoup, Brack, Fee, and 

Giberti (1994) 

Within Project 

Area 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

NWIC 

Study No. Title Author (Date) Location 

Supplemental Environmental  

Impact Statement,  

Historic Architectural Survey Technical Report 

S-020143 
Cultural Resource Evaluation of 359 and 365 B 

Street in the City of Colma 
Cartier (1997) 

Within 0.25-mi. 

buffer 

S-020359 

A Cultural Resources Evaluation of the Macy's 

Warehouse Site, El Camino Real,  

South San Francisco, California 

Roop and Bacchetti 

(1997) 

Within 0.25-mi. 

buffer 

S-024907 
Colma Creek Flood Control Project,  

Archaeological Monitoring Plan 
Clark (2002) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-026406 
Colma Creek Flood Control Project,  

Final Report of Archaeological Monitoring 
Clark (2003) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-027830 

Historic Evaluation of the Structures at  

1410 El Camino Real in the  

City of South San Francisco 

Cartier (2003) 
Within 0.25-mi. 

buffer 

S-027831 

Cultural Resource Evaluation of the Property  

at 1410 El Camino Real in the  

City of South San Francisco. 

Cartier (2003) 
Within 0.25-mi. 

buffer 

S-027930 

Cultural Resource Assessment of Alternative 

Routes for PG&E's Jefferson-Martin 

Transmission Line,  

San Mateo County, California 

Brown, Marlow, Allan, 

and Self (2003) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-032250 

Historic Property Survey Report, Mission Bells 

Project, State Route 82/Interstate 101,  

San Mateo and Santa Clara Counties, California 

Lapin (2003) 
Within 0.25-mi. 

buffer 

S-033504 

Historic Property Survey Report, Seismic 

Retrofit of BART Aerial Structures and  

Stations Along Concord, Richmond, Daly City 

and Fremont Lines, Alameda, Contra Costa, 

and San Mateo Counties, STPLZ-6000 (25) 

Bauer and Price (2007) 
Within Project 

Area 

S-037303 

Architectural Survey, Evaluation and Finding 

of Effect for the South San Francisco BART Cell 

Site, San Mateo County 

(Bureau Veritas Project No. 3310909569.01;  

PL. No. 1974-32) (letter report) 

Cimino (2010) 
Within 0.25-mi. 

buffer 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

NWIC 

Study No. Title Author (Date) Location 

S-039631 

Historic Context and Archaeological Survey 

Report for the Regional Groundwater Storage 

and Recovery Project Area, 

San Mateo County, California 

Pastron and Touton 

(2011) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-047111 

FCC Form 621, Collocation Submission Packet, 

Section 106 Review, Proposed AT&T Mobility 

LLC Telecommunications Site,  

AT&T Site No. CCL05415,  

1 Serramonte Center, Daly City, CA 

Moore and Losee (2015) 
Within 0.25-mi. 

buffer 

S-048130 

Archaeological Reconnaissance of a Proposed 

Mercy Housing Project at  

1670-1692 Mission Road,  

Town of Colma, San Mateo County, California, 

and Finding of No Historic Properties Affected 

Clark (2015) 
Within Project 

Area 

Rce for the 

tableS-

049340 

Cultural Resources Survey Report, Daly City 

Wastewater Improvement Project,  

San Mateo County, California 

Shoup, Guenthner, and 

Wong (2017) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-049454 

Historical Resources Study of the Property at  

1988 El Camino Real, Colma,  

San Mateo County, California 

Franco and Origer 

(2016) 

Within Project 

Area 

S-051358 

Historic Building Documentation Photography, 

Holy Cross Cemetery, Waterworks & Irrigation 

Complex, 1690 Mission Road, Colma,  

San Mateo County, California 

Schafer (2017) 
Within Project 

Area 

Source: Town-wide Archaeological Resource Study, General Plan Update, Town of Colma, San Mateo County, California 

Previously Recorded Archaeological Resources 

The NWIC records search identified 111 previously recorded cultural resources within the Planning Area 

and 0.25 mi. buffer. Of these resources, 105 were within the town limits and six were within the 0.25-mi. 

search radius. All resources are built architectural structures or historic districts, and none were identified 

as archaeological resources. A map depicting previously recorded cultural resource density, which 

includes seven historic districts within the Planning Area, is included in Figure 4.4-6: Previously recorded 

cultural resource density within the Project Area. No previously recorded archaeological resources exist 

within the Planning Area. 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Figure 4.4-6: Previously recorded cultural resource density within the Project Area 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Native American Outreach 

An SLF records search request was submitted by ASM to the NAHC on August 10, 2020. The NAHC 

responded on August 14, 2020, with a negative result for the SLF search of the Planning Area. Additionally, 

the NAHC provided a list of Native American tribal contacts who have knowledge of the Project Area. The 

town has sent information request letters to six of the tribal contacts provided by the NAHC. Appendix C 

of the town-wide Archaeological Resource Study includes requests to the NAHC, their response and 

results, a list of contacts for information about the Planning Area, and an associated outreach letter from 

the Town. 

Buried Archaeological Site Sensitivity 

For the purposes of this report, “sensitivity” is defined as the likelihood for the discovery of buried 

archaeological deposits in an area. Meyer et al. (2010) assessed archaeological sensitivity of buried deposits 

based on landform age in relation to human occupation, topographic relief, and proximity to water. If a 

landform predates human occupation of a region, the archaeological sensitivity for that region would be 

low. Additionally, if a landform was altered during the historic and/or modern eras (e.g., by development, 

erosion, cut/fill) the archaeological sensitivity for that region would be low. However, if a landform 

postdates human occupation of a region, the archaeological sensitivity for that region would be higher if 

the landscape would support habitation (e.g., topographic relief and proximity to water). 

The town of Colma is underlain by a Quaternary alluvium composed predominantly of Orthent soils and 

mixed cut slopes/fills. Quaternary deposits mapped within the Planning Area are reported to be 

predominantly Pleistocene in age, with minor components along drainages reported as Holocene to late 

Holocene (<1,000 years) in age. The nearest source of water is the Colma Creek that bisects the Planning 

Area and drains southeast toward the former Point San Bruno Marsh (present-day San Bruno Canal). As 

such, based on the landform age, topographic relief, and nearest source to water, the Planning Area has a 

low sensitivity for buried prehistoric and historic archaeology in areas underlain with Colma Formation 

alluvium, as the soil is Pleistocene in age. However, areas underlain with minor units of geomorphic 

alluvial and fluvial deposits in perennial streams are Holocene to late Holocene in age and have a high 

sensitivity for buried prehistoric archaeological deposits (Meyer et al. 2010). 

4.4.2  REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

National Historic Preservation Act of 1966  

The National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) was enacted in 1966, to prevent unnecessary harm to 

historic properties (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.). It includes regulations that apply specifically to Federal land-

holding agencies, but also includes regulations (Section 106) that pertain to all projects funded, permitted, 

or approved by any Federal agency that has the potential to affect cultural resources. Provisions of the 

NHPA establish a National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) (the National Register is maintained by the 

National Park Service), the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation, State Historic Preservation Offices, 

and Federal grants-in-aid programs. 

National Environmental Policy Act  

The environmental review process initiated with the passage of the 1966 National Historic Preservation 

Act (NHPA) by Congress ushered in a new approach to Federal project planning.  The passage of the 

National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA) in December 1969 and its subsequent signing into law 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

on January 1, 1970, expanded environmental reviews and formally established environmental protection 

as a Federal policy.  NEPA and NHPA require Federal officials to “stop, look, and listen” before making 

decisions that impact historic properties and the human environment. 

NEPA and NHPA each created agencies to implement major environmental programs that shape Federal 

project planning.  The Advisory Council on Historic Preservation (ACHP) and the Council on 

Environmental Quality (CEQ) administer regulations viewed as the cornerstones of the Federal 

environmental review procedures.  The CEQ Regulations for Implementing the Procedural Provisions of 

the National Environmental Policy Act, (40 C.F.R. Parts 15001508) (CEQ regulations) encourage integration 

of the NEPA process (NEPA review) with other planning and environmental reviews, such as Section 106 

of NHPA (Section 106).  The regulations that implement Section 106, Protection of Historic Properties (36 

C.F.R. Part 800), encourage agencies to plan Section 106 consultations coordinated with other requirements 

of other statutes, as applicable, such as NEPA.  The concepts of “coordination” and “integration” are found 

in both the CEQ regulations and Section 106 regulations, because they provide efficiencies, improve public 

understanding, and lead to more informed decisions. 

Preserve America: Executive Order 13287 

The Preserve America Executive Order directs federal agencies to advance the protection, enhancement, 

and contemporary use of federal historic properties and to promote partnerships for the preservation and 

use of historic properties, particularly through heritage tourism.   

STATE  

Senate Bill 451  

Governor Gavin Newsom signed Senate Bill (SB) 451, the state historic tax credit bill, into law on October 

9, 2019. Senate President pro Tempore Toni Atkins authored the bill with sponsorship from the California 

Preservation Foundation and the American Institute of Architects (AIA) California Council.  

Historic Preservation Tax Incentives programs are an effective and proven means of leveraging private 

investment in the adaptive reuse and preservation of historic buildings. Under 451, $50 million will be 

allocated annually from January 1, 2021 to January 1, 2026. The tax credit is worth 20 percent of qualified 

rehabilitation expenses, with a 25 percent credit for certain types of adaptive reuse, including affordable 

housing. Some of the tax credit allocations will be earmarked for smaller projects and the bill would also 

establish a tax credit for qualified rehabilitation expenditures for a qualified residence. 

Mills Act  

Adopted by the California Legislature in 1976, the Mills Act gives local governments the authority to grant 

property tax relief to owners of qualified historic properties, including owner-occupied and income 

producing properties. In exchange for this relief, the property owners must agree by contract to maintain 

the properties in accordance with specific historic preservation standards and conditions. The overall intent 

of the legislation is to provide an incentive for owners to preserve and maintain the community’s historic 

resources. 

Key program elements include: 

• Is a completely voluntary program. 

• Is an economic incentive to encourage preservation of historic properties by reducing property taxes. 

• Can be used by homeowners as well as income producing historic properties. 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

• Includes commitment to preserve and maintain the property for a minimum period of 10 years. 

• Is a contract between the City and the owner of a designated historic property.  

Public Resources Code 5024 and 5024.5  

The California State Legislature enacted Public Resources Code (PRC) Sections 5024 and 5024.5 as part of 

a larger effort to establish a state program to preserve historical resources. These sections of the code require 

state agencies to take a number of actions to ensure preservation of state-owned historical resources under 

their jurisdictions. These actions include evaluating resources for National Register of Historic Places 

(National Register) eligibility and California Historical Landmark (California Landmark) eligibility; 

maintaining an inventory of eligible and listed resources; and managing these historical resources so that 

they will retain their historic characteristics. 

California Register of Historical Resources 

The State Historic Preservation Officer maintains the California Register of Historic Resources (California 

Register). Historic properties listed, or formally designated for eligibility to be listed, on the National 

Register are automatically listed on the California Register (Public Resources Code, Section 5024.1). State 

Landmarks and Points of Interest are also automatically listed. The California Register can also include 

properties designated under local preservation ordinances or identified through local historic resource 

surveys.  

For a historic resource to be eligible for listing on the California Register, it must be significant at the local, 

state, or national level under one or more of the following four criteria:  

• It is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of local or 

regional history, or the cultural heritage of California or the United States;  

• It is associated with the lives of persons important to local, California, or national history; It embodies 

the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction, or represents the 

work of a master or possesses high artistic values; or   

• It has yielded, or has the potential to yield, information important to the prehistory or history of the 

local area, California, or the nation (California Public Resources Code, Section 5024.1).  

Additional criteria are listed in California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Chapter 11.5. A building must 

usually be over 45 years old, must have historic significance, and must retain its physical integrity. 

Historical resources achieving significance within less than 45 years may be considered for listing in the 

California Register if it can be demonstrated that sufficient time has passed to understand it historical 

importance. 

California Historical Resources Information System  

The California Historical Resources Information System (CHRIS) is a statewide system for managing 

information on the full range of historical resources identified in California. CHRIS is a cooperative 

partnership between the citizens of California, historic preservation professionals, 12 Information 

Centers, and various agencies. This system bears the following responsibilities: integrate newly recorded 

sites and information on known resources into the California Historical Resources Inventory; furnish 

information on known resources and surveys to governments, institutions, and individuals who have a 

justifiable need to know; and supply a list of consultants who are qualified to do work within their area 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-18 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

California Health and Safety Code 

Section 7050.5(b) of the California Health and Safety code specifies protocol when human remains are 

discovered. 

State CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5, subdivision (e) requires that excavation activities be stopped 

whenever human remains are uncovered and that the County coroner be called in to assess the remains.  If 

the County coroner determines that the remains are those of Native Americans, the Native American 

Heritage Commission (NAHC) must be contacted within 24 hours of the determination.  At that time, the 

lead agency must consult with the descendant(s) of the deceased Native American(s), if any, as identified 

by the NAHC.  Section 15064.5 directs the lead agency (or applicant), under certain circumstances, to 

develop an agreement with the Native Americans for the treatment and disposition of the remains.  

State CEQA Guidelines also require that a lead agency make provisions for the accidental discovery of 

historical or archaeological resources, generally.  Pursuant to Section 15064.5, subdivision (f),  

Paleontological resources are classified as non-renewable scientific resources and are protected by state 

statute (PRC Chapter 1.7, Section 5097.5, Archeological, Paleontological, and Historical Sites and Appendix 

G).  No state or local agencies have specific jurisdiction over paleontological resources.  No state or local 

agency requires a paleontological collecting permit to allow for the recovery of fossil remains discovered 

as a result of construction-related earth moving on state or private land in a project site. 

California Code of Regulations 

The California Code of Regulations (Section 1427) recognizes that California's archaeological resources are 

endangered by urban development and population growth and by natural forces. The Legislature further 

finds and declares that these resources need to be preserved in order to illuminate and increase public 

knowledge concerning the historic and prehistoric past of California. Every person, not the owner thereof, 

who willfully injures, disfigures, defaces, or destroys any object or thing of archaeological or historical 

interest or value, whether situated on private lands or within any public park or place, is guilty of a 

misdemeanor. It is a misdemeanor to alter any archaeological evidence found in any cave, or to remove 

any materials from a cave.  

Senate Concurrent Resolution Number 43 

Senate Resolution Number 43 requires all state agencies to cooperate with programs of archaeological 

survey and excavation, and to preserve known archaeological resources whenever it is reasonable. 

LOCAL 

San Mateo County General Plan 

The Historical and Archaeological Resources section of the San Mateo General Plan outlines policies that 

help to protect historic resources, provide guidelines for the rehabilitation of historic structures, 

encourage the development of inventories of historical resources, and provide guidelines on how to 

integrate historical preservation into the planning process. 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-19 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

San Mateo County Historic Resources Ordinance  

The San Mateo Historic Resources Ordinance (No. 02894) safeguards the historic structures and sites of San 

Mateo County and promotes their public use and enjoyment. The Ordinance helps to: 

• Safeguard the historic resources of San Mateo County by preserving buildings, structures and sites of 

historic, cultural, architectural, archaeological or aesthetic significance. 

• Promote the use and enjoyment of historic resources for the public’s education, pleasure and welfare. 

• Enhance the visual character of the County by encouraging through regulations the development and 

maintenance of architectural styles within historic districts which reflect unique and established 

architectural traditions. 

• Integrate the preservation of historic resources into public and private land management and 

development processes. 

• Establish County historic landmarks and historic districts where uses other than those allowed by 

existing zoning regulations may be permitted through the provisions of the Section 6500(d)1, 2, a), b), 

and c), Chapter 24 of Part One of Division VI of the San Mateo County Ordinance Code. 

County of San Mateo 

The County of San Mateo (County) issued the following policies and mitigation measures as they pertain 

to archaeological resources in 2013 (County of San Mateo: Department of Planning and Building 2013). 

Section 5.14 issued a statement for the registration of significant archaeological sites in the County: 

Registration of Significant Archaeological Sites: Recommend State and/or national register 

status or significant archaeological/paleontological sites. 

Section 5.20 provides stipulations if new development projects are proposed in the County:  

Site Survey: Determine if sites proposed for new development contain 

archaeological/paleontological resources. Prior to approval of development for these sites, 

require that a mitigation plan, adequate to protect the resource and prepared by a qualified 

professional, be reviewed and implemented as a part of the project. 

Section 5.21 includes County mitigation measures for the treatment of archaeological sites:  

Site Treatment: 

a. Encourage the protection and preservation of archaeological sites.  

b. Temporarily suspend construction work when archaeological/paleontological sites are 

discovered. Establish procedures which allow for the timely investigation and/or excavation of 

such sites by qualified professionals as may be appropriate.  

c. Cooperate with institutions of higher learning and interested organizations to record, preserve, 

and excavate sites. 

Sections 5.25 and 5.26 provide preservation techniques as they pertain to archaeological data:  

• Archaeological Resource Data Base: Maintain and update a comprehensive 

archaeological/paleontological data base.  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-20 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

• Discovering Unrecorded Archaeological Sites: Support comprehensive studies to discover 

unrecorded archaeological and paleontological sites, particularly in areas under pressure for 

development. 

4.4.3  IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance 

Following PRC Sections 21083.2 and 21084.1, and Section 15064.5 and Appendix G of the State CEQA 

Guidelines, Cultural Resources impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the project 

considered would result in any of the following: 

• Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource pursuant to subsection 

15064.5. 

• Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource pursuant to 

subsection 15064.5. 

• Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries.  

METHODOLOGY 

CEQA (§15064.5b,2) further provides context that the significance of a historical resource is materially 

impaired when a project: 

A) Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics of an 

historical resource that convey its historical significance and that justify its inclusion in or 

eligibility for inclusion in the CRHR; or 

B) Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics that account for its 

inclusion in a local register of historical resources pursuant to section 5020.1(k) of the PRC or its 

identification in an historical resources survey meeting the requirements of section 5024.1(g) of the 

PRC, unless the public agency reviewing the effects of the project establishes by a preponderance of 

evidence that the resource is not historically or culturally significant; or 

C) Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics of an 

historical resource that convey its historical significance and that justify its eligibility for 

inclusion in the CRHR as determined by a lead agency for purposes of CEQA. 

Archaeological Resources 

Section 15064.5(c) of CEQA applies to effects on archaeological sites and contains the following provisions 

regarding archaeological sites: 

1. When a project will impact an archaeological site, a lead agency shall first determine whether 

the site is an historical resource, as defined in subsection (a). 

2. If a lead agency determines that the archaeological site is an historical resource, it shall refer to 

the provisions of Section 21084.1 of the PRC, and this section, Section 15126.4 of the Guidelines, 

and the limits contained in Section 21083.2 of the PRC do not apply. 

3. If an archaeological site does not meet the criteria defined in subsection (a), but does meet the 

definition of a unique archaeological resource in Section 21083.2 of the PRC, the site shall be 

treated in accordance with the provisions of section 21083.2. The time and cost limitations 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-21 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

described in PRC Section 21083.2 (c-f) do not apply to surveys and site evaluation activities 

intended to determine whether the project location contains unique archaeological resources.  

4. If an archaeological resource is neither a unique archaeological nor an historical resource, the 

effects of the project on those resources shall not be considered a significant effect on the 

environment. It shall be sufficient that both the resource and the effect on it are noted in the 

Initial Study or EIR, if one is prepared to address impacts on other resources, but they need not 

be considered further in the CEQA process. 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

Appendix G, XVIII of CEQA provides a framework on the determination of effect on Tribal Cultural 

Resources. 

Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource, 

defined in PRC Section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically 

defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural value to a 

California Native American tribe, and that is: 

a) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or in a local register of 

historical resources as defined in PRC Section 5020.1(k), or  

b) A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to 

be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC Section 5024.1. In applying the 

criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of PRC Section 5024.1, the lead agency shall consider the significance 

of the resource to a California Native American tribe. 

Human Remains 

Section 15064.5 (d) & (e) contain additional provisions regarding human remains. Regarding Native 

American human remains, paragraph (d) provides: 

When an initial study identifies the existence of, or the probable likelihood, of Native American human 

remains within the project, a lead agency shall work with the appropriate Native Americans as identified 

by the Native American Heritage Commission as provided in PRC Section 5097.98. The applicant may 

develop an agreement for treating or disposing of, with appropriate dignity, the human remains, and any 

items associated with Native American burials with the appropriate Native Americans as identified by the 

Native American Heritage Commission. Action implementing such an agreement is exempt from: the 

general prohibition on disinterring, disturbing, or removing human remains from any location other than 

a dedicated cemetery (Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5); and the requirement of CEQA and the 

Coastal Act. 

Resource Identification Framework 

The cultural and tribal resources study conducted for this GPU EIR provides a constraints-level analysis of 

potential impacts to archaeological and tribal cultural resources for the implementation of the GPU, and as 

such does not analyze project-specific impacts. Section 4.4.3 above, provided standards of significance in 

accordance with the State CEQA Guidelines as they pertain to historical, archaeological, and tribal cultural 

resources, and human remains. The following provides a framework for the identification and evaluation 

of historical, archaeological, and tribal cultural resources, and human remains; project specific mitigation 

measures should be developed, as appropriate, to address:  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-22 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

1. A cultural resource study, including an intensive archaeological survey, of the project’s footprint is 

required to identify any archaeological resources. The Town Planning Director initiates the cultural 

resource study at the planning phase of the project by contracting a project archaeologist. The project 

archaeologist will determine the likelihood for the project site to contain historical resources by 

reviewing site photographs and existing historic information and conducting a site visit. Before field 

reconnaissance, background research is required which will include a record search at the NWIC. A 

review of the SLF maintained by the NAHC will also be conducted at this time. If historical resources 

are identified through background research and field surveys, then a qualified archaeologist or 

historian must perform an evaluation of significance if avoidance is not possible and impacts to cultural 

resources could occur. 

2. If avoidance is not possible, historical resource significance evaluations are required when new 

resources are identified as a result of a survey, when previously recorded resources that have not been 

previously evaluated are re-located during a survey, and when previously recorded sites are not re-

located during the survey if there is a likelihood that the resource still exists. Significance evaluations 

will not be required if the resource has been evaluated for CEQA significance or for NRHP eligibility 

within the last five years, and if there has been no change in the conditions that contributed to the 

determination of significance or eligibility. 

3. An archaeological testing program will be required for archaeological sites in need of historical 

resource significance evaluation. Archaeological testing programs include evaluating the horizontal 

and vertical dimensions of a site, the chronological placement, site function, artifact/ecofact density and 

variability, presence/absence of subsurface features, and research potential. It should be noted that 

tribal representatives and/or Native American monitors will be involved in making recommendations 

regarding the significance of prehistoric archaeological sites during this phase of the process. The 

testing program may require reevaluation of the proposed project, which could result in a combination 

of project redesign to preserve significant resources, as well as mitigation in the form of data recovery 

and monitoring (as recommended by the qualified archaeologist and Native American representative). 

4. If significant archaeological resources are identified within the project footprint, the site may be eligible 

for designation on one or more registers. If no significant resources are found, and site conditions are 

such that there is no potential for further discoveries, then no further action is required. Resources 

found to be non-significant as a result of a survey and/or assessment will require no further work 

beyond documentation of the resources on the appropriate California Department of Parks and 

Recreation site forms and inclusion of results in the survey and/or assessment report. If no significant 

resources are found but results of the initial evaluation and testing phase indicate there is still a 

potential for resources to be present in portions of the property that could not be tested, then mitigation 

monitoring is required. 

5. Avoiding and preserving the resource through project redesign is the preferred mitigation for historic 

resources. If the resource cannot be entirely avoided, all prudent and feasible measures to minimize 

harm will be taken. For archaeological resources for which preservation is not an option, a research 

design for a data recovery program will be prepared. The data recovery program will be based on a 

written research design and is subject to the provisions as outlined in CEQA, Section 21083.2. 

Archaeological monitoring may be required during building demolition and/or construction grading, 

when significant resources are known or suspected to be present on a site but cannot be recovered prior 

to grading due to obstructions such as existing development or dense vegetation. 

6. A Native American monitor must be retained for all subsurface investigations, including geotechnical 

testing and other ground-disturbing activities, whenever an archaeological site or a Native American 

Traditional Cultural Property within the project footprint would be impacted. In the event that human 

remains are encountered during data recovery and/or monitoring program, the provisions of PRC 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-23 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Section 5097 must be followed. The Native American monitor will be consulted during the preparation 

of the written report, at which time they may express concerns about the treatment of sensitive 

resources.  

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.4.1 Future development to implement the proposed project could potentially cause a direct 

substantial adverse change in the significance of an historical resource as defined in CEQA 

Guidelines Section §15064.5 (Significant and Unavoidable).  

According to CEQA (§15064.5b), a project with an effect that may cause a substantial adverse change in the 

significance of a historical resource is a project that may have a significant effect on the environment. CEQA 

defines a substantial adverse change as follows: 

Substantial adverse change in the significance of an historical resource means physical demolition, 

destruction, relocation, or alteration of the resource or its immediate surroundings such that the 

significance of an historical resource would be materially impaired. 

The significance of a historical resource is materially impaired when a project: 

1. Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics of an historical 

resource that convey its historical significance and that justify its inclusion in or eligibility for inclusion 

in the CRHR; or 

2. Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics that account for its 

inclusion in a local register of historical resources pursuant to section 5020.1(k) of the PRC or its 

identification in an historical resources survey meeting the requirements of section 5024.1(g) of the 

PRC, unless the public agency reviewing the effects of the project establishes by a preponderance of 

evidence that the resource is not historically or culturally significant; or 

3. Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics of an historical 

resource that convey its historical significance and that justify its eligibility for inclusion in the CRHR 

as determined by a lead agency for purposes of CEQA. 

The demolition or substantial alteration of a resource listed on, or formally determined eligible for, the 

NRHP or the CRHR, including contributors to National Register or California Register Historic Districts, 

or that meet the CEQA criteria for historical resources, would represent a significant direct impact to 

historical resources. Additionally, grading, excavation and other ground-disturbing activities associated 

with development projects may affect currently unknown significant archaeological sites or traditional 

cultural properties that would represent a significant direct impact to historical resources. 

ASM Affiliates (2020) completed a cultural resource study that included a review of historical aerial 

photographs, topographic maps, and a comprehensive CHRIS records search. Results concluded that no 

previously recorded archaeological resources are located within the town, and, as such, no archaeological 

and/or TCRs are listed as historic properties. The town’s Historical Resources Element (1999) outlines 

architectural historic properties within the Planning Area. The 2040 GPU proposes updates to the town’s 

existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning areas into five new planning areas that 

are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision of the City Council. The planning areas 

under the proposed GPU introduces new land uses such a medium density residential land use that is 

consistent with current developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery 

land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the 

Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-24 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within 

the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of 

commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, 

Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed GPU policies address the preservation of historic resources in the town of Colma:  

Policy LU-13-2:  Historic Buildings. Historic buildings and uses along Mission Road shall be 

maintained and enhanced according to the Secretary of the Interior’s standards.  

Adaptive reuse of structures is encouraged. 

Policy HR-2-1: Preservation Collaboration. Work with the Colma Historical Association as a 

partner to improve awareness of local preservation. 

Policy HR-2-2: Consultation on Projects. Consult with the Colma Historical Association on 

discretionary review projects involving cultural sites and historic resources in the 

Town of Colma. 

Policy HR-3-1: Public Awareness. Foster awareness, appreciation and celebration of the Town’s 

unique historic and cultural heritage and educate and encourage preservation of 

these resources. 

According to the Historical Resources Element for the town’s GPU, historic properties as they pertain to 

architectural resources are present within the town, though no historic resources as they pertain to 

archaeological or TCRs are currently within the town limits. 

While the GPU does not specifically propose demolition, or substantial alteration of a historical resource, 

or ground-disturbing activities such as grading or excavation, there are historic properties within the 

Planning Area and as such it can be assumed that future development consistent with the goals and policies 

of the GPU have the potential to result in significant direct and/or indirect impacts to historical resources. 

Therefore, this is a significant and unavoidable impact, and the following mitigation measures are 

proposed: 

Mitigation Measures: CUL-1 

1. For any project with potential to impact historical resources, a historical resource inventory of the 

project footprint shall be required to identify any historical resources. Before actual field 

reconnaissance occurs, background research shall include a record search at the NWIC, as well as a 

review of the SLF maintained by the NAHC. The project archaeologist shall determine the likelihood 

for the project site to contain archaeological resources by reviewing site photographs and existing 

historic information and conducting a site visit (for projects with exposed ground). 

2. If archaeological resources cannot be avoided, significance evaluations shall be required when a survey 

identifies new resources, when a survey re-locates previously recorded resources that have not been 

previously evaluated, and when the survey does not re-locate previously recorded sites if there is a 

likelihood that the resources still exist. 

3. Significance evaluations shall not be required if the historical resource has been evaluated for CEQA 

significance or for NRHP eligibility within the last five years, and if there has been no change in the 

conditions that contributed to the determination of significance or eligibility. A historical resource shall 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-25 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

be reevaluated if its condition or setting has either improved or deteriorated, if new information is 

available, or if the resource is becoming increasingly rare due to the loss of other similar resources. 

4. An archaeological testing program shall be required for archaeological sites in need of historical 

resource significance evaluation. Archaeological testing programs include evaluating the horizontal 

and vertical dimensions of a site, the chronological placement, site function, artifact/ecofact density and 

variability, presence/absence of subsurface features, and research potential. Tribal representatives 

and/or Native American monitors shall be involved in making recommendations regarding the 

significance of prehistoric archaeological sites during this phase of the process. The testing program 

may require reevaluation of the proposed project, which could result in a combination of project 

redesign to preserve significant resources as well as mitigation in the form of data recovery and 

monitoring (as recommended by the qualified archaeologist and Native American representative). 

5. If significant historical resources are identified within the project footprint, the site may be eligible for 

designation in one or more registers. If no significant resources are identified, and site conditions are 

such that there is no potential for further discoveries, then no further action shall be required. If a 

survey and/or assessment finds nonsignificant resources, no further work shall be required beyond 

documentation of the resources on the appropriate California Department of Parks and Recreation site 

forms and inclusion of results in the survey and/or assessment report. If the survey finds no significant 

resources but results of the initial evaluation and testing phase indicate there is still a potential for 

resources to be present in portions of the property that could not be tested, then mitigation monitoring 

shall be required.  

6. Preferred mitigation for historical resources shall be to avoid and preserve the resource through project 

redesign. If the resource cannot be entirely avoided, an archaeologist who meets the U.S. Secretary of 

the Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards (SOIPQS) for Archaeology shall take all prudent 

and feasible measures to minimize harm. For archaeological resources for which preservation is not an 

option, an archaeologist who meets the SOIPQS for Archaeology shall prepare a research design for a 

data recovery program. The data recovery program shall be based on a written research design and is 

subject to the provisions as outlined in CEQA, Section 21083.2. Archaeological monitoring may be 

required during building demolition and/or construction grading when significant resources are 

known or suspected to be present on a site but cannot be recovered prior to grading due to obstructions 

such as existing development or dense vegetation. 

7. When subsurface investigations, including geotechnical testing and other ground-disturbing activities, 

impact an archaeological site or a Native American Traditional Cultural Property within the project 

footprint, a Native American monitor shall be retained. In the event that the data recovery and/or 

monitoring program reveals human remains, the provisions of PRC Section 5097 shall be applied. An 

archaeologist who meets the SOIPQS for Archaeology shall consult the Native American monitor 

during the preparation of the written report, at which time the monitor may express concerns about 

the treatment of sensitive resources. 

Impact 4.4.2 Future development to implement the proposed General Plan Update could result in the 

potential disturbance of cultural resources (i.e., prehistoric archaeological sites, historical 

archaeological sites, and isolated artifacts and features) within the Planning Area 

(Significant and Unavoidable). 

According to CEQA (§15064.5b), a project with an effect that may cause a substantial adverse change in the 

significance of a historical resource is a project that may have a significant effect on the environment. CEQA 

defines a substantial adverse change as follows: 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-26 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Substantial adverse change in the significance of an historical resource means physical demolition, 

destruction, relocation, or alteration of the resource or its immediate surroundings such that the 

significance of an historical resource would be materially impaired. 

The significance of a historical resource is materially impaired when a project: 

1. Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics of an historical 

resource that convey its historical significance and that justify its inclusion in or eligibility for inclusion 

in the CRHR; or 

2. Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics that account for its 

inclusion in a local register of historical resources pursuant to section 5020.1(k) of the PRC or its 

identification in an historical resources survey meeting the requirements of section 5024.1(g) of the 

PRC, unless the public agency reviewing the effects of the project establishes by a preponderance of 

evidence that the resource is not historically or culturally significant; or 

3. Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical characteristics of an historical 

resource that convey its historical significance and that justify its eligibility for inclusion in the CRHR 

as determined by a lead agency for purposes of CEQA. 

The demolition or substantial alteration of a resource listed on, or formally determined eligible for, the 

NRHP or the CRHR, including contributors to National Register or California Register Historic Districts, 

or that meet the CEQA criteria for historical resources, would represent a significant direct impact to 

historical resources. Additionally, grading, excavation and other ground-disturbing activities associated 

with development projects that affect significant archaeological sites or traditional cultural properties 

would represent a significant direct impact to historical resources. 

ASM Affiliates (2020) completed a cultural resource study that included a review of historical aerial 

photographs, topographic maps, and a comprehensive CHRIS records search. Results concluded that no 

previously recorded archaeological resources are located within the town, and, as such, no archaeological 

and/or TCRs are listed as historic properties. The town’s Historical Resources Element (1999) outlines 

architectural historic properties within the Planning Area. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed GPU policies address potential disturbances of cultural resources and human 

remains due to future development:  

Policy OSC-6-1: Development Review Process. Require, as part of the development review 

process, standard conditions of approval or mitigation measures that identify 

proper measures and protocols to be followed in the event that tribal or cultural 

resources are discovered on a project site. 

According to the Historical Resources Element for the Town’s GPU, historic properties as they pertain to 

architectural resources are present within the town, though no historic resources as they pertain to 

archaeological or TCRs are currently within the town limits. 

While the GPU does not specifically propose demolition, or substantial alteration of a historical resource, 

or ground-disturbing activities such as grading or excavation, the GPU does propose updates to the town’s 

existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning areas into five new planning areas that 

are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision of the City Council. The planning areas 

under the proposed GPU introduces new land uses such a medium density residential land use that is 

consistent with current developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-27 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the 

Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 

square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within 

the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of 

commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, 

Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. Therefore there is the potential that previously 

undiscovered historic properties may exist within the Planning Area and as such it can be assumed that 

future development consistent with the goals and policies of the GPU have the potential to result in 

significant direct and/or indirect impacts to cultural resources. Therefore, this is a significant and 

unavoidable impact and the following mitigation measure would be required: 

Mitigation Measures: CUL-2 

1. If an archaeological resource is identified during future development or operations, all activity within 

100 feet of the archaeological resource shall cease and be flagged for avoidance. An archaeologist who 

meets the SOIPQS for Archaeology shall be immediately notified of the discovery. The archaeologist 

shall inspect the find and notify the Town of their assessment. 

2. If the assessment concludes that the discovery constitutes a significant or unique archaeological 

resource, or TCR, the resource shall be avoided if possible. If avoidance is not possible, the Town shall 

consult with all applicable parties, including Native American tribes if prehistoric, in an effort to 

determine measures to mitigate any potential impacts to the resource in accordance with PRC Section 

21083.2 and CEQA Guidelines Section 15126.4. An archaeologist who meets the SOIPQS for 

Archaeology shall employ measures that include documentation of the resource. 

3. If an archaeological site does not meet the criteria defined in subsection (a), but does meet the definition 

of a unique archaeological resource in Section 21083.2 of the PRC, the site shall be treated in accordance 

with the provisions of section 21083.2. The time and cost limitations described in PRC Section 21083.2 

(c-f) do not apply to surveys and site evaluation activities intended to determine whether the project 

location contains unique archaeological resources. 

4. If an archaeological resource is neither a unique archaeological nor a historical resource, the effects of 

the project on those resources shall not be considered a significant effect on the environment. These 

procedures shall be included as Condition of Approval for all projects. Where appropriate, 

preconstruction measures will follow the guidelines as stated in CUL-1. 

Impact 4.4.3  The proposed project would cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a 

TCR as defined in Public Resources Code Section §21074 or §5020.1(k) (Significant and 

Unavoidable).  

Assembly Bill 52 requires lead agencies to provide notice to tribes that are traditionally and culturally 

affiliated with the geographic area of a project if they have requested to be notified of projects subject to 

AB 52. Consultation as defined under AB 52 includes, but is not limited to, discussing the type of 

environmental review necessary, the significance of TCRs, the significance of the project impacts on the 

TCRs, and alternatives and mitigation measures recommended by the tribe. 

Records searches completed by ASM for the  town (ASM Affiliates 2020) from the NAHC and NWIC report 

no known TCRs within the town’s Planning Area. The Town has sent information request letters to contacts 

provided by the NAHC; however, no responses have been received to date. Though there are no reported 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-28 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

TCRs within the Planning Area, Native American tribes were distributed across the San Francisco 

Peninsula region, and there is a possibility that unknown TCRs exist within the area. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

Policy OSC-6-2: Tribal Consultation Compliance. Comply with SB 18,AB 52, and other 

applicable State and federal laws by consulting with local California Native 

American tribes prior to development decisions or General Plan or Specific Plan 

amendments. Respect tribal policies regarding confidentiality of information 

about tribal resources or sacred sites.   

In addition to the policies listed above, GPU Policy OSC-6-1 also addresses potential disturbances of 

TCRs. 

While the GPU does not specifically propose demolition or substantial alteration of a resource or ground-

disturbing activities such as grading or excavation, as discussed under Impacts 4.4.1-4.4.2, it can be 

assumed that future development consistent with the goals and policies of the GPU have the potential to 

result in significant direct and/or indirect impacts to TCRs. Therefore there is the potential that previously 

undiscovered TCRs may exist within the Planning Area and as such it can be assumed that future 

development consistent with the goals and policies of the GPU have the potential to result in significant 

direct and/or indirect impacts to . Therefore, this is a significant and unavoidable impact and the following 

mitigation measures should be included: 

Mitigation Measures: CUL-3 

1. For any project with potential to result in adverse impacts to TCRs, the Town shall avoid and/or 

minimize impacts by facilitating the identification of tribal cultural resources through field studies. 

Coordination and collaboration regarding the resource shall be completed with agencies, tribes, and 

institutions, such as the Northwest Information Center, the Native American Heritage Commission, 

and local tribal governments, including consultation as outlined in Senate Bill 18 and Assembly Bill 52. 

The resource shall be treated with culturally appropriate dignity, taking into account the tribal cultural 

values and meaning of the resource, including, but not limited to, the following: (A) Protecting the 

cultural character and integrity of the resource; (B) Protecting the traditional use of the resource; and 

(C) Protecting the confidentiality of the resource. 

2. If possible, the Town shall avoid and preserve the resources in place, including, but not limited to, 

planning and construction to avoid the resources and protect the cultural and natural context. 

3. Greenspace, parks, or other open space shall use appropriate planning to incorporate the resources 

with culturally appropriate protection and management criteria. Permanent conservation easements 

or other interests in real property shall be created with culturally appropriate management criteria for 

the purposes of preserving or utilizing the resources or places. 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-29 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Impact 4.4.4 Adoption of the proposed General Plan Update could result in the potential disturbance 

of human remains, including those interred outside of cemeteries within the Planning Area 

(Significant and Unavoidable).  

Section 15064.5 (d) & (e) contains additional provisions regarding human remains. Regarding Native 

American human remains, paragraph (d) provides: 

When an initial study identifies the existence of, or the probable likelihood, of Native American 

human remains within the project, a lead agency shall work with the appropriate Native 

Americans as identified by the Native American Heritage Commission as provided in PRC Section 

5097.98. The applicant may develop an agreement for treating or disposing of, with appropriate 

dignity, the human remains, and any items associated with Native American burials with the 

appropriate Native Americans as identified by the Native American Heritage Commission. Action 

implementing such an agreement shall be exempt from: the general prohibition on disinterring, 

disturbing, or removing human remains from any location other than a dedicated cemetery (Health 

and Safety Code Section 7050.5); and the requirement of CEQA and the Coastal Act. 

There are no known areas within the town of Colma where prehistoric human remains have been 

uncovered, yet much of the town consists of historic cemeteries and burials. Therefore, the potential for 

encountering prehistoric human remains during construction development activities is low, but the 

potential for encountering human remains in general is possible, and GPU implementation may result in 

impacts to human remains. 

While the GPU does not specifically propose demolition or substantial alteration of a resource or ground-

disturbing activities such as grading or excavation, as discussed under Impacts 4.4.1-4.4.2, it is possible that 

future development consistent with the goals and policies of the 2040 General Plan Update have the 

potential to disturb human remains. Therefore, this is a significant and unavoidable impact and the 

following mitigation measures should be implemented: 

Mitigation Measures: CUL-4 

1. If Native American human remains are discovered within a project footprint, the Town shall work with 

the most likely descendants identified by the NAHC as provided in PRC Section 5097.98. The applicant 

may develop an agreement for treating or disposing of, with appropriate dignity, the human remains, 

and any items of cultural patrimony associated with Native American burials with the appropriate 

Native Americans as identified by the NAHC. Action implementing such an agreement is exempt from 

the general prohibition on disinterring, disturbing, or removing human remains from any location 

other than a dedicated cemetery (Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5).  

2. In the event of the accidental discovery or recognition of any human remains in any location other than 

a dedicated cemetery, the following steps shall be taken: 

a. All construction activity shall cease within 100 feet of the discovery until the San Mateo County 

Medical Examiner is contacted and has completed their study. 

b. The San Mateo County Medical Examiner shall be contacted to determine whether an 

investigation of the cause of death is required. 

c. If the medical examiner determines that the remains are Native American, the medical 

examiner shall contact the NAHC within 24 hours. 

d. The NAHC shall identify the person or persons it believes to be the Most Likely Descendant 

from the deceased Native American.  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-30 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

e. The landowner shall discuss and confer with the Most Likely Descendant regarding all 

reasonable options for treatment of human remains and any associated grave goods as 

provided in PRC Section 5097.98. 

3. As part of the objectives, criteria, and procedures required by PRC Section 21082, a lead agency shall 

make provisions for historical or unique archaeological resources accidentally discovered during 

construction. These provisions shall include an immediate evaluation of the find by a qualified 

archaeologist. If the archaeologist determines the find to be a significant historical or archaeological 

resource, contingency funding and a time allotment sufficient to allow for implementation of avoidance 

measures or appropriate mitigation shall be necessary. Work may continue on other parts of the project 

site while resource mitigation takes place. 

 

  



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-31 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

City of Taft General Plan Draft Environmental Impact Report, City of Taft General Plan Draft Environmental 

Impact Report (2009). 

County of San Mateo 2017-2019, County of San Mateo 2017-2019 (2019). 

NEPA and NHPA: a handbook for integrating NEPA and Section 106, NEPA and NHPA: a handbook for 

integrating NEPA and Section 106 (2013). 

Bibbym Theodore, Keegan, Deanna, Mak, Jennifer. Town-wide Archaeological Resource Study, General Plan 

Update Town of Colma, San Mateo County, California (2021). Referred to as the Cultural Resources 

Technical Report. 

Greene, H. G., S. R. Hartwell, M. W. Manson, S. Y. Johnson, B. E. Dieter, E. L. Phillips, and J. T. Watt 

2014 Offshore and onshore geology and geomorphology, Offshore of Pacifica map area, California, sheet 

10. in Edwards, B.D., Phillips, E.L., Dartnell, P., Greene, H.G., Bretz, C.K., Kvitek, R.G., 

Hartwell, S.R., Johnson, S.Y., Cochrane, G.R., Dieter, B.E., Sliter, R.W., Ross, S.L., Golden, 

N.E., Watt, J.T., Chin, J.L., Erdey, M.O., Krisgman, L.M., Manson, M.W., and Endris, C.A. 

(S.A. Cochran and B.D. Edwards, eds.), California State Waters Map Series-Offshore of 

Pacifica, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2014-1260, pamphlet 38 p., 

10 sheets, scale 1:24,000, http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/ofr20141260. 

Henn, W. G., T. L. Jackson, and J. Schlocker 

1972 Buried Human Bones at the "BART" site, San Francisco, California. California Geology 

25(9):208-209. 

Hynding, Alan 

1982 From Frontier to Suburb: The Story of the San Mateo Peninsula. Star Publishing, Belmont, 

California. 

Jennings, C. W., Carlos Gutierrez, William Bryant, George Saucedo, and Chris Wills 

2010 Geologic Map of California. Department of Conservation, California Geological Survey. 

Sacramento, California. 

Jennings, Charles W., and John L. Burnett 

1961 Geologic Map of California, Olaf P. Jenkins Edition, San Francisco Sheet. State of California, 

Department of Natural Resources, Divison of Mines. 

Jones, Terry L., Nathan E. Stevens, Deborah A. Jones, Richard T. Fitzgerald, and Mark G. Hylkema 

2007 The Central Coast: A Midlatitude Milieu. In California Prehistory, edited by Terry L. Jones, 

and Kathryn A. Klar. Altamira Press, Lanham, Maryland. 

Kroeber, Alfred L 

1925 Handbook of the Indians of California. Bureau of American Ethnology Bulletin No. 78: 1-995. 

Washington, D.C. 

Levy, R. 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-32 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

1978 Costanoan. In Handbook of North American Indians: California, edited by R. F. Heizer. Vol. 

8. Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C. 

Meyer, Jack, Craig D. Young, and Jeffrey S. Rosenthal 

2010 Volume I: A Geoarchaeological Overview and Assessment of Caltrans Districts 6 and 9 - Cultural 

Resources Inventory of Caltrans District 6/9 Rural Conventional Highways. Copies available 

from Inc. Far Western Anthropological Research Group. 

Milliken, Randall 

1995 A Time of Little Choice: The Disintegration of Tribal Culture in the San Francisco Bay 

Area, 1769-1810. Ballena Press Anthropological Papers 43. 

Milliken, Randall, Richard T. Fitzgerald, Mark G. Hylkema, Randy Groza, Tom Origer, David G. Bieling, 

Alan Leventhal, Randy S. Wiberg, Andrew Gottsfield, Donna Gillette, Viviana Bellifemine, Eric Strother, 

Robert Cartier, and David A. Frederickson 

2007 Punctuated Culture Change in the San Francisco Bay Area. In California Prehistory, edited 

by Terry L. Jones, and Kathryn A. Klar. Altamira Press, Lanham, Maryland. 

Milliken, Randall, Laurence H. Shoup, and Beverly R. Ortiz 

2009 Ohlone/Costanoan Indians of the San Francisco Peninsula and their Neighbors, Yesterday and 

Today. National Park Service: Golden Gate National Recreation Area, San Francisco, 

California.. 

Moratto, Michael J. 

1984 California Archaeology. Academic Press, Orlando, Florida. 

Nelson, Nels C. 

1909 Shellmounds of the San Francisco Bay region. University of California Publications in 

American Archaeology and Ethnology 7(4). 

Ordnance No. 02894, Ordnance No. 02894 (1984). 

Ralston, Candice, Susan D. Talcott, Jelmer W. Eerkens, Jack Meyer, and Jeffrey Rosenthal 

2016 A reexamination of hypothesized diachronic diet breadth shifts and sex differences in 

subsistence: Stable isotope evidence of paleodiet at CA-CCO-696. In Reconstructing 

Lifeways in Ancient California: Stable Isotope Evidence of Foraging Behavior, Life HIstory 

Strategies, and Kinship Patterns, Vol 18, edited by Alexandra  Greenwald, and Gregory R. 

Burns. Center for Archaeological Research in Davis, Davis, California. 

San Mateo County general plan, San Mateo County general plan  

Town of Colma general plan, Town of Colma general plan (1999) 

Seavey, Kent 

1992 Historical Resources Inventory, City of Colma, California, Colma, California. 

Shoup, Laurence , and Brack. Mark 

1994 Historical Architectural Survey Technical Report for BART-San Francisco Airport Extension 

Project, Oakland, California.Stanger, Frank M. 



4.4   CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.4-33 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

1938 A California Rancho Under Three Flags: A History of Rancho Buri Buri in San Mateo 

County. California Historical Society Quarterly 17(3)Svanevik, Michael , and Shirley Burgett 

2002 Pillars of the Past: At Rest at Cypress Lawn Memorial Park. Cypress Lawn Heritage 

Foundation, Colma, California.Thompson, A. H., and W. D. Johnson 

 1892 San Mateo Quadrangle. U.S. Geological Survey.United States Coast Survey 

1869 San Francisco Peninsula, 1:40,000.USDA Soil Survey Staff 

2020 Web Soil Survey. Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of 

Agriculture. 

Websites 

California Environmental Quality Act Statutes https://opr.ca.gov/ceqa/ Accessed March 5 

California Health and Safety Code (HSC) Section 7050.5 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=7050.5.#:~:text=70

50.5.,of%20the%20Public%20Resources%20Code. Accessed March 5, 2021 

California Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=200120020AB978 Accessed March 5, 2021 

California Register of Historical Resources https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=21238 Accessed March 5 

California State Parks, State of California. “California State Historic Tax Credit.” CA State Parks. 

https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=27495. Accessed March 23, 2020 

California State Parks, State of California. “PRC 5024 & 5024.5 - State Agency Compliance.” CA State Parks. 

https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=27964. Accessed March 23, 2020 

California State Parks, State of California. “Preservation Laws, Codes, Regulations.” CA State Parks. 

https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=1077. Accessed March 23, 2020 

County of San Mateo: Department of Planning and Building 

2013 General Plan Policies, Ch. 5 - Historical and Archaeological Resources, 

https://planning.smcgov.org/documents/general-plan-policies, accessed 10/5/2020. 

Federal Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act 

https://www.nps.gov/archeology/tools/laws/nagpra.htm Accessed March 5, 

“Mills Act Info.” Old Towne Preservation Association. Accessed March 23, 2020. 

https://www.otpa.org/mills-act-info.html 

National Historic Preservation Act https://www.nps.gov/history/local-law/nhpa1966.htm Accessed March 5, 

2021  

https://opr.ca.gov/ceqa/
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=7050.5.#:~:text=7050.5.,of%20the%20Public%20Resources%20Code
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=7050.5.#:~:text=7050.5.,of%20the%20Public%20Resources%20Code
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=200120020AB978
https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=21238
https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=27495
https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=27964
https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=1077
https://www.nps.gov/archeology/tools/laws/nagpra.htm
https://www.otpa.org/mills-act-info.html
https://www.nps.gov/history/local-law/nhpa1966.htm


4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Cal. Pub. Resources Code Sections 

§21000, et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal. Code Regs., Section §15000, et seq.), this Draft 

Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing land use conditions in 

the proposed Town of Colma 2040 General Plan Update. This section also addresses the GPU’s consistency 

with relevant planning documents and policies. 

4.10.1 EXISTING SETTING 

REGIONAL  

The town of Colma (Town; town) is a small, incorporated town in San Mateo County near the northern end 

of the San Francisco Peninsula in the San Francisco Bay Area. The San Francisco International Airport is 

seven miles to the southeast, and downtown city of San Francisco is 12 miles to the northeast. The to the 

west, the Pacific Ocean is approximately 1.5 miles away and the San Francisco Bay is approximately 2.5 

miles to the east.  

San, Mateo County 

San Mateo County (county) is in the middle of a continuous urban area stretching from San Jose (Santa 

Clara County) in the south to San Francisco County in the north. San Mateo County is one of nine counties 

which significantly contribute to the economy of the San Francisco Bay Area. 

LOCAL  

Town of Colma 

The town is bordered by the city of Daly City to the north, the I- 280 Freeway to the west, city of South San 

Francisco to the south, and San Bruno Mountain to the east. The town of Colma is generally bisected by the 

El Camino Real, or State Route 82 (SR 82) runs north and south through the middle of town and Serramonte 

Boulevard generally runs east and west through the town. Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) runs 

underground and roughly parallel to the El Camino Real corridor, with a BART station just to the north of 

town (town of Colma station, located in unincorporated San Mateo County) and to the south (city of South 

San Francisco station).  The town limits encompass 1.91 square miles, or 1,225 acres, in size.  

Existing Land Uses 

The town of Colma’s Planning Area is characterized by a range of existing land uses and are depicted below 

in Figure 4.10-1: Existing Land Use and summarized in Table 4.10.1: Existing Land Use below. A 

comprehensive analysis of existing land use is necessary to take stock of the Planning Area’s existing assets, 

determine the development capacity of underutilized sites throughout the buildout of the General Plan, 

and plan for future urban growth.  

Open space/cemeteries dominate the town’s land use, and spread abundantly throughout, with 

approximately 75 percent (922 acres) of the total land area used or dedicated for future use as cemetery or 

cemetery related uses such as chapels, monument sales, flower sales and mortuaries. Agricultural uses are 

also allowed within this land use designation.  

Most of the town’s residential uses are clustered in the Sterling Park neighborhood, with a small number 

of single-family homes located on Hillside Boulevard, by the southern city limit. In addition, the town has 

a few multifamily developments at the end of Hoffman Avenue and along Mission Road, including the 63-

unit Verano and 66-unit Veteran’s Village. Public uses (Town Hall and the Police Station) are concentrated 

at the intersection of Serramonte Boulevard and El Camino Real.  



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Commercial areas make up about 14 percent (169 acres) of the total land use in the town of Colma. 

Commercial uses are dominated by two development types: automobile dealers along Serramonte 

Boulevard, which has grown into the most significant cluster of automobile dealers in the county; and two 

highly successful regionally oriented retail centers with establishments including Target and Home Depot, 

called 280 Metro Center and Serra Shopping Center. These regional retail centers are clustered around 

Junipero Serra and Colma boulevards. The Collins Avenue corridor is lined with auto-oriented commercial 

and light industrial/warehouse uses. The only commercial recreation use, and the only significant 

commercial use along Hillside Boulevard outside of the Sterling Park neighborhood, is the Lucky Chances 

cardroom.  

Mission Road, which begins in the southern portion of the town and intersects El Camino Real, includes a 

wide range of uses. Outside of the aforementioned multifamily developments, other uses include a mix of 

cemetery uses, auto service uses, light industrial uses, and office uses. 

El Camino Real is one of the most significant travel corridors in the county. However, development along 

this corridor is limited in the town as it is largely fronted by cemeteries or land dedicated for cemetery uses. 

Smaller neighborhood-serving commercial uses occur on the east side of El Camino Real between A Street 

in Daly City and F Street in Colma. Minor commercial uses such as flower and monument shops, a medical 

office and public uses, including the town hall and police station, are located on El Camino Real between 

Colma Boulevard and Serramonte Boulevard. Between Serramonte Boulevard and the El Camino Real 

intersection with Mission Road is a mixture of offices, a bank, commercial uses, cemetery related uses and 

several vacant sites.  

Less than one percent of the land (2.8 acres) in the town of Colma is vacant. Vacant parcels are spread 

throughout the town and include two housing sites near the town’s BART station. In addition to vacant 

land, the town has reviewed properties which may have redevelopment potential.  

Table 4.10-1: Existing Land Use 

Land Use Acreage Percent of Total 

Cemetery 922.13 75.27% 

Commercial 169.47 13.83% 

Executive Administrative 14.64 1.20% 

Public 8.56 0.70% 

Residential 20.1 1.64% 

Roadway 90.2 7.36% 

Total 1225.1 100.00% 

1 Includes Industrial Uses 

2 Includes Town-owned Parks and Open Space  

Source: Town of Colma Planning Department GIS Analysis – March 2021 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Proposed Land Uses 

Generally, the town’s land use designations remain the same. The proposed GPU includes a new Medium 

Density Residential Land Use Designation, and the proposed Land Use Map is updated to reflect where 

these uses are. In addition, minor changes are made throughout the town, to correct inconsistencies in the 

land use map. For example, residential properties in Sterling Park with a commercial land use designation 

were revised to show low density residential. Table 4.10.2: Proposed Land Use below summarizes the 

town’s proposed land use designations and Figure 4.10-2: Proposed Land Use below depicts the updated 

land use map.  

A commercial overlay has also been added over specific areas with a cemetery land use designation along 

Hillside Boulevard and El Camino Real. These areas are reserved for cemetery use but are currently not 

utilized as cemetery. The commercial overlay allows for the temporary development of commercial uses to 

efficiently utilize the limited land area within the town. 

Table 4.10-2: Proposed Land Use 

Land Use Acreage Percent of Total 

Cemetery 922.13 75.27% 

Commercial 162.47 13.26% 

Executive Administrative 12.91 1.05% 

Public/Quasi Public/Utility 8.6 0.70% 

Residential Low Density 19.36 1.58% 

Residential Medium Density 9.43 0.77% 

Roadways 90.2 7.36% 

Total 1225.1 100.00% 

1 Includes Industrial Uses 

2 Includes Town-owned Parks and Open Space  

Source: Town of Colma Planning Department GIS Analysis – March 2021 

The proposed GPU also includes opportunity sites or sites that are underdeveloped, underutilized and 

sites with non-conforming uses. These sites were identified in a 2014 Urban Design Study that evaluated 

the development potential of existing sites and considered form-based planning concepts. Sites that were 

evaluated include density and height limits that exceed what is allowed but is appropriate for the site due 

to site specific features such as an underground creek and existing structures, surrounding uses and design, 

and topography. In addition, to ensure that developers provide benefits to the town in exchange for 

developing denser projects, developments that exceed established proposed General Plan FAR is required 

to provide public improvements or equivalent resources to improve the quality of life for the community.  

Such improvements include affordable housing, pedestrian and bicycle amenities, publicly accessible 

parking facilities, public art, creek daylighting, public parks and open space.  

Overall, the proposed GPU increases land use intensity by introducing the new Medium Density land use 

designation and allowing for opportunity sites. The buildout of the proposed GPU is projected to add 

approximately 328 housing units and approximately 1,028,500 square feet of commercial and office land 

uses compared to existing conditions.  



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Planning Areas 

The 1999 General Plan identified nine (9) specific Planning Areas. This General Plan Update has 

reconfigured and condensed the Planning Areas into five (5) new Planning Areas based on location and 

character to clearly express the Town’s vision for 2040 and create a roadmap for the future development of 

these areas. Unlike the 1999 General Plan, each of the Planning Areas has its own separate goals and policies 

to guide land use and development decision making. The five Planning Areas are: Commercial Core, El 

Camino Real Corridor, Hillside Boulevard, Mission Road, and Sterling Park.  

4.10.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

STATE   

California Government Code 

California Public Utility Code Section 21676, State Aeronautics Act 

The State Aeronautics Act requires that each local agency whose general plan includes areas covered by an 

airport land use compatibility plan (ALUC) must submit a copy of its General Plan to the airport land use 

commission. Airport influence area boundaries:  

…define areas where height, noise, overflight and safety standards, policies, and criteria are 

applied to certain proposed land use policy actions. Comprehensive planning in these areas, 

reflected in land use policies, standards, and criteria, is designed to minimize the exposure of the 

public to noise and safety hazards, to provide for safer aircraft operations, to help protect the 

airport from encroachment by incompatible land development, and to ensure notification of 

prospective buyers of real estate of the presence of the Airport and aircraft overflights… 

According to the comprehensive Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan for the environs of San Francisco 

International Airport), the Town of Colma is within the Boundary for Airport Influence Area B. Within 

Airport Influence Area B, the ALUC shall exercise its statutory duties to review proposed land use policy 

actions, including new general plans, specific plans, zoning ordinances, plan amendments and rezoning, 

and land development proposals.  

California Government Code Sections 65919 to 65919.11  

California Government Code Sections 65919 to 65919.11 summarizes procedures related to interagency 

referrals for different types of lead agency actions, including general plan updates. Among other referrals, 

this part of the Government Code provides a procedure and protocols for requesting counties keep cities 

informed regarding land use actions within the unincorporated portions of spheres of influences and 

planning areas.  

California Government Code Section 65300  

California Government Code Section 65300 et seq. requires each California municipality to prepare a 

general plan. A general plan is defined as “a comprehensive, long-term general plan for the physical 

development of the county or city, and any land outside its boundaries which in the planning agency's 

judgment bears relation to its planning.” State requirements call for general plans that “comprise an 

integrated, internally consistent and compatible statement of policies for the adopting agency.” While 

allowing considerable flexibility, State planning laws do establish some requirements for the issues that 

general plans must address. The California Government Code establishes both the required content of 

general plans and rules for their adoption and subsequent amendment. Together, State law and judicial 

decisions establish three overall guidelines for general plans:  



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• The General Plan Must Be Comprehensive. This requirement has two aspects. First, the general 

plan must be geographically comprehensive. That is, it must apply throughout the entire 

incorporated area and it should include other areas that the city determines are relevant to its 

planning. Second, the general plan must address the full range of issues that affect the city's 

physical development.  

• The General Plan Must Be Internally Consistent. This requirement means that the general plan 

must fully integrate its separate parts and relate them to each other without conflict. “Horizontal” 

consistency applies both to figures and diagrams as well as general plan text. It applies to data and 

analysis as well as policies. All adopted portions of the general plan, whether required by State law 

or not, have equal legal weight. None may supersede another, so the general plan must resolve 

conflicts among the provisions of each element.  

• The General Plan Must Be Long-Range, typically 15 to 25 years. Because anticipated development 

will affect the city and the people who live or work there for years to come, State law requires every 

general plan to take a long-term perspective.  

California Government Code Section 65301  

California Government Code Section 65301 requires a General Plan to address the geographic territory of 

the local jurisdiction and any other territory outside its boundaries that bears relation to the planning of 

the jurisdiction. The jurisdiction may utilize judgment in determining what areas outside of its boundaries 

to include in the planning area. The State of California General Plan Guidelines state that the planning area 

for a city should include (at minimum) all land within the city limits and all land within the city’s sphere 

of influence. The town of Colma’s Sphere of Influence (SOI) is the same as the town boundary and does not 

include any portion of unincorporated San Mateo county. 

California Government Code Section 65451  

California Government Code Section 65451 regulates the substantive and topical requirements of specific 

plans. A specific plan is a tool for the systematic implementation of the General Plan, similar to zoning 

regulations, and establishes a link between implementing policies of the General Plan and individual 

development proposals. A specific plan differs from zoning in that it applies to a defined geographic area 

and has tailored development regulations. A specific plan may be as general as setting forth broad policy 

concepts, or as detailed as providing direction on every facet of development, from the type, location, and 

intensity of uses to the design and capacity of infrastructure.  

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG)  

Through its role as the Bay Area’s council of governments, ABAG has been designated by the State and 

federal governments as the official comprehensive planning agency for the Bay Area. ABAG reviews 

projects of regional significance for consistency with regional plans.  

Plan Bay Area   

The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) is an association of local governments, part regional 

planning agency and part local government service provider, in the nine-county Bay Area region. 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) provides transportation planning, funding, and 

coordinating for the entire nine-county region. ABAG and MTC, now with a single/consolidated staff, must 

update its regional transportation plan (RTP) every four years. California adopted Senate Bill (SB) 375, 

which requires councils of governments to adopt a SCS as part of the RTP. ABAG and MTC continue to 

share joint responsibility for Plan Bay Area, serving both the ABAG Executive Board and the MTC 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Commission.  The Final Plan Bay Area 2040, which includes the current RTP and Sustainable Communities 

Strategy (SCS), was adopted on July 26, 2017. 

Plan Bay Area 2040 addresses existing and future needs in the region, and identifies goals and strategies 

for proposed growth pattern and transportation investments, and key actions to address ongoing and long-

term regional challenges. The Plan discusses how the Bay Area will grow over the next two decades and 

identifies transportation and land use strategies to enable a more sustainable, equitable and economically 

vibrant future. While the City may strive to achieve this regional vision, the RTP/SCS is not mandatory and 

cannot regulate local land use decisions for the local jurisdictions in the Bay Area region, instead relying 

on voluntary land use decisions by cities and counties. Plan Bay Area 2040 is the Bay Area’s roadmap for: 

• Forecasting transportation needs through the year 2040 

• Preserving the character of our diverse communities 

• Adapting to the challenges of future population growth 

ABAG and MTC are currently working on an update to the Plan Bay Area 2050, which is anticipated to be 

adopted by 2021. Plan Bay Area 2050 will outline a roadmap for the Bay Area’s future. While it will pinpoint 

policies and investments necessary to advance the goal of a more affordable, connected, diverse, healthy 

and vibrant Bay Area.   

LOCAL 

San Mateo County Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) 

Government Code Sections 56425 and 56430 

The LAFCo is a countywide commission, required in each California county, and are independent 

regulatory commissions created to control the boundaries of cities and most special districts. San Mateo 

LAFCo is responsible for spheres of influence updates, annexation decisions, the consolidation or 

reorganization of special districts, and formation of new agencies. LAFCos are restricted to making indirect 

land use decisions primarily to approve or deny logical and timely boundary changes in local 

governmental boundaries. LAFCos are also responsible for conducting periodic municipal service reviews 

for the City.  

San Mateo County Zoning Regulations  

San Mateo county published its first Zoning Ordinance in 1933, and the Zoning Regulations were last 

updated in December 2015. Until such time as the unincorporated area the area in the town of Colma’s 

Sphere of Influence) is annexed, this area is subject to the San Mateo County General Plan and Zoning 

Regulations. The Regulations specifies land uses, densities, and intensities for various zoning districts, each 

with its own chapter. 

San Mateo County Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 

This document represents the state-mandated comprehensive airport land use compatibility plan (ALUCP) 

for the environs of San Francisco International Airport (SFO or the Airport). SFO, the largest airport in the 

San Francisco Bay Area, is directly to the west and south of the town of Colma. This ALUCP was prepared 

and adopted in November 2012 by the City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County 

(C/CAG) in its designated role as the Airport Land Use Commission for San Mateo County. This document 

provides land use requirements and recommendations and other information relevant to development near 

SFO. The intent of the plan is to ensure that development in the areas surrounding SFO is compatible with 

airport activities. Measures include limits on the height of structures in the path of the runways and 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

restrictions on certain types of uses in the vicinity of the airport. In accordance with California State Law, 

the town of Colma must update the General Plan, specific plans, and land use regulations to be consistent 

with the ALUCP. 

1999 General Plan – Goals and Policies.  

The Town adopted the existing general plan in 1999. It includes a Land Use element, Circulation element, 

Op Space and Conservation element, Housing Element Noise Element, Safety Element, and Historical 

Resources Element, all of which provided a vision to guide town development. The Town’s 1999 General 

Plan also includes a land use map and policies to  guide how development should occur in the future. 

Town of Colma Zoning Ordinances.  

The Town of Colma Planning, Zoning, Use and Development of Land and Improvements (Municipal Code 

Chapter 5, respectively) are the primary tools used to regulate development. They establish how properties 

can be used, developed, and subdivided, and they set forth permitting processes for discretionary project 

review. The zoning ordinance is adopted to promote and protect the public health, safety, peace, morals, 

comfort and general welfare. It consists of the establishment of various zones, including therein all the 

territory within the boundaries of said city, within some of which zones it shall be lawful and within some 

of which zones it shall be unlawful to construct, reconstruct, alter, enlarge, move, or maintain certain 

buildings or to use certain lands or buildings, and it further consists of appropriate regulations to be 

enforced in such zones. 

Colma BART Station Area Plan (CBSAP) 

San Mateo County Board of Supervisors adopted the CBSAP in September 1994. The plan influences land 

uses and developments at properties by the town of Colma BART Station, some of which are located in the 

City. The overarching goal of the Plan is to encourage investment and new development within the area 

through clearly established public policies. The Area Plan contains five goals:  

1. Reflect BART Station Area Specific Plan  

2. Create an Attractive Neighborhood  

3. Introduce Uses and Improvements Compatible with BART Station  

4. Respect and Maintain Key Existing Uses  

5. Respect Design of Surrounding Communities 

Colma Priority Development Area – Plan Bay Area  

The area around the El Camino Real corridor, stretching from the northern boundary and southern 

boundary of the town of Colma is designated as a Priority Development Area (PDA) within the Plan Bay 

Area. The Colma PDA is forecasted to accommodate a 75 percent increase in the number of housing units 

and 40 percent increase in jobs from 2010 to 2040.  

Town of Colma Land Use and Urban Design Study 

The town of Colma has identified sites which may be underutilized and analyzed these sites for potential 

development opportunities within a recent “Land Use and Urban Design Study” (Study) conducted in 

2014. The Study presents a guiding framework for the Land Use Element and is intended to inform and be 

integrated into the General Plan Update. The material in the study “…offers a comprehensive land use 

structure as well as an overall streetscape framework. It also provides illustrations of buildout scenarios 

possible under the land use strategy....” The study also envisions a new Town Center on the southwest 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

corner of El Camino Real and Serramonte Boulevard and designates 36 feet to 110 feet high height limits in 

that area.  

Figure 4.10-3: Land Use Strategy 

 
Source: Town of Colma Land Use and Urban Design Strategy 

The Serramonte Boulevard and Collins Avenue Master Plan  

The Master Plan outlines a vision for the town of Colma’s key commercial area and provides guidance for 

strategic improvements to circulation, streetscape, infrastructure, and aesthetics to improve the overall 

design and function of the business community. One of the key objectives of the Master Plan is to 

incorporate land use and urban design elements that sustain and enhance the function and unique identity 

of Serramonte Boulevard and Collins Avenue. To accomplish the objective, new design standards were 

included which increase the height limit throughout the Plan Area. On Serramonte Boulevard, buildings 

would be allowed to step up, increasing the height limit from 48 feet to 72 feet high after the first 200 feet, 

measured from the sidewalk.  The Master Plan also provides guidance on building form and articulation, 

wayfinding signage, access and transportation, economic development and sustainability. 

 

 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.10.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS  

Standards of Significance  

Following PRC Sections 21083.2 and 21084.1, and Section 15064.5 and Appendix G of the State CEQA 

Guidelines, Land Use and Planning impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the project 

considered would result in any of the following: 

• Physically divide an established community? 

• Cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use plan, policy, or 

regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect? 

METHODOLOGY 

This Program EIR analysis considered current and Proposed Project policies and goals, existing and 

proposed land use conditions within the Planning Area, and applicable regulations and guidelines. The 

impact analysis considers the full buildout under the proposed 2040 General Plan Update.  

 

With much of the town currently “built out,” or developed, land available for development is limited and 

scattered throughout the town of Colma. Most of the development is anticipated to be the redevelopment 

of sites along El Camino Real including the town center and the commercial core, and the development of 

the vacant land located east of Hillside Boulevard in the south east corner of the town.   

 

An evaluation of the potential land use impacts associated with the implementation of the proposed town’s 

2040 General Plan Update was based on a review of planning documents, including the town’s regulations 

affecting planning and implementation of the proposed project, the town’s Zoning Ordinance and 

Municipal Code, and other appropriate policy documents. The analysis contained herein is based on 

buildout conditions for the General Plan Planning Area and does not assess impacts associated with the 

phasing of individual development projects or interim improvements, except when the timing of such 

projects creates reasonably foreseeable environmental impacts. 

 

As discussed in detail in Section 1.0, Introduction, of this EIR, this document has been prepared as a 

Program EIR pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section §15168. Accordingly, this EIR will be used to 

evaluate subsequent projects and activities under the proposed General Plan Update. When subsequent 

individual project and activities under the General Plan are proposed, the town would need to evaluate 

whether their effects were adequately analyzed in this Program EIR. If the projects or activities would have 

no effects beyond those analyzed in this EIR, no further CEQA documentation would be required. 

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.10.1 The proposed General Plan Update would not physically divide an established community 

(Less than Significant). 

The 2040 GPU proposes few changes that could potentially alter the future development proposed in the 

town. The proposed GPU updates the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing 

planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and 

the vision of the City Council. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the 

Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 

square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within 

the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, 

Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

The proposed General Plan Update for the town of Colma therefore establishes the town’s vision for future 

growth and development. The General Plan Update allows for the increase of land use intensity on specific 

sites in the El Camino Real Planning Area given that sufficient public benefits are provided in the 

redevelopment of the site. This has the potential to expand the existing community by Sterling Park and 

create a new community in the Town Center.  

The type of project most likely to have the effect of physically dividing an established community would 

be a major new road, highway, or similar infrastructure, none of which are proposed as a part of the town’s 

2040 GPU.  The Planning Area currently includes a majority of cemetery uses and some residential, 

commercial office and public/semi-public uses, with very little space for either new development or infill 

redevelopment. Future development projects in the town would include the redevelopment of the town 

center, the commercial core and areas east of Hillside Boulevard and would not separate established 

communities or neighborhoods. Further, no new transportation corridors are being planned for under the 

2040 GPU which could have the potential to divide established communities. Given that the proposed GPU 

will not divide an established community, the impact of proposed project, the 2040 Town of Colma General 

Plan is considered less than significant. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address compatible land uses and existing communities: 

Policy LU-1-1:  General Plan Land Use Diagram. Maintain and implement a Land Use Diagram 

for purposes of describing the types of allowed land uses by geographic location 

and the density and/or intensity of allowed uses within each designation. 

Policy LU-1-2 Zoning Consistency. Ensure that zoning designations are consistent with the 

General Land Use Diagram (Figure LU-4). 

Policy LU-6-1: New Incompatible Land Uses. The Town shall prohibit the introduction of new 

incompatible land uses and environmental hazards into existing residential areas. 

Policy LU-10-1:  Neighborhood and small scale commercial and service uses. Neighborhood and 

small scale and service uses are encouraged on the east side of El Camino Real 

from the BART bridge north. 

Policy LU-10-2:  El Camino Real Housing. Limit housing on El Camino Real to the Town Center 

site and existing sites by the BART station. 

Policy LU-10-3:  Mixed Use and Nonresidential Development.  Limit parking, traffic, and other 

impacts of mixed-use and nonresidential development on adjacent uses and 

promote high-quality architectural design and effective transportation options. 

Implementation of the policies described above would further reduce any impacts to a less than significant 

regarding potential divisions to established communities. No mitigation measure are required. 

 Impact 4.10.2 The proposed General Plan Update would not conflict with an applicable land use plan, 

policy, or regulation adopted to avoid or mitigate an environmental effect (Less thank 

Significant). 

As mentioned under Impact 4.10.1 above, the 2040 GPU proposes few changes that could potentially alter 

the future development proposed in the town. The proposed GPU would allow for an additional 328 

residential units, 992,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 35,000 square feet of office uses in the Sterling 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Park, Mission Road, Hillside Boulevard, Commercial Core Planning Areas as well as the Bocci Center, 

Town Center and Sandblaster sites. 

As set forth by state law, the General Plan serves as the primary planning document for a jurisdiction and 

subordinate documents and plans should be updated to be consistent with any changes to a jurisdiction’s 

existing General Plan. Future development and infrastructure projects will be considered by the town, each 

project will be evaluated for conformance by the town’s General Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and other 

relevant plans and regulations.  

The proposed 2040 General Plan Update revises many existing goals and policies and includes new goals, 

policies and actions to support the town’s vision for 2040. The policies and programs address many topics 

including sustainability, preservation of communities and historic resources and economic development.  

The update also reflects current codes, design guidelines, and master plans that have been initiated or 

adopted by the town since the last update. In addition, the 2040 GPU will update the town’s Land Use Map 

(see Figure 4.10-1) with more defined uses such separating the Residential land use designation to Low 

Density Residential and Medium Density Residential, minor revisions to established goals and policies, as 

well as new goals and policies to encourage future mixed-use development/redevelopment projects. The 

updated General Plan would also reflect codes, design guidelines, master plans and other programs that 

have been initiated or adopted by the town since the last GPU. As needed, other regulations such as the 

town’s existing plans, programs, policies or other implementing tools, may need to be updated to 

effectively implement the 2040 GPU. The town’s Planning Department has primary responsibility for 

administering the laws, regulations and requirements that pertain to the physical development of the town 

of Colma. Amendments may also be needed from time to time to conform to State or federal law passed 

since adoption of the 2040 GPU.  

The proposed Land Use Element has been prepared to be consistent with the other Elements of the GPU, 

and would therefore not conflict with other plans, policies or regulations adopted to mitigate any 

environmental effects. Any future projects would have to be analyzed for their particulate potential 

environmental impacts pursuant with CEQA. Therefore, the proposed 2040 GPU would have a less than 

significant impact with regard to conflicts with applicable land use plans, policies or regulations. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies 

The following proposed General Plan policies address the consistency with existing plans: 

Policy LU-1-1:  General Plan Land Use Diagram. Maintain and implement a Land Use Diagram 

for purposes of describing the types of allowed land uses by geographic location 

and the density and/or intensity of allowed uses within each designation.  

Policy LU-1-2 Zoning Consistency. Ensure that zoning designations are consistent with the 

General Land Use Diagram (Figure LU-4). 

Policy LU-2-5:  Green Infrastructure Plan.  Implement a Green Infrastructure Plan to ensure 

compliance with the Municipal Regional Stormwater National Pollutant 

Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit. 

Policy LU-2-11:  Climate Action Plan.  Maintain a Climate Action Plan and continue to partner 

with San Mateo County’s Regional Climate Action Planning Suite (RICAPS) to 

prepare community-wide greenhouse gas inventories. 

Policy LU- 5-1:   Regional Cooperation. Participate with other cities in the county and across the 

region in working towards solutions to the issues of regional land use, housing, 

homelessness, and transportation planning through partnership with the 



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Association of Bay Area Governments, the Metropolitan Transportation 

Commission, and the San Mateo City/County Association of Governments 

(C/CAG). 

Policy OSC-3-4: GHG Reduction. Implement the Climate Action Plan to achieve GHG reduction 

targets that are consistent with the State Scoping Plan, AB 32, and SB 32 and the 

Town’s goals. 

Policy OSC-6-2: Tribal Consultation Compliance. Comply with SB 18,AB 52, and other applicable 

State and federal laws by consulting with local California Native American tribes 

prior to development decisions or General Plan or Specific Plan amendments. 

Respect tribal policies regarding confidentiality of information about tribal 

resources or sacred sites.   

Policy CS-3-1: Participate in Regional Adaptation Efforts. Coordinate with regional agencies, 

such as the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission 

(BCDC) and the Bay Area Regional Collaborative (BARC), in adaptation planning. 

Policy CS-7-1: Hazard Mitigation Plan. Implement, maintain and update the Local Hazard 

Mitigation Plan which is part of the larger County Hazard Mitigation Plan.     

Policy CS-7-2:  Emergency Management Plan. Continue to participate with San Mateo County’s 

mutual aid programs and plans for community emergency preparedness. 

Policy CS-9-1: ALUC Plan. Require development within the Airport Influence Area B, 

designated in the Airport Land Use Compatibility (ALUC) Plan of the San 

Francisco International Airport, to comply with all applicable federal and State 

laws with respect to land use safety and airspace protection criteria.     

Policy CS-9-2: Airport Land Use Commission Review. Require that all future land use actions 

and/or associated development conforms to the relevant height, aircraft noise, and 

safety policies and compatibility criteria contained in the most recently adopted 

version of the ALUC Plan for the environs of San Francisco International Airport. 

Policy M-3-3: Regional Transportation Planning. Actively participate in and support regional 

transportation planning efforts. 

Policy HR-1-1:  General Plan Consistency. Ensure that future plans, ordinances, and City 

programs are complimentary to the historic preservation goals and policies 

contained within the Town’s Historic Resources Element. 

Implementation of the policies described above would further reduce any impacts to a less than significant 

level and no mitigation measures would be required. 

  



4.10   LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.10-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

Town of Colma General Plan § (1999) 

Town of Colma General Plan, General Plan Existing Conditions Report § (2020) 

Town of Colma Land Use and Urban Design Strategy § (2014) 

Websites 

Airport Land Use Commission (ALUC). https://ccag.ca.gov/wp-

content/uploads/2014/10/Consolidated_CCAG_ALUCP_November-20121.pdf. Accessed on February 21, 

2020. 

Government Code Sections 56425 and 56430. 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56430. 

Accessed on March 20, 2021. 

California Government Code Sections 65919 to 65919.11. 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=1.&title=7.&pa

rt=&chapter=4.4.&article=. Accessed on March 20, 2021. 

 

California Government Code Section 65300 to 65301. 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=1.&chapter=3.&lawCode=GOV

&title=7.&article=5. Accessed on March 20, 2021. 

 

California Government Code Section 65451. 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65451. 

Accessed March 20, 2021.  

 

State Aeronatutics Act, California Public Utility Code Section 21676. 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=9.&chapter=4.&part=1.&lawCo

de=PUC&article=3.5. Accessed on March 20, 2021. 

 

Plan Bay Area 2040. http://2040.planbayarea.org/about. Accessed on March 20, 2020.  

The San Francisco Peninsula https://kids.kiddle.co/San_Francisco_Bay_Area. Accessed on March 18, 2020. 

The Colma Land Use and Urban Design Study dated October 2014. 

https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/land-use-urban-design-strategy. Accessed on March 20, 2020. 

San Mateo County Zoning Regulations. https://planning.smcgov.org/zoning-regulations. Accessed on 

March 20, 2021.  

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=56430
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=1.&title=7.&part=&chapter=4.4.&article=
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=1.&title=7.&part=&chapter=4.4.&article=
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=1.&chapter=3.&lawCode=GOV&title=7.&article=5
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=1.&chapter=3.&lawCode=GOV&title=7.&article=5
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65451
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=9.&chapter=4.&part=1.&lawCode=PUC&article=3.5
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=9.&chapter=4.&part=1.&lawCode=PUC&article=3.5
http://2040.planbayarea.org/about
https://kids.kiddle.co/San_Francisco_Bay_Area
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/land-use-urban-design-strategy
https://planning.smcgov.org/zoning-regulations


4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft Program EIR; DPEIR) discusses the 

geologic and soil conditions of the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area). It 

also includes the regulatory framework necessary to evaluate potential environmental impacts resulting 

from the 2040 General Plan Update (GPU), describes potential impacts that could result from the GPU. This 

Draft PEIR discusses General Plan Update goals, policies, and related potential environmental impacts if 

the proposed General Plan Update were implemented.  

4.6.1 EXISTING SETTING 

REGIONAL  

The proposed town of Colma (town)’s 2040 GPU Planning Area is located in San Mateo County (county), 

which itself is located on the San Francisco Peninsula and within the North Coast Range of the Coast Ranges 

Geomorphic Province. This geomorphic province is part of Pacific coastal California, and provides a barrier 

between the Pacific Ocean and the San Joaquin Valley. Since this province consists of mountain ranges and 

the corresponding valleys and basins. it is controlled by a series of folds and faults that resulted from the 

collision of the Farallon and North American tectonic plates and subsequent strike-slip faulting along the 

San Andreas fault zone. Much of the Coast Range province is composed of marine sedimentary deposits 

and volcanic rocks, running subparallel to the San Andreas Fault Zone. The Coast Ranges can be further 

divided into the northern and southern ranges, separated by the San Francisco Bay. Regionally, this fault 

system is the boundary between the North American Plate and Pacific Plate, a complex system of northwest 

trending faults that extend across the greater San Francisco Bay Area. The San Andreas is also the closest 

active fault to the Planning Area. 

Geology and Soils 

According to the 1985 San Mateo County General Plan, soil types in San Mateo county have been classified 

according to eight major groups composed of 25 association types. Soils within each association have 

similar properties and characteristics. Approximately 80 percent of San Mateo county is covered with sandy 

loam, clay loam, and clay upland soils, generally on slopes of 30 percent or greater. The deepest and best 

drained soils occur on small alluvial fans and low terraces, especially along major stream channels. Other 

well-drained soils, originally formed primarily from marine sediments, occur on the high terraces of the 

coastal plain, and constitute less than 20 percent of the county’s land area.  

San Mateo county is also host to serpentine-based soils; a unique soils group due to the restricted range of 

plan species it supports. Serpentine soils occur infrequently and are sporadically distributed. Undisturbed 

habitats are quite rare, occurring primarily within the San Francisco Watershed, Jasper Ridge Biological 

reserve, and Emerald Lake Hills area. Typical bedrock types include Quaternary alluvium and marine 

deposits, Pliocene Marine rocks and the Franciscan Complex. The Quaternary alluvium and marine 

deposits consist of poorly consolidated friable, well sorted, fine to medium grained sand, gravel, silt and 

clay deposits. These deposits overlay the Pliocene Marine rocks which consists of unconsolidated and 

moderately consolidated sandy silt and fine sand found throughout the Santa Cruz Mountains. The 

Franciscan Complex occurs in the San Bruno Mountain foothills.  This association is composed of 

sedimentary volcanic and metamorphic rocks of shale and siltstone containing blocks of sandstone, 

greenstone and chert.  The bedrock and surface geologic characteristics are shown in Figure 4.6-1: Geology 

below. 

  

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pacific_Ocean
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Joaquin_Valley
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mountain_range
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Valley


4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Faults 

The San Francisco Bay area is wholly located within the San Andreas Fault Zone. This significant tectonic 

feature is located just over a mile west of the town of Colma (Figure 4.6-2: Fault Lines and Seismic Hazards).  

Other major regional active faults include the Hayward, Concord, Calaveras and San Gregorio faults. The 

U.S. Geological Survey estimates that between 2003 and 2032, there is a 63% probability that a 6.7 or greater 

magnitude earthquake will occur in the San Francisco Bay Region, and a 21% chance that a 6.7 or greater 

magnitude earthquake will occur along the San Andreas Fault.   

The Modified Mercalli Intensity (MMI) Scale describes shaking severity resulting from earthquakes (Table 

4.6.1: Modified Mercalli Intensities and Effects). An earthquake of magnitude 7.2 on the San Andreas 

Fault would have MMI shaking severity levels of Very Strong to Violent throughout the Planning Area. 

Table 4.6.1: Modified Mercalli Intensities and Effects 

MM Effect 

I Not felt except by a very few under especially favorable Conditions. 

II Felt only by a few persons at rest, especially on upper floors of buildings. 

III Many feel movement indoors, may not be perceptible outdoors. 

IV Most feel movement indoors; Windows, doors, and dishes will rattle. 

V Felt by nearly everyone, sleeping people may be awakened 

VI Felt by all, difficulty walking; heavy furniture moved, slight damage.  

VII Difficulty standing; some furniture breaks; damage to well-built buildings 

negligible. 

VIII Damage to poorly built structures, partial collapse of well-built structures, 

houses may shift on foundations. 

IX Considerable damage to well-built buildings, ground may crack. 

X Most buildings and foundations destroyed. 

 

Source: USGS, 2013 

  



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

  



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Surface Rupture and Subsidence 

Surface rupture is the fracturing or cracking of the earth's surface by fault displacement or fault movement 

during an earthquake. Surface rupture in the form of landslides may occur when earthquakes cause cracks 

in sidewalks, streets, and buildings, thereby resulting in curb separation, cracks on structures, and broken 

gutters. Subsidence is the sinking or lowering of a part of the earth's surface, and may be either earthquake 

induced or occur independent of earthquakes. Subsidence as a direct result of fault displacement is not as 

likely the region due to the nature of the how the San Andreas Fault moves during an earthquake. 

Ground Shaking and Liquefaction 

The potential severity of ground shaking during an earthquake depends on a variety of factors. A region’s  

susceptibility to the highest potential levels of seismic shaking are generally those areas closest to the active 

earthquake-generating faults and areas underlain by thick unconsolidated deposits, particularly soft, 

saturated mud and fill. Ground shaking may be a potentially serious seismic hazard for areas in close 

proximity to the San Andreas Fault. A Geologic Units Map prepared by the Association of Bay Area 

Governments (ABAG) classifies geologic units into categories of similar susceptibility to ground shaking 

from very low to extremely high intensity (see Figure 4.6-2). The ABAG map indicates that portions of the 

greater San Francisco Bay area underlain by the Colma and Merced Formations would have moderately 

high to very high susceptibility to ground shaking. Areas underlain by the Franciscan outcrop, such as 

those adjacent to San Bruno Mountain, have low to moderately low susceptibility. Some areas in the 

Bayshore neighborhood, however, have high to extremely high susceptibility due to the mixture of 

different geologic formations near the San Francisco Bay. 

Liquefaction is the rapid transformation of saturated, loose, fine-grained sediment to a fluid-like state 

caused by seismic ground shaking. Soils susceptible to liquefaction include saturated loose to medium 

dense sands and gravels, low-plasticity silts, and some low-plasticity clay deposits. Liquefaction and 

associated failures could damage foundations, disrupt utility service, and cause damage to roadways. A 

composite liquefaction susceptibility map prepared by ABAG indicates that the majority of the Town of 

Colma has a very low susceptibility level (see Figure 4.6-3: Liquefaction Susceptibility).  

  



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Slope Instability 

A landslide is a mass of rock, soil and debris displaced down slope by sliding, flowing or falling (mudflows, 

or “mudslides” are types of landslides). Landslides can be a direct result of an earthquake, as occurred in 

the greater San Francisco Bay area during earthquakes in 1906, 1957, and 1989. However, landslides could 

also be  caused by other natural events such as heavy rainfall, or by human activities such as grading and 

deforestation or removal of vegetation. The vulnerability of homes and businesses to landslide hazards in 

the San Francisco Bay area is exacerbated by the San Andreas Fault.  

Cliff erosion is often considered a type of landslide and is generally caused by an increase in moisture along 

the bluff line of a cliff which results in the breaking away of material along the face of the cliff. Development 

along coastal bluffs can also contribute to increases in cliff erosion through increased runoff due to 

ineffective storm drainage design. 

Expansive Soils and Soil Erosion 

Soil erosion is the process by which soils are worn away from the earth’s surface by precipitation and runoff 

or wind. The rate of erosion depends on many factors, including soil type and geologic parent materials 

(inherent erodibility), degree of surface disturbance and resulting vegetative cover, degree of compaction, 

degree and length of slope, rainfall and/or wind amount and intensity, and erosion control practices. Soils 

that are high in silt and low in clay and organic matter are the most inherently erodible; but, regardless of 

soil texture, erosion potential may be high in steep, unvegetated areas— especially those areas disturbed 

by cut-and-fill or other construction activities.  

Expansive soils possess a “shrink-swell” behavior. Shrink-swell is the cyclic change in volume (expansion 

and contraction) that occurs in fine-grained clay sediments from the process of wetting and drying. 

Structural damage to buildings can occur over a long period of time, usually as a result of inadequate soil 

and foundation engineering or the placement of structures directly on expansive soils. As shown in Figure 

4.6-4: Landslide Potential, erosion susceptibility in the Town of Colma is typically around the base of the 

San Bruno Mountain State Park. This is an area of low-to-moderate erosion potential, as well as low-to-

moderate shrink/swell potential. 

  



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

LOCAL  

The town of Colma occupies a wide drainage basin centered on Colma Creek. The geologic formation of 

the area is known as the Colma formation. It consists of friable, well-sorted, fine to medium grained sand 

and local gravel, sand silt and clay. The formation is weakly to moderately consolidated and is well drained. 

An alluvial strip, consisting of unconsolidated permeable sand and gravel, exists along Colma Creek. The 

bedrock types underlying the town include the Quaternary alluvium and marine deposits, the Pliocene 

Marine rocks and the Franciscan Complex.  

The town is located in the seismically active San Francisco Bay Area.  Due to its location near the boundary 

between the North American and Pacific tectonic plates, the town is exposed to geologic and seismic 

hazards such as strong seismic ground shaking, seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction and 

landslides.   

Although mapping analyzed under the Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act indicates that no active 

earthquake fault zones are located in the town, several major regional active fault zones are of concern. The 

San Andreas is also the closest active fault to the Planning Area and there is one recognized inactive fault 

in the town, the Serra Fault. The Serra fault runs parallel to Junipero Serra Boulevard and is approximately 

1 mile from the San Andres Fault. The fault extends from the town of Hillsborough to the city of Daly City. 

Seismically induced hazards with potential to affect the town of Colma include ground shaking, ground 

failure, liquefaction and surface rupture. 

A composite liquefaction susceptibility map prepared by ABAG indicates that the majority of the town of 

Colma has a very low susceptibility level to liquefaction (see Figure 4.6-3).  

4.6.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

Disaster Mitigation Act  

The Disaster Mitigation Act (DMA) of 2000 provides the legal basis for Federal Emergency Management 

Agency mitigation planning requirements for state, local, and Indian Tribal governments as a condition of 

mitigation grant assistance. DMA 2000 amended the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency 

Assistance Act by repealing the previous mitigation planning provisions and replacing them with a new 

set of requirements that emphasize the need for state, local, and Indian Tribal entities to closely coordinate 

mitigation planning and implementation efforts. The requirement for a state mitigation plan is continued 

as a condition of disaster assistance, adding incentives for increased coordination and integration of 

mitigation activities at the state level through the establishment of requirements for two different levels of 

state plans. DMA 2000 also established a new requirement for local mitigation plans and authorized up to 

seven percent of Hazard Mitigation Grand Program funds available to a state for development of state, 

local, and Indian Tribal mitigation plans. 

STATE AND REGIONAL   

Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act 

The Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act (Act) was signed into law in 1972 as the Alquist-Priolo 

Geologic Hazard Zones Act. The name was subsequently changed to the Alquist-Priolo Special Studies 

Zones Act in 1975 and finally to the Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act in 1994. The Act requires 

the delineation of zones along active faults in California. The purpose of the act was to prohibit the location 

of most structures for human occupancy across active fault traces and to thereby mitigate the hazard of 

surface fault rupture. The law only addresses the hazard of surface fault rupture and is not directed toward 



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

other earthquake hazards, such as ground-shaking or landslides. It regulates development on or near active 

fault traces to reduce the hazard of fault rupture and to prohibit the location of most structures for human 

occupancy across these traces. 

The Act requires the State Geologist to establish regulatory zones (known as Earthquake Fault Zones) 

around the surface traces of active faults and to issue maps to all affected cities, counties, and State agencies 

for their use in planning and controlling development. Local agencies must regulate most development 

projects within the zones, and there generally can be no construction for human occupancy within 50 feet 

of an active fault zone. 

Seismic Hazards Mapping Act 

In 1990, the California State Legislature passed the Seismic Hazard Mapping Act (Act) to protect public 

safety from the effects of strong shaking, liquefaction, landslides, or other ground failure, and other hazards 

caused by earthquakes. The Act became operative on April 1, 1991. The program and actions mandated by 

the Seismic Hazards Mapping Act closely resemble those of the Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning 

Act.  

The Seismic Hazards Mapping Act of 1990 addresses non-surface fault rupture earthquake hazards, including 
liquefaction and seismically induced landslides, and its purpose is to protect public safety from the effects of 
strong ground shaking, liquefaction, landslides, other ground failure, and other hazards caused by earthquakes. 

Specifically, the maps identify areas where soil liquefaction and earthquake-induced landslides are most 

likely to occur. The Act directs cities, counties, and state agencies to use the maps in their land use planning 

and permitting processes. A site-specific geotechnical evaluation is required prior to permitting most urban 

developments within the mapped zones. The Act requires the State Geologist to delineate various seismic 

hazard zones and requires cities, counties, and other local permitting agencies to regulate certain development 
projects within these zones. Before a development permit is granted for a site within a seismic hazard zone, a 
geotechnical investigation of the site must be conducted, and appropriate mitigation measures incorporated 
into the project design. 

California Health and Safety Code 

Section §19100 et seq. of the California Health and Safety Code establishes the State’s regulations for 

earthquake protection. This section of the code requires structural designs to be capable of resisting likely 

stresses produced by strong winds and earthquakes. 

California Building Code 

The purpose of the Uniform Building Code (UBC) is to provide minimum standards to preserve public 

peace, health, and safety by regulating the design, construction, quality of materials, equipment, location, 

grading, use, occupancy, and maintenance of all buildings and structures. UBC standards address 

foundation design, shear wall strength, and other structurally related conditions. 

In addition to the requirements of the Uniform Building Code, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, 

also known as the California Building Standard Code or the California Building Code (CBC), establishes 

further guidance for foundation design, shear wall strength, and other structurally related concerns. The 

CBC is administered by the California Building Standards Commission, which, by law, is responsible for 

coordinating all building standards.  

The CBC modified national UBC regulations for specific conditions found in California, and therefore 

requires structures to be built to withstand ground shaking in areas of high earthquake hazards and the 

placement of strong motion instruments in larger buildings, to monitor and record the response of the 

structure and the site of seismic activity. Compliance with CBC regulations ensures the adequate design 



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

and construction of building foundations to resist soil movement. It regulates and controls the design, 

construction, quality of materials, use and occupancy, location, and maintenance of all building and 

structures within its jurisdiction. The CBC also contains drainage requirements in order to control surface 

drainage and to reduce seasonal fluctuations in soil moisture content.  

In addition, the CBC contains necessary California amendments which are based on the American Society 

of Civil Engineers (ASCE). The Minimum Design Standards 7-05 provides requirements for general 

structural design and includes means for determining earthquake loads among others, for inclusion into 

building codes. The provisions of the CBC apply to the construction, alteration, movement, replacement, 

and demolition of every building or structure or any appurtenances connected or attached to such 

buildings or structures throughout California. The earthquake design requirements take into account the 

occupancy category of the structure, site class, soil classifications, and various seismic coefficients which 

are used to determine a Seismic Design Category (SDC) for a project. The SDC is a classification system 

that combines the occupancy categories with the level of expected ground motions at the site and ranges 

from SDC A (very small seismic vulnerability) to SDC E/F (very high seismic vulnerability and near a major 

fault).  

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) 

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) has jurisdiction over State and interstate routes 

within California. Any work undertaken within the right-of-way of a federal or State transportation 

corridor is subject to Caltrans regulations. Caltrans standards incorporate the CBC, and contain numerous 

additional rules and regulations to protect the public from seismic hazards such as surface fault rupture, 

and ground shaking. In addition, Caltrans standards require that projects be constructed to minimize 

potential hazards associated with cut and fill operations, grading, slope instability, and expansive or 

corrosive soils, as described in the Caltrans Highway Design Manual (HDM). 

LOCAL  

Colma Municipal Code Subchapter 5.07 Grading and Erosion and Sediment Control 

The purposes of this ordinance are to provide for safe grading operations, to safeguard life, limb and 

property, to preserve and enhance the natural environment, to control erosion and sedimentation, to 

decrease the risk of flooding, to reduce the impacts on riparian habitats and stream capacity, and to assure 

consistency with the 2040 General Plan for the town of Colma. 

4.6.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

Following Public Resources Code (PRC) Sections §21083.2 and §21084.1, and Section §15064.5 and 

Appendix G of the State CEQA Guidelines, Geology and Soils impacts are considered to be significant if 

implementation of the project considered would result in any of the following: 

• Directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or 

death involving: 

a. Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake 

Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on other substantial 

evidence of a known fault?  

b. Strong seismic ground shaking? 

c. Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction? and, 

d. Landslides? 



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil. 

• Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of the 

project, and potentially result in on-or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction 

or collapse. 

• Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code (1994), creating 

substantial direct or indirect risks to life or property. 

• Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative wastewater 

disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of wastewater. 

• Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic feature. 

METHODOLOGY 

Geologic impacts and soils analyses take into account the geologic and seismic conditions within the town 

of Colma, and applicable regulations and guidelines. The proposed General Plan Update would facilitate 

development and growth within the town. Thus the analyses assess the potential for seismic activity to 

affect people and structures, as well as the necessary protection from seismic hazards that are provided by 

GPU standards. Consideration is given to erosion associated with future development, related construction 

activities, as well as potential geologic hazards posed by liquefaction, ground shaking, and underlying 

geologic materials. In order to reduce potential hazards from earthquakes or other local geologic hazards, 

the proposed GPU ensures development/redevelopment would continue to be completed in compliance 

with local and State regulations, as well as GPU policies.  

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.6.1 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would expose new development to 

seismic hazards, including but not limited to strong ground shaking or seismically related 

to ground failure, including liquefaction (Less than Significant).  

The town of Colma is located along the Serra Fault Zone and is approximately less than a mile east from 

the San Andreas Fault Zone. Therefore, the town has the potential to experience considerable ground 

shaking and rupture, in the event of an earthquake. In addition, the US Geological Survey has modeled 

that the greater San Francisco Bay area could experience a major earthquake within the next 20-30 years, or 

within the GPU planning horizon of 2040.  

Liquefaction typically happens when saturated soils are transformed from solid to liquified state due to 

ground shaking from seismic activities. As a result, the soils lose strength and cause ground failure and 

therefore liquefaction. Soils, therefore, in areas with groundwater tables closer to the surface result in 

greater liquefaction potential than soils where the groundwater table is located deeper from the surface. 

The town of Colma has not been identified as having the potential for liquified soils. 

Surface rupture typically happens when the ground surface is broken due to movement along an 

earthquake. Ground shaking is associated with surface rupture and could result in damages to structures 

and infrastructure. Seismic related ground shaking in unavoidable in the greater San Francisco Bay area, 

as is liquefaction induced ground failure which has the potential to affect underground utilities, shallow 

foundations or paved areas. The intensity of any such an event would depend on the seismic fault, the 

distance to the epicenter, the magnitude, and the duration of ground shaking.  

The 2040 GPU proposes few changes that could potentially alter the future development proposed in the 

town. The proposed GPU updates the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing 

planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and 

the vision of the City Council. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the 



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 

square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within 

the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of 

commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, 

Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

The potential for damage or loss during an earthquake could be substantial, since impacts from 

earthquakes tend to be more severe in softer sediments compared to denser bedrock materials. Considering 

the town’s close proximity to the San Andreas fault, and its location along the Serra Fault, the town of 

Colma has the potential to experience ground shaking and ground failure due to seismic activity.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The proposed General Plan policies CS-2.1 through CS-2.6 address seismic hazards. 

Policy CS-2-1: Geotechnical Studies. Require geotechnical, soils, and foundation reports for 

proposed projects and subdivisions on sites that have been identified as having 

moderate or high potential for ground failure, liquefaction, and seismic activity by the 

Town or by the San Mateo County Seismic and Safety Element  

Policy CS-2-2: Development in Hazardous Areas. Prohibit development, including any land 

alteration, grading for roads and structural development, in areas of slope instability 

unless the appropriate mitigation measures are taken. 

Policy CS-2-3: Unsafe Buildings. Encourage seismic retrofits of existing buildings based on the 

recommendations of a licensed engineer or architect. Prioritize working with owners 

of buildings whose loss would impact the greatest number of people and/or 

particularly vulnerable groups such as seniors, children, or low-income households. 

Policy CS-2-4: Water Infrastructure Safety. Collaborate with San Mateo County, California Water 

Service Company, and the San Francisco Water District to ensure that all water tanks 

and main water pipelines are capable of withstanding high seismic stress. 

Policy CS-2-5: Erosion Prevention.  Require new grading or development to prevent erosion on slope 

and hillside areas by revegetation or use of slope protection material. Require project 

grading and drainage plans to demonstrate how the project will maintain natural 

surface drainage and existing vegetation, to the extent feasible. 

Policy CS-2-6: Seismic Hazards.  Continue to enforce appropriate standards to ensure existing and 

new development is located, designed, and constructed to minimize the risk of loss of 

life and property from seismic hazards. 

Implementation of the policies above would serve to reduce the environmental impacts associated with 

such hazards to a less than significant level and no mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.6.2 Land uses and new development or redevelopment under the proposed General Plan 

Update may develop structures on unstable soil or expose, structures, and development to 

the effects of ground settlement resulting in the risk of loss, injury, or death (Less than 

Significant). 

Though the 2040 GPU proposes few changes that could potentially alter the future development proposed 

in the town, it does update the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning 

areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision 



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

of the City Council. While limited in the amount of new development, the 2040 GPU would allow for an 

additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square 

feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 

square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of 

commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 

square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, 

and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Development associated under the GPU may include earthwork activities that could expose soils to the 

effects of erosion or loss of topsoil. Once disturbed, soils if not managed appropriately are left exposed to 

the effects of wind and water. Though no specific developments are being proposed under this General 

Plan Update, implementation of the GPU has the potential to expand the town of Colma’s residential and 

commercial development. As a result, excavation, grading, construction activities, and site preparation for 

future development may result in the removal of topsoil or disturb and potentially expose underlying soils 

to wind and water erosion. Poorly designed projects may also potentially destabilize buildings or roadway 

foundations due to long-term soil erosion and loss of underlying supporting soils. Future development 

may also include paving and other site improvements that could increase amounts of impervious surfaces 

and result in higher levels of urban runoff.  

Generally, development related construction activities on more than one acre are subject to the National 

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit. As a requirement under the NPDES permit, all 

such development activities have to follow best management practices that reduce soil erosion, loss of 

topsoil, and pollution of waterways. In addition, earthwork and ground-disturbing activities, typically 

require grading permits, compliance with which minimizes erosion. Once construction is complete and 

exposed areas are revegetated or covered by buildings, asphalt, or concrete, the erosion hazard is 

substantially eliminated or reduced. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The proposed General Plan policies CS-2.1, CS-2.2, CS-2.4, and CS-2.6 address soil erosion and loss of 

topsoil.  

Policy CS-2-1: Geotechnical Studies. Require geotechnical, soils, and foundation reports for 

proposed projects and subdivisions on sites that have been identified as having 

moderate or high potential for ground failure, liquefaction, and seismic activity by the 

Town or by the San Mateo County Seismic and Safety Element  

Policy CS-2-2: Development in Hazardous Areas. Prohibit development, including any land 

alteration, grading for roads and structural development, in areas of slope instability 

unless the appropriate mitigation measures are taken. 

Policy CS-2-4: Water Infrastructure Safety. Collaborate with San Mateo County, California Water 

Service Company, and the San Francisco Water District to ensure that all water tanks 

and main water pipelines are capable of withstanding high seismic stress. 

Policy CS-2-6: Seismic Hazards.  Continue to enforce appropriate standards to ensure existing and 

new development is located, designed, and constructed to minimize the risk of loss of 

life and property from seismic hazards. 

Implementation of these policies would therefore reduce the environmental impacts associated with soil 

erosion and loss of topsoil to less than significant and no mitigation is required. 

 



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Impact 4.6.3 Implementation of the proposed project would not result in development within areas 

subject to landslide (Less than Significant).  

Slope instability often results in landslides, and steep slopes heighten an area’s susceptibility to landslides. 

Landslides themselves can either occur naturally from seismic activity, wildfires or soil saturation, or from 

human activities such as construction disturbance, vegetation removal, landscape irrigation, and changes 

to sub-surface drainage. Structures located in the path of a landslide may be destroyed or seriously 

damaged. While San Mateo County has hillsides with medium or very high susceptibility for landslides, 

the town of Colma does not have steep slopes. Though it borders the base of the San Bruno Mountains, 

these are also the areas of the town’s cemetery uses and no future development would be allowed with 

these land uses. The proposed GPU updates the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s 

existing planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the 

town and the vision of the City Council. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units 

in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 

5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses 

within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet 

of office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet 

of commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci 

Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. However, none of the proposed future 

development would be located in areas susceptible to landslides 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following GPU policies address potential slope instability and landslide issues within the town of 

Colma. 

Policy CS-2.1: Geotechnical Studies. Require geotechnical, soils, and foundation reports for 

proposed projects and subdivisions on sites that have been identified as having 

moderate or high potential for ground failure, liquefaction, and seismic activity by the 

Town or by the San Mateo County Seismic and Safety Element  

Policy CS-2.2: Development in Hazardous Areas. Prohibit development, including any land 

alteration, grading for roads and structural development, in areas of slope instability 

unless the appropriate mitigation measures are taken. 

Policy CS-2.5: Erosion Prevention.  Require new grading or development to prevent erosion on slope 

and hillside areas by revegetation or use of slope protection material. Require project 

grading and drainage plans to demonstrate how the project will maintain natural 

surface drainage and existing vegetation, to the extent feasible. 

As such, there would not be any significant impacts associated with landslides from implementation of the 

GPU. Moreover, the proposed General Plan policies CS-2.1, CS-2.2, and CS-2.5. address landslides and 

slope instability and therefore impacts associated with such hazards This impact is therefore less than 

significant and no mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.6.4 Implementation of the proposed project would not result in development of areas of 

unstable or expansive soils (No Impact).   

The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 

infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the 

Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard 

Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the 

Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, 



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and 

Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Implementation of the GPU for the town of Colma has the potential to result in a total 2,269 people within 

the Planning Area at buildout (2040). This represents an increase of approximately 765 persons (from a 

current population of 1,504 people) over the next 20 years, within the Planning Area.  This has the potential 

to result in new construction activities that could have impacts on unstable or expansive soils. However, 

75% of the town’s available land area are currently utilized for the town’s 17 cemeteries. Future 

development under the GPU would be limited to redevelopment of underutilized or infill sites within the 

town, and not at any of the historic cemetery sites. These available sites are already developed either wholly 

or partially with residential, commercial or public service uses, and no soil related issues were identified 

as these sites were developed. Therefore, the proposed General Plan Update would have no impact related 

to unstable or expansive soils and no mitigation measures are required. 

Impact 4.6.5 Implementation of the proposed project would not impact areas where soils may be 

incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative wastewater 

disposal systems (No Impact).     

The town of Colma has approximately 33,600 lineal feet of sewer mains for its wastewater collection. The 

town owns the sewer collection system but does not have its own wastewater treatment plant. It contracts 

with the North San Mateo County Sanitation District (NSMCSD) and the city of South San Francisco for 

wastewater treatment. The town’s sewer system is primarily gravity flow. There are no forced mains or 

pump stations owned/maintained by the town. Neither are there any sewer septic tanks or alternative 

wastewater disposal systems in the town. utilized for new development. As such, there are no significant 

adverse environmental impacts associated with septic tanks that would result from implementation of the 

General Plan Update Therefore, the proposed General Plan would have no impact related to soils capability 

to support wastewater disposal and no mitigation measures are required. 

Impact 4.6.6 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not promote new 

development that could impact areas of unique paleontological resources or unique 

geologic features (Less then Significant).  

The town of Colma is not located on any unique geological features, nor does it have areas of unique 

paleontological resources. Approximately 75% of the 1.9 square miles of land within the town are utilized 

for the 17 cemeteries that make up a majority of the town’s land uses. The 2040 GPU proposes updates to 

the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning areas into five new planning 

areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision of the City Council. The 2040 

GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill 

residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission 

Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 

310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core 

Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential 

units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, 

respectively. Any future new development will therefore either consist of redevelopment of underutilized 

or infill sites and no new development would be allowed in the town’s cemetery sites. In the possibility 

that unknown resources are found during construction activities in the town, federal and State regulations 

would require protective measures should any paleontological resources be discovered. Section §5097 of 

the Public Resources Code specifies the procedures to be followed in the event of the unexpected discovery 

of paleontological resources. Additionally, Section §15064.5(f) of the CEQA Guidelines requires that 

construction activities be halted until a qualified specialist can assess the significance of the find. Any future 



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

development projects would require conducting their own geologic and paleontological assessments based 

on the project’s location. Additionally, Section 4.4 Cultural and Tribal Resources of this PEIR and GPU 

Policy OSC-6-3 address potential impacts on paleontological resources. Potential impacts from adoption 

of the 2040 GPU would be less than significant and no further mitigation is required. 

  



4.6   GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.6-18 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

Caltrans 2020 Highway Design Manual  

San Mateo County, California. November 1986. San Mateo County General Plan.  

Town of Colma. 2020. Town of Colma Existing Conditions Report 

Town of Colma. 2019. Town of Colma Municipal Code.  

Town of Colma. 2017 Sewer System Master Plan 

Websites 

Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act. https://law.justia.com/codes/california/2005/prc/2621-2630.html 

Accessed February 25, 2021 

California code of regulations title 24 2019 https://up.codes/viewer/california/ca-existing-building-code-

2019/chapter/california_code_of_regulations_/california-code-of-regulations-title-

24#california_code_of_regulations_ Accessed February 25, 2021 

Disaster Mitigation Plan of 2000. https://www.congress.gov/bill/106th-congress/house-bill/707 Accessed 

February 25, 2021 

Minimum Design Loads for Buildings and Other Structures. 2006. 

https://ascelibrary.org/doi/book/10.1061/9780784408094 Accessed February 25, 2021 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) https://www.epa.gov/npdes/construction-general-

permit-flow-chart-do-i-need-permit Accessed February 25, 2021 

San Andreas Fault 1906 https://earthquake.usgs.gov/earthquakes/events/1906calif/virtualtour/bayarea.php 

Accessed February 25, 2021 

Seismic Hazards Mapping Act. 1990. 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PRC&sectionNum=2697 Accessed 

February 25, 2021 

USGS. Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale. 2013. https://www.usgs.gov/natural-hazards/earthquake-

hazards/science/modified-mercalli-intensity-scale?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects. Accessed 

February 25, 2021 

 

https://law.justia.com/codes/california/2005/prc/2621-2630.html
https://up.codes/viewer/california/ca-existing-building-code-2019/chapter/california_code_of_regulations_/california-code-of-regulations-title-24#california_code_of_regulations_
https://up.codes/viewer/california/ca-existing-building-code-2019/chapter/california_code_of_regulations_/california-code-of-regulations-title-24#california_code_of_regulations_
https://up.codes/viewer/california/ca-existing-building-code-2019/chapter/california_code_of_regulations_/california-code-of-regulations-title-24#california_code_of_regulations_
https://www.congress.gov/bill/106th-congress/house-bill/707
https://ascelibrary.org/doi/book/10.1061/9780784408094
https://www.epa.gov/npdes/construction-general-permit-flow-chart-do-i-need-permit
https://www.epa.gov/npdes/construction-general-permit-flow-chart-do-i-need-permit
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/earthquakes/events/1906calif/virtualtour/bayarea.php
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PRC&sectionNum=2697
https://www.usgs.gov/natural-hazards/earthquake-hazards/science/modified-mercalli-intensity-scale?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects
https://www.usgs.gov/natural-hazards/earthquake-hazards/science/modified-mercalli-intensity-scale?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects


4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) provides a discussion 

of climate change science and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in the Town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan 

Planning Area (Planning Area). This section also provides a summary of applicable regulations with 

respect to local, regional and statewide GHG emissions sources.  

The analysis in this section is based on buildout of the proposed project, as modeled using the California 

Air Resources Board’s (CARB) Emissions Factor Model (EMFAC2017), the Off-Road Emissions Factor 

Model (OFFROAD2017), energy use provided by Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) and Peninsula Clean 

Energy (PCE), and trip generation and vehicle miles traveled (VMT) provided by Kittelson and Associates 

(see Appendix E of this DPEIR). The GHG emissions modeling is included as Appendix B, Air Quality and 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data, of this Draft PEIR.  

Terminology 

The following are definitions for terms used throughout this chapter. 

▪ Greenhouse gases (GHG). Gases in the atmosphere that absorb infrared light, thereby retaining heat 

in the atmosphere and contributing to a greenhouse effect. 

▪ Global warming potential (GWP). Metric used to describe how much heat a molecule of a GHG 

absorbs relative to a molecule of carbon dioxide (CO2) over a given period of time (20, 100, and 500 

years). CO2 has a GWP of 1. 

▪ Carbon dioxide-equivalent (CO2e). The standard unit to measure the amount of GHGs in terms of the 

amount of CO2 that would cause the same amount of warming. CO2e is based on the GWP ratios 

between the various GHGs relative to CO2. 

▪ MTCO2e. Metric ton of CO2e. 

▪ MMTCO2e. Million metric tons of CO2e. 

  



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.7.1 EXISTING SETTING 

REGIONAL  

Human activities contribute to global climate change by adding large amounts of heat-trapping gases, 

known as Greenhouse Gas (GHG), to the atmosphere. The primary source of GHGs is the use of fossil fuels. 

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has identified four major GHGs—water vapor, 

carbon dioxide (CO2), methane (CH4), and ozone (O3)—that may cause an increase in global average 

temperatures (IPCC 2014). Other GHGs identified by the IPCC that contribute to global warming to a lesser 

extent include nitrous oxide (N2O), sulfur hexafluoride (SF6), hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, and 

chlorofluorocarbons (IPCC 2001).,1,2 The major GHGs are briefly described as follows:  

▪ Carbon dioxide (CO2) enters the atmosphere through the burning of fossil fuels (oil, natural gas, and 

coal), solid waste, trees and wood products, and respiration, and also as a result of other chemical 

reactions (e.g., manufacture of cement). Carbon dioxide is removed from the atmosphere (sequestered) 

when it is absorbed by plants as part of the biological carbon cycle.  

▪ Methane (CH4) is emitted during the production and transport of coal, natural gas, and oil. Methane 

emissions also result from livestock and other agricultural practices and from the decay of organic 

waste in municipal landfills and water treatment facilities.  

▪ Nitrous oxide (N2O) is emitted during agricultural and industrial activities as well as during 

combustion of fossil fuels and solid waste.  

GHGs are dependent on the lifetime, or persistence, of the gas molecule in the atmosphere. Some GHGs 

have a stronger greenhouse effect than others. These are referred to as high global warming potential 

(GWP) gases. The GWP of applicable GHG emissions are shown in Table 4.7.1: GHG Emissions and Their 

Relative Global Warming Potential Compared to CO2. The GWP is used to convert GHGs to CO2-

equivalence (CO2e) to show the relative potential that different GHGs have to contribute to the greenhouse 

effect. For example, under IPCC’s Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) GWP values for CH4, a project that 

generates 10 metric tons (MT) of CH4 would be equivalent to 250 MT of CO2.3  

  

 
1  Water vapor (H2O) is the strongest GHG and the most variable in its phases (vapor, cloud droplets, ice crystals). However, water vapor is 

not considered a pollutant because it is considered part of the feedback loop of radiative forcing. 
2  Black carbon contributes to climate change both directly, by absorbing sunlight, and indirectly, by depositing on snow (making it melt 

faster) and by interacting with clouds and affecting cloud formation. Black carbon is the most strongly light-absorbing component of 

particulate matter (PM) emitted from burning fuels such as coal, diesel, and biomass. Reducing black carbon emissions globally can have 

immediate economic, climate, and public health benefits. California has been an international leader in reducing emissions of black 

carbon, with close to 95 percent control expected by 2020 due to existing programs that target reducing PM from diesel engines and 

burning activities (CARB 2017b). However, State and national GHG inventories do not include black carbon due to ongoing work 

resolving the precise global warming potential of black carbon. Guidance for CEQA documents does not yet include black carbon. 
3  CO2-equivalence is used to show the relative potential that different GHGs have to retain infrared radiation in the atmosphere and 

contribute to the greenhouse effect. The global warming potential of a GHG is also dependent on the lifetime, or persistence, of the gas 

molecule in the atmosphere. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.1 GHG Emissions and Their Relative Global Warming Potential Compared to CO2 

GHGs 

Second Assessment 

Report (SAR) Global 

Warming  

Potential Relative  

to CO2a 

Fourth Assessment 

Report (AR4) Global 

Warming  

Potential Relative  

to CO2a 

Fifth Assessment 

Report  

(AR5) Global Warming  

Potential Relative  

to CO2a 

Carbon Dioxide (CO2) 1 1 1 

Methaneb (CH4) 21 25 28 

Nitrous Oxide (N2O) 310 298 265 

Notes:  

a. Based on 100-year time horizon of the GWP of the air pollutant compared to CO2. 

b. The methane GWP includes direct effects and indirect effects due to the production of tropospheric ozone and stratospheric 

water vapor. The indirect effect due to the production of CO2 is not included. 

Sources:  IPCC. Third Assessment Report: Climate Change. 2001; IPCC 2007 Fourth Assessment Report: Climate 

Change 2007; IPCC.  Fifth Assessment Report: Climate Change. 2014. 

California’s GHG Sources and Relative Contribution 

In 2019, the statewide GHG emissions inventory was updated for 2000 to 2017 emissions using the GWPs 

in IPCC’s AR4.4 Based on these GWPs, California produced 424.10 MMTCO2e GHG emissions in 2017. 

California’s transportation sector was the single largest generator of GHG emissions, producing 40.1 

percent of the state’s total emissions. Industrial sector emissions made up 21.1 percent, and electric power 

generation made up 14.7 percent of the state’s emissions inventory. Other major sectors of GHG emissions 

include commercial and residential (9.7 percent), agriculture and forestry (7.6 percent), high GWP GHGs 

(4.7 percent), and recycling and waste (2.1 percent) (CARB 2019a). 

California’s GHG emissions have followed a declining trend since 2007. In 2017, emissions from routine 

GHG-emitting activities statewide were 424 MMTCO2e, approximately 5 MMTCO2e lower than 2016 levels. 

This represents an overall decrease of 14 percent since peak levels in 2004, and 7 MMTCO2e below the 1990 

level as well as the state’s 2020 GHG target. During 2000 to 2017, per capita GHG emissions in California  

continued to drop from a peak of 14 MTCO2e per capita in 2001, to 10.7 MTCO2e per capita in 2017, an 

overall decrease of 24 percent. Overall trends in the inventory also demonstrate that the carbon intensity 

of California’s economy (the amount of carbon pollution per million dollars of gross domestic product) is 

declining, representing a 41 percent decline since the 2001 peak, while the State’s gross domestic product 

grew 52 percent in the same period. For the first time since California started to track GHG emissions, more 

than half of California’s electricity is from zero-GHG sources such as hydro, solar, wind, and nuclear energy 

(CARB 2019b). 

  

 
4  Methodology for determining the statewide GHG inventory is not the same as the methodology used to determine statewide GHG 

emissions under Assembly Bill 32 (2006). 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Human Influence on Climate Change 

For approximately 1,000 years before the Industrial Revolution, the amount of GHGs in the atmosphere 

remained relatively constant across the globe. During the 20th century, however, scientists observed a rapid 

change in the climate and the quantity of climate change pollutants in the Earth’s atmosphere that is 

attributable to human activities. The amount of CO2 in the atmosphere has increased by more than 

35 percent since preindustrial times and has increased at an average rate of 1.4 parts per million per year 

since 1960, mainly due to combustion of fossil fuels and deforestation (CCAT 2006). These recent changes 

in the quantity and concentration of climate change pollutants far exceed the extremes of the ice ages, and 

the global mean temperature is warming at a rate that cannot be explained by natural causes alone. Human 

activities are directly altering the chemical composition of the atmosphere through the buildup of climate 

change pollutants (CCAT 2006). In the past, gradual changes in temperature changed the distribution of 

species, availability of water, etc. However, human activities are accelerating this process so that 

environmental impacts associated with climate change no longer occur in a geologic time frame but in a 

human’s lifetime (IPCC 2007). 

Like the expected increase in global surface temperatures (projections of which vary widely), the 

environmental consequences of gradual changes in the Earth’s temperature are hard to predict. Projections 

of climate change depend heavily on future human activity. Therefore, climate models are based on 

different emission scenarios that account for historical trends in emissions and on observations of the 

climate record that assess the human influence of the trend and projections for extreme weather events. 

Climate-change scenarios are affected by various degrees of uncertainty; for example, on the magnitude of 

the trends for: 

▪ Warmer and fewer cold days and nights over most land areas,  

▪ Warmer and more frequent hot days and nights over most land areas,  

▪ An increase in frequency of warm spells/heat waves over most land areas,  

▪ An increase in frequency of heavy precipitation events (or proportion of total rainfall from heavy falls) 

over most areas,  

▪ Larger areas affected by drought,  

▪ Intense tropical cyclone activity increases, and  

▪ Increased incidence of extreme high sea level (excluding tsunamis).  

Potential Climate Change Impacts for California 

Observed changes over the last several decades across the western United States reveal clear signs of 

climate change. Statewide, in California, average temperatures have increased by about 1.7 degrees 

fahrenheit (°F) from 1895 to 2011, and warming has been greatest in the Sierra Nevada (CCCC 2012). The 

years from 2014 through 2016 have shown unprecedented high temperatures ,with 2014 being the warmest 

(OEHHA 2018). By 2050, California is projected to warm by approximately 2.7°F above 2000 averages, a 

threefold increase in the rate of warming over the last century. By 2100, average temperatures could 

increase by 4.1 to 8.6°F, depending on emissions levels (CCCC 2012).  

In California and western North America, observations of the climate have shown: 1) a trend toward 

warmer winter and spring temperatures; 2) a smaller fraction of precipitation falling as snow; 3) a decrease 

in the amount of spring snow accumulation in the lower and middle elevation mountain zones; 

4) advanced shift in the timing of snowmelt of 5 to 30 days earlier in the spring; and 5) a similar shift (5 to 

30 days earlier) in the timing of spring flower blooms (CCAT 2006).  



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Overall, California has become drier over time. Between 2007 and 2016, California five years of severe to 

extreme drought occurring, and unprecedented dry years in 2014 and 2015. Statewide precipitation has 

become increasingly variable from year to year, with the driest consecutive four years occurring from 2012 

to 2015 (CCAT 2006). 

According to the California Climate Action Team—a committee of State agency secretaries and the heads 

of agencies, boards, and departments, led by the Secretary of the California Environmental Protection 

Agency—even if actions could be taken to immediately curtail climate change emissions, the potency of 

emissions that have already built up, their long atmospheric lifetimes (see Table 4.7.1), and the inertia of 

the Earth’s climate system could produce as much as 0.6 degree celsius (1.1°F) of additional warming. 

Consequently, some impacts from climate change are now considered unavoidable. Global climate change 

risks to California are described below and shown in Table 4.7.2: Summary of GHG Emissions Risk to 

California.  

▪ Water Resources Impacts. By late this century all projections show dryer climate, and half of the 

projections suggest 30-year average precipitation will decline by more than 10 percent below the 

historical average. Even in projections with relatively little or no decline in precipitation, central and 

southern parts of the state are expected to be drier from the warming effects alone because the spring 

snowpack will melt sooner, and the moisture in soils will evaporate during long dry summer months 

(CCST 2012). 

▪ Wildfire Risks. Earlier snowmelt, higher temperatures, and longer dry periods over a longer fire 

season will directly increase wildfire risk. Indirectly, wildfire risk will also be influenced by potential 

climate-related changes in vegetation and ignition potential from lightning. Human activities will 

continue to be the biggest factor in ignition risk. The number of large fires statewide is estimated to 

increase by 58 percent to 128 percent above historical levels by 2085. Under the same emissions 

scenario, estimated burned area will increase by 57 percent to 169 percent, depending on location 

(CCST 2012). 

▪ Sea Level Rise. Sea level rise threatens existing or planned infrastructure, development, and 

ecosystems (wetlands, estuaries, and fisheries) along California’s coast. Critical infrastructure lies less 

than four feet above the high tide, including two international airports—Oakland and San Francisco—

and about 172,000 homes (OEHHA 2018). Thermal expansion of ocean water and melting glaciers have 

contributed to the rise in global mean sea level by seven inches. Along the California coast, sea levels 

have generally risen. Since 1900, mean sea level has increased by about seven inches at the city of San 

Francisco and by about six inches at La Jolla since 1924. In contrast, sea level at Crescent City has 

declined by about three inches since 1933 because of an uplift of the land surface from the movement 

of the Earth’s plates (OEHHA 2018).  

▪ Health Impacts. Many of the gravest threats to public health in California stem from the increase in 

extreme conditions, principally more frequent, more intense, and longer heat waves. Particular concern 

centers on the increasing tendency for multiple hot days in succession, and simultaneous heat waves 

in several regions throughout the State. Public health could also be affected by climate change impacts 

on air quality, food production, the amount and quality of water supplies, energy pricing and 

availability, and the spread of infectious diseases. Higher temperatures also increase ground-level 

ozone levels. Furthermore, wildfires can increase particulate air pollution in the major air basins of 

California (CCST 2012). 

▪ Increase Energy Demand. Increases in average temperature and higher frequency of extreme heat 

events combined with new residential development across the state will drive up the demand for 

cooling in the increasingly hotter and longer summer season, and decrease demand for heating in the 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

cooler seasons. Warmer, drier summers also increase system losses at natural gas plants (reduced 

efficiency in the electricity generation process at higher temperatures) and hydropower plants (lower 

reservoir levels). Transmission of electricity will also be affected by climate change. Transmission lines 

lose 7 percent to 8 percent of transmitting capacity in high temperatures while needing to transport 

greater loads. This means that more electricity needs to be produced to make up for the loss in capacity 

and the growing demand (CCST 2012). 

Table 4.7.2 Summary of GHG Emissions Risk to California 

Public Health Impacts 

Heat waves will be more frequent, hotter, and 

longer 

Poor air quality made worse 

Higher temperatures increase ground-level ozone 

(i.e., smog) levels 

Water Resource Impacts 

Decreasing Sierra Nevada snow pack 

Challenges in securing adequate water supply 

Potential reduction in hydropower 

Loss of winter recreation 

Agricultural Impacts 

Increasing temperature 

Increasing threats from pests and pathogens 

Expanded ranges of agricultural weeds 

Declining productivity 

Irregular blooms and harvests 

Coastal Sea Level Impacts 

Accelerated sea level rise 

Increasing coastal floods 

Shrinking beaches 

Worsened impacts on infrastructure 

Forest and Biological Resource Impacts 

Increased risk and severity of wildfires 

Lengthening of the wildfire season 

Movement of forest areas 

Conversion of forest to grassland 

Declining forest productivity 

Increasing threats from pest and pathogens 

Shifting vegetation and species distribution 

Altered timing of migration and mating habits 

Loss of sensitive or slow-moving species 

Energy Demand Impacts 
Potential reduction in hydropower 

Increased energy demand 

Sources: CCCC Our Changing Climate. Vulnerability and Adaptation to the Increasing Risks from Climate Change 

in California.2012; CEC. Our Changing Climate: Assessing the Risks to California, 2006 Biennial Report, CEC-500-

2006-077. 2006; CEC. The Future Is Now: An Update on Climate Change Science, Impacts, and Response Options for 

California. CEC-500-2008-0077. 2009, May; and CNRA.  Safeguarding California: Reducing Climate Risk, An Update to the 

2009 California Climate Adaptation Strategy. 2014. 

  



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

LOCAL 

Town of Colma 

Land uses in the town generate GHG emissions from natural gas used for energy, heating, and cooking; 

electricity usage; vehicle trips; and area sources such as landscaping and consumer cleaning products. 

Emissions associated with the town are shown in Table 4.7.3: Existing Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Inventory.  

Table 4.7.3 Existing Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory 

Emissions Sector 

Existing (2020) MTCO2e 

% of Total Town of Colma 

Building Electricitya 6,909 41% 

Building Natural Gasa 775 5% 

On-Road Transportationb 8,680 51% 

Off-Road Vehicles and 

Equipmentc 

219 1% 

Solid Waste/Landfillsd 186 1% 

Water Usee 50 0.3% 

Wastewater Treatmentf 45 0.3% 

Total Community Emissions 16,864 100% 

Service Population (SP)b 5,589 ― 

MTCO2e/SP 3.0 ― 

Notes: Excludes GHG emissions natural gas use from permitted sources in the Town, including these cemeteries: Cypress 

Lawn Cemetery Association, Pet’s Rest Cemetery, StoneMor California, Inc., and Woodlawn Cemetery. 
a Building electricity and natural gas are based on data provided by PG&E and PCE.  
b On-road transportation VMT and service population are provided by Kittelson and Associates and modeled with 

EMFAC2017 Project Level (PL) web database. VMT for the General Plan uses the CARB Regional Targets Advisory 

Committee (RTAC) recommendations.  
c On-road vehicles and equipment are based on the OFFROAD2017 emissions inventory and include construction equipment 

and commercial equipment.  
d Solid waste/landfills is based on the Landfill Model based on disposal information from CalRecycle. 
e Water use includes the embodied energy associated with water conveyance, treatment, and distribution.  
f Wastewater includes the embodied energy associated with wastewater treatment as well as fugitive emissions from treatment 

processes. 

 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.7.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) announced on December 7, 2009, that GHG emissions 

threaten the public health and welfare of the American people and that GHG emissions from on-road 

vehicles contribute to that threat. The USEPA’s final findings respond to the 2007 U.S. Supreme Court 

decision that GHG emissions fit within the Clean Air Act definition of air pollutants. The findings did not 

themselves impose any emission reduction requirements but allowed the USEPA to finalize the GHG 

standards proposed in 2009 for new light-duty vehicles as part of the joint rulemaking with the Department 

of Transportation (USEPA 2009a).  

To regulate GHGs from passenger vehicles, the USEPA issued an endangerment finding (USEPA 2009b). 

The finding identifies emissions of six key GHGs—CO2, CH4, N2O, HCFCs, PFCs, and SF6—that have been 

the subject of scrutiny and intense analysis for decades by scientists in the United States and around the 

world. The first three are applicable to the proposed project’s GHG emissions inventory because they 

constitute the majority of GHG emissions and, per BAAQMD guidance, they are the GHG emissions that 

should be evaluated as part of a project’s GHG emissions inventory.  

US Mandatory Report Rule for Greenhouse Gases (2009) 

In response to the endangerment finding, the USEPA issued the Mandatory Reporting of GHG Rule that 

requires substantial emitters of GHG emissions (large stationary sources, etc.) to report GHG emissions 

data. Facilities that emit 25,000 metric tons (MT) or more of CO2e per year are required to submit an annual 

report. 

Update to Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards (2021 to 2026) 

The federal government issued new Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) standards in 2012 for model 

years 2017 to 2025, which required a fleet average of 54.5 miles per gallon in 2025. On March 30, 2020, the 

USEPA finalized an updated CAFE and GHG emissions standards for passenger cars and light trucks and 

established new standards, covering model years 2021 through 2026, known as The Safer Affordable Fuel 

Efficient (SAFE) Vehicles Final Rule for Model Years 2021-2026. However, consortium of automakers and 

California agreed on a voluntary framework to reduce emissions that shows an alternative path forward 

for clean vehicle standards nationwide. Automakers who agreed to the framework are Ford, Honda, BMW 

of North America, and Volkswagen Group of America. The framework supports continued annual 

reductions of vehicle greenhouse gas emissions through the 2026 model year, encourages innovation to 

accelerate the transition to electric vehicles, and provides industry the certainty needed to make 

investments and create jobs. This commitment means that the auto companies party to the voluntary 

agreement will only sell cars in the United States that meet these standards (CARB 2019).  

USEPA Regulation of Stationary Sources under the Clean Air Act (Ongoing) 

Pursuant to its authority under the Clean Air Act, the USEPA has been developing regulations for new, 

large stationary sources of emissions such as power plants and refineries. Under former President Obama’s 

2013 Climate Action Plan, the USEPA was directed to develop regulations for existing stationary sources as 

well. On June 19, 2019, the USEPA issued the final Affordable Clean Energy (ACE) rule, which became 

effective on August 19, 2019. The ACE rule was crafted under the current Administration’s Energy 

Independence Executive Order. It officially rescinds the Clean Power Plan rule issued during the previous 

administration and sets emissions guidelines for states in developing plans to limit CO emissions from 

coal-fired power plants. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

STATE AND REGIONAL   

Current State of California guidance and goals for reductions in GHG emissions are generally embodied in 

AB 32, SB 32, SB 375, Executive Order S-03-05, and Executive Order B-30-15. These major GHG regulations 

are summarized as follows:  

Assembly Bill 32 

Also known as the Global Warming Solutions Act, AB 32 was signed August 31, 2006, in order to reduce 

California’s contribution of GHG emissions. AB 32 follows the 2020 tier of emissions reduction targets 

established in Executive Order S-03-05. Under AB 32, CARB prepared the 2008 Climate Change Scoping Plan, 

the 2014 Climate Change Scoping Plan, and the 2017 Climate Change Scoping Plan, which are discussed below.  

Senate Bill 32 and Assembly Bill 197 

In September 2016, SB 32 and AB 197 were signed into law. AB 197 established a joint legislative committee 

on climate change policies and requires the CARB to prioritize direct emissions reductions rather than the 

market-based cap-and-trade program for large stationary, mobile, and other sources. Executive Order B-

30-15 and SB 32 required CARB to prepare another update to the Scoping Plan to address the 2030 target 

for the state. On December 14, 2017, CARB adopted the 2017 Climate Change Scoping Plan Update (2017 

Scoping Plan), which establishes a new emissions limit of 260 MMTCO2e for the year 2030, which 

corresponds to 40 percent lower than 1990 levels by 2030 (CARB 2017a). 

Senate Bill 375 

In 2008, SB 375, the Sustainable Communities and Climate Protection Act, was adopted to connect the GHG 

emissions reductions targets established in the 2008 Scoping Plan for the transportation sector to local land 

use decisions that affect travel behavior. Its intent is to reduce GHG emissions from light-duty trucks and 

automobiles (excludes emissions associated with goods movement) by aligning regional long-range 

transportation plans, investments, and housing allocations to local land use planning to reduce VMT and 

vehicle trips. Specifically, SB 375 required CARB to establish GHG emissions reduction targets for each of 

the 18 metropolitan planning organizations (MPOs). The Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) 

is the MPO for the nine-county San Francisco Bay Area region. Pursuant to the recommendations of the 

Regional Transportation Advisory Committee (RTAC), CARB adopted per capita reduction targets for each 

of the MPOs rather than a total magnitude reduction target.  

Executive Order S-03-05 

Executive Order S-03-05, signed June 1, 2005, set the following GHG reduction targets for the state: 

▪ 2000 levels by 2010. 

▪ 1990 levels by 2020. 

▪ 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. 

Executive Order B-30-15 

Executive Order B-30-15, signed April 29, 2015, sets a goal of reducing GHG emissions within the State to 

40 percent of 1990 levels by year 2030. Executive Order B-30-15 also directs CARB to update the Scoping 

Plan to quantify the 2030 GHG reduction goal for the State and requires State agencies to implement 

measures to meet the interim 2030 goal as well as the long-term goal for 2050 in Executive Order S-03-05. It 

also requires the Natural Resources Agency to conduct triennial updates of the California adaption 

strategy, Safeguarding California, in order to ensure climate change is accounted for in State planning and 

investment decisions. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.4: List of State GHG Regulations, provides a list of regulations adopted in California that reduce 

GHG emissions. 

Table 4.7.4: List of State GHG Regulations 

Sector Regulations 

State GHG Targets 
AB 32, SB 32, Executive Order S-03-05, Executive 

Order B-15-30 

Transportation AB1493, Executive Order S-01-07, SB 375 

Renewable Energy 
SB 1078, SB 107, SB X1-2, Executive Order S-14-08, 

SB 350, SB 100, Executive Order B-55-18 

Energy Efficiency 

Title 24, Part 6, Building Energy Efficiency 

Standards, Title 24, Part 11, Green Building 

Standards Code (CALGreen), Title 20, Appliance 

Efficiency Regulations 

Solid Waste  AB 939, AB 341, AB 1327, AB 1826 

Water SBX7-7, AB 1881 

Short-Lived Pollutants SB 1383 

 

REGIONAL 

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) / Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

(MTC) 

Plan Bay Area: Strategy for a Sustainable Region 

Plan Bay Area is the Bay Area’s Regional Transportation Plan (RTP)/Sustainable Community Strategy 

(SCS). Plan Bay Area 2050, adopted jointly by the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) and MTC 

on October 21, 2021, is the current version of the plan. .  It lays out a development scenario for the region, 

which, when integrated with the transportation network and other transportation measures and policies, 

would reduce GHG emissions from transportation (excluding goods movement) beyond the per capita 

reduction targets identified by CARB 

As part of the implementing framework for Plan Bay Area, local governments have identified Priority 

Development Areas (PDA) to focus growth. PDAs are transit-oriented, infill development opportunity 

areas in existing communities. Under the Draft Plan Bay Area 2050’s strategies, just under half of all Bay 

Area households would live within one half-mile of frequent transit by 2050, with this share increasing to 

over 70 percent for households with low incomes. Transportation and environmental strategies that 

support active and shared modes, combined with a transit-supportive land use pattern, are forecasted to 

lower the share of Bay Area residents that drive to work alone from over 50 percent in 2015 to 36 percent 

in 2050. Greenhouse gas emissions from transportation would decrease significantly as a result of these 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

transportation and land use changes, and the Bay Area would meet the state mandate of a 19 percent 

reduction in per-capita emissions by 2035 — but only if all strategies are implemented (ABAG and MTC 

2021). The El Camino Real PDA traverses the Town boundaries (MTC and ABAG 2020b).  

Bay Area Air Quality Management Plan 

Bay Area Clean Air Plan 

BAAQMD adopted the 2017 Clean Air Plan: Spare the Air, Cool the Climate on April 19, 2017. The 2017 

Clean Air Plan lays the groundwork for also reducing GHG emissions in the Bay Area to meet the state’s 

2030 GHG reduction target and 2050 GHG reduction goal. Its vision for the Bay Area in a post carbon year 

2050 encompasses the following: 

▪ Construct buildings that are energy efficient and powered by renewable energy. 

▪ Walk, bicycle, and use public transit for the majority of trips and use electric-powered autonomous 

public transit fleets. 

▪ Incubate and produce clean energy technologies. 

▪ Live a low-carbon lifestyle by purchasing low-carbon foods and goods in addition to recycling and 

putting organic waste to productive use (BAAQMD 2017a). 

A comprehensive multipollutant control strategy has been developed to be implemented in the next three 

to five years to address public health and climate change and to set a pathway to achieve the 2050 vision. 

The control strategy includes 85 control measures to reduce emissions of ozone, particulate matter, toxic 

air contaminants, and GHG from a full range of emission sources. These control measures cover the 

following sectors: 1) stationary (industrial) sources; 2) transportation; 3) energy; 4) agriculture; 5) natural 

and working lands; 6) waste management; 7) water; and 8) super-GHG pollutants. Overall, the proposed 

control strategy is based on some key priorities: 

▪ Reduce emissions of criteria air pollutants and toxic air contaminants from all key sources. 

▪ Reduce emissions of “super-GHGs” such as methane, black carbon, and fluorinated gases. 

▪ Decrease demand for fossil fuels (gasoline, diesel, and natural gas). 

▪ Increase efficiency of the energy and transportation systems. 

▪ Reduce demand for vehicle travel and high-carbon goods and services. 

▪ Decarbonize the energy system. 

▪ Make the electricity supply carbon free. 

▪ Electrify the transportation and building sectors (BAAQMD 2017a). 

Bay Area Commuter Benefits Program 

Under Air District Regulation 14, Model Source Emissions Reduction Measures, Rule 1, Bay Area 

Commuter Benefits Program, employers with 50 or more full-time employees in the BAAQMD are required 

to register and offer commuter benefits to employees. In a partnership between the BAAQMD and the 

MTC, the rule’s purpose is to improve air quality, reduce GHG emissions, and decrease the Bay Area’s 

traffic congestion by encouraging employees to use alternative commute modes, such as transit, vanpool, 

carpool, bicycling, and walking. The benefits program allows employees to choose one of four commuter 

benefit options—a pretax benefit, employer-provided subsidy, employer-provided transit, and alternative 

commute benefit. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

LOCAL 

Town of Colma Municipal Code  

The Town of Colma Municipal Code (CMC) includes various directives pertaining to GHG emissions. The 

CMC is organized by chapters and subchapters. Most provisions related to GHG emissions impacts are in 

Chapter 4, Business Activities; Chapter 5, Planning, Zoning, Use & Development of Land & Improvements; 

and Chapter 6, Vehicle & Traffic Code: 

▪ Chapter 4.12, Reusable Bags. Prohibits store operators from providing customers with plastic carry-

out bags, except product bags. This is a waste reduction measure, with secondary GHG reduction 

benefits. 

▪ Chapter 4.13, Disposable Polystyrene Food Service Ware. Retail food vendors are prohibited from 

providing prepared food or takeout food to customers in, on, or with disposable food packaging, which 

includes polystyrene foam. This is a waste reduction measure, with secondary GHG reduction benefits. 

▪ Chapter 5.05, Small Residential Rooftop Solar. This chapter ensures a streamlined solar permitting 

process that complies with the Solar Rights Act and AB 2188 to achieve timely and cost-effective 

installations of small residential rooftop solar energy systems.  

▪ Chapter 5.10, Transportation System Management Program. Requires the Town to implement a 

transportation management system to decrease the number of vehicular trips and miles to help 

improve and maintain air quality.  

▪ Chapter 6.06, Electric Vehicle Charging Station. This chapter is intended to promote the use of electric 

vehicles by streamlining the permitting process for electric vehicle charging stations. 

Town of Colma Climate Action Plan (CAP) 

In response to AB 32, the Town of Colma prepared a Climate Action Plan (CAP) in 2013.). The town’s CAP 

serves as a guiding document to identify measures and strategies that Colma can implement to reduce 

GHGs. The town of Colma has policy control over many important decisions that affect GHG reduction, 

such as energy efficiency requirements for residential and commercial projects, water conservation, bicycle 

lanes, green business certification programs, recycling programs, and other strategies. The town’s CAP was 

developed collaboratively with a regional program that funded CAP development for participating 

jurisdictions. Under this plan, the Town was successful in reducing its emissions by more than the 15 

percent GHG reduction target for year 2020). 

To continue to combat climate change and meet the 2030 and 2050 GHG emissions reduction goals, the 

Town prepared an update to the CAP in 2020 to include new GHG reduction measures. The CAP update 

also includes new discussions on consumption-based measures, equity, and adaptation. The plan continues 

and builds on existing programs related to energy efficiency requirements for residential and commercial 

projects, water conservation, bicycle lanes, green business certification programs, recycling programs, and 

other strategies outlined in the 2013 CAP.  In order to address transportation related GHG emissions, the 

plan includes programs to increase electric vehicle infrastructure and partnering with PCE to incentive 

electric vehicle purchases.  

  



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.7.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

Following Appendix G of the State CEQA Guidelines, GHG emissions impacts are considered significant 

if implementation of the project considered would result in any of the following: 

• Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact 

on the environment. 

• Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing the 

emissions of greenhouse gases.  

BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT THRESHOLDS 

BAAQMD adopted CEQA Guidelines to evaluate GHG emissions impacts from development projects 

(BAAQMD 2017). Land use development projects include residential, commercial, industrial, and public 

land use facilities. Direct sources of emissions may include on-site combustion of energy, such as natural 

gas used for heating and cooking, emissions from industrial processes (not applicable for most land use 

development projects), and fuel combustion from mobile sources. Indirect emissions are emissions 

produced off-site from energy production, water conveyance due to a project’s energy use and water 

consumption, and non-biogenic emissions from waste disposal. Biogenic CO2 emissions are not included 

in the quantification of a project’s GHG emissions, because biogenic CO2 is derived from living biomass 

(e.g., organic matter in wood, paper, vegetable oils, animal fat, food, animal, and yard waste) as opposed 

to fossil fuels. BAAQMD is currently updating its 2017 CEQA Guidelines.  

Under its 2017 CEQA Guidelines, BAAQMD identified a tiered approach for assessing GHG emissions 

impacts of a project: 

 Consistency with a Qualified Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategy. If a project is within the 

jurisdiction of an agency that has a “qualified” GHG reduction strategy, the project can assess 

consistency of its GHG emissions impacts with the reduction strategy.  

 BAAQMD Screening Level Sizes (AB 32). BAAQMD adopted screening criteria for development 

projects with a buildout year of 2020 and earlier that is applicable to a project based on the square 

footage, units, acreage, students, and/or employees generated. Typical projects that meet the 

screening criteria do not generate emissions greater than 1,100 MTCO2e per year and would not 

generate significant GHG emissions.  

 Brightline Screening Threshold (AB 32). BAAQMD adopted a brightline screening threshold for 

development projects of 1,100 MTCO2e per year that would be applicable for projects with an 

opening year of 2020 and earlier. If a project exceeds the BAAQMD Guidelines’ GHG screening-level 

sizes or screening criteria of 1,100 MTCO2e. the project would be required to conduct a full GHG 

analysis based on GHG reduction goals of AB 32 and SB 32 

 Efficiency Threshold (AB 32). AB 32 requires the statewide GHG emission to be reduced to 1990 

levels by 2020. On a per-capita basis, that means reducing the annual emissions of 14 tons of carbon 

dioxide for every person in California down to about 10 tons per person by 2020 (CARB 2008). Hence, 

BAAQMD’s per capita significance threshold is calculated based on the State’s land use sector 

emissions inventory prepared by CARB and the demographic forecasts for the 2008 Scoping Plan. 

The land use sector GHG emissions for 1990 were estimated by BAAQMD, as identified in Appendix 

D of the BAAQMD CEQA Guidelines, to be 295.53 MMTCO2e, and the 2020 California service 

population (SP) to be 64.3 million. Therefore, the threshold that would ensure consistency with the 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

GHG reduction goals of AB 32 is estimated at 4.6 MTCO2e per service population per year 

(MTCO2e/SP/yr) for year 2020 (BAAQMD 2017b). 

Proposed Project Thresholds 

Based on BAAQMD’s adopted 1,100 MTCO2e per year brightline screening threshold and the GHG 

reduction target for year 2030 established under SB 32 (i.e., 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030), the 

interpolated brightline screening threshold of 660 MTCO2e per year is used for the proposed project. If 

project emissions are below this brightline screening threshold, GHG emissions impacts would be 

considered less than significant.  

This analysis also evaluates the potential for the proposed project to conflict with the GHG reduction goals 

established under SB 32 and Executive Order S-03-05, which require a reduction in statewide GHG 

emissions from existing conditions to achieve a 40 percent reduction in GHG emissions by 2030 and an 80 

percent reduction in GHG emissions by 2050. 

Mass Emissions and Health Effects 

On December 24, 2018, in Sierra Club et al. v. County of Fresno et al. (commonly referred to as the Friant Ranch 

Case), the California Supreme Court determined that the EIR for the proposed Friant Ranch project failed 

to adequately analyze the project’s air quality impacts on human health. The EIR prepared for the Friant 

Ranch project, which involved a master planned retirement community in Fresno County, showed that 

project-related mass emissions would exceed the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District’s 

regional significance thresholds. In its findings, the California Supreme Court affirmed the holding of the 

Court of Appeal that EIRs for projects must not only identify impacts to human health, but also provide an 

“analysis of the correlation between the project's emissions and human health impacts” related to each 

criteria air pollutant that exceeds the regional significance thresholds or explain why it could not make 

such a connection. In general, the ruling focuses on the correlation of emissions of toxic air contaminants 

and criteria air pollutants and their impact to human health. Thus, this ruling is not directly applicable to 

GHG impacts as GHGs are not directly correlated with health effect as no ambient air quality standards 

have been established for CO2, CH4, or N2O. 

In 2009, the USEPA issued an endangerment finding for six GHGs (CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, and SF6) 

in order to regulate GHG emissions from passenger vehicles. The endangerment finding is based on 

evidence that shows an increase in mortality and morbidity associated with increases in average 

temperatures, which increase the likelihood of heat waves and ozone levels. The effects of climate change 

are identified above in Table 4.7.2. Although effects such as sea level rise and increases in extreme weather 

can indirectly impact human health, neither the USEPA nor CARB has established ambient air quality 

standards for GHG emissions. The State’s GHG reduction strategy outlines a path to avoid the most 

catastrophic effects of climate change.  

As above, the two significance thresholds that the town uses to analyze GHG impacts are based on 

achieving the statewide GHG reduction goals, and relying on consistency with policies or plans adopted 

to reduce GHG emissions. Further, because no single project is large enough to result in a measurable 

increase in global concentration of GHG emissions, climate change impacts of a project are considered on 

a cumulative basis. Also, the proposed project is a General Plan Update and very broad in its nature, 

without any one single project being proposed at this time. Without federal AAQS for GHG emissions and 

given the town’s significance thresholds that are tied to reducing the state’s cumulative GHG emissions, it 

is not feasible at this time to connect the project’s specific GHG emission to the potential health impacts of 

climate change due to the cumulative nature of GHG emissions and their worldwide impacts. 

  



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

METHODOLOGY 

The Town of Colma General Plan Update policies are designed to mitigate or avoid impacts on the 

environment resulting from implementation of a project. To that end, the relevant GPU policies providing 

mitigation have been identified for each significant impact in this section. If the applicable General Plan 

policies were determined not to fully mitigate or avoid impacts, additional mitigation measures have been 

provided. These additional mitigation measures have been written as policy statements that can be 

incorporated into the final General Plan. Each impact discussion includes a determination as to whether 

the impacts would be mitigated to a less than significant level or would remain significant and unavoidable 

after implementation of the updated General Plan policies. 

This GHG evaluation was prepared in accordance with the requirements of CEQA to determine if 

significant GHG impacts are likely in conjunction with future development that would be accommodated 

by the proposed project. The town’s GHG emissions inventory includes the following sectors: 

▪ Transportation. Transportation emissions forecasts were modeled using emission rates from CARB’s 

EMFAC2017, version 1.0.2, Project Level (PL) web database. Modeling includes the SAFE Part 1 and 

Part 2 EMFAC2017 model adjustment factors released by CARB. Model runs were based on daily VMT 

data provided by Kittelson & Associates and calendar year 2020 (existing) and 2040 emission rates. The 

VMT provided is based on the methodology identified by CARB’s Regional Target Advisory 

Committee (RTAC) and includes a 50 percent reduction in trip lengths for trips that start or end in the 

town of Colma but travel outside the town (intra-jurisdictional trips). Consistent with CARB’s 

methodology in the Climate Change Scoping Plan Measure Documentation Supplement, daily VMT 

was multiplied by 347 days per year to account for reduced traffic on weekends and holidays to 

determine annual emissions.  

▪ Energy. Energy use for residential and nonresidential land uses in the town were modeled using 

electricity and natural gas data provided by PG&E; electricity data provided by PCE; and carbon 

intensity data for direct access by PG&E and PCE. Residential energy and nonresidential energy 

forecasts are adjusted for increases in housing units and employment, respectively.  

▪ Off-Road Equipment. Emission rates from CARB’s OFFROAD2017 web database were used to 

estimate criteria air pollutant emissions from light commercial and construction equipment in the 

town. OFFROAD2017 is a database of equipment use and associated emissions for each county 

compiled by CARB. Emissions were compiled using OFFROAD2017 for the county of San Mateo for 

year 2020. In order to determine the percentage of emissions attributable to the town, light commercial 

equipment is estimated based on employment for the town of Colma as a percentage of San Mateo 

county. Construction equipment use is estimated based on building permit data for the town of Colma 

and county of San Mateo from data compiled by the US Census. The light commercial equipment 

emissions forecast is adjusted for changes in employment in the town. It is assumed that construction 

emissions for the forecast year would be similar to historical levels. Annual emissions are derived by 

multiplying daily emissions by 365 days. 

▪ Water/Wastewater. GHG emissions from this sector include indirect GHG emissions from the 

embodied energy associated with water use and wastewater generation and fugitive GHG emissions 

from processing wastewater. The total annual existing and horizon year proposed project water 

demand and wastewater generation (gallons per year) in the town are based on the CalWater 2015 

South San Francisco Unit, Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) (CalWater 2016). The per capita 

water use includes water use from both residential and nonresidential land uses in the town. Electricity 

use from water use is estimated using energy rates identified by the California Energy Commission 

(CEC 2006a). Then energy is multiplied by the carbon intensity of energy for PG&E (see “Energy” 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

description, above). Wastewater treatment also results in fugitive GHG emissions from wastewater 

processing. Fugitive emissions from wastewater treatment in the town were calculated using the 

emission factors in CARB’s LGOP, Version 1.1, and conservatively assumed that 83 percent of water 

use is treated as wastewater, consistent with what is identified in the UWMP (CalWater 2016). 

▪ Solid Waste Disposal. GHG emissions from solid waste disposed of by residents and employees in the 

town generates GHG emissions. The degradable organic carbon in waste decays slowly throughout a 

few decades, during which CH4 and biogenic CO2 are formed. If conditions are constant, the rate of 

CH4 production depends solely on the amount of carbon remaining in the waste. As a result, emissions 

of CH4 from waste deposited in a disposal site are highest in the first few years, then gradually decline 

as the degradable carbon is consumed by bacteria. Significant CH4 production typically begins one or 

two years after waste disposal in a landfill and continues for 10 to 60 years or longer. Jurisdiction 

reports for the San Mateo county Hazardous and Solid Waste Management Joint Powers Authority 

were obtained from CalRecycle. Waste from the town was estimated based on the service population 

of San Mateo county versus the town of Colma. Waste disposal was averaged over a three-year period 

(2016 to 2018) several years to account for fluctuations in average annual solid was disposal for existing 

conditions. GHG emissions from existing average solid waste disposal were modeled using CARB’s 

Landfill Emissions Tool, Version 1.3, which includes waste characterization data from CalRecycle. Since 

the landfill gas captured is not under the jurisdiction of the town of Colma, the landfill gas emissions 

from the capture system are not included in the inventory. Only fugitive sources of GHG emissions 

from landfills are included. Modeling assumes a 75 percent reduction in fugitive GHG emissions from 

the landfill's Landfill Gas Capture System. The landfill gas capture efficiency is based on CARB’s 

LGOP, Version 1.1. Emissions were adjusted to the AR5 GWP assigned for CH4. Total GHG emissions 

from waste disposal in 2040 were forecast based on the percentage increase in service population for 

the Town. The emissions forecast does not account for reductions from increasing waste diversion.  

Industrial sources of emissions that require a permit from BAAQMD are not included in the community 

inventory. However, due to the 15/15 Rule,5 natural gas and electricity use data for industrial land uses 

may also be aggregated with the nonresidential land uses in the data provided by PG&E and PCE. Life-

cycle emissions are not included in this analysis because not enough information is available for the 

proposed project; therefore, they would be speculative. Black carbon emissions are not included in the 

GHG analysis because CARB does not include this short-lived climate pollutant in the State’s GHG 

emissions inventory but treats it separately. 

IMPACTS  

Direct or Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions Impacting the Environment 

Impact 4.7.1 Implementation of the proposed project would generate GHG emissions, either directly or 

indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the environment (Significant and 

Unavoidable).  

Future potential development under the proposed General Plan Update would contribute to global climate 

change through direct and indirect emissions of GHGs in the town. However, a general plan is a long-range 

policy document that does not directly result in development without additional approvals. Any 

development proposed in the town of Colma must be analyzed for consistency with the General Plan, 

 
5  The 15/15 Rule was adopted by the California Public Utility Commission (CPUC) in the Direct Access Proceeding (CPUC Decision 97-10-

031) to protect customer confidentiality. The 15/15 rule requires that any aggregated information provided by the utilities must be made 

up of at least 15 customers (100 for residential sectors), and a single customer’s load must be less than 15 percent of an assigned category. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

zoning requirements, and other applicable local and State requirements; comply with the requirements of 

CEQA if required; and obtain all necessary clearances and permits from regulatory agencies. 

Buildout of the proposed General Plan is not linked to a specific development time frame but is assumed 

over a 20-year project horizon. Implementation of the proposed General Plan by the horizon year of 2040 

would result in a net increase of 1,395 people and 889 employees in the town. Table 4.7.5, Horizon Year 

2040 GHG Emissions Forecast, provides a comparison of the change in GHG emissions in the Town 

between the CEQA baseline (2020) and the General Plan horizon year (2040) conditions.  

Table 4.7.5 Horizon Year 2040 GHG Emissions Forecast 

Emissions Sector 

GHG Emissions (MTCO2e/Year) 

Existing (2020) 2040 Net Change 

Total % Total % Total % 

Building Electricitya 6,909 41% 5,695 34% -1,214 -18% 

Building Natural Gasa 775 5% 1,552 9% 777 100% 

On-Road Transportationb 8,680 51% 9,122 54% 441 5% 

Off-Road Vehicles and 

Equipmentc 

219 1% 249 1% 30 14% 

Solid Waste/Landfillsd 186 1% 263 2% 76 41% 

Water Usee 50 0.3% 39 0.2% -11 22% 

Wastewater Treatmentf 45 0.3% 47 0.3% 3 6% 

Total Community Emissions 16,864 100% 16,967 100% 103 1% 

Service Population (SP)b 5,589  7,873  2,284 41% 

MTCO2e/SP 3.0  2.2  -0.9 -39% 

Notes: Excludes GHG emissions natural gas use from permitted sources in the Town, including the following cemeteries: Cypress Lawn 

Cemetery Association, Pet’s Rest Cemetery, StoneMor California, Inc., and Woodlawn Cemetery. 
a Building electricity and natural gas are based on data provided by PG&E and PCE.  
b On-road transportation VMT and service population are provided by Kittelson and Associates and modeled with EMFAC2017 Project 

Level (PL) web database. VMT for the General Plan uses the CARB Regional Targets Advisory Committee (RTAC) recommendations.  
c On-road vehicles and equipment are based on the OFFROAD2017 emissions inventory and include construction equipment and 

commercial equipment.  
d Solid waste/landfills is based on the Landfill Model based on disposal information from CalRecycle. 
e Water use includes the embodied energy associated with water conveyance, treatment, and distribution.  

f Wastewater includes the embodied energy associated with wastewater treatment as well as fugitive 

emissions from treatment processes. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-18 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

As shown in this table, buildout of the land uses accommodated under the proposed 2040 GPU would 

result in a net increase of 103 MTCO2e of GHG emissions (1 percent in GHG emissions) from existing 

conditions and would not exceed the 660 MTCO2e BAAQMD bright-line screening threshold. In addition, 

though buildout under the proposed General Plan is projected to increase service population by 2,284 

persons6 (a 41 percent increase), emissions per person would decrease compared to the baseline. Emissions 

per service population would decrease to 2.2 MTCO2e/SP in horizon year 2040 from 3.0 MTCO2e/SP for the 

baseline year. 

Consistency with SB 32 and Executive Order S-03-05 GHG Reduction Targets 

While the proposed General Plan would not generate an increase in GHG emissions from the CEQA 

baseline in the 2040 horizon year forecast, this PEIR also analyzes the potential for the proposed General 

Plan to conflict with the GHG reduction goals established under SB 32 and Executive Order S-03-05, which 

require a reduction in statewide GHG emissions from existing conditions to 40 percent below 1990 levels 

by 2030 and an 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. This PEIR assumes that the CEQA baseline (2020 

emissions) reflects the AB 32 goal in 2020. As a result, at the General Plan horizon year of 2040, the town 

would need to reduce GHG emissions by 60 percent to ensure the town is on a trajectory to achieve the 

long-term goal under Executive Order S-03-05, which is equivalent to 10,119 MTCO2e in the town by the 

year 2040.  

Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would result in a small net increase (103 MTCO2e) 

in emissions in horizon year 2040 compared to existing baseline. Due to the magnitude of growth 

anticipated (41 percent increase), GHG emissions would not achieve the 60 percent reduction necessary to 

ensure the town is on a trajectory to achieve the long-term year 2050 reduction goal of Executive Order S-

03-05. Reduction strategies to meet the long-term 2050 GHG reduction goal in addition to establishment of 

a 2050 reduction target will be included in the planned future updates to the CAP. Additionally, State 

strategies to achieve post-2030 targets will be necessary. Therefore, until such time, GHG emissions impacts 

for the proposed General Plan are considered potentially significant in regard to meeting the long-term 

year 2050 reduction goal. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

While growth within the town would cumulatively contribute to GHG emissions impacts, the current 

General Plan included goals, policies, and programs to reduce GHG emissions. The proposed General Plan 

retains or slightly modifies those goals and policies. These are in the Community Health and Safety (CHS), 

Land Use (LU), Mobility (M), and Open Space and Conservation (OSC) elements. The following describes 

the goals, policies, and programs that directly and indirectly result in the reduction of GHG emissions by 

reducing air pollution, incentivizing alternate modes of transportation, creating safe environments for 

pedestrians and bicyclists, establishing parking spaces for more sustainable modes of travel, and placing 

higher density housing and commercial uses near transit stations.  

▪ Policy CS-1-3. Physical Activity and the Built Environment. Support new developments or 

infrastructure improvements in existing neighborhoods that enable people to drive less and walk, bike, 

or take public transit more. 

▪ Policy LU-1-4. Land Uses that Support Transit. Encourage higher-intensity development on the 

specific opportunity sites designated in the El Camino Real planning area. 

 
6  Service population is 1,580 people plus 889 employees. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-19 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ Policy LU-1-6. Public-Private Partnerships. Consider opportunities to use public investment to form 

partnerships with the private sector to achieve quality infill development, enhance the public realm, 

and encourage public transit, walking, and biking. 

▪ Policy LU-2-1. Water Conservation. Promote water conservation by educating and encouraging 

residents and businesses to incorporate drought tolerant and low water using planting, smart irrigation 

systems, water efficient appliances, and recycled water systems. 

▪ Policy LU-2-2. Water Efficient Landscape. Apply the Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance to new 

development and projects that include a qualifying amount of replacement or new landscaping. 

▪ Policy LU-2-3. Open Space. Require accessible, attractive open space that is well maintained and uses 

sustainable practices and materials in all new multiple dwelling and mixed-use development 

▪ Policy LU-2-4. Low Impact Development. Regulate new development and construction to minimize 

pollutant and sediment concentrations in receiving waters and ensure that surface water meets or 

exceeds applicable regulatory water quality standards. Require new development to incorporate Low 

Impact Development features that treat and reduce surface runoff volumes. 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency. Support energy efficient improvements in aging building stock. 

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy. Provide incentives for installation of solar and photovoltaic systems on 

existing buildings and new development. 

▪ Policy LU-2-7: Electric Vehicles. As Town gasoline-powered vehicles are replaced, purchase electric 

and hybrid vehicles when practicable. Install electric vehicle charging stations with new commercial 

and mixed-use developments. 

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan. Maintain a Climate Action Plan and continue to partner with San 

Mateo County’s Regional Climate Action Planning Suite (RICAPS) to prepare community-wide 

greenhouse gas inventories. 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets. Work to achieve greenhouse gas emissions 

reductions that are consistent with the targets established by AB32 (California Global Warming 

Solutions Act) and subsequent supporting legislation. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building. Support sustainability and green building best practices through the 

orientation, design, and placement of buildings and facilities to optimize their energy efficiency in 

preparation of State zero-net energy requirements for residential construction and commercial 

construction. 

▪ Policy LU-3-6. Walkable Neighborhoods. The Town shall promote walkable neighborhoods by 

supporting alternative modes of transportation; enhancing bike and pedestrian connectivity to local 

commercial districts and transit centers; and maintaining sidewalks, public plazas, parks and 

greenways, parkways, street tree canopies, and landscaping throughout residential neighborhoods.  

▪ Policy LU- 5-1. Regional Cooperation. Participate with other cities in the county and across the region 

in working towards solutions to the issues of regional land use, housing, homelessness, and 

transportation planning through partnership with the Association of Bay Area Governments, the 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission, and the San Mateo City/County Association of Govern-

ments (C/CAG).  

▪ Policy LU-5-2. San Mateo County Collaboration. Continue to consult with San Mateo County and 

other cities in the region on effective land use, transportation, sustainability, and economic 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-20 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

development strategies to learn about additional strategies that could be used in Colma to achieve the 

community’s vision and goals.  

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. Require new development projects to achieve a 

reduction in VMT per capita or VMT per service population compared to both baseline VMT 

performance conditions and General Plan 2040 VMT performance conditions. The Town will regularly 

monitor baseline VMT to provide updated benchmarks for project applicants. Encourage use of VMT 

reduction strategies and methods to encourage non-automobile travel.  

▪ Policy M-2-2. Other Traffic Flow Benchmarks. Establish additional traffic flow benchmarks, such as 

VMT, vehicle-hours of travel, and safety-related metrics, in order to evaluate and monitor changes in 

traffic flow over time.  

▪ Policy M-2-3. VMT Transportation Performance Measures. Update the Town’s transportation 

measures and thresholds to use VMT standards for traffic impact analysis rather than LOS. 

▪ Policy M-2-4. Multi-Modal Impact Fee. Consider establishing a transportation impact fee for new 

development tied to performance measures to generate funds for improving all modes of 

transportation. 

▪ Policy M-3-3. Regional Transportation Planning. Actively participate in and support regional 

transportation planning efforts. 

▪ Policy M-3-4. Transit Funding. Seek joint transportation and transit funding opportunities with 

adjoining jurisdictions or agencies to improve transit access in and around Colma. 

▪ Policy M-3-5. Transportation Gaps. Eliminate gaps in the regional active transportation network in 

Colma. 

▪ Policy M-4-2. Reliable Transportation Services. Encourage SamTrans and other public transit 

providers to provide service on regular schedules along El Camino Real, arterial streets, and, as 

feasible, major collectors; support these transportation services to increase the mobility of seniors, the 

disabled, and others who depend on public transportation. 

▪ Policy M-4.3. Encourage Transportation Options. Encourage and support various public transit 

agencies and companies, ride-sharing programs, and other incentive programs that provide residents 

and visitors with transportation choices other than the private automobile. 

▪ Policy M-4.4. Transit Oriented Development. Promote the development of multi-modal mixed-use 

development at sites surrounding the Colma BART station, where feasible along Mission Road, and at 

the Town Center site. 

▪ Policy M-4.5. Connections to Homes and Businesses. Seek opportunities to improve first and last mile 

connections between transit, homes, and businesses. 

▪ Policy M-5-1. Complete Streets. Incorporate Complete Streets infrastructure elements into new streets, 

street retrofits and certain maintenance projects to encourage multiple modes of travel, based on the 

modal priorities in Table M-2, as appropriate to the context and determined reasonable and practicable 

by the Town. 

▪ Policy M-5-2. Design for All Travel Modes. Plan, design, and construct transportation projects to 

safely accommodate the needs of pedestrians, bicyclists, transit riders, motorists, people with mobility 

challenges, and persons of all ages and abilities. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-21 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ Policy M-5-3. Bicycle Connection Coordination. Coordinate with BART, South San Francisco, Daly 

City, Caltrans, and San Mateo County to plan and implement bicycle and pedestrian improvements 

which connect with improvements to BART facilities and regional networks. 

▪ Policy M-5-4. Accessibility and Universal Design. Prioritize implementation of pedestrian facilities 

that improve accessibility consistent with guidelines established by the Americans with Disabilities Act 

(ADA), allowing mobility-impaired users, such as the disabled and seniors, to travel safely and 

effectively within and beyond the town. 

▪ Policy M-5-5. Design of New Development. Require new development to incorporate design that 

prioritizes safe pedestrian and bicycle travel and accommodate senior citizens, people with mobility 

challenges, and children. 

▪ Policy M-7-1. TDM Program. Continue to participate in the TDM Program as outlined by the San 

Mateo City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG). 

▪ Policy M-7-2. TDM Program for New Development. Require major development proposals to include 

a detailed, verifiable TDM program for consideration by the Town during the review of the 

development application. 

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction. Support vehicle trip reduction strategies, including building 

safer and more inviting transportation networks, supporting connections to high frequency and 

regional transit, implementing TDM programs, and integrating land use and transportation decisions.  

▪ Policy OSC-1-3. Sustainable Landscape Practices. Encourage the enhancement of public areas with 

landscaping practices that minimize water usage. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-4. Pedestrian Trails, Bikeways Walkways. Expand and improve pedestrian trails, 

bikeways, and walkways to connect trails and allow access to open space land and regional trail 

facilities. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-5. Colma Creek Trail. Colma Creek Trail. Coordinate with the City of South San 

Francisco to provide continuous pedestrian access from the Colma BART station along El Camino Real 

to the southern border of the town. 

▪ Policy OSC-2-1. Open Space for Recreation Use. Develop and maintain open spaces and recreation 

areas that are conveniently located, properly designed, and well-maintained to serve the recreation 

needs and healthy living of the entire community.  

▪ Policy OSC-2-2. Recreation Requirements for New Developments. Require dedication of improved 

land, or payment of a fee in lieu of, for park and recreation land for all residential uses. 

▪ Policy OSC-2-3. Expansion of Recreation Space. Acquire and enhance properties within Colma for 

recreation and public use if opportunities become available. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-1. Transit Oriented Development. Encourage, to the extent feasible, higher density 

residential development to be located near transit corridors and public transportation. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption. Support measures and education to reduce energy 

consumption and increase energy efficiency in residential, commercial, and industrial buildings. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal Operations. Pursue opportunities to improve energy 

efficiency and install renewable energy systems, where feasible, in new and existing Town-owned 

facilities and operations 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-22 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction. Implement the Climate Action Plan to achieve GHG reduction 

targets that are consistent with the State Scoping Plan, AB 32, and SB 32 and the Town’s goals. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-5. Pedestrian-Scaled Design. Support the use of public/mass transit by encouraging 

pedestrian-friendly street design and mixed-use development near transit hubs. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-4. Use of Drought Tolerant and Native Plants. Encourage the use of drought tolerant 

and native plants in landscaping plans. 

▪ Policy OSC-5-6. Regional Open Space Preservation Efforts. Support regional and sub-regional efforts 

to acquire, develop and maintain open space conservation lands. 

Despite the policies of the General Plan, implementation of the proposed project would not meet the long-

term GHG reduction goal under Executive Order S-03-05, and impacts would be potentially significant.  

Mitigation Measure 

Mitigation Measure GHG-1: The town of Colma shall update the Climate Action Plan (CAP) every 

five years to ensure the town is monitoring the plan’s progress toward achieving the town’s 

greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction target and to require amendment if the plan is not achieving a 

specified level. The update shall consider a trajectory consistent with the GHG emissions reduction 

goal established under Executive Order S-03-05 for year 2050 and the latest applicable statewide 

legislative GHG emission reduction that may be in effect at the time of the CAP update (e.g., Senate 

Bill 32 for year 2030). The CAP update shall include the following: 

▪ GHG inventories of existing and forecast year GHG levels. 

▪ Tools and strategies for reducing GHG emissions to ensure a trajectory with the long-term GHG 

reduction goal of Executive Order S-03-05. 

▪ Plan implementation guidance that includes, at minimum, the following components consistent 

with the proposed CAP: 

▪ Administration and staffing 

▪ Finance and budgeting 

▪ Timelines for measure implementation 

▪ Community outreach and education 

▪ Monitoring, reporting, and adaptive management 

▪ Tracking tools 

Implementation of Mitigation Measure GHG-1 would ensure that the town is tracking and monitoring the 

town’s GHG emissions in order to chart a trajectory to achieve the long-term year 2050 GHG reduction goal 

set by Executive Order S-03-05. However, at this time, there is no plan past 2030 that achieves the long-

term GHG reduction goal established under Executive Order S-03-05. As identified by the California 

Council on Science and Technology, the State cannot meet the 2050 goal without major advancements in 

technology (CCCC 2012). Advancement in technology in the future could provide additional reductions to 

allow the State and town to meet the 2050 goal; however, no additional statewide measures are currently 

available. Therefore, Impact 4.7.1 would be significant and unavoidable.  

  



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-23 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Conflict with Plan, Policy, or Regulation Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Impact 4.7.2 Implementation of the proposed project would not conflict with an applicable plan, 

policy, or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions 

(Less than Significant).  

Applicable plans adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions include CARB’s Scoping Plan, 

ABAG’s/MTC’s Plan Bay Area, and the Town’s CAP. A consistency analysis with these plans is presented 

below. 

CARB Scoping Plan 

The CARB Scoping Plan is applicable to state agencies but is not directly applicable to cities/counties and 

individual projects (i.e., the Scoping Plan does not require the town to adopt policies, programs, or 

regulations to reduce GHG emissions). However, new regulations adopted by the State agencies from the 

Scoping Plan result in GHG emissions reductions at the local level. So local jurisdictions benefit from 

reductions in transportation emissions rates, increases in water efficiency in the building and landscape 

codes, and other statewide actions that affect a local jurisdiction’s emissions inventory from the top down. 

Statewide strategies to reduce GHG emissions include the LCFS and changes in the corporate average fuel 

economy standards.  

Project GHG emissions shown in Table 4.7.5 include reductions associated with statewide strategies that 

have been adopted since AB 32 and SB 32. Development projects accommodated under the proposed 

General Plan are required to adhere to the programs and regulations identified by the Scoping Plan and 

implemented by state, regional, and local agencies to achieve the statewide GHG reduction goals of AB 32 

and SB 32. Future development projects would be required to comply with these state GHG emissions 

reduction measures because they are statewide strategies. For example, new buildings associated with land 

uses accommodated by implementing the proposed General Plan would be required to meet the CALGreen 

and Building Energy Efficiency Standards in effect at the time when applying for building permits. 

Furthermore, as discussed under the impact discussion for Impact 4.7.1, the proposed General Plan 

includes goals, policies, and programs that would help reduce GHG emissions and therefore help achieve 

GHG reduction goals. Therefore, implementation of the proposed General Plan would not obstruct 

implementation of the CARB Scoping Plan, and impacts would be less than significant.  

Plan Bay Area 

Plan Bay Area is the Bay Area’s regional transportation plan to achieve the passenger vehicle emissions 

reductions identified under SB 375. Plan Bay Area 2050 is the current SCS for the Bay Area, which was 

adopted October 21, 2021 (ABAG and MTC 2021).  

Plan Bay Area 2050 includes strategies to reduce GHG emissions include focusing housing and commercial 

construction in walkable, transit-accessible places; investing in transit and active transportation; and 

shifting the location of jobs to encourage shorter commutes (ABAG and MTC 2021). The town of Colma’s 

designated PDA and TPA are areas anticipated to harbor most of the Town’s growth in the next 20 years. 

The proposed General Plan places higher-density uses near transit stations and in areas that are less auto 

dependent. This is supported by Policy LU-1.3, which strives to reduce GHG emissions through the way 

the town designs and locates new housing, offices, public buildings, and other uses. Thus, the project would 

be consistent with the overall goals of Plan Bay Area 2050 in concentrating new development in locations 

where there is existing infrastructure and transit. Therefore, the proposed project would not conflict with 

the land use concept plan in Plan Bay Area 2050, and impacts would be less than significant. 

  



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-24 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Colma Climate Action Plan 

The CAP provides additional measures and strategies to achieve a GHG reduction target of 15 percent 

below 2005 levels by 2020, consistent with AB 32. The CAP lays out measures that would exceed the 2020 

target and put the town on a trajectory to meet the 2050 goal under Executive Order S-03-05. The proposed 

project would further the goals of the CAP by introducing policies and programs that align with the CAP 

(see Table 4.7.6: Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis). Consequently, the 

proposed project is consistent with the town’s CAP, and impacts are less than significant. 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

Community Wide Measures   

Establish New Colma Sustainable Business Program 

with Technical Assistance. Initiate multi-approach 

campaign for Colma’s businesses by providing on-site 

technical assistance to expand energy efficiency/water 

conservation/sustainable practices. Resources, rebate 

information, cost benefits will be highlighted.  

 

Program will provide: 

▪ Energy efficiency technical assistance, rebate 

information, best practices, checklist of options, 

outreach/education 

▪ Water conservation technical assistance, rebate 

information, resources   

▪ Benefits of opting up to ECO 100/ Participation in 

Peninsula Clean Energy 

▪ Resources for solar energy installation and solar 

storage rebates 

▪ Sustainability Policy/ Preferable Purchasing Policy 

technical assistance 

▪ Partner with regional partners to expand sustainable 

businesses participation 

 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that provide 

incentives for businesses that participate in the Town’s 

energy and water conservation programs and engage in 

sustainable practices:  

▪ Policy LU-2-1. Water Conservation 

▪ Policy LU-2-2. Water Efficient Landscape  

▪ Policy LU-2-4. Low Impact Development 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building. 

▪ Policy LU-5-2. San Mateo County Collaboration.  

▪ Policy OSC-1-3. Sustainable Landscape Practices.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

▪ Policy OSC-4-3. Reclaimed Water. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-4. Use of Drought Tolerant and Native 

Plants. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-5. Green Infrastructure. 

 

Expand Participation in County Green Business 

Program. Expand participation in the San Mateo 

County Green Business program and set goals for 

participation. Voluntary program that allows 

businesses to brand themselves as green by completing 

a list of energy/water conservation, recycling, pollution 

prevention and buy recycled practices. 

 

 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that provide 

incentives for businesses to help expand participation in 

San Mateo’s County Green Business Program: 

▪ Policy LU-2-1. Water Conservation 

▪ Policy LU-2-2. Water Efficient Landscape  

▪ Policy LU-2-4. Low Impact Development 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy LU-5-2. San Mateo County Collaboration. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-3. Sustainable Landscape Practices.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

▪ Policy OSC-4-3. Reclaimed Water. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-4. Use of Drought Tolerant and Native 

Plants. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-5. Green Infrastructure. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-25 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

 

Expand participation in PCE’s Opt Up to ECO 100. 

Through Peninsula Clean Energy, continue to 

provide greener renewable electricity to the 

community and promote residents and businesses 

“opting up” to PCE’s ECO100 (100% renewable) 

service. 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to participation in PCE’s 

ECO 100 service, it does have policies that aim to reduce 

energy consumption throughout the community.  

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-7: Electric Vehicles. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations 

 

Campaign to promote benefits of solar energy 

installation/ solar storage using PCE grant. Educate 

residents about PCE rebates for installing solar and 

solar storage, and explore other options. PCE offers up 

to $1250 in rebates for solar/solar storage. Educate the 

financial incentives for solar PV and hot water system 

installation.  Encourage bulk purchases such as the 

Peninsula SunShares Program. Provide free assistance 

for project developers through the PPA and 

interconnection process. 

https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/pop-homeowner/. 

 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that help to 

promote benefits of solar energy. 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

 

Expand Commercial energy efficiency programs for 

existing buildings including SMC Energy Watch and 

PG&E’s commercial offerings. Through marketing 

and outreach, City promotes participation in 

commercial energy efficiency programs and demand 

response programs offered by SMC Energy Watch and 

PG&E – including PGE’s appliance rebates, 0% energy 

efficiency financing and demand response programs. 

City provides or encourages commercial energy audits. 

City considers supplementing existing efficiency 

incentives and rebates. 

Research programs to provide businesses who use 

Direct Access energy with alternatives which reduce 

GHG emissions. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to expansion of energy 

efficiency in existing commercial buildings, it does have 

policies that aim to reduce energy consumption in 

commercial businesses.  

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption. 

Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-26 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

Expand commercial energy conservation program. 

Colma will start a voluntary commercial energy 

conservation program and encourage minimum 

energy efficiency and water efficiency standards at the 

time of building sale. Consider transitioning to 

mandatory comprehensive energy assessments and 

benchmarking by registered energy assessors over 

time. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to expansion of energy 

efficiency in existing commercial buildings, it does have 

policies that aim to reduce energy consumption in 

commercial businesses.  

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations 

 

Encourage pairing battery storage systems with all 

solar PV systems. Provide education and outreach to 

stakeholders, including businesses, residents and 

contractors, on the benefits of pairing battery storage 

with solar PV systems. 

This education can be included in the Sustainable 

Green Business Campaign. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that pertain to battery storage systems for PV 

systems, it does include policies that help to promote 

benefits of solar energy. 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations 

Update Building Code to disincentivize use of 

natural gas in new construction and major remodels. 

Require all new construction and major remodels to be 

electric ready for all large appliances. Stoves may be 

exempt. 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that pertain to disincentivize use of natural gas, it 

does include policies that help to promote energy 

efficiency. 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

 

Promote residential energy efficiency programs 

for existing buildings. Promote residential energy 

efficiency programs, including BayREN’s Home 

Upgrade program and PG&E’s efficient appliance 

rebates. City provides or encourages residential 

energy audits.  City considers supplementing 

existing efficiency incentives and rebates. 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that promote 

energy efficiency programs for existing residential 

buildings.  

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

 

Incentivize electric panel upgrades in commercial to 

accommodate all-electric technologies. Leverage 

incentives provided by PCE to encourage commercial 

and residential to upgrade electric panels in order to 

accommodate all-electric technologies including solar 

PV, battery storage, air source heat pumps, heat pump 

water heaters, electric dryers, electric stoves and EV 

chargers. 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that promote the 

use of electric technologies.  

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-7: Electric Vehicles. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-27 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

  

Promote opportunities for microgrid 

demonstration projects. Work with stakeholders to 

identify facilities for a potential site for a microgrid 

demonstration project. Provide education and 

outreach to these stakeholders on the multiple 

benefits of developing a microgrid including 

reliability, cleaner energy and cost savings. See Page 

9 for an example of a microgrid. 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to opportunities for 

microgrid demonstration project, it does include policies 

that help to promote energy efficiency. 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

 

Municipal Measures  

Continue to procure ECO100 electricity service for 

all municipal facilities. Colma will continue to 

provide greener renewable electricity to municipal 

facilities with our ECO-100 service in all municipal 

facilities. 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to participation in PCE’s 

ECO 100 service in municipal facilities, it does have 

policies that aim to increase energy efficiency.  

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations 

 

Research options for solar energy on municipal 

facilities. Through feasibility studies, identify new or 

existing municipal facilities that are well suited to the 

installation of solar PV or solar hot water systems. 

Install systems where feasible. Use group purchasing 

power such as Bay Area SunShares or purchase power 

agreements (PPAs) to lower cost. 

 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that help to 

promote benefits of solar energy. 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

 

Improve energy efficiency of municipal buildings. 

Continue to upgrade Town facilities to be energy 

efficient by reevaluating fixtures energy usage and 

cost every seven years. 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that would help 

to improve energy efficiency of municipal buildings.  

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-3. Energy Efficiency in Municipal 

Operations 

 

Update Sustainability Policy (environmentally 

preferred purchasing policy). The Town will 

update the sustainable purchasing policy to expand 

energy efficiency e.g. purchase of ENERGY STAR 

certified equipment – appliances, electronics, etc. 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that would help 

to improve energy efficiency of municipal buildings.  

Plan and the Climate Action Plan. 

▪ Policy LU-2-11. Climate Action Plan.  

▪ Policy OSC-2-5. Climate Change. 

 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-28 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

Water  

Water  

Promote water conservation rebates and services. 

Promote BAWSCA or CalWater residential water 

conservation rebate programs that offer rebates for 

items including high efficiency washing machines 

and toilets, rain barrels, sprinkler nozzles, irrigation 

controls and Lawn Be Gone (drought tolerant 

landscapes). Consider feasibility of supplementing 

existing rebates and services. 

 

Consistent. The Land Use and Open Space and 

Conservation Elements include policies that aim to 

promote water conservation. 

▪ Policy LU-2-1. Water Conservation. 

▪ Policy LU-2-2. Water Efficient Landscape. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-3. Sustainable Landscape Practices. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-4. Use of Drought Tolerant and Native 

Plants. 

 

Develop New Water Conservation Program for 

Cemeteries. Use technical expertise of Powers 

Engineering and or other technical experts to 

provide water conservation improvements advise to 

cemeteries. Examples include upgrading old 

inefficient water pumps which conserve energy and 

reduce water waste. Identify grants and other 

options for water conservation. 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to water conservation for 

cemeteries, it does have policies that aim to promote 

water conservation. 

▪ Policy LU-2-1. Water Conservation. 

▪ Policy LU-2-2. Water Efficient Landscape. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-3. Sustainable Landscape Practices. 

▪ Policy OSC-4-4. Use of Drought Tolerant and Native 

Plants. 

 

Transportation 

Transportation 

Establish smart growth policy. Establish a smart 

growth policy that prioritizes infill, higher density, 

transportation-oriented development and mixed-

use development 

Consistent. The Land Use, Mobility, Open Space and 

Conservation, and Community Health, Safety and 

Services Elements include policies would help to 

establish a smart growth policy for the Town. 

 

▪ Policy LU-1-4. Land Uses that Support Transit. 

▪ Policy LU-1-6. Public-Private Partnerships 

▪ Policy LU-2-7: Electric Vehicles. 

▪ Policy LU-3-6. Walkable Neighborhoods. 

▪ Policy LU-10-3. Mixed Use and Nonresidential 

Development 

▪ Policy LU-11-1. Town Center 

▪ Policy LU-13-4. In-Fill Housing 

▪ Policy LU-13-5. Mixed Use 

▪ Policy M-1-5. Green Streets. 

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled 

▪ Policy M-2-4. Multi-Modal Impact Fee 

▪ Policy M-3-1. Agency Collaboration and Coordination. 

▪ Policy M-3-3. Regional Transportation Planning. 

▪ Policy M-3-5. Transportation Gaps. 

▪ Policy M-4-2. Reliable Transportation Services. 

▪ Policy M-4.3. Encourage Transportation Options. 

▪ Policy M-4.4. Transit Oriented Development. 

▪ Policy M-5-1. Complete Streets. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-29 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

▪ Policy M-5-2. Design for All Travel Modes 

▪ Policy M-5-4. Accessibility and Universal Design. 

▪ Policy M-5-5. Design of New Development. 

▪ Policy M-7-1. TDM Program. 

▪ Policy M-7-2. TDM Program for New Development. 

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-4. Pedestrian Trails, Bikeways 

Walkways. 

▪ Policy OSC-3-1. Transit Oriented Development 

▪ Policy OSC-3-5. Pedestrian-Scaled Design 

▪ Policy CS-1-3. Physical Activity and the Built 

Environment. 

 

Expand walkable and bikeable street landscape 

and green infrastructure. Modify landscape to 

make walking and biking more desirable.  Install 

bike lanes, bike parking, traffic calming measures, 

beautification, etc. 

Consistent. The Land Use, Mobility, Open Space and 

Conservation, and Community Health, Safety and 

Services Elements include policies that expand walkable 

and bikeable landscape and infrastructure. 

 

▪ Policy LU-1-4. Land Uses that Support Transit. 

▪ Policy LU-3-6. Walkable Neighborhoods. 

▪ Policy M-1-5. Green Streets. 

▪ Policy M-2-4. Multi-Modal Impact Fee 

▪ Policy M-3-3. Regional Transportation Planning. 

▪ Policy M-3-5. Transportation Gaps. 

▪ Policy M-4.3. Encourage Transportation Options. 

▪ Policy M-4.4. Transit Oriented Development. 

▪ Policy M-5-1. Complete Streets. 

▪ Policy M-5-2. Design for All Travel Modes 

▪ Policy M-5-3. Bicycle Connection Coordination. 

▪ Policy M-5-4. Accessibility and Universal Design. 

▪ Policy M-5-5. Design of New Development. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-4. Pedestrian Trails, Bikeways 

Walkways. 

▪ Policy OSC-1-5. Colma Creek Trail. 

▪ Policy OSC-2-1. Open Space for Recreation Use. 

▪ Policy CS-1-3. Physical Activity and the Built 

Environment. 

 

Encourage and incentivize bike and car sharing 

companies to operate in the Town. Develop policies 

and incentives that attract bike and car sharing 

companies to establish or expand service. 

 

Consistent. The Mobility Element include policies would 

help to encourage bike and car sharing services.  

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled 

▪ Policy M-4.3. Encourage Transportation Options.  

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction 

 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-30 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

Support Safe Routes to School Program. Support 

Safe Route to Schools program by collaborating 

with neighboring jurisdictions to enhance 

pedestrian routes to local schools. 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to safe routes to school, the 

Mobility Element include policies would help to 

accommodate safe pedestrian and bicycle travel.  

▪ Policy M-5-2. Design for All Travel Modes 

▪ Policy M-5-3. Bicycle Connection Coordination 

▪ Policy M-5-5. Design of New Development. 

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction 

 

Develop low emission, off-road equipment 

program. Research and develop program to reduce 

off-road emissions from lawn, garden, and 

construction equipment. Program may include 

identifying products and resources for cemeteries 

and others and researching bulk purchasing or 

rebate options. 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to developing low-

emission, off-road equipment program, it does have 

policies that aim to reduce emissions within the Town.  

▪ Policy LU-2-4. Low Impact Development. 

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

Support local farmers’ markets. Encourage 

participation and promotion of community farmers’ 

markets with locally-grown food to encourage local 

shopping and reduce VMT associated with 

acquiring produce. 

Consistent While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly encourage participation of 

community farmer’ markets, it does have policies that 

aim to reduce VMT.  

 

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. 

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction. 

 

Promote & educate benefits of electric vehicle 

ownership. Promote/ educate the benefits of EV 

ownership and promote rebates from PCE for 

purchase of EV purchases. Add resources about 

other state/federal rebates. Participate and promote 

“EV drive events” with neighboring jurisdictions 

for Colma residents. 

 

Consistent. The Land Use Element includes policies that 

would promote ownership of electric vehicles. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Electric Vehicles 

 

Expand EV charging infrastructure through 

incentives and partnerships. Leverage incentives 

from PCE’s EV Ready Program, a $28 million EV 

READY PROGRAM To expand charging 

infrastructure in public properties, multi-unit 

dwellings and workplaces. Program includes: 

▪ Free technical assistance to help design/guide 

project 

▪ Access to negotiated EV charging station pricing 

▪ Network vetted contractors to install charging ports 

▪ Available to businesses, public facilities/public 

parking, multi-family locations 

 

Consistent. The Land Use and Mobility Elements 

includes policies that would expand electric vehicle 

charging infrastructure. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Electric Vehicles 

▪ Policy M-5-1. Complete Streets 

 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-31 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

Establish commercial and residential green 

building policy: EV charging. Update residential 

and commercial building code to increase the 

mandated percentage of parking spaces designed to 

accommodate electric vehicle charging equipment 

and require the installation of a Level 2 charger in 

new commercial developments. 

 

Consistent. The Land Use Element includes policies that 

would expand electric vehicle charging infrastructure for 

new commercial and mixed use developments. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Electric Vehicles 

 

Enhance infrastructure to promote shared electric 

bikes and scooters. Modify existing Town 

infrastructure to accommodate shared electric bikes 

and scooters that provide last-mile solutions to 

residents and commuters. Infrastructure 

enhancements including dedicated off-street parking 

spaces and on-street corrals to accommodate shared 

electric bike and scooter parking and prevent 

conflicts with pedestrians. 

 

Consistent. The Mobility Element include policies would 

help to encourage bike and car sharing services.  

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled 

▪ Policy M-4.3. Encourage Transportation Options.  

▪ Policy M-4.5. Connections to Homes and Businesses 

▪ Policy M-7-3. Vehicle Trip Reduction 

 

Update vehicle procurement policy to require 

municipal vehicles to be ZEV. Expand the existing 

vehicle procurement policy to require zero emissions 

vehicles (ZEVs) except when a ZEV is not able to 

meet the performance requirement needed.  

 

Consistent. The Land Use Element includes policies that 

would promote electric vehicle use for Town operations. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10. Electric Vehicles 

 

Establish flexible schedules policy for public 

employees. 

Establish policy enabling alternative work schedules 

and remote working to reduce VMT associated with 

employee commuting for positions that allow for 

this flexibility. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly encourage flexible schedules for 

public employees, it does have policies that aim to reduce 

VMT.  

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. 

 

Promote commute alternatives program to 

businesses.  

Develop policy to support and promote commute 

alternatives program including pre-tax commuter 

benefits, transit subsidies, and a carpool program to 

promote and incentivize public transportation, 

carpooling, biking, etc. to business community. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly encourage flexible schedules for 

public employees, it does have policies that aim to reduce 

VMT.  

▪ Policy M-2-1. Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. 

▪ Policy M-4.3. Encourage Transportation Options.  

 

file:///C:/Users/jonathank/Desktop/Colma%20CAP/ICLEI%20Training/RICAPS_GHG_Reduction_Measures_COLMA_8%203%2020_changed.xlsx%23'TL11.%20E-bikes%20and%20Scooters'!A1
file:///C:/Users/jonathank/Desktop/Colma%20CAP/ICLEI%20Training/RICAPS_GHG_Reduction_Measures_COLMA_8%203%2020_changed.xlsx%23'TL11.%20E-bikes%20and%20Scooters'!A1
file:///C:/Users/jonathank/Desktop/Colma%20CAP/ICLEI%20Training/RICAPS_GHG_Reduction_Measures_COLMA_8%203%2020_changed.xlsx%23'TM2.%20Flexible%20Schedules'!A1
file:///C:/Users/jonathank/Desktop/Colma%20CAP/ICLEI%20Training/RICAPS_GHG_Reduction_Measures_COLMA_8%203%2020_changed.xlsx%23'TM2.%20Flexible%20Schedules'!A1


4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-32 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

Waste 

Community Wide Measures  

Establish a zero-waste policy and develop a zero 

waste program. Develop a zero-waste policy and 

develop a program to meet the zero-waste target of 

90% diversion through a combination of efforts 

including promotion of traditional recycling and 

organics recycling programs and local enforcement 

of recycling requirements. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to development of a zero-

waste policy or program, it does have policies that aim to 

reduce GHG and improve air quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

Adopt the regional Sustainable Food ware 

ordinance. Adopt the regional Sustainable Food 

Ware ordinance and work in collaboration with San 

Mateo County Office of Sustainability to provide 

resources and on-site assistance to Colma businesses 

to transition from single-use food ware. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to sustainable food ware, it 

does have policies that aim to reduce GHG and improve 

air quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

Develop vendor policy for public events. Establish 

policy requiring traditional and organics recycling at 

public events. Require compostable or recyclable 

cutlery and packaging to be used. Supports measure 

WC-1. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to development of a 

vendor policy for public events, it does have policies that 

aim to reduce GHG and improve air quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

Municipal Measures  

Establish a municipal zero waste policy. Establish a 

policy to achieve 95% waste diversion rate in city 

operations. Provide appropriate bins and signage, 

organics recycling and education to public 

employees to make goal achievable. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to municipal waste, it does 

have policies that aim to reduce GHG and improve air 

quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

Expand environmentally preferred purchasing 

policy: Recycled materials.  Expand our sustainable 

purchasing policy that emphasizes the purchase of 

materials with high recycled content – paper, 

furniture, etc. 

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to recycled materials, it 

does have policies that aim to reduce GHG and improve 

air quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

file:///C:/Users/jonathank/Desktop/Colma%20CAP/ICLEI%20Training/RICAPS_GHG_Reduction_Measures_COLMA_8%203%2020_changed.xlsx%23'WM1.%20Municipal%20Zero%20Waste'!A1
file:///C:/Users/jonathank/Desktop/Colma%20CAP/ICLEI%20Training/RICAPS_GHG_Reduction_Measures_COLMA_8%203%2020_changed.xlsx%23'WM1.%20Municipal%20Zero%20Waste'!A1


4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-33 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

Food and Consumption 

Goals  

Buildings: Improve more sustainable building 

products. Educate and promote the benefits of more 

sustainable building materials (through Colma’s 

Sustainability webpage) and other outreach to 

provide resources for builders in Colma who have 

new construction and renovation projects. 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to use of more sustainable 

building products, it includes policies that would 

promote sustainable building practices within the Town. 

▪ Policy LU-2-5. Energy Efficiency  

▪ Policy LU-2-6: Solar Energy.  

▪ Policy LU-2-7: Electric Vehicles. 

▪ Policy LU-2-10: Green Building.  

▪ Policy OSC-3-2. Reduce Energy Consumption.  

 

Food: Minimize food waste through education 

▪ Support campaigns like StopFoodWaste.org and 

“Food Too Good To Waste” to educate residents 

and businesses about how to minimize waste 

through shopping, storing and cooking. 

▪ Support food rescue programs in the community 

that deliver surplus food to hungry people. This 

action supports components of SB 1383 which 

requires edible food waste recovery.  

▪ Education and support food waste prevention 

efforts and food sharing tables by educating the 

community with easy ways to reduce waste.  

 

Consistent. While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to minimizing food waste, 

it does have policies that aim to reduce GHG and 

improve air quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

Food: Buy local and in season and reduce the 

emissions intensity of food consumed 

▪ Working in collaboration with the Office of 

Sustainability educate the benefits of purchasing 

local seasonal vegetables, plant-based proteins, and 

less processed foods. These ideas can be shared via 

Live Wire and or future farmers markets in Colma.   

▪ Provide information and encourage healthy school 

lunches  

▪ Provide information and support legislation or 

advocacy for carbon footprint labeling of food 

products 

 

Consistent While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to emissions from food 

consumption, it does have policies that aim to reduce 

GHG and improve air quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

Purchased goods: Educate about the benefits of 

durable long-lasting products and encourage 

reduction of purchase of single use products use. 

▪ Promote “buy durable” or “buy repairable” ideas 

and add to Colma’s Sustainability webpage to 

educate and provide resources. Considering 

partnering to support fix-it clinics and adult classes 

on how-to-repair. Support legislation such as Right 

to Repair. 

Consistent While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to purchased goods, it does 

have policies that aim to reduce GHG and improve air 

quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-34 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.7.6 Colma Climate Change Action Plan 2030 Consistency Analysis 

Measure Consistency 

▪ Support the addition of repair businesses where 

feasible and classes and job training for repair, reuse 

and repurpose.  

▪ Promote resale, reuse, repurpose and salvage 

businesses where feasible.  

 

Purchased goods: Reduce emissions intensity of 

consumer goods 

▪ Encourage businesses to “opt up” to purchasing 

100% renewable energy through PCE. 

▪ Promote “buy clean – made with renewables,” 

campaign for Bay Area and California producers 

that use renewable energy.  

▪ Promote products made with other “low-carbon” 

attributes such as refurbished products, or those 

made with bio-based materials or recycled content. 

Promote to producers and consumers. Support 

legislation or advocacy for carbon footprint labeling 

of goods. 

 

Consistent While the General Plan Update does not have 

policies that explicitly pertain to emissions from 

consumption of goods, it does have policies that aim to 

reduce GHG and improve air quality.  

▪ Policy LU-2-8: Climate Action Plan 

▪ Policy LU-2-9: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets 

▪ Policy LU-6-3. Environmental Protection 

▪ Policy OSC-3-4. GHG Reduction 

 

Source: Colma. Climate Change Action Plan 2030. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

Measures identified in Table 4.7.6 would ensure consistency of the General Plan with plans that have been 

adopted to reduce GHG emissions.  

The Town has prepared an update to the Climate Action Plan to provide guidance for meeting GHG 

reduction goals to the year 2030. Although not yet officially adopted, the Town plans to adopt the plan in 

the near future.  

  



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-35 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Websites 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD). Final 2017 Clean Air Plan, Spare the Air, Cool the 

Climate: A Blueprint for Clean Air and Climate Protection in the Bay Area. 

http://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/air-quality-plans/current-plans. (accessed on March 

18, 2020). 2017a. 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD). California Environmental Quality Act Air Quality 

Guidelines. http://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/files/planning-and-

research/ceqa/ceqa_guidelines_may2017-pdf.pdf?la=en. 2017b. 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). Climate Change Proposed Scoping Plan, a Framework for Change. 

https://ww3.arb.ca.gov/cc/scopingplan/document/psp.pdf. 2008.  

California Air Resources Board (CARB). California’s 2017 Climate Change Scoping Plan: The Strategy for 

Achieving California’s 2030 Greenhouse Gas Target. 

https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/scopingplan/2030sp_pp_final.pdf. 2017a. 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Strategy, 

https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/shortlived/shortlived.htm. 2017b, March 14. 

California Air Resources Board (CARB). 2019 Edition California Greenhouse Gas Inventory for 2000-2017: By 

Category as Defined in the 2008 Scoping Plan. https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/inventory/data/data.htm. 

2019a, August 26. 

California Air Resources Board (CARB).  California Greenhouse Emissions for 2000 to 2017: Trends of 

Emissions and Other Indicators. https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/inventory/data/data.htm. 2019b, August 

26.  

California Air Resources Board (CARB). California and major automakers reach groundbreaking framework 

agreement on clean emission standards. https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/news/california-and-major-

automakers-reach-groundbreaking-framework-agreement-clean-emission. 2019, July 25.  

California Climate Action Team (CAT). Climate Action Team Report to Governor Schwarzenegger and the 

Legislature. 2006, March. 

California Climate Change Center (CCCC). Our Changing Climate 2012: Vulnerability and Adaptation to the 

Increasing Risks from Climate Change in California. 2012, July. 

California Energy Commission (CEC). Refining Estimates of Water-Related Energy Use in California. CEC-

500-2006-118. Prepared by Navigant Consulting, Inc. Based on the electricity use for Northern California. 

2006a, December. 

California Energy Commission (CEC).  Our Changing Climate: Assessing the Risks to California, 2006 Biennial 

Report. CEC-500-2006-077. 2006b. 

http://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/air-quality-plans/current-plans
https://ww3.arb.ca.gov/cc/scopingplan/document/psp.pdf


4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-36 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

California Energy Commission (CEC). The Future Is Now: An Update on Climate Change Science, Impacts, and 

Response Options for California. CEC-500-2008-0077. 2009, May. 

California Natural Resources Agency. Safeguarding California: Reducing Climate Risk, An Update to the 2009 

California Climate Adaptation Strategy. 2014. 

California Water Service (CalWater). South San Francisco Unit. 2015 Urban Water Management Plan. 

https://www.calwater.com/docs/uwmp2015/bay/South_San_Francisco/2015_Urban_Water_Mana

gement_Plan_Final_(SSF).pdf. 2016, June. 

CalRecycle. Disposal Reporting System, Jurisdiction Reporting by Facility, 

https://www2.calrecycle.ca.gov/LGCentral/DisposalReporting/Destination/DisposalByFacility. 

2020. 

Colma, Town of. Climate Action Plan. https://www.ca-ilg.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/colma-

_climate_action_plan.pdf?1472518323. 2013, May 8. 

Colma, Town of. Climate Action Plan 2030. 2021. 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Second Assessment Report: Climate Change 1995; 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate. New York: Cambridge University Press. 1995. 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Third Assessment Report: Climate Change 2001. New 

York: Cambridge University Press. 2001. 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).  Fourth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2007. New 

York: Cambridge University Press. 2007. 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).  Fifth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2014. New 

York: Cambridge University Press. 2014. 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG).  

Priority Development Areas. http://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/priority-development-areas-

current, and Transit Priority Areas, 

http://opendata.mtc.ca.gov/datasets/d97b4f72543a40b2b85d59ac085e01a0_0. Accessed April 17, 

2020. 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG). 

Plan Bay Area 2050. 2021, https://www.planbayarea.org/plan-bay-area-2050-1. 

Pacific Gas &Electric (PG&E). Community Wide GHG Inventory Report for Colma. 2020, July 4. 

Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE). Colma Electricity Use 2005 to 2019. July 10, 2020. 

Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE).  2018 Power Content Label. https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-

content/uploads/2019/10/PCE_EV-Incentive-Program-Postcard-Series_Final.pdf. 2019, July. 



4.7 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.7-37 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Office of Environmental Health Hazards Assessment (OEHHA). Indicators of Climate Change in California. 

https://oehha.ca.gov/media/downloads/climate-

change/report/2018caindicatorsreportmay2018.pdf. 2018, May. 

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). USEPA: Greenhouse Gases Threaten Public Health and the 

Environment. Science overwhelmingly shows greenhouse gas concentrations at unprecedented levels due to 

human activity. 

https://archive.epa.gov/epapages/newsroom_archive/newsreleases/08d11a451131bca58525768500

5bf252.html. (accessed August 25, 2020). 2009a, December. 

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). USEPA: Endangerment and Cause or Contribute Findings for 

Greenhouse Gases Under Section 202(a) of the Clean Air Act. 

https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/endangerment-and-cause-or-contribute-findings-

greenhouse-gases-under-section-202a-clean. 2009b. 

US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). eGRID2018 Summary Tables. 

https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2020-01/documents/egrid2018_summary_tables.pdf. 

2020, March 3. 

https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/endangerment-and-cause-or-contribute-findings-greenhouse-gases-under-section-202a-clean
https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/endangerment-and-cause-or-contribute-findings-greenhouse-gases-under-section-202a-clean


4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Cal. Pub. Resources Code Sections 

§21000, et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal. Code Regs., Section §15000, et seq.), this Draft 

Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; PEIR) evaluates the General Plan-Update’s related 

impacts, general assumptions, and mitigation needs that can be identified in the analysis. The reader is 

referred to the individual technical sections of the Draft PEIR Sections 4.1 to 4.18, regarding the specific 

assumptions and methodologies used in the analysis for that particular technical subject. 

This particular section then discusses the existing environmental conditions for hazardous materials and 

substances, including water and soil contaminants, within the town of Colma (Town; town). It reviews and 

summarizes hazardous wastes as well as public health and safety issues related to seismic conditions, 

geologic, flood, fire, aviation, and hazardous materials in the town. Potential problems and the appropriate 

mitigation measures that reduce, lessen, or eliminate the General Plan Update’s (GPU) impacts, are 

identified in this section. For impacts related to flood hazards and fire hazards, the reader is referred to 

Section 4.9, Hydrology and Water Quality and to Section 4.18, Wildfire, respectively 

4.8.1 EXISTING SETTING 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS DEFINED 

A hazard is any situation that has the potential to cause damage to human health and the environment. 

The risk to health and public safety is determined by the probability of exposure in addition to the inherent 

toxicity of a material. Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations (CCR) define hazardous substance as 

both hazardous materials and hazardous wastes, and these are classified according to four properties: 

toxicity, ignitability, corrosiveness, and reactivity.  

A hazardous material is defined as any substance or combination of substances that may cause or 

significantly contribute to an increase in serious, irreversible, or incapacitating illness, or may pose a 

substantial presence or potential hazard to human health or the environment when improperly treated, 

stored, transported, disposed of, or otherwise managed. Hazardous materials may include, but are not 

limited to motor oils, paints, solvents, gasoline, and household cleaners. Hazardous waste may include 

(but are not limited to): medical waste, substances and chemicals used at gas stations, dry cleaners, and 

automotive service and repair shops. 

Hazardous wastes are defined as hazardous substances that no longer have practical use, such as 

hazardous materials that have been discarded, discharged, spilled, or contaminated or are being stored 

until they can be disposed of properly. Soil that is excavated from a site containing hazardous materials is 

a hazardous waste if it exceeds specific CCR Title 22 criteria. While hazardous substances are regulated by 

multiple agencies, their cleanup requirements need to be determined on a case-by-case basis according to 

the appropriate Lead Agency. 

Hazardous substances pose a risk to public health in their use, storage, and disposal. It is therefore 

necessary to differentiate between the “hazard” of these materials and the acceptability of the level of “risk” 

they pose to human health and the environment. Factors that affect the health effects when human beings 

are exposed to hazardous materials may include but is not limited to the dose the person is exposed to, the 

frequency of exposure, the duration of exposure, the exposure pathway (route by which a chemical enters 

a person’s body), and the individual’s unique biological susceptibility. 

 

 

 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SITES 

Hazardous materials sites, or areas of abandoned or underutilized properties that may be contaminated 

by hazardous substances, have the potential to contaminate soil and groundwater, through the release, 

leaks, or disposal of chemical compounds. Disturbance of a previously contaminates site could pose a 

public health risk from hazardous vapors or contaminated materials. Such areas are typically monitored 

by the State Water Quality Control Board or by the California Department of Toxic Substances. According 

to the US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA), as shown in Figure 4.8-1: Hazardous Sites and Table 

4.8-1 Hazardous Sites, the town of Colma lists one closed Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST) site, 

two open hazardous sites, one site that is eligible for closure, 19 closed (completed) sites. 

ASBESTOS CONTAINING BUILDING MATERIALS 

Asbestos, which is common in many building materials., refers to a type of naturally occurring minerals 

composed of small fibers. Any buildings constructed or remodeled between 1930 and 1981 have the 

potential to incorporate asbestos-containing building materials (ACBM). These materials may include, but 

are not limited to, floor coverings, drywall joint compounds, acoustic ceiling tiles, piping insulation, 

electrical insulation, and fireproofing materials. Various health risks including cancer and respiratory 

illnesses have been associated with exposure to asbestos fibers and materials in non-industrial settings. The 

presence of asbestos in any building does not necessarily endanger the health and safety of a building’s 

occupants, as long as these materials are in good condition, and not damaged or disturbed. However, 

damaged, deteriorated, or disturbed asbestos-containing materials can lead to fiber release (exposure), and 

adverse health effects.  

LEAD BASED PAINT MATERIALS 

Exposure to lead based paint is possible when the paint is in poor condition or during paint removal. 

Though lead based paints were phased out of production in the early 1970s, lead is a highly toxic metal 

that was used for many years in products found in and around homes. Lead may cause a range of health 

effects, from behavioral problems and learning disabilities to seizures and death. Proper handling and 

disposal of lead-based materials significantly reduces potential environmental related impacts.  

RESIDUAL AGRICULTURAL CHEMICALS 

Agricultural chemicals are chemical agents such as fungicides and insecticides that are used to control crop-

harming organisms such as fungi, insects, and rodents. Diazinon, chlorpyrifos, and other “Group A” 

pesticides are insecticides used to control pests on crops as well as in individual home use. Diazinon is a 

non-systemic organophosphate insecticide classified by the US EPA as a Restricted Use Pesticide (RUP) 

and is for professional pest control use only. Within residential uses, it may be used to control cockroaches, 

silverfish, ants, and fleas. It is used on home gardens and farms to control a wide variety of sucking and 

leaf-eating insects. Though Diazinon seldom migrates below the top half inch in soil, but in some instances, 

it may contaminate groundwater. Diazinon is absorbed by plant roots when applied to the soil and 

translocated to other parts of the plant. Additional persistent chemicals may be found within the Planning 

Area such as insecticides that have the potential to include toxaphene and lead arsenate.  

  



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.8.1: Hazardous Sites  

Address Site Type Clean Up Status 

530 Collins Avenue LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

600 Collins Avenue LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

300 El Camino Real LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

7778 El Camino Real LUST Cleanup Site Open - Site Assessment 

F St LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

417 F St Cleanup Program Site Completed - Case Closed 

1601 Hillside Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

1601 Hillside Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

1801 Hillside Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

5003 Junipero Serra Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

5075 Junipero Serra Blvd Cleanup Program Site Completed - Case Closed 

1500 Mission Road LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

1609 Mission Road LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

1715 Mission Road LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

1 Sandhill Road Land Disposal Site Open - Site Assessment 

485 Serramonte Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

650 Serramonte Blvd Cleanup Program Site Open - Eligible for Closure 

700 Serramonte Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

707 Serramonte Blvd Cleanup Program Site Completed - Case Closed 

780 Serramonte Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

990 Serramonte Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

999 Serramonte Blvd LUST Cleanup Site Completed - Case Closed 

 

TRANSPORTATION OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

Any transportation of hazardous materials within the General Plan Update’s Planning Area is subject to 

local, state, and federal regulations. The transportation of explosive or inhalation hazardous materials on 

any public roadway not designated for such transportation is illegal, unless the use of the roadway is 

necessary for the delivery or loading of such materials (California Vehicle Code, Sections §31602(b) and 

§32104(a)). 

AIRPORT HAZARDS 

Projects located within an airport land use plan or within two miles of a public airport or public use airport 

where such a plan has not been adopted, could result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in 

the project area. San Francisco International Airport (SFO) is located approximately 3.5 miles southeast of 

the town and follows the regulations in the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP) adopted by San 

Mateo County. The ALUCP outlines safety standards specifying how land near SFO can be used based on 

noise levels, height restrictions for new construction, and construction standards for buildings outlined in 

the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan minimize airport hazards.  

As shown in Figure 4.8-2: Airport Influence Area B, the Town of Colma is located within Airport Influence 

Area B. Local agencies within this influence area are requires new plans and projects to demonstrate 

consistency with the goals and policies of the ALUCP. SFO has designated transitional surfaces as alternate 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

routes for planes to take-off or land as shown in Figure 4.8-3: Critical Aeronautical Surfaces below. One of 

these transitional surfaces extends over the town of Colma. Any development in the transitional zone must 

be in compliance with ALUC maximum height standards. The structure/building height restrictions under 

the transitional surfaces for the town are approximately 400 feet above average mean sea level. This height 

limit will not constrict development in the town of Colma which is roughly at 110 feet above sea level and 

where the normal commercial height limit is 50 feet.  

WILDLAND FIRE HAZARDS 

While the town of Colma is primarily urban and of minimal fire risks, it does have large areas of open land 

for cemetery uses and is located at the base of the San Bruno Mountains which are a High Fire Risk area. 

Please refer to Section 4.18: Wildfires of this PEIR for additional information and impacts discussions. 

4.8.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency  

The Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) is responsible for researching and setting national 

standards for a variety of environmental programs, and delegates to states and local governments the 

responsibility for issuing permits and monitoring and enforcing compliance. EPA Region IX has authority 

in the San Francisco Bay region, regulating chemical and hazardous materials use, storage, treatment, 

handling, transport, and disposal practices; protecting workers and the community (along with California 

Occupations Safety and Health Administration (OSHA); and integrating the federal Clean Water Act and 

Clean Air Act into California legislation. 

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act  

USEPA’s Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 (42 USC 2) was the first major federal 

act regulating the potential health and environmental problems associated with hazardous and 

nonhazardous solid waste. RCRA and the implementation regulations developed by the U.S. EPA provide 

the general framework for the national hazardous and nonhazardous waste management systems. This 

framework includes the determination of whether hazardous wastes are being generated, techniques for 

tracking wastes to eventual disposal, and the design and permitting of hazardous waste management 

facilities.  

RCRA amendments enacted in 1984 and 1986 began the process of eliminating land disposal as the 

principal hazardous waste disposal method. Hazardous waste regulations promulgated in 1991 address 

site selection, design, construction, operation, monitoring, corrective action, and closure of disposal 

facilities. Additional regulations addressing solid waste issues are contained in 40 CFR, Part 258. 

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act  

The Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) of 1980 (42 USC 

Sections 1906 et seq.), outlines the potential liability related to the cleanup of hazardous substances; 

available defenses to such liability; appropriate inquiry into site status CERCLA.  This Act provides broad 

federal authority to respond directly to releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances that may 

endanger public health or the environment. CERCLA establishes requirements concerning closed and 

abandoned hazardous waste sites, provides for liability of persons responsible for releases of hazardous 

waste at these sites, and establishes a trust fund to provide for cleanup when no responsible party can be 

identified.  

  



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Figure 4.8-2: Airport Influence Area B 

 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Figure 4.8-3: Critical Aeronautical Surfaces 

  



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

The law authorizes two kinds of response actions: (1) short-term removals, where actions may be 
taken to address releases or threatened releases requiring prompt response; and (2) long-term remedial 
response actions that permanently and significantly reduce the dangers associated with releases or 
threats of releases of hazardous substances that are serious, but not immediately life threatening. These 
actions can be conducted only at sites listed on EPA’s National Priorities List (NPL). CERCLA also 

establishes the National Contingency Plan (NCP), which provides guidelines and procedures necessary to 

respond to releases and threatened releases of hazardous substances. 

Occupational Safety and Health Administration  

The Federal Occupational Health and Safety Administration (OSHA) of 1970, establishes and enforces 

Federal regulations related to health and safety of workers who could be exposed to toxic and hazardous 

materials. OSHA also sets health and safety guidelines for construction activities and manufacturing 

facility operations. 

Earthquake Hazards Reduction Act  

The Earthquake Hazards Reduction Act (EHRA) of 1977 (Public Law 95-124) established the National 

Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program (NEHRP) which is coordinated through the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency (FEMA), the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), the National Science Foundation (NSF), 

and the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST). The purpose of the NEHRP is to establish 

measures for earthquake hazards reduction and promote the adoption of earthquake hazards reduction 

measures by federal, state, and local governments. The Program is intended to improve the understanding 

of earthquakes and their effects on communities, buildings, structures, and lifelines through 

interdisciplinary research that involves engineering, natural sciences, and social, economic, and decisions 

sciences.  

Hazardous Materials Transportation Act  

The Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (HMTA) of 1975 (Title 49 U.S. Code [USC] Sections 5101–

5127) is the principal federal law regulating the transportation of hazardous material, under the authority 

of the U.S. Secretary of Transportation. Regulations implementing the Hazardous Materials Transportation 

Act specify additional requirements and regulations with respect to the transport of hazardous materials.  

Disaster Mitigation Act  

The 2000 federal Disaster Mitigation Act (DMA; Public Law 106-390) provides the legal basis for FEMA 

mitigation planning requirements for state, local, and Indian Tribal governments as a condition of 

mitigation grant assistance. DMA 2000 amended the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency 

Assistance Act by repealing the previous mitigation planning provisions and replacing them with a new 

set of requirements that emphasize the need for state, local, and Indian Tribal entities to closely coordinate 

mitigation planning and implementation efforts. The requirement for a state mitigation plan is continued 

as a condition of disaster assistance, adding incentives for increased coordination and integration of 

mitigation activities at the state level through the establishment of requirements for two different levels of 

state plans. DMA 2000 also established a new requirement for local mitigation plans and authorized up to 

7 percent of Hazard Mitigation Grand Program funds available to a state for development of state, local, 

and Indian Tribal mitigation plans. 

Executive Order 12148, 1979 – Federal Emergency Management Agency 

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) was created by Executive Order 12148 in 1979 and 

became part of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security when it was established in 2003. FEMA’s 

continuing mission within the department is to lead the effort to prepare the nation for all hazards and 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

effectively manage federal response and recovery efforts following any national incident. FEMA also 

initiates proactive mitigation activities, trains first responders, and manages the National Flood Insurance 

Program and the U.S. Fire Administration. 

Uniform Building Code 

The Uniform Fire Code (UFC) contains regulations relating to construction, maintenance, and use of 

buildings. Topics addressed in the code include fire department access, fire hydrants, automatic sprinkler 

systems, fire alarm systems, fire and explosion hazards safety, hazardous materials storage and use, 

provisions intended to protect and assist fire responders, industrial processes, and many other general and 

specialized fire safety requirements for new and existing buildings and the surrounding premises. 

STATE AND REGIONAL   

Senate Bill 1082 

In 1993, Senate Bill 1082 gave the California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) the authority and 

responsibility to establish a unified hazardous waste and hazardous materials management and regulatory 

program, commonly referred to as the Unified Program. The Unified Program consolidates, coordinates, 

and makes consistent the administrative requirements, permits, inspections, and enforcement activities of 

six environmental and emergency response programs between local, State, and federal agencies. The 

UPAAG’s goals and objectives are listed in the UPAAG Strategic Plan: 

• Hazardous Materials Release Response Plans and Inventories (Business Plans) 

• California Accidental Release Prevention Program 

• Underground Storage Tank Program 

• Aboveground Petroleum Storage Act Program 

• Hazardous Waste Generator and Onsite Hazardous Waste Treatment (tiered permitting) 

   Programs 

• California Uniform Fire Code: Hazardous Material Management Plans and Hazardous Material 

Inventory Statements 

The State agency partners involved in the Unified Program have the responsibility of setting program 

element standards, working with CalEPA on ensuring program consistency, and providing technical 

assistance to the certified unified program agencies. The following State agencies are involved with the 

Unified Program: 

• California Environmental Protection Agency (Cal EPA). The Secretary of the Cal EPA is directly 

responsible for coordinating the administration of the Unified Program. The Secretary certifies 

Unified Program Agencies (CUPAs). The Secretary has certified 83 CUPAs to date. These 84 CUPAs 

carry out the responsibilities previously handled by approximately 1,300 State and local agencies. 

• Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC). The Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) 

provides technical assistance and evaluation for the hazardous waste generator program including 

onsite treatment (tiered permitting). 

• Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (CA OES). The CA OES is responsible for providing technical 

assistance and evaluation of the Hazardous Material Release Response Plan (Business Plan) Program 

and the California Accidental Release Response Plan (Cal ARP) Programs. 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• Office of the State Fire Marshal. The Office of the State Fire Marshal is responsible for ensuring the 

implementation of the Hazardous Material Management Plans and the Hazardous Material 

Inventory Statement Programs.  

• State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). The State Water Resources Control Board provides 

technical assistance and evaluation for the underground storage tank program in addition to 

handling the oversight and enforcement for the aboveground storage tank program.  

Under Division 4.5 of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations and the California Hazardous Waste 

Control Law (Health and Safety Code Division 20, Chapter 6.5), DTSC regulates the generation, 

transportation, treatment, storage, and disposal of hazardous waste. Both RCRA and the Hazardous Waste 

Control Law impose “cradle to grave” regulatory systems for handling hazardous waste in a manner that 

protects human health and the environment. State law requires county and local agencies to implement the 

Unified Program. The agency in charge of implementing the program is called the CUPA. The Hazardous 

Materials Program within the County of San Mateo Division of Environmental Health Services is the 

designated CUPA for the county. 

Hazardous Waste Control Act  

The 1972 Hazardous Waste Control Act (Health & Safety Code Section §25100 et seq.) is the seminal 

hazardous waste control law in California. It establishes standards for regulating the generation, handling, 

processing, storage, transportation, and disposal of hazardous wastes. The hazardous waste control 

program is administered by the Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) and local Certified 

Unified Program Agencies (CUPAs). 

Emergency Response to Hazardous Materials Incidents 

The State of California has developed an Emergency Response Plan to coordinate emergency services 

provided by federal, state, and local government and private agencies. Response to hazardous materials 

incidents is one part of this plan. The Plan is managed by the State Office of Emergency Services (OES), 

which coordinates the responses of other agencies including Cal- EPA, California Highway Patrol (CHP), 

and the California Department of Fish and Wildlife. 

California Department of Transportation, Hazardous Materials Transport 

The U.S. Department of Transportation regulates hazardous materials transportation between states. State 

agencies with primary responsibility for enforcing federal and state regulations and responding to 

hazardous materials transportation emergencies are the California Highway Patrol and the California 

Department of Transportation (Caltrans). Together, these agencies determine container types used and 

license hazardous waste haulers for hazardous waste transportation on public roads. 

It is illegal to transport explosives or inhalation hazards on any public highway not designated for that 

purpose, unless the use of the highway is required to permit delivery, or the loading, of such materials 

(Cal. Vehicle Code Sections §31602(b) and §32104(a)). When transporting explosives through or into a 

jurisdiction for which a route has not been designated by CHP, drivers must follow routes as may be 

prescribed or established by local authorities (California Vehicle Code, Section §31614(a)). The 

transportation of explosives in quantities of 1,000 pounds or less, or other than on a public highway, is 

subject to the California Health and Safety Code (California Vehicle Code, Section §31601(a)). 

California Health and Safety Code 

The California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) The CalEPA oversees the regulation and 

management of hazardous materials on a statewide level through the DTSC. In 1995, legislation went into 

effect that required CalEPA to consolidate permitting, inspection, and enforcement activities in several 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

hazardous material and hazardous waste program areas. Additionally, Section §65962.5 of the Government 

Code directs DTSC to compile a list of all hazardous-waste facilities subject to corrective action pursuant 

to Section §25187.5 of the Health and Safety Code.  

California Code of Regulations 

Title 3 of the California Code of Regulations (CCR) pertain to the application of pesticides and related 

chemicals. Parties applying regulated substances must continuously evaluate application equipment, the 

weather, and all surrounding properties. Title 3 specifically prohibits any application that would: 

• contaminate people not involved in the application of the materials; 

• damage non-target crops, animals, or any other public or private property; 

• contaminate public or private property; and, 

• create health hazards on public or private property.  

Title 17 of the CCR establishes regulations related to the use and disturbance of materials containing 

naturally occurring asbestos. 

Title 22 of the CCR sets forth definitions of hazardous waste and special waste. It also identifies hazardous 

waste criteria, and establishes regulations pertaining to the storage, transport, and disposal of hazardous 

waste.  

In addition to other criteria, Title 26 of the CCR establishes the requirements for the transport, containment, 

and disposal of hazardous materials.  

Title 27 of the CCR sets forth a number of regulations relating to the construction, operation, and 

maintenance of landfills in the State. It establishes a landfill classification system and identifies categories 

of waste. Each class and type of landfill may then be constructed to contain specific types of waste. 

Disaster Mitigation Act  

The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 (DMA2K) (Public Law 106-390) amended the Robert T. Stafford 

Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act of 1988 to establish a Pre-Disaster Mitigation (PDM) program 

and new requirements for the federal post-disaster Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP). DMA2K 

encourages and rewards local and State pre-disaster planning by promoting sustainability and seeking to 

integrate State and local planning with an overall goal of strengthening statewide hazard mitigation. This 

enhanced planning approach enables local, tribal, and state governments to identify specific strategies for 

reducing probable impacts of natural hazards such as floods, fire, and earthquakes. In order to be eligible 

for hazard mitigation funding after November 1, 2004, local governments are required to develop a Hazard 

Mitigation Plan that incorporates specific program elements of the DMA2K law.  

California Emergency Plan 

The California Office of Emergency Services (Cal OES) Emergency Plan outlines a state-level strategy to 

support local government efforts during a large-scale emergency (OES 2017). In accordance with the 

California Emergency Services Act, the State Emergency Plan describes methods for carrying out 

emergency operations, mutual aid processes, emergency services of governmental agencies, resource 

mobilization, emergency public information, and continuity of government.  

California also has a Master Mutual Aid Agreement between all state departments, established in 1950, and 

a separate Law Enforcement Mutual Aid Plan and California Fire Service and Rescue Emergency Mutual 

Aid Plan, both published in 2014 by Cal OES. 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Seismic Hazards Mapping Act  

The Seismic Hazards Mapping Act (SHMA) of 1990 (Public Resources Code, Chapter 7.8, Section §2690-

2699.6) directs the Department of Conservation (DOC), California Geological Survey to identify and map 

areas prone to earthquake hazards of liquefaction, earthquake-induced landslides, and amplified ground 

shaking. The purpose of the SHMA is to reduce the threat to public safety and to minimize the loss of life 

and property by identifying and mitigating these seismic hazards. The SHMA was passed by the legislature 

following the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake. 

The SHMA requires the State Geologist to establish regulatory zones (Zones of Required Investigation) and 

to issue appropriate maps (Seismic Hazard Zone maps). These maps are distributed to all affected cities, 

counties, and state agencies for their use in planning and controlling construction and development. Single 

family frame dwellings up to two stories not part of a development of four or more units are exempt from 

the state requirements. However, local agencies can be more restrictive than state law requires. 

Cal-OSHA Worker Safety Requirements 

The California Occupational Safety and Health Administration (Cal-OSHA) assumes primary 

responsibility for developing and enforcing workplace safety regulations within California. Cal-OSHA 

regulations pertaining to the use of hazardous materials in the workplace, as detailed in CCR Title 8, 

include requirements for safety training, availability of safety equipment, accident and illness prevention 

programs, hazardous substance exposure warnings, and emergency action and fire prevention plan 

preparation. Cal-OSHA’s hazard communication program requires that Material Safety Data Sheets 

(MSDS) be available to employees and that employee information and training programs be documented. 

California Building Code  

The California Building Code (CBC) is found in the California Code of Regulations (CCR) in Part 2 of Title 

24, administered by the California Building Standards Commission, which, by law, is responsible for 

coordinating all building standards. Under state law, all building standards must be centralized in Title 24, 

or they are not enforceable. The purpose of the CBC is to establish minimum standards to safeguard the 

public health, safety, and general welfare through structural strength, means of egress facilities, and general 

stability by regulating and controlling the design, construction, quality of materials, use and occupancy, 

location, and maintenance of all building and structures within a jurisdiction. 

LOCAL 

San Mateo County Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

San Mateo County’s multi-jurisdictional Local Hazard Mitigation Plan (MJ-LHMP) per the 2000 Disaster 

Mitigation Act (Public Law 106-390) was adopted in July 2016. It is an appendix to the County General Plan 

and consists of the plan developed by Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG). It includes a plan for 

the town of Colma to reduce and mitigate risks from natural and human-induced hazards. The plan covers 

climate change, dam failure, drought, earthquake, flood, landslide, severe weather, tsunami, and wildfire. 

Town of Colma Municipal Code 

The Town of Colma Municipal Code, Chapter 1, Section §1.17.010, provides guidelines for the preparation 

and implementation of plans for providing materials and services within the town in the event of an 

emergency, to empower certain town officials to promulgate orders and regulations necessary to provide 

for the protection of life and property or to preserve public order and safety, and to provide for the 

coordination of the emergency services functions of the town with all other public agencies, corporations, 

organizations, and affected private persons. 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.8.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS  

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Hazards and Hazardous Materials impacts are considered to be significant if 

implementation of the project considered would result in any of the following: 

• Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or 

disposal of hazardous materials. 

• Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset 

and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment. 

• Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste 

within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school. 

• Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to 

Government Code Section §65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant hazard to the public 

or the environment. 

• For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, 

within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result in a safety hazard 

or excessive noise for people residing or working in the project area. 

• Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or 

emergency evacuation plan. Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant 

risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland fires. 

METHODOLOGY 

Evaluation of potential hazards and hazardous materials impacts of the proposed General Plan Update 

was based primarily on database research, field reconnaissance of the surroundings, review of San Mateo 

County General Plan and existing Town of Colma General Plan, and review of public comment letters. 

Databases accessed for information.  

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.8.1 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update may have the potential to expose 

persons to known and unknown hazardous materials through the routine transport, use, 

or disposal of hazardous, materials, as well as accidents involving the release of hazardous 

materials (Less than Significant). 

The use, transport and disposal of hazardous materials is regulated and monitored by local fire 

departments and the California Highway Patrol (CHP).  

While US 280 and State Route 1 (SR 1) border the western edge of the town, neither of these are designated 

hazardous material transportation routes. Though there are no approved transportation routes through the 

town of Colma, future development of residential or commercial uses within the town may require the use, 

and thus the transport and/or disposal of hazardous substances (e.g., gasoline fuels, demolition materials, 

asphalt, lubricants, toxic solvents, pesticides, and herbicides) during construction, demolition, and 

landscaping activities.  

The 2040 GPU proposes updates to the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing 

planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

the vision of the City Council. In addition, the proposed GPU introduces new land uses such a medium 

density residential land use that is consistent with current developments and a commercial overlay over 

vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an 

additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square 

feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 

square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of 

commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 

square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, 

and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. These 

additional land uses within the town could use and transport hazardous substances. 

In addition, certain commercial uses, including swimming pool facilities, gas stations, and dry cleaners that 

store, use, and routinely transport hazardous material to and from their facilities, could pose a potential 

hazard to the environment. Hazardous materials used during construction and operational activities 

throughout the Planning Area may expose nearby residents to toxic emissions. from time to time. In 

addition, potential future project construction activities may include the use of hazardous materials such 

as solvents, fuels, and diesel fueled equipment, while accidental spills and release of hazardous materials 

during new construction have the potential to occur. As required by local, State and federal regulations, 

any use, transportation, and disposal of hazardous materials is regulated and monitored by the town’s fire 

department, Certified Unified Program Agencies (CUPAs), the California Division of Occupational Safety 

and Health (OSHA), and the California Department of Toxic  Substances Control (DTSC), though in the 

event of an accidental release of hazardous materials, the local emergency management agencies (e.g., fire 

and police departments) would be the first to respond.  

The precise increase in the amount of regulated hazardous materials transported to or from the Planning 

Area as a result of implementation of the proposed General Plan Update, cannot be definitively predicted 

at this time. However, as previously mentioned, all future projects allowed under the GPU would be 

required to comply with local, state and federal requirements related to hazardous materials. Additionally, 

compliance with all applicable federal and state laws related to the transportation of hazardous materials 

would reduce the likelihood and severity of accidents during transit. The use, storage, and transport of 

hazardous materials by developers, contractors, business owners, and others are required to be in 

compliance with local, state, and federal regulations during project construction and operation, as well as 

to be in compliance with a Hazardous Materials Business Plan in accordance with State of California 

regulations. Facilities that use hazardous materials are required to obtain permits and comply with 

appropriate regulatory agency standards designed to avoid hazardous waste releases.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address the use and handling of hazardous materials and 

associated land uses involving hazardous materials through the coordination with appropriate agencies 

regarding route planning and incident response: 

Policy CS-7-1: Hazard Mitigation Plan. Implement, maintain, and update the Local Hazard 

Mitigation Plan which is part of the larger County Hazard Mitigation Plan.  

Policy CS-7.2:  Emergency Management Plan. Continue to participate with San Mateo County’s 

Mutual Aid Programs and Plans for community emergency preparedness. 

Policy CS-7.3: Promote Emergency Preparedness. Utilize multiple information channels to educate 

residents and businesses of the Town’s emergency operations procedure.  



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Policy CS-7.4: Collaborative Planning. Improve inter-jurisdictional and interagency cooperation 

with regard to hazard prevention and emergency response through town participation 

in and initiation of coordination meetings and exercises. 

Policy CS-7.5: Evacuation Routes. Utilize emergency evacuation routes established by the Town and 

ensure that all residential areas of Colma maintain access to at least two routes for 

evacuation. 

Impacts from the use and handling of hazardous materials would be less than significant and no 

mitigation is required.  Moreover, implementation of the policies described above, as well as adherence to 

all federal, state, and local regulations regarding the transportation of hazardous materials, would further 

reduce the environmental impacts associated with the transportation, use and storage of hazardous 

materials  

Impact 4.8.2 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update has the potential to emit hazardous 

emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste 

within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school (Less than Significant). 

As mentioned previously the 2040 GPU has the potential to increase residential land uses by 8.69 acres and 

overall housing by adding in an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill 

residential units in the Mission Road Planning Area; and, 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 

residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster’s site, respectively. While no schools are 

located, or planned for, within the Planning Area in associated with the projected residential development, 

there are schools are located within a quarter mile, just outside the northern and southern boundary of the 

town. Though the GPU may result in activities involving the use of hazardous materials, residential land 

uses do not typically involve the storage or use of substantial quantities of hazardous materials. There 

would not be an increase in the storage and use of hazardous materials. Implementation of the project 

would result in environmental impacts associated with the school hazards to less than significant and no 

further mitigation is required.   

Impact 4.8.3 Though the proposed General Plan Update has the potential to develop a site which is 

included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code 

Section §65962.5 these would be required to comply with State and federal regulations. As 

a result, would it create a significant hazard to the public or the environment (Less than 

Significant). 

There are a number of sites within the town that are included on a list of hazardous material sites compiled 

by pursuant to Government Code Section §65962.5 (Table 4.8-1). These sites are subject to various State 

and federal laws and regulators, including the Certified Unified Program Agencies (CUPAs), the California 

Division of Occupational Safety and Health (OSHA), and the California Department of Toxic Substances 

Control (DTSC). As discussed under Impact 4.8.1, the transportation of hazardous materials on area 

roadways is regulated by the CHP, U.S. Department of Transportation (Hazardous Materials 

Transportation Act) and Caltrans and use of these materials is regulated by the DTSC (22 Cal. Code Regs. 

Section §66001, et seq.).  

As evidenced in Figure 4.8-1, the town of Colma, San Mateo County and the California State Water 

Resources Board lists 21 hazardous waste sites with the Town. Of these, 19 are closed/completed sites, two 

are open and one is open but eligible for closure. The GPU would result in additional development on 

already developed properties (as discussed in the impacts analysis above), two of which are listed as open 

hazardous sites: 7778 El Camino Real, as well as 1 Sandhill Road, which is a closed landfill and does not 

have development potential. The property at 7778 El Camino Real has been identified as an opportunity 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

site for future mixed-use development. Contaminated soil could be encountered during development at 

this site and dust from such contaminated soils has the potential to be dispersed beyond the construction 

site and affect human health. There is also the potential for discovering further Underground Storage Tanks 

(UST) on this site or elsewhere within the Planning Area. If UST(s) are discovered during future 

development activities, removal is required prior to additional site preparation or development activities, 

per the California State Water Resources Control Board Underground Storage Tank Program (SWRCB, 

2009b) and California Health and Safety Code Section §25281, et seq). If there is subsurface contamination 

occurred as a result of tank leakage or overfilling, the contamination would require assessment and 

remediation in compliance with the Town of Colma Multi-Hazard Functional Plan, the town’s Police and 

Public Works Departments. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address hazards to the public and the environment: 

Policy CS-2.1: Geotechnical Studies. Require geotechnical, soils, and foundation reports for 

proposed projects and subdivisions on sites that have been identified as having 

moderate or high potential for ground failure, liquefaction, and seismic activity by 

the Town or by the San Mateo County Seismic and Safety Element. 

The GPU would have a less than significant impact relating to development of sites included on a list of 

hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code section §65962.5.  No mitigation 

measures are required. Moreover, with implementation of the policies described above, as well as 

adherence to all federal, state, and local regulations regarding the hazardous materials sites, would further 

reduce the environmental impacts associated with the re-use of such sites. 

Impact 4.8.4 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not locate people residing or 

working within two miles of a public airport, public use airport, or private airstrip (Less 

than Significant).  

The 2040 GPU proposes updates to the town’s existing planning areas by introducing new land uses such 

a medium density residential land use that is consistent with current developments and a commercial 

overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would 

allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 

15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning 

Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square 

feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 

20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential 

units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively.  

While the town Colma does not have any public or private airports within the town limits, it is within 

influence area B of the San Francisco International Airport (SFO) (see Figure 4.8-2). The SFO Airport is 5.5 

miles away from the Planning Area. Other airports in close proximity include the Half Moon Bay Airport, 

located 11 miles from the Planning Areas and the Oakland Airport and San Carlos Airport, located 13 miles 

and 15.5 miles, respectively, from the town of Colma. Aircrafts taking off from the closed airport, SFO, fly 

over a 1.2-mile-wide and 5.8-mile-long area that is referred to as the “gap”. The gap stretches over the cities 

of San Bruno, South San Francisco, and Daly City and is directly adjacent to the town of Colma. In addition, 

though SFO has designated transitional surfaces as alternate routes for planes to take off or land, one of 

these transitional surfaces extends over the town and has the potential to affect the town residences.    

 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address airport hazards: 

Policy CS-9.1: ALUC Plan. Require development within the Airport Influence Area B, 

designated in the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP) of the San 

Francisco International Airport, to comply with all applicable federal and State 

laws with respect to land use safety and airspace protection criteria.     

Policy CS-9.2: Airport Land Use Commission Review. Require that all future land use actions 

and/or associated development conforms to the relevant height, aircraft noise, and 

safety policies and compatibility criteria contained in the most recently adopted 

version of the ALUCP for the environs of San Francisco International Airport.  

Implementation of the policies described above would ensure the environmental impacts associated with 

any airport hazards are less than significant and no mitigation measures are required. 

Impact 4.8.5 Future development resulting from the proposed General Plan Update would not 

physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation 

plan (Less than Significant).  

Though the GPU would allow for some new residential and commercial development in the town of Colma 

as discussed previously under Impacts 4.8.1 – 4.8.4 above, any future projects are not anticipated to impede 

evacuation routes in the town. Further, the town already has an established roadway and circulation 
system that may be used for the evacuation of residents and the mobility of fire suppression, emergency 

response, and law enforcement vehicles. Therefore, there should not be any potential future conflicts with 

existing emergency response or emergency evacuation plans from implementation of emergency response 

activities.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address emergency response and evacuation plans: 

Policy CS-7-1: Hazard Mitigation Plan. Implement, maintain, and update the Local Hazard 

Mitigation Plan which is part of the larger County Hazard Mitigation Plan. 

Policy CS-7-2:  Emergency Management Plan. Continue to participate with San Mateo County’s 

mutual aid programs and plans for community emergency preparedness. 

Policy CS-7-3: Promote Emergency Preparedness. Utilize multiple information channels to educate 

residents and businesses of the Town’s emergency operations procedure. 

Policy CS-7-4: Collaborative Planning. Improve inter-jurisdictional and interagency cooperation 

with regard to hazard prevention and emergency response through town participation 

in and initiation of coordination meetings and exercises. 

Policy CS-7-5: Evacuation Routes. Utilize emergency evacuation routes established by the Town and 

ensure that all residential areas of Colma maintain access to at least two routes for 

evacuation. 

The GPU would have a less than significant impact relating to an adopted emergency response or 

evacuation plan and no mitigation measure are required. Moreover, implementation of the policies 

described above would further reduce environmental impacts to an adopted emergency response or 

evacuation plan.     



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-18 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Impact 4.8.6 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not expose people or 

structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury or death involving 

wildland fires. (No Impact)  

The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) determines the degree of wildland 

fire hazard based on the natural setting of the area, the degree of human use of the area and the level and 

ability of public services to respond to fires that do occur. CAL FIRE has rated the San Bruno Mountain 

Park and the adjacent undeveloped areas of the town of Colma as areas of moderate fire hazard.  Fires in 

these areas usually occur during the summers primarily where grass and brush grow.  CAL FIRE responds 

to wildland fires from several stations, depending on their proximity and availability. The closest fire 

station serving the town is at 20 Tower Road in the city of Belmont. The areas that are still undeveloped in 

the town of Colma are lands for cemetery uses. New residential or commercial land uses can only occur on 

previously developed land or on approximately 2.8 acres of vacant land. While the 2040 GPU does have 

the potential to add future development, as discussed under Impacts 4.8.1 – 4.8.5 above All future projects 

under the GPU would be required to comply with local, State, and federal requirements related to wildland 

fires, building standards and safety codes, as well as defensible space requirements, where applicable. 

Further, wildland fires typically are a potential hazard to development located in unmaintained open 

spaces. Other than cemetery uses, the town is fairly developed, with no large open spaces dedicated to land 

development. Therefore, the potential for wildland fire is non-existent and the proposed GPU would not 

expose people or structure to a risk of loss, injury, or death. Thus, there is no impact and no mitigation is 

required. 

 

 

 



4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-19 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), Division of Aeronautics. 2011. California Airport Land 

Use Planning Handbook. State of California. 

Cal OES. October 2017. State of California Emergency Plan. 

San Mateo County, California. July 2016. San Mateo County Hazard Mitigation Plan. 

Websites 

California Code of Regulations (CCR). Title 22. Chapter 11. Article 3. 

<http://165.235.111.242/LawsRegsPolicies/Title22/index.cfm> – Accessed July 2020. 

California Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC). 2009. Database. 

<https://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/> Accessed August 2020. 

California Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC). 2020. https://dtsc.ca.gov/ Accessed July 2020. 

California Environmental Protection Agency. 2020. <https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/> Accessed 

August 2020.  

California Environmental Protection Agency, State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). 

<http://www.swrcb.ca.gov/. Accessed July 2020. 

California Environmental Protection Agency, State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) Accessed 

August 2020 

California Vehicle Code 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=14.&lawCode=VEH Accessed August 

2020 

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act https://www.epa.gov/laws-

regulations/summary-comprehensive-environmental-response-compensation-and-liability-act Accessed August 

2020 

Executive Order 12148, 1979 – Federal Emergency Management Agency https://www.archives.gov/federal-

register/codification/executive-order/12148.html Accessed July 2020 

Disaster Mitigation Act https://www.congress.gov/bill/106th-congress/house-bill/707/text Accessed July 2020 

Hazardous Materials Transportation Act https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/49/subtitle-III/chapter-51 

Accessed August 2020 

Hazardous Waste Control Act https://www.cdtfa.ca.gov/lawguides/vol4/hwf/hwf-ch6-5-all.html Accessed July 

2020 

Occupational Safety and Health Administration https://www.osha.gov/ Accessed August 2020 

https://dtsc.ca.gov/
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=14.&lawCode=VEH
https://www.archives.gov/federal-register/codification/executive-order/12148.html
https://www.archives.gov/federal-register/codification/executive-order/12148.html
https://www.congress.gov/bill/106th-congress/house-bill/707/text
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/49/subtitle-III/chapter-51
https://www.cdtfa.ca.gov/lawguides/vol4/hwf/hwf-ch6-5-all.html
https://www.osha.gov/


4.8   HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS  
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.8-20 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act https://www.epa.gov/laws-regulations/summary-resource-

conservation-and-recovery-act Accessed August 2020 

Seismic Hazards Mapping Act https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/shma Accessed July 2020 

Senate Bill 1082 https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/land_disposal/sb1082text.html Accessed 

July 2020 

Town of Colma Municipal Code Section 1.17.010 https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-1-17-colma-

disaster-council/ Accessed August 2020 

Underground Storage Tank Program. 2009. <http://www.swrcb.ca.gov/cwphome/ust/. Accessed August 2020. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1986. <http://pmep.cce.cornell.edu/profiles/insect-

mite/fenitrothion-methylpara/lead-arsenate/insect-prof-leadars.html> Accessed July 2020. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency. National Priorities List (NPL). 2020. 

<http://www.epa.gov/superfund/sites/npl/ca.htm/> Accessed August 2020. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2020. <https://www.epa.gov/enviro/tri-search> 

Accessed July 29, 2020. 

 

https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/shma
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/land_disposal/sb1082text.html
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-1-17-colma-disaster-council/
https://www.colma.ca.gov/documents/cmc-1-17-colma-disaster-council/


4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

 This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) identifies the 

hydrologic resources, existing drainage conditions, and surface and groundwater quality of the Town of 

Colma 2040 General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area). This section also evaluates the potential impacts 

of implementing the town’s proposed 2040 General Plan Update with its impacts to flooding, drainage, 

erosion, water quality, and water supply, and identifies appropriate mitigation measures to lessen the 

identified impacts, where necessary.  

4.9.1 EXISTING SETTING 

Watersheds and Surface Water Hydrology 

An area’s impact on water quality is associated with its overall hydrologic region and the impacts from 

sources and types of water pollutants that affect or degrade its water bodies. Future development and 

redevelopment activities in the Planning Area has the potential to increase impervious surfaces, which may 

in turn, increase direct runoff into Colma Creek and associated water bodies, reduce ground water 

infiltration, degrade water quality, and increase soil erosion, surface runoff, flooding, and discharges 

associated with chemical and fertilizers (hydrocarbons, mercury, metals, polychlorinated biphenyl, etc.).  

A water shed (also known as a drainage or catchment basin) is an area of land that channels and drains all 

the streams, rivers, rainfall, and snowmelt, into area reservoirs, bays, or an ocean. The watershed could 

consist of surface water (lakes, streams, reservoirs, and wetlands) and groundwater, and its size is based 

on its geography. Watersheds in the San Francisco Bay Area (Bay Area) range from large ones such as the 

700 square mile Alameda Creek watershed, which includes two counties and seven cities, to small 

watersheds such as the 1.1 square mile Codornices Creek watershed along the Berkeley/Albany city 

boundaries. All of the Bay Area watersheds ultimately drain to San Francisco Bay, or in coastal areas in and 

around the Bay and Pacific Ocean.  

The town of Colma is a landlocked city that is located within San Mateo County on the San Francisco 

Peninsula. San Mateo County encompasses four hydrologic basins a total of 34 watersheds which drain to 

either the Pacific Ocean or San Francisco Bay (Bay). The State divides its watershed areas or hydrologic 

regions into ten main regions and numerous sub-areas. The town of Colma is located within the Colma  

Creek watershed in the San Francisco Bay Hydrologic Region. The Colma Creek watershed also includes 

portions of the cities of Daly City and South San Francisco, as well as unincorporated San Mateo County. 

The watershed is part of the San Mateo Basin, which is a major source of groundwater that drains via Colma 

Creek into the San Francisco Bay in South San Francisco.   

Groundwater Hydrology - Colma Creek 

Groundwater is an important water source in the town, as many of the cemeteries depend on groundwater 

for irrigation. The main groundwater aquifer which underlies the town of Colma is the San Mateo Basin, 

and it extends through the city of South San Francisco and northern San Bruno. The trough is estimated to 

be two miles wide by nine miles long and lies between San Bruno Mountain and the Santa Cruz Mountains. 

Colma Creek runs through the town of Colma, with the headwaters beginning on the slopes of San Bruno 

Mountain and entering the planning area from the town’s northern border. The majority of the creek runs 

underground, along El Camino Real toward the city of South San Francisco. Colma Creek daylights within 

the town boundaries between El Camino Real and Mission Road in the Colma Creek Flood Control channel 

and runs into the city of South San Francisco.  All of the surface drainage in the town boundaries ultimately 

flows into Colma Creek, through the city of South San Francisco, and out into the San Francisco Bay. 



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Flooding 

The town of Colma is included in Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate 

Map (FIRM) Panels 06081C0029F, 06081C0037E, 06081C0036F, and 06081C0041E. Per Panel 06081C0037E, 

Flood Zone X has been designated over a small area on the northern portion of El Camino Real. Zone X is 

an “Other Flood Area”, which includes 500-year flood zones, 100-year flood zones with average depths of 

less than 1 food or drainage areas less than 1 square mile, and areas protected by levees from a 100-year 

flood. In addition, Flood Zones A, AE, and AO have been identified along El Camino Real, directly outside 

of the town’s northern and southern boundaries within unincorporated San Mateo County and South San 

Francisco. Flood Zones A, AE, and AO are different classifications of 100-year flood zones. FEMA flood 

zones are shown in Figure 4.9-1: Flood Hazards. 

Dam Inundation 

Dam inundation is typically caused by the release of water from a dam’s structural failure or overtopping 

of a dam. The State of California Department of Water Resources’ Division of Safety of Dams is responsible 

for regulating and regularly inspecting dam facilities in the State. According to the State of California 

Natural Resources Agency Department of Water Resources Division of Safety of Dams, there are 

approximately 20 dams within San Mateo county, some of which are at risk of dam inundation. Ver, the 

town of Colma is located outside any dam inundation areas.  

Tsunamis 

According to the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), a tsunami is “a series of 

waves caused by earthquakes or undersea volcanic eruptions”. These typically follow seismic events, 

landslides, and earthquakes. The State of California Department of Conservation maps tsunami inundation 

area throughout the State; the Tsunami Hazard Area Map for San Mateo county and the Planning Area 

indicate that the town is outside a tsunami inundation hazard area.  

Seiches 

According to the San Mateo County Hazard Mitigation Plan (HMP), the town is landlocked and is not 

located in a seiche area. Seiches are standing waves in oscillating in a body of water. They are typically 

formed from strong winds and rapid changes in atmospheric pressure which pushes water but can also be 

caused by tsunamis, earthquakes, and severe storm fronts. Seiches can occur in the San Francisco Bay but 

are not as common compared to other areas in the United States. 

  



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

  



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Water Supply 

The town of Colma is serviced by California Water Service Company (Cal Water). Cal Water supplies water 

to three districts on the San Francisco Bay Peninsula, Bear Gulch, Mid-Peninsula, and South San Francisco. 

The town of Colma is located entirely within Cal Water’s Bayshore – South San Francisco District. The 

majority of the water supplied to the South San Francisco district is purchased from the San Francisco 

Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) and is supplemented by five groundwater wells. While water 

demand per capita is projected to decrease, increases in population may increase the overall water use. 

Projections in the 2015 Urban Water Management Plan of the South San Francisco District use reasonably 

available volumes to show that supplies are anticipated to meet the growing demand for years with normal 

precipitation out until 2040. However, factors such as droughts and climate change may impact supplies.  

Climate 

The town of Colma has a Mediterranean climate regulated by the Pacific Ocean. The area is characterized 

consistently mild temperatures. The graphic below portrays monthly averages for rainfall and 

temperatures in 2019 as well as a 30-year average from 1981-2010. As shown in Figure 4.9-2: Precipitation 

and Mean Temperature below, mean temperatures in 2019 are similar to the 30-year average. In general, 

the 2019 average temperatures are slightly higher than the 30-year average. The precipitation data has also 

followed the 30-year average trend with more precipitation in the winter and dry summers. However, there 

was an increase in rainfall during the winter and a decrease in precipitation in the summer. These 

differences are expected with climate change projections showing increased temperatures and extended 

periods of drought with more extreme heavy rain events. 

Figure 4.9-2: Precipitation and Mean Temperature 

 

 

 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Temperature (Avg) 50.7 52.7 54.3 55 57.1 59.5 61.7 61.8 62.2 59.9 55.9 50.9

Temperature (2019) 54 49.3 53.2 56.8 55.7 62 61.7 64.2 64.7 61.5 56.4 52.4

Precipitation (Avg) 5.08 4.95 3.53 1.63 0.84 0.19 0.05 0.12 0.28 1.27 3.04 5.07

Precipitation (2019) 5.41 9.82 5.17 0.78 2.49 0 0.05 0.07 0.18 0.02 1.33 5.55

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

A
ve

ra
ge

 P
re

ci
p

it
at

io
n

 (
In

ch
es

)

A
ve

ra
ge

 T
em

p
er

at
u

re
 (

Fa
re

n
h

ei
t)

Temperature (Avg) Temperature (2019) Precipitation (Avg) Precipitation (2019)



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

4.9.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

Federal Clean Water Act 

The Federal Clean Water Act (CWA) of 1972, is the primary federal law that regulates and restores the 

quality of the nation’s surface waters. Several provisions, including Sections 303(c)(2)(B), 303(d), 401, 

402(p), 404, and the Toxics Rule specifically protect water quality. Under the CWA, the U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency (EPA) sets national standards and effluent limitations and delegates many regulatory 

responsibilities to the California State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB, or State Water Board). The 

CWA established the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit to regulate all discharges 

into the nation’s waters 

Section 303(d) of the 1972 Federal Clean Water Act requires states develop and submit to U.S. EPA for 

approval a list of all water bodies that do not meet water quality standards, establish priority rankings for 

waters on the list, and develop Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) or an action plan to improve water 

quality. States are required to submit this list every two years to the EPA.  

Safe Drinking Water Act 

The Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA), administered by the EPA in coordination with the states, is the main 

federal law that ensures the quality of drinking water. Under the SDWA, the EPA sets standards for 

drinking water quality and oversees the states, localities, and water suppliers who implement those 

standards. The Department of Public Health administers the regulations contained in the SDWA in the 

State of California. 

REGIONAL   

Porter-Cologne Water Quality Act, 1969 

The Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act establishes the SWRCB and each RWQCB as the principal 

state agencies for coordinating and controlling water quality in California. Specifically, the Porter-Cologne 

Water Quality Control Act authorizes the SWRCB to adopt, review, and revise policies for all waters of the 

state (including both surface and groundwaters) and directs the RWQCBs to develop regional Basin Plans. 

State Water Resources Control Board 

The SWRCB was established through the California Porter Cologne Water Quality Act of 1969 and has the 

responsibility to protect water quality. The SWRCB sets statewide policies and regulations for the 

implementation of water quality control programs mandated by federal and state water quality statutes 

and regulations. The State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB, or State Water Board) and the nine 

regional boards protect water quality and allocate surface water rights in the State of California. The Town 

of Colma is under jurisdiction of RWQCB Region 2 (San Francisco Bay Region). 

State Department of Water Resources 

The Department of Water Resources (DWR) is responsible for the management and regulation of water 

usage, including the delivery of water to two-thirds of California’s population through the nation’s largest 

state-built water development and conveyance system, the State Water Project. Working with other 

agencies and the public, DWR develops strategic goals, and near-term and long-term actions, to conserve, 

manage, develop, and sustain California's watersheds, water resources, and management systems. DWR 



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

also works to prevent and respond to floods, droughts, and catastrophic events that would threaten public 

safety, water resources and management systems, the environment, and property. 

Streambed Alteration Agreement 

The California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) regulates streambed alterations in accordance 

with the California Fish and Game Code 1601–1616: Streambed Alterations. Whenever a project proposes 

to alter a streambed, channel, or bank, an agreement with CDFW is required. The agreement is a legally 

binding document that describes measures agreed to by both parties to reduce risks to fish and wildlife in 

the stream system during the project. This is a separate process from CEQA approval but is usually 

coordinated with CEQA compliance. Agreements typically have fewer procedural and legal requirements 

than CEQA in order to work with small-scale projects that are important to fish. Timeframes for agreements 

are 30 days for CDFW to determine the completeness of an application and an additional 60 days to provide 

a draft agreement to the applicant. 

Regional Water Quality Control Board Region 2 

RWQCB Region 2 (San Francisco Bay Region) regulates stormwater quality under authorities of the Federal 

Clean Water Act and California’s Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act. The RWQCB issues NPDES 

permits to dischargers of municipal and industrial stormwater runoff and operators of large construction 

sites. In coordination with permittees of the San Francisco Bay Municipal Regional Stormwater Permit, 

including Colma, RWQCB staff performs an annual performance review and evaluation of the County’s 

stormwater management program and NPDES compliance activities. The San Francisco Bay Water Board 

also protects groundwater through implementation of its regulatory and planning programs. 

San Francisco Bay Region NPDES Municipal Regional Stormwater Permit 

The San Francisco Bay Municipal Regional Stormwater Permit (MRP), Order No. R2-2015-0049, issues the 

Waste Discharge Requirements and National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permits for 

the discharge of stormwater runoff from the municipal separate storm sewer systems (MS4s) of 76 

municipalities and local agencies in five Bay Area counties, including the town of Colma. The town is 

obligated to follow the mandates of the MRP to control stormwater discharge within the town limits. 

Provisions of this requirement require onsite treatment of stormwater, discharges by businesses, trash 

capture devices in the storm drain system and more. 

LOCAL 

Town of Colma Municipal Code – Chapter 3.10 

The Town of Colma Municipal Code Chapter 3.10 provides the legal mechanism to implement regulations 

of the Municipal Regional Stormwater Permit and any discharges. It states that the purpose of the 

ordinance is to eliminate non-stormwater discharges to the municipal separate storm sewer and reduce 

pollutants in stormwater discharges to the maximum extent practicable. This ordinance is a mechanism to 

control non-stormwater discharges into the municipal separate storm sewer such as spills and dumping.   

Town of Colma Municipal Code – Chapter 5.07 

Town of Colma Municipal Code Chapter 5.07 is the Town’s Grading and Erosion and Sediment Control 

Ordinance. The purpose of the ordinance is to provide safe grading operations, preserve and enhance the 

natural environment, control erosion and sedimentation, reduce flood risk, and reduce the impacts on 

habitats riparian habitats and stream capacity.  The ordinance requires that development projects provide 

plans for grading projects as well as measures for erosion control and sediment control.  



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Town of Colma Municipal Code – Chapter 5.11 

In addition, Chapter 5.11 includes provisions for water efficient landscapes and encourage stormwater 

management best practices. It states that the purpose of the ordinance is to promote the values and benefits 

of landscapes while supporting landscape practices that integrate the efficient use of water and establish 

provisions for water management practices and water waste prevention for existing landscapes. This 

ordinance is applicable to new development projects equal to or greater than 500 square feet where a 

building permit or design review is required and rehabilitated landscape projects with an aggregate 

landscape area equal to or greater than 2,500 square feet where a building permit or design review is 

required. 

Green Infrastructure Plan 

The town of Colma developed a Green Infrastructure (GI) Plan in 2019 is a requirement of the NPDES MRP, 

issued by the San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) on November 19, 2015. 

The GI Plan describes how the town will, over time, transition its existing “gray” (i.e., traditional) 

infrastructure to “green” infrastructure. This document provides guidance to meet stormwater pollutant 

load reduction goals and creates a process for prioritizing the integration of GI into Capital Improvement 

Program projects.  

4.9.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Hydrology impacts considered to be significant if implementation of the project 

considered would result in any of the following: 

• Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise substantially 

degrade surface or groundwater quality. 

• Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge 

such that the project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the basin. 

• Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration 

of the course of a stream or river through the addition of impervious surfaces which would result in: 

a. Substantial erosion or siltation on-or off-site;  

b. Substantial increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result 

in flooding on-or off-site; 

c. Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned 

stormwater drainage systems; or 

d. Provide substantial additional source of polluted runoff, or impede or redirect flood flows. 

• Result in flood hazard, tsunami, seiche zones, or risk release of pollutants due to project inundation. 

• Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater 

management plan. 

 



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

METHODOLOGY 

Evaluation of potential hydrology impacts of the proposed Town of Colma 2040 General Plan Update was 

based primarily on information gathered from FEMA, San Mateo County, Regional Water Quality Control 

Board, NOAA, CGS, PRISM Climate Group, and Cal Water. Implementation of the GPU was compared to 

the existing and proposed conditions and development/redevelopment potential. to determine the impacts 

to hydrology and water quality.  

Future development or redevelopment activities in the Planning Area has the potential to result in impacts 

to water quality, hydrology, flooding, or other inundation hazards. Compliance with the San Mateo County 

Water Pollution Prevention Plan  (SMCWPPP) would ensure future development projects adhere to 

established water quality standards and stormwater runoff during construction and operation activities in 

the town.  

The 2040 GPU policies are designed to mitigate or avoid impacts on the hydrologic environment resulting 

from implementation of the 2040 General Plan Update. As appropriate. each impact discussion includes a 

determination as to the impacts after implementation of the updated General Plan policies. 

IMPACTS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Impact 4.9.1 Implementation of the proposed 2040 General Plan Update would not violate any water 

quality standards during construction and operation of future development or otherwise 

substantially degrading surface water quality (Less than Significant).   

While the town of Colma is limited in its land area for future development, future development is 

anticipated to utilize infill sites at higher densities and uses for both residential and commercial projects. 

The 2040 GPU proposes updates to the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing 

planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and 

the vision of the City Council. In addition, the proposed GPU introduces opportunity sites and new land 

uses such a medium density residential land use that is consistent with current developments and a 

commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU 

would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential 

units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road 

Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 

310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core 

Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential 

units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, 

respectively. 

Any future construction and operation of the proposed new development that would be allowed under the 

town’s proposed General Plan Update, would likely increase impervious surfaces, local water runoff and 

increase water pollutant levels by introducing constituents into the exiting stormwater system. Such 

constituents may include, but are not limited to, pesticides, fertilizers hydrocarbons and heavy metals (lead, 

zinc, copper). However, best management practices (BMPs), stabilization measures, and Low Impact 

Development (LID) practices can be utilized to minimize this effect on water quality. In addition, 

groundwater could be encountered during certain types of construction activities. This may result in the 

need for dewatering, or the removal of non-stormwater, such as groundwater encountered during a site 

excavation or construction. Though such water is typically considered to be relatively pollutant-free, it 

would likely contain sediments; the discharge of such sediments and the release of pollutants downstream 

waters or the underlying groundwater aquifer could violate water quality standards. 



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

The Clean Water Act and California State Water Resources Control Board require any development, 

infrastructure, redevelopment, or improvement project over one acre in size, to be approved for a Storm 

Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), a General Permit particularly during construction activities, as 

well as implementation of BMPs and methods to prevent erosion and tracking would be required. Also, 

the town is obligated to follow the mandates of the San Francisco Bay Municipal Regional Stormwater 

Permit (MRP) to control stormwater discharge within the town limits. Provisions of the MRP require onsite 

treatment of stormwater, discharges by businesses, trash capture devices in the storm drain system and 

more. Furthermore, the proposed policies in the General Plan Update would help mitigate the impacts to 

surface water quality. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies 

The following proposed General Plan policies address surface water quality standards  

Policy OSC-4-1: Comply with Water Quality Regulations. Continue to comply with all State and 

federal regulations for water quality. 

Policy OSC-4-2:   Participation in the San Mateo County Stormwater Pollution Prevention 

Program (SMCWPPP). Continue to be an active member agency of the 

SMCWPPP to reduce pollution from being conveyed through the storm water 

system to the San Francisco Bay. 

Policy OSC-4.-9: Water Quality and Conservation Public Information. Continue to support and 

coordinate with the Countywide Stormwater Program, Cal Water, and the San 

Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) on their public outreach and 

education campaigns to conserve and maintain water quality. 

Policy LU-2-4:  Low Impact Development.  Regulate new development and construction to 

minimize pollutant and sediment concentrations in receiving waters and ensure 

that surface water meets or exceeds applicable regulatory water quality 

standards.  Require new development to incorporate Low Impact Development 

features that treat and reduce surface runoff volumes. 

Implementation of the policies described above would reduce the environmental impacts associated 

surface water quality to less than significant and no further mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.9.2 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not decrease groundwater 

supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge such that the project may 

impede sustainable groundwater management (Less than Significant).  

The implementation of the town of Colma’s 2040 proposed General Plan Update would increase the 

potential redevelopment of infill sites. As mentioned previously, the 2040 GPU proposes updates to the 

town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning areas into five new planning areas 

that are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision of the City Council. The planning 

areas introduce opportunity sites and new land uses such a medium density residential land use that is 

consistent with current developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery 

land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the 

Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 

square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within 

the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of 



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, 

Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Such future development/redevelopment activities could result in stormwater runoff and affect existing 

groundwater resources, especially since the town is located above a ground water aquifer associated with 

local geology. Polluted runoff may include heavy metals, petroleum hydrocarbons, fertilizers, pesticides, 

among others, all of which could potentially contaminate groundwater resources if not properly treated 

with water quality controls. Further, the Planning Area is located in the San Mateo Subbasin of the San 

Francisco Bay Hydrologic Region, and the groundwater in this basin is not considered to be a good source 

of municipal or irrigation water use due to the high content of chloride, sulfate, metals, pesticides, or even 

arsenic. Since the 2040 GPU would allow for additional development of residential, commercial and office 

uses, this could result in increased demand for water even this increase would not impact local 

groundwater supplies.  The town of Colma is serviced by Cal Water’s South San Francisco District, which 

provides water from a combination of groundwater as well as purchased water sources and has adequate 

resources to meet the present needs and foreseeable growth of the town.  On both developed and 

undeveloped sites, compliance with the MRP requires that projects to include stormwater treatment 

measures that would allow for the treatment and retention of surface runoff. This improves water quality 

and allows for ground water recharge opportunities on developed sites and mitigates the impact of future 

development and redevelopment activities. The majority of the town’s groundwater usage comes from the 

irrigation of cemetery lands. The development of cemetery structures such as a mausoleum may reduce 

the ground water use by reducing the need to irrigate. In addition, Colma Municipal Code Chapter 5.11 

requires that new development projects that affect 500 square feet or more and landscape modification 

projects that affect 2,500 square feet or more, including cemetery lands, improve water use efficiency by 

planting less water intensive species of vegetation and increasing efficiency in irrigation.  

Also, statewide NPDES permits are required for construction runoff and dewatering and other releases to 

surface water as well as the LID techniques required by Policy LU-2-4, would protect groundwater quality 

under future development and redevelopment activities in the town of Colma. The policies discussed 

below would further minimize any potential impact from the proposed 204 GPU.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies 

The following proposed General Plan policies address groundwater supplies and groundwater recharge: 

Policy OSC-4-1: Comply with Water Quality Regulations. Continue to comply with all State and 

federal regulations for water quality. 

Policy OSC-4-3: Reclaimed Water. Pursue opportunities to install water recycling infrastructure 

for Town-owned and cemetery landscape areas. 

Policy OSC-4-4:  Use of Drought Tolerant and Native Plants. Encourage the use of drought 

tolerant and native plants in landscaping plans. 

Policy OSC-4-5:  Green Infrastructure. Incorporate green infrastructure, which relies on natural 

processes for stormwater treatment/drainage, groundwater recharge and flood 

control, into street and rights-of-way wherever practicable, including curb cuts, 

flow-through planters and bioswales that slow stormwater runoff by dispersing 

it to vegetated areas, harvesting and use of runoff, and promote infiltration and 

use of bioretention to clean stormwater runoff. 



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Policy LU-2-6:  Green Infrastructure. Encourage green infrastructure installations that rely on 

natural processes for stormwater treatment/drainage, groundwater recharge and 

flood control. 

Policy LU-2-7:  Public Green Infrastructure.  Incorporate green infrastructure into street and 

rights-of-way wherever practicable, including curb cuts, flow-through planters 

and bioswales that slow stormwater runoff by dispersing it to vegetated areas, 

harvesting and use of runoff, and promote infiltration and use of bioretention to 

clean stormwater runoff. 

Implementation of the policies described above would reduce the environmental impacts associated with 

groundwater and groundwater quality to less than significant and no further mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.9.3 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would increase impervious surfaces 

and alter drainage conditions in town, which could result in increased erosion, on-or-off-

site siltation, surface, and polluted runoff, or affect existing or planned stormwater 

drainage systems (Less than Significant). 

The town of Colma has limited vacant parcels and new development under the 2040 General Plan Update 

would primarily come from redevelopment of infill sites with higher intensities, with some new 

development area around the center of the town. Since the 2040 GPU proposes updates to the town’s 

existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning areas into five new planning areas that 

are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision of the City Council, the GPU also  

introduces opportunity site and new land uses such a medium density residential land use that is consistent 

with current developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of 

Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park 

Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside 

Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in 

the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial 

uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center 

and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Any of this new construction though has the potential to increase impervious surfaces and alter existing 

drainage patterns within the town thereby increasing the risk of flooding. New development or 

redevelopment projects under the 2040 GPU also has the potential to increase flow rates and volumes of 

runoff by, for example configuring to add in bike lanes, new structures, parking areas, and other 

impervious surfaces, among others, and by providing improved facilities for drainage conveyance. When 

land is in a natural or undeveloped condition (including the town’s cemetery areas), soils, mulch, 

vegetation, and plant roots have the potential to absorb rainwater. This, in turn, could infiltrate into the soil 

and be stored either temporarily or permanently on the surface or in underground soil layers, may even 

flow over the surface of the land to low lying areas, ditches, channels, streams, and rivers as stormwater 

runoff. Grading, construction, and general development of a site with urban and infill uses has the potential 

to alter infiltration and runoff processes by introducing impervious uses that absorb less rainfall and 

moisture. However, the construction of underground storm drain, as needed, and as part of future 

development projects in the town could provide for efficient conveyance of runoff to downstream locations 

of discharge. As new impervious surfaces are added to areas, and as surface and underground drainage 

conveyance becomes more efficient and more concentrated, the natural infiltration and storage processes 

are reduced. This in turn could result in increasing the frequency, volume and flow rate of stormwater 



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

runoff, increased downstream flooding and/or erosion/sedimentation processes, even outside the town of 

Colma boundaries. 

However, the town also has to comply with the San Mateo Countywide Water Pollutions Prevention 

Program which addresses issues related to stormwater pollution, which may include, but is not limited to 

flooding, sedimentation reduction, erosion, and water quality. New development or even redevelopment 

activities under the 2040 GPU may involve land clearing, grading. Ground disturbance activities that have 

the potential to temporarily increase soil erosion rates or affect exiting water quality in a project 

construction area. On both developed and undeveloped sites, compliance with the MRP requires that 

projects that alter more than 5,000 square feet of land area are required to include stormwater treatment 

measures that would allow for the treatment and retention of surface runoff. This would improve water 

quality and allow for ground water recharge opportunities on redeveloped sites and mitigate the impact 

of development on vacant sites. The stormwater treatment measures would also slow surface runoff before 

it enters the storm drain system, reducing the load.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies that address stormwater and drainage: 

Policy OSC-4-6: Stormwater Runoff. Require large-scale projects (over 0.5 acres) to channel 

surface and roof runoff to on-site detention facilities to facilitate groundwater 

recharge, reduce stormwater pollution, and mitigate flooding of Colma Creek. 

Policy OSC-4-8: Colma Creek Enhancements. Enhance Colma Creek where possible by concrete 

channel removal, adding landscaping, public pathways, and sitting areas. 

Policy CS-3-2: Maintain Drainage Facilities. Maintain drainage facilities to accommodate the 

flow capacity of Colma Creek through Colma to accommodate the storm water 

runoff from a 100-year storm. 

Policy CS-3-4: Stormwater Detention. Require new developments over one half acre in size to 

construct on-site storm water detention facilities which contribute runoff to 

Colma Creek in order to store the difference in runoff between the 10-year pre-

development storm (original natural state) and the 100-year post-development 

storm. Any stormwater release should be at the 10-year predevelopment rate. 

Policy LU-2-5:  Green Infrastructure Plan.  Implement a Green Infrastructure Plan to ensure 

compliance with the Municipal Regional Stormwater National Pollutant 

Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit.  

Implementation of the General Plan Update policies LU-2-6, LU-2-7, OSC-4-5 and the policies described 

above manage stormwater runoff and provides opportunities for storm water retention and treatment. 

With the General Plan Update policies, the impacts associated with the increase of impervious surfaces and 

the alteration of drainage patterns would be reduced to less than significant and no further mitigation is 

required. 

Impact 4.9.4 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not increase the risk of  

tsunami or seiche zones (No Impact). 

The town is located on the San Francisco Peninsula, between San Bruno Mountains and the foothills of the 

Santa Cruz Mountain Range. Though the town of Colma is geographically a part of the San Francisco Bay 

Area the town’s geographic location puts it approximately 1.5 miles from the Pacific Ocean to the west 

and approximately 2.5 miles from the San Francisco Bay to the east. Further, the town of Colma is 



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

landlocked by the cities of San Francisco to the north, Daly City to west, and South San Francisco to the 

south. Tsunamis and seiches have not been of historic flooding concern for this area and the 

implementation of the 2040 General Update will not increase this risk for future development projects. 

There will be no impact and no further mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.9.5 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not conflict with or obstruct 

implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater management 

plan (Less than Significant). 

The Planning Area falls within the jurisdiction of the California Regional Water Quality Control Board, San 

Francisco Bay Region 2 (RWQCB). The Bay area’s RWQCB overall mission is to protect area’s overall 

surface water and groundwater quality.  

As discussed under Impact 4.9.1 – 4.9.3, the town’s 2040 GPU does propose additional development in the 

town over the next 20 years. However, this Program level EIR (PEIR) does not evaluate specific 

development projects and related impacts to surface water and groundwater, future development and 

redevelopment activities would have to comply with all construction related General Permit and BMPs. 

Erosion control, site runoff activities, potential soil and groundwater contamination would have to also 

comply with existing water quality control plan and groundwater management plan. 

Implementation of the policies described above would reduce the environmental impacts associated with 

groundwater management to less than significant and no further mitigation is required. 

  



4.9   HYDROLOGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.9-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

California Regional Water Quality Control Board, San Francisco Bay Region 2015 Municipal Regional 

Stormwater NPDES Permit Order No. R2-2015-0049, NPDES Permit No. CAS612008 

South San Francisco District, California Water Service 2015 Urban Water Management Plan  

Town of Colma. 2020. Town of Colma Existing Conditions Report 

Town of Colma. 2019. Green Infrastructure Plan 

Town of Colma. 2019. Town of Colma Municipal Code.  

Town of Colma. 1999. Town of Colma General Plan 

Websites 

Federal Emergency Map Agency (FEMA) Flood Map Service Center (MSC)  Accessed March 9, 2020 

PRISM Climate Group, PRISM Climate Data. http://prism.oregonstate.edu/ Accessed March 9, 2020 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

California Regional Water Quality Control Board, San Francisco Bay Region 2015 Municipal Regional 

Stormwater NPDES Permit Order No. R2-2015-0049, NPDES Permit No. CAS612008 

California Water Service. 2016. 2015 Urban Water Management Plan, South San Francisco District 

Town of Colma. 2020. Town of Colma Existing Conditions Report 

Town of Colma. 2019. Green Infrastructure Plan 

Town of Colma. 2019. Town of Colma Municipal Code.  

Town of Colma. 1999. Town of Colma General Plan 

Websites 

California Department of Water Resources, Division of Safety of Dams. https://water.ca.gov/Programs/All-

Programs/Division-of-Safety-of-Dams. Accessed March 23, 2021. 

California Water Boards, San Francisco Bay. 

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/sanfranciscobay/basin_planning.html. Accessed March 23, 2021.  

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. What is a seiche? 

https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/seiche.html. Accessed March 23, 2021  

Federal Emergency Map Agency (FEMA) Flood Map Service Center (MSC) https://msc.fema.gov/portal/home 

Accessed March 9, 2020 

PRISM Climate Group, PRISM Climate Data. http://prism.oregonstate.edu/ Accessed March 9, 2020 

State of California, 2021, Tsunami Hazard Area Map, San Mateo County; produced by the California 

Geological Survey, the California Governor’s Office of Emergency Services, and AECOM; dated 2021, 

mapped at multiple scales. https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/informationwarehouse/ts_evacuation/ Accessed 

March 23, 2021.  

http://prism.oregonstate.edu/
https://water.ca.gov/Programs/All-Programs/Division-of-Safety-of-Dams
https://water.ca.gov/Programs/All-Programs/Division-of-Safety-of-Dams
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/sanfranciscobay/basin_planning.html
https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/seiche.html
https://msc.fema.gov/portal/home
http://prism.oregonstate.edu/
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/informationwarehouse/ts_evacuation/


7.0    REPORT PREPARERS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc Page 7.0-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Draft Environmental Impact Report 

7.1 TOWN OF COLMA  
 

City Manager    Brian Dossey   
 

General Plan Manager   Michael Laughlin/Farhad Mortazavi 

 

7.2 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING TEAM  
 

CSG CONSULTANTS  
 

EIR Project Manager   Anna Choudhuri  
 

Environmental Planners/GIS  Leila Carver 

Shehriyar Khan 

Jonathan Kwan 

Laurel Mathews 

Nancy Mith 

Krystal Sanchez 

SUB-CONSULTANTS   
 

ASM Affiliates    Ted Bibby 

     Deanna Keegan 
 

CSDA Design Group   Randy Waldeck, P.E. 
 

Kittleson & Associates, Inc  Matt Braughton 

     Damian Stefanakis  
 

PlaceWorks Inc.    Andrea Howard 

     Joanna Jansen 

       
 

 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

energy resources and consumption within the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan Planning Area (Planning 

Area). In accordance with the goals of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), this section also 

identifies the current regulatory framework with regard to energy laws, plans and policies; discusses the 

existing conditions for the town of Colma and identifies energy sources; describes existing and projected 

energy use during construction and operation.  

4.5.1 EXISTING SETTING 

According to the US Energy Information Administration (EIA), primary energy consumption in the United 

States was 37% from petroleum sources, 32% from natural gas sources, 11% from coal, 11% from renewable 

energy sources (such as biomass, wind, solar, geothermal, and hydroelectric), and eight percent from 

nuclear electric power. 

The State of California (State) relies on a regional power system that is composed of a mix of natural gas, 

renewable energy, nuclear electric power and hydroelectric power sources. The transportation sector in the 

State consumed about 40% of California’s Energy sources, followed by industrial uses (23%) and 

commercial (19%) and residential (18%) uses (US Energy Information Administration, 2020). California 

produces almost 73% of its electric power needs in the State, with the remaining 27% of its electricity 

demand is imported from the Pacific Northwest (Oregon and Nevada) and from Arizona in the Pacific 

Southwest. (Transmission Agency of Northern California, 2020).  

In 2018, the State’s total energy consumption was roughly the second highest in the US, but it also ranked 

the highest in the country in the production of solar, geothermal and biomass energy sources, and fourth 

in the nation in production of hydroelectric power. In 2010, the State’s in-state generated electricity as 

derived from natural gas (53.4%), hydroelectric resources (14.6%), coal (1.7%), nuclear sources (15.7%) and 

renewable energy resources (14.6%). These renewable energy resources included geothermal, biomass, 

wind, solar, and small hydroelectric sources. In 2018, California’s in-state natural gas energy generation 

had decreased to about 43.8%, hydroelectric to 12.3%, coal to 1.2%, nuclear sources to 8.7%, but had 

increased for renewable energy resource usage, to about 34%.  

According to the California Energy Commission (CEC), though the State’s total energy consumption had 

increased from 228,038 Giga-Watt hours (GWh) in 1990, to almost 285,574 GWh in 2008, the state’s energy 

consumption decreased to 285,488 GWh in 2018. Thirty four percent of California’s electricity came from 

renewable sources in 2018.  However, despite this slight decrease, the State’s overall energy consumption 

is anticipated to increase over the next few decades due to population and job growth. California’s 

electricity usage is anticipated to grow anywhere from 13% to 15% though gas usage may decrease by 

almost 20% during the next 20 years. 

REGIONAL 

In 2008, San Mateo County published the San Mateo County Energy Strategy 2012 to address the future 

energy and water needs of the county. The 2012 Strategy was subsequently adopted by every city in San 

Mateo County in calendar year 2009.  The strategy included the development of a natural gas power plant 

within San Mateo County. At this time, both electricity and gas were provided by Pacific Gas and Electric 

Company (PG&E). Since then, Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE) launched and many of the local governments 

within the county, including the town of Colma, opted to move from centralized fossil fuel sources, to 

cleaner, distributed sources of energy. PCE is a locally controlled electricity provider that provides all 

PG&E customers within San Mateo County 100% carbon free electricity. While customers have the option 

to opt out of power procured by PCE, the opt out rate has been relatively low. In 2019 the opt out rate was 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

less than 1 percent. PG&E continues to maintain the energy infrastructure and provide natural gas to the 

community. 

The county consumed about 5076.1 GWh of electricity in 2008 compared to 4254.6 GWh in 2018, and 

approximately 230.553 million therms of natural gas in 2008, compared to 209.664 million therms in 2018. 

In San Mateo County, the average household in each of the four most affluent communities consumes 

between two and five times more energy than households in other cities. Although residents in those 

communities pay higher utility bills, their energy habits require a larger energy infrastructure in the county 

than would otherwise be needed. 

Energy Demand  

PG&E is responsible for forecasting future energy needs in its territory based on historical demand, 

anticipated population increases, expected job growth and numerous other factors. The forecasts are used 

to ensure that sufficient electricity and transmission capacity are available to meet expected demand and 

prevent outages. PG&E estimates a one percent annual increase in overall electricity use for the San 

Francisco Bay area, which includes San Mateo County.  

Peak Demand is the biggest factor in planning how much energy infrastructure is needed in a given area. 

Demand for energy in the San Francisco Bay area generally peaks on weekday summer afternoons when 

most businesses use air conditioning. Power plants that are used only when needed to meet the increased 

demand are called peaker plants. PG&E expects its area’s peak demand to grow by 11% in the next decade.  

Energy Supply 

As previously mentioned, PCE supplies 100% carbon free electricity to the town of Colma. Customers have 

the choice to opt out of purchasing PCE’s electricity and to purchase energy from PG&E instead. Customers 

that opt out of purchasing PCE’s electricity returns to purchasing energy from PG&E. While the energy is 

not 100% carbon free, PG&E’s energy mix is one of the cleanest in the country, with the majority of PG&E-

owned generation and power purchases coming from nuclear, renewable, and large hydro sources. The 

State’s Renewable Portfolio Standard requires utilities to obtain 20% of their energy portfolio from 

renewable sources by 2010. Eligible renewable resources include geothermal, most hydroelectric, biomass, 

selected municipal solid waste facilities, solar and wind.  

More than 13,000 customers in PG&E’s San Francisco Bay service area meet some or all of their energy 

needs through self-generation, where they buy or lease systems that produce energy on-site. Several kinds 

of self-generation systems are eligible for rebates, tax credits or other financial incentives that make them 

more affordable to install. Self-generation systems are usually more cost-effective for users in the long-

term. Self-generation systems also help the overall electric system by reducing the load on the grid and 

contributing energy when it is needed most, during peak periods. Solar electric systems frequently produce 

more energy in summer afternoons than the owner can use. As long as the system is connected to the grid 

(“grid-tied”), the extra energy can flow onto the grid and be used elsewhere. “Net-metering” describes a 

user’s ability to store energy credits with the utility for later use. State legislation currently limits net-

metering to a single account, meaning any energy credits produced at a site can only be used at the same 

site or meter. Some municipalities, including the cities of Davis and San Francisco, have successfully 

lobbied for legislation allowing them to apply energy credits earned at one site to their accounts at other 

facilities. 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

LOCAL  

According to the Town’s 2017 Greenhouse Gas Inventory, the town consumed 25,850,496 kWh of electricity 

and 651,775 therms of natural gas in 2017. More than 77% of this electricity came from PG&E and PCE with 

the remaining approximately 22% from direct access sources. Direct access electricity includes any 

electricity that is procured from a source outside of PG&E and PCE. The total consumption of electricity 

has trended down between 2010 and 2017, with an average decrease of 0.7% per year. The use of natural 

gas has trended similarly with an average decrease of 1.4% per year between 2010 and 2017. While these 

trends are anticipated to continue as buildings and appliances become more efficient, the Town anticipates 

additional development, with approximately 328 new housing units, an additional 990,000 square feet of 

commercial uses and 35,000 square feet of office uses at buildout. With the assumptions that average 

households consume 3.5 kWh and 0.31 therms per square foot per year and the average household is 1400 

square feet, the additional residential development would consume approximately 1,607,200 kWh and 

142,350 therms per year. In addition, if non-residential uses consume 13.63 kWh and 0.26 therms per square 

foot per year, the additional commercial and office uses are expected to increase energy usage by 

approximately 13,970,750 kWh and 266,500 therms annually. 

The town of Colma website includes a sustainability page that maintains information on energy-related 

programs for its residents and businesses. The programs include energy efficiency home improvements 

with rebates through PG&E and the Energy Upgrade California Home Upgrade program, where 

homeowners may receive rebates from $1,000 to $3,150 for improvements including but not limited to, air 

vent and duct sealing, insulation, high-efficiency furnaces, air conditioners and water heaters, as well as 

the installation of energy-efficient windows. Through the town’s Advanced Home Upgrade program, 

homeowners and local businesses may receive $1,000 to $6,500 for a more in-depth energy upgrade 

including energy assessments and rebates for energy improvements. 

Though there are not any wind farms or windmills located in the town of Colma, although the town 

participates in the Peninsula Clean Energy program which purchases wind energy as a source of renewable 

energy that provides a clean energy alternative to San Mateo County residents and businesses. 

4.5.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL   

Energy Independence and Security Act  

The Energy Independence and Security Act (EISA) (Public Law 110-140) was signed into law by President 

George W. Bush on December 19, 2007. The Act’s goal is to achieve energy security in the United States by 

increasing renewable fuel production, improving energy efficiency and performance, protecting 

consumers, improving vehicle fuel economy, and promoting research on greenhouse gas capture and 

storage. The Act therefore addresses energy savings in government and public institutions, promoting 

research for alternative energy, additional research in carbon capture, and the creation of “green jobs.” The 

EISA also includes a variety of new standards for lighting and for residential and commercial appliance 

equipment. The equipment includes residential refrigerators, freezers, refrigerator-freezers, metal halide 

lamps, and commercial walk-in coolers and freezers. 

Energy Policy Act of 2005 

The Energy Policy Act of 2005 provides renewed and expanded tax credits for electricity generated by 

qualified energy sources, such as landfill gas; provides bond financing, tax incentives, grants, and loan 

guarantees for clean renewable energy and rural community electrification; and establishes a federal 

purchase requirement for renewable energy. 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Energy Policy and Conservation Act  

The Energy Policy and Conservation Act of 1975 (EPCA; Public Law 94–163, 89 Stat. 871, enacted December 

22, 1975) was enacted to ensure that all vehicles sold in the United States meet certain fuel economy goals, 

and established the first fuel economy standards for the country. Pursuant to the Act, the US Department 

of Transportation (USDOT)’s National Highway Traffic and Safety Administration (NHTSA) is the agency 

responsible for establishing and revising any additional vehicle standards. Compliance with federal fuel 

economy standards are typically determined on the basis of each vehicle manufacturer’s average fuel 

economy for vehicles sold in the United States (US). The Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFÉ) 

program was therefore created by the US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) to determine vehicle 

manufacturer’s compliance with current fuel economy standards. The US EPA calculates a CAFÉ value for 

vehicle manufacturer. These are based on the city and highway fuel economy tests and number of vehicle 

sales. 

National Energy Act  

In response to the energy crisis in the 1970s, Congress passed the National Energy Act of 1978 (NEA) to 

establish energy efficiency programs, tax incentives, tax disincentives, energy conservation programs, 

alternative fuel programs, and regulatory and market-based initiatives.  

Energy Star Program 

Enacted in 1992, Energy Star is a joint program of the United States Environmental Protection Agency and 

the Department of Energy. The program establishes criteria for energy efficiency for household products 

and labels energy efficient products with the Energy Star seal. Homes can be qualified as “Energy Star 

homes” if they meet efficiency standards. In California, Energy Star homes must use at least 15 percent less 

energy than standards set by Title 24, pass the California Energy Star Homes Quality Insulation Installation 

Thermal Bypass Checklist Procedures, have Energy Star windows, and have minimal duct leakage. 

STATE AND REGIONAL   

Senate Bill 1  

Senate Bill 1 (SB 1) (Chapter 132, CA Statutes of 2006) set a goal to install 3,000 megawatts of new solar 

capacity by 2017, moving the state toward a cleaner energy future and helping lower the cost of solar 

systems for consumers.101 The “Million Solar Roofs” Program is a ratepayer-financed incentive program 

aimed at transforming the market for rooftop solar systems by driving down costs over time. It provides 

up to $3.3 billion in financial incentives that decline over time.  

Senate Bill 350   

The Clean Energy and Pollution Reduction Act, or Senate Bill 350 (SB 350) was signed into law in September 

2015 and establishes tiered increases to the Renewable Portfolio Standards (RPS)by requiring 40 percent of 

the state’s energy supply come from renewable sources by 2024, 45 percent by 2027, and 50 percent by 2030. 

SB 350 also set a new goal of doubling the energy efficiency savings in the electricity and natural gas sectors 

through energy efficiency and conservation measures.  

Assembly Bill 758  

New state law promulgated in 2009 under Assembly Bill 758 (AB 758) or the Energy Audit, mandates the 

California Energy Commission (CEC) to develop a comprehensive energy efficiency program for existing 

buildings. This bill was implemented in three phases. On December 14, 2016, the CEC published the 

updated version of the Existing Buildings Energy Efficiency Action Plan, which provides a 10-year 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

roadmap to transform California’s existing residential, commercial, and public building stock into high-

performing and energy efficient buildings.  

Assembly Bill 811  

The 2008 Assembly Bill 811 (AB 811) (Chapter 159, California State Statutes of 2008) authorizes California 

cities and counties to designate districts within which willing property owners may enter into contractual 

assessments to finance the installation of renewable energy generation and energy efficiency improvements 

that are permanently fixed to the property. These financing arrangements would allow property owners to 

finance renewable generation and energy efficiency improvements through low-interest loans that would 

be repaid as an item on the property owner's property tax bill.  

California’s 2019 Building Energy Efficiency Standards  

In December 2018, the California Building Standards Commission gave the final approval to a solar PV 

requirement mandating all new buildings under three stories tall be equipped with solar systems. The 

standards officially take effect on January 1, 2020, and include solar installation, battery storage, and 

improved energy savings through high-performance walls, attics, and windows. 

Executive Order B-48-18  

On January 26, 2018, Governor Edmund G. Brown, Jr. signed EO-48-18 to boost the use of zero-emission 

vehicles (ZEVs), electric vehicle charging infrastructure, and hydrogen refueling infrastructure in 

California. The order will implement the Governor’s target of 5 million ZEVs on the road by 2030 and 

250,000 vehicle charging stations and 200 hydrogen refueling stations by 2025. 

California Building Energy Efficiency Standards  

The 2013 California Building Energy Efficiency Standards (Title 24, Section 6) was created as part of the 

California Building Standards Code (Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations) by the California 

Building Standards Commission in 1978 to establish statewide building energy efficiency standards to 

reduce California’s energy consumption. These standards include provisions applicable to all buildings, 

residential and nonresidential, which describe requirements for documentation and certificates that the 

building meets the standards. These provisions include mandatory requirements for efficiency and design 

of the following types of systems, equipment, and appliances and include additional mandatory 

requirements for space conditioning (cooling and heating), water heating, and indoor and outdoor lighting 

systems and equipment in non-residential, high-rise residential, and hotel or motel buildings. Mandatory 

requirements for low-rise residential buildings cover indoor and outdoor lighting, fireplaces, space cooling 

and heating equipment (including ducts and fans), and insulation of the structure, foundation, and water 

piping. In addition to the mandatory requirements, the standards call for further energy efficiency that can 

be provided through a choice between performance and prescriptive compliance approaches. Separate 

sections apply to low-rise residential and to non-residential, high-rise residential, and hotel or motel 

buildings. In buildings designed for mixed use (e.g., commercial and residential), each section must meet 

the standards applicable to that type of occupancy.  

California’s Building Energy Efficiency Standards are updated on an approximately three-year cycle as 

technology and methods have evolved. As a result of new law under Assembly Bill 970, passed in the fall 

of 2000 in response to the state’s electricity crisis, an emergency update of the standards went into effect in 

June 2001. The California Energy Commission (CEC) constantly updates its energy standards to improve 

upon the current standards for new construction of, and additions and alterations to, residential and 

nonresidential buildings.  The most recent standards focus on several key areas to improve the energy 

efficiency of newly constructed buildings and additions and alterations to existing buildings and include 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

requirements that will enable both demand reductions during critical peak periods and future solar electric 

and thermal system installations. 

California Solar Initiative  

The California Solar Initiative (CSI) was authorized in 2006 under Senate Bill 1 and allows the California 

Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) to provide incentives to install solar technology on existing residential, 

commercial, nonprofit, and governmental buildings if they are customers of the State’s investor-owned 

utilities (IOUs), including Pacific Gas & Electric (PG&E). The CSI program has several components, 

including the Research and Development, Single-Family Affordable Solar Housing (SASH), Multi-Family 

Affordable Solar Housing (MASH), and Solar Water Heating Pilot Program, each of which provides 

incentives to further the installation of solar technology on California’s buildings. 

California Green Building Standards  

The California Energy Commission (CEC) first adopted Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and 

Nonresidential Buildings in 1978 in response to a legislative mandate to reduce energy consumption in the 

state. Although not originally intended to reduce GHG emissions, increased energy efficiency, and reduced 

consumption of electricity, natural gas, and other fuels would result in fewer GHG emissions from 

residential and nonresidential buildings subject to the standard. The standards are updated periodically to 

allow for the consideration and inclusion of new energy efficiency technologies and methods.    

Part 11 of the Title 24 Building Standards Code is referred to as the California Green Building Standards 

Code (CALGreen Code) or the Title 24 Energy Standards. The purpose of the CALGreen Code is to 

“improve public health, safety and general welfare by enhancing the design and construction of buildings 

through the use of building concepts having a positive environmental impact and encouraging sustainable 

construction practices in the following categories: (1) planning and design; (2) energy efficiency; (3) water 

efficiency and conservation; (4) material conservation and resource efficiency; and (5) environmental air 

quality.” The CALGreen Code is not intended to substitute or be identified as meeting the certification 

requirements of any green building program that is not established and adopted by the California Building 

Standards Commission (CBSC). Unless otherwise noted in the regulation, all newly constructed buildings 

in California are subject of the requirements of the CALGreen Code.  

CALGreen contains both mandatory and voluntary measures. For non-residential land uses there are 39 

mandatory measures including, but not limited to exterior light pollution reduction, wastewater 

reduction by 20 percent, and commissioning of projects over 10,000 square feet. Two tiers of voluntary 

measures apply to non-residential land uses, for a total of 36 additional elective measures. 

LOCAL 

City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County 

The City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County (C/CAG) is the council of governments 

that consist of the County of San Mateo and its 20 cities and towns, which include the Town of Colma. 

C/CAG typically deal with transportation, air quality, stormwater runoff, hazardous and solid wastes, 

recycling, and use near airports, and other issues that affect the quality of life in general. C/CAG supports 

a variety of sustainability initiatives such as: 

San Mateo County Energy Watch 

The San Mateo County Energy Watch (SMCEW) program is a local government partnership between 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) and C/CAG to promote energy efficiency in municipal buildings. 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This program has provided staff assistance to support San Mateo County jurisdictions in the development 

of their Climate Action Plans. 

Reach Codes 

The Town of Colma adopted reach codes or more stringent building codes that require new residential and 

non-residential construction to be electric-ready and have additional electric vehicle charging 

infrastructure. Natural gas is still allowed with the adopted reach codes.  

Town of Colma Climate Action Plan (CAP) (2013) 

The town of Colma has policy control over many important decisions that affect GHG reduction, such as 

energy efficiency requirements for residential and commercial projects, water conservation, bicycle lanes, 

green business certification programs, recycling programs and other strategies. The town’s CAP was 

developed collaboratively with a regional program that funded CAP development for participating 

jurisdictions. The resulting measures are outlined in the town’s CAP and provide practical and effect 

methods to meet the 15% GHG reduction target of AB 32. 

4.5.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

Following PRC Sections 21083.2 and 21084.1, and Section 15064.5 and Appendix G of the State CEQA 

Guidelines, energy impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the project considered 

would result in any of the following: 

• Result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 

consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation. 

• Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency.  

METHODOLOGY 

State CEQA Guidelines Appendix F recommend that the analyses of applicable energy impacts should 

concentrate on whether a proposed project would result in the wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 

consumption of energy. The Regulatory Setting section of this Draft PEIR Chapter discusses energy 

legislation, policies, and standards adopted by State and local governments for the purpose of reducing 

energy consumption and improving efficiency in the use of energy. Therefore, for the purposes of this 

analysis, inconsistency with legislation, policies, or standards designed to avoid wasteful and inefficient 

energy usage is used as the basis for evaluating whether the proposed General Plan Update would result 

in a significant impact related to energy resources.  

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.5.1 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not result in the wasteful, 

inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources during project construction 

or operation, nor would it conflict or obstruct a state or local energy efficiency plan (Less 

than Significant).  

The 2040 GPU proposes few changes that could potentially alter the future development proposed in the 

town. The proposed GPU however updates the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s 

existing planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the 

town and the vision of the City Council. The planning areas include development standards such as height, 

FAR, and density as well as development standard bonuses for specific uses in opportunity sites. In 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

addition, the proposed GPU introduces new land uses such a medium density residential land use that is 

consistent with current developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery 

land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the 

Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 

square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within 

the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of 

commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, 

Town Center and Sandblaster’s site, respectively. The town has the capability to add 765 people under the 

potential development of its GPU planning period. This could result in 328 additional housing units and 

1,127,500 square feet of commercial and office buildings. 

Construction of future development, or even redevelopment projects, under the GPU has the potential to 

consume electricity, natural gas, gasoline and diesel during the operation of heavy-duty construction 

equipment and vehicles. All this could have an adverse impact on the environment. However, these would-

be temporary consumption of energy, only related to project construction under future development 

projects. Further, any future development would be limited by the town’s geography and relation to 

existing cemetery uses. The town anticipates that future development projects would be limited to the town 

center or existing commercial and residential areas. The town of Colma therefore is anticipating more 

mixed use development, in terms of its growth. This in itself would reduce travel distances and energy 

consumption.   

Additionally, although it is anticipated that energy efficiency will also improve in the future, and any new 

development under the General Plan Update would have to conform to the State of California’s AB 32 

Scoping Plan (for Greenhouse Gas emissions) and the Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and 

Nonresidential Buildings (Title 24, Part 6) and CALGreen Code (Title 24, Part 11). These standards outline 

improved building design and energy conservation measures to ensure that there are no unnecessary or 

inefficient use of energy. As mentioned previously, most of the town is already developed, with few vacant 

parcels remaining, and future construction would not require the excessive amount of energy 

consumptions that typically occur with large scale industrial facilities. Proposed GPU policies that would 

reduce air quality impacts during project construction, as well as constantly evolving energy efficiency 

standards, would also result in associated reductions in construction related energy uses.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies 

The following proposed General Plan policies further reduce the anticipated less than significant wasteful, 

insufficient or unnecessary consumption of energy resources during project construction and operation: 

Policy OSC-3-1: Transit Oriented Development. Encourage, to the extent feasible, higher density 

residential development to be located near transit corridors and public 

transportation.  

Policy OSC-3-2: Reduce Energy Consumption. Support measures and education to reduce energy 

consumption and increase energy efficiency in residential, commercial, and 

industrial buildings. 

Policy OSC-3-3: Energy Efficiency in Municipal Operations. Pursue opportunities to improve 

energy efficiency and install renewable energy systems, where feasible, in new and 

existing Town-owned facilities and operations. 



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Policy OSC-3-4: GHG Reduction. Implement the Climate Action Plan to achieve GHG reduction 

targets that are consistent with the State Scoping Plan, AB 32, and SB 32 and the 

Town’s goals. 

Policy OSC-3-5: Pedestrian-Scaled Design. Support the use of public/mass transit by encouraging 

pedestrian-friendly street design and mixed-use development near transit hubs. 

Implementation of the policies described above would reduce the environmental impacts associated with 

consumption of energy resources to less than significant and no mitigation is required. 

 

  



4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

California Department of Food and Agriculture. 2007. Bioenergy Action Plan for California.  

Pacific Gas & Electric Company. 2020. Where your electricity comes from. 

Peninsula Clean Energy. 2020. 2019 Community Benefits Summary Colma. 

Public Law 94-163. 1975. Energy Policy and Conservation Act.  

Public Law. 95-619. National Energy Act of 1978.  

Public Law 109-58. 2005. Energy Policy Act of 2005.  

Public Law 110-140. 2007. Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007.  

San Mateo County. 2012. San Mateo County Energy Strategy.  

Town of Colma. 2013. Town of Colma Climate Action Plan.  

Websites 

Building Standards Commission. 2007. <https://www.dgs.ca.gov/BSC/Resources/Page-Content/Building-

Standards-Commission-Resources-List-

Folder/CALGreen#:~:text=CALGreen%20is%20the%20first%2Din,to%201990%20levels%20by%202020.> 

Accessed September 2020.  

California Energy Commission (CEC). 2012. <https://www.energy.ca.gov/data-reports/energy-almanac> 

Accessed August 2020. 

California Energy Commission (CEC). 2013. 

<https://ww2.energy.ca.gov/title24/2013standards/#:~:text=California's%20Building%20Energy%20Efficiency%2

0Standards,to%2C%20residential%20and%20nonresidential%20buildings.> Accessed September 2020. 

California Energy Commission (CEC). 2015. <https://www.energy.ca.gov/rules-and-regulations/energy-

suppliers-reporting/clean-energy-and-pollution-reduction-act-sb-350> Accessed September 2020 

California Energy Commission (CEC). 2016. <http://ecdms.energy.ca.gov/> Accessed August 2020. 

California Energy Commission (CEC). 2019. <https://www.energy.ca.gov/programs-and-

topics/programs/building-energy-efficiency-standards/2019-building-energy-efficiency> Accessed September 

2020.  

California Energy Commission. 1974. <https://www.energy.ca.gov/rules-and-regulations/warren-alquist-act> 

Accessed September 2020. 

California Government. 2018. <https://www.ca.gov/archive/gov39/2019/01/04/executive-order-b-62-

18/index.html> Accessed September 2020. 

California Legislative Information. 2017. 

<https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB1> Accessed September 2020. 

California Legislative Information. 2008. 

<https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=200720080AB811> Accessed September 

2020.  

California Public Utilities Commission. 2016. <https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/General.aspx?id=6043> Accessed 

September 2020. 

https://www.dgs.ca.gov/BSC/Resources/Page-Content/Building-Standards-Commission-Resources-List-Folder/CALGreen#:~:text=CALGreen%20is%20the%20first%2Din,to%201990%20levels%20by%202020
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/BSC/Resources/Page-Content/Building-Standards-Commission-Resources-List-Folder/CALGreen#:~:text=CALGreen%20is%20the%20first%2Din,to%201990%20levels%20by%202020
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/BSC/Resources/Page-Content/Building-Standards-Commission-Resources-List-Folder/CALGreen#:~:text=CALGreen%20is%20the%20first%2Din,to%201990%20levels%20by%202020
https://www.energy.ca.gov/data-reports/energy-almanac
https://www.energy.ca.gov/rules-and-regulations/energy-suppliers-reporting/clean-energy-and-pollution-reduction-act-sb-350
https://www.energy.ca.gov/rules-and-regulations/energy-suppliers-reporting/clean-energy-and-pollution-reduction-act-sb-350
http://ecdms.energy.ca.gov/
https://www.energy.ca.gov/programs-and-topics/programs/building-energy-efficiency-standards/2019-building-energy-efficiency%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://www.energy.ca.gov/programs-and-topics/programs/building-energy-efficiency-standards/2019-building-energy-efficiency%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://www.energy.ca.gov/programs-and-topics/programs/building-energy-efficiency-standards/2019-building-energy-efficiency%3e%20Accessed%20September%202020
https://www.energy.ca.gov/rules-and-regulations/warren-alquist-act
https://www.ca.gov/archive/gov39/2019/01/04/executive-order-b-62-18/index.html
https://www.ca.gov/archive/gov39/2019/01/04/executive-order-b-62-18/index.html
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB1
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=200720080AB811
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/General.aspx?id=6043


4.5   ENERGY 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.5-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

County of San Mateo Performance. 2016. <https://performance.smcgov.org/en/stat/goals/single/hbdy-d9cx/view> 

Accessed August 2020. 

Energy Upgrade California. 2020. 

<https://www.energyupgradeca.org/#:~:text=Energy%20Upgrade%20California%C2%AE%20is,a%20long%20wa

y%20for%20California.> Accessed September 2020. 

National Conference of State Legislatures. 2020. <https://www.ncsl.org/research/energy/renewable-portfolio-

standards.aspx> Accessed August 2020. 

Peninsula Clean Energy. 2020. <https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/> Accessed September 2020. 

Public Resources Code (PRC). Chapter 470. 2009. 

<https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=200920100AB758> Accessed September 

2020.  

Transmission Agency of Northern California (TANC). 2020. <www.tanc.us>  Accessed August 2020. 

United States Energy Information Administration (EIA). 2020.  <https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/us-

energy-facts/> Accessed August 19, 2020. 

United States Energy Information Administration (EIA). 2020. <https://www.eia.gov/electricity/monthly/> 

Accessed August 2020. 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2019. <https://www.epa.gov/stationary-sources-air-

pollution/affordable-clean-energy-rule> Accessed September 2020. 

Pacific Gas and Electricity Company. Where your electricity comes from. (2020) 

<https://www.pge.com/pge_global/common/pdfs/your-account/your-bill/understand-your-bill/bill-

inserts/2020/1220-PowerContent-ADA.pdf>. 

https://performance.smcgov.org/en/stat/goals/single/hbdy-d9cx/view
https://www.energyupgradeca.org/#:~:text=Energy%20Upgrade%20California%C2%AE%20is,a%20long%20way%20for%20California
https://www.energyupgradeca.org/#:~:text=Energy%20Upgrade%20California%C2%AE%20is,a%20long%20way%20for%20California
https://www.ncsl.org/research/energy/renewable-portfolio-standards.aspx
https://www.ncsl.org/research/energy/renewable-portfolio-standards.aspx
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=200920100AB758
https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/us-energy-facts/
https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/us-energy-facts/
https://www.eia.gov/electricity/monthly/
https://www.epa.gov/stationary-sources-air-pollution/affordable-clean-energy-rule
https://www.epa.gov/stationary-sources-air-pollution/affordable-clean-energy-rule


4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

noise impacts within the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area). This section 

also identifies the potential impacts of implementing the proposed project on such resources as well as the 

appropriate proposed General Plan policies that reduce the identified impacts. 

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Cal. Pub. Resources Code §Sections 

§21000, et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal. Code Regs., Section §15000, et seq.), this Draft PEIR 

evaluates the General Plan Update’s (GPU) related impacts, general assumptions, and mitigation needs 

that can be identified in the analysis.  

4.11.1 EXISTING SETTINGS 

BACKGROUND AND TERMINOLOGY 

Noise is typically defined as unwanted sound and has the potential of negatively affecting human health. 

Noise in the community has often been cited as a health problem since it affects general well-being and 

contributes to undue stress and annoyance. At especially high noise levels, hearing loss can occur. Details 

about the fundamentals of sound and common noise descriptors, as well as further discussion regarding 

human response to noise and common noise sensitive receivers, are provided below.  

Fundamentals of Sound 

Sound is the energy (disturbance or vibration), that is transmitted in the form of waves through a medium, 

such as air or water. Sound waves are typically described in terms of in terms of intensity and frequency. 

Sound intensity refers to the amount of energy in a sound wave and is quantified on a logarithmic “decibel” 

scale. Levels of sound intensity correspond to different degrees of loudness, where 0 dB generally 

corresponds with the threshold of human hearing and sound levels of 120 dB to 140 dB, or higher 

correspond to thresholds of pain. The frequency of sound is defined as the number of cycles per second 

and is measured in Hertz (Hz). Humans are typically sensitive to sound levels between 20 Hz to 20,000 Hz, 

where the frequency of a sound wave corresponds to the perceived pitch.  

Since human ears are not equally sensitive to all frequencies, noise measurements are therefore weighted 

to account for the ear’s frequency-dependent response to sound. The most common example of frequency-

weighting is known as A-weighted decibel level (dBA; dB(a)), which is applied to most environmental 

noise measurements. Since sound levels are measured on a logarithmic scale, decibel addition is also based 

on a logarithmic scale. For example, a 65 dB sound source when added to another 65 dB source (a doubling 

of the sound pressure) does not result in 130 dB, but rather in a total incremental increase of 3 dB. In general, 

a change in sound level between 1 dB to 3 dB is barely noticeable to humans, where a change of 10 dB is 

perceived as a doubling or halving of sound level. 

Sound levels reduce with respect to distance at different rates, depending on the source type. In general, 

noise from sources such as stationary mechanical equipment and construction machinery (known as “point 

sources”) reduce between 6 dB to 7.5 dB per doubling of distance from the source. Noise from sources such 

as a busy highway (known as “line sources”) reduce between 3 dB to 4.5 dB per doubling of distance from 

the source. The presented ranges of attenuation depend on the type of ground surface between the noise 

source and the receiver. Highways and hard surfaces such as concrete or asphalt typically have an 

attenuation rate of 6 dB for point sources and 3 dB for line sources, whereas softer surfaces, such as 

vegetated terrain, have an attenuation rate of 7.5 dB for point sources and 4.5 dB for line sources. 

Atmospheric conditions as well as shielding affects (such as the existence of buildings or noise walls 

between source and receiver) could also affect noise levels from different positions.  



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Noise Descriptors 

The significance of environmental noise impacts on human beings depends on duration and time of day. 

Various noise metrics are used to characterize different time-varying noise sources. Due to this variability, 

noise exposure should typically be measured over a period of time to correctly describe a community’s 

noise environment. The following Table 4.11-1: Commonly Used Noise Descriptors provides definitions 

for the most commonly used noise descriptors. 

Table 4.11-1: Commonly Used Noise Descriptors 

Term Definition 

Leq 
The equivalent continuous sound level which would contain the same sound energy as 

the time varying sound level. 

Ldn 

Also known as DNL. A descriptor established by the U.S. Environmental Protection 

Agency to account for the increased sensitivity of people to noise during sleeping hours. 

This metric represents a 24-hour average noise level with a 10 dB penalty applied to 

noise occurring during the nighttime hours (10 pm – 7 am). 

CNEL 

Similar to the Ldn metric, the CNEL metric accounts for the increased sensitivity of 

people to noise during the evening and nighttime hours. This metric represents a 24-

hour average noise level with a 5 dB penalty applied to noise occurring during the 

evening hours (7 pm – 10 pm), and a 10 dB penalty applied to noise occurring during the 

nighttime hours (10 pm – 7 am). 

Lmax The maximum instantaneous sound level recorded over a given measurement period 

Ln 

The sound level in dBA exceeded for n percent of the measurement period. E.g., L1, L10, 

L50, L90. Note: L90 (the sound level exceeded for 90 percent of the measurement period) is 

considered indicative of the ambient noise environment because short-term, noisy 

events such as sirens are excluded.  

SEL 

The SEL is a composite metric that represents both the intensity of a sound and its 

duration. Individual time-varying noise events (e.g., aircraft overflights) have two main 

characteristics: a sound level that changes throughout the event and a period of time 

during which the event is heard. SEL provides a measure of the net impact of the entire 

acoustic event, but it does not directly represent the sound level heard at any given time. 

Source: U.S Department of Transportation FHA 

Human Response to Noise 

When community noise interferes with human activities or contributes to stress, public annoyance with the 

noise source increases. The human response to environmental noise is subjective and varies considerably 

from individual to individual. In general, the effects of noise on humans can be classified as: 

• Annoyance, which is very subjective and can range from person to person; 

• Interference with sleep, speech and learning; 

• Potential hearing loss due to constant exposure to heavy industrial uses or high-volume transportation 

such as airports, train lines, or military bases; and, 

• Physiological responses such as heightened heart rate, blood pressure, etc.  

Due to the wide variations in an individual’s threshold of annoyance with various types of sound, there is 

no satisfactory way to measure the subjective effects of noise or the corresponding reactions of annoyance 

and dissatisfaction. A common way of predicting a human reaction to a new noise environment is the way 

it compares to the existing ambient noise level. In general, the more a new noise exceeds the previously 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

existing ambient noise level, the less acceptable the new noise will be to those hearing it. With regard to 

increases in A-weighted noise level, the following relationships occur: 

• Except in carefully controlled laboratory environments, a change of 1 dB cannot be perceived; 

• Outside of the laboratory, a 3 dB change is considered a just-perceivable difference; 

• A change in level of at least 5 dB is required before any noticeable change in human response would 

be expected; and, 

• A 10 dB change is subjectively heard as approximately a doubling in loudness and can cause adverse 

response. 

Noise Sensitive Receptors 

Typical noise-sensitive land uses include those uses where particularly quiet environments are necessary 

for the intended use of the space. Residential dwellings or other places where people sleep are considered 

especially sensitive to noise. Other noise sensitive land uses include schools, hospitals and nursing homes, 

churches, libraries, parks and outdoor recreation areas and other places where low interior noise levels are 

essential. The California Governor’s Office of Planning and Research provides General Plan Guidelines 

that define Normally Acceptable, Conditionally Acceptable, Normally Unacceptable, and Clearly 

Unacceptable noise environments for various land uses within a jurisdiction – see Figure 4.11-1: Noise-

Land Use Compatibility Table.1 

Noise Reduction Methods  

Noise levels can be reduced through the use of barriers, enclosures or sound-damping materials. Use of 

noise reducing materials would depend on the source and type of noise, location of sensitive receptors, as 

well as other environmental conditions at a particular project site. When dealing with typical community 

noise sources, noise-reduction techniques typically focus on the isolation or shielding of the noise source 

from nearby noise-sensitive receptor, such as the use of buffers and barriers. Buildings, concrete walls, and 

heavy fencing can all act as effective noise barriers. The use of equipment noise control devices such as 

mufflers or silencers could also reduce noise generated by mechanical equipment or construction 

machinery. Transportation noise sources may utilize techniques such as reduced speed limits, rubberized 

asphalt, prohibiting heavy trucks from accessing affected corridors at certain times of the day.  

Ground Vibration 

Earthquakes, landslides, as well as heavy construction equipment, such as pile drivers, pavement breakers, 

and construction trucks create seismic waves along the earth’s surface and into the ground. These are 

typically felt as ground vibrations. The effects of ground vibration range from rattling of windows and 

perceptible floor movements, to shaking of shelf items and rumbling sounds. Though physical building 

damage is not usually a factor during construction projects, annoyance from vibration typically occurs 

when the vibration levels exceed the threshold of human hearing and perception.  

 

 
1 General Plan Guidelines. (2017). Governor’s Office of Planning and Research. 

https://opr.ca.gov/planning/general-plan/guidelines.html 

https://opr.ca.gov/planning/general-plan/guidelines.html


4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Figure 4.11-1: Noise-Land Use Compatibility Table 

 
  



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

EXISTING NOISE CONDITIONS IN THE PLANNING AREA 

Noise Sensitive Land Uses 

Noise sensitive land uses in the town of Colma primarily include single- and multi-family residential 

uses. Other notable noise sensitive receptors within the town of Colma include childcare centers, schools, 

and long-term health care facilities. Office and commercial receptors are also considered noise-sensitive 

receptors, but to a lesser extent compared to residential land uses.  

Existing Setting Ambient Noise Measurements 

Several sources of noise that could affect the town of Colma residents were identified within the Planning 

Area. These sources include noise generated from non-transportation sources (e.g., commercial and 

industrial uses) and vehicle traffic on area roadways and highways. Ambient noise measurements were 

conducted in six locations for the purpose of measuring and documenting the existing noise environment 

in various areas of the town.  

Between October 2 and October 4, 2013, ambient noise measurements were conducted along major streets 

and thoroughfares throughout the town of Colma to quantify representative noise environments. During 

the measurements, weather conditions were typical (temperature ranged from 55 to 70° F, and wind speed 

ranged from 5 to 25 mph). Each long-term measurement was attached to utility poles located between 10- 

and 12-feet above grade. Ambient noise measurement descriptions and corresponding measured values 

are summarized in Table 4.11-2: Noise Measurement Descriptions. The noise measurement locations are 

depicted in Figure 4.11-2: Noise Measurement Locations (Ldn). 

Transportation Noise Activities 

Transportation noise may result not only from vehicular traffic but also from rail public transportation 

associated with the Colma BART station near the northwest border of the planning area. Although 

residential land uses located to the east of the station are exposed to train passbys, the town of Colma BART 

station does not increase the total 24-hour average noise environment in this area primarily due to the 

surrounding major roadway noise sources (e.g., El Camino Real, I-280) that dominate the 24-hour average 

noise environment. Also note that the BART rail line moves underground approximately 0.25 miles 

southeast of the town of Colma Station, so only a small portion of the planning area is exposed to noise 

from the BART. Noise contours associated with these major transportation sources are illustrated in the 

following figures. Figure 4.11-3: Present Day Noise Contours shows noise contours associated with existing 

traffic volumes, and Figure 4.11-4: Future Day Noise Projections Plus Project shows noise contours 

associated with the future (2040) plus project conditions.2

 
2 Transportation noise contours based on the traffic study created for the proposed project by Kittleson & Associates. 

Note existing conditions are based on traffic counts conducted in 2017. 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.11-2: Noise Measurement Descriptions 

Measurement 

ID Description 

Measured 

Ldn (dBA) 

LT-1 

This monitoring location was positioned approximately 35 feet west of the 

centerline of Hillside Boulevard, South of Linden Street, in front of 1240 

Hillside Boulevard. This monitoring location defines the noise 

environment along a segment Hillside Boulevard that bisects single- and 

multi-family residential land uses. 

69 

LT-2 

This monitoring location was positioned approximately 55 feet east of El 

Camino Real, North of F Street, in front of 7741 El Camino Real. This 

monitoring location defines the noise environment directly west of the 

single-family residential development exposed to the transit corridor that 

includes El Camino Real and the Colma BART station. 

75 

LT-3 

This monitoring location was positioned approximately 53 feet west of El 

Camino Real, North of Serramonte Boulevard, in front of 1180 El Camino 

Real. This monitoring location defines the noise environment along the El 

Camino Real corridor that includes the Colma Town Hall, the Colma 

Police Department, as well as various commercial uses and Auto 

Dealerships. The southwest corner of this intersection may be used as the 

new mixed-use Town Center Area. 

73 

LT-4 

This monitoring location was positioned approximately 42 feet west of El 

Camino Real, in front of Cypress Lawn Funeral Home. This monitoring 

location defines the noise environment along El Camino Real near the 

southern boundary of the Town of Colma. This location is generally 

surrounded by open space and the Cypress Lawn Funeral Home & 

Memorial Park. 

74 

LT-5 

This monitoring location was positioned approximately 32 feet south of 

Mission Road, West of Lawndale Boulevard, in front of 1353 Mission 

Road. This monitoring location defines the noise environment along 

Mission Road that bisects townhomes on the southwest side and open 

space/cemetery on the northeast side. 

73 

LT-6 

This monitoring location was positioned approximately 46 feet east of 

Junipero Serra Boulevard, North of Serramonte Boulevard, in front of 4927 

Junipero Serra Boulevard. This monitoring location defines the noise 

environment along the major transit corridor that includes I-280 and 

Junipero Serra Boulevard. This monitoring location was positioned 

directly next to a major commercial shopping area.  

74 

Source: CSDA Report, 2020 

 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Figure 4.11-2: Noise Measurement Locations (Ldn) 

 
Source: CSDA Report 

 

 

  



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Airport Noise Sources 

Noise generated from San Francisco International Airport flyovers have little noise impact on the town of 

Colma. According to the 2019 Noise Exposure Map provided by San Francisco International Airport Noise 

Compatibility Planning Department, the entire town of Colma is outside of the CNEL 65 dBA noise contour 

associated with the San Francisco International Airport.3  

Stationary Source Noise 

Stationary noise sources are often associated with commercial and residential uses. Noise generated by 

commercial uses are typically associated with outdoor mechanical equipment, loading docks, or increased 

vehicle or pedestrian traffic. Particularly noisy commercial land uses include car washes, performance 

spaces, and outdoor food service areas. Stationary commercial noise sources have the potential to impact 

nearby noise sensitive receptors. Impact significance depends on the level and character of the generated 

sound, the land use type of the receiver, and the existing noise environment within the vicinity. Note: since 

the majority of commercial uses within the Planning Area are generally surrounding major transportation 

corridors, the existing noise environment in these locations is relatively high compared to common 

stationary noise sources.  

Noise generated by residential uses are typically associated with exterior mechanical equipment and 

heating and ventilation systems, and sometimes from outdoor residential amenity spaces. These sources 

have the potential to impact nearby noise sensitive receivers. The noise exposure from outdoor mechanical 

equipment depends greatly on the size and type of equipment, as well as the existing noise environment 

surrounding nearby residential receivers. 

Noise from Construction Activities  

Construction noise typically occurs intermittently and depends on the type and phase of construction (for 

example, land clearing, grading, excavation, erection of structures). Construction noise levels have the 

potential to reach high levels. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) has found that the 

noisiest equipment types operating at construction sites typically range from 88 dBA to 91 dBA Leq at 50 

feet. Typical operating cycles may involve two minutes of full power, followed by three or four minutes at 

lower settings. Although noise ranges were found to be similar for all construction phases, the building 

construction phases tend to be less noisy than the initial site preparation and grading phases.4  

Non-Transportation Sources 

Other non-transportation uses such as recreational or public facility activities produce noise that may affect 

nearby sensitive land-uses. Such noise sources could be continuous or intermittent; but both types of 

sources have the potential to annoy nearby residents and business owners. For example, sirens on 

emergency vehicles, backup alarms, equipment maintenance and repair, are often considered nuisance 

noise levels though they may not occur frequently enough to be incompatible with any nearby sensitive 

land uses. In addition, noise levels associated with non-transportation noise sources may vary on site 

conditions, equipment being used, distance from the noise sources, intervening noise screenings due to 

terrain or structures, and the specific activities being conducted.  

 

 
3 https://www.flysfo.com/community/noise-abatement/sfo-part-150-study/noise-exposure-map-report 
4 Noise from construction equipment and operations, building equipment, and home appliances. (1971). Washington: U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency.   



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.11.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

Federal Aviation Administration 

As a means of implementing the Aviation Safety and Noise Abatement Act of 1979, the Federal Aviation 

Administration adopted regulations that established a voluntary program which airports can utilize to 

conduct airport noise compatibility planning. For the purposes of federal regulations, all land uses are 

considered compatible within areas with noise levels of less than 65 dBA Ldn. At higher noise exposures, 

selected land uses are also deemed acceptable, depending upon the nature of the use and the degree of 

structural noise attenuation provided. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development 

The Federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) guidelines for the acceptability of 

residential land uses are set forth in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 24, Part 51, “Environmental 

Criteria and Standards.” These guidelines identify a noise exposure of 65 dBA Ldn, or less, as acceptable. 

Noise levels of 65 to 75 dBA Ldn are considered normally acceptable, provided appropriate sound 

attenuation is provided to reduce interior noise levels to within acceptable levels. Noise levels above 75 

dBA Ldn are considered unacceptable. The goal of the interior noise levels is 45 dBA Ldn. These guidelines 

apply only to new construction supported by HUD grants and are not binding upon local communities.  

STATE  

California Noise Control Act 

The California Noise Control Act of 1973 established the State Office of Noise Control, which adopted Noise 

Compatibility Guidelines. These guidelines establish compatibility criteria and corresponding range of 

noise levels for common land uses. These guidelines are intended to ensure that new development 

proposals do not introduce excessive noise in a given location to the detriment of existing uses. Conversely, 

the guidelines also discourage introducing new uses to existing noise sources. In general, evaluation of a 

land use that falls into the “conditionally compatible” noise environment should include consideration of 

the type of noise source, the sensitivity of the noise receptor, and the degree to which the noise source may 

interfere with speech, sleep, or other activities characteristic of the land use. If the noise environment 

exceeds a certain criterion, new construction is prohibited. 

California Government Code  

Section §65302 of the California Government Code provides a framework for general plans and their 

content. It requires that the noise element include implementation measures and possible solutions that 

address existing and foreseeable noise problems, if any. The adopted noise element shall serve as a 

guideline for compliance with the state’s noise insulation standards. The noise element shall also identify 

and appraise noise problems in the community, analyze and quantify current and projected noise levels 

for (a) highways and freeways; (b) primary arterials and major local streets; (c) passenger and freight online 

railroad operations and ground rapid transit systems; (d) commercial, general aviation, heliport, helistop, 

and military airport operations, aircraft overflights, jet engine test stands, and all other ground facilities 

and maintenance functions related to airport operation; (e) local industrial plants, including, but not limited 

to, railroad classification yards; and (f) other ground stationary noise sources, including, but not limited to, 

military installations, identified by local agencies as contributing to the community noise environment. 

Section §65302 also specifies that noise contours be shown for all of the above listed sources and be stated 

in terms of community noise equivalent level (CNEL) or day-night average level (Ldn). The noise contours 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

shall be prepared on the basis of noise monitoring or following generally accepted noise modeling 

techniques for the various sources identified above. The noise contours shall be used as a guide for 

establishing a pattern of land uses in the land use element that minimizes the exposure of community 

residents to excessive noise. 

State of California General Plan Guidelines 

The State of California General Plan Guidelines, published by the Governor’s Office of Planning and 

Research (OPR), also provides guidance for the acceptability of projects within specific noise environments. 

Based on these guidelines, residential uses, churches, libraries, and hospitals are normally unacceptable in 

areas exceeding 70 dBA CNEL and conditionally acceptable between 60 and 70 dBA CNEL. Professional 

and commercial office buildings are normally unacceptable in areas exceeding 75 dBA CNEL and 

conditionally acceptable between 67 and 77 dBA CNEL. However, the state stresses that these guidelines 

can be modified to reflect communities’ sensitivities to noise. Adjustment factors may be used in order to 

arrive at noise acceptability standards that reflect the noise control goals of the community’s sensitivity to 

noise, and the community’s assessment of the relative importance of noise pollution. 

California Code of Regulations 

California Noise Insultation Standards under the California Code of Regulations Title 24 establishes noise 

insulation standards for new multi-family residential units, hotels, and motels that would be subject to 

relatively high levels of transportation-related noise. The noise insulation standards set forth an interior 

standard of DNL 45 dB in any habitable room. Where such units are proposed in areas subject to noise 

levels greater than DNL 60 dB, the Code requires an acoustical analysis to demonstrate that the dwelling 

units have been designed to meet the interior noise standard. Title 24 standards are typically enforced by 

local jurisdictions through the building permit application process. 

LOCAL 

San Mateo County Comprehensive Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan/San Francisco 

International Airport Comprehensive Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 

In San Mateo County, the City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County (C/CAG) is the 

designated Airport Land Use Commission and develops as well as implements the County’s 

Comprehensive Airport Land Use Plan (CLUP). The current CLUP was adopted in 1996 and establishes 

the procedures that C/CAG uses in reviewing proposed local agency actions that affect land use decisions 

in the vicinity of airports in San Mateo County.  

The town of Colma is located in close proximity to the San Francisco International Airport (SFO). The San 

Francisco International Airport (SFO) is one of three public use airports located in San Mateo County; the 

other two include the Half Moon Bay Airport and the San Carlos Airport. The SFO Comprehensive Airport 

Land Use Compatibility Plan (SFO ALUCP) provides airport planning boundaries and defines where 

height, noise, and safety standards, policies, and criteria are applied to certain proposed land use policy 

actions.  

Town of Colma Municipal Code Noise Limitation 

The Colma Municipal Code Chapter 2, Prohibited Activities, Subchapter 2.05, Noise Limitation, includes 

noise standards for the purpose of limiting noise in residential areas and to protect and promote public 

health, safety, and welfare. The following qualitative noise standards apply to noise generation within the 

town of Colma: 

 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

2.05.020 Noise Limitation. 

a) It shall be unlawful for any person to willfully make or continue, or cause to be made or continued, 

any loud and unnecessary noise which disturbs the peace or quiet of any neighborhood or which 

causes discomfort or annoyance to any reasonable person of normal sensitiveness residing in the 

area. The standards which may be considered in determining whether a violation of the provisions 

of this section exists may include, but not be limited to, the following: 

1) The level of the noise; 

2) Whether the nature of the noise is usual or unusual 

3) Whether the origin of the noise is natural or unnatural; 

4) The level and intensity of the background noise, if any; 

5) The proximity of the noise to residential sleeping facilities; 

6) The nature and zoning of the area within which the noise emanates; 

7) The density of the inhabitation of the area within which the noise emanates; 

8) The time of the day and night the noise occurs; 

9) The duration of the noise; and 

10) Whether the noise is recurrent, intermittent, or constant. 

b) Nothing herein shall prohibit the use of radios, televisions, and music equipment wherever used, 

when the sound produced does not carry beyond the property line or does not unreasonably 

disturb any person outside the property where the sound is generated. 

2.05.030 Gardening Equipment Noise Limitation. 

The use of mechanically powered non-construction gardening type equipment including but not limited 

to lawn mowers, weed whackers and leaf blowers are prohibited in a residential neighborhood or within 

500 feet of a residential unit except during the following hours: 

• Monday – Friday: 8:00 AM – 7:00 PM 

• Saturday, Sunday and Holidays: 10:00 AM – 5:00 PM 

2.05.040 Exemptions. 

a) Construction. The noise limitation in this subchapter shall not apply to construction activities 

permitted under subchapter 5.04 of the Colma Municipal Code. 

b) Cemetery Landscaping and Maintenance. The noise limitation in this subchapter shall not apply 

to any person engaged in routine landscaping and maintenance activities performed in connection 

with a cemetery. 

c) Special Events. The noise limitation in this subchapter shall not apply to any activity where a 

Special Event Permit has been issued. 

d) Community Center, Recreation Center or Sterling Park Events. The noise limitation in this 

subchapter shall not apply to any activity held at the Colma Community Center, Recreation Center, 

or Sterling Park if scheduled by the Recreation and Parks Department. 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

e) Refuse Collection, Recyclables Collection or Street Sweeping. The noise limitation in this 

subchapter shall not apply to refuse collection, recyclables collection or street sweeping activities 

undertaken by, or pursuant to contract with, the Town of Colma. 

f) Governmental Activities. The noise limitation in this subchapter shall not apply to any activity 

undertaken by the Town, another governmental agency, or city contractor for public health and 

safety purposes when, in the judgment of the Town, such activity cannot be undertaken effectively 

or efficiently in compliance with regulations set forth in this subchapter. 

g) Certain Sound-amplifying Equipment or Devices. The noise limitation in this subchapter shall not 

apply to the use of sound-amplifying equipment used under the following circumstances: 

1) In conformity with a Special Event Permit issued by the Town; 

2) In conformity with a Conditional Use Permit under the provisions of Chapter 5 of this code; 

or 

3) On emergency vehicles or by government employees in connection with any activity 

undertaken for the protection of the public welfare or safety. 

2.05.050 Enforcement and Penalty. 

a) A violation of the provisions of this subchapter shall be an infraction. The punishments for an 

infraction are set forth in subchapter 1.05 of the Colma Municipal Code. 

b) A violation of this subchapter shall also be deemed to be a public nuisance under section 2.01.060 

of the Colma Municipal Code and may be abated pursuant to the procedures set forth in subchapter 

2.01 of the Code. Notwithstanding any other provision in subchapter 2.01, the authority granted 

the Code Enforcement Officer in subchapter 2.01 may also be exercised by a Colma peace officer, 

except that only a Colma peace officer may write and issue Administrative Citations for a violation 

of this subchapter. 

5.04.220 Standard Hours of Construction 

a) The City Council finds that regulation of construction noise is necessary to protect the public health 

and safety, and that construction noise at early or late times of the day is a nuisance to neighboring 

properties. 

b) As used in this subchapter, “noise generating construction activity” means the use of any noise 

generating equipment or tool, including but not limited to: excavators, backhoes, post diggers, pile 

drivers, saws, electric screw drivers, grinders, nail guns, compressors, generators, hammers, jack 

hammers, power washers, paint guns, scaffolding erection, or similar noise generating equipment. 

”Noise generating construction activity” also includes construction material delivery, demolition 

activities and the servicing of any tool or equipment. “Noise generating construction activity” does 

not include activities such as drywall finishing, painting, tile laying, carpet installation or the use 

of small hand tools in a fully enclosed structure with windows and doors closed. 

c) Within a radius of 500 feet from any residential unit within Town boundaries, noise generating 

construction activity shall only be permitted between the following hours/days: Monday Through 

Friday 8:00 AM through 7:00 PM; Saturday 9:00 AM through 5:00 PM; Sundays 12:00 PM to 5:00 

PM. Noise generating construction activity is prohibited on all of the following Federal Holidays: 

New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, Presidents Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, 

Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veteran’s Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. The Building 

Official, or his or her designee, may grant an exception for special conditions when requested in 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

writing and approved by the Building Official, or his or her designee, prior to the start of the noise 

generating noise activity. The above requirements do not apply to emergency repair work, work 

for public utility and street repair, street sweeping, garbage collection and emergency response 

warning systems. 

d) For projects more than 500 feet from a residential unit in the Town of Colma, construction hours 

shall be assigned on a project-by-project basis by the Building Official, or his or her designee, or as 

established within a project’s Conditions of Approval, based on evaluation of potential noise-

related impacts on surrounding uses. 

4.11.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Noise related impacts are significant if implementation of the project considered 

would result in any of the following: 

• Generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the vicinity 

of the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or 

applicable standards of other agencies? 

• Generation of excessive ground borne vibration or ground borne noise levels? 

• For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where 

such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would 

the project expose people who reside or work in the project area to excessive noise levels? 

METHODOLOGY 

Short-term and long-term impacts associated with transportation and non-transportation noise sources 

were assessed based on potential increases in ambient noise levels anticipated to occur at noise-sensitive 

land uses. The existing ambient noise levels in the town of Colma were estimated based on the associated 

traffic study created for the proposed project by Kittleson & Associates. The associated traffic study 

included roadway volumes and vehicle distribution percentages for existing conditions (data associated 

with 2017 conditions) and for future conditions (2040) plus project, which were used to calculate the 

existing and future noise environment throughout the town of Colma. The Traffic noise levels along major 

area roadways were calculated using the Federal Highway Administration Traffic Noise Model 

methodology. For purposes of this analysis, significant increases in ambient noise levels are defined as any 

increase of 5 dBA or greater, or 3 dBA or greater for roadway segments within proximity of existing 

residential uses (see the “Human Response to Noise” section above, which describes that a noise increase 

of 3 dB is considered a just-perceivable difference; and a noise increase of 5 dB is the approximate limit 

where noticeable change in human response would be expected). The estimated noise environment due to 

the town’s BART station is based on measurements of similar high-speed rail stations in the area.  

A detailed list of resources used in the completion of the analysis in this section can be found under 

References located at the end of the section. Implementation of the proposed project was compared to the 

existing conditions to determine the impacts due to noise.  

 

 

 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.11.1 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not generate temporary or 

permanent increases in noise levels in excess of standards established in the local general 

plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies (Less than Significant). 

Ambient noise levels within the Planning Area have the potential to increase temporarily due to the 

construction of new development. Construction noise impacts typically result from noise generated by the 

operation of heavy equipment on the project site, as well as from trucks arriving to and departing from the 

site, which would be an intermittent source of noise. Typical project construction activities normally 

include demolition, grading/excavation, installation of utilities, and erection of the building. Equipment 

used in these activities typically include bulldozers, excavators, graders, backhoes, concrete trucks, loaders, 

and heavy-duty trucks. Table 4.11-3: Typical Construction Noise Levels at Construction Sites presents 

typical exterior noise levels for various construction phases associated with domestic housing projects as 

well as commercial/institutional projects.  

Table 4.11-3: Typical Construction Noise Levels at Construction Sites 

Construction Phase 
Typical Average Noise Level (Leq, dBA) 

Domestic Housing Commercial/Institutional 

Ground Clearing 83 84 

Excavation 75 79 

Foundations 81 78 

Erection 65 75 

Finishing 72 75 

Noise levels associated with all pertinent equipment present on site 

Noise levels for the loudest equipment item per phase are assumed to be located at 50 feet from an observer, and all other 

equipment was assumed to be located at 200 feet from the observer.  

* A significant impact would occur if project exceeds the standard listed in the table above 

Source: Noise from construction equipment and operations, building equipment, and home appliances. (1971). Washington: U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency.  

 

Construction activities associated with future development within the Planning Area would be temporary.  

Section 2.05.040 of the town of Colma Municipal Code exempts construction noise from the Noise 

Limitation included in Section 2.05 of the code. Section 5.04.220 of the Municipal Code includes language 

regarding standard hours of construction, which should be considered for all future development projects 

within the Planning Area. As presented in Regulatory Framework, noise generating construction activity 

within a radius of 500 feet from any residential unit within town boundaries should only be permitted 

between the following hours/days: Monday Through Friday 8:00 AM through 7:00 PM; Saturday 9:00 AM 

through 5:00 PM; Sundays 12:00 PM to 5:00 PM. Noise generating construction activity is prohibited on all 

of the Federal Holidays listed in the Regulatory Framework Section above. The Building Official, or his or 

her designee, may grant an exception for special conditions when requested in writing and approved by 

the Building Official, or his or her designee, prior to the start of the noise generating noise activity. 

For projects more than 500 feet from a residential unit in the town of Colma, construction hours shall be 

assigned on a project-by-project basis by the Building Official, or his or her designee, or as established 

within a project’s Conditions of Approval, based on evaluation of potential noise-related impacts on 

surrounding uses. See the Regulatory Framework Section for additional information about the town of 

Colma Standard Hours of Construction.  



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

All future projects within the Planning Area must adhere to the Standard Hours of Construction limitations 

delineated in the town of Colma Municipal Code. Since construction activities could temporarily increase 

the existing ambient noise environment around nearby sensitive receptors, construction noise associated 

with future development within the planning area should be reviewed on a case-by-case basis, and must 

adhere to Conditions of Approval and any project-specific quantitative noise standards, if applicable.  

Conditions of Approval or other construction noise requirements will vary on a case-by-case basis, 

however, neither CEQA nor the town of Colma Municipal Code provides quantitative significance 

thresholds or guidelines for construction noise impacts within the planning area. As such, where 

quantitative construction criteria apply to future developments within the planning area, project 

construction noise criteria must be developed on a project-specific basis. Project construction noise criteria 

should account for the existing noise environment, the absolute noise levels during construction activities, 

the duration of the construction, and the adjacent land use(s). The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 

provides several construction noise standards that would apply to future developments within the 

Planning Area. While the following guidelines may not apply to all developments within the planning area, 

the following guidelines can be considered reasonable criteria for assessment. If these criteria are exceeded, 

there may be adverse community reaction. The FTA’s general assessment of construction noise standards 

are summarized in Table 4.11-4: General Assessment Guidelines for Construction Noise Impacts.[1]  

Table 4.11-4: General Assessment Guidelines for Construction Noise Impacts 

Land Use 
Leq (1-hr), dBA 

Day Night 

Residential 90 80 

Commercial 100 100 

Industrial 100 100 

Source: Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual (FTA Report No. 0123). (2018). Federal Transit 

Administration, Table 7-2 

At this time, details about specific construction activities associated with future developments within the 

planning area are not known. Future projects within the town of Colma will be required to undergo 

separate CEQA analyses and will be required to mitigate noise effects to a less than significant level and 

no mitigation measures are required.  

The proposed project is expected to result in increased traffic noise levels throughout the planning area. To 

determine the significance of increases in roadway noise levels throughout the town, this analysis considers 

typical human response to noise, described above. Based on this methodology, all noise level increases in 

excess of 5 dB are considered significant; noise level increases of 3 dB – that are in proximity to residential 

land uses – are considered significant. Estimated roadway noise levels associated with existing conditions 

and Future (2040) plus project conditions, as well as the estimated noise level increase, are presented in 

Table 4.11-5: Noise Level Increases over Study Area Roadways. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
[1] Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual (FTA Report No. 0123). (2018). Federal Transit Administration 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-18 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.11-5 Noise Level Increases over Study Area Roadways 

Roadway Segment 

Noise Level at 50 feet from Roadway 

Centerline (Ldn, dBA) 

Existing 

Conditions 

Future (2040) + 

Project Conditions 
Increase 

Mission Road North of Lawndale 62.7 63.3 0.6 

Hillside Blvd South of F Street to Lawndale 64.4 65.3 0.9 

Hillside Blvd South of Lawndale 69.3 69.8 0.4 

El Camino Real North of Colma 69.0 71.3 2.3 

El Camino Real South of Colma to Serramonte 68.8 71.2 2.4 

El Camino Real South of Serramonte to Hickey 69.0 70.7 1.6 

El Camino Real South of Hickey 70.6 70.6 0.0 

Junipero Serra Blvd North of Serramonte 68.2 68.7 0.5 

Junipero Serra Blvd South of Serramonte/Philip 71.3 72.0 0.7 

I-280 North of Serramonte 87.2 87.2 0.0 

I-280 Serramonte to Hickey 86.3 86.3 0.0 

I-280 South of Hickey 86.5 86.5 0.0 

Lawndale Blvd West of Hillside to Mission 62.3 63.1 0.9 

Serramonte Blvd West of El Camino Real 65.2 66.0 0.8 

Serramonte Blvd East of El Camino to Hillside 66.7 68.5 1.8 

F Street West of El Camino Real 62.3 64.3 2.0 

Collins Ave West of El Camino Real 60.2 60.4 0.3 

Colma Blvd West of El Camino Real 59.9 60.2 0.3 

Source: CSDA Report, 2020 

As shown in Table 4.11-5, all roadway noise increases due to implementation of the proposed general plan 

are expected to be less than 3 dB; as such, increases in roadway noise are expected to be less than significant 

and no mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.11.2 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not result in the generation 

of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels (Less than Significant). 

Implementation of the town of Colma General Plan Update would consist of many future developments 

within the planning area. Construction of new development within the planning area has the potential to 

expose people and buildings to high levels of ground-borne vibration. Although vibration levels from 

construction activities rarely reach the level of causing building damage, construction-related vibration has 

the potential to cause annoyance at nearby sensitive receivers. The effects of construction vibration vary 

depending on the intensity of the construction activities, local soil type, and distance to/land use type of 

nearby receptors. Construction vibration impacts associated with new development in the planning area 

would occur from the operation of heavy equipment on the project site. In general, site work and 

demolition activities typically generate the highest levels of vibration throughout a construction project.  

Construction activities associated with future development within the planning area would be temporary. 

All future projects within the planning area must adhere to the Standard Hours of Construction limitations 

delineated in the town of Colma Municipal Code. Since construction activities could potentially generate 

high levels of vibration, construction vibration associated with future development within the planning 

area should be reviewed on a case-by-case basis and must adhere to Conditions of Approval and any 

project-specific quantitative vibration standards, if applicable. 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-19 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

At this time, details about specific construction activities associated with future developments within the 

planning area are not known. Future projects within the town of Colma will be required to undergo 

separate CEQA analyses and will be required to mitigate vibration effects to a less than significant level. 

The FTA provides industry-standard construction vibration standards that could apply to future 

developments within the planning area.5 While the following guidelines may not apply to all developments 

within the planning area, the following guidelines can be considered reasonable criteria for assessment. If 

these criteria are exceeded, there may be adverse community reaction.  

The FTA has adopted vibration standards that are used to evaluate potential building damage impacts 

related to construction activities. The vibration damage criteria adopted by the FTA are shown in Table 

4.11-6: Construction Vibration – Building Damage Criteria.  

Table 4.11-6: Construction Vibration – Building Damage Criteria 

Building/Structural Category Maximum Peak Particle Velocity (PPV), in/sec 

I.    Reinforced-concrete, steel or timber (no 

plaster) 
0.5 

II.   Engineered concrete and masonry (no 

plaster) 
0.3 

III.  Non-engineered timber and masonry 

buildings 
0.2 

IV.  Buildings extremely susceptible to 

vibration damage 
0.12 

Source: Federal Transit Administration, 2018. Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual (FTA Report 

No. 0123), Table 7-5 

In addition to vibration impact thresholds related to project-related building damage, the FTA also 

provides standards that quantify acceptable levels of vibration in terms of human perception. The vibration 

perception (annoyance) criteria adopted by the FTA are shown in Table 4.11-7: Construction Vibration – 

Human Perception. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
5 Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual (FTA Report No. 0123). (2018). Federal Transit Administration 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-20 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.11-7: Construction Vibration – Human Perception (Annoyance Criteria) 

Receptor 

Category 

Maximum Vibration 

Decibel (VdB)1 
Description of Use 

Workshop 90 
Distinctly feelable vibration. Appropriate to workshops 

and non-sensitive areas 

Office 84 
Feelable vibration. Appropriate to offices and non-

sensitive areas 

Residential Day 78 

Barely feelable vibration. Adequate for computer 

equipment and low-power optical microscopes (up to 

20X) 

Residential 

Night, 

Operating 

Rooms 

72 

Vibration not feelable, but ground-borne noise may be 

audible inside quiet rooms. Suitable for medium-power 

optical microscopes (100X) and other equipment of low 

sensitivity 

VC-A 66 

Adequate for medium- to high-power optical 

microscopes (400X), microbalances, optical balances, and 

similar specialized equipment 

VC-B 60 

Adequate for high-power optical microscopes (1000X), 

inspection and lithography equipment to 3 micron line 

widths 

VC-C 54 
Appropriate for most lithography and inspection 

equipment to 1 micron detail size 

VC-D 48 

Suitable in most instances for the most demanding 

equipment, including electron microscopes operating to 

the limits of their capability 

VC-E 42 
The most demanding criterion for extremely vibration-

sensitive equipment 

1. Reference at 1 micro-inch per second 

Source: Federal Transit Administration, 2018. Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual (FTA Report 

No. 0123), Table 6-6 

 

Vibration impact criteria that would apply to many developments within the planning area are provided 

above. Future projects within the Town of Colma will be required to undergo separate CEQA analyses and 

will be required to mitigate vibration effects to a less than significant level. Given the limited potential for 

construction vibration impacts associated with the General Plan update, effects from construction vibration 

are considered less than significant and no mitigation measures are required.  

The General Plan Update does not introduce any new sources of industrial land uses, or transportation 

sources that would generate significant levels of vibration. Traffic, including heavy trucks traveling on a 

highway, rarely generates vibration amplitudes high enough to cause structural or cosmetic damage.6 

 
6 Transportation and Construction Vibration Guidance Manual. (September 2013). California Department of 

Transportation 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-21 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Vibration impacts associated with new zoning or transportation uses are considered less than significant 

and no mitigation measures are required. 

Impact 4.11.3 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not expose people residing 

or working in the Planning Area to excessive noise levels associated with airports (No 

Impact). 

As mentioned above, the entire town of Colma is outside of the CNEL 65 dBA noise contour associated 

with the San Francisco International Airport.7 People residing or working in the Planning Area are not 

expected to be exposed to excessive noise levels associated with airports. There would be no impact related 

to noise levels associated with airports and no mitigation measures are required. 

  

 
7 https://www.flysfo.com/community/noise-abatement/sfo-part-150-study/noise-exposure-map-report 



4.11   Noise 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.11-22 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES  

Documents  

Washington: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (1971). Noise from construction equipment and operations, 

building equipment, and home appliances.  

Federal Transit Administration (2018). Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual (FTA Report 

No. 0123).  

California Department of Transportation (September 2013). Transportation and Construction Vibration 

Guidance Manual.  

Websites  

Governor’s Office of Planning and Research. General Plan Guidelines. (2017). 

https://opr.ca.gov/planning/general-plan/guidelines.html 

San Francisco International Airport Noise Compatibility Planning Department. Noise Exposure Map 

Report. (2019).https://www.flysfo.com/community/noise-abatement/sfo-part-150-study/noise-exposure-map-report  

https://opr.ca.gov/planning/general-plan/guidelines.html
https://www.flysfo.com/community/noise-abatement/sfo-part-150-study/noise-exposure-map-report


4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

population and housing and employment opportunities within the Town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan 

Planning Area (Planning Area). It analyzes the potential growth and employment opportunities that could 

occur within the Planning Area as a result of the implementation of the proposed Town of Colma 2040 

General Plan Update (GPU). This section also identifies the potential impacts of implementing the 

proposed project on such resources as well as the appropriate proposed General Plan policies that reduce 

the identified impacts. Population, housing and employment data for this section was obtained from 

websites of public agencies such as the U.S. Census Bureau (Census) and the California Department of 

Finance (DOF), and from 2010 Census of Population and Housing forecasts for the Planning Area 

(American Community Survey, 2020). 

4.12.1 EXISTING SETTINGS 

REGIONAL  

The town of Colma (Town; town) is a small, incorporated town in northern San Mateo County (county), 

California, on the San Francisco Peninsula, one of nine counties in the San Francisco Bay Area. The county 

encompasses 20 incorporated cities: Atherton, Belmont, Brisbane, Burlingame, Colma, Daly City, East Palo 

Alto, Foster City, Half Moon Bay, Hillsborough, Menlo Park, Millbrae, Pacifica, Portola Valley, Redwood 

City, San Bruno, San Carlos, San Mateo, South San Francisco and Woodside. The county’s 2020 population 

was estimated at 773,244. Of this total population, about 1 percent reside in the unincorporated county and 

the remaining 99 percent reside in the county’s incorporated cities (Table 4.12-1: San Mateo County 

Population Estimates) The County’s 2040 population is projected to be about 838,724 persons with an 

average annual projected growth rate of about 0.8 percent. 

  



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Table 4.12-1: San Mateo County Population Estimates 

Location 
2010 

Population 

2015 

Population 

2020 

Population 

Annual Growth 

Rate 

Atherton 6,914 6,935 7,070 0.25% 

Belmont 25,835 26,748 27,174 0.57% 

Brisbane 4,282 4,541 4,691 1.06% 

Burlingame 28,806 29,890 30,317 0.58% 

Colma 1,454 1,480 1,504 0.44% 

Daly City 101,072 105,810 109,122 0.88% 

East Palo Alto 28,155 29,137 30,499 0.92% 

Foster City 30,567 32,390 33,693 1.13% 

Half Moon Bay 11,324 12,051 12,631 1.27% 

Hillsborough  10,825 11,420 11,769 0.96% 

Menlo Park  32,026 33,273 35,790 1.3% 

Millbrae 21,532 22,898 23,154 0.83% 

Pacifica 37,234 38,551 38,674 0.42% 

Portola Valley 4,353 4,527 4,659 0.78% 

Redwood City 76,815 81,838 85,319 1.22% 

San Bruno 41,114 44,409 45,257 1.11% 

San Carlos 28,406 29,449 29,864 0.57% 

San Mateo 97,207 101,429 104,570 0.84% 

South San Francisco 63,632 66,193 67,078 0.60% 

Woodside 5,287 5,539 5,615 6.20% 

Balance of County 61,611 64,615 66,027 0.79% 

Incorporated 656,840 688,508 708,458 0.87% 

San Mateo  

County Total 
718,451 753,123 774,485 0.86% 

Source: Population: California Department of Finance, E-5 Report; January 1, 2019 

  



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

LOCAL  

Based on the most current population counts, the town of Colma’s population is approximately 1,454 

persons (Department of Finance (DOF), 2020) (Table 4.12-2, Town of Colma Population and Housing 

Growth Projections).  The town’s growth rate has been modest with an average annual rate of growth at 

0.44%. This growth rate is lower than that of neighboring communities Daly City (0.88%) and South San 

Francisco (0.60%) as well as San Mateo County (0.86%).  

Data from the Bay Area Association of Governments (ABAG) estimates that the town’s household count 

will grow moderately in 2020, from 490 to an estimated total of 660 households in 2040 (1.7%), as shown in 

Table 4.12-3: Town of Colma Estimated Household Income. 

Table 4.12-2: Town of Colma Population and Household Growth Projections 

 2020 2025 2040 
2020-2025 

Change 

2020-2040 

Change 

Avg. 

Annual 

Change 

Population  1,504 1,776 2,269 0.18% 0,28% 2.54% 

Household 490 530 660 0.08% 0.26%% 1.73% 

Source: ABAG Growth Projections: Plan Bay Area 2040 and 2015 Colma Housing Element 

In 2018, the town had a median household income of $97,500 (Table 4.12-3, Estimated Household Income).  

This higher than the statewide average of $71,805 (2017) and slightly lower than the median income for San 

Mateo County which was $105,667 in 2018. 

Table 4.12-3: Town of Colma Estimated Household Income 

Income Range Percent of Households 

Less than $10,000 4.3% 

$10,000 to $14,999 3.0% 

$15,000 to $24,999 5.8% 

$20,000 to $24,999 2.2% 

$25,000 to $34,999 3.6% 

$35,000 to $49,999 6.5% 

$50,000 to $74,999 11.2% 

$75,000 to $99,999 16.8% 

$100,000 to $149,999 20.7% 

$150,000 to $199,999 15.9% 

$200,000 or more 11.9% 

Total 100.0% 

Median Household Income $97,500 

Source: 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 

 



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Population and Housing Projections 

The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) periodically releases regional projections for 

population, households, total jobs, and employed residents. Their most recent projections released in 2013 

cover the period between 2010 and 2040.  

ABAG projects that the town of Colma’s population will grow moderately from 2020 to 2040, with an 

average annual growth rate (AAGR) of 2.54 percent.  As shown in Table 4.12-2, the town’s population is 

projected to grow to 2,269 by 2040, an increase of almost 765 residents from the 2020 population of 1504. 

Households are expected to grow at a similar Average Annual Growth Rate (AAGR) of 1.73 percent, and a 

total household count of 660 by 2040 (Table 4.12-1).  This is an increase of 170 households from 2020 

through 2040 ABAG projects that San Mateo county will have an AAGR in population of 0.84 percent 

through 2040, less than the projected growth rate for the town of Colma.  The projected household growth 

rate for San Mateo county expects to average 0.70 percent during this period. 

Affordable Housing Needs 

The town owns one affordable housing unit and a small senior housing apartment complex called 

Creekside Villas. Vacancies in these facilities are rare and are managed for the town by a property 

management consultant, Hildebrand Properties. The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) has 

developed a Regional Housing Needs Analysis (RHNA) allocation plan for the town of Colma. The total 

housing growth need for the town identified for the 2015-2023 planning period, is 20 extremely low/very 

low-income, 8 low-income, 9 moderate-income, 22 above moderate-income (market) for a total of 59 units 

(San Francisco Bay Area, 2015). ABAG is in the process of developing the 6th cycle RHNA allocation plan 

which will cover a planning period of 2022 through 2030.  

Employment Trends 

The town’s projected growth trends are similar to the trends for San Mateo county, and generally show a 

slightly lower growth rate than the San Francisco Bay Area.  The jobs-housing balance is the ratio of jobs to 

housing in a given metropolitan sub-area.  It may be considered at the metro/regional level, or that of a 

municipality, or an area linked by commuter transit means. If jobs-housing balance is too high, adequate 

housing may be unaffordable or unavailable to workers in that area, leading to issues such as housing 

unaffordability and traffic congestion from in-commuting workers.  If jobs-housing balance is too low, this 

may indicate inadequate job availability for area residents.  

Based on data from the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG), the town’s employment base is 

expected to grow by an average of 0.30 percent, from 4,070 jobs in 2020 to an estimated 4,315 jobs in 2040, 

as shown in (Table 4.12-4: San Mateo County Projected Employment by Sector).  The greatest growth is 

anticipated to occur in the retail sector.  In comparison, San Mateo county job growth is expected to be 

greatest in health, educational and recreational and financial and professional services. 

  



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Table 4.12-4: San Mateo County Projected Employment by Sector 

Location 2020 2040 (Est.) 

Projected 

Annual 

Growth Rate 

Colma Total Jobs 4,070 4,315 0.30% 

Agricultural and Natural Resources 5 5 0% 

Manufacturing, Wholesale and Transportation 150 155 0.17% 

Retail 2,180 2,435 0.58% 

Financial and Professional Services 140 140 0% 

Health, Educational, and Recreational Services 1,160 1,135 -0.11% 

Information, Government and Construction 440 450 0.11% 

San Mateo County Total Jobs 319,275 472,845 2.40% 

Agricultural and Natural Resources 2,460 2,440 -0.04% 

Manufacturing, Wholesale, and Transportation 55,850 48,305 -0.67% 

Retail 37,530 39,675 0.28% 

Financial and Professional Services 130,365 169,620 1.5% 

Health, Educational, & Recreational Services 104,175 134,400 1.45% 

Information, Government and Construction 68,900 77,605 0.63% 

Bay Area Total Jobs 4,136,190 4,698,375 0.68% 

Agricultural and Natural Resources 24,865 24,380 -0.09% 

Manufacturing, Wholesale, and Transportation 523,320 518,740 -0.04% 

Retail 364,515 398,175 0.46% 

Financial and Professional Services 253,580 234,545 -0.37% 

Health, Educational, and Recreational Services 1,178,130 1,479,410 1.28% 

Information, Government and Construction 870,990 949,685 0.45% 

Source: ABAG Projections: Plan Bay Area 2040 

  



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

4.12.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

Department of Housing and Community Development 

The State Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) is responsible for determining the 

regional housing needs for all jurisdictions in California and ensuring the availability of affordable housing 

for all income groups. 

STATE 

Senate Bill 375  

Senate Bill 375 (SB 375) or the Sustainable Communities and Climate Protection Act of 2008 establishes a 

process for the California Air Resources Board (CARB) to implement the state’s global warming legislation 

for the transportation sector. CARB is required to adopt regional greenhouse gas targets for emissions 

associated with the automobile and light truck sector. SB 375 requires Metropolitan Planning Organizations 

such as the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) to develop a Sustainable Communities 

Strategy (SCS)—a new element of the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP)—to strive to reach these 

Greenhouse Gases (GHG) reduction targets. SB 375 ties the regional housing needs assessment (RHNA) 

process to the RTP process, requires local governments to rezone their general plans consistent with the 

updated housing element within three years of adoption, and provides that RHNA allocations must be 

consistent with the development pattern in the SCS. It moves the RHNA process to an eight-year cycle from 

the current five-year one.  

Assembly Bill 2853  

Through its role as the San Francisco Bay Area’s Council of Governments, the Association of Bay Area 

Governments (ABAG) has been designated by the State of California and the Federal government as the 

official comprehensive planning agency for the San Francisco Bay Area. Assembly Bill 2853 (AB 2853), 

enacted in 1980, requires all cities to address their regional “fair share allocation” of housing needs by 

income group in their General Plan Housing Elements. ABAG allocates housing needs for each city and 

county in the region according to four specified income levels, so that each jurisdiction can make plans to 

provide for its “fair share” of regional housing needs by income group, pursuant to California Government 

Code Section §65584(a). ABAG reviews projects of regional significance for consistency with regional plans 

and is also responsible for preparation of the Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA), ABAG’s 

locally adopted Regional Housing Needs Allocation and the San Francisco Bay Area Housing Needs Plan, 

provide a policy guide for planning the region's housing, economic development, environmental quality, 

transportation, recreation, and health and safety. 

Housing Element Law  

California State law for Housing Elements (California Government Code Article 10.6) requires each city 

and county to prepare and maintain a current Housing Element as part of the community's General Plan. 

This requirement allows California to attain a statewide goal of providing "decent housing and a suitable 

living environment for every California family." Under state law, housing elements must be updated every 

eight years and reviewed by the State Department of Housing and Community Development. 

  



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

LOCAL  

Inclusionary Housing City Ordinance  

The town of Colma participated in a San Mateo county-wide housing impact nexus study to examine the 

impacts that market rate development has on the need for affordable housing in an area. Since that study 

was completed, the town has completed a financial feasibility analysis to determine potential impact fee 

amounts for future residential and commercial development. On January 11, 2017, the Town Council 

adopted an Inclusionary Housing Ordinance. The Ordinance includes both commercial and residential 

linkage fees, fees on commercial and market-rate residential development that are used solely to help build 

affordable housing for lower-income residents, based on the findings from the County-wide housing 

impact nexus study and the financial feasibility analysis for the town of Colma. It also establishes an 

inclusionary housing requirement for new for-sale housing. Projects resulting in twelve or less units have 

the option to pay in-lieu fees, while projects resulting in more than 12 units must build affordable units on-

site. Ultimately, the fees from the Inclusionary Housing Ordinance will provide financial resources to assist 

in development of affordable housing units. 

Town of Colma Zoning Ordinance  

The town of Colma’s Zoning Regulations were last updated in 2018. The Town’s Zoning Ordinance set up 

the guidelines for a design review (DR) zone, to serve in addition to and lay over the land use zones set 

forth in the municipal code. The purpose of the zone is to achieve a consistent site, landscape and building 

design theme in those areas where it is applied. The DR zone will require extra design standards on top of 

the existing zoning. The regulations specify land uses, densities, and intensities for various zoning districts, 

each with its own chapter.  

4.12.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS  

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State California Environmental Quality Act 

(CEQA) Guidelines Appendix G thresholds of significance. Population and housing impacts are considered 

to be significant if implementation of the project considered would result in any of the following: 

• Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly (for example, by 

proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or other 

infrastructure) 

• Displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the construction of 

replacement housing elsewhere 

METHODOLOGY 

Evaluation of potential population and housing impacts of the proposed Town of Colma General Plan 

Update was based primarily on information gathered from the United States Department of Finance and 

United States Census. A detailed list of resources used in the completion of the analysis in this section can 

be found under References located at the end of the section.  Implementation of the proposed project was 

compared to the existing conditions to determine the impacts due to population and housing.  

  



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.12.1  Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update will induce substantial unplanned 

population growth in an area, either directly (for example, by proposing new homes and 

businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or other infrastructure) 

(Less than Significant). 

The proposed General Plan Update (GPU) could accommodate limited additional growth through mixed 

use development, single-family uses, as well as through the expansion of existing business locations. The 

2040 GPU proposes updates to the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning 

areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision 

of the City Council. The planning areas include development standards such as height, FAR, and density 

as well as development standard bonuses for specific uses in opportunity sites. In addition, the proposed 

GPU introduces new land uses such a medium density residential land use that is consistent with current 

developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside 

Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning 

Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses 

in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard 

Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the 

Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, 

and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and 

Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update is expected to result in a total 2,269 people within 

the Planning Area at buildout (2040). This represents an increase of approximately 765 persons (from a 

current population of 1,504 people) over the next 20 years, within the Planning Area.   

Since the proposed Project is an update to the town’s existing General Plan (including the Land Use and 

Circulation elements as well as the Climate Action Plan), the project by itself does not propose any specific 

development at this time. There will be a slight buildout of jobs and housing under future development 

proposed by the GPU. Cemetery land uses account for approximately 75% of the town’s land area, while 

approximately 13% of land area is available for residential and commercial uses. Population projections by 

the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) only increase the town’s population by approximately 

765 people (from 1,5054 in 2010 to 2,269 in the Buildout Year of 2040) and by 328 households between 2010 

and 2040 (Buildout Year). There should not be any substantial unplanned development or population 

growth in the town of Colma under full buildout of the GPU. Moreover, any population growth in the 

town over the next 20 years would still remain within the growth levels projected Statewide. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address future population growth for the town: 

Policy LU-1-1: General Plan Land Use Diagram. Maintain and implement a Land Use Diagram for 

purposes of describing the types of allowed land uses by geographic location and the 

density and/or intensity of allowed uses within each designation. 

Policy LU-1-2: Zoning Consistency. Ensure that zoning designations are consistent with the General 

Land Use Diagram. 

Policy LU-1-3: Balance New Development with Existing Setting. Prioritize new and higher density 

development consistent with the Town’s Planning Areas to ensure new development 

is context sensitive and contributes to creating a strong sense of place. New 



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

development shall serve to protect and enhance the positive aesthetic qualities of the 

Town and each geographic area. 

Policy LU-1-5: Clear and Predictable Development Standards. Strive to adopt and communicate 

clear and predictable development standards to ensure new development meets the 

expectations of the Town. 

Even though the town of Colma is expected to be fully developed by the buildout year of 2040, 

implementation of the Land Use policies under the General Plan Update would keep this impact to less 

than significant levels and no mitigation measures are required. 

Impact 4.12.2  Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not result in the 

displacement of substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the 

construction of replacement housing elsewhere (Less than Significant).  

While the 2040 GPU does not directly propose any new development, now, or within the GPU’s planning 

horizon of 20 years, the General Plan Update would allow for the future development of currently vacant 

lands or the expansion of already developed areas. As discussed earlier, the proposed growth would be 

concentrated on the five planning areas proposed under the 2040 GPU. However, it should be noted that 

the town of Colma is limited in its areas of additional new housing, which are anticipated to be more mixed-

use, multi-family housing than single-family uses. Since the total number of dwelling units can only 

increase by 328 units up to 2040, displaced residents, if any, should be able to find replacement housing 

within the Town.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address future population growth for the town: 

Policy LU-1-1: General Plan Land Use Diagram. Maintain and implement a Land Use Diagram for 

purposes of describing the types of allowed land uses by geographic location and the 

density and/or intensity of allowed uses within each designation. 

Policy LU-1-3: Balance New Development with Existing Setting. Prioritize new and higher density 

development consistent with the Town’s Planning Areas to ensure new development 

is context sensitive and contributes to creating a strong sense of place. New 

development shall serve to protect and enhance the positive aesthetic qualities of the 

Town and each geographic area. 

Policy LU-3-3:  Adequate and Affordable Housing. The Town shall continue to provide 

opportunities for a variety of housing types at varying densities and affordability 

levels. 

Policy LU-4-2:  Adequacy to Serve New and Existing Developments.  The Town shall continue to 

ensure that new and existing developments can be adequately served by municipal 

services and facilities in accordance with Town standards. 

Implementation of Policies LU-1-1, LU-1-2, LU-1-3 and LU-1-5 would further ensure that the impacts to the 

displacement of existing population is a less than significant impact and no mitigation measures are 

required. 

  



4.12   Population and Housing 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.12-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

REFERENCES 

Documents  

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG). January 31, 2015. Regional Housing Need Plan San Francisco 

Bay Area 2015-2023. San Francisco Bay Area, California. 

Town of Colma. January 1, 2020. Town of Colma General Plan Existing Conditions Report. Colma, California. 

Town of Colma. January 15, 2015. Town of Colma 2015 Housing Element. Colma, California. 

Town of Colma. June 1, 1999. Town of Colma General Plan. Colma, California 

Vernazza Wolfe Associates, Inc. September 2015. Residential Impact Fee Nexus Study. Redwood City, 

California. 

Vernazza Wolfe Associates Inc. September 2015. Commercial Linkage Fee Nexus Study. Redwood City, 

California 

Websites 

American Community Survey (ACS). 2020. <https://www.census.gov/search-

results.html?searchType=web&cssp=SERP&q=Colma%20town,%20CA; accessed March 20, 2020 

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG). 2020. <https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/economic-

analysis/forecasts-projections; accessed March 20, 2020. 

Department of Finance (DOF).  2020. <http://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics/Estimates/E-1; 

accessed March 20, 2020 

United States Census Bureau. December 6, 2018. <https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-kits/2018/acs-

5year.html>; accessed August 2020.  

United States Census Bureau. 2020. <https://data.census.gov/cedsci/; accessed July 17, 2020 

 

https://www.census.gov/search-results.html?searchType=web&cssp=SERP&q=Colma%20town,%20CA
https://www.census.gov/search-results.html?searchType=web&cssp=SERP&q=Colma%20town,%20CA
https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/economic-analysis/forecasts-projections
https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/economic-analysis/forecasts-projections
http://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics/Estimates/E-1
https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-kits/2018/acs-5year.html
https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-kits/2018/acs-5year.html
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/


4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

conditions for fire and police protection, public schools, and parks within the Town of Colma (Town; town) 

2040 General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area). It includes the regulatory framework necessary to assess 

potential environmental impacts from the General Plan Update and identifies the potential impacts of 

implementing the proposed project on such resources. This section also identifies the appropriate proposed 

General Plan goals, policies and implementation measures that reduce the identified impacts. 

4.13.1 FIRE PROTECTION  

4.13.1.1 EXISTING SETTING  

LOCAL  

Fire protection is provided to the town of Colma by the Colma Fire Protection District (District). For 

additional protection to the communities it serves, this District is part of the automatic aid agreement 

throughout San Mateo County.  The California Division of Forestry protects the San Bruno Mountain State 

Park. The town of Colma Fire Station is located just north of the town at 50 Reiner Street, near San Pedro 

Road (Figure 4.13-1: Local Fire and Police Facilities).  

The station is manned by 36 part time, paid on-call fire fighters and three salaried full-time personnel 

(Chief, Deputy Fire Marshal and Staff Captain). The fire district has a paramedic on duty 24 hours a day 

ready to respond to any call for medical assistance. In addition, all the members are certified as fully trained 

firefighters able to mitigate any emergency. 

Facilities and Equipment 

The Colma Fire Protection District (Fire Protection District) is made up of 36 paid on-call fire fighters and 

three salaried part time personnel (Chief, Deputy Fire Marshal, and EMS Captain). Per the Fire Protection 

District’s mutual aid agreement, the Colma Fire Protection District responds to calls within the town limits 

and the surrounding unincorporated areas including the Broadmoor neighborhood. The Fire Protection 

District’s available equipment consists of three 1,500 gallon per minute capacity fire engines and one 100-

foot aerial ladder truck and one squad truck (T85), The Fire District also supports one of the three breathing 

support units for San Mateo County.  

Response Times and Service Standards 

The fire station for the town is located at 50 Reiner Street in unincorporated town of Colma. The volunteers 

have an average response time of two to four minutes. The time it takes to respond to an emergency is 

important because of the critical care period (seven to eight minutes) needed for physical health 

emergencies, and of the increasing intensity and spread of fire. The town’s fire protection services are 

evaluated by the Insurance Service Office (ISO). This rating, known as a Public Protection Classification 

(PPC), is utilized by many insurance providers to calculate insurance premiums within the district. Ratings 

range from 1 to 10, with Class 1 rating typically representing superior property fire protection, and Class 

10 indicating that the area’s fire-suppression program does not meet ISO’s minimum criteria. An ISO rating 

is partially based on such factors as available water supply, manpower and equipment.  The town’s Fire 

District’s ISO rating is 5, which is an improvement from their previous rating of 6. 



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.13.1.2  REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL  

National Fire Protection Association 

The National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) is an international nonprofit organization that provides 

consensus codes and standards, research, training, and education on fire prevention and public safety. The 

NFPA develops, publishes, and disseminates more than 300 consensus codes and standards intended to 

minimize the possibility and effects of fire and other risks. The NFPA publishes the NFPA 1, Uniform Fire 

Code, which provides requirements to establish a reasonable level of fire safety and property protection in 

new and existing buildings. 

STATE   

California Office of Emergency Services 

Cal OES is the Emergency Management authority for the State of California. The California Governor’s 

Office of Emergency Services (OES) began as the State War Council in 1943. With an increasing emphasis 

on emergency management, it officially became OES in 1970. The State of California passed the California 

Emergency Services Act in 2013, requiring Standard Emergency Management System (SEMS) program, 

which sets forth measures by which a jurisdiction should handle emergency disasters. Non-compliance 

with SEMS could result in the State withholding disaster relief from the non-complying jurisdiction in the 

event of an emergency disaster. 

California Fire Code 

The California Fire Code establishes regulations to safeguard against hazards of fire, explosion, or 

dangerous conditions in new and existing buildings, structures, and premises. It incorporates the Uniform 

Fire Code with necessary California amendments. This code prescribes regulations consistent with 

nationally recognized good practices for the safeguarding, to a reasonable degree, of life and property from 

the hazards of fire explosion. It also addresses dangerous conditions arising from the storage, handling, 

and use of hazardous materials and devices; conditions hazardous to life or property in the use or 

occupancy of buildings or premises; and provisions to assist emergency response personnel. The Fire Code 

includes regulations regarding fire resistance rated construction, fire protection systems such as alarm and 

sprinkler systems, fire services features such as fire apparatus access roads, means of egress, fire safety 

during construction and demolition, and wildland-urban interface areas. 

California Occupational Safety and Health Administration 

In accordance with the California Code of Regulations, Title 8 Sections 1270 “Fire Prevention” and 6773 

“Fire Protection and Fire Fighting Equipment,” the California Occupational Safety and Health 

Administration (OSHA) has established minimum standards for fire suppression and emergency medical 

services. The standards include, but are not limited to, guidelines on the handling of highly combustible 

materials, fire housing sizing requirements, restrictions on the use of compressed air, access roads, and the 

testing, maintenance, and use of all firefighting and emergency medical equipment. 

  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

LOCAL  

Colma Fire Protection District  

The Colma Fire Protection District is a volunteer fire station that serves the town of Colma and 

unincorporated areas of Broadmoor. The fire district is unique in the bay area in that it is a paid on-call 

department whose members respond from home or work 24 hours a day 7 days a week. The fire district 

also has a paramedic on duty 24 hours a day ready to respond to any call for medical assistance. The District 

follows the regulations and standards established in the California Fire Code to provide acceptable levels 

of fire protection in its service area which includes the Town of Colma. 

California Fire Assistance Agreement (CFAA) 

The Town of Colma participates in the California Fire Assistance Agreement. The CFAA outlines the 

negotiated reimbursement terms and conditions for local fire agency responses through the California Fire 

Service and Rescue Emergency Mutual Aid System. It allows the State of California and Federal Fire 

Agencies to utilize local government firefighting personnel and equipment and emergency assistance to 

the State of California and to Federal Fire Agencies.   

This Agreement also continues to allow the agencies to request the deployment of volunteer firefighters 

who respond to emergencies throughout the state. Volunteer firefighters make up more than 30% of 

available local government firefighting personnel in California. Key terms of the Agreement include fair 

and equitable reimbursement, transparency and ensuring for the needs of the California Fire Service.   

San Mateo County Pre-Hospital Emergency Services JPA (ALS JPA) 

The San Mateo County Pre-Hospital Emergency Medical Services Group (JPA), comprised of City of 

Brisbane, City of Burlingame, City of Daly City, City of Foster City, Town of Hillsborough, City of Millbrae, 

City of Pacifica, City of Redwood City, City of San Bruno, City of San Carlos, City of San Mateo, City of 

South San Francisco, Belmont Fire Protection District, Coastside Fire Protection District, Colma Fire 

Protection District, County of San Mateo, Menlo Park Fire Protection District and Woodside Fire Protection 

District, provides Countywide paramedic first responder services prior to the arrival of an AMR ALS 

ambulance, except within the City of South San Francisco. 

The JPA provides a valuable service to the residents and visitors of San Mateo County. Pursuant to this 

Agreement, the JPA will staff ALS fire first response vehicles to respond to 9-1-1 emergency medical 

requests in the Urban areas within 6:59 minutes vs the California Standard of 8:00 minutes. This quick 

response allows AMR to extend ALS ambulance response times to 12:59 minutes while the patient is 

receiving initial ALS medical care from JPA first response paramedics. AMR will provide funding for the 

JPA first response services to the EMS Agency. 

Colma Municipal Code Section 1.17 – Colma Disaster Council 

The purpose of Chapter 1.17 of the Colma Municipal Code is to provide for the preparation and 

implementation of plans for providing materials and services within the town in the event of an emergency, 

to empower certain town officials to promulgate orders and regulations necessary to provide for the 

protection of life and property or to preserve public order and safety, and to provide for the coordination 

of the emergency services functions of the town with all other public agencies, corporations, organizations, 

and affected private persons. 

 

 



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.13.1.3  IMPACT ANALYSIS  

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Public Services impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the 

project considered would result in any of the following: 

• Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to 

maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance objectives for any of the 

public services: 

a. Fire protection? 

METHODOLOGY 

Evaluation of potential fire impacts of the proposed Town of Colma General Plan Update was based on the 

availability and distance of fire-stations to the town’s residences and businesses, as well as review of the 

applicable fire codes and regulations and other relevant literature. A detailed list of reference material used 

can be found at this end of this section. This material was then compared to the proposed GPU’s specific 

fire service-related impacts.  

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.13.1 Project implementation would not result in adverse physical impacts associated with the 

provision of new or physically altered fire protection services and facilities for the town of 

Colma (Less than Significant). 

The town of Colma is primarily built out and all new development would primarily come from infill 

redevelopment with limited new areas for commercial and residential uses. The 2040 GPU proposes few 

changes that could potentially alter the future development proposed in the town. The proposed GPU 

updates the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning areas into five new 

planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision of the City Council. 

In addition, the proposed GPU introduces new land uses such a medium density residential land use that 

is consistent with current developments and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery 

land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the 

Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 

square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within 

the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of 

commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, 

Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update is expected to result in a total 2,269 people within 

the Planning Area at buildout (2040). This represents an increase of approximately 765 persons (from a 

current population of 1,504 people) over the next 20 years, within the Planning Area. However, even the 

limited redevelopment and growth would result in increased demand for fire protection services over the 

town’s Planning Area buildout.  

Though not located within its boundaries, the town is serviced by a fire station located less than one mile 

to the north of the town limit. The proposed GPU does not identify the location of any new fire stations 



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

within the town’s boundaries nor does it require future development to provide a site for a fire station. 

Should the future residential and commercial uses in the town of Colma require additional fire protection 

services and stations, these would be addressed in the appropriate project-level environmental document 

prepared at that time. Also, any new development would be subject to California Fire Code regulations 

regarding fire resistance rated construction, fire protection systems, appropriate fire apparatus access, 

means of egress, and fire safety during construction and operation.  For the following reasons, the GPU 

would not result in adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered fire 

protection services and facilities, and impacts would be less than significant.   

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address fire safety for the Town of Colma: 

Policy CS-4-1: Alternate EOC.  Establish an alternative Emergency Operations Center (EOC) if the 

existing EOC is not operational during a fire event. 

Policy CS-4-2:  Mutual Aid Agreements. The Town shall continue to participate in San Mateo County 

mutual aid agreements related to fire protection.  

Policy CS-4-3:  Fire Prevention Education. Provide regular public education and fire safety programs 

to the Town’s residents and businesses. 

Policy CS-5-1: Adequate Water Supplies.  Require new development projects to document adequate 

water supplies for fire suppression. 

Policy CS-5-2:  Removal of Fire Hazards. Ensure the Town’s code enforcement programs promote the 

removal of fire hazards such as (but not limited to) litter, rubbish, overgrown 

vegetation, and dilapidated or abandoned structures.  

Policy CS-5-3:  Building Fire Codes. Require that all buildings and facilities comply with local, State, 

and federal regulatory standards, such as the California Building and Fire Codes as 

well as other applicable fire safety standards. Building Fire Codes. Require that all 

buildings and facilities within the Town comply with local, state, and federal 

regulatory standards such as the California Building and Fire Codes as well as other 

applicable fire safety standards.  

Policy CS-5-4:  Urban Fire Risks. Work with the Colma Fire Protection District to maintain an 

ongoing fire inspection program to reduce fire hazards associated with multifamily 

development, critical facilities, public assembly facilities, industrial buildings, and 

nonresidential buildings.  

Implementation of the policies described above would further reduce any impacts relating to fire 

protection services to less than significant and no mitigation is required.    

4.13.2  LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES 

4.13.2.1  EXISTING SETTING 

LOCAL  

The town of Colma has its own police department located across the street from Town Hall at 1199 El 

Camino Real. The town of Colma Police Department provides law enforcement service, responding to 

public safety calls, providing traffic safety and security for public events, and handing calls for assistance. 

Among the staff they also have a motorcycle officer, bicycle patrol officers, a member attached to the Daly 



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

City/North County Special Weapon and Tactics team, tactical dispatchers, a Community Service Officer 

and a Reserve Police Officer Program.   

The town of Colma’s Police Station is located at 1199 El Camino Real (Figure: 4.31-1). The Department 

personnel includes a chief, a commander, 5 sergeants, 12 sworn officers, a communications and records 

supervisor, 3 dispatchers, 5 per diem dispatchers, a community service officer/administrative technician, 2 

part time community service officers and an administrative technician.  Counting both sworn officers and 

sergeants, there are a minimum of two officers per shift.  The Department has 8 patrol cars, one community 

service officer truck, one motorcycle and one electric motorcycle.  Average response time to a call for service 

is less than two minutes. 

4.13.2.2  REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

No federal regulations are directly related to this section of the PEIR. 

STATE 

No state regulations are directly related to this section of the PEIR. 

LOCAL 

San Mateo County Local Hazards Mitigation Plan  

In 2016, San Mateo County, in coordination with 18 of its incorporated municipalities and multiple special 

districts, made a comprehensive update to its Local Hazard Mitigation Plan (LHMP). The LHMP serves 

many purposes such as enhancing public awareness, creating a decision tool for management, promoting 

compliance with State and Federal program requirements, enhancing local policies for hazard mitigation 

capability, supporting viability after a hazard event, and providing inter-jurisdictional coordination. 

Colma Municipal Code Chapter 1.16: Town of Colma Police Training and Public Safety 

Dispatchers  

A police reserve force is established in Chapter 1.16 of the Colma Municipal Code, Police Training and 

Public Safety Dispatchers. The Chief of Police, or his or her designee is empowered to deputize or appoint 

qualified persons as Level I, Level II or Level III reserve police officers pursuant to Sections 830.6 and 832.6 

of the California Penal Code.  

Colma Municipal Code Chapter 1.17: Town of Colma Disaster Council Chapter  

The purpose of Chapter 1.17 of the town’s Municipal Code sets up a Disaster Council whose purpose is to 

provide for the preparation and implementation of plans for providing materials and services within the 

town in the event of an emergency, to empower certain town officials to promulgate orders and regulations 

necessary to provide for the protection of life and property or to preserve public order and safety, and to 

provide for the coordination of the emergency services functions of the town with all other public agencies, 

corporations, organizations, and affected private persons. 

 

 

 



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.13.2.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

STANDARDS OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Following PRC Sections §21083.2 and §21084.1, and Section §15064.5 and Appendix G of the State CEQA 

Guidelines, Public Services impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the project 

considered would result in any of the following: 

• Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to 

maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance objectives for any of the 

public services: 

b. Police protection? 

METHODOLOGY 

Evaluation of potential law enforcement impacts of the proposed Town of Colma General Plan Update was 

based on a review of the town’s existing General Plan. A detailed list of reference material used can be 

found at this end of this section. This material was compared to the proposed GPU’s specific law 

enforcement-related impacts. The impact analysis below focuses on whether those impacts would have a 

significant effect on the physical environment. 

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.13.2 Project implementation would not result in additional law enforcement protection services 

and facilities for the town of Colma that would have had the potential to result in physical 

environmental impacts (Less than Significant). 

The 2040 GPU updates the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing planning areas 

into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and the vision of 

the City Council. The planning areas would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park 

Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of 

office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside 

Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in 

the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial 

uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center 

and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

The town of Colma’s police protection is provided by 33 employees consisting of 19 sworn officers and 

supporting personnel. The town’s police department is located at the center of the town at 1199 El Camino 

Real. The Department provides dispatch and detective services, community service outreach, and 

participates in the Daly City/North San Mateo County Special Weapons and Tactics (SWAT) team.  

The Department is organized into four divisions: Administration, Patrol, Communications, and Grants, 

each with specific duties and staff. The Administration, Communications, and Grants divisions provide 

oversight, clerical and record keeping services, funding and officer training costs of the entire police 

department. The department’s Police Patrol Division responds to all security service related needs, enforces 

traffic laws, investigates crimes against people and property, and addresses neighborhood quality of life 

issues.  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Future growth under the town’s 2040 GPU may result in the increased need for additional law enforcement 

officials. It is anticipated that the town may increase its current population of 1,504 persons and 490 

households to about 2,269 persons and 660 households. This constitutes a 0.28% change in population and 

a 0.26% change in the number of households under the GPU buildout year and may result in a small 

increase to the town’s police force. The national average of police officer per residents is approximately 2.4 

officers per 1,000 residents (FBI Police Employee data, 2011). Therefore the town would need 

approximately two or three additional officers on its police force, under the 2040 GPU buildout.  

Proposed General Plan Update  

The following proposed General Plan policies address law enforcement for the town of Colma: 

Policy CS-8.1: Staffing Levels. Maintain sufficient police staffing levels, including sworn officers and 

volunteer support, necessary to meet current and projected community needs. 

Policy CS-8.2: Facilities Planning. Develop, maintain, and implement a Police Department Facilities 

Master Plan that guides the provision of equipment, facilities, training. 

Policy CS-8.3: Response Times.  Identify, monitor, and achieve appropriate minimum police 

response times of no more than 10 minutes, for all call levels. 

Policy CS-8.4: Communication. Encourage and maintain two-way communication with the Town of 

Colma community to facilitate effective policing. 

Implementation of the policies described above would ensure that new development or redevelopment 

would be accommodated by appropriate police protection services thus reducing the environmental 

impacts to less than significant and no mitigation is required. 

4.13.3  SCHOOLS, LIBRARIES, PARKS AND RECREATION 

FACILITIES 

The town of Colma does not have any schools and libraries within its jurisdictions. Town residents utilize 

these services from the neighboring communities of the cities of San Francisco, South San Francisco, and 

Daly City. 

4.13.4  RECREATION 

4.13.4.1 EXISTING SETTINGS 

REGIONAL  

San Francisco Bay National Wildlife Refuge 

The San Francisco Bay National Wildlife Refuge is 23,000 acres and is owned by the Federal government 

and operated by the Fish and Wildlife Service of the U.S. Department of the Interior. The Refuge is located 

in the South Bay and contains lands located in San Mateo, Santa Clara and Alameda Counties. That portion 

within the San Mateo County (County; county) contains approximately 1,863 acres. The Refuge offers 

environmental, educational and wildlife opportunities for visitors.  

  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Golden Gate National Recreation Area 

The Golden Gate National Recreation Area (GGNRA) was established to preserve public use open space 

lands of significant natural, historic, scenic and recreational value. Approximately 23,000 acres of land in 

San Mateo county has been authorized for inclusion in this Federal government facility operated by the 

National Park Service of the U.S. Department of the Interior. Included with the new boundaries of the 

GGNRA are certain public parks and beaches located in the cities of Pacifica, Daly City and Sweeney Ridge 

in unincorporated San Mateo county. 

Also included in the GGNRA are the watershed properties owned by the city and county of San Francisco. 

These properties are regulated by scenic and recreation easements, granted to the city and county of San 

Francisco, the state of California, the Federal government and San Mateo County.  

State of California 

The State Department of Parks and Recreation owns and operates 8,353 acres of recreational facilities in 

San Mateo county in the form of parks, beaches, and marine reserves. These facilities are located along the 

coast and in the southern portion of the county. 

County of San Mateo   

Through the Park and Recreation Division, the county maintains and operates a 14,122-acre system 

comprised of 20 facilities. These facilities generally are located in the southern end of the county; however, 

Edgewood and San Bruno Mountain County Parks have created additional recreational opportunities 

toward the northern portion of the county. The county park and recreation system is presently oriented 

toward the preservation of natural areas because the majority of the facilities are rural in nature, offering 

mostly low intensity types of activities. The system, however, in seeking to provide a balanced group of 

facilities does feature some sites for more active types of recreation, such as Coyote Point Recreation Area.  

The town of Colma is situated in the county of San Mateo and near the city/county of San Francisco. This 

allows the town to be in proximity to a vast and diverse amount recreational opportunity. The following is 

a list of the most popular trails and parks in San Mateo county: 

• Coyote Point Marina and Recreational 

Area 

• Crystal Springs Regional Trail 

• Devil’s Slide Trail 

• Edgewood Park and Natural Reserve  

• Fitzgerald Marine Rescue  

• Flood Park 

• Friendship Park 

• Huddart Park 

• Junipero Serra Park 

• Mirada Surf 

• Moss Beach Park  

• Memorial Park 

• Pescadero Creek Park 

• Pillar Point Bluff 

• Quarry Park 

• San McDonald Park 

• San Pedro Valley Park 

• Wunderlich Park 

 

Historical Sites:  

• Sanchez Adobe 

• Woodside Store 



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

The town of Colma is only about an hour car ride from any of the recreational options offered by the San 

Mateo County Parks and Recreational Department. The parks offer activities such as hiking/biking trails, 

equestrian trails, swimming, camping, playgrounds and educational programs (San Mateo County General 

Plan, 1986). 

LOCAL  

The town of Colma is located on the San Francisco Peninsula within proximity to many outdoor 

recreational opportunities. The San Francisco Bay and Pacific Ocean are easily accessible by car and offer 

scenic and natural outdoor recreational opportunities.    

San Bruno Mountain State and County Park lies adjacent to the town of Colma’s easternmost boundary 

and offers excellent hiking opportunities and views of San Francisco and the Central Bay Area. It is a 

landmark of local and regional significance. The park is a unique open-space island amid the peninsula's 

urbanization at the northern end of the Santa Cruz Mountain Range. The mountain's ridge line runs in an 

east-west configuration, with considerable slopes and elevations ranging from 250 feet to 1,314 feet at the 

summit. The 2,416-acre park includes twelve miles of hiking, riding, and jogging trails that access various 

vista points throughout the park.  Many of the vistas offer spectacular views of the Pacific Ocean, central 

San Francisco Bay, and the city of San Francisco skyline. The park consists of 2,416 acres of rugged 

landscape offering hiking opportunities and outstanding views of the town the central Bay Area. The 

facilities provided here include an extensive trail system, picnic grounds, day camp, and a handicap 

accessible nature trail.  Vehicular access to the park is gained from Guadalupe Canyon Parkway in the city 

of Daly City. Pedestrian access to the park from the town of Colma can be gained via a trailhead on Hillside 

Boulevard near the southernmost boundary of the town.  This trailhead leads up a ravine to the ridge top 

where the greater trail network can be accessed. The park may also be accessed approximately four and 

one-half miles from the Sterling Park neighborhood in the town of Colma.    

The town of Colma has entered into an agreement with the city of Daly City to share costs associated with 

the development of sports fields at the former T.R. Pollicita Middle School in the city of Daly City. These 

facilities can be reserved and programed by the Parks and Recreation department for day camp or other 

special events. A small picnic area which is part of the Veteran’s Village project on Mission Road is available 

for public use and includes a historic display about the site. Private recreation and workout facilities that 

are available include several private health clubs located within a one-half mile distance of the town of 

Colma in the city of Daly City including Crunch Fitness in the Serramonte Center; Planet Fitness on 

Junipero Serra Boulevard; Snap fitness on Mission Street; Orange Theory Fitness at the 280 Metro Center 

and 24-Hour Fitness on Gellert Boulevard. 

Colma Creek is a small creek that flows to the San Francisco Bay from its source in the San Bruno Mountain 

State and County Park. It flows southwest through the town of Colma and the cities of Daly City and South 

San Francisco to San Francisco Bay. Though Colma Creek flows primarily underground along the majority 

of the town of Colma, there are open channels of the Creek and the town has opportunities for a linear 

park, pedestrian walkways and sitting areas along the edge of the channels. 

Though the town of Colma residents historically had enjoyed park and recreational facilities provided by 

San Mateo County or the city of Daly City, beginning in the late 1980’s, the town of Colma began an active 

process of acquiring and improving public recreation properties in the town. It’s publicly owned recreation 

and community facilities currently include the facilities listed in Table 4.13-1: Park and Recreation 

Facilities and shown in Figure 4.13-2: Parks and Recreation Facilities below: 

 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Francisco_Bay
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Bruno_Mountain_State_Park
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Bruno_Mountain_State_Park
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_San_Francisco,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_San_Francisco,_California


4.13   Public Services and Recreation 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.13.1: Parks and Recreation Facilities 
 

Facility Name Acres Amenities 

Bark Park 0.11 Dog park with a water station, 

gravel track and grass area. 

Colma Community Center and 

Historical Park 

2 Restored train station, 

blacksmith shop, and freight 

station 

Sterling Park Recreation Center 0.75 Picnic area with barbecue pit, 

half-court basketball court, and 

children’s playground 

Source: Town of Colma. 2020. Town of Colma Existing Conditions Report, Public Utilities, Facilities, and Services. 

Colma Community Center and Historical Park 

The town has acquired approximately two acres at the southwest corner of F Street and Hillside Boulevard 

for a community park. The Colma Community Center was constructed to provide additional recreational 

and community-oriented opportunities to the residents of the town. It provides dining facilities for up to 

150 people and is used for community events, private parties, meetings and the town’s Recreation Services 

Department office. A small lending library is included, as well as a full catering kitchen and a small 

conference room. The remainder of the site is used for off-street parking and public outdoor areas, picnic 

areas, open space, gardens and walkways. The historically significant former Olivet Cemetery office has 

been converted to house the Colma Historical Association museum and offices. It also houses the historic 

Colma Train Station, which was acquired by the town when the station building was displaced by the 

BART extension to the town.  The park also includes a restored blacksmith shop and freight station. A 

vintage caboose or funeral car may also be acquired for the park as part of the historic train station theme. 

Sterling Park and Sterling Park Recreation Center 

Sterling Park is located on the west side of the Sterling Park Residential neighborhood. The site is made up 

of two parcels and can be accessed from E Street or F Street. In 2002, Sterling Park was expanded and 

improved to incorporate additional open lawn areas, a skateboard park, walking paths and fountain.  

However, the town has now converted the skateboard park to expand the lawn area and walking paths. 

The half-court basketball court, bocce ball court, and playground were constructed on the other parcel, 

around the recreation center. In 2019, the bocce ball court was removed to expand the playground area. 

The park now includes amenities for both youths and adult residents including the town’s Recreation 

Center, picnic tables and barbecues, a half-court basketball court, children’s playground, an open lawn area 

with walking paths, and a four-station par course. Many of the town’s events are held at this site, including 

the annual town picnic and summer youth programs. 

  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Bark Park 

The town of Colma’s Dog Park, known as the Bark Park, is located on the west end of D Street in the Sterling 

Park Residential Neighborhood.  The fully enclosed park is approximately 0.11 acre and is great for small 

to medium size dogs. The park features a water station, gravel track and grass area. 

4.13.4.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL  

The California Parklands Act  

Although a recreation element is not mandated by law to be included in a General Plan, recreation 

resources are to be considered in the Open Space Element of a General Plan (Government Code Section 

§65560). The California Parklands Act of 1980 (Pub. Res. Code Section 5096.141-5096.143) identifies “the 

public interest for the state to acquire, develop, and restore areas for recreation…and to aid local 

governments of the state in acquiring, developing and restoring such areas.” The California Parklands Act 

also identifies the necessity of local agencies to exercise vigilance to see that the parks, recreation areas, and 

recreational facilities they now have are not lost to other uses (California Parklands Act, 1980). 

STATE 

Quimby Act  

Local governments in California provide a critical role in the effort to set aside parkland and open space 

for recreational purposes. California cities and counties have been authorized since the passage of the 1975 

Quimby Act (California Government Code §66477), to pass ordinances requiring that developers set aside 

land, donate conservation easements, or pay in-lieu fees for park improvements. The Act states that the 

dedication requirement of parkland can be a minimum of 3 acres per thousand residents or more, up to 5 

acres per thousand residents if the existing ratio is greater than the minimum standard. Revenues generated 

through in lieu fees collected and the Quimby Act cannot be used for the operation and maintenance of 

park facilities. In 1982, the Act was substantially amended. The amendments further defined acceptable 

uses of or restrictions on Quimby funds, provided acreage/population standards and formulas for 

determining the exaction, and indicated that the exactions must be closely tied (nexus) to a project’s impacts 

as identified through studies required by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Revenues 

generated through the Quimby Act cannot be used for the operation and maintenance of park facilities. 

California Open Space Code 

California State planning law (Government Code Section §65560) provides a structure for the preservation 

of open space by requiring every city and county in the state to prepare, adopt, and submit to the Secretary 

of the Resources Agency a “local open-space plan for the comprehensive and long-range preservation and 

conservation of open-space land within its jurisdiction.” 

Government Code Section §65910 

California Government Code Section §65910 requires that every California County must adopt an open 

space zoning ordinance. Section 2800 of the County Zoning Ordinance meets this regulation. 

  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Preservation of Public Parks 

The following is taken from the Public Resources Code (PRC) Division 5 Chapter 2.5 Preservation of Public 

Park, “no city, city and county, county, public district, or agency of the state, including any division, 

department or agency of the state government, or public utility, shall acquire (by purchase, exchange, 

condemnation, or otherwise) any real property, which property is in use as a public park at the time of such 

acquisition, for the purpose of utilizing such property for any nonpark purpose, unless the acquiring entity 

pays or transfers to the legislative body of the entity operating the park sufficient compensation or land, or 

both, as required by the provisions of this chapter to enable the operating entity to replace the park land 

and the facilities thereon. 

San Mateo County Comprehensive Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 

The City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County (C/CAG), with support from the San 

Mateo County Transportation Authority (SMCTA) have developed the San Mateo County Comprehensive 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan (CBPP) to addresses the planning, design, funding, and implementation of 

bicycle and pedestrian projects of countywide significance. 

LOCAL 

El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Plan 

The Town of Colma has received a grant from the Caltrans’ Sustainable Communities Program, funded 

through Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation Account (RMRA) – SB1, to improve safety and mobility for 

people who walk and bike along El Camino Real (ECR). Currently, the Town is developing the El Camino 

Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Plan. The Plan will evaluate existing conditions along ECR from 

the County of San Mateo/Town of Colma border to the City of South San Francisco/Town of Colma border, 

addressing bicycle, pedestrian and public transportation connectivity deficiencies. The Plan will develop a 

conceptual strategy to incorporate various improvements to enhance mobility, accessibility and 

connectivity for all modes of transportation along the ECR corridor. 

Town of Colma Municipal Code Chapter 2.07 

Chapter 2.07 of the Town of Colma Municipal Code limits the types of activities, equipment, and number 

of people, and sets hours for public access. It applies to the Town’s parks, recreation centers, the golf center, 

playgrounds, fields and open spaces. In addition, this code also stipulates permitting requirements for 

special events. 

4.13.4.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Recreation impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the 

project considered would result in any of the following: 

• The project would increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational 

facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated. 

• The project would include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of 

recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment.  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• The project would result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of 

new or physically altered park facilities, or need new or physically altered park facilities, the 

construction and maintenance of which could cause significant environmental impacts. 

METHODOLOGY 

Evaluation of potential recreation impacts of the proposed Town of Colma General Plan Update was based 

primarily on information gathered from the Existing Conditions Report and Open Space/Conservation 

Element. A detailed list of resources used in the completion of the analysis in this section can be found 

under References located at the end of the section.  Implementation of the proposed project was compared 

to the existing conditions to determine the impacts due to recreation.  

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.13.4: Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update has the potential to increase the use 

of existing neighborhood and regional facilities or could require the construction of new 

recreational facilities. Any such changes would not result in substantial or increased 

physical deterioration of existing facilities or the construction of new facilities which might 

have an adverse physical effect on the environment (Less than Significant).  

The 2040 GPU proposes updates the town’s existing planning areas, simplifying the town’s existing 

planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the present condition of the town and 

the vision of the City Council. In addition, the proposed GPU introduces new land uses such a medium 

density residential land use that is consistent with current developments and a commercial overlay over 

vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU would allow for an 

additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square 

feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 

square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of 

commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 

square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, 

and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update is expected to result in a total 2,269 people within 

the Planning Area at buildout (2040). This represents an increase of approximately 765 persons over 

existing conditions within the Planning Area. Any increases in the town’s future population could therefore 

increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks and recreational facilities and result in 

eventual deterioration of such existing facilities.  

Since the town is limited on space to add new public park and/or recreational facilities, the creation of such 

additional recreational facilities would be a challenge to the town. The town, through its 2040 GPU,  is 

however committed to providing public park and recreation facilities that meet the needs of its residents. 

Since the town does not have the capacity to create additional recreational facilities, this commitment may 

require the town to creatively utilize its existing facilities or to enter into development agreements with 

neighboring jurisdictions to allow for the creation and maintenance of walkways, trails and bike facilities. 

The construction (or expansion of existing recreational facilities) would be subject to its own environmental 

review pursuant to CEQA and State law. Typical environmental impacts regarding the construction and 

operation of parks and recreational facilities include noise (during construction and associated with 

playfields and playgrounds), air quality (during the construction of the facility), biological resources 

(depending on location), historic/cultural resources (depending on location), public services and utilities 

(demand for police and fire protection, water, and wastewater service), and traffic on a local neighborhood 

level.  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies 

The following proposed General Plan policies address parks and recreation land: 

Policy OSC-1-2: Flexible Open Space Land Uses. Allow for the use of open space and future 

cemetery lands for commercial nursery, farming, or other uses which provide a 

community benefit. 

Policy OSC-1-4: Pedestrian Trails, Bikeways Walkways. Expand and improve pedestrian trails, 

bikeways, and walkways to connect trails and allow access to open space land and 

regional trail facilities. 

Policy OSC-1-5:  Colma Creek Trail. Coordinate with the City of South San Francisco to provide 

continuous pedestrian access from the Colma BART station along El Camino Real to 

the southern border of the town.  

Policy OSC-2-1: Open Space for Recreation Use. Develop and maintain open spaces and recreation 

areas that are conveniently located, properly designed, and well-maintained to serve 

the recreation needs and healthy living of the entire community. 

Policy OSC-2-2:  Recreation Requirements for New Developments. Require dedication of improved 

land, or payment of a fee in lieu of, for park and recreation land for all residential 

uses. 

Policy OSC-2-3:  Expansion of Recreation Space. Acquire and enhance properties within Colma for 

recreation and public use if opportunities become available. 

Policy OSC-4-7:   Colma Creek Bank Setback. Protect and enhance areas of Colma Creek for riparian 

habitat, linear park opportunities, and aesthetic value.  

Policy OSC-4-8: Colma Creek Enhancements. Enhance Colma Creek where possible by concrete 

channel removal, adding landscaping, public pathways, and sitting areas. 

Implementation of the policies described above would further reduce the Project’s impacts to less than 

significant and no mitigation measures are required. 

 

  



4.13   Public Services and Recreation 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.13-18 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

San Mateo County, California. September 2011 San Mateo County Comprehensive Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 

San Mateo County, California. November 1986. San Mateo County General Plan.  

Town of Colma. 2020. Town of Colma Existing Conditions Report, Public Utilities, Facilities, and Services.  

Colma, California. Town of Colma. 2019. Town of Colma Municipal Code. Colma, California. 

 

Websites 

Cal OES. 2021. Standardized Emergency Management System. <https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-

divisions/planning-preparedness/standardized-emergency-management-system>. Accessed January 1, 2021. 

California Fire Code. 2019. <https://archive.org/details/2019californiafi00unse>. Accessed January 27, 2021.   

California Legislative Information. AB-1191 Quimby Act (AB-1191) 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160AB1191 Accessed August 2020 

California Legislative Information. California Parklands Act of 1980 (California Parklands Act 1980) 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=PRC&division=5.&title=&part=&chapter

=1.69.&article=1. Accessed August 2020. 

California Code of Regulations (CCR). Title 7. Chapter 4. Article 4. 

<http://165.235.111.242/LawsRegsPolicies/Title7/index.cfm> Accessed August 2020. 

County of San Mateo Parks Department. San Bruno Mountain State & County Park, 

https://parks.smcgov.org/san-bruno-mountain-state-county-park>. Accessed February 1, 2021. 

El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Plan Community Outreach Website (El Camino Real 

Plan) https://colmaelcamino.org/ Accessed August 2020 

General Plan Guidelines. (2017). Governor’s Office of Planning and Research. 

https://opr.ca.gov/planning/general-plan/guidelines.html Accessed August 2020 

Colma Fire Protection District, https://colmafire.org/ Accessed April 7, 2020 

National Fire Protection Agency. https://www.nfpa.org/. Accessed April 7, 2020 

San Bruno Mountain State & County Park. https://parks.smcgov.org/san-bruno-mountain-state-county-park, 

Accessed April 7, 2020 

The Public Protection Classification (PPC) Program: FAQ, https://www.verisk.com/insurance/about/faq/the-

public-protection-classification-ppc-program/ Accessed April 7, 2020 

Police Department Profile. Town of Colma. <https://www.colma.ca.gov/department-profile/>. Accessed January 

28, 2021 

https://www.colma.ca.gov/department-profile/


4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

transportation system within the Town of Colma General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area). This section 

also identifies the potential impacts of implementing the proposed project on such resources as well as the 

appropriate proposed General Plan policies that reduce the identified impacts. 

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (California Public Resources Code 

Sections §21000, et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines (14 California Code Regulations, Section §15000, 

et seq.), this Draft PEIR evaluates the Town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update’s (GPU) related impacts, 

general assumptions, and mitigation needs that can be identified in the analysis. The reader is referred to 

the individual technical sections of the Draft PEIR Sections 4.1 to 4.16, regarding the specific assumptions 

and methodologies used in the analysis for that technical subject. 

4.14.1 EXISTING SETTINGS 

STREETS AND HIGHWAYS  

Located along a major vehicular and truck route (El Camino Real; State Highway 82) as well as the San 

Francisco Bay Area’s transit network (Bay Area Rapid Transit; BART), the town of Colma’s transportation 

system serves local as well as regional transportation needs. The street system within the town is structured 

around State Highway 82, (El Camino Real) and Interstate Highway 280 (I-280), (Junipero Serra Freeway) 

which carry traffic into, and out of town. The internal street system consists of arterial streets, collector 

streets and local streets. Usable road width, sight distance, and travel speed generally decrease as one 

moves from major highways to the local streets. 

Roadways serve two primary functions: mobility and property access. Higher and reliable speeds are 

desirable for mobility, while lower speeds are more desirable for property access and bicycle and 

pedestrian safety, particularly in residential areas. A functional classification system provides a hierarchy 

of streets to meet both access and mobility needs. Arterials emphasize high mobility for through traffic, 

local streets emphasize property access, and collectors provide a balance between both functions. Standard 

functional classifications are defined by the Federal Highways Administration (FHWA) and maintained 

for California in California Department of Transportation’s (Caltrans) California Road System (CRS) maps 

for urban areas are: 

• Principal Arterial, Interstate 

• Principal Arterial, Other Freeways 

• Principal Arterial, Other 

• Minor Arterial 

• Collector 

• Local 

Arterials are designed to carry heavy traffic volumes at various speeds depending on the classifications. 

Collector streets are set up to divert traffic from local streets to a locality’s arterial network, while local 

streets provide access within and between neighborhoods and broader roadway systems. The town of 

Colma uses a modified version of these classifications for its streets. Figure 4.14-1: Roadway Classifications 

shows a map of the modified classifications for the town of Colma. 

 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REGIONAL ROAD SYSTEM  

The town of Colma is served by one north-south freeway, while Interstate 280 (I-280). State Route 82 (SR 

82)/El Camino Real is a major non-freeway regional route. These State highway facilities (shown in Figure 

4.14-1) are maintained and operated by Caltrans and are federally designated as Principal Arterials. 

However, the town maintains landscape improvements along these routes. 

Interstate 280 

Interstate 280 (I-280) is a north-south freeway connecting the City of San Francisco to the north with the 

City of San Jose to the south, generally serving the western side of the developed portions of the San 

Francisco Bay Peninsula. I-280 provides access to the town of Colma at three locations: Hickey Boulevard, 

Serramonte Boulevard and D Street at Junipero Serra Boulevard. Hickey Boulevard is a full interchange 

with on-and off-ramps for both northbound and southbound traffic. The Serramonte Boulevard 

interchange provides a northbound on-ramp and a southbound off-ramp only. A northbound off-ramp 

exists in the vicinity of D Street at Junipero Serra Boulevard in the city of Daly City. 

There are weaving conflicts between the Serramonte Boulevard on-ramp traffic and the I-280 traffic 

accessing the D Street (Eastmoor) and Highway 1 off-ramps just west of Colma near the Colma BART 

station. These conflicts could be reduced by constructing a fly-over for Highway 1 traffic. In addition, 

weaving conflicts occur at the Serramonte Boulevard exit due to the short merge lane for those entering or 

exiting the I-280 freeway.  

El Camino Real (State Route 82) 

El Camino Real (State Route 82) is a state highway and Principal Arterial which serves the central areas of 

many of the cities on the San Francisco Peninsula between the cities of San Francisco and San Jose.  North 

of F Street, the road is referred to as Mission Street (in the city of Daly City) and south of F Street, through 

the town of Colma, it becomes El Camino Real.  

Highway 82 bisects the town with three travel lanes in each direction, narrowing to two lanes in each 

direction south of the Mission Road intersection. Most of El Camino Real has a 28-foot wide landscaped 

median with an underground box culvert for drainage. There are overhead electric, telephone, and cable 

lines along both sides of the street starting just south of F Street, extending to the town’s southern boundary.  

On-street parking is allowed in many locations, with various time restrictions, including no-parking during 

overnight hours. The Town plans to designate parking spaces along El Camino Real and institute a one 

vehicle per space rule that reduce the number of recreational vehicles and box trucks that currently use the 

corridor for parking. Sidewalks have been installed along the entire east side of the roadway from the 

northern town limit to Mission Road, however the west side lacks sidewalks north of the Greek Cemetery 

driveway and south of Cypress Lawn (which transitions into the jurisdiction of the City of South San 

Francisco).   

In 2019, the Town began a study of the El Camino Real corridor to assess safety and to create opportunities 

for bicyclists and pedestrians. This study is funded largely through a Caltrans planning grant. Left turns 

from Collins Avenue and from various cemetery entrance driveways onto El Camino Real can be 

dangerous at times due to the width of El Camino Real (three lanes in each direction) and the high speed 

of traffic. The wide median is important for the protection it provides to vehicles turning into businesses.  

Likewise, access to parcels fronting El Camino Real south of Mission Road is potentially hazardous due to 

poor visibility caused by the curvature of the road, and the relatively high speed of traffic.  

 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

LOCAL ROAD SYSTEM  

Principal Arterials  

Arterial streets connect the town’s residential, commercial and cemetery districts and provide a link to 

surrounding communities as shown in Figure 4.14-1. Arterials also act as alternative north-south routes 

should the major highway system be blocked. Town of Colma streets classified as Principal Arterials 

include the following: 

• Junipero Serra Boulevard (JSB): JSB is a north/south arterial street extending from the City of Daly 

City, through the town of Colma, and into the City of South San Francisco. Traffic signals are located 

at Serramonte Boulevard, the entrance to the Serra Shopping Center, Southgate Avenue and Colma 

Boulevard. JSB has four lanes of traffic that travel in north-south directions, with occasional right-

turning lanes. The traffic lanes are divided by raised landscape medians.  

A sidewalk exists along most of the east side of the street, along with bicycle paths that run the entire 

length of JSB within the Town of Colma. Sidewalks on the west side only exist at bus stop locations 

at Colma Boulevard and at the Serra Center driveway. On-street parking is prohibited along the 

entire length of JSB but is being considered for a small segment between Serramonte Boulevard and 

the Serra Center driveway.  

• Serramonte Boulevard: Serramonte Boulevard is a four-lane arterial street extending from Saint 

Francis Boulevard in the City of Daly City to Hillside Boulevard in the town. There is a partial 

interchange with I-280, consisting of a southbound off-ramp and a northbound on-ramp. The town 

of Colma’s major retail core, which includes auto dealerships and shopping centers, is centered on 

Serramonte Boulevard between Junipero Serra Boulevard and El Camino Real. There are sidewalks 

along both sides of Serramonte between Junipero Serra Boulevard and El Camino Real, and along 

the south side only from El Camino Real to Hillside Boulevard. The low level of pedestrian activity 

and the presence of an existing cemetery on the north side of the road minimizes the need to develop 

a sidewalk on both sides.  

Parking is not allowed along any portions of Serramonte Boulevard. The lack of left turn lanes to the 

many driveways along Serramonte Boulevard is a potential source of congestion. Loading and 

unloading of car carriers (for the dealerships along the Serramonte Boulevard) or other vehicles on 

the street is prohibited.  

• Mission Road: Mission Road is a two-lane arterial road which connects El Camino Real in Colma to 

Chestnut Avenue in South San Francisco. Mission Road is used as an alternate to El Camino from 

many sections of the City of South San Francisco. Access to Mission Road from El Camino Real is 

controlled by a stop sign. Left turns from Mission Road into the south bound lane of El Camino Real 

are prohibited because of poor sight lines and fast-moving traffic; instead, motorists must make a U-

turn at one of several median breaks on El Camino Real. On-street parking is allowed on both sides 

of Mission Road, although there are time restricted zones in most areas.  

Most of this route has sidewalks along both sides of the street, except in front of Holy Cross Cemetery. 

Auto repair, light industrial and residential uses in this area result in heavy demand for parking both 

on-and off-street.  

• Hillside/Sister Cities Boulevard: Hillside Boulevard is a north-south arterial roadway connecting 

the City of Daly City near the San Francisco city limits, through the town of Colma, to Highway 101 

in the City of South San Francisco (Hillside Boulevard becomes Sister Cities Boulevard in South San 

Francisco). Hillside Boulevard has been striped for two lanes through the Town. Traffic signals are 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

located at Olivet Parkway, Serramonte Boulevard, and Lawndale Boulevard. The intersections at F 

Street and at Hoffman Street are controlled by stop signs. Sidewalks are installed on both sides of 

Hillside Boulevard between Serramonte Boulevard and Hoffman Street. 

• Lawndale Boulevard: Lawndale Boulevard is an east/west arterial connector between Hillside 

Boulevard and Mission Road. The name of the street changes to McLellan Drive, which makes the 

connection from Mission Road to the El Camino Real. Pacific Gas and Electric Company has installed 

gas and electric transmission lines the entire length of Lawndale Boulevard. 

Collector Streets 

Collector streets serve the important function of transferring traffic from local traffic generators such as 

shopping and employment areas to the arterials. Collector streets do not form a continuous system; 

otherwise, there would be a tendency to use them as arterials. The following streets have been designated 

as collector streets in the town of Colma (as shown in Figure 4.14-1): 

• Collins Avenue: Collins Avenue is a two-lane road which connects El Camino Real at its east end 

with Serramonte Boulevard at its west end. Collins Avenue descends from west to east and is 

bordered by a steep downslope along most of its north side. There is an existing sidewalk along 

Collins Avenue on the south side of the street.  No sidewalk exists for most of the north side of the 

street. Parking is allowed only along the south side of the street, except for a segment close to El 

Camino Real.  

The eastern portion has a wider roadway, sidewalks, and parking lanes on both sides of the street 

in accordance with the Collins Avenue Plan Line specifications.  

• Colma Boulevard: Colma Boulevard is a collector connecting Junipero Serra Boulevard with El 

Camino Real. It has two lanes in each direction but widens to four lanes in each direction at the 

west end for access to abutting commercial uses. No on-street parking is allowed. A sidewalk exists 

on the entire north side of the street. On the south side there is no sidewalk in front of the 

Greenlawn Cemetery. 

• F Street: This street serves as a two-lane collector route at the north end of town. F Street provides 

access to the Sterling Park neighborhood between Hillside Boulevard and El Camino Real. As part 

of the Sterling Park Street Beautification Program, this segment has received improvements such 

as street trees, ornamental light fixtures, underground utilities, and special paving. West of El 

Camino Real, F Street turns northwest, passes by the Colma BART station and merges with D Street 

in the City of Daly City. D street leads to Junipero Serra Boulevard and an I-280 on-ramp. Two 

residential developments, Trestle Glen and a townhouse development, both in unincorporated San 

Mateo County, front F Street (the street being in the town limits). 

• Clark Avenue: Clark Avenue is two-lane residential collector street running north/south between 

Fisher Street in the City of Daly City and F Street in the town of Colma. It is a principal route in 

and out of the Sterling Park residential area, particularly for residents on D and E Streets. Sidewalks 

are provided, and parking is allowed on both sides of the street. 

Local Streets 

Local streets comprise all the facilities not in one of the previously discussed higher street designations 

(shown in Figure 4.14-1). These are typically interior neighborhood roadways and primarily permit direct 

access to abutting property and connections to the collector and arterial streets and offer the lowest level 

of vehicle mobility and usually do not include bus routes. Service to through traffic movements are usually 

deliberately discouraged. 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

“Paper” Streets 

The Cypress Hills area (on the east side of Hillside Boulevard) has a series of public easements remaining 

from when the land was originally platted for development. Although the streets were never built, several 

lots within the platted area were sold speculatively. These lots, known as “in-holding” lots, have not been 

developed, but nevertheless the Town is obliged to retain the paper streets as a theoretical means of access. 

The paper streets remain on the County Assessor’s maps.  

Decommissioned Landfill/Park Access Road 

Access to the decommissioned Hillside Landfill is provided by Sand Hill Road, a two-lane road which is 

privately owned. 

BUS TRANSIT 

San Mateo County Transit District (SAMTRANS) 

San Mateo Transit District (SamTrans) provides bus service throughout San Mateo County with 

connections to the town of Colma, and cities of Daly City, and South San Francisco BART Stations, San 

Francisco International Airport, Peninsula Caltrain Stations, San Francisco Greyhound Depot, and 

Downtown San Francisco’s TransBay Terminal. It also provides access to Santa Clara County Transit, with 

connections in Menlo Park and Palo Alto. Town of Colma residents can catch SamTrans Mainline Routes 

along El Camino Real or SamTrans Local Routes along El Camino Real, Hillside Boulevard (in city of Daly 

City) and Junipero Serra Boulevard. Senior citizens and disabled patrons may ride anywhere in the County 

for a reduced fare. 

 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Paratransit Service 

SamTrans provides two on-call, curb to curb service for disabled and elderly residents of San Mateo 

County. Redi-Wheels serves the bay side of San Mateo County, while RediCoast serves the coast side of 

San Mateo County. The town of Colma is served by Redi-Wheels. Redi-Wheels passengers must reserve 

trips one to seven days in advance or set up subscription services for regular trips. Additionally, paratransit 

customers may ride any fixed-route services for free. 

Long Distance Bus Service 

There is no scheduled intercity bus service (Greyhound or other carriers) serving the town of Colma. The 

closest long-distance bus stations are in the cities of San Francisco, Oakland or San Jose. 

DEMAND RESPONSE TRANSIT 

Airport Shuttle Services 

Numerous airport shuttle services provide pickup and drop off service from a home or business in the 

town of Colma to and from San Francisco International Airport. These trips are arranged via a telephone 

or smartphone and booked in advance. 

Taxis  

Private taxi companies provide door-to-door private rides. These trips are arranged via a street hail, taxi 

stands, telephone orders and a smartphone app. The town of Colma is served by taxicab companies located 

in the cities of Pacifica and Daly City, as well as in the unincorporated areas around Daly City and South 

San Francisco.  

Auto Dealer Shuttles 

Many of the local auto dealers provide a shuttle service to customers who are having auto repair work 

done on their cars. These shuttles assist individuals who live or work in the town of Colma or neighboring 

communities. 

Transportation Network Companies (TNCs)  

Also known as ride-hail or ride share companies provide a variety of services ranging from door-to-door-

private rides to shared trips with other passengers. These trips are arranged utilizing a smartphone app. 

These companies include Uber and Lyft. 

RAIL 

Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) 

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit district (BART) provides heavy-rail, regional transit service via 

five rail lines in the following four Bay Area counties: Alameda, Contra Costa, San Francisco, and San 

Mateo. There are two BART stations located just outside of the town limits. BART runs trains north and 

south through the town of Colma station. North bound trains pass through the cities of Daly City and San 

Francisco stations on their way to the East Bay (East Bay destinations include Richmond, 

Pittsburg/Baypoint/Antioch, Dublin and Fremont), and south bound trains pass through South San 

Francisco, San Bruno, and Millbrae stations on their way to San Francisco International Airport. Trains run 

Monday through Friday from 4:00 A.M. to midnight and on Saturday and Sunday from 6:00 A.M. to 

midnight. The town of Colma BART station is located at Mission Street and Albert M. Teglia Boulevard, 

just north of the town Limits.  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Caltrain 

Caltrain, operated by the Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board, provides passenger rail service to the 

Peninsula cities, extending from San Francisco to San Jose and Gilroy. Trains run Monday through Friday 

from 5:00 A.M. to midnight, Saturday from 7:00 A.M. to midnight, and Sunday from 8:00 A.M. to 10:00 

P.M. The town of Colma’s nearest Caltrain station is located approximately four miles away in South San 

Francisco. 

AIRPORTS 

San Francisco International Airport  

San Francisco International Airport (SFO) San Francisco International Airport is located approximately six 

miles from the town of Colma, east of Highway 101 and adjacent to the Cities of San Bruno and Millbrae. 

The airport is a major regional passenger and cargo air terminal and the seventh most active commercial 

airfield in the world. It can be reached by Town residents via private auto, SamTrans bus, and BART. 

ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION 

Pedestrian Facilities  

Walking can be ideal for short, local trips for shopping, school, and recreation. Providing adequate facilities 

for pedestrians will help to ensure access to commercial, educational, recreational, and residential uses. 

Pedestrian facilities include sidewalks, paths, trails, curb ramps, and crossings. Amenities such as street 

furniture, pedestrian-scale lighting, and landscaping, serve to create an environment that is conducive to 

walking and is conformable and safe for pedestrians. Currently there are 3 major projects to improve 

pedestrian facilities. These projects are the El Camino Pedestrian and Bicycle Master Plan, Serramonte 

Boulevard and Collins Avenue Master Plan, and Mission Road Improvement Project. Figure 4.14-2: 

Sidewalk Network presents the existing sidewalk network in the town. 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Bike Facilities  

Bicycle facilities can be categorized by type: 

• Class I Bikeway (Bike Path). A paved right-of-way for bicycle travel that is completely separated 

from any street or highway. 

• Class II Bikeway (Bike Lane). A striped and stenciled lane for one-way bicycle travel on a street or 

highway.  

• Class III Bikeway (Bike Route). A signed route along a street or highway where the bicyclist shares 

the right-of-way with motor vehicles.  

• Unclassified Lanes or routes that would allow for bicycles but may not have any regular 

improvements or signage.  

The town of Colma is currently reviewing possible bicycle improvements along El Camino Real as part of 

the El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan. Within the town of Colma, existing bikeways 

include Class II bike lanes and Class III signed bike routes. Class II bike lanes include Hillside Boulevard, 

Junipero Serra Boulevard, Lawndale Boulevard, and Mission Road segment from Lawndale to El Camino 

Real. An unclassified route has existed is for a portion of El Camino Real within Colma, between Mission 

Road and B Street, and F street between Hillside Boulevard and El Camino Real. Figure 4.14-3: Multimodal 

Circulation presents the existing multimodal circulation in the town. 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

4.14.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

Americans with Disabilities Act  

The 1990 Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is a wide-ranging civil rights law that prohibits, under 

certain circumstances, discrimination based on disability. Pedestrian facility design must comply with the 

accessibility standards identified in the ADA, which applies to all projects involving new or altered 

pedestrian facilities. The scoping and technical provisions for new construction and alterations identified 

in the ADA Accessibility Guidelines (Sections 4.3, 4.7 and 4.8) can be used to help design pedestrian 

facilities that are ADA compliant. For example, Title II-6.600 of the Technical Assistance Manual states, 

“When streets, roads, or highways are newly built or altered, they must have ramps or sloped areas 

whenever there are curbs or other barriers to entry from a sidewalk or path.” Certain facilities, such as 

historic buildings, may be exempt from ADA requirements. 

STATE  

Senate Bill 743 

On September 27, 2013, Senate Bill 743 (SB 743) was signed into law. The Legislature found that with the 

adoption of the Sustainable Communities and Climate Protection Act of 2008 (SB 375), the State had 

signaled its commitment to encourage land use and transportation planning decisions and investments 

that reduce vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and thereby contribute to the reduction of GHG, as required by 

the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006 (AB 32). Additionally, the Complete Streets Act (AB 

1358), requires local governments to plan for a balanced, multimodal transportation network that meets 

the needs of all users. To further the State’s commitment to the goals of SB 375, AB 32 and AB 1358, Senate 

Bill 743 adds Chapter 2.7, Modernization of Transportation Analysis for Transit-Oriented Infill Projects, to 

Division 13 (Section 21099) of the Public Resources Code. 

SB 743 started a process that could fundamentally change transportation impact analysis as part of CEQA 

compliance. These changes will include the elimination of auto delay, LOS, and other similar measures of 

vehicular capacity or traffic congestion as a basis for determining significant impacts in many parts of 

California (if not statewide). Further, parking impacts will not be considered significant impacts on the 

environment for select development projects within infill areas with nearby frequent transit service. SB 743 

includes amendments that revises the definition of “in-fill opportunity zones” to allow cities and counties 

to opt out of traditional LOS standards established by congestion management programs (CMPs) and 

requires OPR to update the CEQA Guidelines and establish “criteria for determining the significance of 

transportation impacts of projects within transit priority areas. As part of the new CEQA Guidelines, the 

new criteria “shall promote the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, the development of multimodal 

transportation networks, and a diversity of land uses.” OPR presented alternative metrics in a preliminary 

discussion draft in summer of 2014 and released a final advisory in December 2018. Key guidance includes: 

• VMT is the most appropriate metric to evaluate a project’s transportation impact. 

• OPR recommends tour- and trip-based travel models to estimate VMT, but ultimately defers 

to local agencies to determine the appropriate tools. 

• OPR recommends measuring VMT for residential and office projects on a “per rate” basis. 

Specifically, OPR recommends VMT per capita for residential projects and VMT per employee 

for office projects.  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• OPR’s recommended impact threshold for residential and office projects is VMT per capita 

fifteen percent below the city or regional average (whichever is applied). In other words, an 

office project that generates VMT per employee that is more than 85 percent of the regional 

VMT per employee could result in a significant impact. This threshold is in line with statewide 

greenhouse gas emission reduction targets. 

• For retail projects, OPR recommends measuring the net decrease or increase in VMT in the 

study area with and without the project. The recommended impact threshold is any increase 

in total VMT. 

• Lead agencies ultimately have the discretion to set or apply their own significance thresholds, 

provided they are based on significant evidence. 

• Cities and counties still have the ability to use metrics such as LOS for other plans, studies, or 

network monitoring. However, LOS and similar metrics cannot constitute the sole basis for 

CEQA impacts.  

Assembly Bill 1358 

The California Complete Streets Act (Assembly Bill 1358) requires cities and counties to include 

complete streets policies as part of their general plans so that roadways are designed to safely 

accommodate all users, including bicyclists, pedestrians, transit riders, children, older people, 

and disabled people, as well as motorists. Beginning January 2011, any substantive revision of 

the circulation element in the general plan of a California local government must include 

complete streets provisions. 

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans)  

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) is responsible for planning, design, construction, and 

maintenance of all State highways. Caltrans’ jurisdictional interest extends to improvements to these 

roadways at the interchange ramps serving area freeways. Any federally funded transportation 

improvements are subject to review by Caltrans staff and the California Transportation Commission. 

Caltrans does not have regulations regarding traffic LOS on state highway facilities, but it does have 

guidelines for traffic operations on these facilities. Caltrans recommends a target LOS at the threshold 

between LOS C and LOS D. If the location under existing conditions operates worse than the appropriate 

target LOS, then the existing LOS should be maintained. If a facility is measured to operate at LOS E or F, 

an impact would therefore be considered less than significant if the project would result in an equal or 

lesser LOS E or F. If measured in volume/capacity ratio, therefore, a project impact would be considered 

less than significant if it would result in a lesser volume/capacity ratio than without the project even if still 

operating at LOS E or F. 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)  

The Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) serves as the transportation planning, coordinating, 

and financing agency for the nine-county San Francisco Bay Area. MTC created and maintains the 

Metropolitan Transportation System (MTS), a multimodal system of highways, major arterials, transit 

services, rail lines, seaports, airports, and transfer hubs that are critical to regional transportation between 

the nine Bay Area counties. MTC is currently preparing Plan Bay Area, the combined Regional 

Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities Strategy (RTP/SCS) pursuant to Sustainable 

Communities and Climate Projection Act of 2008 (SB 375). While there are no specific performance criteria 

established in this document, the document will create a financing program for major interregional 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-14 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

improvements, emphasizing maintaining performance on existing roadways, and aiming to increase transit 

ridership and access to alternative transportation modes. 

LOCAL  

City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County 

The City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County (C/CAG), with support from the San 

Mateo County Transportation Authority (SMCTA) have developed the San Mateo County Comprehensive 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan (CBPP) to addresses the planning, design, funding, and implementation of 

bicycle and pedestrian projects of countywide significance. The CBPP updates the prior San Mateo County 

Comprehensive Bicycle Route Plan (2000) and expands the earlier plan by adding a pedestrian component. 

New elements in the CBPP include:  

• A policy framework to guide and evaluate implementation of the projects recommended by the 

CBPP.  

• An updated Countywide Bikeway Network that incorporates projects completed to-date and new 

proposed projects identified by San Mateo County’s cities, the County and the community.  

• Detailed maps and tables of proposed bikeway projects to assist local implementing agencies in 

con-structing bikeways.  

• An analysis of land use and demographics to identify areas with high pedestrian demand to assist 

local implementing agencies in identifying their most important pedestrian projects.  

• Pedestrian Focus Areas and suggested prioritization criteria, which will guide countywide 

investment in pedestrian infrastructure.  

• A companion document to assist local implementing agencies in developing education and 

promotion programs, and funding and designing bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

San Mateo County Congestion Management Program  

The City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County (C/CAG) acts as the Congestion 

Management Agency (CMA) for San Mateo County. C/CAG is required to prepare and adopt a Congestion 

Management Program (CMP) on a biennial basis. The purpose of the San Mateo County CMP is to identify 

strategies to respond to future transportation needs, develop procedures to alleviate and control 

congestion, and promote countywide solutions.  The most recent version of the San Mateo County CMP is 

the 2017 CMP, which is developed to be consistent with the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

(MTC’s) Plan Bay Area, provides updated program information and performance monitoring results for 

the CMP roadway system.  

Town of Colma Systemic Safety Analysis Report (SSAR)  

The Town of Colma is evaluating roadway safety throughout the community with the goal of making the 

streets safer for everyone. The report describes the Town’s roadway network, crash trends and patterns, 

priority corridors, potential countermeasures, and benefit-cost ratios of viable projects scopes. 

Colma Serramonte Boulevard-Collins Avenue Master Plan  

The Colma Serramonte Collins Master Plan outlines a vision for this key commercial district and provides 

guidance for strategic improvements to circulation, streetscape, infrastructure, and aesthetics to improve 

the overall design and function of this important business community for the years to come. Specific 

objectives identified for the Master Plan include: 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-15 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• Streetscape and Traffic Improvements. Carry out streetscape and traffic improvements to provide 

safe, accessible, attractive, and vibrant corridors with a cohesive design and aesthetic elements. 

Given the dominant nature of land uses—primarily automobile dealers— maintaining safe 

automobile access is vital to the continued success of the corridor. 

• Economic Development. Support, retain and increase commercial business activities while 

fostering a dynamic and sustainable business district that can respond to changing market 

conditions. 

• Land Use and Urban Design. Incorporate land use and urban design elements that sustain and 

enhance the function and unique identity of Serramonte Boulevard and Collins Avenue. 

• Sustainability. Create design alternatives that promote sustainable development and green 

infrastructure along the corridor.  

El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Plan 

The Town of Colma received a grant from the Caltrans’ Sustainable Communities Program, funded 

through Road Maintenance & Rehabilitation Account (RMRA) – SB1, to improve safety and mobility for 

people who walk and bike along El Camino Real (ECR). Currently, the Town is developing El Camino Real 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Plan. The Plan will evaluate existing conditions along ECR from the 

County of San Mateo/Colma border to South San Francisco/Colma border, addressing bicycle, pedestrian, 

and public transportation connectivity deficiencies. The Plan will develop a conceptual strategy to 

incorporate various improvements to enhance mobility, accessibility, and connectivity for all modes of 

transportation along the ECR corridor.  

4.14.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS  

Standards of Significance 

Following Public Resources Code Sections §21083.2 and §21084.1, and Section §15064.5 and Appendix G of 

the State CEQA Guidelines, Transportation impacts are significant if implementation of the project 

considered would result in any of the following: 

• Conflict with a program, plan, ordinance, or policy addressing the circulation system, including transit, 

roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities 

• Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines section §15064.3, subdivision (b) 

• Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous 

intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment) 

• Result in inadequate emergency access  

 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-16 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

METHODOLOGY 

A detailed list of resources used in the completion of the analysis in this section can be found under 

References located at the end of the section. Implementation of the proposed project was compared to the 

existing conditions to determine the impacts due to transportation.  

The Traffic Analysis: Existing and Future Conditions Analysis Memorandum (2020) (Traffic Analysis 

Memorandum) developed in support of the General Plan Update assesses how the study area’s 

transportation system would operate with the implementation of the town of Colma 2040 General Plan 

Update. The General Plan Update Mobility Element’s circulation map is shown in Figure 4.14-1. The 

potential impacts were identified based on a set of significance criteria based on the CEQA Guidelines. 

The proposed General Plan Update could result in infill development in the town with a mix of uses, as 

noted below. It is noted that the proposed land uses represent the full town-wide buildout and include 

existing development in the town: 

• Approximately 332 residential units; 

• Approximately 35,000 to 179,000 square feet of office uses; and 

• Approximately 993,500 to 1,044,500 square feet of commercial uses; 

In total, the General Plan would result in an approximately 332 new housing units, 1,395 additional 

residents, approximately 1,223,500 square feet of new commercial uses, and an additional 889 employees 

within the town’s boundaries. Weekday daily, AM peak hour, and PM peak hour volume forecasts for the 

General Plan were developed using the C/CAG travel demand model. 

VMT Thresholds  

As part of the new CEQA Guidelines updated for SB 743, the new criteria to replace LOS “shall promote 

the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, the development of multimodal transportation networks, and 

a diversity of land uses,” per Public Resources Code section §21099. OPR released a final advisory in 

December 2018, which provided guidance for implementing VMT analysis as the most appropriate metric 

to evaluate a project’s transportation impact. Therefore, the Traffic Analysis Memorandum assesses VMT 

(as opposed to LOS) to be consistent with SB 743 guidance as of July 1, 2020. 

The town of Colma has not yet adopted jurisdiction-specific guidelines on the appropriate metrics and 

thresholds of significance for SB 743-consistent VMT analysis. Therefore, this study assesses the changes in 

VMT per person between Cumulative (2040), No Project (Current General Plan) and Cumulative (2040) 

Plus Plan (Proposed General Plan Update) to determine if the Plan would result in an increase in VMT per 

person in the town. This approach is consistent with the VMT analysis guidance established by OPR and 

the California Legislature’s intent. Given that the General Plan Update consists of a land use and mobility 

plan with proposed changes at the town wide level, a threshold of no increase from the previous Plan is 

appropriate to consider the effect of the Plan on the environment. In particular, the General Plan Update 

includes increases in residential, office, retail, and other land uses within the town. A threshold of no 

increase in VMT per capita and VMT per employee from the currently adopted General Plan indicates that 

the General Plan Update would maintain travel characteristics within the town and not result in longer 

travel distances. 

Consistent with Appendix G of the CEQA Guidelines, the proposed project will have a significant impact 

on the environment associated with transportation and circulation if it will: 

• Increase VMT per person above No Project conditions; 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-17 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• Conflict with an applicable congestion management program, including, but not limited to, 

level of service standards and travel demand measures, or other standards established by the 

county congestion management agency for designated roads or highways; 

• Result in a change in air traffic patterns, including either an increase in traffic levels or a change 

in location that results in substantial safety risks; 

• Substantially increase hazards due to a design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous 

intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment); 

• Result in inadequate emergency access; and/or 

• Conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation system, including 

transit, roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities. 

Consistent with OPR guidance, the C/CAG travel demand model was utilized to estimate the following 

metrics for comparison purposes: 

• Residential VMT per person (Home-based trip VMT per resident in the town) 

• Commuter VMT per person (Work-based trip VMT per employee in the town) 

CMP Analysis 

For the town of Colma, the CMP roadway system comprises of SR 82 (El Camino Real) from F Street to 

Mission Road. Baseline Level of Service (LOS) Standards were adopted for each of the roadway segments 

and intersections on the system – the Baseline LOS standard for SR 82 is LOS E. The CMP process consists 

of four steps. First, congested roadway segments are identified. Second, demand management strategies, 

such as carpooling, are considered, and analyzed for each roadway segment to determine their feasibility 

and potential for reducing congestion. Third, if demand management strategies are not deemed sufficient 

to reduce congestion, then other improvements such as signal retiming, public transit, and intelligent 

transportation systems are considered and analyzed. Fourth, and finally, if the alternatives do not appear 

sufficient to reduce congestion, then capacity expansion is allowable.  

For the CMP process, the following scenarios were considered:  

• Existing (“No Project”) Scenario – the baseline model outputs were used in this scenario. 

• Future (“No Project”) Scenario – the model outputs from the currently adopted General Plan 

were used in this scenario. 

• Future (“Plus Project”) Scenario – the model outputs from the General Plan Update were used 

in this scenario.  

Four performance measures were selected for the 1997 CMP and retained for subsequent CMPs. These 

measures will be evaluated for peak commute periods when congestion levels are at their highest. The four 

measures are:  

1. Level of Service 

2. Travel Times for Single-Occupant Automobiles, Carpools, and Transit 

3. Pedestrian and Bicycle Improvements 

4. Ridership/Person Throughput for Transit 

Roadway level of service will be measured with vehicle volumes, to determine volume-to-capacity ratios, 

or floating car runs, to determine travel speeds during the AM and PM peak period. The CMP level of 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-18 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

service criteria for arterials was based on volume-to-capacity ratios from Appendix B – Traffic Level of 

Service Calculation Methods of CMP report. Table 4.14.1: CMP Analysis Results for SR 82 (El Camino 

Real) presents the CMP analysis for SR 82 (El Camino Real) from F Street to Mission Road in the Town of 

Colma. The results from in Table 4.14.1 below show no impacts with the future (2040) proposed General 

Plan scenario.  

Table 4.14.1 – CMP Analysis Results for SR 82 (El Camino Real) 

Direction 

Capacity 
(Number 

of 
Lanes) 

Existing 
Volume 

(v/c) 

Future 
No 

Project 
Volume 

(v/c) 

Future 
Plus 

Project 
Volume 

(v/c) 

Change 
in v/c 
ratio 

LOS 
(Future 

No 
Project) 

LOS 
(Future 

Plus 
Project) Impact? 

SR 82 (El Camino Real) from F Street to Mission Road 

AM Peak Hour 

Northbound 2,550 (3) 
817  

(0.32) 
1,172 
(0.46) 

1,192 
(0.47) 0.01 A A No 

Southbound 2,550 (3) 
1,723 
(0.68) 

2,238 
(0.88) 

2,252 
(0.88) 0.00 D D No 

PM Peak Hour 

Northbound 2,550 (3) 
1,725 
(0.68) 

2,292 
(0.90) 

2,307 
(0.90) 0.00 D D No 

Southbound 2,550 (3) 
1,159 
(0.45) 

2,000 
(0.78) 

2,032 
(0.80) 0.02 C C No 

Source: C/CAG Countywide Model, Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Traffic Analysis 

As part of the Traffic Analysis Memorandum, operations and capacity analysis of intersections throughout 

and the town were conducted to determine locations that may require improvements to operate at 

acceptable levels of service by year 2040 based on town of Colma, Caltrans, and any other relevant 

jurisdictional standards. As land use projects throughout the town are approved and developed, the Town 

should continue to monitor conditions at these locations to determine the appropriate timing and/or level 

of improvement along these facilities, and implement improvements as required. Potential improvements 

are fully detailed in the Traffic Analysis Memorandum (Appendix E). 

The Town should continue monitoring conditions at the following intersections to determine if and when 

improvements may be necessary: 

• Serramonte Boulevard / Collins Avenue 

• Serramonte Boulevard / Serra Center Driveway 

• Hillside Boulevard / F Street 

• El Camino Real / Serramonte Boulevard 

• Junipero Serra Boulevard / Serramonte Boulevard / Interstate 280 On-Ramp 

 

 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-19 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.14.1 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not result in conflict with a 

program, plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation system, including transit, 

roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities (Less than Significant) 

Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update could lead to increases in the town of Colma’s 

population and employment, resulting in an associated increase in the demand for transit services offered 

by BART and SamTrans. While there are no established standards regarding transit levels of service that 

have been adopted by the Town or transit agencies, the GPU includes policies that support transit-oriented 

development patterns, strengthen ties between the pedestrian and bicycle networks to transit, promote 

enhancements to transit facilities, and support increased transit coverage and frequencies in the Town of 

Colma. 

Additionally, implementation of the GPU would improve the existing bicycle and pedestrian circulation 

infrastructure and require future development to provide multimodal circulation improvements. 

Increases in the town’s population and employment that could result under implementation of the GPU 

would also likely lead to increases in pedestrian and bicycle travel beyond current levels.   

The Mobility Element developed as part of the General Plan Update contains several policies that support 

access to and the performance of transit, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities. These applicable policies are 

listed below. Further, the GPU includes mixed-use development that is supportive of non-automotive 

modes. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies   

The following General Plan Update policies address the GPU’s potential conflict with a program, plan, 

ordinance or policy addressing the town’s circulation system: 

Policy M-1.2: Capital Improvement Prioritization. Maintain and upgrade exiting rights-of-way and 

ensure that the needs of non-motorized travelers are considered in planning, 

programing, and design of improvements.  

Policy M-2-4: Multi-Modal Impact Fee. Consider establishing a transportation impact fee for new 

development tied to performance measures to generate funds for improving all modes 

of transportation. 

Policy M-3-2: El Camino Real. Ensure that El Camino Real retains its distinct character, while 

encouraging improvements which support increased multi-modal use.  

Policy M-3-4: Transit Funding. Seek joint transportation and transit funding opportunities with 

adjoining jurisdictions or agencies to improve transit access in and around Colma. 

Policy M-3-5: Transportation Gaps. Eliminate gaps in the regional active transportation network in 

Colma. 

Policy M-4-1: Transit Stops. Support the installation of transit stop amenities including shelters, 

benches, real-time information panels, lighting, bike parking, and bike sharing 

stations. 

Policy M-4-2: Reliable Transportation Services. Encourage SamTrans and other public transit 

providers to provide service on regular schedules along El Camino Real, arterial 

streets, and, as feasible, major collectors; support these transportation services to 

increase the mobility of seniors, the disabled, and others who depend on public 

transportation. 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-20 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Policy M-4.3: Consult with SamTrans. Encourage and support various public transit agencies and 

companies, ride-sharing programs, and other incentive programs that provide 

residents and visitors with transportation choices other than the private automobile. 

Policy M-4.3: Encourage Transportation Options. Encourage and support various public transit 

agencies and companies, ride-sharing programs, and other incentive programs that 

provide residents and visitors with transportation choices other than the private 

automobile. 

Policy M-4.4: Transit Oriented Development. Promote the development of multi-modal mixed-use 

development at sites surrounding the Colma BART station, where feasible along 

Mission Road, and at the Town Center site. 

Policy M-5-1: Complete Streets. Incorporate Complete Streets infrastructure elements into new 

streets, street retrofits and certain maintenance projects to encourage multiple modes 

of travel, based on the modal priorities in Table M-2, as appropriate to the context and 

determined reasonable and practicable by the Town. 

Policy M-5-2: Design for All Travel Modes. Plan, design, and construct transportation projects to 

safely accommodate the needs of pedestrians, bicyclists, transit riders, motorists, 

people with mobility challenges, and persons of all ages and abilities. 

Policy M-5-3: Bicycle Connection Coordination. Coordinate with BART, South San Francisco, Daly 

City, Caltrans, and San Mateo County to plan and implement bicycle and pedestrian 

improvements which connect with improvements to BART facilities and regional 

networks. 

Policy M-5-4: Accessibility and Universal Design. Prioritize implementation of pedestrian facilities 

that improve accessibility consistent with guidelines established by the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (ADA), allowing mobility-impaired users, such as the disabled 

and seniors, to travel safely and effectively within and beyond the town. 

Policy M-5.5: Design of New Development. Require new development to incorporate design that 

prioritizes safe pedestrian and bicycle travel and accommodate senior citizens, people 

with mobility challenges, and children. 

Policy M-8-1: Parking Standards. Reevaluate minimum parking standards to account for emerging 

mobility trends, such as shared mobility, micromobility, autonomous vehicles, and 

future technology changes. The Consider reducing parking requirements for mixed-

use developments. 

The proposed General Plan policies above address the GPU’s conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or 

policy regarding the town’s circulation system and further reduces any impacts to a level of less than 

significant and no mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.14.2 General Plan implementation would not substantially increase hazards due to a design 

feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm 

equipment) (Less than Significant) 

The town of Colma maintains improvement standards that guide the construction of new transportation 

facilities to minimize design hazards for all users of the system. Through the Town’s environmental review 

process, future land use proposals that would add traffic to streets not designed to current standards would 

be carefully evaluated. If needed, appropriate mitigation measures would be identified, and the project 

would be conditioned to construct or provide funding for an improvement that would minimize or 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-21 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

eliminate the hazard. Typical improvements include shoulder widening, adding turn pockets, adding 

sidewalks or crosswalks, realigning sharp curves, prohibiting certain turning movements, and signalizing 

intersections, among other options. New and upgraded roadways needed to accommodate new 

development will be designed according to applicable Federal, State, and local design standards. 

The types of uses included within the town as part of the GPU are generally similar to existing and 

surrounding uses and thereby are compatible with the existing uses in the Planning Area. Development 

and infrastructure projects in the town of Colma would be required to comply with the General Plan, 

Municipal Code, and applicable State and local regulations. In addition, the Mobility Element developed 

as part of the General Plan Update contains policies in support of roadway network safety and reducing 

design hazards. These applicable policies are listed below.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address hazards due to design features: 

Policy M-1-1: Vision Zero. Eliminate traffic fatalities and reduce the number of non-fatal collisions 

by 50 percent by 2040.  

Policy M-1-2: Capital Improvement Prioritization. Maintain and upgrade exiting rights-of-way and 

ensure that the needs of non-motorized travelers are considered in planning, 

programing, and design of improvements. 

Policy M-5-1: Complete Streets. Incorporate Complete Streets infrastructure elements into new 

streets, street retrofits and certain maintenance projects to encourage multiple modes 

of travel, based on the modal priorities in Table M-2, as appropriate to the context and 

determined reasonable and practicable by the Town. 

Policy M-5-2: Design for All Travel Modes. Plan, design, and construct transportation projects to 

safely accommodate the needs of pedestrians, bicyclists, transit riders, motorists, 

people with mobility challenges, and persons of all ages and abilities. 

Policy M-5-3: Bicycle Connection Coordination. Coordinate with BART, South San Francisco, Daly 

City, Caltrans, and San Mateo County to plan and implement bicycle and pedestrian 

improvements which connect with improvements to BART facilities and regional 

networks. 

Policy M-5-4: Accessibility and Universal Design. Prioritize implementation of pedestrian facilities 

that improve accessibility consistent with guidelines established by the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (ADA), allowing mobility-impaired users, such as the disabled 

and seniors, to travel safely and effectively within and beyond the town. 

Policy M-5-5: Design of New Development. Require new development to incorporate design that 

prioritizes safe pedestrian and bicycle travel and accommodate senior citizens, people 

with mobility challenges, and children. 

Implementation of the policies described above would reduce hazards due to design features of. 

Therefore, this impact is less than significant and no further mitigation is required. 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-22 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Impact 4.14.3:  The proposed General Plan Update would not result in inadequate emergency access (Less 

than Significant). 

Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would result in increased development which would 

increase the number of users on the town’s transportation system. There will be a need to ensure that 

adequate emergency access provisions are made to accommodate increased population and growth.  

However, it should be noted that the Plan is a programmatic-level document, and emergency accessibility 

is typically assessed at the project-level. Adequacy of emergency access associated with future 

development projects would be analyzed and evaluated in detail through this future environmental review 

process. Additionally, the Mobility Element developed as part of the General Plan update contains policies 

in support of emergency access along local roads. These applicable policies are listed below.  

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address emergency access: 

Policy M-4-6: Design of New Development. Require new development to incorporate design that 

considers emergency access and prioritizes safe pedestrian and bicycle travel and 

accommodates senior citizens, people with mobility challenges, and children. 

Policy M-4-7: Emergency Services. Prioritize emergency service needs when developing 

transportation plans and making transportation network changes. 

Implementation of the policies described above would ensure impacts relating to emergency circulation 

and access are less than significant and no mitigation measures are required. 

Impact 4.14.4:  General Plan implementation would increase VMT per person above No Project conditions 

(Less than Significant). 

The residential and employee VMT under the Current General Plan and the Proposed General Plan Update 

for the town of Colma are shown in Table 4.14.2: Existing and Future VMT per Resident and Employee. 

As shown in the table, the General Plan Update is expected to increase VMT per resident above No 

Project/Previous General Plan conditions. Home-based VMT per resident is expected to increase by 10% 

while work-based VMT per employee is expected to decrease by approximately 5% under the General Plan 

Update. This change in VMT could be attributed to the increasing amounts of residents living within the 

town of Colma under the Proposed General Plan Update and residents needing to travel further for 

employment opportunities or other needs given the additional residents. The commute VMT reduction 

may be explained by increased employment opportunities within the town with the Proposed General Plan 

Update and better jobs housing balance for those who live and work in the town. For example, the increase 

of office, retail, and other uses within the town would decrease the need for the town’s residents to travel 

long distances inside and outside the town for their employment or other needs, resulting in shorter 

vehicular travel distances per capita. However, due to the relatively higher increase in population 

compared to employment, some residents will need to travel outside the town to reach their employment 

destinations which may explain the higher home-based VMT per person. 

 

 

 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-23 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Table 4.14.2: Existing and Future VMT per Resident and Employee 

        

2020 Existing 

                         

1,519  

                         

4,070  

                          

16,090  10.59 

                          

58,196  14.30 

2040 No Project 

                         

2,269  

                         

4,315  

                          

21,337  9.40 

                          

62,260  14.43 

2040 Plus Project 

                         

2,914  

                         

4,959  

                          

30,172  10.35 

                          

68,191  13.75 

T
o

ta
l 

C
h

an
g

e 

2040 No Project 

- 2020 

                             

750  245 

                             

5,248  -1.19 

                             

4,064  0.13 

2040 Project -

2020 

                         

1395  889 

                          

14,083  -0.24 

                             

9,995  -0.55 

2040 Project -

2040 No Project 

                             

645 644 

                             

8,835  0.95 

                             

5,931  -0.68 

%
 C

h
an

g
e 

2040 No Project 

- 2020 49% 6% 33% -11% 7% 1% 

2040 Project - 

2020 92% 22% 88% -2% 17% -4% 

2040 Project -

2040 No Project 28% 15% 41% 10% 10% -5% 

Source: C/CAG Model, Kittelson & Associates, Inc., 2020.  

As shown in Table 4.14.2, the Proposed General Plan update is expected to increase VMT per person above 

No Project conditions (an increase of 10%, from 9.40 to 10.35). Therefore, the VMT-related impacts of the 

Plan would be considered significant. 

The General Plan includes policies designed to ensure a VMT threshold is established and Transportation 

Demand Management (TDM) measures are provided.  See the relevant policies that mitigate potential VMT 

impacts below.  If these VMT and TDM polices are implemented, then the VMT impact could be considered 

less than significant with implementation of mitigation. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address vehicle miles traveled: 

Policy M-2-1: Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. Require new development projects to achieve a 

reduction in VMT per capita or VMT per service population compared to both baseline 

VMT performance conditions and General Plan 2040 VMT performance conditions. 

The Town will regularly monitor baseline VMT to provide updated benchmarks for 

project applicants. Encourage use of VMT reduction strategies and methods to 

encourage non-automobile travel. 

Policy M-2-2: Other Traffic Flow Benchmarks. Establish additional traffic flow benchmarks, such 

as vehicle-hours of travel and safety-related metrics, in order to evaluate and monitor 

changes in traffic flow over time. 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-24 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Policy M-2-3: VMT Transportation Performance Measures. Update the Town’s transportation 

measures and thresholds to use VMT standards for traffic impact analysis rather than 

LOS. 

Policy M-2-6: Development Review Requirements. Require proposed development projects that 

could result in increased traffic to include improvements that assure LOS levels do not 

fall below the established minimum standard. Ensure that improvements are 

coordinated with roadway improvements programmed for funding through 

transportation-related impact fees and that the operational benefits of large-scale, 

automobile capacity-focused improvements are balanced against the induced VMT 

resulting from the improvements. 

Policy M-7-1: TDM Program. Continue to participate in the TDM Program as outlined by the San 

Mateo City/County Association of Governments (C/CAG).  

Policy M-7-2: TDM Program for New Development. Require major development proposals to 

include a detailed, verifiable TDM program for consideration by the Town during 

the review of the development application. 

Policy M-7-3: Vehicle Trip Reduction. Support vehicle trip reduction strategies, including 

building safer and more inviting transportation networks, supporting connections to 

high frequency and regional transit, implementing TDM programs, and integrating 

land use and transportation decisions.  

Implementation of the policies described above would mitigate impacts from increased vehicle miles 

traveled to less than significant and there are no mitigation measures required 

  



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-25 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

Americans with Disabilities Act. Public Law 101-336. 1990. 

California Environmental Quality Act. California Public Resources Code Sections §21000, et seq. 

California Senate Bill 743. 2013. 

California Assembly Bill 32. California Global Warming Solutions Act. 2006 

California Senate Bill 375. Sustainable Communities and Climate Projection Act. 2008. 

California Governor’s Office of Planning and Research. Preliminary Evaluation of Alternative Methods of 

Transportation Analysis. 2013.  

California Governor’s Office of Planning and Research. Technical Advisory on Evaluating Transportation 

Impacts in CEQA. 2018. 

California Assembly Bill 1358. The California Complete Streets Act. 2008  

CEQA Guidelines. California Code Regulations, Section §15000, et seq.  

City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County. San Mateo County Comprehensive Bicycle and 

Pedestrian Plan. 2011. 

City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County. San Mateo County Congestion Management 

Program. 2019. 

FHWA. Highway Functional Classification Concepts, Criteria and Procedures. 2013 

Kittelson & Associates, Inc. Traffic Analysis: Existing and Future Conditions Analysis Memorandum. 2020 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission. Play Bay Area 2040: Regional Transportation Plan and Sustainable 

Communities Strategy. 2017.  

Town of Colma. Town of Colma General Plan. 1999. 

Town of Colm. Town of Colma General Plan Circulation Element. 2014. 

Town of Colma. Town of Colma General Plan Existing Conditions Report. 2020. 

Town of Colma. El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Plan. Ongoing. 

Town of Colma. Serramonte Boulevard and Collins Avenue Master Plan. 2020. 

Town of Colma. Systemic Safety Analysis Report. 2018. 

Town of Colma. Mission Road Improvement Project. 2019. 

United States Access Board. ADA Accessibility Guidelines. 2002 

U.S. Department of Justice. ADA Technical Assistance Manual on Title II. 1992. 

 

 



4.14 Transportation 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.14-26 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Websites 

Caltrans. California Road System Maps. 2020. Accessed at: https://dot.ca.gov/programs/research-innovation-

system-information/office-of-highway-system-information-performance 

 

https://dot.ca.gov/programs/research-innovation-system-information/office-of-highway-system-information-performance
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/research-innovation-system-information/office-of-highway-system-information-performance


4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Cal. Pub. Resources Code Sections 

§21000, et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal. Code Regs., Section §15000, et seq.), this Draft 

Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) evaluates the Town of Colma’s 2040 General 

Plan Update’s related impacts, general assumptions, and mitigation needs that can be identified in the 

analysis. The reader is referred to the individual technical sections of the Draft PEIR Sections 4.1 to 4.16, 

regarding the specific assumptions and methodologies used in the analysis for that particular technical 

subject. 

4.15.1 EXISTING SETTINGS 

LOCAL 

Water Service  

Water service is provided to the town by California Water Service Company (Cal Water).  The town of 

Colma is within Cal Water’s South San Francisco District, which provides water from a combination of 

groundwater as well as purchased water sources.  The purchased water is acquired from the San Francisco 

Water Department, whose sources are the Hetch Hetchy System, the Tuolumne Basin, and individual local 

sources. A new treatment plant for the groundwater supply opened in 1997. The supply and storage 

capacity of water reservoirs is adequate to meet the present needs and foreseeable growth of Colma as 

projected in the Housing Element.  

The town of Colma is located above a ground water aquifer associated with local geology.  Well water is 

the primary source of irrigation water used by the cemeteries in the town. The City and County of San 

Francisco, acting under the jurisdiction of its Public Utilities Commission, owns land and easements for its 

water transmission lines through the town. The main right-of-way, from the southern edge of Cypress 

Lawn Cemetery on the south, to the northern edge of Woodlawn Cemetery on the north, has a consistent 

open space designation through the town recognizing the fact that the subsurface waterlines prevent 

structures from being built.   

Based on the expected increase in population in the greater San Francisco region, the demand for water is 

expected to increase moderately in the next ten years. Therefore, water conservation is becoming more 

essential. Although the town of Colma imposes a very small demand on Hetch Hetchy and the other 

resources, the town is a part of a regional effort to manage groundwater for drought conditions and 

emergencies. 

Sewer Service  

The town’s existing sewer system is mapped on Figure 4.15-1: Sewer System. Extensions to this system are 

possible to any areas of the town requiring new service due to development.  Currently, the town, through 

joint powers agreements, uses the South San Francisco -San Bruno Joint Wastewater Treatment Facility and 

the North San Mateo County Sanitation District Treatment Plant. The collection system in town is, 

therefore, segmented into these service areas. 

The northern part of town is served by 10-inch, 8-inch, and 6-inch lines which connect to a 10-inch force 

main located along the unincorporated portion of A Street. A sewer pump station is located at F Street.  The 

Colma Creek Branch of the South San Francisco sewer system is located along Mission Road near the Holy 

Cross cemetery. The central and southern part of the town is served by this gravity flow system. 

  



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

North San Mateo County Sanitation District Treatment Plant 

The North San Mateo County Sanitation District Treatment Plant is located near John Daly Boulevard and 

Lake Merced Boulevard in Daly City. Through an agreement with the Sanitation District, the town of Colma 

is allowed the treatment of 490,000 gpd of wastewater with annual growth increments not to exceed 30,000 

gpd. Wastewater at the plant is given secondary treatment and then discharged into the Pacific Ocean. 

Wastewater solids are transported offsite for land disposal. 

South San Francisco Water Quality Control Plant 

The South San Francisco Water Quality Plant is located on Belle Air Road in South San Francisco.  Located 

adjacent to San Francisco Bay on Colma Creek, the facility provides secondary wastewater treatment for 

the cities of South San Francisco, San Bruno, and the town of Colma.  The average dry weather flow through 

the facility is 9 million gallons per day (mgd).  Peak wet weather flows can exceed 60 mgd. Through an 

agreement with South San Francisco and San Bruno, the town has purchased the right to contribute 

maximum flows up to 450,000 gallons per day (gpd) to the shared plant. The Town will be amending this 

agreement soon since actual flows are near or exceed this capacity. 

Power and Energy Use  

The town of Colma’s principal sources of power are from natural gas and electricity transmitted by Pacific 

Gas and Electric Company (P.G.& E.). Power is supplied to the town by Peninsula Clean Energy, except for 

a very few properties that have opted out of service by Peninsula Clean energy in favor of P.G. & E.  The 

town’s commercial businesses use a large majority of the energy within the town of Colma.  Residential 

energy use accounts for a relatively small percentage of energy use within the town.  

Telephone and Communications  

Local and nearby telephone communication is provided to the town of Colma residents by Verizon. Long 

distance telephone service is provided by numerous companies as selected by local users.  Internet phone 

and cable service is provided primarily by Comcast.  Additional television cable service for subscribers in 

Colma includes AT&T and DirectTV.  Commercial communication structures such as towers, antenna and 

equipment buildings are only allowed in commercial and open space districts subject to a Use Permit and 

then only when not highly visible from public roads. 

Utility Undergrounding  

In all new construction, whether residential or commercial, power lines and telephone lines are required 

to be placed underground entirely or from the nearest existing pole.  Service utility boxes and transformers 

must be screened from view by fencing and/or landscaping. In areas of existing development, utility lines 

should be placed underground in order to give the town of Colma’s streets a neater appearance.  One 

section that has been completed is Mission Street in Daly City to F Street in the town. This undergrounding 

should occur as funds become available or in conjunction with other public works projects. Here are some 

key segments: 

1. El Camino Real - F Street to Serramonte Boulevard 

2. El Camino Real - Serramonte Boulevard south to town boundary 

3. Mission Road - El Camino Real to town boundary 

4. Hillside Boulevard 

5. Junipero Serra Boulevard 

6. Collins Avenue 

7. Serramonte Boulevard -El Camino Real to Hillside Boulevard 

  



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

  



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Storm Drain Facilities  

All storm water runoff flows by gravity through open channels and culverts to Colma Creek. Once the 

creek leaves the town of Colma it continues most of the way in an open channel through South San 

Francisco and into the Bay.   

Solid Waste Disposal Facilities  

Solid waste produced in the town of Colma is collected by Republic Services at the city of Daly City. 

Garbage is collected once a week and, subscription to the service is mandatory in the town.  The main solid 

waste disposal site for San Mateo County is the Ox Mountain Sanitary Landfill located north of Highway 

92, three miles east of Half Moon Bay.  The facility accepts all solid waste except hazardous materials.  A 

private landfill site, operated by Calco, in the Cypress Hills area east of Hillside Boulevard in the town, 

closed in 2011. 

Recycling 

Republic Services provides curbside pickup for recyclables for residential customers.  One bin is used for 

recyclables such as paper, cardboard, aluminum and metal, glass and plastic.  In addition to these standard 

recyclables, electronics and universal (items such as light bulbs, batteries and ballasts that contain 

hazardous materials) recycling is offered for commercial customers.  Residents with hazardous items such 

as batteries can take those items to a drop off location. 

4.15.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

California Safe Drinking Water Act 

The Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA), administered by the US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) 

in coordination with the California Department of Public Health (CDPH), is the main Federal law that 

ensures the quality of drinking water. Under SDWA, USEPA sets standards for drinking water quality and 

oversees the states, localities, and water suppliers who implement those standards.  

Clean Water Act Section 402  

The primary goals of the Federal Clean Water Act, 33 USC §§ 1251, et seq. (CWA) are to restore and 

maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the nation’s waters and to make all surface 

waters fishable and swimmable. The CWA forms the basic national framework for the management of 

water quality and the control of pollutant discharges. The CWA sets forth several objectives in order to 

achieve the above-mentioned goals. The CWA objectives include regulating pollutant and toxic pollutant 

discharges; providing for water quality which protects and fosters the propagation of fish, shellfish, and 

wildlife; developing waste treatment management plans; and developing and implementing programs for 

the control of non-point sources pollution. 

The CWA provides the legal framework for several water quality regulations including NPDES, effluent 

limitations, water quality standards, pretreatment standards, anti-degradation policy, non-point source 

discharge programs, and wetlands protection. The State Water Resources Control Board (State Water 

Board) and nine Regional Water Quality Control Boards (Regional Water Boards; collectively the Water 

Boards) are authorized to implement the federal Clean Water Act in California. The State Water Board 

protects water quality by setting statewide policy, coordinating and supporting the Regional Water Boards, 

and reviewing petitions that contest Regional Water Board actions. Additionally, the State Water Board is 



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

solely responsible for allocating surface water rights, regulating public drinking water systems, and 

administering financial assistance programs. 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

The National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Program is a federal program that has been 

delegated to the State of California for implementation through the State Water Board and the nine 

Regional Water Quality Control Boards. In California, NPDES permits are also referred to as waste 

discharge requirements (WDRs) that regulate discharges to waters of the United States. 

Since its introduction in 1972, the NPDES Program has been responsible for significant improvements to 

our nation's and state’s water quality. 

Local agencies in San Mateo County are required to reduce surface water drainage pollution runoff and 

establish control measures in development projects, which provide specific guidelines on design measures 

for runoff of pollutants of concern, source controls, stormwater treatment measures, hydromodification 

management, and construction site controls. 

Raker Act 

SFPUC was granted the rights to the water resources of the Tuolumne River in 1913 by the Raker Act. This 

was an act of the United States Congress that allowed the construction of the O’Shaughnessy Dam in the 

Hetch Hetchy Valley in Yosemite National Park. The Act specifies that because the source of water and 

power was on public land, no private profit could be derived from the development. 

REGIONAL 

Senate Bill 610 

Senate Bill (SB) 610 (Section 21151.9 of the Public Resources Code and Section 10910 et seq. of the Water 

Code) requires the preparation of water supply assessments (WSA) for large developments (e.g., for 

projects of 500 or more residential units; 500,000 square feet of retail commercial space; or 250,000 square 

feet of office commercial space). These assessments, prepared by public water systems responsible for 

service, address whether adequate existing or projected water supplies are available to serve proposed 

projects, in addition to urban and agricultural demands and other anticipated development in the service 

area in which the project is located. 

Senate Bill X7-7 

In November 2009, the California State legislature passed, and the Governor approved, a comprehensive 

package of water legislation also known as the Statewide Water Conservation Act of 2009, including Senate 

Bill (SB) X7-7 addressing water conservation. In general, SB X7-7 requires a 20 percent reduction in per 

capita urban water use by 2020, with an interim 10 percent target in 2015. The legislation requires urban 

water users to develop consistent water use targets and to use those targets in their UWMPs. SB X7-7 also 

requires certain agricultural water suppliers to implement a variety of water conservation and management 

practices and to submit Agricultural Water Management Plans. 

Senate Bill 1016 

Senate Bill (SB) 1016 requires that the 50 percent solid waste diversion requirement established by AB 939 

be expressed in pounds per person per day. SB 1016 changed the CalRecycle review process for each 

municipality’s IWMP. The CalRecycle Board reviews a jurisdiction’s diversion rate compliance in 

accordance with a specified schedule. Beginning January 1, 2018, the Board will be required to review a 

jurisdiction’s source reduction and recycling element and hazardous waste element every two years. 



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Assembly Bill 939  

Assembly Bill (AB 939), the Integrated Waste Management Act, mandates that each jurisdiction reduce the 

amount of waste entering landfills each year. This state law requires each jurisdiction in California to divert 

at least 50 percent of its waste away from landfills by 2000, whether through waste reduction, recycling or 

other means. This is beneficial in lengthening the lifespan of available mineral resources by recycling 

materials from demolished buildings, roadways or other facilities. AB 939 also transferred all landfill and 

recycling responsibilities to the California Department of Resources, Recycling, and Recovery (CalRecycle) 

authority. Additionally, the legislature and Governor Brown, through enactment of AB 341,  set a goal of 

75 percent recycling, composting, or source reduction of solid waste by 2020.  

California Department of Resources, Recycling, and Recovery  

CalRecycle oversees, manages, and monitors waste generated in California. It provides limited grants and 

loans to help California cities, counties, businesses, and organizations meet the State waste reduction, reuse, 

and recycling goals. It also provides funds to clean up solid waste disposal sites and co-disposal sites, 

including facilities that accept hazardous waste substances and non-hazardous waste. CalRecycle 

develops, manages, and enforces waste disposal and recycling regulations, including AB 939 and SB 1016. 

Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act  

The State of California is authorized to administer Federal or State-enacted laws regulating water pollution 

in the state. The Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act of 1969 (Water Code §§ 13000, et seq.) includes 

provisions to address requirements of the CWA. These provisions include NPDES permitting, dredge and 

fill programs, and civil and administrative penalties. The Porter-Cologne Act is broad in scope and 

addresses issues relating to the conservation, control, and use of the water resources of the State. 

Additionally, the Porter-Cologne Act states that the quality of all the waters of the state (including 

groundwater and surface water) must be protected for the use and enjoyment by the people of the state. 

The SWRCB and its nine RWQCBs are agencies under the umbrella of the California Environmental 

Protection Agency (CalEPA). The SWRCB has the principal responsibility for the development and 

implementation of California water quality policy and must develop programmatic water quality control 

procedures to be followed by the RWQCBs. The Town of Colma is in the jurisdiction of the San Francisco 

Bay RWQCB. 

The Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act defines what is considered pollution, contamination, or 

nuisance. Briefly defined, pollution means an alteration of water quality such that it unreasonably affects 

the beneficial uses of water (for drinking, agricultural supply, or industrial uses). Contamination means an 

impairment of water quality to the degree that it creates a hazard to the public health. Nuisance is defined 

as anything that is injurious to health, offensive to the senses, or an obstruction to property use, and which 

affects a considerable number of people. 

California Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance  

The Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance for the State of California was adopted by the Office of 

Administrative Law in September 2009, and requires local agencies to implement water efficiency measures 

as part of its review of landscaping plans. Local agencies can either adopt the Model Water Efficient 

Landscape Ordinance or incorporate provisions of the ordinance into its own code requirements for 

landscaping. For new landscaping projects of 2,500 square feet or more, the applicant is required to submit 

a detailed “Landscape Documentation Package” in conjunction with their building permits that discusses 

water efficiency, soil management, and landscape design elements. 

  



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

State Water Resources Control Board (Hydro)  

The SWRCB, in coordination with nine RWQCBs, performs functions related to water quality, including 

issuance and oversight of wastewater discharge permits (e.g., NPDES), other programs regulating 

stormwater runoff, and underground and above-ground storage tanks. The SWRCB has also issued 

statewide waste discharge requirements for sanitary sewer systems, which include requirements for 

development of a sewer system management plan (SSMP).  

Title 22 of California Code of Regulations  

Title 22 regulates the use of reclaimed wastewater. In most cases, only disinfected tertiary water may be 

used on food crops where the recycled water would come into contact with the edible portion of the crop. 

Standards are also prescribed for the use of treated wastewater for irrigation of parks, playgrounds, 

landscaping, and other non-agricultural irrigation. Regulation of reclaimed water is governed by the nine 

RWQCBs and the California Department of Public Health (CDPH). 

LOCAL 

Town of Colma Municipal Code Subchapter 3.04 

Town of Colma Municipal Code Subchapter 3.04 includes regulations on sewer and the discharge of water 

and waste. The ordinance is intended to regulate and control the quantity and quality of sewage and 

industrial wastes and other substances and provide for source control of sewage, industrial waste, and 

other substances. The subchapter allows the town to enforce these areas with fees and charges. 

Town of Colma Municipal Code Subchapter 3.05 

Town of Colma Municipal Code Subchapter 3.05 includes regulations on the collection and disposal of 

solid waste. The intent of the ordinance is to allow the town to select a franchise waste hauler to improve 

recycling rates, improve reporting to CalRecycle and comply with state recycling laws, and reduce waste 

to the landfill. The Ordinance includes standards for waste hauling and prohibits illegal dumping.  

4.15.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Wildfire impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the project 

considered would result in any of the following: 

• Require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, wastewater treatment 

or storm water drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, the 

construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental effects? 

• Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project and reasonably foreseeable future 

development during normal, dry and multiple dry years? 

• Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve the 

project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project’s projected demand in addition to the 

provider’s existing commitments? 

• Generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of local 

infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals? 



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

• Comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations related 

to solid waste?  

METHODOLOGY 

The following analysis was based on background research and coordination with utility providers and the 

background information they provided to the town of Colma.  

It should be noted that the 2040 GPU proposes few updates to the town’s existing planning areas, 

simplifying the town’s existing planning areas into five new planning areas that are consistent with the 

present condition of the town and the vision of the City Council. In addition, the proposed GPU introduces 

new land uses such a medium density residential land use that is consistent with current developments 

and a commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 

GPU would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill 

residential units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission 

Road Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 

310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core 

Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential 

units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster’s site, 

respectively. 

IMPACTS  

Impact 4.15.1 The proposed General Plan Update would not require, or result in, the construction or 

expansion of new water, new storm water drainage, wastewater treatment facilities or 

expansion of existing facilities and entitlements, the construction of which could cause 

significant environmental effects (Less than Significant). 

As mentioned previously, implementation of the Town of Colma’s 2040 General Update has the potential 

to result in additional population and  the need for future residential, commercial and office uses in the 

Planning Area. This would in turn generate additional demand for water, storm drainage, and wastewater 

demand and services. The GPU buildout is projected to add 328 residential units and 1,028,500 square feet 

of commercial and office uses in the town. California Water Service Company (Cal water) projects an 

increase of approximately 2000 single family residential homes and 980 commercial accounts for the South 

San Francisco District, which includes the town of Colma, by the Planning Area buildout year of 2040. 

However, the town of Colma utilizes water conservation efforts and the proposed GPU contains policies 

that would reduce water usage and waste. 

Similarly, while future development or redevelopment activities under the 2040 General Plan Update has 

the potential to increase impervious surfaces and stormwater runoff, generate increased stormwater 

volumes and affect infiltration of water to existing storm drainage systems in the town.  

The town does not have its own wastewater treatment facilities and is under agreements with the North 

San Mateo County Sanitation District Treatment Plant and the South San Francisco Water Quality Control 

Plant for such services. While wastewater treatment capacity is projected to be adequate by the North San 

Mateo County Sanitation District Treatment Plant, new construction in certain areas in town may require 

the need to construct a sewer lift station. As a part of the town’s review process, projects are routed to the 

wastewater treatment districts to determine if a sewer capacity study is required. The sewer capacity study 

determines if the sewer lift station is required. The South San Francisco Water Quality Control Plant is 

unable to determine if there will be an impact to their infrastructure without specific project locations and 

proposed uses. Since there is no project, South San Francisco Water Quality Control Plant will continue to 



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

review project applications for proposed projects within the town and determine if capacity is adequate at 

that time. Project conditions may be imposed to upgrade existing infrastructure to support proposed 

projects. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address water, sewer and wastewater uses in the town: 

Policy OSC-4-1: Comply with Water Quality Regulations. Continue to comply with all State and 

federal regulations for water quality. 

Policy OSC-4-2: Participation in the San Mateo County Stormwater Pollution Prevention 

Program (SMCWPPP). Continue to be an active member agency of the SMCWPPP 

to reduce pollution from being conveyed through the storm water system to the 

San Francisco Bay. 

Policy OSC-4-3: Reclaimed Water. Pursue opportunities to install water recycling infrastructure 

for Town-owned and cemetery landscape areas. 

Policy OSC-4-6: Stormwater Runoff. Require large-scale projects (over 0.5 acres) to channel surface 

and roof runoff to on-site detention facilities to facilitate groundwater recharge, 

reduce stormwater pollution, and mitigate flooding of Colma Creek. 

Policy OSC-4.-9: Water Quality and Conservation Public Information. Continue to support and 

coordinate with the Countywide Stormwater Program, Cal Water, and the San 

Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) on their public outreach and 

education campaigns to conserve and maintain water quality. 

Policy CS-3-4: Stormwater Detention. Require new developments over one half acre in size to 

construct on-site storm water detention facilities which contribute runoff to Colma 

Creek in order to store the difference in runoff between the 10-year pre-

development storm (original natural state) and the 100-year post-development 

storm. Any stormwater release should be at the 10-year predevelopment rate. 

Policy LU-2-4:  Low Impact Development. Regulate new development and construction to 

minimize pollutant and sediment concentrations in receiving waters and ensure 

that surface water meets or exceeds applicable regulatory water quality standards.  

Require new development to incorporate Low Impact Development features that 

treat and reduce surface runoff volumes. 

Policy LU-2-6:  Green Infrastructure. Encourage green infrastructure installations that rely on 

natural processes for stormwater treatment/drainage, groundwater recharge and 

flood control. 

Policy LU-4-2:  Adequacy to Serve New and Existing Developments.  The Town shall continue 

to ensure that new and existing developments can be adequately served by 

municipal services and facilities in accordance with Town standards. 

Policy LU-4-3:  New Development Fair Share. The Town shall regularly evaluate and update 

development impact fees to ensure that new development pays its fair share of 

providing new public facilities and services and/or the costs necessary to improve 

or expand infrastructure to serve them, including street improvements, parks, 

wastewater, stormwater drainage, and other public services. 



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Policy LU-4-4:  Capital Improvement Program (CIP). The City shall continue to fund 

maintenance, improvements, and expansion of town infrastructure, including 

sewer lines and street infrastructure through a multi-year Capital Improvement  

While there would be no significant need for the construction of new water and wastewater facilities, 

implementation of the above policies would further assist in reducing the Town of Colma’s 2040 GPU 

impacts to wastewater to a less than significant level and no mitigation is required 

Impact 4.15.2 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update for the town would not exceed 

wastewater treatment requirements of the San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality 

Control Board and may result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider 

which serves or may serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project’s 

projected demand in addition to the provider’s existing commitments (Less than 

Significant). 

The town of Colma’s proposed 2040 General Plan Update has the potential to result in additional 

population growth and development or redevelopment activities in the town that would generate 

additional wastewater. This would result in the increased demand, collection, transport and treatment of 

wastewater needs over current levels. This, in turn, would generate additional wastewater needs over 

existing levels, for the town. According to the town’s Sanitary Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP), 

there are approximately 33,600 lineal feet of sewer mains that serve the town’s wastewater system. 

The town of Colma’s collection system is divided into the northern portion of the town which is connected 

to and serviced by the North San Mateo County Sanitation District, and the southern portion of the 

collection system which is connected to the City of South San Francisco. Correspondence with these 

providers in February 2021 have indicated that the North San Mateo County Sanitation District Treatment 

Plant will have adequate capacity however, new construction in certain areas in town may require the need 

to construct a sewer lift station. In addition, the South San Francisco Water Quality Control Plant is unable 

to determine if there will be an impact to their infrastructure without specific project locations and 

proposed uses but will continue to review project applications for proposed projects within the town and 

determine if capacity is adequate at that time.  

Additionally, current State regulations would require that the town comply with existing wastewater 

quality standards and that any future new development or infill projects be reviewed by the appropriate 

wastewater district to ensure that new projects would not exceed their wastewater conveyance and 

treatment capacities. 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address the town’s wastewater treatment needs: 

Policy LU-4-1:  Maintaining Adequate Public Infrastructure and Facilities. The Town shall 

adequately maintain public infrastructure to ensure the provision of safe and 

reliable infrastructure to meet the town’s current and future needs, including 

facilitating upgrades to the utility infrastructure necessary for improved and 

emerging technologies. 



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Policy LU-4-2:  Adequacy to Serve New and Existing Developments.  The Town shall continue 

to ensure that new and existing developments can be adequately served by 

municipal services and facilities in accordance with Town standards. 

Policy LU-4-3:  New Development Fair Share. The Town shall regularly evaluate and update 

development impact fees to ensure that new development pays its fair share of 

providing new public facilities and services and/or the costs necessary to improve 

or expand infrastructure to serve them, including street improvements, parks, 

wastewater, stormwater drainage, and other public services. 

Policy LU-4-4:  Capital Improvement Program (CIP). The City shall continue to fund 

maintenance, improvements, and expansion of town infrastructure, including 

sewer lines and street infrastructure through a multi-year Capital Improvement 

Program (CIP). 

Wastewater treatment demand resulting from the 2040 General Plan Update would be accommodated by 

the town of Colm’s existing wastewater service providers, and no additional new wastewater facilities 

would be required to serve the town.  In addition, implementation of the above policies would further 

assist in reducing the Town of Colma’s 2040 GPU impacts to wastewater to a less than significant level 

and no mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.15.3 Any future new or infill development projects under the proposed General Plan Update 

would be served by a landfill with sufficient permitted capacity and would comply with 

federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations related to 

solid waste, so as to accommodate the 2040 GPU’s solid waste disposal needs (Less than 

Significant). 

As previously mentioned, the implementation of the proposed General Plan Update has the potential to 

allow for future development and infill projects that could result in additional solid waste generation over 

existing levels for the town. This waste would eventually be deposited at the local landfill, which could 

result in the landfill’s current being reduced at a faster rate. Currently, Republic Services, the town’s 

franchise waste hauler, hauls waste to the Los Trancos (Ox Mountain) landfill located in Half Moon Bay. 

As of December 31, 2019 the Ox Mountain landfill had 18,206,200 cubic yards of remaining capacity. The 

site is projected to reach its permitted capacity in 2039. Additionally, future land use activities developed 

under the 2040 GPU would be required to comply with all local, state, and federal statutes and regulations 

related to solid waste.  

Policies LU-4-1 to LU-4-4 ensure that new developments can be supported by public infrastructure and 

mitigate impacts to landfill capacity. The 2040 General Plan Update’s impacts to solid waste would be 

reduced by ensuring that the town has access to landfill waste site(s) with sufficient services and capacity. 

Implementation of the above policies would assist in reducing the Town of Colma’s 2040 GPU impacts to 

solid waste to a less than significant level and no mitigation is required  



4.15   Utilities 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.15-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

REFERENCES 

Documents  

Town of Colma General Plan, General Plan Existing Conditions Report § (2020) 

Town of Colma General Plan, Town of Colma General Plan § (1999) 

Town of Colma, Town of Colma Municipal Code. (2019) 

Town of Colma Sanitary Sewer System Management Plan § (2017) 

Mahoney, Mike, Divencenzi, Monica. (2019) Countywide Integrated Waste Management Plan Five-Year 

Review Ad Hoc Committee Presentation. City/County Association of Governments of San Mateo County. 

https://ccag.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/CIWMP-Ad-Hoc-Committee-Mtg-1-Presentation.pdf   

Other  

Bolzowski, Michael. CalWater. Personal Communication (Email). Krystal Sanchez, CSG Consultants Inc. 

September 17, 2020; Jonathan Kwan, CSG Consultants Inc., February 10, 2021; February 16, 2021 (via email). 

Bastian, Jeff. Project Development Coordinator, City of Daly City Department of Water and Wastewater 

Resources. Personal Communication (E-mail). Jonathan Kwan, CSG Consultants Inc. February 16, 2020 

Divencenzi, Monica. Municipal Relationship Manager, Republic Services. Personal Communication 

(Email). Jonathan Kwan, CSG Consultants Inc. February 16, 2021; March 5, 2021. 

Tillisch, Lindsey. Senior Program Manager, Pacific Gas and Electric Company. Personal Communication 

(Email). Jonathan Kwan, CSG Consultants Inc. February 16, 2021; February 24, 2021. 

Valencia, Brenda. Local Customer Relationship Manager, Pacific Gas and Electric Company. Personal 

Communication (Email). Jonathan Kwan, CSG Consultants Inc. February 24, 2021. 

Wemmer Andrew. Environmental Compliance Supervisor, City of South San Francisco. Personal 

Communication (E-mail). Krystal Sanchez, CSG Consultants Inc. September 8, 2020; Jonathan Kwan, CSG 

Consultants Inc., February 10, 2021 (via email); February 16 (via phone message). 

https://ccag.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/CIWMP-Ad-Hoc-Committee-Mtg-1-Presentation.pdf


4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

This section of the Draft Program Environmental Impact Report (Draft PEIR; DPEIR) describes the existing 

wildfire risks within the Town of Colma General Plan Planning Area (Planning Area). This section also 

identifies the potential impacts of implementing the proposed project on such resources as well as the 

appropriate proposed 2040  General Plan Update policies that reduce any identified impacts. 

4.16.1 EXISTING SETTINGS 

REGIONAL  

A wildfire is defined as a non-structural fire in undeveloped area with the potential to spread to an urban 

area. The fire season in California is starting earlier and ending later each year, with climate change 

considered to be a key factor for this phenomenon. The length of fire season is estimated to have increased 

by 75 days across the Sierras and seems to correspond with an increase in the forest fires across the state 

(CalFire, 2020).  

Fires are typically classified by type and intensity. Fire types may include understory fires, crown fires, 

surface fires, and broadcast fires, among others. Fire intensity, or severity,  is the heat energy released by a 

fire either during a smoldering or raging fire event (California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, 

2020). 

The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (Cal Fire) has mapped areas of significant fire 

hazards in the state through its Fire and Resources Assessment Program (FRAP). These maps place areas 

of the state into different Fire Hazard Severity Zones (FHSZ) based on a hazard scoring system using 

subjective criteria for fuels, fire history, terrain influences, housing density, and occurrence of severe fire 

weather. Typically, these classifications include Non-Wildland, Non-Urban, Moderate, High and Very 

High . As part of this mapping system, land where Cal Fire is responsible for wildland fire protection and 

generally located in unincorporated areas is classified as a State Responsibility Area (SRA). Where local fire 

protection agencies, such as the town of Colma’s Fire Protection District (CFPD), are responsible for 

wildfire protection, the land is classified as a Local Responsibility Area (LRA) (California Department of 

Forestry and Fire Protection, 2020).  

The closest Very High Fire Hazard Severity (VHFHSZ) to the town of Colma is the San Bruno State 

Mountain Park. CAL FIRE has rated the San Bruno Mountain Park and the adjacent undeveloped areas of 

the town, as areas of high fire hazard (Figure 4.16-1: Fire Hazard Areas). However, when considering fire 

hazard threat to people, CAL FIRE rated the San Bruno Mountain and surrounding areas an extreme fire 

hazard (California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, 2020). CAL FIRE responds to wildland fires 

from several fire stations, depending on their proximity and availability. The closest station to the project 

area is at 20 Tower Road in the City of Belmont (Figure 4.16-2: CalFire Stations).  

Fire Safe Councils throughout California educate homeowners about community wildfire preparedness 

activities while working with local fire officials to design and implement projects that increase the wildfire 

survivability of their communities. Many Fire Safe Councils have successfully implemented such projects 

as hazardous-fuel-reduction projects, Community Wildfire Protection Planning, and homeowner training. 

The closest Fire Council to the town of Colma is the Fire Safe Council of San Mateo County located in the 

city of Half Moon Bay (California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, 2020).  



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

  



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

  



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

LOCAL  

Cal Fire currently identifies the town of Colma as a Local Responsibility Area and non-Very High Fire 

Severity Zone. However, the Planning Area is near lands classified as very high fire hazard severity zones, 

such as San Bruno Mountain Park and the unincorporated areas of San Mateo County (Figure 4.16-1).  

The town of Colma Fire Protection District (CFPD) provides fire protection to the town and surrounding 

unincorporated areas, through one fire station with 36 members. The town of Colma Fire Station is located 

just north of town at 50 Reiner Street, near San Pedro Road. Though the fire station in not located within 

the town limits, should the unincorporated area where the Colma Fire Station is located be annexed into 

the city of Daly City, the facility would continue to provide fire protection services to the town of Colma.  

The station is manned by 36 part time, paid on-call fire fighters and three salaried full-time personnel 

(Chief, Deputy Fire Marshal and Staff Captain). The fire district has a paramedic on duty 24 hours a day 

ready to respond to any call for medical assistance. In addition, all the members are certified as fully trained 

firefighters able to mitigate any emergency. 

Equipment available to the Fire District includes three engines each with 1,500 gallons per minute (gpm) 

pumping capacity, one reserve engine rated at 1,000 gallons per minute (gpm), one 75-foot aerial ladder 

truck and one squad truck. The Colma Fire Protection District currently has an average response time of 

two to four minutes to sites in the town of Colma. The time it takes to respond to an emergency is important 

because of the critical care period (seven to eight minutes) needed for physical health emergencies, and of 

the increasing intensity and spread of fire.  

The required peak load water supply is the amount of water necessary to suppress fire in a structure during 

peak water use periods. The Colma Fire Protection District and Uniform Fire Code requires that all 

structures have fire flows of no less than 1500 gpm.  

The town’s fire protection services are evaluated by the Insurance Service Office (ISO), whose ratings 

establish the fire insurance rates paid by residents and businesses. ISO rating is partially based on such 

factors as available water supply, manpower and equipment. Colma Fire District’s ISO rating is V on a 

scale of I-X (best to worst) which is an improvement from their previous rating of VI (US FS). 

The Colma Fire has mutual aid agreements with the cities of Daly City, San Bruno, Pacifica, South San 

Francisco and Brisbane. The Fire Protection District’s Mutual Aid Agreements provide additional fire 

protection support and for rapid response to structural fires in the District, when requested. When 

additional assistance is needed by the Colma Fire Protection District or Police Department, the San Mateo 

County, Central and South strike teams or County offices may be called in to assist the town.  

4.16.2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FEDERAL 

Federal Emergency Management Agency Regulation 

The primary mission of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) is to reduce the loss of life 

and property and protect the nation from all hazards, including natural disasters, acts of terrorism, and 

other human-made disasters, by leading and supporting the nation in a risk-based, comprehensive 

emergency management system of preparedness protection, response, recovery, and mitigation.  

The town of Colma is under the jurisdiction of FEMA Region 9, which covers Arizona, California, Hawaii, 

Nevada, Guam, American Samoa, Commonwealth of Northern Mariana Islands, Republic of Marshall 



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Islands, Federated State of Micronesia, and more than 150 sovereign tribal entities. In Southern California, 

FEMA Region 9 specifically plans for hazards such as major earthquakes and wildfires. 

National Fire Plan 

The Department of the Interior’s National Fire Plan is intended to ensure an appropriate federal response 

to severe wildland fires, reduce fire impacts to rural communities, and ensure sufficient firefighting 

capacity in the future. The Rural Fire Assistance program is funded to enhance the fire protection 

capabilities of rural fire districts and safe and effective fire suppression in the wildland/urban interface. 

The program promotes close coordination among local, state, tribal, and federal firefighting resources by 

conducting training, equipment purchase, and prevention activities on a cost-shared basis.  

STATE 

Assembly Bill 301 

Assembly Bill 301 was enacted to amend Section 4213.1 of, and to add Section 4213.2 to, the Public 

Resources Code related to fire prevention. Section 4213.1 requires CAL FIRE to notify an owner of property, 

through Fire Prevention Fee billing process, that if selling the habitable structure or structures, a division 

of the fee may be negotiated as one of the terms of sale. Section 4213.2 allows the owner of a property with 

one or more habitable structures subject to the fee, if selling the property, to negotiate a division of the fee 

as one of the terms of the sale. However, payment of the total fee liability remains the responsibility of the 

person who owns the habitable structure on July 1 of the year the fee is due. 

State California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection 

California Fire (Cal Fire) protects the people of California from fires, responds to emergencies, and protects 

and enhances forest, range, and watershed values providing social, economic, and environmental benefits 

to rural and urban citizens. Cal Fire’s firefighters, fire engines, and aircraft respond to an average of more 

than 5,600 wildland fires each year. The Office of the State Fire Marshal supports Cal Fire’s mission by 

focusing on fire prevention. It provides support through a wide variety of fire safety responsibilities 

including regulating buildings in which people live, congregate, or are confined; controlling substances 

and products which may, in and of themselves, or by their misuse, cause injuries, death, and destruction 

by fire; providing statewide direction for fire prevention in wildland areas; regulating hazardous liquid 

pipelines; reviewing regulations and building standards; and providing training and education in fire 

protection methods and responsibilities. 

California Fire Plan 

The California Fire Plan is the state’s road map for reducing the risk of wildfire. By placing the emphasis 

on what needs to be done long before a fire starts, the Fire Plan looks to reduce firefighting costs and 

property losses, increase firefighter safety, and to contribute to ecosystem health. This a cooperative effort 

between the State Board of Forestry and Fire Protection and the California Department of Forestry and Fire 

Protection (CAL FIRE). 

California Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (OES) 

Cal OES is the Emergency Management Authority (EMA) for the State of California. The California 

Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (Cal OES) began as the State War Council in 1943. With an 

increasing emphasis on emergency management, it officially became OES in 1970. On July 1, 2013, 

Governor Edmund G. Brown Jr.’s Reorganization Plan #2 eliminated the California Emergency 

Management Agency (Cal EMA); restored its powers, purposes, and responsibilities to Cal OES; and also 



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

merged it with the Office of Public Safety Communications. Cal OES’ mission statement is the following: 

“Protect lives and property, build capabilities, and support our communities for a resilient California.” OES 

goals include: 

• Goal 1: Anticipate and enhance prevention and detection capabilities to protect our State from all          

hazards and threats. 

• Goal 2: Strengthen California’s ability to plan, prepare for, and provide resources to mitigate the 

impacts of disasters, emergencies, crimes, and terrorist events. 

• Goal 3: Effectively respond to and recover from both human-caused and natural disasters. 

• Goal 4: Enhance the administration and delivery of all state and federal funding, and maintain fiscal 

and program integrity. 

• Goal 5: Develop a united and innovative workforce that is trained, experienced, knowledgeable, and 

ready to adapt and respond. 

• Goal 6: Strengthen capabilities in public safety 

California Public Resources Code Section 4290 

The California Public Resources Code (PRC) Section 4290 was adopted to establish minimum wildfire 

protection standards in conjunction with building, construction, and development in State Responsibility 

Areas. Under PRC Section 4290, the future design and construction of structures, subdivisions, and 

developments in SRAs must provide for basic emergency access and specified perimeter wildfire-

protection measures. These measures provide for road standards for emergency access; signing and 

building numbering; water supply reserves; and fuel breaks and greenbelts. 

California Public Resources Code Section 4119 

The California Public Resources Code (PRC) Section 4119 authorizes USFS, BLM, and CAL FIRE to inspect 

properties to determine whether they comply with state forest and fire laws, regulations, or use permits. 

After completing the inspection, the inspector should note all violations in writing on the Interagency 

Inspection Form and set a definite time limit for compliance. 

California Public Resources Code Section 4291 

The California Public Resources Code (PRC) Section 4291 applies to a person who owns, leases, controls, 

operates, or maintains a building or structure in, upon, or adjoining a mountainous area; lands covered by 

forest, brush, or grass; or land that is covered with flammable material. Section 4291 requires maintaining 

defensible space of 100 feet from each side of the structure, but not beyond the property line. The amount 

of fuel modification necessary must account for the flammability of the structure as affected by building 

material, building standards, location, and type of vegetation. 

California Fire Code 

The California Fire Code is the primary means for authorizing and enforcing procedures and mechanisms 

to ensure the safe handling and storage of any substance that may pose a threat to public health and safety. 

The California Fire Code establishes minimum requirements to safeguard the public health, safety, and 

general welfare from the hazards of fire, explosion, or dangerous conditions in new and existing buildings. 

The California Fire Code also contains requirements related to emergency planning and preparedness, fire 

service features, building services and systems, fire resistance–rated construction, fire protection systems, 



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

and construction requirements for existing buildings, as well as specialized standards for specific types of 

facilities and materials. 

State Fire Regulations 

Fire regulations for California are established in Sections 13000 et seq. of the California Health and Services 

Code and include regulations for structural standards (similar to those identified in the California Building 

Code); fire protection and public notification systems; fire protection devices such as extinguishers and 

smoke alarms; standards for high-rise structures and childcare facilities; and fire suppression training. The 

State Fire Marshal is responsible for enforcement of these established regulations and building standards 

for all state-owned buildings, state-occupied buildings, and state institutions within California. 

California Disaster Assistance Act (CDAA) 

The California Disaster Assistance Act (CDAA; CCR Title 19, Chapter 6) authorizes the Director of the 

California Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (Cal OES) to administer a disaster assistance program 

that provides financial assistance from the state for costs incurred by local governments as a result of a 

disaster event. Funding for the repair, restoration, or replacement of public real property damaged or 

destroyed by a disaster is made available when the Director concurs with a local emergency proclamation 

requesting state disaster assistance. 

California Building Code 

CCR Title 24, Part 2, Section 701A.3.2 (New Buildings Located in Any Fire Hazard Severity Zone) requires 

that new buildings located in any Fire Hazard Severity Zone within SRAs, any local agency Very-High Fire 

Hazard Severity Zone, or any Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area designated by the enforcing agency for 

which an application for a building permit is submitted. 

4.16.3 IMPACT ANALYSIS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

Standards of Significance  

The impact analysis provided below is based on the following State CEQA Guidelines Appendix G 

thresholds of significance. Wildfire impacts are considered to be significant if implementation of the project 

considered would result in any of the following: 

• Substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. 

• Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby expose 

project occupants to, pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a 

wildfire. 

• Require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, 

emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that may 

result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment. 

• Expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream flooding or 

landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes. 

 

 

 



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

METHODOLOGY 

Evaluation of potential wildfire impacts of the proposed Town of Colma General Plan Update was based 

primarily on information gathered from the US Wildland Fire Assessment System (WFAS) and the United 

States Department of Agriculture and Forest Service. A detailed list of resources used in the completion of 

the analysis in this section can be found under References located at the end of the section.  Implementation 

of the proposed project was compared to the existing conditions to determine the impacts due to wildfire 

risk.  

IMPACTS  

Impair an Adopted Emergency Response Plan or expose Town’s Occupants to Wildfire Risks  

Impact 4.16.1 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not result in substantially 

impairing an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan, nor would 

it result in project occupants being exposed to pollutants concentrations from a wildfire or 

the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors that 

exacerbate wildfire risks (Less than Significant). 

Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would result in project occupants to be exposed to 

pollutants concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire due to slope, prevailing 

winds, and other factors that exacerbate wildfire risks. While the town of Colma is limited in its land area 

for future development which can only be focused on limited residential development as well as 

commercial redevelopment on existing sites within the town, the 2040 GPU does propose new land uses 

such a medium density residential land use that is consistent with current developments as well as a 

commercial overlay over vacant and underutilized cemetery land east of Hillside Boulevard. The 2040 GPU 

would allow for an additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential 

units, 15,000 square feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road 

Planning Area; 315,000 square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 

310,000 square feet of commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core 

Planning Area; and, 20,000 square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential 

units, 240 residential units, and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, 

respectively. 

However, any future development would be required to comply with the town’s Local Hazard Mitigation 

Plan (Plan) as well as any criteria under the County of San Mateo’s Emergency Operations Services. The 

town is covered under the services by the Colma Fire Protection District. Though the District has a number 

of fire stations in close proximity to the town, Fire Station 85 is located approximately less than a mile to 

the town’s northern boundary. Future development projects would have to comply with Action items 

specifically related to Actions C-1, C-3, C-6, C-7,  C-11 and C-20 (San Mateo County Hazard Mitigation 

Plan, 2016). Additionally, fire safety codes, emergency access routes and evacuation procedures are already 

addressed in the town’s Local hazard Mitigation Plan and emergency operators (Town staff, fire and police 

staff). Construction and operation of new residential or commercial development within the town would 

nominally increase the demand for fire protection in the town. Thus the Proposed Project would not impair 

an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan, or would it expose project occupants 

to uncontrolled wildfire risks. 

 

 



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Proposed General Plan Update Policies  

The following proposed General Plan policies address emergency response plans and actions: 

Policy CS-2-2: Development in Hazardous Areas. Prohibit development, including any land 

alteration, grading for roads and structural development, in areas of slope instability 

unless the appropriate mitigation measures are taken. 

Policy CS-2-3: Unsafe Buildings. Encourage seismic retrofits of existing buildings based on the 

recommendations of a licensed engineer or architect. Prioritize working with owners 

of buildings whose loss would impact the greatest number of people and/or 

particularly vulnerable groups such as seniors, children, or low-income households. 

Policy CS-4-1: Alternate EOC. Establish an alternative Emergency Operations Center (EOC) to be 

used in the event the existing EOC is not operational during a fire event. 

Policy CS-7-1: Hazard Mitigation Plan. Implement, maintain and update the Local Hazard 

Mitigation Plan which is part of the larger County Hazard Mitigation Plan.     

Policy CS-7-2:  Emergency Management Plan. Continue to participate with San Mateo County’s 

Mutual Aid Programs and Plans for community emergency preparedness. 

Policy CS-7-3: Promote Emergency Preparedness. Utilize multiple information channels to educate 

residents and businesses of the Town’s emergency operations procedure.  

Policy CS-7-4: Collaborative Planning. Improve inter-jurisdictional and interagency cooperation 

with regard to hazard prevention and emergency response through town participation 

in and initiation of coordination meetings and exercises.  

Policy CS-7-5: Evacuation Routes. Utilize emergency evacuation routes established by the Town and 

ensure that all residential areas of Colma maintain access to at least two routes for 

evacuation.. 

Implementation of the policies described above would reduce the environmental impacts to less than 

significant and no mitigation is required. 

Impact 4.16.2 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not require the installation 

or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, emergency water 

sources, power lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that may result in 

temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment (No Impact). 

The town of Colma is fairly developed with residential and commercial uses. Existing cemetery land in the 

town account for approximately 75% of the town’s land area, leaving approximately 25% of the town’s 1.91 

acreages to residential, office, and commercial uses. The types of future GPU las uses would include an 

additional 11 residential units in the Sterling Park Planning Area; 20 infill residential units, 15,000 square 

feet of commercial uses, and 5,000 square feet of office uses in the Mission Road Planning Area; 315,000 

square feet of commercial uses within the Hillside Boulevard Planning Area; 310,000 square feet of 

commercial uses and 10,000 square feet of office uses in the Commercial Core Planning Area; and, 20,000 

square of office uses, 352,500 square feet of commercial uses, and 42 residential units, 240 residential units, 

and 15 residential units at the Bocci Center, Town Center and Sandblaster site, respectively. 

Any new development would therefore be incorporated into the town’s existing infrastructure such as 

roads, emergency water sources, power lines and other utilities. Maintenance of these existing 

infrastructure would continue as per the town’s typical maintenance of its facilities. Therefore 



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

implementation of the GPU would not require the installation of any new infrastructure and this would 

have no impact, nor require mitigation measures. 

Impact 4.16.3 Implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would not expose people or 

structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream flooding or landslides, 

as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes (No Impact). 

The town of Colma Is not located on a slope or downstream from any rivers or streams. The Colma Creek 

mainly runs underground through the town and there are no water bodies located with the town limits. 

Therefore implementation of the 2040 GPU would not expose people or structure to any impacts from 

downslope or downstream flooding. There would be no impact and no mitigation measures are required 

  



4.16   Wildfires 
 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 4.16-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

REFERENCES 

Documents 

Public Law 106-390. October 30, 2000. Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000.  

International Journal of Wildland Fire. Volume 18 Issue 1. 2009. Fire Intensity, Fire Severity and Burn Severity: 

A Brief Review and Suggested Usage. 

USGS Western Ecological Research Center, Sequoia - Kings Canyon Field Station, Department of Ecology 

and Evolutionary Biology, University of California, 2009. 

Websites 

California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) 2020 <https://www.fire.ca.gov/>  Accessed 

August, 2020 

California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). 2020. California Forest Stewardship 

Program. https://www.fire.ca.gov/programs/resource-management/resource-protection-improvement/landowner-

assistance/forest-stewardship/. Accessed July 2020.  

California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). 2020. California Department of Forestry 

and Fire Protection Fire Resources Assessment Program. http://www.esri.com/metadata/esriprof80.html Accessed 

August 7, 2020. 

Colma Fire Prevention District (CFPD). 2015. < https://colmafire.org> Accessed March 19, 2020 

Fire Safe San Mateo County (Fire Safe). 2019. < https://www.firesafesanmateo.org/> Accessed August 2020 

HASpod. 2019. < https://www.haspod.com/blog/fire/classes-of-fire> Accessed August 2020. 

San Mateo Fire Department (SMFD). 2018. https://www.cfsfire.org/about/fire-stations/ Accessed August 10, 

2020.  

San Mateo County Fire Hazards (Fire Hazards). 2015. <https://osfm.fire.ca.gov/divisions/wildfire-planning-

engineering/wildland-hazards-building-codes/fire-hazard-severity-zones-maps/> Accessed April 15, 2020 

United States Forest Service (USFC). <https://www.fs.usda.gov/> Accessed August 2020. 

United States Forest Service Wildland Fire Assessment System. (USFS). 1995. 

<https://www.wfas.net/index.php/fire-danger-rating-fire-potential--danger-32 > Accessed March 19, 2020. 

 



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines require an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) 

to evaluate a project's effects in relationship to broader changes occurring, or that are foreseeable to occur, 

in the surrounding environment. This section of the Town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update (2040 GPU) 

Program EIR (PEIR) presents a summary of the impacts of the proposed General Plan Update on several 

subject areas specifically required by CEQA. These findings are based on the analysis provided in Section 

4: Settings, Impacts, and Mitigation Measures. 

Growth-inducing impacts, such as those associated with increases in employment, has the potential to 

impact housing and related demand in surrounding jurisdictions over an extended time period. Such 

future demands are difficult to ascertain with any certainty since future economic and population trends 

may be influenced by unforeseeable events, such as natural disasters and business development cycles. 

Long-term changes in economic and population growth are often regional, or even global in nature and are 

not influenced solely by changes or policies related to a single city or development project. Further, just 

because a jurisdiction has the potential to create growth in housing or employment, this does not 

necessarily automatically lead to growth. Future investment in development/redevelopment activities and 

the regulatory authority of local governments, result in the growth-inducing potential of a jurisdiction. 

5.1 GROWTH-INDUCING IMPACTS 

As required under CEQA, this DPEIR must examine the potential growth-inducing impacts of the 

proposed town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update. A growth-inducing impact is defined by the CEQA 

Guidelines as: The way in which a proposed project could foster economic or population growth, or the construction 

of additional housing, either directly or indirectly, in the surrounding environment. Included in this are projects 

which could remove obstacles to population growth…It is not assumed that growth in an area is necessarily beneficial, 

detrimental, or of little significance to the environment. 

Based on Government Code Section 65300, the proposed 2040 General Plan Update (GPU) is intended to 

serve as the overall plan for the physical development of the town of Colma. While the 2040 GPU does not 

specifically propose any development/redevelopment projects, it does regulate future population and 

economic growth of the town that could lead to indirect growth-inducing effects. Implementation of the 

2040 GPU could refine existing land use designations in the town as it establishes new policies to direct 

and manage future development. In addition, the GPU could induce further population growth and job 

expansion in the town of Colma, as well as indirectly inducing growth if it were to remove an obstacle to 

additional growth and development, such as removing a constraint on a required public service, such as 

sewer service.  

5.1.1 COMPONENTS OF GROWTH 

The timing, magnitude, and location of land development and population growth in a community or region 

are based on various interrelated land use and economic variables. Typical main variables include regional 

economic trends, market demand for residential and non-residential uses, land availability and cost, the 

availability and quality of transportation facilities and public services, proximity to employment centers, 

the supply and cost of housing, and regulatory policies or conditions. Since a community’s general plan 

defines the location, type, and intensity of growth, it is the primary means of regulating development and 

growth in California. 

A project can have direct and/or indirect growth inducement potential. Direct growth inducement could 

result if a project, for example, involved construction of new housing. A project could have indirect growth 

inducement potential if it established substantial new permanent employment opportunities (e.g., 



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

commercial, industrial, or governmental enterprises) or if it could involve a construction effort with 

substantial short-term employment opportunities that could indirectly stimulate the need for additional 

housing and services to support the new employment demand. Similarly, a project could indirectly induce 

growth if it could remove an obstacle to additional growth and development, such as removing a constraint 

on a required public service. A project providing an increased water supply in an area where water service 

historically limited growth could be considered growth inducing. 

The CEQA Guidelines further explain that the environmental effects of induced growth are considered 

indirect impacts of the proposed action. These indirect impacts or secondary effects of growth may result 

in significant, adverse environmental impacts. Potential secondary effects of growth include increased 

demand on other community and public services and infrastructure, increased traffic and noise, and 

adverse environmental impacts such as degradation of air and water quality, degradation or loss of plant 

and animal habitat, and conversion of agricultural and open space land to developed uses. 

Growth inducement may constitute an adverse impact if the growth is not consistent with or 

accommodated by the land use plans and growth management plans and policies for the area affected. 

Local land use plans provide for land use development patterns and growth policies that allow for the 

orderly expansion of urban development supported by adequate urban public services, such as water 

supply, roadway infrastructure, sewer service, and solid waste service. 

5.1.2 SECONDARY EFFECTS OF GROWTH 

Based on Government Code Section §65300, the proposed Project is intended to serve as the overall plan 

for the physical development of the town of Colma. While the town’s 2040 GPU does not propose any 

specific development projects, it does regulate future population and growth of the Planning Area that 

could result in indirect growth-inducing effects. Since this DPEIR discusses the environmental effects 

associated with the implementation of the proposed 2040 GPU, the environmental effects of growth, 

especially on lands beyond the town’s proposed Planning Area could be similar to those associated with 

the proposed project evaluated in Sections 4.1 through 4.16.  

5.1.3 SIGNIFICANT AND UNAVOIDABLE IMPACTS 

State CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.2(b) requires an EIR to discuss unavoidable significant 

environmental effects, including those that cannot be mitigated to a less than significant level. As discussed 

in Sections 4.1 through 4.16, the following impacts would be considered significant and unavoidable 

impacts: 

4.2 Air Quality 

Impact 4.2.2 The project would result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria 

pollutants for which the project region is in non-attainment under applicable federal or State ambient air 

quality standard (Significant and Unavoidable). 

Impact 4.2.3 The project could expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations 

(Significant and Unavoidable). 

4.7 Cultural and Tribal Resources 

Impact 4.4.1 Future development to implement the proposed project could potentially cause a direct 

substantial adverse change in the significance of an historical resource as defined in CEQA 

Guidelines Section §15064.5 (Significant and Unavoidable).  



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

Impact 4.4.2 Future development to implement the proposed General Plan Update could result in the 

potential disturbance of cultural resources (i.e., prehistoric archaeological sites, historical 

archaeological sites, and isolated artifacts and features) within the Planning Area 

(Significant and Unavoidable). 

Impact 4.4.3   The proposed project would cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a 

TCR as defined in Public Resources Code Section §21074 or §5020.1(k) (Significant and 

Unavoidable).  

Impact 4.4.4 Adoption of the proposed General Plan Update could result in the potential disturbance 

of human remains, including those interred outside of cemeteries within the Planning Area (Significant 

and Unavoidable).  

4.7 Greenhouse Gas 

Impact 4.7.1 Implementation of the proposed project would generate GHG emissions, either directly or 

indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the environment (Significant and Unavoidable). 

5.1.4 IMPACTS FOUND NOT TO BE SIGNIFICANT 

State CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal Code Regs, Section §15000, et. seq.) require that an environmental impact 

report provide a brief explanation as to why various possible significant impacts were determined to be 

not significant. The significance of an impact is evaluated in relation to the significance criteria under each 

section of Chapter 4 of this DPEIR. The following therefore are impacts that, either do not exist or have no 

significant adverse impact on the environment for the proposed project. A summary of all impacts is 

provided in the Executive Summary of this Program EIR. The following issues were not included in the 

detailed analysis of this project because these resources either do not exist or are not impacted by the 

proposed Plan, and no comments were received regarding these topics in response to the Town of Colma’s 

2040 GPU PEIR Notice of Preparation. 

5.2 AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES 

5.2.1 REGIONAL AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES 

San, Mateo County 

San Mateo County (County) is in the middle of a continuous urban area stretching from San Jose (Santa 

Clara County) in the south to San Francisco County in the north. San Mateo County is one of nine counties 

which significantly contribute to the economy of the San Francisco Bay Area1. The coastal Santa Cruz 

Mountain range bisects San Mateo County, leaving the western portion of the County to more rural uses 

such as agriculture, game preserve, watershed, parks, and undeveloped lands. In contrast, the densely 

populated eastern half of the County contains most of its major transportation arteries including Interstate 

280, Highway 101, State Route 1, the Dumbarton and San Mateo Bridges, San Francisco International 

Airport and the deep-water port of Redwood City. 

The United States Department of Agriculture’s (USDA) 2017 Census of Agriculture for San Mateo County 

shows that there are currently 241 farms in the County, spanning across approximately 45,972 acres of land. 

San Mateo County is best known for producing top-quality brussels sprouts, pumpkins and artichokes. In 

 
1 The Bay Area is defined by the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) to include the nine counties of Alameda, Contra 

Costa, Marin, Napa, San  Mateo, Santa Clara, Solano, Sonoma, and San Francisco.  

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Francisco_Bay_Area. Accessed March 1, 2020 
 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Association_of_Bay_Area_Governments
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Alameda_County,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Contra_Costa_County,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Contra_Costa_County,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Marin_County,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Napa_County,_California
file:///C:/Users/annac/Documents/City%20of%20Colma/03%20Documents/Draft/02%20Reviewed%20Drafts/San%20%20Mateo
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Santa_Clara_County,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Solano_County,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sonoma_County,_California
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Francisco
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/San_Francisco_Bay_Area


5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

2018, the gross production value of organic commodities grew to $10.6 million, an increase of 5.7 percent 

from the prior year. Despite being a leading producer of some top-quality vegetables in 2018, San Mateo 

County’s top crops were indoor grown cut flowers and potted plants. According to the 2018 Agricultural 

Crop Report done by the Department of Agriculture/Weights and Measures for the County, increases in 

both group and individual commodities whose value increased include Indoor Floral and Nursery Crops, 

which went up by $5.3 million to total $87.9 million.  

5.2.2  LOCAL AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES 

Town of Colma 

The town of Colma is a small community recognized for its large expanses of cemetery land.  Prior to the 

town’s cemetery development, the town of Colma was used for agricultural production, primarily 

providing produce to the growing City of San Francisco. Agricultural uses were generally limited to small-

scale farms and greenhouse activities. The town of Colma and the surrounding area are urbanized and has 

one zoning designation for memorial park, agriculture, and recreation. The town does not have areas zoned 

as forest land or timberland, or timberland zoned as Timberland Production. According to the Farmland 

Mapping and Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, the town of Colma is designated 

as Urban and Built Up. No land in the town is designated as Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or 

Farmland of Statewide Importance. Urban and Built-Up Land is defined as “occupied by structures with a 

building density of at least 1 unit to 1.5 acres, or approximately 6 structures to a 10-acre parcel. The major 

components of the total open space resource in the town of Colma (about 75% of the total land area) is land 

owned by cemeteries that is used for memorial parks, agriculture or general open space.   The largest 

landholding of land that is not in use for cemetery use is owned by the Archdiocese of San Francisco. The 

land is located east of Hillside Boulevard and is primarily used for several wholesale nurseries, in-ground 

agriculture and landscape contractors.  

5.2.3  IMPACT CONCLUSION 

The town of Colma does not encompass any Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, Farmland of Statewide 

Importance, forest land, or timberland. Therefore, there would be no impacts to Agricultural Resources 

from the proposed General Plan Update. 

5.3 MINERAL RESOURCES 

5.3.1  REGIONAL MINERAL RESOURCES 

The California Department of Conservation Reclamation Surface Mining and Reclamation Act of 1975 

(Section 2710), also known as SMARA, provides a comprehensive surface mining and reclamation policy 

that permits the continued mining of minerals, as well as the protection and subsequent beneficial use of 

the mined and reclaimed land.  The purpose of SMARA is to ensure that adverse environmental effects are 

prevented or minimized and that mined lands are reclaimed to a usable condition and readily adaptable 

for alternative land uses.  As such, the California Geological Survey and the State Mining and Geology 

Board are the state agencies responsible for the classification and designation of areas containing, or 

potentially containing, significant mineral resources.  Areas known as Mineral Resource Zones (MRZs) are 

classified based on geologic factors, without regard to existing land use and land ownership. The areas are 

categorized into four general classifications (MRZ-1 through MRZ-4) and are defined as follows: 

MRZ-1 Areas where adequate information indicates that no significant mineral deposits are present, or 

where it is judged that little likelihood exists for their presence.  



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

MRZ-2 Areas where adequate information indicates that significant mineral deposits are present, or 

where it is judged that a high likelihood for their presence exists. 

MRZ-3 Areas containing mineral deposits, the significance of which cannot be evaluated from available 

data.   

MRZ-4 Areas where available data is inadequate for assignment to any other MRZ. 

San, Mateo County 

The State Division of Mines Reclamation has classified or designated six areas in the San Mateo County as 

containing regionally significant mineral resources. The following are the 6 mines listed: 

• Guadalupe Valley Quarry- primary product is sand/gravel and reclamation is in progress 

• Marine Oyster Shell Mining- primary product is seashells and reclamation has not started  

• Pilarcitos Quarry- primary product is sand/gravel and reclamation has not started 

• Langley Hill Quarry- primary product is sand/gravel and reclamation has not started 

• Pescadero Quarry- closed and reclamation in progress 

5.3.2  LOCAL MINERAL RESOURCES 

Town of Colma 

Colma sand is a well-known construction resource, and had been previously mined from the Hillside 

Landfill, which closed in 2012. 

5.3.3  IMPACT CONCLUSION 

The State Division of Mines and Geology has not classified or designated any areas in the town of Colma 

as containing regionally significant mineral resources. Therefore there would be no impacts to Mineral 

Resources from the proposed General Plan Update. 

5.4 CUMULATIVE IMPACTS ANALYSIS 

The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires that an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) 

evaluates a proposed project’s cumulative impacts in relationship to foreseeable changes that could occur 

with other past, present, or planned developments, as well as foreseeable development projects in the 

surrounding environment. Under CEQA, the discussion of cumulative impacts should focus on the severity 

of the impacts and the likelihood of their occurrence. According to CEQA Guidelines Section 15130(a), “an 

EIR shall discuss cumulative impacts of a project when the project’s incremental effect is cumulatively 

considerable.” “Cumulatively considerable” means that the additional effects of a project are considered to 

be considerable when evaluated in connection with the effects of past projects, other current projects, and 

probable future projects (as defined by Section 15130).  

In addition, Section 15130(b) identifies that the following three elements are necessary for an adequate 

cumulative analysis. For the purposes of the PEIR, the cumulative impacts analysis is based on section (a) 

below: 

a. A list of past, present, and probable future projects producing related or cumulative impacts, including, 

if necessary, those projects outside the control of the agency; or, 

b. A summary of projections contained in an adopted general plan or related planning document, or in a 

prior environmental document which has been adopted or certified, which described or evaluated 



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

regional or area wide conditions contributing to the cumulative impact. Any such planning document 

shall be referenced and made available to the public at a location specified by the lead agency. 

c. A summary of the expected environmental effects to be produced by those projects with specific 

reference to additional information stating where that information is available; and, a reasonable 

analysis of the cumulative impacts of the relevant projects. An EIR shall examine reasonable, feasible 

options for mitigating or avoiding the project’s contribution to any significant cumulative effects. 

SECTION 4.1 Aesthetics 

The town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update has the potential to change the visual character of the town. 

Since the town of Colma is mostly built out, future development or addition of new residential and 

commercial uses, even under cumulative circumstances, would be located on infill sites, underutilized sites, 

or redevelopment of existing sites. While such structures could impact views from surrounding 

jurisdictions, overall  impacts related to aesthetics would be minimal and limited in a cumulative context. 

Although the GPU anticipates additional housing and commercial uses over the 20-year General Plan 

horizon, as mentioned, all future development is anticipated to be developed on vacant or underutilized 

sites within the town limits. Since the town is limited to infill and redevelopment growth for future 

residential, commercial or office uses, compact development near the center of town is encouraged and 

would protect the existing visual character of the town while not visually impacting existing cemetery and 

open space uses. Infill development would be encouraged so as to be aesthetically pleasing as well as 

compatible to surrounding land uses, particularly in the central area of the town of Colma. This would, in 

turn, assist in creating minimal aesthetic contrasts with the existing uses in terms of scale, color, form or 

overall visual character of the area. Further, though new infill development and redevelopment projects 

may result in taller or larger buildings than what currently exists in the town, the 2040 GPU’s policies has 

the potential to reduce any impacts and ensure compatible development. 

Implementation of the proposed GPU would result in new infill development or redevelopment of existing 

properties that may add to the potential sources or glare and night-time lighting. These new development 

areas could result in new light sources which intensifies daytime glare and nighttime lighting levels. 

However, the 2040 GPU contains numerous polices related to the protection of aesthetic resources in the 

Planning Area and future projects would have to be consistent with the 2040 General Plan’s policies and 

minimize effects for light and glare. 

Therefore, the impact to aesthetics would be less than cumulatively considerable. 

SECTION 4.2 Air Quality 

Emissions of pollutants are not confined to the town’s boundaries but are dispersed throughout and 

accounted for by air basin. Therefore, the cumulative area for air quality impacts is the San Francisco Bay 

Area Air Basin (SFBAAB). California is divided into air basins for the purpose of managing the air resources 

of the state based on meteorological and geographic conditions. Like greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 

impacts, air quality impacts are regional in nature as no single project generates enough emissions that 

would cause an air basin to be designated as a nonattainment area. Construction emissions generated 

by cumulative development associated with buildout of the proposed project could exceed Bay Area Air 

Quality Management District’s (BAAQMD) project-level significance thresholds and would contribute to 

the nonattainment designations of the SFBAAB. The SFBAAB is currently designated a nonattainment area 

for California and National O3, California and National PM2.5, and California PM10  AAQS. However the 

2010 Clean Air Plan, prepared by BAAQMD contains numerous control measures that seek to reduce air 

pollution in the San Francisco Bay Area by promoting, for example, mixed use development, compact 



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

development that reduces vehicle emissions, and projects that reduce exposure from stationary and mobile 

source pollutants. 

The 2040 GPU does contain goals and policies that promote higher density mixed used development as 

well as ensuring that future development projects would comply with regional efforts to reduce air quality 

emissions throughout the Bay Area. However, in combination with past, present, and reasonably 

foreseeable projects elsewhere within the SFBAAB, the proposed project, proposed 2040 GPU’s 

contribution to cumulative air quality impacts would result in a significant and unavoidable impact.   

SECTION 4.3 Biological Resources 

The cumulative area for impacts to biological resources is the Planning Area as well as surrounding 

jurisdictions. On a cumulative level, the change in land uses can potentially contribute to a loss of potential 

habitat for special-status species that currently inhabit the area or could inhabit the area in the future.  In 

addition to potential direct impacts on biological resources from project implementation, the increased 

human presence can cause potential indirect impacts that could result in direct mortality, habitat loss, 

deterioration of habitat suitability, and avoidance of habitat. The wildlife species associated with each 

habitat will likely be affected as well. 

However, as discussed in Section 4.3, with the majority of the land reserved for cemetery uses, the town is 

generally built out. The majority of new development will come from in-fill sites or redevelopment of 

underutilized sites and would not occur within any potential biological features or habitat located within 

the town. In addition, the Conservation and Natural Resources Element of the General Plan establishes 

policies and programs to protect and conserve special status species and their habitat. Therefore, the project 

would have a less than cumulatively considerable impact on biological resources.  

SECTION 4.4 Cultural and Tribal Resources 

Historical Resources 

The cumulative area for impacts to cultural and tribal resources is the Planning Area as well as surrounding 

jurisdictions. Therefore, the Planning Area and the surrounding areas of San Mateo County as a whole 

must be considered for the purpose of evaluating land use conversion issues associated with cultural and 

tribal resources on a cumulative level. The jurisdictional boundaries of the town form the geographic 

context in which to analyze cumulative impacts to historical resources. Compliance with the goals and 

policies in the town’s GPU related to historical resources will be necessary for its implementation. 

Mitigation Measures CUL-1 and CUL-2 will apply to historical resources inadvertently discovered during 

construction activities. Future development projects will have to demonstrate that the project includes 

adequate measures to mitigate potentially significant impacts to historical resources in accordance with 

CEQA, and the preservation of resources outlined in the town’s GPU, thereby reducing cumulative impacts 

of historical resources to a less than significant level. Therefore, the proposed project would have a less 

than cumulatively considerable impact to historical resources. 

Archaeological Resources 

The San Francisco Bay Area provides the geographic context for the cumulative impacts analysis of 

archaeological resources. Though evidence of human occupation exists throughout the San Francisco 

Peninsula region, there are no known archaeological sites within ¼ mi. of the GPU project area. Throughout 

this region, many archaeological sites do exist that contain artifacts and features of value in reconstructing 

cultural patterns of early indigenous people. Construction activities associated with implementation of the 

GPU and future development projects have the potential to impact unknown archaeological resources and 

may present a significant cumulative impact to those resources. However, Mitigation Measures CUL-1 and 



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

CUL-3, as outlined above, would apply to archaeological resources inadvertently discovered during 

construction activities and would reduce potential impacts to a less than significant level. Therefore, 

implementation of the proposed project would have a less than cumulatively considerable impact to 

archaeological resources. 

Tribal Cultural Resources 

The San Francisco Bay region provides the geographic context for the cumulative impacts analysis to Tribal 

Cultural Resources (TCRs). Impacts would be cumulative if the project, in combination with cumulative 

development, contributed to the permanent loss of TCRs on a regional scale. The cumulative context for 

TCRs is the ancestral land affiliated with the Ohlone or Costanoan group of Native Americans. 

The town’s GPU includes goals and policies for preserving and protecting TCRs. Specifically, these 

measures include requesting information and tribal contacts from the NAHC, as well as outreach and 

consultation. Compliance with the goals and policies in the town’s GPU related to TCRs will be necessary 

for its implementation and to demonstrate that the project includes adequate measures to mitigate 

potentially significant impacts to resources in accordance with CEQA and AB 52. Mitigation Measures 

CUL-1 and CUL-3 will apply to the identification of tribal cultural resources inadvertently discovered 

during construction activities. Following the town’s request for information from tribal representatives 

with regard to the GPU, there are no known TCRs within the GPU Planning Area, and thus a direct affect 

to known TCRs would not occur; however, past development within the regional San Francisco Bay tribal 

affiliated areas has caused undeveloped land to convert to urban land uses over time, thereby changing the 

landscape and context in which TCRs exist and resulting in their overall reduction. Future development of 

currently undeveloped land could contribute to further reduction of unknown or previously unrecorded 

TCRs in the San Francisco Bay region and cumulative effects could be cumulatively significant and 

unavoidable. 

Human Remains 

The San Francisco Bay region provides the geographic context for cumulative impacts analysis of human 

remains. The numerous archaeological sites in the San Francisco Bay region indicate that prehistoric early 

human occupation occurred throughout. Additionally, historic-era occupation of the area increases the 

possibility that humans could be interred outside formal cemeteries. Cumulative development projects 

could encounter unknown, interred human remains during construction activities, which would result in 

a significant cumulative impact. Unidentified human remains, whether as part of a prehistoric burial, an 

archaeological site, or an isolated occurrence, could be present below the ground surface. Mitigation 

Measures CUL-1 and CUL-4, which include compliance with Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5 and 

PRC Section 5097.98, apply to the identification of human remains inadvertently discovered during 

construction activities. These measures would provide an opportunity to minimize disturbance and 

appropriately treat human remains discovered. These measures would reduce the impacts of inadvertent 

discoveries of human remains to a less than significant level. Therefore, the proposed project would have 

a less than cumulatively considerable impact to human remains. 

SECTION 4.5 Energy 

The California Energy Commission oversees the achievement of the State’s ambitious climate and energy 

goals and ensures that the State’s energy systems remain accessible, reliable, safe and affordable through 

planning and policy implementation. Therefore, the cumulative area of analysis for energy impacts is the 

State of California.  



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

The implementation of the GPU could result in the addition of 765 people, 328 housing units and 1,028,500 

square feet of commercial and office developments. The addition of population and buildings has the 

potential to have an adverse impact on the environment by using more energy. However, California is 

transitioning its electricity system to one that relies increasingly on clean energy sources and increasing 

energy efficiency through building code updates. The 2019 Building Energy Efficiency Standards improve 

upon the 2016 Energy Standards for new construction of, and additions and alterations to, residential and 

nonresidential buildings. In addition, the population and anticipated growth in the town of Colma is small 

in comparison to the growth in San Mateo County and the state of California. Therefore, the impact to 

energy is less than cumulatively considerable. 

SECTION 4.6 Geology 

The cumulative area for geology impacts is the Planning Area as well as surrounding jurisdictions. 

Potential infill projects within the town and any future development projects with the Bay Area has the 

potential to bring additional people and structures to this area. There is always a chance that a fault located 

anywhere in the cumulative area could rupture and impact the town. The relative risk to safety from 

potential ground shaking within San Mateo County varies by location, geologic conditions and the source 

of the triggering event. Additionally, construction, grading, excavation, removal of vegetation and loading 

activities could temporarily increase runoff, erosion, and sedimentation.  

While cumulative impacts to geology and soils may occur in the region as individual projects are 

constructed, the town’s General Plan policies and programs, along with state and federal regulations, 

reduce the risk to people in the region. Considering the programs and policies from the proposed General 

Plan Update and state and federal regulations, the overall impact of the proposed General Plan Update to 

geology and soils would be less than significant and the project’s cumulative contribution to geology and 

soils impacts would be less than cumulatively considerable. 

SECTION 4.7 Greenhouse Gas Emissions  

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GHG emissions) have the potential to adversely affect the environment 

because, on a cumulative basis, they contribute to global climate change. In turn, global climate change has 

the potential to result in rising sea levels, which can inundate low-lying areas; affect rain and snow fall, 

leading to changes in water supply; and affect habitat, leading to adverse effects on biological and other 

resources. Since GHG emissions come from many different sources in both current and expected future 

activities in a growing community, identification and reduction of GHG emissions is an important 

consideration in long-range planning efforts.   

The town of Colma has updated its Climate Action Plan (CAP) so as to strive for reductions in GHGs  over 

the 20 year horizon of the 2040 GPU. The town’s updated CAP provides guidance to the town’s future 

development/redevelopment and includes guidance for new development so as to attempt to reduce any 

future project’s contribution to climate change. As discussed under Impact 4.7.1, implementation of the 

proposed project would result in a small, 1 percent increase in GHG emissions in horizon year 2040 from 

existing baseline and would not meet the long-term GHG reduction goal under Executive Order S-03-05. 

Implementation of Mitigation Measure GHG-1 would ensure that the town is tracking and monitoring the 

town’s GHG emissions in order to chart a trajectory to achieve the long-term year 2050 GHG reduction goal 

set by Executive Order S-03-05. It should be noted though that no one single emitter of GHGs is solely 

capable of triggering global climate change on its own. Therefore, the incremental addition to cumulative 

global GHG impacts of the proposed 2040 GPU buildout would be significant and unavoidable.  

 



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SECTION 4.8 Hazards 

The land use policies in the proposed town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update would provide direction 

for growth within the town limits, while the San Mateo County General Plan policies provides direction 

for growth outside the town limits, but within the Planning Area boundaries.  Thus, the cumulative area 

for hazard impacts is the Planning Area as well as surrounding jurisdictions. 

Development in the region identified in Section 4.0 would change the intensity of land uses in the town. In 

particular, the implementation of the 2040 General Plan Update would provide additional housing, 

employment, shopping, and recreational opportunities. Growth in the town could lead to increased   noise, 

risk of flooding, risk of fire, and transport of hazardous materials on the state highways and interstates as 

well as that also serve the town.  In addition, development elsewhere in the region could have a greater 

effect on the transport and accidental release of hazardous materials.   

However, considering the town’s General Plan Update policies and programs, and state and federal 

regulations to reduce impacts related to hazards and the transport of hazardous materials as discussed in 

Section 4.8, the overall impact would be less than significant and the project’s contribution to cumulative 

hazards and human health impacts would be less than cumulatively considerable. 

SECTION 4.9 Hydrology 

All of the surface drainage in the town of Colma’s boundaries ultimately flows into Colma Creek, through 

the city of South San Francisco, and out into the San Francisco Bay. Therefore, the cumulative area of 

hydrology impacts is the Colma Creek watershed and San Francisco Bay. While the town of Colma is 

limited in its land area for future development, future development is anticipated to utilize infill and 

underutilized sites at higher densities and intensities for both residential and commercial projects. The 

implementation of the 2040 GPU may also increase construction that results in runoff and the introduction 

of additional pollutants to runoff.  These future development/redevelopment projects have the potential to 

impact groundwater recharge, impact water quality and alter drainage patterns, among others. However, 

future developments are required to include stormwater treatment measures that would retain and treat 

runoff if 5,000 square feet or greater, of land area is affected. This improves water quality by removing 

pollutants, allows for ground water recharge opportunities on developed sites and mitigates the impact of 

development on vacant sites. In addition, any future development/redevelopment project in the town 

would be required by the San Mateo Countywide Water Pollution Prevention Program (SMCWPP) to 

comply with the NPDES Stormwater Discharge Permit, all local stormwater permit requirements. 

Compliance with water quality regulations, including the implementation of best management practices at 

construction sites would prevent erosion and tracking would mitigate construction runoff impacts. 

Therefore, impacts to hydrology would be less than cumulatively considerable. 

SECTION 4.10 Land Use 

The cumulative area for land use impacts is the Planning Area as well as surrounding jurisdictions. 

Typically, a cumulative impact on land use may result from projects that would destroy an established 

community by the construction of new roadways, highways or infrastructure, or plans and policies (in the 

cumulative context) that would conflict with existing plans at a cumulative level. While the 2040 GPU 

would increase land use intensities within the town and anticipated adding more residences and businesses 

within the town boundaries by 2040, the GPU itself does not propose any specific developments. GPU 

policies ensure that new developments and redevelopment projects would be designed to be compatible 

in use and character, are compatible with existing neighborhoods, and comply with zoning regulations. In 

addition GPU policies ensure that the developments are compatible with other adopted land use plans and 

regulations. Therefore, the cumulative impacts to land use are less than cumulatively considerable.   



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SECTION 4.11 Noise  

Ambient noise levels within the town of Colma and its surrounding cities and counties have the potential 

to increase temporarily due to the construction of new development. Thus, the cumulative area for noise 

impacts is the Planning Area as well as surrounding jurisdictions.  

Construction noise impacts typically result from noise generated by the operation of heavy equipment on 

a project site, as well as from trucks arriving to and departing from the site, which would be an intermittent 

source of noise. Typical project construction activities normally include demolition, grading/excavation, 

installation of utilities, and erection of the building. Equipment used in these activities typically include 

bulldozers, excavators, graders, backhoes, concrete trucks, loaders, and heavy-duty trucks. 

Implementation of the town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update has the potential to result in a number 

of future developments and redevelopment within the Planning Area. Construction within the Planning 

Area as well in those jurisdictions around the town, has the potential to expose people and buildings to 

high levels of ground-borne vibration. Although vibration levels from construction activities rarely reach 

the level of causing building damage, construction-related vibration has the potential to cause annoyance 

at nearby sensitive receivers.  The effects of construction vibration vary depending on the intensity of the 

construction activities, local soil type, and distance to/land use type of nearby receptors. Construction 

vibration impacts would occur from the operation of heavy equipment on a project site. In general, site 

work and demolition activities typically generate the highest levels of vibration throughout a construction 

project. 

However, it should be noted that the town is primarily built out and future development would be limited 

to infill sites or as redevelopment on developed but underutilized sites. Buildout of the 2040 GPU, in 

relation to cumulative buildout in the areas surrounding the town would not result in substantial increase 

in noise levels. Therefore, cumulative noise impacts associated with the General Plan Update are less than 

cumulatively considerable. 

SECTION 4.12 Population and Housing 

The cumulative area for population and housing impacts is the Planning Area as well as surrounding 

jurisdictions. The 2040 GPU would increase land use intensities within the town and would add more 

residences within the town boundaries by 2040. Given that population and housing impacts are cumulative 

in nature, and that residents do not always work where they live in the regional area, the general region 

surrounding the town, including all of San Mateo County and parts of the city and county of San Francisco, 

Santa Clara County, and Alameda County must be considered when evaluating cumulative land use 

impacts. Population growth is not, in itself, an environmental impact; however, the direct and indirect 

effects related to population growth can lead to physical environmental effects.

While the GPU has the potential to increase the intensity of land uses in the town and increase the potential 

growth of the town, the 2040 GPU in itself are not expected to induce substantial population growth in a 

cumulative context. GPU policies also encourage mixed use developments and developments around 

transit-oriented corridors, mitigating some of the impacts of growth. In addition, GPU policies ensure that 

land uses are compatible with each other and are consistent with zoning, resulting in compatible 

communities. Therefore, the cumulative impacts to population growth are less than cumulatively 

considerable.  

  



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SECTION 4.13 Public Services and Recreation 

The cumulative area for impacts to public services and recreation is the Planning Area as well as 

surrounding jurisdictions. The proposed town of Colma’s 2040 General Plan Update has the potential add 

765 people, 328 housing units and 1,028,500 square feet of commercial and office developments, that may 

require more public resources. The town estimated that two additional police officers would be required 

under the GPU Buildout; the number of firefighters is more difficult to estimate since the town operates 

solely on  volunteer fire fighting resources. The town’s existing fire protection and emergency medical 

services, police services, and recreation services primarily serve the town but people outside of the town 

could also use those resources, therefore the project area and the surrounding areas of unincorporated San 

Mateo County, Daly City, and South San Francisco should be considered for the purpose of evaluating 

impacts related to public services and recreation. 

In regard to fire protection, police and emergency medical services, the proposed GPU does not identify 

the location of any new stations within the town’s boundaries to expand existing services. Should the future 

residential and commercial uses in the town of Colma require additional fire protection, police, or medical 

services, these would be addressed in the appropriate project-level environmental document prepared at 

that time.  

Any increases in the town’s future population could increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional 

parks and recreational facilities. Since the town is limited on space to add new public park and/or 

recreational facilities, the creation of such additional recreational facilities would be a challenge to the town. 

The town is however committed to providing public park and recreation facilities that meet the needs of 

its residents. This commitment may require the town to creatively utilize its existing facilities or to enter 

into development agreements with neighboring jurisdictions to allow for the creation and maintenance of 

walkways, trails and bike facilities. The construction (or expansion of existing recreational facilities) would 

be subject to its own environmental review pursuant to CEQA and State law.  

While the potential growth at buildout would impact existing resources and services, policies in the 

proposed GPU would ensure that public services are funded to continue to provide services to the town. 

Therefore, the cumulative impact to Public Services and Recreation is less than cumulatively considerable. 

SECTION 4.14 Transportation 

As discussed in Section 4.14, the transportation analysis assesses impacts between No Project (Current 

General Plan) and Cumulative (2040) Plus Plan (Proposed General Plan Update) to determine if the 

implementation of the GPU would result in a cumulative increase in VMT and congestion. In addition, 

impacts to emergency access are reviewed on the same level. Therefore, the cumulative area for 

transportation impacts is the regional transportation system.  

As noted in Impact Statements 4.14.2, 4.14.2 and 4.14.3, the implementation of the GPU would increase 

VMT per person and congestion over No Project Conditions. However, implementation of GPU policies 

would mitigate the impacts to these areas and therefore, impacts to transportation are less than 

cumulatively considerable. 

  



5.0   CEQA REQUIRED TOPICS 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 5.0-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

SECTION 4.15 Utilities  

Under buildout conditions, additional development allowed by the proposed 2040 GPU would increase 

demand for water, wastewater conveyance, solid waste disposal, energy and telecommunications facilities. 

As described Section 4.15, each utility covers different areas and therefore varies in terms of area of 

cumulative impact. Therefore, the cumulative area for impacts to utilities is the service areas of the Cal 

Water South San Francisco Bayshore Water District (water supply), North San Mateo County Sanitation 

District Treatment Plant and South San Francisco Water Quality Control Plant (wastewater treatment), 

Pacific Gas and Electric and Peninsula Clean Energy (energy) and Ox Mountain Landfill. 

The increased development and population allowed by the proposed GPU would increase the demand of 

each resource and impact each of the utilities. However, as discussed in Section 4.15, proposed GPU policies 

are included to ensure that utility supplies are adequate and have a mechanism for expansion when 

needed. Therefore, the impacts to utilities are less than cumulatively considerable.   

SECTION 4.16 Wildfires 

The town is built out and does not include any fire hazard severity zones within the boundaries. However, 

directly east of the town boundaries, lands that include San Bruno Mountain are classified as very high fire 

hazard severity zones. Therefore, the cumulative area for wildfire impacts is the Planning Area as well as 

surrounding jurisdictions. 

As discussed in Section 4.16, future developments would only nominally increase the demand for fire 

protection in the town due to the small geography of the planning area, the fact that there is no fire hazard 

severity zone in the town, and the regulations that new development and redevelopment projects are 

required to meet. Therefore, the impacts to wildfires are less than cumulatively considerable. 

 

 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-1 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

6.1 CEQA REQUIREMENTS 

The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) mandates that an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) 

analyze alternatives to the proposed Project.  The intent of this is such that the range of alternatives under 

consideration addresses most of the basic objectives of the Project and evaluates the comparative merits of 

the alternatives (State CEQA Guidelines, Section §15126.6[a]). An EIR does not need to consider every 

conceivable alternative to a project, nor is it required to consider any infeasible alternatives. Rather, the 

document should only focus on those alternatives that are capable of avoiding or substantially lessening 

any significant effects of the project (CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6[b]). 

According to the State CEQA Guidelines, an EIR need only examine a range of alternatives that could 

feasibly meet most of the basic objectives of the project. Therefore the range of alternative “shall include 

those that could feasibly accomplish most of the basic objectives of the project and could avoid or 

substantially lessen one or more of the significant effects” (CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6(c ). However, 

not all possible alternatives need to be analyzed. An EIR must “set forth only those alternatives necessary 

to permit a reasoned choice.” CEQA Guidelines, Section §15126.6(f).) The CEQA Guidelines provide a 

definition for a “range of reasonable alternatives” and, thus limit the number and type of alternatives that 

need to be evaluated in an EIR.  

 

The State CEQA Guidelines also specify that though the alternatives discussion should not be remote and 

speculative, it does not require the discussion to be presented in the same level of detail as the evaluation 

of environmental impacts from the proposed project. This is particularly relevant for general plans and 

other program EIRs than for project level EIRs. Though the impacts of the alternatives may be discussed 

“in less detail than the significant effects of the project proposed” (CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6(d)), 

the CEQA Guidelines do require the analysis to identify the environmentally superior alternative. Further, 

the analysis must also include an analysis of the No Project alternative so that the Lead Agency may 

compare the impacts of approving the project versus not approving it. 

 

6.2 ALTERNATIVES UNDER CONSIDERATION 

In accordance with the provisions of State CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6, the following alternatives to 

the proposed project were evaluated. This section describes and evaluates two alternatives, the Residential 

Focused (RF) Alternative and the No Project Alternative and compares them to the proposed 2040 General 

Plan Update.  

In accordance with the provisions of State CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6, the following alternatives to 

the proposed project were evaluated. These alternatives were compared to the proposed project and its 

significant environmental impacts identified in Sections 4.1 through 4.16. 

• Alternative 1 – No Project Alternative 

• Alternative 2 – Residential Focused Alternative 

Alternative 1: No Project Alternative 

CEQA, through case law, requires that the “no project” alternatives be evaluated so as to allow the Lead 

Agency to compare the potential impacts of approving the project versus not approving it. Under State 

CEQA Guidelines §15126.6(e)(2), “the No Project Alternative shall discuss the existing conditions at the 

time the notice of preparation is published…as well as what would be reasonably expected to occur in the 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-2 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

foreseeable future if the project were not approved, based on current plans and consistent with available 

infrastructure and community services.” 

 

The No Project analysis discusses both the existing conditions at the time the NOP is published as well as 

what would be reasonably expected to occur in the foreseeable future if the project were not approved. 

Therefore under Alternative 1, the town would continue to implement the current (1999) General Plan, 

with no Climate Action Plan (CAP) in effect and with no changes made to update any of the  Land Use, 

Open Space, Conservation, Noise, Circulation and Historical Resources Elements or the Land Use Map. It 

assumes that the existing General Plan would continue to guide development in the Planning Area, without 

directly resulting in new development. In the case of this alternative, the proposed 2040 General Plan 

Update would not be approved and the existing 1999 Town of Colma General Plan, would continue as the 

primary guiding document for growth and development within the town.  

The 1999 General Plan Planning Area includes a total of 1225 acres and is the same as the town boundary 

and its sphere of influence (SOI). Buildout of the existing 1999 General Plan or No Project Alternative would 

result in approximately 680 housing units, a population of 2,310, and a total of 4,315 jobs within the 

Planning Area, expected to occur by year 2040 Table 6.0-1: Comparison of Alternatives at Buildout. In 

comparison, the proposed 2040 General Plan Update would increase the population to approximately 2,854 

and housing units to 845. In relation to the proposed 2040 GPU, the No Project Alternative:  

• Has different land uses— both in mix and location; 

• Has lower allowable land use densities/intensities; 

• Prohibits residential development in various commercially zoned areas; 

• Does not promote mixed-use development to the same extent as in the Proposed Project; 

• Does not have a Medium Density Residential land use designation. Medium Density land uses 

such as multifamily developments are allowed on properties with a Commercial designation; 

• Has reduced alternate modes of transportation. 

Table 6.0-1 Comparison of Alternatives at Buildout 

 Existing (2019) Proposed  

General Plan 

Alternative 1: 

No Project 

Alternative 2: 

Residential Focused  

Housing Units 450 845 680 893 

Households 434 815 660 862 

Population 1,512 2,852 2,310 3,017 

Notes: 

1. No Project Housing Units, Households and Population projections are from the 2015 Housing Element. No Project 

Jobs data is from Plan Bay Area 2040 Projections.  

2. Proposed GPU buildout Housing Units were projected by the Colma Planning Department based on opportunity sites 

and developable sites.  

3. The RF Alternative assumes an additional 20% (48) housing units at the Town Center site. 

4. All households are estimated as 96.5% of the total housing units, assuming a 3.5 percent vacancy rate. 

5. All Buildout population was calculated assuming 3.5 persons per household 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-3 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

 

 

 

  



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-4 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

 

  



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-5 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Alternative 2: Residential Focused Alternative 

This alternative provides an increased number of residential units and maintains/decreases future 

commercial land use development that already exist within the town. This alternative assumes that the 

Town Center opportunity site would be developed to include 20% more residential units than the proposed 

General Plan, resulting in 48 additional units. It also assumes that by constructing more residential uses at 

the site, the available space for commercial uses would be further limited at the site. This alternative also 

assumes that more residential development could occur elsewhere on El Camino Real, closer to the Colma 

BART station, and that less residential development may occur at the Town Center site.  

The Residential Focused Alternative and the Proposed Project both emphasize development within the El 

Camino Real Corridor. Both seek to provide new community amenities, improved local and regional 

connectivity, as well as enhanced economic activity. Given the large number of jobs in comparison to the 

town’s population, this alternative could potentially lower the total vehicle miles traveled by providing 

housing to those that work in the area.  

 

The Residential Focused Alternative and the Proposed Project are based on similar assumptions of buildout 

of opportunity sites and sites designated with a commercial overlay within the Planning Area. Opportunity 

sites consist of sites that are currently vacant or underutilized. What distinguishes the Residential Focused 

Alternative is its revision of land use density to promote more residential units in the potential mixed-use 

environment around the town center. 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED BUT NOT SELECTED FOR ANALYSIS 

The following alternatives were considered but not selected for analysis:  

Off-Site Alternative 

Off-site alternatives are generally evaluated in an effort to avoid, lessen, or eliminate the significant impacts 

of a project by considering the proposed development in an entirely different location. To be feasible, 

development of off-site locations should satisfy the project’s purpose and meet most of the project’s basic 

objectives. Given the nature of the proposed project (updating the town’s existing General Plan), it would 

not be pertinent or possible to consider an off-site alternative since that would need to include a long-range 

plan for the town; the project site (town of Colma) cannot be relocated since the town’s boundaries are 

already established; and any off-site alternative that considers another location would not meet the basic 

project objectives and future development for the town.  Therefore, an off-site alternative is considered 

infeasible pursuant to State CEQA guidelines §15126.6(c) and is being rejected as a potentially feasible 

project alternative. 

6.3 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS 

As required under State CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6, the discussion below compares each 

alternative with the significant environmental impacts resulting from the proposed project that were 

identified in environmental issue areas in Section 4.0 of this PEIR.  

AESTHETICS 

Differences in aesthetics between the proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative are 

relatively minor and relate to the intensity of the future residential and commercial 

development/redevelopment of infill sites in the town. Compared to the Residential Focused Alternative, 

proposed project (2040 General Plan Update) would allow for increased height and intensified residential 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-6 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

land uses along El Camino Real. The increased height would be allowed at select opportunity sites where 

topography, setbacks, and existing developments would reduce the impacts of the additional height. There 

may be more effects from light and glare under these two alternatives than under the No Project 

Alternative. However, the proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative would essentially 

include policies that would reduce impacts on aesthetics and light and glare issues with new design 

standards and policies.  

The No Project Alternative would result in less development compared to the Residential Focused 

Alternative or the proposed project. Therefore, this alternative will lead to fewer obstructions to views, 

fewer sources of light and glare, and less construction activity. Therefore, while the No Project Alternative 

would result in less development than that under the proposed project or the Residential Focused 

Alternative, it would potentially result in lower quality design or have other aesthetic-related impacts. This 

has the potential to result in greater impacts under the No Project Alternative than under the proposed 

project or even the Residential Focused Alternative. 

AIR QUALITY 

The air quality impacts between the proposed project, No Project Alternative and the Residential Focused 

Alternative, would be similar and the degree of the impact is related to the amount of development and 

population at buildout. Therefore, the Residential Focused Alternative would have the most air quality 

impacts, followed by the proposed project and then the No Project Alternative. It is possible that the 

Residential Focused Alternative as well as the proposed project would have more construction and 

operation under future project and therefore generate more criteria pollutants that could exceed the 

BAAQMD thresholds. However, potential future development associated with the proposed General Plan 

are included in BAAQMD projections, and future development accommodated under the proposed 

General Plan would not hinder BAAQMD thresholds. The Residential Focused Alternative, while 

anticipating slightly more growth and possibly in a geographically different area than under the proposed 

project or No Project Alternative, has not been considered under the BAAQMD‘s growth projections for 

the town or its related air quality impacts. Air quality impacts to current as well as future businesses and 

residences under the No Project Alternative would be similar to those under the proposed project, but less 

than either the Residential Focused Alternative or the proposed project. However, since more residences 

would be constructed under the Residential Focused Alternative than the proposed project or even under 

the No Project Alternative, construction emissions, exposure from TACs, exposure from operational 

emissions and all other related air quality emissions would be greater under the Residential Focused 

Alternative, than under the proposed project or the No Project Alternative.  

BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 

While the Planning Area is mainly developed with urban uses, there are small areas of diversified wildlife 

population within the town. Since the town of Colma is located along the Pacific Flyway, migratory birds 

are often found in the town’s open spaces related to cemetery uses. The proposed project, No Project 

Alternative and Residential Focused Alternative would focus future development on the few vacant and 

underutilized parcels that exist within the town of Colma. While the types of uses and intensity of future 

development would differ between the proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative, the 

impacts to biological resources would be similar as these alternatives would result in approximately the 

same urban footprint. However, the No Project Alternative would result in less development than either 

the Residential Focused Alternative or the proposed project and has the potential to have less impacts to 

biological resources within the town.  



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-7 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

CULTURAL AND TRIBAL RESOURCES 

Cultural resources include buildings of historical importance, registered historic sites, and archaeological 

resources and tribal resources includes site features, places, cultural landscapes, sacred places, or objects 

that are of value to a tribe and is either on or eligible for the California Historic Register or local historic 

register. A previously completed cultural resource studies and the town’s previous Historical Resources 

Element (1999) shows that no previously recorded archaeological resources, Cultural and Tribal resources 

or Native American remains are currently within the town limits. The town does have many historical 

resources (primarily in cemeteries) eligible for designation on the National Register. However, future 

ground disturbing activities associated with construction excavation under the proposed project, as well 

as the No Project alternative and the Residential Focused Alternative, could uncover unknown resources, 

and the potential impacts to cultural and tribal resources would depend on the location and amount of any 

future development. Since the No Project Alternative proposes less development than the proposed project 

or the Residential Focused Alternative, and therefore have a less potential to impact cultural and tribal 

resources.  

ENERGY  

The three scenarios, under the proposed project, the No Project Alternative and the Residential Focused 

Alternative, would increase the amount of development and population in town, which in turn would 

increase the demand for energy use under varying degrees. Compared to the No Project Alternative, the 

proposed GPU and the Residential Focused Alternative proposes more potential development and has the 

most potential to increase the population and demand for energy use and thus could have an adverse 

impact on the environment. Construction of future development, or even redevelopment projects has the 

potential to consume gasoline and diesel during the operation of heavy-duty construction equipment and 

vehicles. However, these would-be temporary consumption of energy, only related to project construction 

under future development projects. Moreover the 2040 GPU policies promote energy efficiency which 

reduces the amount of energy used per capita, and future development/redevelopment under the proposed 

project (2040 GPU) as well as the Residential Focused Alternative would be subject to these same energy 

saving policies and standards. Both the proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative would 

also have to conform to the State of California’s AB 32 Scoping Plan (for Greenhouse Gas emissions) and 

the Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Nonresidential Buildings (Title 24, Part 6) and 

CALgreen Code (Title 24, Part 11). Therefore, the comparative energy and power use under the proposed 

project and the Residential Focused Alternative would be lower than under the No Project Alternative 

conditions.  

While the No Project alternative may use less electricity overall, it would likely result in a higher energy 

use per capita for the reasons above.  Since the No Project Alternative does not consider the sustainability 

plans or programs as under the proposed project or the Residential Focused Alternative, it would have 

greater impacts than the other two alternatives. 

GEOLOGY 

The town of Colma is located along the Serra Fault Zone and is approximately less than a mile east from 

the San Andreas Fault Zone. Therefore, the town has the potential to experience considerable ground 

shaking and rupture, in the event of an earthquake, particularly within the 2040 GPU’s planning horizon.  

The current state and federal engineering and design regulations that minimize seismic and geologic 

impacts apply equally to all future development/redevelopments under the proposed project as well as 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-8 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

Alternative 1 and 2. Since all three of these alternatives have the potential to ultimately bring more people 

and businesses to the area, these future residences and businesses could be potentially exposed to seismic 

impacts from earthquakes and other geologic risks such as ground shaking and ground failure due to 

seismic activity, landslides, and soil expansion. Thus, the No Project Alternative, the proposed project and 

the Residential Focused Alternative all have the potential to expose people and businesses to seismic risks. 

The Residential Focused Alternative, as well as the proposed project have the potential to expose even more 

people to such risks since these propose more residential development, while the No Project Alternative 

would expose the least amount of people and businesses to potential geologic and seismic impacts.  

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 

According to the town’s Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions Inventories, the majority of the town’s GHG 

emissions come from transportation and energy use. Most of the on-road vehicles used for transportation 

burn fossil fuels such as gasoline or diesel which results in GHG emissions. Electric vehicles do not burn 

fossil fuels but GHGs may be emitted elsewhere, depending on the electric power source.. Most of the 

customers in town utilize 100% carbon-free electricity procured by Peninsula Clean Energy. Natural gas 

consumption is the main contributor to GHG emissions from energy use.   

The amount of development or even redevelopment efforts would be greater under the Residential Focused 

Alternative than that under the proposed project or No Project Alternative, and so the GHG impacts from 

the Residential Focused Alternative would likely be greater than those under the proposed project or the 

No Project Alternative. The No Project Alternative would result in less development and overall population 

growth, and therefore, less demand for energy use and transportation. However, the No Project alternative 

would likely result in more emissions per person without updated policies or the town’s compliance with 

the 2030 Climate Action Plan that would apply to the proposed project as well as the Residential Focused 

Alternative. Since the No Project Alternative would not have the same, if any, energy saving and 

conservation measures as those under the proposed project or even under the Residential Focused 

Alternative, its impacts to GHG is greater than those under the proposed project or Residential Focused 

Alternative 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

The proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative anticipate that both infill and underutilized 

sites in the town would be developed, though with varying degrees of residential and commercial uses. 

While these alternatives may facilitate more development than the No Project alternative, the town is 

generally built out and there are few industrial sites within the town boundaries. Future development 

would be restricted to higher density uses in limited areas of the town; and both the proposed project and 

the Residential Focused Alternative envisions more mixed-use development, particularly more residential 

development than the No Project Alternative. Such future development has the potential to increase 

exposure to possible hazardous materials, particularly as the town does have two open hazardous sites 

within its boundaries, one of which is the closed landfill (see Figure 4.8-1). In general, impacts with regard 

to hazardous materials come in the form of development near existing land uses that handle hazardous 

materials, areas where hazardous materials are stored or transported or by redeveloping contaminated 

sites. Even though growth in the town under the proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative 

would be greater than that anticipated under the No Project Alternative, any new 

development/redevelopment activities within the town of Colma would be required to follow the 

California Hazardous Waste Control Law, the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Act, other legislation as well 

as the 2040 GPU policies to lessen impacts from hazardous substances. .  

 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-9 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

HYDROLOGY 

Urban development/redevelopment has the potential to increase impervious surfaces that could lead to 

increased runoff rates, water pollutants, flooding, and decreased groundwater recharge. Since the 

proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative encourage more future 

development/redevelopment activities than under the No Project Alternative, these future development 

efforts would be in infill areas of the town, impacts to the town’s hydrology would be limited. Though the 

No Project Alternative would result in the least amount of future development and therefore impact less 

amounts of impervious surfaces than the Residential Focused Alternative or the proposed project, all future 

construction activities would have to comply with the NPDES stormwater permits. Also, the proposed 

project and the Residential Focused Alternative would have to adhere to the 2040 GPU policies that 

encourage the incorporation of green infrastructure in site designs, manage runoff, and comply with water 

quality regulations. With green infrastructure, new developments would be designed to capture, treat, and 

retain runoff while promoting infiltration.  Even though the 2040 GPU policies would not be in place to 

benefit new developments under the No Project Alternative, all new development is still required to 

comply with green infrastructure requirements. The No Project Alternative would result in less 

development thereby resulting in less of an overall impact to hydrology and flooding than the proposed 

project or the Residential Focused Alternative.  

LAND USE AND PLANNING  

Generally, the proposed GPU, RF Alternative and No Project Alternative are consistent in land use patterns, 

outside of a few minor land use designation changes. However, as with the proposed project, the 

Residential Focused Alternative, if adopted, would become the Planning Area’s new guiding policy 

document for future land use planning as well as residential and commercial development.  

The proposed 2040 GPU (proposed project) and the Residential Focused Alternative differ in the amount 

of residential and non-residential development assumed at buildout in the year 2040. The proposed project 

would result in more commercial development and less housing units compared to the Residential Focused 

Alternative, but more residential and non-residential development than the No Project Alternative. Table 

6.0-1 shows a comparison of housing units and population at full buildout of the proposed project, the No 

Project Alternative, and the Residential Focused Alternative. The proposed project and the Residential 

Focused Alternative would focus more on infill development and redevelopment of sites along El Camino 

Real, in order to encourage additional mixed-use housing opportunities at all income levels, while the No 

Project Alternative would continue existing trends with housing and commercial development within the 

town. While all three scenarios allow for more development and housing, the proposed project and the 

Residential Focused Alternative increases land use intensities and allows for more housing units and 

population growth. The proposed project results in 845 housing units compared to 887 in the Residential 

Focused Alternative and 680 in the No Project Alternative at buildout in 2040. The scale of future housing 

development is far below that under the proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative. 

Therefore, the No Project Alternative has the least impacts from future growth and land use planning than 

either the No Project Alternative or the Residential Focused Alternative.  

NOISE   

The proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative would result in increased land use intensity, 

and potentially more redevelopment of existing properties than under the No Project Alternative. 

However, the proposed project, the No Project Alternative and the Residential Focused Alternative would 

result in similar short-term noise impacts, particularly with short-term construction noise levels and on 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-10 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

longer activity days since the type of activities (excavation, removal of site debris, building construction 

etc.). It should be noted that the duration of construction noise under the No Project Alternative would be 

different and potentially less than that under the proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative 

since the No Project Alternative would involve less development activities. Conversely, due to its greater 

development targets, construction noise impacts under the Residential Focused Alternative would be 

greater than those under Alternative 1 or even the proposed project.  

Roadway noise is the largest contributor to noise impacts in the town and all three scenarios would increase 

existing traffic and thus ambient noise levels between now and buildout in 2040. Though these future 

increase in noise levels within the town are significant and unavoidable due to potential future growth in 

the town, the No Project Alternative would still result in less impacts than the proposed project or the 

Residential Focused Alternative. Since the No Project Alternative proposes less development than the 

proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative, it will result in less increases in overall 

operational noise levels in the town than the proposed project or the Residential Focused Alternative. 

However, the Residential Focused Alternative would generate increased residential and commercial 

activity than under the No Project Alternative or proposed project. Therefore, operational noise levels 

under the Residential Focused Alternative would be greater than that under the proposed project and the 

No Project Alternative.  

The impacts on stationary noise sources for the proposed project, the No Project Alternative, and the 

Residential Focused Alternative would be similar to each other since the proposed 

development/redevelopment of the town under any of the alternatives would not be significantly different 

between the alternatives.  Construction activities and equipment used for both the Alternatives as well as 

the proposed project would result in similar vibration impacts. However, since the Residential Focused 

Alternative would involve more construction activities due to its overall development efforts, the duration 

of vibration impacts due to construction would be slightly greater under the Residential Focused 

Alternative than the proposed project or No Project Alternative. 

PUBLIC SERVICES AND RECREATION 

Development under the proposed project, the No Project Alternative, and the Residential Focused 

Alternative would require additional public services and park areas. Other services such as police, fire, and 

emergency services would be required to be expanded to accommodate additional population growth. 

While the greatest growth in these services would be from the proposed project and the Residential Focused 

Alternative, the impacts of such service expansion would be greater than those for the No Project 

Alternative. Since the No Project Alternative would have the least population growth, it would have the 

least impact related to public services and recreation facilities. 

TRANSPORTATION 

The proposed project as well as the Residential Focused Alternative would encourage better connectivity 

between all means of transportation (such as walking, biking, use of public transportation) and thus 

increased demand for these services more than the No Project Alternative. Similarly, the proposed project 

and the Residential Focused Alternative would have better safety and roadway hazard improvements as 

well as emergency access components than under the No Project Alternative.  

It should be noted that the No Project Alternative only characterizes future buildout under the town’s 

existing 1999 General Plan and does not include any of the local transportation network improvements that 

would be undertaken under the proposed project or the Residential Focused Alternative. The proposed 

project as well as the Residential Focused Alternative would significantly generate more home-based VMT 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-11 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

than the No Project Alternative, due to the increased projected number of residents in the town and these 

residents needing to travel further for employment opportunities and other related uses. Since both the 

proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative would result in greater development in the town 

center and the El Camino Real, these would have greater impacts on existing roadway operational 

deficiencies than the No Project Alternative.  

UTILITIES 

The proposed project, the No Project Alternative and the Residential Focused Alternative would require 

utilities and infrastructure, including water sewer electricity and landfill capacity. The demand on utilities 

and service systems is contingent on the amount of future growth. The proposed GPU, and the Residential 

Focused Alternative proposes similar types of development at buildout and is expected to demand a similar 

amount of resources from the utilities. Since the Residential Focused Alternative would result in more 

population growth than that under the proposed project and the No Project, it is possible that additional 

infrastructure may be needed under this alternative than that under No Project Alternative or the proposed 

project. However, it is possible that any needed utility infrastructure upgrades will be of a similar size and 

extent to that for the proposed project, since development will occur at magnitudes comparable to the 

proposed project, and at locations similar to the proposed project. 

The proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative would result in higher population and 

commercial use, and thus have higher impacts to utility facilities at buildout. The No Project Alternative 

would result in less development and therefore lower population and jobs at buildout and thus the least 

impacts to public utilities such as water, sewer, electricity, and landfill capacity.  

WILDFIRE 

Wildfire impacts could affect the town under the proposed project, No Project Alternative and the 

Residential Focused Alternative. The town of Colma is limited in its land area for future development 

which can only be focused on limited residential as well as commercial development/redevelopment on 

existing sites within the town. As new development occurs and existing structures are replaced with 

buildings built under more modern building codes, fire safety will increase. Moreover, any new 

construction would be required to comply with the town’s Local Hazard Mitigation Plan as well as any 

criteria under the County of San Mateo’s Emergency Operations Services. Since both the Residential 

Focused Alternative and the proposed project (2040 GPU) would result in greater  residential and 

commercial activities than under the No Project Alternative, impacts could potentially be greater under the 

proposed project and the Residential Focused Alternative than under the No Project Alternative. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-12 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

6.4 ENVIRONMENTALLY SUPERIOR ALTERNATIVE 

CEQA Guideline require that an environmentally superior alternative be identified among a range of  

reasonable alternatives that are analyzed in the EIR. If the No Project Alternative is the environmentally 

superior alternative, then the EIR must also identify another environmentally superior alternative among 

the other alternatives (CEQA Guidelines Section §15126.6(e)(2)). The environmentally superior alternative 

is that alternative with the least adverse environmental impacts when compared to the proposed project.  

Table 6.0-2: Comparison of Proposed Project Impacts to Alternative Impacts, illustrates the comparison 

of the relative impacts by resource topic area, between the proposed project (2040 General Plan Update), 

Alternative 1 (No Project), and Alternative 2 (Residential Focused Alternative).  

 

Table 6.0-2: Comparison of Proposed Project Impacts Relative to Alternative Impacts 

Impact Area Proposed Project Impact 

Impact of Alternative Related 

to the Proposed Project 

No Project Res. Focused 

Aesthetics Less than Significant  Greater Similar 

Air Quality From Less than Significant to Significant 

and Unavoidable 

Less Greater 

Biological Resources From No Impact to Less than Significant Less Similar 

Cultural and Tribal 

Resources 

Significant and Unavoidable Less Similar 

Energy Less than Significant Greater Similar 

Geology From No Impact to Less than Significant Less Greater 

Greenhouse Gas 

Emissions 

From Less than Significant to Significant 

and Unavoidable 

Greater Similar 

Hazardous Materials From No Impact to Less than Significant Less Similar 

Hydrology From No Impact to Less than Significant Less Similar 

Land Use and Planning Less than Significant Less Greater 

Noise From No Impact to Less than Significant Less Similar 

Population and Housing Less than Significant Less Similar 

Public Services and 

Recreation 

Less than Significant Less Greater 

Transportation Less than Significant Less Greater 

Utilities Less than Significant Less Greater 

Wildfire From No Impact to Less than Significant Less Similar 



6.0   PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc 6.0-13 Town of Colma General Plan Update 
December 2021  Environmental Impact Report 

 

The No Project Alternative reduces impacts in most areas, including air quality, which has a significant 

impact under the Proposed Project. On the other hand, the No Project Alternative has impacts that are 

greater than the Proposed Project with respect to aesthetics, energy, and greenhouse gas emissions. Most 

notable is the area of greenhouse gas emissions, where the implementation of a new 2030 Climate Action 

Plan could reduce greenhouse gas emissions within the town. The No Project Alternative is still 

environmentally superior, as impacts are reduced in more topical areas than they are increased.  

The Residential Focused Alternative would support additional housing, which would result in a more 

balanced jobs/housing ratio in the town. However, the environmental impacts of the additional 

development and population results in similar or greater impacts in every area. Therefore, the Residential 

Focused Alternative is worse than the proposed project in terms of environmental impacts. 

Based on a comparison of the alternatives’ overall environmental impacts and their compatibility with 

proposed project, the No Project Alternative would be the environmentally superior alternative for this 

Program EIR. This conclusion is based on the amount and intensity of overall development which under 

the No Project Alternative would be less than the Residential Focused Alternative and the Proposed Project, 

and most environmental impacts are correlated with development intensity and quantity.  

 



Appendix A 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc  Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Draft Environmental Impact Report 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Notice of Determination and Response 
Letters 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A contains the Notice of Determination and Notice of Completion, posted by the Lead Agency on June 3, 
2020; the mailing list of all agencies, organizations, and individuals that received the Notice of Determination, and all 

response letters that the Lead Agency received. 

 

 



TOWN OF COLMA 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

1198 El Camino Real • Colma, California 94014 

Phone: (650) 757-8888 • FAX: (650) 757-8890 

NOTICE OF PREPARATION (NOP) 

DRAFT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT FOR THE TOWN OF COLMA 

Date: June 3, 2020 

To: Responsible Agencies, Organizations and Interested Parties 

Subject: Notice of Preparation for a Draft Environmental Impact Report for the Town 
of Colma 2040 General Plan Update 

Project Title: 2040 General Plan Update 

Lead Agency: Town of Colma 

Project Location: Colma, San Mateo County 

Main Contact: Michael P. Laughlin, AICP, City Planner 

The Town of Colma is commencing its preparation of a Draft Program-level Environmental 
Impact Report (EIR) for the 2040 General Plan Update and has released this Notice of Preparation 
(NOP), in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), CEQA Guidelines, 
and local implementation procedures. In compliance with CEQA, the Town of Colma (Town) will 
be the Lead Agency and will prepare the EIR. Attached are the project descriptions, location 
maps, and identification of the potential environmental issues to be explored. 

The Town requests your input regarding the scope and content of environmental analysis that is 
relevant to your respective agency's statutory/ regulatory responsibilities in order to ascertain 
potential environmental impacts of the proposed Project. Information gathered during the NOP 
comment period will be used to shape and focus the environmental impact analyses. 

Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines §15082 (b), you have 30 days from the date of receipt of this NOP 
to respond. Please send your comments by the earliest possible date, but no later than 5:00 P.M. 
July 13th, 2020. Please send your responses to: 

Ms. Anna Chaudhuri 
Town of Colma Planning Department 
1198 El Camino Real, Colma, CA 94014 
annac@csgengr.com 

Public Review Period: June 9, 2020 to July 13th, 2020 

" -.)ovemors Office of Planning & Research 

JUN 03 2020 

STATE CLEARIN~HOUSE 

A_sco-ping meeting wilLhe-conducted a-t-Z:00 p.m. OJ"l-Wedn@£day, Ju-ng__24, 202-Q, to-GolleGt-Gral- - - 
comments from agencies and the public. The meeting will occur virtually, and details will be 
posted on the Town's website: Colma.ca.gov at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 



PROJECT LOCATION: 

As required by CEQA Guidelines, the Colma General Plan EIR will identify the potential 
environmental impacts associated with implementation of the General Plan update. This analysis 
will assess and, if necessary, include measures to mitigate potential impacts related to CEQA
required topics. These topics are: aesthetics; air quality; agricultural and forest resources; 
biological resources; cultural resources; energy, geology and soils; greenhouse gases; hazards and 
hazardous materials; hydrology; land use and planning; noise; population and housing; public 
services; h·ansportation; h·ibal cultural resources; utilities; and wildfires. The Town of Colma, as 
the Lead Agency has determined mineral resources and recreation to have no impacts. 

The Town of Colma is a small incorporated town in San Mateo County, California, on the San 
Francisco Peninsula (see Figure 1). The Town of Colma is located in northern San Mateo County 
and is surrounded by the cities of Daly City to the north and South San Francisco to the south. To 
the east lies the San Bruno Mountain State Park, and along the western border of the Town lies 
the junction of Highway 1 and Interstate 280. El Camino Real, or State Route 82, runs north-south 
through the middle of town, and BART runs underground and roughly parallel to the El Camino 
Real corridor. 

The 2040 General Plan Planning Area is composed of approximately a total area of 1.9 square 
miles (see Figure 2). The 2010 United States Census reported that the Town had a population of 
1,792. The population density was 938.6 people per square mile. The Town's 17 cemeteries 
comprise approximately 73% of the town 1s land area. Within the Town of Colma boundary, the 
ground elevation ranges from about 100 feet to about 500 feet above Mean Sea Level. Colma also 
includes approximately 1.89 square miles of a wide valley associated with Colma Creek. Most of 
the land east of El Camino Real is committed to cemetery use or agricultural fields. Land west of 
El Camino Real is oriented more to commercial uses although the Town's regionally oriented 
commercial core is bracketed on the north and south by cemeteries. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

The Town of Colma General Plan articulates the long-term shared community vision for the 
preservation, enhancement and improvement of the Town. It is a long-range plan that directs 
decision making. and establishes rules and standards for town improvements and new 
development. It reflects the community's vision for the future and is intended to provide 
direction through the year 2040. The last General Plan Update was in 1999. The housing element 
was updated in 2015 and will not be a part of the current General Plan update. The 2040 General 
Plan update will provide the context to effectively plan and manage the Town of Colma based on 
an updated set of goals, policies, and implementation programs that reflect the values and 
aspirations for the future expressed by the community. Additionally, the update will equip the 
Town of Colma with a policy framework to responsibly manage future projects and have the 
capacity to accommodate the growth and development anticipated to occur in the Town for the 

- - -

next 20 years. 



As required by CA Government Code section 65302, the General Plan will cover the seven 
mandated elements. However, for the Town of Colma General Plan Update these include: Land 
Use, Circulation/Transportation (Mobility), Housing, Natural Resources/Conservation, Hazards 
and Safety. In addition to these elements, Colma has chosen to prepare a Historic Resources 
Element due to most of the Town's land use being reserved for cemetery uses. This element will 
provide an information base of existing historic resources as well as provide policy direction for 
the preservation of the Town of Colma' s historic cultural resources. 

These elements will establish policy direction for the Town, relating to: 

• The use and development of all remaining land within the Town of Colma 

• The types and provision of housing growth in the community 
• The protection and continued use and expansion of cemetery land uses 
• The growth of existing businesses as well as the attraction of new commercial ventures 
• The provision of public safety services and protection against natural and human caused 

hazards (including noise) 

The 2040 General Plan update identifies and prioritizes opportunities to preserve the character of 
the community, conserve natural resources, and direct land use policies that enable sustainable 
growth and employment opportunities in Colma. 

As part of the alternatives process for the General Plan update, the Town evaluated the change 
in land use type and development intensity that may result in environmental impacts. These 
changes are described as follows: 

• Change in permitted land use and intensity for the "Town Center Site" located at the 
southwest corner of Serramonte Boulevard and El Camino Real 

• Change in permitted land use and intensity for undeveloped lands on the east side of 
Hillside Boulevard 

• Change in permitted land use and intensity for properties which may redevelop along the 
Serramonte Boulevard corridor 

• Change in intensity for specific in-fill development opportunity sites 
• Change in land use policies which would allow for housing in specific areas of the Town 

where housing has not been permitted before 

It is anticipated that these potential changes in land use and intensity or density would be a 
primary change in the General Plan that may result in environmental impacts. The Proposed 
Land Use Map is shown in Figure 3. At buildout under the draft General Plan, the Town 
anticipates the following: 

• Residential Units: 328 units 

• Commercial Building Square Footage: 993,500 
-~•- Office_B_uilding_Sq_uare_Enotage: 35-,H00 _ _ 



POTENTIAL ENVIRONMENT AL IMP ACTS TO BE CONSIDERED: · 

A Draft Program-level Environmental Impact Report (EIR) will be prepared in conjunction with 
the 2040 General Plan Update. A program-level EIR generally looks at the broad policy of a 
planning document, i.e., a general · plan, and will analyze the potential environmental 
consequence of adopting the proposed 2040 General Plan Update Colma General Plan 2040. It 
may will not address potential project specific site-specific impacts of the any individual projects 
that may fall within the planning document.be approved by the City Council. 

The general plan update EIR anticipates potential significant environmental effect concerning the 
following environmental issues: 

• Aesthetics • Land Use/ Planning 

• Agriculture/ Forestry Resources • Noise 

• Biological Resources • Population/ Housing 

• Air Quality • Public Services 

• Cultural Resources • Transportation 

• Energy • Tribal Cultural Resources 

• Geology and Soils • Utilities 

• Greenhouse Gas Emissions • Wildfire 

• Hydrology 

The GPU Draft PEIR does not anticipate potential significant environmental effect concerning the 
following environmental issues: 

• Mineral Resources 
• Recreation 



Tibwo1\ 
.s ... , .iito 

Pacific•, 

• ... " . ., 
,-. Richrtlond ""~ 

E1 Ctn"ira - ..,.. 

Afb~ny • .. ,,,,., , .,. 

1lert.eley Or nd.-

Walnut Creek 

'l..•r.y ott, 

\South San Francisco 

-s.,n Brun o 

~ .. M11lbra t:,_ 

' .. .,. Bu_rlin•gam~ 
...... San Mate-a_ w · 

'FosterCity 

8•1.monl.. 1 ... 

• ~ •P t 

San Carlo s 

Redwood City 

MonloPark• 

'WoodJtdt S t.an!Ofd 

' -11,t I 

& 1, L.a I 

•p.,.JoAfto 

,:- MountainView. 

LotAho ► .H il1 • Lo,Altp~ 

Sunnyvale" 

Cl•Y1on" ' 

_D1~ 1D 

_Dan ville 

511nm Clara• 

Cu"pertino 

+
- LI P' , 

• A 

Liv~nn.or 

"Alurn Roc.k 

Town of Colma 

Fi gure 1: Regional 

Location Map 

Town Limit , Sph ere o f 

:·· - --1 Influence. and Planning 
1. ___ _; Area 

Oat= orovid6d by numerot1 s s:>u rce~~: 

I own o! Cclnrn, [SRI. Nat io:\<.d G!!Oi!raph ii:.: 

ar d th~ G1S commu "'l rty 

0 2. 5 10 

Mi les 



Daly City 

South San Franc isco 

Unincorporated 

San Mateo Cournty 

DJI t i t,• ,i'l '1 t-r H " ·r:1L.\ . ,, lf '"f .-,. I <> , d (\,ini ,1 FSI I HEHf 

(..1: 11 11n '{ , r1 .-t·.S.:, -~:I -ii): .n:i1h t1 °(;1 ·· ,,r d · •i -~ G I -S. ,;',\- t :·n r,m ,_ni•·w-

Town of Colma 

Figure 2: Project 

Location Map 

Town Limits, Sphere of 

:!""•'i In fl uence. and Planning 
, • .,,.: Area 

0 

Ci ty of Daly City 

City of South San 

Francisco 

Unincorporated San 

Mateo County 

700 1.400 2,800 

Feet 



,.-"··, .. 
.. '· ··' '··, 

/ ··,. ; ·,. 
..... ·-··-----. _;· ...... , ,.-... 
\ ''\ / ··, ...... .,.. ··, .. 
\ V ~ '~ 

___ :~~:· '.' . >:- . ? r----··-··-··" - ! 

j' ·· ' . .. ,/ > / 
• y· - I I 

\ -- -~-·--··: ,.· ,_·,-,'{ ·. (. 
.. /' . , 1· ..... 

\ . . . ; . ,, ··, / ....... \ • '----_ ____.,.?[ ' '- j¥ '..., /j . ··, ✓ ..... 
•, ., /- / . . ., .. . '. ··, ,' '··, \ 'I.._ ~ ,I , ........ . _/ • . -· •• • ..... \ ' ,. ,/ .,,,,.. '•,. 

.\ \,/\ ~-/4~ . ...,, '"?'/'/:/.¼~·-, ) 
. ,,. ~ "///,0 . \ . , . .._ I \ ~ . -. ~ - w~,, 1 

• /. • ' · - 1.:,..? I \ { -:' '· c- . , ; 
•• " ~ .,, ,'- '-\.. I 
\ #' '..: . ... , .. ,..... ; 
\ ,.. ,,:· ' ,.. ' ! ··, .. 4.. ,·· •-4' ··, ./ '· ·"· ,·· ··, , .. , ·, .. ,. "· ,·· ' / \ / ' / \ / ' / \ / . , \ / 

'·· 11·· ··, •• .... ~,. ,··' 
''!•v••'••;,•• 

Town of Colma 

Figure 3: Proposed 

Land Use Map 

[:~J Town Lim its 

Overlay 

Commercial Overlay 

LAND USE 

Cemetery 

Comrnercial 

Executive Admini strative 

Low Density Re sidentia l 

Medium Density 

Publ i cf Quas i·· Pub! ic/ U til ity 

Town Center Comm ercial 

Town Center Mixed Use 

Data provided by nurnc, ous sou, ccs: 

Tow n of Colma. ESRI. USGS, NOAA. 

FEMA. HEHE, Garm in, \c) OpenStrcc tM,1p 

contri butors. ,:ind tho GtS user co111munil;1 

® 
0 700 1.400 2,800 

Fe et 



Notice of Completion & Environmental Document Transmittal 
.Mail to: State Clearinghouse, P.O. Box 3044, Sacramento, CA 95812-3044 (916) 445-0613 
For Hand Delivery/Street Address: 1400 Tenth Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 

Project Title: Town of Colma General Plan Update 

Appendix C 

2020069005 

! scH # I 
Lead Agency: _T_o_w_n_o_f _C_ol_m_a ___________________ _ Contact Person: Anna Choudhuri --------------
Mailing Address: 1198 El Camino Real Phone: (650) 757-8888 

City: Colma Zip: 94116 County: San Mateo 

Project Location: County: _S_a_n_M_a_te_o __________ City/Nearest Community: _T_o_w_n_o_f C_o_l_m_a ___________ _ 

Cross Streets: None - Entire Town - Bounded by San Bruno Mtn. , Lawndale Blvd ., I 280 and F Street Zip Code: _9_40_1_4 __ _ 

Longitude/Latitude (degrees, minutes and seconds): ____ " N / ______ " W Total Acres: ________ _ 

Assessor's Parcel No.: None --------------- Section: --- Twp.: __ _ Range: ___ _ Base: 

Within 2 Miles: State Hwy #: _2_80_,_8_2 _______ _ Waterways: _c_o_lm_a_C_re_e_k _________________ _ 

Airports: _N_o_n_e _________ _ Rai lways: None (BART extends through town) Schools: Jefferson Union and SSF Districts 

Document Type: 

CEQA: [jJ NOP 
0 Early Cons 
0 Neg Dec 
0 MitNeg Dec 

0 Draft EIR 
D Supplement/Subsequent EIR 
(Prior SCH No.) _____ _ 
Other: -----------

NEPA: □ NOI Other: 
□ EA 
0 Draft EIS 
□ FONS! 

D Joint Document 
0 Final Document 
D Other: --------

Local Action Type: Jovemois Office o anntn9 ·e earcrr--------

[jJ General Plan Update □ Specific Plan □ Rezone □ Annexation 

□ General Plan Amendment □ Master Plan □ Prezone JUN 03 20~ Redevelopment 

□ General Plan Element □ Planned Unit Development □ Use Permit Coastal Permit 

□ Community Plan □ Site Plan □ Land Div~t'f Ct M 
Development Type: 

D Residential: Units 
0 Office: Sq.ft. ---

Acres 
Acres 
Acres 
Acres 

Employees __ _ D Transportation: Type ______________ _ 
D Commercial:Sq.ft. 
D Industrial: Sq.ft. 

Employees __ _ D Mining: Mineral _____________ _ 
Employees __ _ D Power: Type _______ MW _____ _ 

D Educational: _________________ _ D Waste Treatment:Type MGD ____ _ 
D Recreational: ___________________ _ D Hazardous Waste:Type _____________ _ 
D Water Facilities:Type ______ _ MGD ------

D Other: _________________ _ 

Project Issues Discussed in Document: 

[j] Aesthetic/Visual D Fiscal [j] Recreation/Parks 
[j] Agricultural Land [jJ Flood Plain/Flooding [jJ Schools/Universities 
[j] Air Quality [jJ Forest Land/Fire Hazard D Septic Systems 
[j] Archeological/Historical [jJ Geologic/Seismic [jJ Sewer Capacity 
[j] Biological Resources [jJ Minerals D Soil Erosion/Compaction/Grading 
D Coastal Zone [jJ Noise [jJ Solid Waste 
[j] Drainage/Absorption [jJ Population/Housing Balance [jJ Toxic/Hazardous 
[j] Economic/Jobs [jJ Public Services/Facilities [jJ Traffic/Circulation 

Present Land Use/Zoning/General Plan Designation: 

Project Description: (please use a separate page if necessary) 

[jJ Vegetation 
[jJ Water Quality 
[jJ Water Supply/Groundwater 
[jJ Wetland/Riparian 
[jJ Growth Inducement 
[jJ Land Use 
[jJ Cumulative Effects 
D Other: ______ _ 

- ~ - --+I-le TowR-Gf CGlma-is updatiRg its--1-999 GeAer-al-PlaA-;-The 2O40-Genefal-Plan-t:Jpdate will-provide-the-context to effectively-plan and-manage ~ 
the Town of Colma based on an updated set of goals , policies, and implementation programs that reflect the values and aspirations for the 
future expressed by the community. As required by CA Government Code section 65302, the General Plan will cover the seven mandated 
elements. However, for the Town of Colma General Plan Update these include: Land Use, Circulation/Transportation (Mobility), Housing, 
Natural Resources/Conservation , Hazards and Safety. In addition to these elements, Colma has chosen to prepare an Historic Resources 
Element due to most of the Town's land use being reserved for cemetery uses the many historic resources present both in and outside of the 
Town 's cemeteries. 

Note: The State Clearinghouse will assign identification numbers for all new projects. If a SCH number already exists for a project (e .g. Notice of Preparation or 
previous draft document) please fill in. 

Revised 20 I 0 



Reviewing Agencies Chetklist 

Lead Agenc'ies may recommend State Clearinghouse distribution by marking agencies below with and "X" . 
If you have already sent your document to the agency please denote that with an "S" . 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

Air Resources Board 

Boating & Waterways, Department of 

California Emergency Management Agency 

Cal ifornia Highway Patrol 

Caltrans District # 4 

Caltrans Division of Aeronautics 

Caltrans Planning 

Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

Coachella Valley Mtns. Conservancy 

Coastal Commission 

Colorado River Board 

Conservation, Department of 

Corrections, Department of 

Delta Protection Commission 

Education, Department of 

Energy Commission 

Fish & Game Region # _3 __ 

Food & Agriculture, Department of 

Forestry and Fire Protection, Depa1iment of 

General Services, Department of 

Health Services, Department of 

Housing & Community Development 

X Native American Heritage Commission 

Local Public Review Period (to be filled in by lead agency) 

Starting Date _J_u_ne_9_, _20_2_0 ____________ _ 

Lead Agency (Complete if applicable): 

Consulting Firm: _______________ _ 

Address: --------------------
City/St ate/Zip:--------------
Contact: --------------------
Phone: 

--------------------r--

X Office of Historic Preservation 

Office of Public School Construction 

__ Parks & Recreation, Department of 

__ Pesticide Regulation, Department of 

x Public Utilities Commission 

Regional WQCB # 

Resources Agency 

Resources Recycling and Recovery, Department of 

__ S.F. Bay Conservation & Development Comm . 

__ San Gabriel & Lower L.A. Rivers & Mtns. Conservancy 

__ San Joaquin River Conservancy 

Santa Monica Mtns. Conservancy 

State Lands Commission 

SWRCB: Clean Water Grants 

_x __ SWRCB: Water Quality 

__ SWRCB: Water Rights 

__ Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 

Toxic Substances Control, Department of 

Water Resources, Department of 

Other: --------------------
0th er: --------------------

Ending Date ____________________ _ 

Applicant: 
Address: 
City/State/Zip: ________________ _ 

Phone: -----------------------

- ~~A_uthority cited: Section 21083, Public Resources Code. Reference: Section 161, Public Resources Code. 

Revised 20 I 0 



San Francisco Bay Region Water 

Quality Control District 

1515 Clay Street, #1400 

Oakland, CA 94612 

 

 Planning Director 

San Mateo County Planning Dept. 

455 County Center, 4th Floor 

Redwood City, CA 94063 

 

 So. San Francisco Unified School Dist. 

398 B Street 

South San Francisco, CA 94080 

 

No. San Mateo County Sanitation District 

153 Lake Merced Boulevard 

Daly City, CA 94015 

 

 Service Planning Department 

PG&E 

275 Industrial Road 

San Carlos, CA 94070 

 

 City of South San Francisco 

Planning Department 

315 Maple Avenue 

South San Francisco, CA 94080 

 

Jefferson Union High School District 

699 Serramonte Boulevard, # 100 

Daly City, CA 94015 

 

 Jefferson Elementary School District 

101 Lincoln Avenue 

Daly City, CA 94014 

 

 Regional Clearinghouse Coordinator 

c/o ABAG 

P.O. Box 2050 

Oakland, CA 94604-2050 

 

San  Francisco Water Department 

1990 Newcomb Avenue 

San Francisco, CA 94124 

 

 Maria Torres/Linda Sousa 

AT&T - Public Works Coordinator 

795 Folsom Street, Room 426 

San Francisco, CA 94107-1243 

 

 Ms. Ann Stillman 

Flood Control District,  

SMCO Public Works 

555 County Center, 5th Floor 

Redwood City, CA 94063 

 Executive Officer 

San Bruno Mountain Watch 

P.O. Box 53 

Brisbane, CA 94005 

 

 South San Francisco 

Sewer Department 

400 Grand Avenue 

South San Francisco, CA 94080 

 

 District Manager 

California Water Service 

341 North Delaware Street 

San Mateo, CA 94401-1727 

 

Director of Planning 

CalTrans District 4 

P.O. Box 23660 

Oakland, CA 94623-0660 

 

 Ms. Ann Stillman 

Colma Lighting District,  

SMCO Public Works 

555 County Center, 5th Floor 

Redwood City, CA 94063 

 

 Northwest Info. Ctr. Sonoma State 

University 

150 Professional Center Drive, Suite E 

Rohnert Park, CA 94928 

 

 

South San Francisco Sewer Department 

400 Grand Avenue 

South San Francisco, CA 94080 

 

  

PG&E 

450 Eastmoor Avenue 

Daly City, CA 94015 

 

 Transportation Planning 

C/CAG 

455 County Center, 5th Floor 

Redwood City, CA 94063 

City of Daly City 

Planning Department 

333 - 90th Street 

Daly City, CA 94015 

 

 Planning Division 

Association of Bay Area Governments 

101 Eighth Street 

Oakland, CA 94604 

 

 Bay Area Air Quality Management 

District 

939 Ellis Street 

San Francisco, CA 94109 

 

City Engineer 

City of South San Francisco 

P.O. Box 711, 400 Grand Avenue 

South San Francisco, CA 94083 

 

 Mr. Geoff Balton 

Colma Fire Protection District 

50 Reiner Street 

Colma, CA 94014 

 

 San Mateo County 

Environmental Health Director 

2000 Alameda de las Pulgas, Suite 100 

San Mateo, CA 94403 

 

Airport Land Use  

C/CAG 

455 County Center, 5th Floor 

Redwood City, CA 94063 

 Caltrans District 4, Planning 

P.O. Box 23660 

Oakland, CA 94623-0660 

  



Irenne Zwierlein, Chair 

Amah Mutsun Tribal Band of Mission 

San Juan Bautista 

789 Canada Road 

Woodside, CA 94062 

 Tony Cerda 

Coastanoan Rumsen Carmel Tribe 

240 East 1st Street 

Pomona, CA 91766 

 Ann Marie Sayers 

Indian Canyon Mutsun Band of 

Costanoan 

P.O. Box 28 

Hollister, CA 95024 

Andrew Galvan 

The Ohlone Tribe 

P.O. Box 3152 

Fremont, CA 94539 

 Monica Arellano 

Muwekma Ohlone Tribe of the San 

Francisco Bay Area 

PO Box 360791 

Milpitas, CA 95036 

  

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     



 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA         Gavin Newsom, Governor 
 

NATIVE AMERICAN HERITAGE COMMISSION 
 

 

 

 

Page 1 of 5 

 

June 5, 2020 

 

Anna Choudhuri 

Town of Colma 

1198 El Camino Real 

Colma, CA 94116 

 

Re: 2020069005, Town of Colma General Plan Update Project, San Mateo County 

 

Dear Ms. Choudhuri:  

 

The Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) has received the Notice of Preparation 

(NOP), Draft Environmental Impact Report (DEIR) or Early Consultation for the project 

referenced above.  The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Pub. Resources Code 

§21000 et seq.), specifically Public Resources Code §21084.1, states that a project that may 

cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource, is a project that 

may have a significant effect on the environment. (Pub. Resources Code § 21084.1; Cal. Code 

Regs., tit.14, §15064.5 (b) (CEQA Guidelines §15064.5 (b)).  If there is substantial evidence, in 

light of the whole record before a lead agency, that a project may have a significant effect on 

the environment, an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) shall be prepared.  (Pub. Resources 

Code §21080 (d); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 5064 subd.(a)(1) (CEQA Guidelines §15064 (a)(1)).  

In order to determine whether a project will cause a substantial adverse change in the 

significance of a historical resource, a lead agency will need to determine whether there are 

historical resources within the area of potential effect (APE).  

  

CEQA was amended significantly in 2014.  Assembly Bill 52 (Gatto, Chapter 532, Statutes of 

2014) (AB 52) amended CEQA to create a separate category of cultural resources, “tribal 

cultural resources” (Pub. Resources Code §21074) and provides that a project with an effect 

that may cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource is 

a project that may have a significant effect on the environment.  (Pub. Resources Code 

§21084.2).  Public agencies shall, when feasible, avoid damaging effects to any tribal cultural 

resource. (Pub. Resources Code §21084.3 (a)).  AB 52 applies to any project for which a notice 

of preparation, a notice of negative declaration, or a mitigated negative declaration is filed on 

or after July 1, 2015.  If your project involves the adoption of or amendment to a general plan or 

a specific plan, or the designation or proposed designation of open space, on or after March 1, 

2005, it may also be subject to Senate Bill 18 (Burton, Chapter 905, Statutes of 2004) (SB 18).  

Both SB 18 and AB 52 have tribal consultation requirements.  If your project is also subject to the 

federal National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq.) (NEPA), the tribal 

consultation requirements of Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (154 

U.S.C. 300101, 36 C.F.R. §800 et seq.) may also apply.  

    

The NAHC recommends consultation with California Native American tribes that are 

traditionally and culturally affiliated with the geographic area of your proposed project as early 

as possible in order to avoid inadvertent discoveries of Native American human remains and 

best protect tribal cultural resources.  Below is a brief summary of portions of AB 52 and SB 18 as 

well as the NAHC’s recommendations for conducting cultural resources assessments.   

  

Consult your legal counsel about compliance with AB 52 and SB 18 as well as compliance with 

any other applicable laws.  

  

 

 

 
 

CHAIRPERSON 

Laura Miranda  

Luiseño 

 

VICE CHAIRPERSON 

Reginald Pagaling 

Chumash 

 

SECRETARY 

Merri Lopez-Keifer 

Luiseño 

 

PARLIAMENTARIAN 

Russell Attebery 

Karuk  

 

COMMISSIONER 

Marshall McKay 

Wintun 

 

COMMISSIONER 

William Mungary 

Paiute/White Mountain 

Apache 

 

COMMISSIONER 

Julie Tumamait-

Stenslie 

Chumash 

 

COMMISSIONER 

[Vacant] 

 

COMMISSIONER 

[Vacant] 

 

EXECUTIVE SECRETARY 

Christina Snider 

Pomo 

 

NAHC HEADQUARTERS 

1550 Harbor Boulevard  

Suite 100 

West Sacramento, 

California 95691 

(916) 373-3710 

nahc@nahc.ca.gov 

NAHC.ca.gov 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7/2/2020

oprschintern1
6.12



Page 2 of 5 

 

AB 52  

  

AB 52 has added to CEQA the additional requirements listed below, along with many other requirements:   

  

1. Fourteen Day Period to Provide Notice of Completion of an Application/Decision to Undertake a Project:  

Within fourteen (14) days of determining that an application for a project is complete or of a decision by a public 

agency to undertake a project, a lead agency shall provide formal notification to a designated contact of, or 

tribal representative of, traditionally and culturally affiliated California Native American tribes that have 

requested notice, to be accomplished by at least one written notice that includes:  

a. A brief description of the project.  

b. The lead agency contact information.  

c. Notification that the California Native American tribe has 30 days to request consultation.  (Pub. 

Resources Code §21080.3.1 (d)).  

d. A “California Native American tribe” is defined as a Native American tribe located in California that is 

on the contact list maintained by the NAHC for the purposes of Chapter 905 of Statutes of 2004 (SB 18).  

(Pub. Resources Code §21073).  

  

2. Begin Consultation Within 30 Days of Receiving a Tribe’s Request for Consultation and Before Releasing a 

Negative Declaration, Mitigated Negative Declaration, or Environmental Impact Report:  A lead agency shall 

begin the consultation process within 30 days of receiving a request for consultation from a California Native 

American tribe that is traditionally and culturally affiliated with the geographic area of the proposed project. 

(Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.1, subds. (d) and (e)) and prior to the release of a negative declaration, 

mitigated negative declaration or Environmental Impact Report. (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.1(b)).  

a. For purposes of AB 52, “consultation shall have the same meaning as provided in Gov. Code §65352.4 

(SB 18). (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.1 (b)).  

  

3. Mandatory Topics of Consultation If Requested by a Tribe:  The following topics of consultation, if a tribe 

requests to discuss them, are mandatory topics of consultation:  

a. Alternatives to the project.  

b. Recommended mitigation measures.  

c. Significant effects.  (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.2 (a)).  

  

4. Discretionary Topics of Consultation:  The following topics are discretionary topics of consultation:  

a. Type of environmental review necessary.  

b. Significance of the tribal cultural resources.  

c. Significance of the project’s impacts on tribal cultural resources.  

d. If necessary, project alternatives or appropriate measures for preservation or mitigation that the tribe 

may recommend to the lead agency.  (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.2 (a)).  

  

5. Confidentiality of Information Submitted by a Tribe During the Environmental Review Process:  With some 

exceptions, any information, including but not limited to, the location, description, and use of tribal cultural 

resources submitted by a California Native American tribe during the environmental review process shall not be 

included in the environmental document or otherwise disclosed by the lead agency or any other public agency 

to the public, consistent with Government Code §6254 (r) and §6254.10.  Any information submitted by a 

California Native American tribe during the consultation or environmental review process shall be published in a 

confidential appendix to the environmental document unless the tribe that provided the information consents, in 

writing, to the disclosure of some or all of the information to the public. (Pub. Resources Code §21082.3 (c)(1)).  

  

6. Discussion of Impacts to Tribal Cultural Resources in the Environmental Document:  If a project may have a 

significant impact on a tribal cultural resource, the lead agency’s environmental document shall discuss both of 

the following:  

a. Whether the proposed project has a significant impact on an identified tribal cultural resource.  

b. Whether feasible alternatives or mitigation measures, including those measures that may be agreed 

to pursuant to Public Resources Code §21082.3, subdivision (a), avoid or substantially lessen the impact on 

the identified tribal cultural resource. (Pub. Resources Code §21082.3 (b)).  

  

  



Page 3 of 5 

 

7. Conclusion of Consultation:  Consultation with a tribe shall be considered concluded when either of the 

following occurs:  

a. The parties agree to measures to mitigate or avoid a significant effect, if a significant effect exists, on 

a tribal cultural resource; or  

b. A party, acting in good faith and after reasonable effort, concludes that mutual agreement cannot 

be reached.  (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.2 (b)).  

  

8. Recommending Mitigation Measures Agreed Upon in Consultation in the Environmental Document:  Any 

mitigation measures agreed upon in the consultation conducted pursuant to Public Resources Code §21080.3.2 

shall be recommended for inclusion in the environmental document and in an adopted mitigation monitoring 

and reporting program, if determined to avoid or lessen the impact pursuant to Public Resources Code §21082.3, 

subdivision (b), paragraph 2, and shall be fully enforceable.  (Pub. Resources Code §21082.3 (a)).  

  

9. Required Consideration of Feasible Mitigation:  If mitigation measures recommended by the staff of the lead 

agency as a result of the consultation process are not included in the environmental document or if there are no 

agreed upon mitigation measures at the conclusion of consultation, or if consultation does not occur, and if 

substantial evidence demonstrates that a project will cause a significant effect to a tribal cultural resource, the 

lead agency shall consider feasible mitigation pursuant to Public Resources Code §21084.3 (b). (Pub. Resources 

Code §21082.3 (e)).  

  

10. Examples of Mitigation Measures That, If Feasible, May Be Considered to Avoid or Minimize Significant Adverse 

Impacts to Tribal Cultural Resources:  

a. Avoidance and preservation of the resources in place, including, but not limited to:  

i. Planning and construction to avoid the resources and protect the cultural and natural 

context.  

ii. Planning greenspace, parks, or other open space, to incorporate the resources with culturally 

appropriate protection and management criteria.  

b. Treating the resource with culturally appropriate dignity, taking into account the tribal cultural values 

and meaning of the resource, including, but not limited to, the following:  

i. Protecting the cultural character and integrity of the resource.  

ii. Protecting the traditional use of the resource.  

iii. Protecting the confidentiality of the resource.  

c. Permanent conservation easements or other interests in real property, with culturally appropriate 

management criteria for the purposes of preserving or utilizing the resources or places.  

d. Protecting the resource.  (Pub. Resource Code §21084.3 (b)).  

e. Please note that a federally recognized California Native American tribe or a non-federally 

recognized California Native American tribe that is on the contact list maintained by the NAHC to protect 

a California prehistoric, archaeological, cultural, spiritual, or ceremonial place may acquire and hold 

conservation easements if the conservation easement is voluntarily conveyed.  (Civ. Code §815.3 (c)).  

f. Please note that it is the policy of the state that Native American remains and associated grave 

artifacts shall be repatriated.  (Pub. Resources Code §5097.991).  

   

11. Prerequisites for Certifying an Environmental Impact Report or Adopting a Mitigated Negative Declaration or 

Negative Declaration with a Significant Impact on an Identified Tribal Cultural Resource:  An Environmental 

Impact Report may not be certified, nor may a mitigated negative declaration or a negative declaration be 

adopted unless one of the following occurs:  

a. The consultation process between the tribes and the lead agency has occurred as provided in Public 

Resources Code §21080.3.1 and §21080.3.2 and concluded pursuant to Public Resources Code 

§21080.3.2.  

b. The tribe that requested consultation failed to provide comments to the lead agency or otherwise 

failed to engage in the consultation process.  

c. The lead agency provided notice of the project to the tribe in compliance with Public Resources 

Code §21080.3.1 (d) and the tribe failed to request consultation within 30 days.  (Pub. Resources Code 

§21082.3 (d)).  

  

The NAHC’s PowerPoint presentation titled, “Tribal Consultation Under AB 52:  Requirements and Best Practices” may 

be found online at: http://nahc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/AB52TribalConsultation_CalEPAPDF.pdf  



Page 4 of 5 

 

 

SB 18  

  

SB 18 applies to local governments and requires local governments to contact, provide notice to, refer plans to, and 

consult with tribes prior to the adoption or amendment of a general plan or a specific plan, or the designation of 

open space. (Gov. Code §65352.3).  Local governments should consult the Governor’s Office of Planning and 

Research’s “Tribal Consultation  Guidelines,”  which  can  be found online at: 

https://www.opr.ca.gov/docs/09_14_05_Updated_Guidelines_922.pdf.  

  

Some of SB 18’s provisions include:  

  

1. Tribal Consultation:  If a local government considers a proposal to adopt or amend a general plan or a 

specific plan, or to designate open space it is required to contact the appropriate tribes identified by the NAHC 

by requesting a “Tribal Consultation List.” If a tribe, once contacted, requests consultation the local government 

must consult with the tribe on the plan proposal.  A tribe has 90 days from the date of receipt of notification to 

request consultation unless a shorter timeframe has been agreed to by the tribe.  (Gov. Code §65352.3  

(a)(2)).  

2. No Statutory Time Limit on SB 18 Tribal Consultation.  There is no statutory time limit on SB 18 tribal consultation.  

3. Confidentiality:  Consistent with the guidelines developed and adopted by the Office of Planning and 

Research pursuant to Gov. Code §65040.2, the city or county shall protect the confidentiality of the information 

concerning the specific identity, location, character, and use of places, features and objects described in Public 

Resources Code §5097.9 and §5097.993 that are within the city’s or county’s jurisdiction.  (Gov. Code §65352.3 

(b)).  

4. Conclusion of SB 18 Tribal Consultation:  Consultation should be concluded at the point in which:  

a. The parties to the consultation come to a mutual agreement concerning the appropriate measures 

for preservation or mitigation; or  

b. Either the local government or the tribe, acting in good faith and after reasonable effort, concludes 

that mutual agreement cannot be reached concerning the appropriate measures of preservation or 

mitigation. (Tribal Consultation Guidelines, Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (2005) at p. 18).  

  

Agencies should be aware that neither AB 52 nor SB 18 precludes agencies from initiating tribal consultation with 

tribes that are traditionally and culturally affiliated with their jurisdictions before the timeframes provided in AB 52 and 

SB 18.  For that reason, we urge you to continue to request Native American Tribal Contact Lists and “Sacred Lands 

File” searches from the NAHC.  The request forms can be found online at: http://nahc.ca.gov/resources/forms/.  

  

NAHC Recommendations for Cultural Resources Assessments  

  

To adequately assess the existence and significance of tribal cultural resources and plan for avoidance, preservation 

in place, or barring both, mitigation of project-related impacts to tribal cultural resources, the NAHC recommends 

the following actions:  

  

1. Contact the appropriate regional California Historical Research Information System (CHRIS) Center 

(http://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=1068) for an archaeological records search.  The records search will 

determine:  

a. If part or all of the APE has been previously surveyed for cultural resources.  

b. If any known cultural resources have already been recorded on or adjacent to the APE.  

c. If the probability is low, moderate, or high that cultural resources are located in the APE.  

d. If a survey is required to determine whether previously unrecorded cultural resources are present.  

  

2. If an archaeological inventory survey is required, the final stage is the preparation of a professional report 

detailing the findings and recommendations of the records search and field survey.  

a. The final report containing site forms, site significance, and mitigation measures should be submitted 

immediately to the planning department.  All information regarding site locations, Native American 

human remains, and associated funerary objects should be in a separate confidential addendum and 

not be made available for public disclosure.  

b. The final written report should be submitted within 3 months after work has been completed to the 

appropriate regional CHRIS center.  



Page 5 of 5 

 

 

3. Contact the NAHC for: 

a. A Sacred Lands File search.  Remember that tribes do not always record their sacred sites in the 

Sacred Lands File, nor are they required to do so.  A Sacred Lands File search is not a substitute for 

consultation with tribes that are traditionally and culturally affiliated with the geographic area of the 

project’s APE. 

b. A Native American Tribal Consultation List of appropriate tribes for consultation concerning the 

project site and to assist in planning for avoidance, preservation in place, or, failing both, mitigation 

measures. 

4. Remember that the lack of surface evidence of archaeological resources (including tribal cultural resources) 

does not preclude their subsurface existence. 

a. Lead agencies should include in their mitigation and monitoring reporting program plan provisions for 

the identification and evaluation of inadvertently discovered archaeological resources per Cal. Code 

Regs., tit. 14, §15064.5(f) (CEQA Guidelines §15064.5(f)).  In areas of identified archaeological sensitivity, a 

certified archaeologist and a culturally affiliated Native American with knowledge of cultural resources 

should monitor all ground-disturbing activities. 

b. Lead agencies should include in their mitigation and monitoring reporting program plans provisions 

for the disposition of recovered cultural items that are not burial associated in consultation with culturally 

affiliated Native Americans. 

c. Lead agencies should include in their mitigation and monitoring reporting program plans provisions 

for the treatment and disposition of inadvertently discovered Native American human remains.  Health 

and Safety Code §7050.5, Public Resources Code §5097.98, and Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, §15064.5, 

subdivisions (d) and (e) (CEQA Guidelines §15064.5, subds. (d) and (e)) address the processes to be 

followed in the event of an inadvertent discovery of any Native American human remains and 

associated grave goods in a location other than a dedicated cemetery. 

If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me at my email address: Nancy.Gonzalez-

Lopez@nahc.ca.gov. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

 

 

 

Nancy Gonzalez-Lopez 

Staff Services Analyst 

 

 cc:  State Clearinghouse  

 

 



STATE OF CALIFORNIA------- CALIFORNIA STATE TRANSPORTATION AGENCY Gavin Newsom, Governor 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DISTRICT 4 

OFFICE OF TRANSIT AND COMMUNITY PLANNING 
P.O. BOX 23660, MS-10D 

OAKLAND, CA 94623-0660 

PHONE  (510) 286-5528 

TTY 711 

www.dot.ca.gov 

 

Making Conservation 
a California Way of Life. 

 

“Provide a safe, sustainable, integrated and efficient transportation 
system to enhance California’s economy and livability” 

 
July 13, 2020 

 

Anna Chaudhuri 

Town of Colma, Planning Department 

1198 El Camino Real,  

Colma, CA 94014 

SCH #2020069005 

GTS #04-SM-2020-00322 

GTS ID: 19638 

Co/Rt/Pm: SM/82/22.588 

 

 

Town of Colma General Plan Update- Notice of Preparation (NOP) of an 

Environmental Impact Report  

Dear Anna Chaudhuri: 

 

Thank you for including the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) in 

the environmental review process for the Town of Colma General Plan Update 

NOP.  We are committed to ensuring that impacts to the State’s multimodal 

transportation system and to our natural environment are identified and 

mitigated to support a safe, sustainable, integrated and efficient transportation 

system. The following comments are based on our review of the June 2020 NOP. 

 
Project Understanding 
The Town of Colma General Plan is a long-range plan that directs decision 

making and establishes rules and standards for town improvements and new 

development. It reflects the community's vision for the future and is intended to 

provide direction through the year 2040. The last General Plan Update was in 

1999. The 2040 General Plan update will provide the context to effectively plan 

and manage the Town of Colma based on an updated set of goals, policies, 

and implementation programs that reflect the values and aspirations for the 

future expressed by the community. Additionally, the update will equip the Town 

of Colma with a policy framework to responsibly manage future projects and 

have the capacity to accommodate the growth and development anticipated 

to occur in the Town for the next 20 years. The Town is centrally bisected by 

State Route (SR)-82 and the intersection of Highway (HWY)-1 and Interstate (I)-

280. 

7/2/2020

oprschintern1
7.13



Anna Chaudhuri, Planning Dept 

July 13, 2020 

Page 2 

 

“Provide a safe, sustainable, integrated and efficient transportation 
system to enhance California’s economy and livability” 

Travel Demand Analysis  
Please note that a travel demand analysis that provides a Vehicle Miles Traveled 

(VMT) analysis is required as part of the California Environmental Quality Act 

(CEQA) process. With the enactment of Senate Bill (SB) 743, Caltrans is focusing 

on transportation infrastructure that supports smart growth using efficient 

development patterns, innovative travel demand reduction strategies, 

multimodal improvements, and VMT as the primary transportation impact 

metric. The travel demand analysis should include: 

• A VMT analysis pursuant to the City’s guidelines or, if the City has no 

guidelines, the Office of Planning and Research’s Guidelines. Projects that 

result in automobile VMT per capita above the threshold of significance 

for existing (i.e. baseline) city-wide or regional values for similar land use 

types may indicate a significant impact. If necessary, mitigation for 

increasing VMT should be identified. Mitigation should support the use of 

transit and active transportation modes. Potential mitigation measures 

that include the requirements of other agencies such as Caltrans are fully 

enforceable through permit conditions, agreements, or other legally-

binding instruments under the control of the City. 

• A schematic illustration of walking, biking and auto conditions in the plan 

area and area roadways. Potential safety issues for all road users should 

be identified and fully mitigated.   

• The plan’s primary and secondary effects on pedestrians, bicycles, 

travelers with disabilities and transit performance should be evaluated, 

including countermeasures and trade-offs resulting from mitigating VMT 

increases. Access to pedestrians, bicycle, and transit facilities must be 

maintained. 

 

Transportation Impact Fees 
The City should identify any generated travel demand and estimate the costs of 

transit and active transportation improvements necessitated by the proposed 

plan; viable funding sources such as the City’s existing development and/or 

transportation impact fee programs should also be identified. We encourage a 

sufficient allocation of fair share contributions toward multimodal and regional 

transit improvements to fully mitigate cumulative impacts to regional 

transportation. We also strongly support measures to increase sustainable mode 

shares, thereby reducing VMT.  

 

The City should also ensure that a capital improvement plan identifying the cost 

of needed improvements, funding sources, and a scheduled plan for 

implementation is prepared along with the General Plan. Caltrans welcomes the 



Anna Chaudhuri, Planning Dept 

July 13, 2020 

Page 3 

 

“Provide a safe, sustainable, integrated and efficient transportation 
system to enhance California’s economy and livability” 

opportunity to work with the City and local partners to secure the funding for 

needed mitigation. Traffic mitigation- or cooperative agreements are examples 

of such measures. 

 

Thank you again for including Caltrans in the environmental review process. 

Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Laurel Sears 

at (510)286-5614 or laurel.sears@dot.ca.gov. Additionally, for future notifications 

and requests for review of new projects, please contact ldigr-d4@dot.ca.gov. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 
Mark Leong 

District Branch Chief 

Local Development - Intergovernmental Review 

 

cc:  State Clearinghouse 

  

mailto:laurel.sears@dot.ca.gov
mailto:laurel.sears@dot.ca.gov
mailto:ldigr-d4@dot.ca.gov
mailto:ldigr-d4@dot.ca.gov


State of California – Natural Resources Agency  GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor 
DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE  CHARLTON H. BONHAM, Director 

Bay Delta Region 
2825 Cordelia Road, Suite 100 
Fairfield, CA 94534 
(707) 428-2002 
www.wildlife.ca.gov 

Conserving California’s Wildlife Since 1870 

June 26, 2020 
 
 
 
Ms. Anna Choudhuri 
Town of Colma Planning Department 
1198 El Camino Real 
Colma, CA 94014 
annac@csgengr.com  

Subject:  Town of Colma General Plan Update, Notice of Preparation,  
SCH No. 2020069005, Town of Colma, San Mateo County 

Dear Anna Choudhuri, 

The California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) has reviewed the Notice of 
Preparation (NOP) prepared by the Town of Colma for the Town of Coma General Plan 
Update (Project) located in the County of San Mateo. CDFW is submitting comments on 
the NOP regarding potentially significant impacts to biological resources associated with 
the Project.  

CDFW ROLE 

CDFW is a Trustee Agency with responsibility under the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA; Pub. Resources Code, § 21000 et seq.) pursuant to CEQA 
Guidelines section 15386 for commenting on projects that could impact fish, plant, and 
wildlife resources (e.g., biological resources). CDFW is also considered a Responsible 
Agency if a project would require discretionary approval, such as permits issued under 
the California Endangered Species Act (CESA), the Native Plant Protection Act, the 
Lake and Streambed Alteration (LSA) Program, and other provisions of the Fish and 
Game Code that afford protection to the state’s fish and wildlife trust resources. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Project will update the Town of Colma’s 1999 General Plan with goals, policies, and 
implementation programs for future projects within the Town of Colma. The Project will 
include proposed projects through the year 2040 and focus on land use, 
circulation/transportation, housing, natural resources/conservation, hazards and safety, 
and historic resources.  

COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

CDFW offers the following comments and recommendations to assist the Town of 
Colma in adequately identifying and/or mitigating the Project’s significant, or potentially 
significant, direct and indirect impacts on biological resources. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A5AB10F7-A37C-4139-86B2-127912133637

http://www.wildlife.ca.gov/
mailto:annac@csgengr.com
oprschintern1
6.26



 
Ms. Anna Choudhuri 
Town of Colma Planning Department 
June 26, 2020 
Page 2 of 6 
 
 
COMMENT 1: Artificial Lighting 

Issue: The Project could increase artificial lighting. Artificial lighting often results in light 
pollution, which has the potential to significantly and adversely affect biological 
resources. 

Evidence the impact would be significant: Night lighting can disrupt the circadian 
rhythms of many wildlife species. Many species use photoperiod cues for 
communication (e.g., bird song; Miller 2006), determining when to begin foraging (Stone 
et al. 2009), behavior thermoregulation (Beiswenger 1977), and migration (Longcore 
and Rich 2004). Aquatic species can also be affected, for example, salmonids migration 
can be slowed or stopped by the presence of artificial lighting (Tabor et al. 2004, 
Nightingale et al. 2006). 

Recommendations to minimize significant impacts: CDFW recommends eliminating 
all non-essential artificial lighting. If artificial lighting is necessary, CDFW recommends 
avoiding or limiting the use of artificial lights during the hours of dawn and dusk, when 
many wildlife species are most active. CDFW also recommends that outdoor lighting be 
shielded, cast downward, and does not spill over onto other properties or upwards into 
the night sky (see the International Dark-Sky Association standards at 
http://darksky.org/).  

COMMENT 2: Exterior Windows 

Issue: The glass used for exterior building windows could result in bird collisions, which 
can cause bird injury and mortality.  

Evidence the impact would be significant: Birds, typically, do not see clear or 
reflective glass, and can collide with glass (e.g., windows) that reflect surrounding 
landscape and/or habitat features (Klem and Saenger 2013, Sheppard 2019). When 
birds collide with glass, they can be injured or killed. In the United States, the estimated 
annual bird mortality is between 365-988 million birds (Loss et al. 2014). 

Recommendations to minimize significant impacts: CDFW recommends 
incorporating visual signals or cues to exterior windows to prevent bird collisions. Visual 
signals or cues include, but are not limited to, patterns to break up reflective areas, 
external window films and coverings, ultraviolet patterned glass, and screens. For best 
practices on how to reduce bird collisions with windows, please go to the United States 
Fish and Wildlife Service’s website for Buildings and Glass (https://www.fws.gov/birds/ 
bird-enthusiasts/threats-to-birds/collisions/buildings-and-glass.php). 

COMMENT 3: Stream Hydromodification 

Issue: The Project could increase impervious surfaces within the Project area. 
Impervious surfaces, stormwater systems, and storm drain outfalls have the potential to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A5AB10F7-A37C-4139-86B2-127912133637

http://darksky.org/
https://www.fws.gov/birds/bird-enthusiasts/threats-to-birds/collisions/buildings-and-glass.php
https://www.fws.gov/birds/bird-enthusiasts/threats-to-birds/collisions/buildings-and-glass.php


 
Ms. Anna Choudhuri 
Town of Colma Planning Department 
June 26, 2020 
Page 3 of 6 
 
 
significantly affect fish and wildlife resources by altering runoff hydrograph and natural 
streamflow patterns. 

Evidence the impact would be significant: Urbanization (e.g., impervious surfaces, 
stormwater systems, storm drain outfalls) can modify natural streamflow patterns by 
increasing the magnitude and frequency of high flow events and storm flows (Hollis 
1975, Konrad and Booth 2005). 

Recommendations to minimize significant impacts: CDFW recommends that storm 
runoff be dispersed as sheet flow through the property rather than funneled to 
stormwater outfalls. CDFW also recommends incorporating permeable surfaces 
throughout the Project area to allow stormwater to percolate in the ground and prevent 
stream hydromodification.  

COMMENT 4: Special-Status Species Surveys 

CDFW recommends that before future project implementation, special-status species 
surveys be conducted for species that have the potential to occur or will be impacted by 
the project implementation. CDFW recommends, if available, using established species 
survey protocols.  

Survey and monitoring protocols and guidelines are available at: 
https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols.  

COMMENT 5: Nesting Birds 

Issue: Project construction could result in disturbance of nesting birds.  

Evidence the impact would be significant: Noise can impact bird behavior by 
masking signals used for bird communication, mating, and hunting (Bottalico et al. 
2015). Birds hearing can also be damaged from noise and impair the ability of birds to 
find or attract a mate and prevent parents from hearing calling young (Ortega 2012). 

Recommendations to minimize significant impacts: If ground-disturbing or 
vegetation-disturbing activities occur during the bird breeding season (February through 
early-September), the Project applicant is responsible for ensuring that implementation 
of the Project does not result in violation of Fish and Game Codes.  

To evaluate and avoid for potential impacts to nesting bird species, CDFW recommends 
incorporating the following mitigation measures into the Project’s draft EIR, and that 
these measures be made conditions of approval for the Project. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A5AB10F7-A37C-4139-86B2-127912133637

https://wildlife.ca.gov/Conservation/Survey-Protocols


 
Ms. Anna Choudhuri 
Town of Colma Planning Department 
June 26, 2020 
Page 4 of 6 
 
 
Recommended Mitigation Measure 1: Nesting Bird Surveys  

CDFW recommends that a qualified avian biologist conduct pre-Project activity nesting 
bird surveys no more than seven (7) days prior to the start of ground or vegetation 
disturbance, and every 14 days during Project activities to maximize the probability that 
nests are detected. CDFW recommends that nesting bird surveys cover a sufficient 
area around the Project area to identify nests and determine their status. A sufficient 
area means any area potentially affected by the Project.  

During nesting bird surveys, CDFW recommends that a qualified avian biologist 
establish behavioral baseline of all identified nests. During Project activities, CDFW 
recommends having the qualified avian biologist continuously monitor nests to detect 
behavioral changes resulting from Project activities. If behavioral changes occur, CDFW 
recommends stopping the activity, that is causing the behavioral change, and consulting 
with a qualified avian biologist on additional avoidance and minimization measures.  

Recommended Mitigation Measure 2: Nesting Bird Buffers 

During Project activities, if continuous monitoring of nests by a qualified avian biologist 
is not feasible, CDFW recommends a minimum no-disturbance buffer of 250 feet 
around active nests of non-listed bird species and a 1,000-foot no-disturbance buffer 
around active nests of non-listed raptors. These buffers are advised to remain in place 
until the breeding season has ended or until a qualified avian biologist has determined 
that the birds have fledged and are no longer reliant upon the nest or on-site parental 
care for survival. Variance from these no-disturbance buffers is possible when there is 
compelling biological or ecological reason to do so, such as when the Project area 
would be concealed from a nest site by topography. CDFW recommends that a qualified 
avian biologist advise and support any variance from these buffers. 

REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

California Endangered Species Act 

Please be advised that a CESA Permit must be obtained if the Project has the potential 
to result in “take” of plants or animals listed under CESA, either during construction or 
over the life of the Project. Issuance of a CESA Permit is subject to CEQA 
documentation; the CEQA document must specify impacts, mitigation measures, and a 
mitigation monitoring and reporting program. If the Project will impact CESA listed 
species, early consultation is encouraged, as significant modification to the Project and 
mitigation measures may be required in order to obtain a CESA Permit. 

CEQA requires a Mandatory Finding of Significance if a project is likely to substantially 
impact threatened or endangered species (CEQA section 21001(c), 21083, and CEQA 
Guidelines section 15380, 15064, 15065). Impacts must be avoided or mitigated to less-

DocuSign Envelope ID: A5AB10F7-A37C-4139-86B2-127912133637



 
Ms. Anna Choudhuri 
Town of Colma Planning Department 
June 26, 2020 
Page 5 of 6 
 
 
than-significant levels unless the CEQA Lead Agency makes and supports Findings of 
Overriding Consideration (FOC). The CEQA Lead Agency’s FOC does not eliminate the 
Project proponent’s obligation to comply with Fish and Game Code section 2080.  

Lake and Streambed Alteration (LSA) Program  

Notification is required, pursuant to CDFW’s LSA Program (Fish and Game Code 
section 1600 et. seq.) for any Project-related activities that will substantially divert or 
obstruct the natural flow; change or use material from the bed, channel, or bank 
including associated riparian or wetland resources; or deposit or dispose of material 
where it may pass into a river, lake or stream. Work within ephemeral streams, washes, 
watercourses with a subsurface flow, and floodplains are subject to notification 
requirements. CDFW, as a Responsible Agency under CEQA, will consider the CEQA 
document for the Project. CDFW may not execute the final LSA Agreement until it has 
complied with CEQA (Public Resources Code section 21000 et seq.) as the responsible 
agency.  

FILING FEES 

CDFW anticipates that the Project will have an impact on fish and/or wildlife, and 
assessment of filing fees is necessary (Fish and Game Code section 711.4; Pub. 
Resources Code, section 21089). Fees are payable upon filing of the Notice of 
Determination by the Lead Agency and serve to help defray the cost of environmental 
review by CDFW.  

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Project’s NOP. If you have any 
questions regarding this letter or for further coordination with CDFW, please contact  
Ms. Monica Oey, Environmental Scientist, at (707) 428-2088 or 
monica.oey@wildlife.ca.gov; or Ms. Randi Adair, Senior Environmental Scientist 
(Supervisory), at randi.adair@wildlife.ca.gov.  

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Gregg Erickson 
Regional Manager 
Bay Delta Region 

REFERENCES 

Beiswenger, R. E. 1977. Diet patterns of aggregative behavior in tadpoles of Bufo 
americanus, in relation to light and temperature. Ecology 58:98–108. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A5AB10F7-A37C-4139-86B2-127912133637

mailto:monica.oey@wildlife.ca.gov
mailto:randi.adair@wildlife.ca.gov


 
Ms. Anna Choudhuri 
Town of Colma Planning Department 
June 26, 2020 
Page 6 of 6 
 
 
Bottalico, Pasquale & Spoglianti, Dorina & Bertetti, Carlo & Falossi, Marco. 2015. Effect 

of noise generated by construction sites on birds, paper presented at Internoise 
2015, International Congress and Exposition on Noise Control Engineering. 

Hollis, G. 1975. The effect of urbanization on floods of different recurrence interval. 
Water Resources Research 11:431-435. 

Klem, D. and P. G. Saenger. 2013. Evaluating the Effectiveness of Select Visual 
Signals to Prevent Bird-window Collisions. The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 
125(2):406-411. 

Konrad, C.P. and D.B. Booth. 2005. Hydrologic changes in urban streams and their 
ecological significance, paper presented at American Fisheries Society 
Symposium, American Fisheries Society. 

Longcore, T., and C. Rich. 2004. Ecological light pollution - Review. Frontiers in Ecology 
and the Environment 2:191–198. 

Loss, S.R., T. Will, S.S. Loss, and P.P. Marra. 2014. Bird-building collisions in the 
United States: estimates of annual mortality and species vulnerability. Condor 
116: 8-23. 

Miller, M. W. 2006. Apparent effects of light pollution on singing behavior of American 
robins. The Condor 108:130–139. 

Ortega, C. P. 2012. Chapter 2: Effects of noise pollution on birds: A brief review of our 
knowledge. Ornithological Monographs 47: 6-22. 

Sheppard, C. D. 2019. Evaluating the relative effectiveness of patterns on glass as 
deterrents of bird collisions with glass. Global Ecology and Conservation 
20:e00795. 

Stone, E. L., G. Jones, and S. Harris. 2009. Street lighting disturbs commuting bats. 
Current Biology 19:1123–1127. Elsevier Ltd. 

Tabor, R. A., G. S. Brown, and V. T. Luiting. 2004. The effect of light intensity on 
sockeye salmon fry migratory behavior and predation by cottids in the Cedar 
River, Washington. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 24:128–
145. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A5AB10F7-A37C-4139-86B2-127912133637



1

Laurel Mathews

From: Hallare, Jason <Jason.Hallare@ssf.net>

Sent: Thursday, June 25, 2020 10:16 AM

To: Anna Choudhuri

Subject: NOP EIR - Colma General Plan

Hi Anna, 

 

SSF has reviewed the NOP you sent us and take no issue with the scope and content presented. 

 

Thank you, 

 

 

Jason Hallare, P.E. | Senior Engineer  

City of South San Francisco | Engineering Division  

315 Maple Avenue | South San Francisco, CA 94080   

Direct (650) 829-6667 | Engineering Webpage 

 
To help protect your privacy, 
Micro so ft Office prevented  
auto matic downlo ad o f this  
picture from the Internet.
Census

 



1

Laurel Mathews

From: Fong, Lynn S <LSFong@sfwater.org>

Sent: Friday, June 12, 2020 2:58 PM

To: Anna Choudhuri

Cc: CDD Engineering

Subject: Notice of Preparation (NOP) response from CCSF CDD Engineering

Attachments: Draft Environmental Impact Report for Town of Colma 06-3-2020.pdf

Hello Anna,  The SFPUC City Distribution Division (CDD) Engineering Section has reviewed the Draft 

Environmental Impact Report for the Town of Colma.  CDD Engineering does not have any comments due to 

the fact that the limits identified on the project location map falls outside of the SF City Distribution Division 

(CDD) jurisdiction.  The jurisdiction line is located that the CCSF City and County limits. 

 

Thank you, 

 

 

Lynn S. N. Fong, P.E. 

City Distribution Division 

San Francisco Public Utilities Commission 

Phone:  415 550-4922 

LSFong@sfwater.org 

   

 



375 BEALE STREET, SUITE 600 • SAN FRANCISCO CA • 94105 • 415.771.6000 • www.baaqmd.gov 
 

June 26, 2020 
 
Mr. Michael P. Laughlin, AICP, City Planner 
Planning Department 
Town of Colma 
1198 El Camino Real 
Colma, CA 94014 
 
RE: Draft Environmental Impact Report for the Town of Colma 2040 General Plan 
Update – Notice of Preparation 
 
Dear Mr. Laughlin, 
 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District (Air District) staff has reviewed the 
Notice of Preparation (NOP) for the Environmental Impact Report for the Town of 
Colma 2040 General Plan Update (Plan). The Town of Colma intends to prepare a 
programmatic EIR to evaluate the environmental issues associated with the 
adoption and buildout of the Plan for Land Use, Circulation/Transportation, 
Housing, Natural Resources/Conservation, Hazards and Safety, and Historic 
Resources.  
 
Air District staff recommends the EIR include the following information and 
analysis:  

• Provide a detailed analysis of the Plan’s potential effects on local and 
regional air quality. The EIR should include a discussion of the Air District’s 
attainment status for all criteria pollutants and the implications for the region 
if these standards are not attained or maintained by statutory deadlines. The 
Air District’s CEQA Air Quality Guidelines, which provide guidance on how to 
evaluate a Plan’s construction, operational, and cumulative air quality impacts, 
can be found on the Air District’s website: https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-
and-climate/california-environmental-quality-act-ceqa/updated-ceqa-
guidelines.  

• Estimate and evaluate the potential health risk to populations within and 
near the Plan area from toxic air contaminants (TAC) and fine particulate 
matter (PM2.5) as a result of the Plan’s construction and operation. Air 
District staff recommends that the EIR evaluate potential cumulative health 
risk impacts of TAC and PM2.5 emissions on sensitive receptors within and 
near the Plan area. Additionally, Air District staff recommends going beyond 
current building codes for air filtration, when considering exposure reduction 
measures.  

 

 
 

ALAMEDA COUNTY 
John J. Bauters 

Pauline Russo Cutter 
Scott Haggerty 

Nate Miley 
 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
John Gioia 

David Hudson 
Karen Mitchoff 

(Secretary) 
Mark Ross 

 
MARIN COUNTY 

Katie Rice 
 

NAPA COUNTY 
Brad Wagenknecht 

 
SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY 

VACANT 
Shamann Walton 

Tyrone Jue 
(SF Mayor’s Appointee) 

 
SAN MATEO COUNTY 

David J. Canepa 
Carole Groom  
Davina Hurt 

 
SANTA CLARA COUNTY 

Margaret Abe-Koga 
Cindy Chavez 
(Vice Chair) 

Liz Kniss 
Rod G. Sinks 

(Chair) 
 

SOLANO COUNTY 
James Spering 

Lori Wilson 
 

SONOMA COUNTY 
Teresa Barrett 
Shirlee Zane 

 
 

Jack P. Broadbent 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER/APCO 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/california-environmental-quality-act-ceqa/updated-ceqa-guidelines
https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/california-environmental-quality-act-ceqa/updated-ceqa-guidelines
https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/california-environmental-quality-act-ceqa/updated-ceqa-guidelines


Town of Colma   6/26/20 
Page 2 
   

• The GHG impact analysis should include an evaluation of the Plan’s 
consistency with the most recent draft of the California Air Resources Board’s 
AB 32 Scoping Plan and with the State’s 2030 and 2050 climate goals outlined 
in SB32, as well as the State’s Carbon Neutrality by 2045 goals, SB 100, the 100 
Percent Clean Energy Act of 2018, and Executive Order B-55-18. The Air 
District’s current recommended GHG thresholds in our CEQA Guidelines are 
based on the State’s 2020 GHG targets, which are now superseded by the 2030 
GHG targets established in SB 32. The EIR should demonstrate how the Plan will 
be consistent with the Scoping Plan, SB32, SB100 and Executive Order B-55-18.  

• Identify and include all feasible Plan-level design features to reduce potential 
impacts of criteria pollutants, TACs, and GHGs. Chapter 9, Section 6, of the Air 
District’s CEQA Air Quality Guidelines provides recommended mitigation 
measures and policies for general plans.  

• Evaluate the Plan’s consistency with the Air District’s 2017 Clean Air Plan 
(2017 CAP). The EIR should discuss 2017 CAP measures relevant to the Plan and 
show the Plan’s consistency with the measures. The 2017 CAP can be found on 
the Air District’s website: https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/air-
quality-plans/current-plans.  

• The Air District’s CEQA website contains several tools and resources to assist 
lead agencies in analyzing air quality and GHG impacts. The tools can be found 
on the Air District’s website: https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-
climate/california-environmental-quality-act-ceqa/ceqa-tools.  

• Discuss how the Plan will address Senate Bill 1000 (SB1000), the Planning for 
Healthy Communities Act. SB1000, which became effective January 1, 2018, 
requires all California jurisdictions to consider environmental justice issues in 
their General Plans. Environmental justice (EJ), as defined by the State, focuses 
on disproportionate and adverse human health impacts that affect low income 
and minority communities already suffering from cumulative and legacy 
environmental and health impacts. Although the Town of Colma has not 
identified any disadvantaged communities and does not plan to add an 
Environmental Justice element, the Air District supports the Town of Colma’s 
efforts to integrate environmental justice policies into the Plan.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/air-quality-plans/current-plans
https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/air-quality-plans/current-plans
https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/california-environmental-quality-act-ceqa/ceqa-tools
https://www.baaqmd.gov/plans-and-climate/california-environmental-quality-act-ceqa/ceqa-tools


Town of Colma   6/26/20 
Page 3 
   

We encourage Town of Colma staff to contact Air District staff with any questions 
and/or to request assistance during the environmental review process. If you have any 
questions regarding these comments, please contact Kelly Malinowski, Senior 
Environmental Planner, at (415) 749-8673 or kmalinowski@baaqmd.gov   
 
Sincerely,  

 
Greg Nudd 
Deputy Air Pollution Control Officer 
 
cc:   BAAQMD Director David J. Canepa 
  BAAQMD Director Carole Groom 
         BAAQMD Director Davina Hurt  
         Ms. Anna Choudhuri, Planning Department, Town of Colma  
 
 

mailto:kmalinowski@baaqmd.gov






1

Laurel Mathews

From: Michael Laughlin (Colma Contractor) <mlaughlin@colma.ca.gov>

Sent: Thursday, June 18, 2020 1:30 PM

To: Kelly Malinowski

Cc: Areana Flores; Anna Choudhuri

Subject: RE: Town of Colma General Plan NOP: an additional question

Hi Kelly – Yes, it was CalEnviorScreen 3.  

 

For the GP buildout, the numbers you list below are possible totals.  However, these are not the net totals when you 

consider the buildout potential of the current General Plan. Net numbers would be: 

 

Residential: 256 

Commercial: 828,000 

Office: -49,000 (existing GP is 84,000 sf. and new GP is 35,000. Office square footage was shifted to more general 

commercial in new GP assumptions) 

 

 

Sincerely,  

 

Michael P. Laughlin, AICP 
City Planner, CSG Consultants 

michael.laughlin@colma.ca.gov 

650.757.8888 main 

650.757.8896 direct 

650.757.8890 fax 
  

 

 

 

 

From: Kelly Malinowski <kmalinowski@baaqmd.gov>  

Sent: Thursday, June 18, 2020 12:12 PM 

To: Michael Laughlin (Colma Contractor) <mlaughlin@colma.ca.gov> 

Cc: Areana Flores <aflores@baaqmd.gov>; Anna Choudhuri <annac@csgengr.com> 

Subject: Re: Town of Colma General Plan NOP: an additional question 

 

Hi Michael, 

 

Thanks for the quick response on this, I enjoyed talking with you too! All sounds good and makes sense 

regarding SB1000.  

 

Just 2 quick clarifying questions:  

• Which resource did you consult RE: disadvantaged communities? Was it CalEnviroScreen 3.0?  

• For the improvements included in the update (below), are these all new?  



2

o "Specifically, the update will include: 328 residential units, 993,500 square feet of commercial building 

space, and 35,000 square feet of office building space[WG1] ." 

I am not sure if we will end up sending a letter officially, but I will let you know either way next week once our Director is 

back in the office, and can send info. we would have sent in the letter via email, if helpful, if we don't end up sending an 

official letter.  

 

Thanks again Michael for all of this help, hope you are having a good rest of your week! 

Kelly  

 

 

Kelly Malinowski, MPA | Senior Environmental Planner  

Planning and Climate Protection Division 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District 

Office: 415-749-8673  

 

From: Michael Laughlin (Colma Contractor) <mlaughlin@colma.ca.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, June 18, 2020 8:18 AM 

To: Kelly Malinowski <kmalinowski@baaqmd.gov> 

Cc: Areana Flores <aflores@baaqmd.gov>; Anna Choudhuri <annac@csgengr.com> 

Subject: RE: Town of Colma General Plan NOP: an additional question  

  

Hi Kelly – I enjoyed talking with you the other day!  Colma is small, with just over 450 residential units, which are located 

primarily in the north part of the town, just east of the Colma BART station.  From all of the resources I have consulted, 

Colma does not have any areas of the town which are disadvantaged communities (although the area north of the BART 

station in unincorporated San Mateo County and in Daly City do have some disadvantaged communities). We are not 

planning to prepare a separate Environmental Justice element (since there would not be much to say). Instead, we will 

be incorporating policies in the plan to satisfy our SB1000 requirements.  

  

Please let us know if you have any additional questions.  

  

  

Sincerely,  

  

Michael P. Laughlin, AICP 
City Planner, CSG Consultants 

 Town of Colma 

Planning Department 
1198 El Camino Real, Colma, CA 94014 
www.colma.ca.gov 
michael.laughlin@colma.ca.gov 
650.757.8888 main 
650.757.8896 direct 
650.757.8890 fax 

Colma Green! 

  



3

  

  

  

From: Kelly Malinowski <kmalinowski@baaqmd.gov>  

Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2020 5:58 PM 

To: Michael Laughlin (Colma Contractor) <mlaughlin@colma.ca.gov> 

Cc: Areana Flores <aflores@baaqmd.gov> 

Subject: Town of Colma General Plan NOP: an additional question 

  

Hi Michael,  

  

Thanks so much for your call the other day to touch base on the Town of Colma General Plan NOP, and our 

question of your planned location for housing. Thanks also for sharing my enthusiasm and interest about the 

Town! ��� 

  

I wanted to reach back out with one more clarifying question, regarding SB1000, legislation directing cities to 

include identification of disadvantaged communities within the area covered by the General Plan, to either 

adopt an Environmental Justice element, or incorporate Environmental Justice goals and policies into other 

elements of the General Plan.  

  

Do you know yet if you have any identified disadvantaged communities, and if you plan to include this 

element or these types of goals? I know the Town is small, and might not have any disadvantaged 

communities as identified by the state, so wanted to check-in before including this type of recommendation in 

the forthcoming letter.  

  

Thanks so much for your time with this question, and if easier to discuss on the phone, I'm free tomorrow 

anytime before 2:30p or after 4:30p if helpful.  

  

Thanks Michael! 

Kelly  

  

Kelly Malinowski, MPA | Senior Environmental Planner  

Planning and Climate Protection Division 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District 

Office: 415-749-8673  

  



Appendix B 

 

CSG Consultants, Inc  Town of Colma General Plan Update 

December 2021  Draft Environmental Impact Report 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

Notices to Tribes 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix B contains a letter identifying all tribes that the lead agency must notify under SB 18 and AB 52, 

and the letters that were sent to those tribes with notice of the EIR. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 







 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA         Gavin Newsom, Governor 
 

NATIVE AMERICAN HERITAGE COMMISSION 
 

 

 

 

Page 1 of 5 

 

June 5, 2020 

 

Anna Choudhuri 

Town of Colma 

1198 El Camino Real 

Colma, CA 94116 

 

Re: 2020069005, Town of Colma General Plan Update Project, San Mateo County 

 

Dear Ms. Choudhuri:  

 

The Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) has received the Notice of Preparation 

(NOP), Draft Environmental Impact Report (DEIR) or Early Consultation for the project 

referenced above.  The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Pub. Resources Code 

§21000 et seq.), specifically Public Resources Code §21084.1, states that a project that may 

cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource, is a project that 

may have a significant effect on the environment. (Pub. Resources Code § 21084.1; Cal. Code 

Regs., tit.14, §15064.5 (b) (CEQA Guidelines §15064.5 (b)).  If there is substantial evidence, in 

light of the whole record before a lead agency, that a project may have a significant effect on 

the environment, an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) shall be prepared.  (Pub. Resources 

Code §21080 (d); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 5064 subd.(a)(1) (CEQA Guidelines §15064 (a)(1)).  

In order to determine whether a project will cause a substantial adverse change in the 

significance of a historical resource, a lead agency will need to determine whether there are 

historical resources within the area of potential effect (APE).  

  

CEQA was amended significantly in 2014.  Assembly Bill 52 (Gatto, Chapter 532, Statutes of 

2014) (AB 52) amended CEQA to create a separate category of cultural resources, “tribal 

cultural resources” (Pub. Resources Code §21074) and provides that a project with an effect 

that may cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource is 

a project that may have a significant effect on the environment.  (Pub. Resources Code 

§21084.2).  Public agencies shall, when feasible, avoid damaging effects to any tribal cultural 

resource. (Pub. Resources Code §21084.3 (a)).  AB 52 applies to any project for which a notice 

of preparation, a notice of negative declaration, or a mitigated negative declaration is filed on 

or after July 1, 2015.  If your project involves the adoption of or amendment to a general plan or 

a specific plan, or the designation or proposed designation of open space, on or after March 1, 

2005, it may also be subject to Senate Bill 18 (Burton, Chapter 905, Statutes of 2004) (SB 18).  

Both SB 18 and AB 52 have tribal consultation requirements.  If your project is also subject to the 

federal National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq.) (NEPA), the tribal 

consultation requirements of Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (154 

U.S.C. 300101, 36 C.F.R. §800 et seq.) may also apply.  

    

The NAHC recommends consultation with California Native American tribes that are 

traditionally and culturally affiliated with the geographic area of your proposed project as early 

as possible in order to avoid inadvertent discoveries of Native American human remains and 

best protect tribal cultural resources.  Below is a brief summary of portions of AB 52 and SB 18 as 

well as the NAHC’s recommendations for conducting cultural resources assessments.   

  

Consult your legal counsel about compliance with AB 52 and SB 18 as well as compliance with 

any other applicable laws.  

  

 

 

 
 

CHAIRPERSON 

Laura Miranda  

Luiseño 

 

VICE CHAIRPERSON 

Reginald Pagaling 

Chumash 

 

SECRETARY 

Merri Lopez-Keifer 

Luiseño 

 

PARLIAMENTARIAN 

Russell Attebery 

Karuk  

 

COMMISSIONER 

Marshall McKay 

Wintun 

 

COMMISSIONER 

William Mungary 

Paiute/White Mountain 

Apache 

 

COMMISSIONER 

Julie Tumamait-

Stenslie 

Chumash 

 

COMMISSIONER 

[Vacant] 

 

COMMISSIONER 

[Vacant] 

 

EXECUTIVE SECRETARY 

Christina Snider 

Pomo 

 

NAHC HEADQUARTERS 

1550 Harbor Boulevard  

Suite 100 

West Sacramento, 

California 95691 

(916) 373-3710 

nahc@nahc.ca.gov 

NAHC.ca.gov 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7/2/2020

oprschintern1
6.12



Page 2 of 5 

 

AB 52  

  

AB 52 has added to CEQA the additional requirements listed below, along with many other requirements:   

  

1. Fourteen Day Period to Provide Notice of Completion of an Application/Decision to Undertake a Project:  

Within fourteen (14) days of determining that an application for a project is complete or of a decision by a public 

agency to undertake a project, a lead agency shall provide formal notification to a designated contact of, or 

tribal representative of, traditionally and culturally affiliated California Native American tribes that have 

requested notice, to be accomplished by at least one written notice that includes:  

a. A brief description of the project.  

b. The lead agency contact information.  

c. Notification that the California Native American tribe has 30 days to request consultation.  (Pub. 

Resources Code §21080.3.1 (d)).  

d. A “California Native American tribe” is defined as a Native American tribe located in California that is 

on the contact list maintained by the NAHC for the purposes of Chapter 905 of Statutes of 2004 (SB 18).  

(Pub. Resources Code §21073).  

  

2. Begin Consultation Within 30 Days of Receiving a Tribe’s Request for Consultation and Before Releasing a 

Negative Declaration, Mitigated Negative Declaration, or Environmental Impact Report:  A lead agency shall 

begin the consultation process within 30 days of receiving a request for consultation from a California Native 

American tribe that is traditionally and culturally affiliated with the geographic area of the proposed project. 

(Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.1, subds. (d) and (e)) and prior to the release of a negative declaration, 

mitigated negative declaration or Environmental Impact Report. (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.1(b)).  

a. For purposes of AB 52, “consultation shall have the same meaning as provided in Gov. Code §65352.4 

(SB 18). (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.1 (b)).  

  

3. Mandatory Topics of Consultation If Requested by a Tribe:  The following topics of consultation, if a tribe 

requests to discuss them, are mandatory topics of consultation:  

a. Alternatives to the project.  

b. Recommended mitigation measures.  

c. Significant effects.  (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.2 (a)).  

  

4. Discretionary Topics of Consultation:  The following topics are discretionary topics of consultation:  

a. Type of environmental review necessary.  

b. Significance of the tribal cultural resources.  

c. Significance of the project’s impacts on tribal cultural resources.  

d. If necessary, project alternatives or appropriate measures for preservation or mitigation that the tribe 

may recommend to the lead agency.  (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.2 (a)).  

  

5. Confidentiality of Information Submitted by a Tribe During the Environmental Review Process:  With some 

exceptions, any information, including but not limited to, the location, description, and use of tribal cultural 

resources submitted by a California Native American tribe during the environmental review process shall not be 

included in the environmental document or otherwise disclosed by the lead agency or any other public agency 

to the public, consistent with Government Code §6254 (r) and §6254.10.  Any information submitted by a 

California Native American tribe during the consultation or environmental review process shall be published in a 

confidential appendix to the environmental document unless the tribe that provided the information consents, in 

writing, to the disclosure of some or all of the information to the public. (Pub. Resources Code §21082.3 (c)(1)).  

  

6. Discussion of Impacts to Tribal Cultural Resources in the Environmental Document:  If a project may have a 

significant impact on a tribal cultural resource, the lead agency’s environmental document shall discuss both of 

the following:  

a. Whether the proposed project has a significant impact on an identified tribal cultural resource.  

b. Whether feasible alternatives or mitigation measures, including those measures that may be agreed 

to pursuant to Public Resources Code §21082.3, subdivision (a), avoid or substantially lessen the impact on 

the identified tribal cultural resource. (Pub. Resources Code §21082.3 (b)).  

  

  



Page 3 of 5 

 

7. Conclusion of Consultation:  Consultation with a tribe shall be considered concluded when either of the 

following occurs:  

a. The parties agree to measures to mitigate or avoid a significant effect, if a significant effect exists, on 

a tribal cultural resource; or  

b. A party, acting in good faith and after reasonable effort, concludes that mutual agreement cannot 

be reached.  (Pub. Resources Code §21080.3.2 (b)).  

  

8. Recommending Mitigation Measures Agreed Upon in Consultation in the Environmental Document:  Any 

mitigation measures agreed upon in the consultation conducted pursuant to Public Resources Code §21080.3.2 

shall be recommended for inclusion in the environmental document and in an adopted mitigation monitoring 

and reporting program, if determined to avoid or lessen the impact pursuant to Public Resources Code §21082.3, 

subdivision (b), paragraph 2, and shall be fully enforceable.  (Pub. Resources Code §21082.3 (a)).  

  

9. Required Consideration of Feasible Mitigation:  If mitigation measures recommended by the staff of the lead 

agency as a result of the consultation process are not included in the environmental document or if there are no 

agreed upon mitigation measures at the conclusion of consultation, or if consultation does not occur, and if 

substantial evidence demonstrates that a project will cause a significant effect to a tribal cultural resource, the 

lead agency shall consider feasible mitigation pursuant to Public Resources Code §21084.3 (b). (Pub. Resources 

Code §21082.3 (e)).  

  

10. Examples of Mitigation Measures That, If Feasible, May Be Considered to Avoid or Minimize Significant Adverse 

Impacts to Tribal Cultural Resources:  

a. Avoidance and preservation of the resources in place, including, but not limited to:  

i. Planning and construction to avoid the resources and protect the cultural and natural 

context.  

ii. Planning greenspace, parks, or other open space, to incorporate the resources with culturally 

appropriate protection and management criteria.  

b. Treating the resource with culturally appropriate dignity, taking into account the tribal cultural values 

and meaning of the resource, including, but not limited to, the following:  

i. Protecting the cultural character and integrity of the resource.  

ii. Protecting the traditional use of the resource.  

iii. Protecting the confidentiality of the resource.  

c. Permanent conservation easements or other interests in real property, with culturally appropriate 

management criteria for the purposes of preserving or utilizing the resources or places.  

d. Protecting the resource.  (Pub. Resource Code §21084.3 (b)).  

e. Please note that a federally recognized California Native American tribe or a non-federally 

recognized California Native American tribe that is on the contact list maintained by the NAHC to protect 

a California prehistoric, archaeological, cultural, spiritual, or ceremonial place may acquire and hold 

conservation easements if the conservation easement is voluntarily conveyed.  (Civ. Code §815.3 (c)).  

f. Please note that it is the policy of the state that Native American remains and associated grave 

artifacts shall be repatriated.  (Pub. Resources Code §5097.991).  

   

11. Prerequisites for Certifying an Environmental Impact Report or Adopting a Mitigated Negative Declaration or 

Negative Declaration with a Significant Impact on an Identified Tribal Cultural Resource:  An Environmental 

Impact Report may not be certified, nor may a mitigated negative declaration or a negative declaration be 

adopted unless one of the following occurs:  

a. The consultation process between the tribes and the lead agency has occurred as provided in Public 

Resources Code §21080.3.1 and §21080.3.2 and concluded pursuant to Public Resources Code 

§21080.3.2.  

b. The tribe that requested consultation failed to provide comments to the lead agency or otherwise 

failed to engage in the consultation process.  

c. The lead agency provided notice of the project to the tribe in compliance with Public Resources 

Code §21080.3.1 (d) and the tribe failed to request consultation within 30 days.  (Pub. Resources Code 

§21082.3 (d)).  

  

The NAHC’s PowerPoint presentation titled, “Tribal Consultation Under AB 52:  Requirements and Best Practices” may 

be found online at: http://nahc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/AB52TribalConsultation_CalEPAPDF.pdf  



Page 4 of 5 

 

 

SB 18  

  

SB 18 applies to local governments and requires local governments to contact, provide notice to, refer plans to, and 

consult with tribes prior to the adoption or amendment of a general plan or a specific plan, or the designation of 

open space. (Gov. Code §65352.3).  Local governments should consult the Governor’s Office of Planning and 

Research’s “Tribal Consultation  Guidelines,”  which  can  be found online at: 

https://www.opr.ca.gov/docs/09_14_05_Updated_Guidelines_922.pdf.  

  

Some of SB 18’s provisions include:  

  

1. Tribal Consultation:  If a local government considers a proposal to adopt or amend a general plan or a 

specific plan, or to designate open space it is required to contact the appropriate tribes identified by the NAHC 

by requesting a “Tribal Consultation List.” If a tribe, once contacted, requests consultation the local government 

must consult with the tribe on the plan proposal.  A tribe has 90 days from the date of receipt of notification to 

request consultation unless a shorter timeframe has been agreed to by the tribe.  (Gov. Code §65352.3  

(a)(2)).  

2. No Statutory Time Limit on SB 18 Tribal Consultation.  There is no statutory time limit on SB 18 tribal consultation.  

3. Confidentiality:  Consistent with the guidelines developed and adopted by the Office of Planning and 

Research pursuant to Gov. Code §65040.2, the city or county shall protect the confidentiality of the information 

concerning the specific identity, location, character, and use of places, features and objects described in Public 

Resources Code §5097.9 and §5097.993 that are within the city’s or county’s jurisdiction.  (Gov. Code §65352.3 

(b)).  

4. Conclusion of SB 18 Tribal Consultation:  Consultation should be concluded at the point in which:  

a. The parties to the consultation come to a mutual agreement concerning the appropriate measures 

for preservation or mitigation; or  

b. Either the local government or the tribe, acting in good faith and after reasonable effort, concludes 

that mutual agreement cannot be reached concerning the appropriate measures of preservation or 

mitigation. (Tribal Consultation Guidelines, Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (2005) at p. 18).  

  

Agencies should be aware that neither AB 52 nor SB 18 precludes agencies from initiating tribal consultation with 

tribes that are traditionally and culturally affiliated with their jurisdictions before the timeframes provided in AB 52 and 

SB 18.  For that reason, we urge you to continue to request Native American Tribal Contact Lists and “Sacred Lands 

File” searches from the NAHC.  The request forms can be found online at: http://nahc.ca.gov/resources/forms/.  

  

NAHC Recommendations for Cultural Resources Assessments  

  

To adequately assess the existence and significance of tribal cultural resources and plan for avoidance, preservation 

in place, or barring both, mitigation of project-related impacts to tribal cultural resources, the NAHC recommends 

the following actions:  

  

1. Contact the appropriate regional California Historical Research Information System (CHRIS) Center 

(http://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=1068) for an archaeological records search.  The records search will 

determine:  

a. If part or all of the APE has been previously surveyed for cultural resources.  

b. If any known cultural resources have already been recorded on or adjacent to the APE.  

c. If the probability is low, moderate, or high that cultural resources are located in the APE.  

d. If a survey is required to determine whether previously unrecorded cultural resources are present.  

  

2. If an archaeological inventory survey is required, the final stage is the preparation of a professional report 

detailing the findings and recommendations of the records search and field survey.  

a. The final report containing site forms, site significance, and mitigation measures should be submitted 

immediately to the planning department.  All information regarding site locations, Native American 

human remains, and associated funerary objects should be in a separate confidential addendum and 

not be made available for public disclosure.  

b. The final written report should be submitted within 3 months after work has been completed to the 

appropriate regional CHRIS center.  



Page 5 of 5 

 

 

3. Contact the NAHC for: 

a. A Sacred Lands File search.  Remember that tribes do not always record their sacred sites in the 

Sacred Lands File, nor are they required to do so.  A Sacred Lands File search is not a substitute for 

consultation with tribes that are traditionally and culturally affiliated with the geographic area of the 

project’s APE. 

b. A Native American Tribal Consultation List of appropriate tribes for consultation concerning the 

project site and to assist in planning for avoidance, preservation in place, or, failing both, mitigation 

measures. 

4. Remember that the lack of surface evidence of archaeological resources (including tribal cultural resources) 

does not preclude their subsurface existence. 

a. Lead agencies should include in their mitigation and monitoring reporting program plan provisions for 

the identification and evaluation of inadvertently discovered archaeological resources per Cal. Code 

Regs., tit. 14, §15064.5(f) (CEQA Guidelines §15064.5(f)).  In areas of identified archaeological sensitivity, a 

certified archaeologist and a culturally affiliated Native American with knowledge of cultural resources 

should monitor all ground-disturbing activities. 

b. Lead agencies should include in their mitigation and monitoring reporting program plans provisions 

for the disposition of recovered cultural items that are not burial associated in consultation with culturally 

affiliated Native Americans. 

c. Lead agencies should include in their mitigation and monitoring reporting program plans provisions 

for the treatment and disposition of inadvertently discovered Native American human remains.  Health 

and Safety Code §7050.5, Public Resources Code §5097.98, and Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, §15064.5, 

subdivisions (d) and (e) (CEQA Guidelines §15064.5, subds. (d) and (e)) address the processes to be 

followed in the event of an inadvertent discovery of any Native American human remains and 

associated grave goods in a location other than a dedicated cemetery. 

If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me at my email address: Nancy.Gonzalez-

Lopez@nahc.ca.gov. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

 

 

 

Nancy Gonzalez-Lopez 

Staff Services Analyst 

 

 cc:  State Clearinghouse  

 

 




















	12.08.21 Regular Meeting Agenda
	1. Closed Session - Labor Netotiations
	2. Minutes - Special Meeting 11.10.21
	3. Minutes - Regular Meeting 11.10.21
	4. Report of Checks Paid - November 2021
	5. AB 361 Reconfirmation of Findings - Remote Meetings
	6. AB 1600 Annual Report FY 2020-21
	A. FY 2020-21 Development Impact Fee Report

	7. FY 20-21 Annual Investment Update
	8. Update to CAC 1.15 - Environmental Procurement Policy
	A. Resolution - CAC 1.15 Environmental Procurement Policy
	Exhibit A - Administrative Code 1.15 Sustainability Policy


	9. MOU and Cost of Living Increases
	A. Resolution -  Approving POA MOU 2021-2024
	B. MOU with POA 2021
	POA Appendix A

	C. Resolution - Approving Dispatchers MOU 2021-2024
	D. MOU with Dispatchers 2021
	Dispatch Appendix A

	E. Resolution - Unrepresented Salary Increases and Salary Schedule
	Exhibit A - Proposed Pay Schedule Dec 2021 thru June 2024

	F. Resolution - Amending CAC 3.01-3.05 and CAC 4.04

	10. Council of Cities and City Selection Committee
	A. List of Vacancies 2021-22
	B. Proxy Designee Form

	11. City Council Committee Assignments 2022
	A. Council Committee Assignments 2022 Worksheet

	12. 2040 General Plan Update - Draft Environmental Impact Report - small
	A. Draft 2040 General Plan Update
	B. Draft Environmental Impact Report




